


San Francisco

Law Library

No. 7//-^^

EXTRACT FROM BY-LAWS

Section 9. No book shall, at any time, be taken from the

Library Room to any other place than to some court room of a

Court of Record, State or Federal, in the City of San Francisco,

or to the Chambers of a Judge of such Court of Record, and

then only upon the accountable receipt of some person entitled

to the use of the Library. Every such book so taken from the

Library, shall be returned on the same day, and in default of

such return the party taking the same shall be suspended from
all use and privileges of the Library until the return of the book
or full compensation is made therefor to the satisfaction of the

Trustees.

Sec. 11. No books shall have the leaves folded down, or be

marked, dog-eared, or otherwise soiled, defaced or injured. Any
party violating this provision, shall be liable to pay a sum not

exceeding the value of the book, or to replace the volume by a

new one, at the discretion of the Trustees or Executive Commit-
tee, and shall be liable to be suspended from all use of the

Library till any order of the Trustees or Executive Committee
in the premises shall be fully complied with to the satisfaction

of such Trustees or Executive Committee.

/ it-cox & CO



\





No. 7466 -^^/il^

United States Circuit Court of Appeals

For the Ninth Ciraiit

'^
Alfrei' G. ^\ iLEXs^. Byeox Siexs. Johx
McKeox. Robert ^I^Leox. MArmcx C.

Myers. William .^T'^^TAXArcH. Fret*

Shlsoee ciud Horace X^^owx,
<^^* AppeHants,

UXTTLI' S^TATES of AmERICA."h

POINTS AND Al THORITES ON B^^^O?
APPELLANTS. JOHN MckEON ANT) ROBECfllckEON.

Matt I. Stxlitax

Theo. .J. Roche. #

SnjJTAX, Roche &: Johxsox,

Affonieffs for AppfJlants,

John McKeoti and Robert McKeon.

FILCO
:D





Subject Index

Page

The Indictment ^

The first count ^

Schemes and artifices ^

Foreword

Statement of Facts 1^

Antecedents of appellants and their previous knowledge

of and association with Wilkes 13

McKeon Drilling Company 1-^

Italo-American Petroleum Corporation and its activities.. 17

Italo-American Company enlists aid of Wilkes 19

Organization of Italo Petroleum Corporation of America

and purpose thereof -0

No participation by McKeons in the acquisition of assets

of Italo-American Petroleum Corporation 23

Brownmoor Oil Co. and $80,000 s^Tidicate deal 26

Negotiations for sale of Brownmoor 27

Vincent & Co. purchase Brownmoor stock 28

$80,000 loan to Italo -9

Vincent gives 80,000 shares Brownmoor for loan 31

$80,000 s^mdicate subscriptions 31

iMcKeons not involved in s^^ldicate loan 33

Acquisition of properties of :\IcKeon Drilling Company .
. 34

John McKeon urged to sell :McKeon properties to Italo
.

. 35

McKeon Drilling Co. production and income 37

Proposal of ^McKeon Drilling Co -10

Program of Italo changed ^1

Terms of sale agreed upon '^-

Italo directors approve purchase 4d

Diversion of stock not agreed to or contemplated -49

Value and character of assets of ^McKeon Drilling Com-

pany at time of agreement 52

]\IcKeon assets valuable and highly productive oD

Geologists appraise McKeon Co. assets 58, 70

Kevenue of ilcKeon properties analyzed 62

Oil curtailment and its disastrous effect ( 1929 ) 63

Oil industry prosperous in 1928 64

Proceedings before Corporation Commissioner 67

Corporation Commissioner finds values fair and issues per-

mit 71



ii Subject Index

Page

McKeous had uotMng to do ^nth securing permit 73

McKeons give Italo more time to pay T-t

Italo in default, MeKeons grant extension 75

Formation of so-called ""big s^^ldicate"' 77

Shingle, sjTidicate manager 80

S^^ldicate agreement approved by Corporation Commis-

sioner 8

The syndicate agreement 86

Graham-Loftus contract requirement causes anxiety ...... 88

Financial situation of Italo becomes acute 90

John !McKeon rescues Italo 92

Vincent causes financial difficulties 95

Cancellation of Vincent contract 97

Vincent's attorney threatens injunction 98

McKeon again comes to rescue of Italo 101

John McKeon reviewed situation with brothers 103

McKeon Company replaced stock sold by syndicate 105

Stock escrowed with Bank of Italy 107

Formation of broker "s pool 108

McKeon subscription to big s^^ldicate 113

Conclusion of big s^Tidicate 115

McKeon voluntarily restores to Italo $125,000 loss on

Seaton community lease 117

$300,000 loan to Italo 118

^IcKeon Drilling Company's surrender of its property as

security to assist Italo Corporation 119

McKeon Company releases its securities on Italo note 121

McKeon 's guaranty of Buck-Stoddard indebtedness 122

Italo sustained by financial assistance and cooperation of

:McKeons 123

John ^IcKeon resigns $100,000 position to aid Italo 125

Italo, through Eobert McKeon, pays other creditors in

preference to McKeon Drilling Co 125

Robert McKeon be^'omes owner of Italo notes to ^IcKeon

Drilling Company 127

Proposed organization of McKeon Oil Company 128

^IcKeons authorized use of their stock to assist Italo. . . . 129

Eastern capital becomes interested in proposed consolida-

tion 131

Options obtained for benefit of proposed consolidation 133



Subject Ijs'dex iii

Page

Expenses of and options procured for consolidation paid

by John AlcKeon 134

Set-up of proposed consolidation 136

Plan for financing proposed consolidation 138

Company to be called John McKeon Oil Company 142

ilcKeon's New York efforts to consolidate 142

McKeon Company stock used for benefit of Italo Corpo-

ration 145

Proposed set-up of transaction by ilcKeon Drilling Com-

pany for federal income tax purposes 198

Result of merger and subsequent activities spelled financial

ruin to McKeons 206

Reputation of ^IcKeons 209

Read in the light of proven facts, defendant's correspon-

dence relating to revenue stamps innocuous 210

Conclusion of statement 219

Law Argimient

—

I. Prejudicial error presiuned where appellants de-

prived of substantial rights 220

II. The court erred in proceeding with the trial after

the presentation and filing of the affidavit of per-

sonal bias and prejudice verified by defendant Siens

and joined in by the defendants John and Robert

^klcKeon and othere 225

The code section 225

The affidavit 226

The ouster proceedings against receiver of "Italo" 226

The injunction suit against McKeons. charging con-

spiracy 227

Complaint in injunction case "re" reports of gov-

ernment agents 229

Judge James prejudiced, and such prejudice trans-

mitted to Judge Cosgrave 229

Government agents' comment on Judge James' atti-

tude 230

Divet employed by ilcKeons. and takes up case.

J. F. T. O'Connor becomes Comptroller of Cur-

rency 231

Rumor of political intrigue in case passed on to

Judsre Cossrrave 231



iv Subject Index

Page

Judge Cosgrave believed story of political influence

being sought 232

Conference in Judge Cosgrave 's chambers 232

Judge Cosgrave repudiated Attorney General's

agreement and accused defendants of improper

motives 233

Judge Cosgrave biased against defendant 234

May 9 meeting of counsel in Judge Cosgrave 's

courtroom 235

Judge Cosgrove expresses lack of faith in veiacity

of counsel for defendants McKeon 236

Goverament agents desired case tried by judge

friendly to prosecution. Transfer from Judge

McCormick 's court to Judge Cosgrave 's court . . . 237

Judge 's ground for refusal to withdraw 238

Functions of the trial judge in passing upon suf-

ficiency of affidavit or prejudice 238

The affidavit charges "that the judge has a personal

bias or prejudice"' against defendants and in

favor of plaintiff 239

The affidavit states the reason for the belief of the

affidavit as to the bias and prejudice of Judge

Cosgrave 240

Three sets of facts charged 240

I. Facts alleged supporting affiant's belief that the

trial judge was prejudiced against defendants 241

II. Facts alleged in support of affiant's belief that

the trial judge is prejudiced in favor of the

prosecution 243

III. Facts showing that Judge Cosgrave, prior to

the filing of the affidavit, had shown bias and

prejudice against the defendants 244

Argument and authorities 245

Comparison of affidavit in Nations case with affidavit

in case at bar 247

Affidavit in this case 248

IIT. The trial court erred in admitting in evideiice over

the objections of defendants, purported records of

corporations and partnership without a proper foun-

dation for their introduction 252



Subject Iisdex v

Page

Assigiimeuts of error in reference thereto 252

The record discloses the fatal lack of evidence to

permit the admission of the exhibits in evidence 256

Statement Bacon & Brayton to Wiikes-Cavanaugh . . 260

Records of Shingle, Brown lS: Company and allied

companies 261

Records of Italo Petroleum Corporation of

America 258, 263

Rule as to foundation for admission in evidence

of private boolvs and records and the constitu-

tional right involved 267

Foundation required for admission of books of ac-

count and corporate minutes 269

The rule is a salutary one 274

IV. The trial court erred in admitting in evidence over

the objections of defendants McKeon, purported rec-

ords of corporations and partnerships upon the

ground that there was no showing that they had

any knowledge of the books or ever had custody or

control of them 275

V. The court erred in refusing to give instiiiction No.

55 requested by all defendants (assignment of error

No. 93, R. 1525), and in giving the instruction

which appears on page 1292 of the record and is

described in assignment of error No. 394 283

VI. The court erred in admitting in evidence over de-

fendant's objections, the summaries prepared by the

witness Goshorn (U. S. Exhibits 297 and 299) ; in

overruling defendants' objections to the evidence of

said witness directed to said summaries and their

items and giving the result of the investigations

m.ade by him, and refusing to strike said exhibits

from the record 286

Claim of defendants 289

Exhibit 297 reflected solely the opinion and con-

clusion of the witness 291

Direct examination of Goshorn 294

Integrity of objections demonstrated upon cross-

examination 296



vi Subject Index

Page

Designation given to stock conceded to be Gosiiorn's

conclusion 296

Alleged ownership of stock entirely unjustified. . . . 300

Opinion evidence demonstrated by cross-examina-

tion 301

Witness' evidence based upon previously prepared

questions and answers 308

Exhibit 299: Summaries respecting Brownmoor

Oil Co 308

Admission of witness respecting conclusion 309

Specific items demonstrating conclusions 309

(b) Summaries contained in U. S. Ex. 297 based

in part upon records not in evidence 316

(c) Exhibit 297 and evidence of Goshorn in part

based upon assumed truth of oral evidence of

Stratton 317

Argument 318

Exhibits 297 and 299 and the evidence of Goshorn

relating thereto were inadmissible upon the ground

that they represented his opinions and conclusions 318

Authorities 320

Exhibits 297 and 299 and the evidence of Goshorn

relating thereto were inadmissible because based

in part upon books and records not in evidence 324

Authorities 326

Exhibit 297 was inadmissible because based in part

upon the assumed truth of the oral evidence of

Stratton 330

VII. The court erred in overruling defendants' objec-

tions to the whole of Exhibit 155 being taken into

the jury room and considered by the jury during its

deliberations upon the ground, among others, that

the portion of said exhibit not in evidence should

have been deleted tlierefrom before being given to

the jury; and further that such exhibit had been

introduced only as against defendant Westbrook,

and the jury should have again been cautioned to

consider it only as to such defendant 331

1. The court erred in directing that the Westbrook

affidavit be taken into the court room to be con-



Subject Index vii

Page

sidered by the jurors without first deleting there-

from the portion not admitted in evidence 333

Jury's inability to differentiate between portions

of statement admitted and excluded 334

Error to deliver to the jury a document not in

evidence 335

2. The court erred in refusing to instruct the jury

that they were to consider the affidavit only as

against the defendant Westbrook 342

VIII. The court erred in overruling defendant's objections

to U. S. Exhibits 297 and 299 being taken into the

jury room and being given consideration by the

jury during its deliberations 344

Word "'bonus'' ordered stricken from exhibits 346

"Word "bonus" not stricken from face of exhibits. . 347

Portions of exhibits improperly construed by jury 348

(a) Use of word "bonus" in first summary- of

Exhibit 297 349

(b) Use of word "bonus'' in first summarv of

Exhibit 299 .'.... 349

Argument 349

IX. The court erred in admitting in evidence against de-

fendant. John McKeon, in violation of the bill of

particulars, the records of Brownmoor Oil Com-

pany (U. S. Exs. 32A and BK the minute book of

Bromimoor Oil Company (U. S. Ex. 239), the file

of the Commissioner of Corporations of the State of

California involving the application for and grant-

ing of permit to Brownmoor Oil Company (U. S.

Exs. 272, 3 and 4), the income tax returns of Brown-

moor Oil Company for the year 1927 (U. S. Exs.

283 and 284) and Goshorn's summaries relating to

the Brownmoor acquisition (Exs. 298 and 299) .... 352

The law on the point 353

The errors committed 354

The Brownmoor Oil Company transactions 354

The $80,000 loan transaction 357

X. The court erred in refusing to correct the errors

incident to the admission of the evidence with ref-



viii Subject Index

Page

ereiice to the Brownmoor transaction, and to the

$80,000 loan transaction, by:

1. Denying defendants'- motion to strike said evi-

dence, in so far as it affected the defendant,

John McKeon, in the first transaction, and

2. Refusing to instruct the jury that such evidence

should not be considered in determining said de-

fendant 's guilt or innocence 361

XI. The evidence was legally insufficient to justify a

verdict of conviction against these appellants, and

the lower court erred in refusing to grant their

motion to instruct the jury to find them not guilty 362

Chart showing that the evidence demonstrated

absence of any agreement between McKeons and

Italo directors respecting secret profits 369

XII. The court erred in overruling defendant's objec-

tions to and motion to strike the testimony of

Douglas Fyfe, giving conversations purporting to

have been had with John M. Perata in San Fran-

cisco and Los Angeles 374

The objectionable testimony 375

Argument 378

XIII. The court erred in giving to the jury its instruc-

tion on the legal principles applicable to the weight

of evidence and on the effect of reputation testi-

mony, and in refusing to give the proposed instruc-

tions requested by appellants upon these subjects. . 380

XIV. The court erred in overruling defendant's de-

murrers to the fifteenth count of the indictment

made on the ground that an offense against the

United States was not therein stated 387

Authorities 389

XV. The court erred in addressing derogatory remarks

toward defendant, Robert McKeon, and defendant's

counsel, during cross-examination of Robert Mc-

Keon 389

XVI. The trial court committed prejudicial error in re-

fusing to permit defendants to cross-examine

Goshorn, respecting operating expenses of Shingle,



Subject Index ix

Page
Brown & Co. and consideration given by it and its

members for McKeon Drilling Company stock 393

XVII. The court committed error in giving any instruction

to the jury upon the responsibility of directors of

a corporation based upon the alleged violation by
them of their fiduciary obligations to such corpo-

ration 398
The instructions are erroneous because they falsely

assume that constructive or presumed fraud
constitutes a "defrauding" under the mail fraud
statute 403

The instructions are erroneous because they con-

flict with other instructions given by the court. . 407

XVIII. The court erred in instructing the jury with

respect to criminal responsibility of directors of a

corporation, based upon the alleged violation by
them of their fiduciary obligations to such corpo-

ration 409

(a) Element of bad faith ignored by trial court. . 412

(b) The court erred in instructing the jury that

directors are forbidden from making secret

profits out of their relation, although their

interest in the transaction from which the

profits are derived is made known to the cor-

poration 417

The instructions are even erroneous statements

of the civil liability of directors 422

(c) The court erred in its instructions to the jury

with respect to the obligations of directors to

future stockholders 425

XIX. The court erred in refusing to instruct the jury

that in connection with the syndicate subscrip-

tions, the director had to exercise bad faith in

order to be held criminally responsible 430

Conclusion 432



Table of Authorities Cited

Pages

Alaska Commercial Co. v. Dinkelspiel, 121 Fed. 318 337

Alcamisi v. Market St. Ry. Co., 67 Cal. App. 710 422

Alford V. U. S., 75 L. ed. 624 398

ximerican Brake Shoe Co. v. Interboro R. T. Co., 6 Fed.

Supp. 215 239, 251

Bates V. Preble, 151 U. S. 149, 38 L. ed. 106 336

Beck V. U. S., 33 Fed. (2d) 107, 113 273

Belden'v. U. S., 223 Fed. 726 389

Berger v. U. S., 255 U. S. 22, 65 L. ed. 481 238, 251

Bergin v. Haight, 99 Cal. 52, 55 423

Brady, Estate of, 177 Cal. 537, 540 370

Burbank V. Dennis, 101 Cal. 90, 98 424

Cal. Jur., Vol. 6a, p. 290 424

Cal. Land Co. v. Cuddeback, 27 Cal. App. 450, 455 425

Castle V. Acme Ice Cream Co., 101 Cal. App. 94, 101. .. . 432

Chaffee v. U. S., 18 Wall. 516, 21 L. ed. 908, 912 270

Chafin v. U. S., 5 Fed. (2d) 592, 593 238, 251

Chan Kill Sing v. Gordon, 171 Cal. 28, 31 271

Civil Code, State of California, see. 1566 433

Civil Code, State of California, sees. 1572, 1573 406

Cochran v. U. S., 41 Fed. (2d) 193, 199 389

Constant v. University of Rochester, 133 N. Y. 640, 648,

31 N. E. 26, 29 372

Corbin, W. F. & Co. v. U. S., 181 Fed. 296, 305 373

Coulston V. U. S., 51 Fed. (2d) 178, 182 222

Deery's etc. v. Gray, 5 Wall. 795, 18 L. ed. 653, 657. .. . 222

Densmore Oil Co. v. Densmore, 63 Pa. St. 43. 424

Deserant v. Cerillos R. Co., 178 U. S. 409, 44 L. ed.

1127, 1133 422

De Soto V. Pacific Electric, 49 Cal. App. 285, 287 422

Downing v. U. S., 35 Fed. (2d) 454 417

Dunlap V. Sunset Lumber Co., 26 Cal. App. 131 322

Durland v. U. S., 161 U. S. 306, 40 L. ed. 709 405

Edelen v. Muir, 163 Ky. 683, 174 S. W. 474 329

Fasulo V. U. S., 272 U. S. 620, 71 L. ed. 443, 445 404



Table of Authorities Cited xi

Pages

Fletcher Enc. of Corporations (permanent Ed.), Vol. 3,

sec. 907 431

Fox Film Co. v. Loughman, 233 App. Div. 58, 62, 251

N. Y. Supp. 693 372

Garcia v. Cal. Truck. Co., 183 Cal. 767, 770-3 423

Glover v. American Casualty Ins. etc. Co., 130 Mo. 173,

186, 32 S. W. 302 371

Graceffo v. U. S., 46 Fed. (2d) 852 373

GJreenwood v. Lowe, 7 La. Ann. 197, 199 372

Greer v. U. S., 245 U. S. 559, 62 L. ed. 469 380

Hagan Coal Mines v. New State Coal Co., 30 Fed. (2d)

92, 93 274, 329

Hammerschmidt et'al. v. U. S., 265 U. S. 182, 68 L. ed.

968 404

Hanson v. Pauson, 25 Cal. App. 169 320

Haning v. U. S., 21 Fed. (2d) 508 373

Harrison v. U. S., 200 Fed. 662 373, 416

Hatch V. U. S., 34 Fed. (2d) 436 324

Heard v. U. S., 255 Fed. 829 398

Hersh v. U. S., 68 Fed. (2d) 799 385

Hirning v. Livestock National Bank, 1 Fed. (2d) 307,

310 322

Hooven v. First National Bank, 134 Okla. 217, 273

Pac. 257 328

Horman v. U. S., 116 Fed. 350 404

Isbell V. U. S., 227 Fed. 788 373

Judicial' Code, sec. 21 (U. S. C. A. Title 28, sec. 25V .. .

225, 226, 239, 251

Judicial Code, sec. 215 (U. S. C. A. Title 28, sec. 338) ... 403

Kalamazoo Novelty Mfg. Co. v. McAllister, 36 Mich. 327 340

Kenton County Court v. Bank Lick Turnpike Co., 73

Ky. (10 Bush) 529, 536 371

Kinney v. Maryland Casualty Co., 15 Cal. App. 571, 575 328

Lau Fook Kau v. U. S., 34 Fed. (2d) 86 392

Lemon v. U. S., 164 Fed. 953 328

Lim Ben v. Pacific Gas & Electric Co., 101 Cal. App. 174 324

Little V. U. S., 73 Fed. (2d) 861, 867 223, 341, 392

Loveland on Federal Procedure, Vol. 5, p. 575, sec. 2120 354

Lurie v. Kegin Grace, 96 So. 344, 345 340



xii Table of Authorities Cited

Pages

Marsiglia v. Marsiglia, 159 Atl. 914, 915 372

McDonald v. U. S., 241 Fed. 793, 800. 282

Menefee v. U. S., 236 Fed. 826 324

Merritt v. U. S., 264 Fed. 870 324

Meyer v. U. S., 220 Fed. 822 398

Mideastern Contracting Corp. v. 'Toole, 55 Fed. (2d)

909, 911 422

Mills V. U. S., 164 U. S. 644, 41 L. ed. 584 386

Miiiner v. U. S., 57 Fed. (2d) 506 398

Nations v. U. S., 14 Fed. (2d) 507, 273 U. S. 735, 71

L. ed. 866 238, 240, 247-251

Nicola V. U. S., 72 Fed. (2d) 780, 787 386

Northern Pac. R. Co. v. Keyes, 91 Fed. 47, 59 327

Notary v. U. S., 16 Fed. (2d) 434 386

Ogden V. U. S., 112 Fed. 523 338

Osborne v. U. S., 17 Fed. (2d) 246 271, 282

Pabst Brewing Co. v. Horst, 229 Fed. 913, 919 272

People V. Blackman, 127 Cal. 248 274, 282

People V. Doble, 203 Cal. 510 277

People V. Durrant, 116 Cal. 179, 217 323

People V. Farley, 124 Cal. 594 324

People V. Milner, 122 Cal. 171 324

People V. Mohr, 157 Cal. 732 380

People V. Strassman, 112 Cal. 683 371

People V. Westlake, 62 Cal. 303, 309 324

Pepper's Estate, In re, 158 Cal. 619 322

Phillips V. U. S., 201 Fed. 259, 269 273, 290

Pioneer Lumber Co. v. Van Cleave, 279 S. W. 241, 245 .. . 323

Porter v. Lassen Co. etc., 127 Cal. 261, 271 425

Prettyman v. U. S., 180 Fed. 30, 43 373

Reineke v. U. S., 278 Fed. 724 274

Rich V. Hayes, 54 Atl. 724 341

Ridenour v. U. S., 14 Fed. (2d) 888, 892 373

Ruling Case Law, Vol. 14, p. 191 354

Ryder v. Bamberger, 172 Cal. 791, 799 370

Salinger v. U. S., 23 Fed. (2d) 48 373

Sandals v. U. S., 213 Fed. 569 416

San Leandro Can Co. v. Perillo, 84 Cal. App. 627, 631 ..

.

425

Sargent v. Lawrence, 40 S. W. 1075 341

Schnittger v. Old Home etc., 144 Cal. 603 431



Table of Authoritiks CiTit;D xiii

Pages

Seymour v. Spring Forest Cemetery Assn., 144 X. Y.

333, 39 N. E. 365 ] 415

Shwab V. Doyle, 269 Fed. 321, 333 324

Siden v. U. S., 9 Fed. (2d) 241, 244 373

Singer v. U. S., 58 Fed. (2d) 74, 76 272

Sm.^^he's Estate v. Evans. 70 X. E. 906 323

Southern Ry. Co. v. Mooresville Cotton Co., 187 Fed.

72, 74 274

Spokane & I. E. R. Co. v. U. S., 241 U. S. 344, 60

L. ed. 1037 324

Standard Fire Extinguisher Co. v. Heltman, 194 Fed. 400 324

Starr v. L. A. Ry. Co., 187 Cal. 270, 280 422

State V. Findley. 101 Mo. 217, 14 S. W. 185 329

State V. Rhodes, 6 Xev. 352 329

State V. Shaw, 75 Wash. 326, 332, 135 Pac. 20 380

Sterling- v. Smith, 97 Cal. 343, 347 423

Sunderland v. U. S., 19 Fed.' (2d) 202 386

Thomas v. U. S., 156 Fed. 897, 914 274

Thompson on Corporations, 3d Ed.. Vol. 11, sec. 150 424

Thompson on Corporations, 3d Ed., Vol. II, sees. 1352,

1353 431

Union Pac. Coal Co. v. U. S., 173 Fed. 737, 740 372

United States v. Adams Express Co., 119 Fed. 240 353

United States v. Angell. 11 Fed. 34, 43 268

United States v. Armstrong, 265 Fed. 683, 695 389

United States v. Gouled, 253 Fed. 239 353

United States v. Murphy, 253 Fed. 404 373

United States v. Pierce, 245 Fed. 888, 890 353

United States v. River Rouge Imp. Co., 269 U. S. 411,

70 L. ed. 339, 346 221

United States v. Rosenwasser, 255 Fed. 233, 235 353

Utah Xational Bank v. Xelson, 38 Utah 169, 111 Pac. 907 372

Vicksburg v. O'Brien. 119 U. S. 99, 30 L. ed. 229, 300. .

.

222

Western States Life Ins. Co. v. Lockwood, 166 Cal. 185. . 413

AVigmore on Evidence, par. 1230, p. 1473 329

Williams v. Great Southern Lumber Co., 277 U. S. 19,

72 L. ed. 761, 767 220

Wilson V. Hotchkiss, 21 Cal. App. 392, 398 321

Winslow V. Glendale Light & Power Co., 164 Cal. 688. . .321, 322

Worden
' v. U. S., 204 Fed. 1, 6 274, 280, 281

AVright V. U. S., 227 Fed. 855 373





No. 7466

IN THE

United States Circuit Court of Appeals

For the Ninth Circuit

Alfred G. Wilkes, E. Byron Siens, John

McKeon, Robert McKeon, Maurice C.

Myers, William J. Cavanalgh, Fred

Shingle and Horace J. Brown,
Appellants,

vs.

United States of America,

Appellee.

POINTS AND AUTHORITIES ON BEHALF OF

APPELLANTS, JOHN McKEON AND ROBERT McKEON.

THE INDICTMENT.

On December 4, 1931, an indictment was presented

in the United States District Court for the Southern

District of California, Central Division, against eight-

een defendants, among others the appellants herein,

John McKeon and Robert McKeon.

The indictment contained fifteen counts, five of

which were dismissed by the court. During the trial

the indictment was dismissed as to three of the de-

fendants. At the conclusion of the trial several de-

fendants were found not guiltv on all counts and some



were convicted on some of the counts. The appellants

herein, John McKeon and Robert McKeon, were

convicted solely upon the fifteenth count and found

not guilty upon all the other counts.

The fifteenth count of the indictment charged the

defendants with having engaged in a conspiracy to

commit an offense against the United States, to wit,

to conspire to violate the mail fraud statute—and

cause to be placed in the postofUce establishment cer-

tain mail matter addressed to persons residing within

the United States. (R. 60-61.)

When the govermnent rested its case (R. 686-692)

and later at the conclusion of all of the evidence

(R. 1261-2) motions to dismiss the indictment and

for the entry of a verdict of not guilty with respect

to the defendants therein, John and Robert McKeon

—

indeed as to all of the defendants—were made on

the ground that there was no evidence to support any

of the charges made in the various counts of the in-

dictment. Each of these motions was denied as to

said two defendants, as well as to others, and as to

them the trial proceeded to a verdict. From the judg-

ment entered upon the verdict of the jury finding

them guilty on the fifteenth count of the indictment,

the defendants John McKeon and Robert McKeon
have prosecuted this appeal.

For the purposes of this appeal it is only necessary

to direct the court's attention to the first and fifteenth

counts contained in the indictment, the first however
only because its allegations by reference are incor-

porated in the fifteenth count and made part thereof.



Ill the fifteenth count of the inclictnient it is alleged

that from January 1, 1924, and continuously to and

including the 15th day of December, 1930, at Los

Angeles, as well as at other places, the defendants

conspired to conmiit certain offenses against the

United States, to-wit, that said defendants would

feloniously conspire

'Ho devise a scheme and artifice to defraud and
to obtain money and proi)erty by means of false

and fraudulent pretenses, representations and
promises from those persons described and named
in the first count of this indictment as the

persons to be defrauded, and for the purpose of

executing such scheme and artifice, to place and
cause to be placed in the post office establishment

of the United States letters, circulars, advertise-

ments, newspapers, bulletins and other mail mat-
ter addressed to various and sundry persons re-

siding within the United States, the names and
addresses of said persons other than as stated in
the preceding counts of this indictment being to

the grand jurors unknown." (R. 60-61.)

The first count.

In the first count referred to it is alleged that from
January 1, 1924, until and including December 15,

1930, at Los Angeles and elsewhere, the defendants

devised and intended to devise a scheme and artifice

to defraud Italo Petrolemii Corporation of America
and certain individuals including that

''class of persons who should be solicited to pur-
chase and who should purchase the stock of the
Italo American Petroleum Corporation and the
Italo Petroleum Corporation of America * * *



4

hereinafter called the persons to be defrauded,

and to obtain mone}^ and property from the said

persons to be defrauded by means of false and

fraudulent statements and promises hereinafter

set forth." (R. 27-8.)

And that the fraud should be conanitted

"through, by and under their own names and the

names of Italo American Petrolemn Corporation

and Italo Petroleum Corporation of America."

(R. 28.)

Schemes and artifices.

The schemes and artifices through which the said

persons were to be defrauded, generally stated, were

described as follows:

1. That they should and did, on or about March

5, 1924, organize and cause to be organized the Italo-

American Peti'oleum Corporation and issued and sold,

and caused to be sold, to some of the persons de-

frauded, its stock, at the par value of $1 per share.

2. That they should and did, on or about March

8, 1928 (R. 28), organize the Italo Petroleum Corpo-

ration of America, and should and did issue and cause

to be issued and sold its preferred and common stock

to such persons to be defrauded. (R. 28-9.)

3. That some of the defendants should and did

dominate and control the activities and business of

said two corporations. (R. 29.)

4. That they should and did, on or about May
16, 1928, loan to the Italo Petrolemn Corporation of

America $80,000, and that defendants, some of whom



were directors and officers of said Italo Petroleum

Cori^oratioii of America, should and did wrongfully

receive for their own use and benefit, as a bonus for

the making- of said loan, 80,000 shares of the capital

stock of said corporation. (R. 29.)

5. That defendants, while controlling the activities

of said Italo Petroleum Corporation of America and

while some of them were its directors and officers,

should and did cause said corporation to agree to

purchase the assets of the Browmnoor Oil Company

which agreement should and did provide that said

Italo Petroleum Corporation of America should and

did pay a consideration therefor in excess of the

actual value of said assets, viz., 600,000 shares of

conmion and 600,000 shares of preferred stock of said

last named corporation as part of the purchase price,

and that some of the defendants should and did un-

lawfully receive a part of said stock and some of the

proceeds of the sale of said stock not giving any con-

sideration therefor. (R. 29-30.)

6. That defendants should and did, on or about

May 11, 1928, file with the Commissioner of Corpora-

tions of California an application for a permit to issue

said 600,000 shares of common and 600,000 shares of

preferred stock to said Italo Corporation as a part of

the purchase price of said assets of said Browmnoor

Oil Company, which permit was issued on May 16,

1928. (R. 30.)

7. That on or about June 1, 1928, defendants

should and did issue and cause to be issued said

stock to said Browmnoor Oil Company. (R. 31.)



8. That defendants should and did make applica-

tion to said Commissioner of Corporations to dis-

tribute the stock of said Italo Corporation theretofore

issued to said Browmnoor Oil Company to stock-

holders of said Brownmoor Oil Company and that

they should and did, on or about June 19, 1928, re-

ceive a permit to distribute 575,000 shares of common

and 575,000 shares of preferi'ed stock to said stock-

holders. (R. 31-2.)

9. That said defendants aareed that they should

and on or about June 1, 1928, they did, iniov to the

s^ranting' of said permit, distril^ute 600,000 shares of

common and 600.000 shares of preferred stock so is-

sued to said Brownmoor Oil Company as part of said

purchase price, and that they should and did dis-

tribute some of said stock, to themselves and other

persons for their use, they then and there not being-

stockholders of said corporation. (R. 32.)

10. That they should and did, on or about June

16, 1928, form a syndicate in which some of them

became members who were officers and directors of

said Italo Petroleum Corporation of America, and

dominated its activities and caused said corporation

to issue 6,000,000 shai-es of its stock for the benefit

of said syndicate, which corporation should and did

receive the sum of not to exceed $3,500,000 therefor,

and they should receive i)rofits as members of said

syndicate v^hich would be derived from the sale of said

stock without the knowledge of the persons to be de-

frauded who were stockholders or about to become

stockholders of said corporation. (R. 33.)



11. That some of the defendants, while dominating

said Italo Petroleum Corporation of America and

while officers and directors thereof, should and did,

on or about July 5, 1928, cause said corporation to

enter into an agreement with McKeon Drilling- Com-

pany, Inc., by which the Italo Petroleum Corporation

of America agreed to purchase certain assets of the

McKeon Drilling Company, Inc., and pay a consid-

eration far in excess of their actual value and as part

consideration to issue and deliA^er to McKeon Drill-

ing Company, Inc., 1,500,000 shares of its stock.

(R. 34.)

12. That some of the defendants who were officers

of said Italo Petroleum Corporation of America

should and did have a secret arrangement whereby

the}^ should and did receive back from McKeon Drill-

ing Company, 2,500,000 shares of said capital stock

vvithout the knowledge of the stockholders of said

Italo Petroleum Corporation of America. (R. 34-5.)

13. The defendants should and did cause to be

sold to some of the persons to be defrauded said

stock so received bv them under said secret aeree-

ment and converted the proceeds thereof to their own
use. (R. 33.)

14. That some of the defendants should and did

apply to the Commissioner of Corporations for a

permit to issue the stock of said Italo Petroleum

Corporation of America for the purpose of acquir-

ing said assets of McKeon Drilling Company, and

represented to said Commissioner that said Italo
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Petroleum Corporation of America had entered into

an agreement ^vitli McKeon Drilling Compan}^ to de-

liver to it 4,500,000 shares of its capital stock kno^Y-

ing that it should and did receive only 2,000,000

shares, thereby defrauding stockholders of said Italo

Petroleum Corporation of America of 2,500,000 shares

of its stock. (R. 35-6.)

15. That defendants agreed that they should and

did, for the purpose of persuading persons to be

defrauded to purchase stock of the Italo-American

Petroleum Corporation, and to lead them to believe

that the company was then operating at a profit, pay

dividends on said stock which would not be paid out

of the net earnings of said corporation, but out of

capital. (R. 36-7.)

16. That said defendants should and did make the

following representations

:

(a) That McKeon Diilling Company was

receiving 4,500,000 shares of stock of Italo

Petroleum Corporation of America as considera-

tion for said properties, when it was receiving

only 2,000,000 shares. (R. 37.)

(b) That Italo Petroleum Corporation of

America was properly and efficiently managed

and had made profitable acquisitions, although

they knew to the conti'ary. (R. 38.)

(c) That following the formation of the Italo

Petrolemn Corporation of America it at once

undertook a sound development program (mean-

ing that the program of said corporation in ac-



quiring- its holdings and the contract entered into

with McKeon Drilling Company was a sound

program) when in fact it was not. (R. 38.)

(d) That what had become one of Italo Pe-

troleum Coi'iJoration's most important and valu-

able assets was its recent acquisition of the world-

famous "Trumble" ])etroleum refining patents,

when it knew that such patents were never ac-

quired and were never an asset. (R. 38-9.)

(e) That the securities of the Italo Petrolemii

Corporation of America had been established as

one of the soundest investments, when it was not

a sound investment. (R. 39.)

We have directed the court's attention at this point

to the substance of the fifteenth count contained in

the indictment in order that it may appreciate the

argument which follows, directed not alone to the

claim that the evidence is insufficient to justify the

conviction of either of the two appellants, but as well

to certain legal propositions to which reference will

hereafter be made which in our judgment demand a

reversal of the judgment of the court below.

As has pi-obably already been observed, in the

preparation of the indictment, various alleged activi-

ties of the defendants named in the indictment both

contemplated and effected, are pleaded chronologi-

cally. In our presentation of the facts, as far as

j)racticable, we will pursue an identical course prin-

cipally in order that we may demonstrate to the court

the utter absence of any connection between appel-
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lants John McKoon and Robei-t McKeon and the al-

leged conspiracy, as well as the claimed activities of

defendants, and, in those instances where the said

appellants have participated in any of the transac-

tions of which mention is made in the indictment to

establish that such participation was neither sinister

nor corrupt, but on the contrary, honest, within the

law and intended for the best interests of Italo Pe-

troleum Corporation and its stockholders.

FOREWORD.

The princii)al charge made against the appellants

John McKeon and Robert McKeon is that they par-

ticipated in a conspiracy having for its purpose, among

other things, the sale of certain assets of the McKeon
Drilling Company for a consideration far in excess of

their actual value, and as ])art thereof to cause the

purchaser, Italo Petroleum Corpoi'ation of America,

to issue to it 4,500,000 shares of its capital stock ; that

as a result of a secret agreement, certain of the de-

fendants who wei'e officers or in control of Italo should

receive back from the McKeon Company 2,500,000

shares of said stock without consideration ; and that by

said agreement said defendants intended to and did

convert the proceeds derived from the sale of said

stock to their own use and benefit, to the exclusion of

the use and benefit of said Italo and its stockholders.

It is claimed by these a])pellants that not only was

the evidence legally inadequate to warrant their con-

^dction upon the charges made against them, but on
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the contvarv the evidence withoitt contradiction

demonstrated that the value of the assets of the Mc-

Keon Company sold to the Italo exceeded the consid-

eration paid therefor and that when, due to the de-

l)i'ession and oil curtailment as well as other causes

over which none of the defendants had any control,

the Italo Company was confronted with financial dis-

aster, not oiilv was substantiallv all of this stock, or

its proceeds, utilized for the benefit of Italo to avoid

such disaster, but the jji'ivate fortune of John Mc-

Keon as well.

We believe that an examination of the evidence in

this case cannot help but convince this court that the

conviction of these appellants was legally unjustified,

and that for this reason alone the judgment of the

court below nmst be reversed.

In attempting to establish the charges set forth in

the indictment the government offered but meagei

oral evidence, relying almost exclusively upon docu-

mentary proof. In contending that it had made out a

prima facie case of conspiracy it relied mainh^ on in-

ferences which it claimed the jury was justified in

drawing from this documentary evidence, nuich of

which was complicated and involved.

In our opinion it would be humanly, impossible for

this court to acquire any substantial knowledge of the

ease itself from an examination of the evidence intro-

duced on behalf of the government alone in the ab-

sence of an intensive study of most of the exhibits

introduced involving painstaking and arduous labor

on its part, and that no proper understanding of these

exhibits could be had without giving consideration to
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the evidence introduced hy defendants in their ex-

j)lanation and to overcome any adverse inferences that

in the absence of such explanation might be indulged

therefrom.

To lessen the labors of the court we intend, at the

risk of prolixity, to present in sequence the facts re-

lating to the transactions which are the subject-matter-

of this indictment. Such statement will assist the

court in understanding the controversy and more

readily reaching a conclusion with respect to the legal

] )ropositions, which will be presented for its determina-

tion. While the statement, at first glance, may appear

to be miduly elaborate, it is intended to be utilized b}'^

the remaining appellants and thus the briefs filed in

their behalf will be substantially shortened.

It is claimed by appellants that among others re-

versible error was committed by the trial court in pro-

ceeding with the trial in the face of an affidavit of

prejudice; in admitting into evidence books and rec-

(n*ds in the absence of an adequate foundation for

their introduction; in admitting into evidence books

and records of concerns with which appellants had no

connection, over which they had no control and re-

specting which they had neither information nor

knowledge; in admitting into evidence tabulated sum-

maries and testimony relating thereto, legally inad-

missible and highly prejudicial, and in sending into

the jury room for consideration by the jury during its

deliberations evidence which had i)reviously been ex-

cluded by the court. These errors can be considered

and passed upon by this court without engaging in the

labor of reviewing the evidence, or making a study of

the entire record.
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STATEMENT OF FACTS.

Antecedents of appellants and

their previous knowledge of and

association with Wilkes.

The defendant, A. G. Wilkes, came to California

in 1902, where in 1908 he entered into what is gen-

erally known as the oil business. Between 1908 and

1920 he organized and became interested in various

companies engaged in the business of acquiring

potential oil lands and producing oil. He organized

the May Oil Company, The California Amalgamated

Oil Company, the Head Drilling Company, the United

Western Oil Company and several other large con-

cerns. In association with Eastern capitalists the

proi:)erties of some of these concerns were consoli-

dated into a company known as the Western Union

Oil Company, which was subsequently absorbed by

the Union Oil Company of Delaware, a company also

organized by Wilkes. This latter company is today

known as the Shell Union Oil Company of Califor-

nia. On behalf of the Union Oil Company of Dela-

ware Wilkes raised approximately fifty million dol-

lars which was utilized in acquiring oil properties

in California, including the assets of the Columbia

Oil Company, a very substantial concern, and about

30% of the stock of the Union Oil Company of Cali-

fornia. (R. 1200-2.)

W^ilkes had been born and reared in the same town

from which the appellants, John McKeon and Robert

McKeon, had come. Robert McKeon had known him
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practically all his life and John McKeon had been

acquainted with him for many years. (R. 1110.)

Appellants Robert McKeon and John McKeon are

t^vo of four brothers, who, as it ^Yill later appear, be-

came the owners of the McKeon Drilling Company, the

assets of which were subsequently acquired by the Italo

Petroleum Corporation of America. John McKeon

started in the oil business as a laborer in 1911, being

then employed in the Taft Midway Field at the in-

stance of the defendant Wilkes. From that time

until 1918 he worked for the various companies

above mentioned in various capacities which included

laborer, tool dresser, driller, foreman and superin-

tendent, being finally placed in charge of operations

of the different companies. (R. 1200.) During this

period his relations with AYilkes became very inti-

mate. He Avorked directly under and with him, hav-

ing at all times confidence in his integrity and abil-

ity. (R. 1202.) When in about 1918 the Conmion-

wealth Company, which was subsequently changed

into the Union Oil Company of Delaware was organ-

ized, in recognition of his services Wilkes gave John

McKeon a substantial block of its stock. In 1920

when John McKeon left the employ of Wilkes he sold

this stock for $65,000 Avhich with $20,000 credit

accorded him by the Union Tool Company enabled him

to start in the contracting business for himself. (R.

1202.)

Appellant Robert McKeon likewise has been em-

ployed in every phase of the oil business, his testi-

mony being:
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^'I have worked at practically every line of

work in the oil fields from driving a team up to

production superintendent. In connection with

my work in the oil business I attempted to learn

all that I could about the business and give it

my close attention and thought for a good many
years. I have been connected with the actual

drilling of in excess of one thousand wells in

California alone." (R. 1111.)

From 1917 to the spring of 1920 he was employed by

the Head Drilling Companv owned by Wilkes and

Head, drilling wells in Wyoming. (R. 1111.) When
his brother John, early in 1920, engaged in business

for himself, Robert McKeon came to California and

entered his employ. (R. 1111.)

McKeon Drilling Company.

In late 1923 John McKeon organized the McKeon
Drilling Comj)any, Inc. to which he transferred his

business. (R. 1112; 1202.) During the thi'ee years

that he had been engaged in business he had been very

successful and his assets were then of the value of

approximately $2,000,000. (R. 1202.) Upon the in-

corporation being effected, John McKeon gave 30%
of the stock to his brother, Robert McKeon, 30% to

his l)rother Raleigh, 10% to another brother Paul and

retained 30% for himself. (R. 1112; 1202-3.) With
respect to this transfer Robert McKeon testified:

"We had been working together all of our lives

and John decided it would be a fair thing to in-

corporate the business, which up to that time he
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had owned, and to allow ns all to share in it with

him. He gave ns onr interest in the company."

(R. 1112.)

Although the McKeon Drilling Company, Inc. con-

tinued in the contracting business, it gradually en-

gaged in the production of oil, acquiring a number

of leases upon which it developed wells, increasing its

oil production until it had built up an extensive busi-

ness from which it made substantial profits. (R.

1112.)

In 1926 the McKeons organized the McKeon Oil

Company, owned one-half by themselves and the other

half by the Richfield Oil Company. After developing

a number of wells, in 1926 their interest was sold to

the Richfield Oil Company, whereupon John and Paul

McKeon entered the employ of the Richfield Oil Com-

pany, the former in charge of its production depart-

ment at an annual salary of approximately $100,000,

and the latter taking charge of its field operations.

(R. 1113.) Robert McKeon and Raleigh remained

with and continued to operate the McKeon Drilling-

Company. (R. 1113.) Shortly thereafter the McKeon
Drilling Company sold all of its properties except-

ing an oil well located on Signal Hill known as the

Crown City Oil Well (R. 1113), and immediately

started to acquire new leases, covering oil properties

which it undertook to develop by drilling wells. By
the early part of 1928, as a result of its activities the

McKeon Drilling Company had re-established itself in

the business of i:)roducing oil on a substantial basis.

It possessed a nmnber of valuable leaseholds, covering
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proven oil territoiy upon ^vhich it had a number of

producing wells that were yielding substantial profits;

it was drilling more wells and it had assembled a very

complete drilling outfit. (R. 1113.)

With respect to the character and value of its

properties, and the net income which it was enjoying

from its business reference will later be made. Before

touching these subjects and in order that the court

may understand the circmnstances preceding and sur-

rounding the sale of the assets of the McKeon Drill-

ing Company to the Italo Petroleum Corporation of

America, it is necessary to draw its attention to other

phases of this controversy with which, however,

neither of these appellants had anything whatever to

do, and with which they are not coimected in the

slightest degree. Notwithstanding this situation,

which camiot be successfully challen.oed, a mass of

e\'idence relating to these i^hases of the controversy

was admitted as against them, over their objection,

a consideration of which by the jury midoubtedly

assisted in i:>ersuading it to return the verdict of

which complaint is made by these appellants.

Italo American Petroleum Cor-

poration and its activities.

On March 5, 1924, the Italo-American Petrolemn

Corporation was incorporated under the laws of Cali-

fornia, having a capital of $1,000,000 divided into

1,000,000 shares of the par value of $1.00 per

share. It was incorporated for the purpose of

producino: and marketing petrolemn products and
otherwise engaging in the general oil produc-
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ing, refining' and marketing- business. (R. 190-1.)

It is conceded that none of the defendants against

whom the indictment was returned appeared as an

incorporator. (R. 191.)

During 1926 and 1927 the defendants, John M.

Perata, Paul Masoni and F. T. Tommasini were di-

rectors and officers of this corporation, being presi-

dent, vice-president and secretary respectively. (R.

193.) It was obvious that during this period the com-

pany was to some extent financially embarrassed be-

cause it appears that Perata and Masoni were re-

quired to advance to it some $15,000 or $20,000 to

take care of its current obligations. (R. 196.) Prior

to September, 1926, the company had disposed of all

of its capital stock excepting 253,150 shares for the

sale of which a permit had been obtained from the

Corporation Commissioner. On September 23, 1926,

an agreement was entered into between the corpora-

tion and Frederick Vincent & Co. in which the latter

was given the exclusive right for a period of sixty

days to sell shares of stock, its compensation being

fixed at 20% of the selling price. (R. 370-1.) In con-

nection with the sale of this stock literature was

issued and mailed by the corporation itself as well

as by Vincent & Co. (R. 372-5.) Between the date

of the contract and March 1, 1928, Vincent & Co.

sold all of the stock, the net proceeds of which were

turned over to the corporation, excepting the sum of

$49,360 which was still due when its assets were sold

to the Italo Petroleum Corporation of America. (R.

418.)
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The ofl&eers of the ItaloAmerican Petroleum Cor-

poration were without practical oil experience, upon
which subject Perata testified:

"Thereafter I was elected president of the com-
pany. I had never had any ex{)erience in the oil

business up to that time. * * * At the time I

became president of the Italo-American Petro-

leum Coi-jwration there were no practical oil men
in the organization.'' (R. 833.)

Italo-Amer. Co. enlistB aid of Wilkes.

Perata endeavored to obtain the services of a prac-

tical oil man to manage the affairs of the corporation,

and finally, upon the reconmiendation of Fi-ederick

Vincent and Mi\ Spalding, the latter a L^^s Angeles

attorney, Mr. Wilkes was employed- Before accept-

ing employment, however, Wilkes made a thorough

investigation of the company. (R. 834.) On Novem-
ber 20, 1927. Wilkes was elected a director and ai>-

pointed vice-president and general manager of the

company to serve without compensation or salary.

(R. 193.) At the time Wilkes asstmied the man-

agement of the company its assets consisted of an

interest in three or four weUs located at Long Beach

and a 10-acre lease known as the WUey-Tobin lease.

(R. 831.) Immediately after his appointment he ad-

vised the directors that in order to become a success-

ful oil company it was essential to have oil lands. He
thei-eupon conmienced negotiating to accumulate other

properties, but due to lack of capital it was finally

concluded that a reorganization was absolutely essen-

tial and should be effected (R. 831), whereupon on
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the advice of its attorneys the organization kno\Mi as

Italo Petroleum Corporation of America was brought

into existence. (R. 834-5.)

Organization of Italo Petroleum

Corporation of America and pur-

pose thereof.

Due to the lack of capital on the part of the Italo

American Petroleum Corporation to acquire oil-bear-

ing properties or to pursue production operations ; as

a result of conferences and discussions between offi-

cers of the corporation and Stratton (an official of

Vincent & Co.) and others it was concluded to bring

into existence a corporation the capital structure of

which would be sufficient to enable it, through the

sale of stock, not only to acquire the assets of the

Italo-American Petroleum Corporation but also a

group of proven and potential oil properties the de-

velopment of which would enable the corporation to

make a substantial return upon its investment and

permit the payment of dividends to its stockholders.

With this object in view Wilkes was authorized to

pursue investigations for the purpose of locating and

acquiring such properties, it being the intention, if

possible, to purchase the properties selected either for

cash (to be raised from the sale of stock) or for stock,

or for cash and stock. (R. 236, 240-4.) Accordingly

on March 8, 1928, the Italo Petroleum Corporation of

America was organized under the laws of the State of

Delaware having a capitalization of $25,000,000 di-

vided into 16,000,000 shares of common and 9,000,000
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shares of preferred stock of the par value of $1.00.

(R. 208.)

Upon the formation of the company the incorpo-

rators, who were also directors, at a meeting* held in

Delaware, elected in their place as directors John M.

Perata, Paul Masoni, F. V. Gordon, Robert McKeon
and A. G. Wilkes. Thereafter and on March 14, 1928,

a directors' meeting was held in San Francisco, where-

upon Perata was elected president, Masoni secretary-

treasurer and Wilkes vice-president. (R. 236-7.)

Notwithstanding the fact that Robert McKeon, at

the instances of Wilkes, had agreed to become a di-

rector of the new corporation, he never qualified as

such and never attended a directors' meeting until

July 6, 1928, long after the organization of the com-

pany and long after the purchase of the properties of

Italo-American Petrolemn Corporation had been con-

smmnated, until which meeting he knew nothing what-

ever about the company or any of its affairs or ac-

tivities. (R. 1120.) In stating the circumstances

under which he became a director, Robert McKeon
testified

:

"I first acquired information or knowledge
concerning Italo Petrolemn Corporation of Amer-
ica in the spring of 1928. Mr. Wilkes called on
me one day and said that he had re-entered the

oil business and was employed by the Italo Amer-
ican Company to see what he could do with the

company. He said that the company had been
started by a group of San Francisco Italians

who knew nothing of the oil business but that

they had in his opinion some good assets on the
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Hill and that they had employed him to put the

company on its feet and do whatever was neces-

sary to rehabilitate it; that he was t^^oinj? to re-

organize a new company to handle some prop-

erties and raise some additional money, and that

he would like to have a few practical oil men on

the board with him, and asked me if I would

seiTe as a director on the board. I said I would.

That was my fii-st introduction to and kuowledj^e

of the Italo Petrolemn Corporation, That conver-

sation \\'ith Wilkes was in February or March,
1928.'' (R. 1118-19.)

With respect to the j^ropei-ties of the Italo-American

Petroleum Corporation, during the same convei-sation

Wilkes infoi-med McKeon that it had a ten-year lease

known as the Wiley-Tobin lease with which McKeon

was acquainted; that he had entered into an a^-ee-

ment with the Continental Oil Company to diill some

deep wells on that property on a 50/50 basis; and

that they had a refuiing and dehydrating plant and

had the hill well covered with pipe lines. Wilkes fur-

ther infonned him that he was going to reorganize to

take over the assets of the old company and, after

asking McKeon's opinion respecting the chance of

deep sand production on the Wiley-Tobin lease,

Wilkes said that

:

**The Italo Coii)])any had entered into the dis-

tribution of erasoline and motor oils and it made
a contract with the California Petroleum Corpo-

ration for refining gasoline, and oil and would

open seiTice stations in vai'ious parts of North-

ern California. And he told me about their in-

creased sales from month to month and thought



1hn1 ^^onld bo a aitv })r(>fitnbl(' branch of Ibo

busiiit'Stis dislribulJiii:: j^asoliiic at first aiul thon

]>ossibly at a later dale rofiiiini:: it, tbat is to have

a market establislitnl for thi>ir ])roduct.s." (K.

11200

With ros]xvt to the direct (^rs of the new coin]->any,

AVilke^ further said:

**that Fred Gordon was proinG: to resipi as vice-

president of the Oalifomia Petroleum Corpora-

tion and conje with hian in the new com]>aJiy and
that some of 1he old San Prjincisco men from the

old com]iany would also be on the board." (K.

1120.^

This was tht> tirst conversation tbat had occurred

between Robert McKeon and Wilkes within a i>eriod

^)f two or three years. (R. 1210.)

That John McKeon likewise had notJiini; whatever

lo do with the oriranization of the new company is

sht»\A'n by his uncontradicted testimony:

**wilh respect to the chars:? i« the indictment that

1 had some comiection with and did ori::ani7.e or

aid in the organization of the Italo Corporation

of America, I had nothini:: to do w ith that at all. I

>A^a.s not familiar with the details of it. 1 did not

irive any directions as to how it should be or-

iranized." (R. 122tl.)

No partidpation by McKeons
in the a^.quisitioii of as.<;et,? of

ItaJo-Aramcaji Petroleum Corpo-

ra-tjon.

Prior to March 14, 1928, the Italo-American Petro-

leum Cor]>oration, by resolution, had offered to sell
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to the new corporation its business, property and

assets subject to liabilities not exceeding $81,742.48 in

consideration of the issuance to it of 500,000 shares of

preferred and 1,000,000 shares of common capital

stock of Italo Petrolemn Corporation of America. (R.

237.) This was given consideration by the directors

of the new corporation, at a meeting held on March

14th, 1928, and a resolution adopted accepting such

offer (R. 236-7), pursuant to which an agreement

was subsequently entered into between the two com-

l^anies. (R. 267; 271-2.) A resolution was then passed

authorizing Wilkes to tile with the Commissioner of

Corporations an application for a permit approving

the purchase of the assets of the Italo-American

Petroleum Corporation and also for permission to

issue and sell 300,000 units of stock for a price of

$1.50 per unit, subject to a selling commission of not

to exceed 20%. (R. 237.)

Shortly thereafter, the requested permits were is-

sued and the purchase of the Italo-American Petroleimi

Corporation assets consmnmated. This was several

months before the date upon which for the first time

Robert McKeon ever participated in the affairs of

the Italo Petroleum Corporation of America. (R.

1120.)

We have already directed the court's attention to

the conversation occurrini*- between Wilkes and Robert

McKeon during February, 1928, respecting the inten-

tion on the part of Italo Petroleum Corporation to

acquire the assets of Italo-American Petroleum Cor-

poration. The record without dispute affirmatively
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discloses that Robert McKeon had nothinc: whatever

to do with the acquisition of these properties. Upon

this subject he testified:

'^I know nothing- whatever about the Italo-

American Petroleiun Corporation or its being

taken over by the Italo Petroleum Corporation

except what Mr. AVilkes told me, as 1 have here-

tofore testified. I had nothing whatever to do

in the organizing of either of these two companies.

I know nothing whatever of * * * the taking over

of the Italo-American properties by which any-

body was to be defrauded or cheated, or anything

about them that was unfair." (R. 1123-4.)

That John McKeon did not participate in this

transaction is clearly shown by his testimony, which

is as follows:

''And although I am accused in the indictment

of having participated in the incorporation of a

company known as the Italo-American Petrolemn

Company in 1924, that accusation is not true. I

never heard of that company until late in 1927, at

which time Mr. Wilkes came to me and told me
he was contemplating making a connection ^^-ith

that company. He told me he expected to go

into that company and develop it if possible, and
showed me a list of the assets and wanted my
opinion on what the values were. I gave that

the best I could. The next I heard of the com-

pany was in the spring of 1928. T did not become
connected with the Italo-American Petroleum
Company at all. I never had any comiection with

it either as a stockholder, director, officer or

creditor." (R. 1203.)
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''I had no connection with the turning over

of the actual properties belonging to the Italo-

American Corporation to the Italo Corporation of

America or the issuance of the stock. The only

transaction I ever had with Italo was putting my
own properties in. Prior to that I had no re-

lationship with the company at all. * * *"

(R. 1226.)

Brownmoor Oil Co. and $80,000

syndicate deal.

Brownmoor Oil Com])anv was a corporation having

issued and outstanding 1,000,000 shares of stock. In

late 1927 and early 1928 its assets consisted prin-

cipally of a refinery at Long Beach, a property

known as the Brown lease in Ingiewood, Los Angeles

County, California, and certain property located on

the Kern River Front. At this time they were drill-

ing a well on the Brown lease. (R. 694.) Upon its

Kern River Front propert^y, which consisted of 600

acres and was also known as the Cauley lease (R.

702) it had three producing wells, and three addi-

tional wells were about completed. (R. 694.) The

completed wells were producing in the neighborhood

of 250 or 300 barrels per day. (R. 694.) Upon mak-

ing inquiry of an official of the Standard Oil Com-

pany, which owned the surrounding property, Wilkes

was advised that the Kern Rivei" Front property

was very valuable. (R. 695.) The surrounding ter-

ritory, upon which producing wells were located, was

owned by a number of major oil companies. (R. 702.)

Wells could be drilled on this property in three

weeks' time and without much expense, and it ap-
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peared to Wilkes that the purchase of this property

would build up the Italo production to 5000 or 6000

barrels a day without ureat dil!iculty. (R. 703.) As

a result of his own judgment, based upon his 20

years' experience in purchasing oil properties, and as

a result of conferences with Dr. Starke, formerly

Chief Geologist for the Standard Oil Company, and

Dr. Thompson, head geologist for Richfield Oil Com-

pany, both (^f whom had made reports upon the Kern

River Front tract, and upon the o]nnions of several

other engineers including the engineer for the Petro-

lemn Securities Company (which was in possession of

adjoining property) Wilkes concluded that it was

splendid oil property. (R. 703-4.)

On its Inolewood property the company owed

•^100,000 to the Monrovia Company, from which it had

been purchased, which obligation was secured by

250,000 shares of Browmnoor stock. Upon this prop-

erty Wilkes obtained an adverse report. (R. 695.)

Negotiations for sale of Brownmoor.

The defendant Siens then was and prior thereto

had been president of Browmnoor Oil Company. That

company was desirous of selling its assets, which re-

sulted in negotiations between Siens and Wilkes, the

latter representing the Italo Corporation. Wilkes

finally informed Siens that he would be interested in

making a deal on the refinery property and the Kern

River Front pro])erty, but would not be interested in

taking over the Brown lease at Intilewood, unless they

could get rid of the $100,000 obligation. A dav or two
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later Siens informed Wilkes that he believed he could

get rid of the Inglewood lease and wanted to know if

Wilkes thought that Vincent and Company would

be interested in purchasing the stock held by Mon-

rovia Oil Company, thi'ough which purchase the

$100,000 obligation could be paid. (R. 695-6.) Vincent

agreed to make such purchase provided he was in-

formed that the Italo Corporation intended to go

ahead with the Brownmoor purchase. (R. 696.)'

Subsequently Vincent informed Wilkes that he in-

tended to purchase two other blocks of Brownmoor

stock, one consisting of 100,000 shares and the other

200,000 shares, but he did not wish to become in-

volved in such purchase unless the proposed deal was

to be consummated. (R. 696.)

Vincent & Co. purchase Brown-

moor stock.

As the result of further negotiations, it was finally

agreed that the Italo Corporation should purchase the

])roperty of the Brownmoor Company, other than the

so-called Brown lease, for a consideration of 1,200,000

shares (600,000 units), of Italo stock. (R. 697.) At

this time Vincent & Company had an option on 550,-

000 shares of Brownmoor stock above mentioned,

which it finally purchased. (R. 697.) The 250,000

shares were acquired from E. M. Brown to whom
the Monrovia Oil Company had assigned the promis-

sory notes aggregating $100,000 together with the

certificates representing the stock. The transac-

tion was evidenced by an assignment of these notes

and certificates executed by Brown. (R. 394-5.)
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In addition to the options just mentioned an agree-

ment dated May 31, 1928, was entered into between

Vincent & Company and Siens, Westbrook and Shores

in which Vincent c^- Company agreed to purchase

240,000 units of Italo stock, which would be exchanged

for their Browmuoor stock upon the purchase by Italo

of the assets of the Browmnoor Oil Company. (R.

:>91.) Vincent & Company therefore had options to

]3urchase 950,000 shares of Browimioor Oil stock.

As sliowing that no one had any interest in the op-

tioned Brownmoor stock excepting Vincent & Com-

pany, (leorge Stratton, a member of that firm and a

witness for the govermnent, testified:

"Neither Masoni nor Perata were ever in-

terested with us in buyins,' options on the jmr-

chase of any of the Brownmoor stock and we
never had any understanding- with them directly

or through Wilkes. We did not have any under-

standing through Mr. Wilkes that Perata and
Masoni were to furnish a part of the money to

buy the Browmuoor shares. Xobody had any in-

terest in it except ourselves."' (R. 421.)

$30,000 loan to Italo.

Up to this time Vincent and Company had not been

able to make much progress in the sale of the 300,000

units of Italo Petroleum Corporation stock for which

they had subscribed, and the Italo Petroleum Cor-

poration was in need of funds. (R. 706.) It was then

suggested by Vincent that if the Brownmoor property

^vas pui'chased he would have no difficulty in raising

funds. (R. 706.) Wilkes informed him, however, that
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he Avould not sign the B^o^\^llnoo^ contract unless he

was certain of raising at least $80,000 to $100,000,

which was needed to carry on the work then in

progress on the Browninoor property. (R. 706.)

Wilkes then suggested that they go over and see the

defendant, Fred Shingle, and ascertain whether they

could not interest hiin in becoming interested in the

company to the extent of helping finance its opera-

tions. (R. 707.) As the result of conferences with

Shingle, and later Shingle and Brown (R. 707), and

after an investigation of the Italo and Brow^nmoor

properties had been made by them, they stated that

they would loan the Italo Petroleum Corporation

$80,000, but wanted to know what consideration they

would receive for such loan. (R. 708.) Vincent at

that time, ha^dng options on the Browmnoor stock

and realizing that if the assets of that company were

purchased by the Italo Petroleum Corporation, the

stock of the latter company would increase in value

and could be readily sold, agreed to deliver Shingle

as a bonus for makmg the loan 80,000 shares of

Browmnoor stock vrhich he then had under option.

(R. 708.) At that time both Vincent and Wilkes

informed Shingle that if the loan was procured and

the Browmnoor property purchased, the Italo stock

to be received by the Browmnoor Company for its

assets would eventually be exchanged for the outstand-

ing shares of Browmnoor. (R. 708.)
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Vincent gives 80,000 shares

Browninoor for loan.

At the time the loan was agreed to Yincent not only

iufoiTued Shingle that the 8<),(X)0 shares of Brownmoor

stock would be delivered as a bonus (R. 885; 708-9),

but that he had options on some of the Brownmoor

stock, from which he expected to make a profit, and

that if such profit was made he would .give a part of

it to Shingle, BrowTi & Co. (R. 708-9; 885.) There-

upon a s>Tidicate agi*eement was prepared providing

for the loan of $80,(XH) to the Italo Petroleum Cor-

poration (V. S. Ex. 238) repayable in 3, 6, 9 and 12

months at 7% interest, secured by an assignment of

certain leases including; the producing; leases on Signal

Hill and the dehyckating plant. TR. 887.)

$80,000- syndicate subscriptions.

Acting upon the recomniendation of Shingle, Brown

& Co. a niunber of their friends became subscribers to

the s\Tidieate. No subscriptions were solicited from

anybody connected with the Italo Petroleiun Corpora-

tion or the Brownmoor Oil Company. (R. 887.) Sev-

eral days after the subscriptions were stai-ted Wilkes

inquired whether some of their friends or associates

could join the syndicate. Upon being advised in the

ciffirmative a few of their friends, some of whom were

connected with the Italo Petroleimi Corporation, be-

came subscribers. Jones and ^likel, members of the

firm of Shingle, Brown & Co. had each subscribed

$2500. Perata, however, wanted to subscribe ^5000

but inasmuch as the entire amount of the loan had
been subscribed, as a matter of accommodation Jones
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and Mikel each assigned their subscriptions to Mr.

Perata who paid for them with his check for $5000

dated May 14, 1928, represented by U. S. Ex. 316.

(R. 888.) This accounts for the notation which ap-

pears on the side of Ex. 142 "Paid Perata". Brown,

vrho had subscribed $2500, assigned his subscription to

Mrs. O. B. Wilkes, which accounts for the notation

on U. S. Ex. 142 ''Paid O. B. Wilkes". (R. 651.)

A few days after Wilkes was advised that the

$80,000 loan would be made, it became necessary for

the Italo Petrolemn Corporation to borrow $10,000

to close the deal on an oil lease near Santa Maria

which it was endeavoring to acquire. The loan of this

sum was made by Vincent and Shingle, each con-

tributing $5000. (R. 888-9.) Shingle insisted that

some securit}^ be given for the $10,000 loan, whereupon

Vincent sent to him a certificate for 80,000 shares of

Brownmoor Oil Company upon the understanding

that it should first act as security for the $10,000 loan,

and upon its payment should be retained b}^ Shingle

on behalf of the syndicate as the bonus which Vincent

had agreed to give for making the $80,000 loan. (R.

743-4; 888.) That this 80,000 shares of B]-ownmoor

stock came from Vincent and not from the Italo

Petrolemn (Vn-poration is shown by the testimony of

Shingle, wherein he states:

''The 80,000 shares did not come from the Italo

Petroleum Corporation, but came from Vincent."

(R. 889.)

This situation is also att(^sted by Government's

accountant Goshorn, who testified:



**Italo Petroleum Corporation of America

never put up the 80,000 shares of Bro^^^lmoor

Oil Company stock that became the bonus stock

for the $80,000 loan s\Tidicate agi*eement."

(R. 651.)

McKeons not involved in syndi-

cate loan.

With respect to this $80,000 s\^l(licate and the loan

of the sSO.OOO to the Italo Corporation the McKeons
had nothing whatever to do. According- to John

McKeon

:

*'I had no relation to the $80,000 syndicate

and received no part of the consideration that

was paid to the syndicate members and knew
nothing- whatever about it. * * * My brothers

had nothing to do with those transactions either.
'

'

(R. 1226.)

While there is some conliict unimportant in char-

acter between the testimony of Shingle and Stratton

with respect to the source of the 80,000 shares of

bonus Bro^^'nmoor stock, all of the ^^'itnesses were in

accord that none of the McKeons had any connec-

tion direct or indirect with the $80,000 loan. George

Stratton, while testifying for the government, said:

"All of my negotiations either with respect to

the Bro^^'mnoor transaction, the $80,000 loan or

the biu" s\'ndicate. v.here they took over all of

the properties, and subsequently, were with Mr.
Wilkes and with nobody else. I don't think I

talked with any of the defendants about the biu

syndicate except Mr. Wilkes." (R. 433.)
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This evidence was corroborated by Wilkes, who

testified

:

"In the discussions that were had between

Vincent, Shingle, Bro\Mi and myself, Vincent

stated to Shingle and Brown that he (Vincent)

would arrange for and secure the putting up of

the 80,000 shares of Brownmoor stock. He told

them that he was working with the Brownmoor
stockholders and it was to his interest to obtain

the $80,000 loan for the Italo Petroleum Corpo-

ration so that the options that he had on the

Brownmoor stock would become of some value.

* * *" (R. 7-M.)

And emphasizing the fact that the McKeons had noth-

ing whatever to do with the Brownmoor deal, he

further testified:

"None of the McKeon brothers had anything to

do with the Browmnoor deal.'' (R. 257.)

With the aimouncement of the Browmnoor deal

the situation changed OA'ernight. Vincent was able to

sell a very large amomit of stock and shortly there-

after the Italo Petrolemn Corporation was able to pay

back the $80,000 loan from Shingle. (R. 710.)

Acquisition of properties of

McKeon Drilling' Company.

We have already shown that Wilkes was author-

ized to make such investigations as were deemed es-

sential for the purpose of eiiabling the new corpo-

ration, Italo Petroleum Corporation of America, to

acquire known or potential oil bearing properties and

thus enable it to engage activelv and intensivelv in
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the business of oil production and sale. He had al-

ready negotiated for the purchase of a number of

properties deemed by him, as well as by experienced

geologists with whom he had advised, to be proper-

ties of merit and value. It was the intention of the

company to group together and purchase these avail-

able properties contemporaneously in order that those

to whom it intended to offer stock in pa}^nent or part

payment for these properties would appreciate the

added value that their acquisition would give to the

stock and also the return which could reasonably be

expected from the operation of these properties.

John McKeon urg-ed to sell Mc-
Keon properties to Italo.

After having concluded negotiations respecting sev-

eral of these properties, and having agreed upon their

purchase price, Wilkes proposed to John McKeon
that the properties and business of McKeon Drilling

Company be made a part of the consolidation. Upon
this subject John McKeon testified:

''Mr. Wilkes explained to me when he finally

came to me to make a proposition to get our
properties to go into the consolidation, he showed
me a list of the properties he had been figuring

on and expected to put together and wanted our
properties to go in vdth that group of proper-

ties, and I told him, the day he called on me,
that I felt his plan was too ambitious. I did not

think it would be possible for him to raise the

necessary finances to put the properties together,

and i-ather discouraged him on it : but he assured

me that he was sure he could do that, and in a



day or so later he bi'ought Mr. Vincent back to

my office with him, he being the fiscal agent of

the company, and Vincent assured me that if he

could have a company with the basis of the prop-

erties that they were contemplating and prop-

erly managed, that he would have no trouble in

raising any amount of money." (R. 1204.)

Vincent then called his attention to the fact that he

had recently raised $300,000 or $400,000 in a week or

ten days, and when Wilkes stated that he intended to

go to New York and expected to get part of the money

there from some of the people with whom he had

formerly done business McKeon

"felt that they could finance their operations."

(R. 1204.)

Because of their long experience in and familiarity

with the oil business, both John and Robert McKeon

were fairly familiar with all oil properties in Cali-

fornia including the properties proposed to be put

into the merger. (R. 1204-5.) The fact is that all

major companies, through their scout and geological

departments, kept in touch with all oil properties in

California as well as their ownership and disposi-

tion. This is made manifest by the testimony of John

McKeon, who said:

"The Richfield had been acquiring a lot of

properties and we had our scout and geological

department who kept us advised on every prop-

erty in the state. In fact, we had properties in

every field and knew the condition of pretty

nearly everybody's properties. All large com-

panies do that." (R. 1205.)
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McKeon Drilling Co. production

and income.

The properties intended to be and which were sub-

sequently put into the consolidation, according to John

McKeon, constituted a sound oil operation then hav-

ing between 13,000 and 15,000 barrels per day pro-

duction, together with a lot of undeveloped land

possessing splendid potential value. In fact, John

McKeon believed that the project was the best Wilkes

had ever started. (R. 1205.) That it would have

been a success excepting for the conditions and cir-

cumstances not then anticipated is sho\\'n by John

McKeon, who stated:

"I had seen him all these years start on

projects and each one of them had worked out

to an ultimate success; in fact, to a very good

success in three diiferent instances; so I had no

reason to believe but that this would be a suc-

cess, and it would have been a success had not

the conditions prevailed that have prevailed in

the meantime. Every condition and every cir-

cmiistance that could arise and interfere with

it did arise. The Italo properties today are still

a sound basis and worth the full capitalization

at which they were capitalized, their intrinsic

value." (R. 1205.)

The desire of "Wilkes to have the McKeon Drilling

Company properties merged with the other proper-

ties, the purchase of which had already been nego-

tiated, was communicated by John McKeon to his

brother Robert, which conunmiication was followed

by a visit from Wilkes who discussed the proposal
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Loftus properties, to which reference will hereafter

be made, were not included in the proposed consoli-

dation. The proposition, however, did not appeal to

Robert McKeon, his testunony being:

"We talked nearly all afternoon about the

advisability of our joining the merger. I my-
self did not feel so very keen about it. I felt that

we had a very nice company; my brothers and

I owned it all; we worked in harmony and had

an income of nround $100,000 a month. We
had a number of what we considered good prop-

erties and with wells in various stages of drill-

ing. We had a complete drilling unit. We had

crews of what I believe, the best oil field work-

ers in the country, men that worked for us ten

to fifteen years, and I liked the business that we
had. We were not interested in the refining of

oil or the distribution of gasoline. That end of

the business did not appeal to ,me at all, as I

considered the sale of crude oil a nicer business.

It vras no trouble to sell the oil you could pro-

duce. There was no worry about getting your

money. The day it was due it was on yonv desk.
'

'

(R. 1124-5.)

At the conclusion of the conference Robert Mc-

Keon informed Wilkes that notwithstanding his re-

luctance to go further with the matter, nevertheless

before reaching a definite conclusion he would con-

fer again with his brothers, Raleigh and Jack. (R.

1125.) Either that night, which was fixed by Robert

McKeon as in the latter part of May, 1928 (R. 1125),

or within a few days thereafter, fixed by John Mc-
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Keen as being- near the first of Jime, 1928 (R. 1205),

a further conference was held between Wilkes and

Robert, John and Raleigh McKeon which was con-

tined to v\hether it would be advisable to enter such

merger. (R. 1125.) The reason for the reluctance of

the McKeons to turn their pi-operties into the merger

is clearly pointed out by John McKeon, who testi-

fied:

"Wc were in a very good position at that time

and we had a very splendid income and milim-

ited credit, and we were a aoing concern, prob-

ably making us net above the cost, better than

$1,000,000 a year, and our then present oppor-

tunities were better than they had been in a long

time. So it was pretty hard for us to decide on

changing that and going- into something more or

less speculative." (R. 1205-6.)

After Wilkes left, the three brothers contiinied to

discuss the matter and it was finally agi'eed that Robert

McKeon should negotiate further with Wilkes and

like\\'ise make a thorough investigation of all prop-

erties that it was proposed should go into the merger,

and if he finally concluded that the proposal was

worth while they would give the matter further con-

sideration. (R. 1125; 1206-7.)

Xone of these subsequent negotiations were par-

ticipated in by John McKeon, who was occupied in

his employment with Richfield Oil Company, but he

was kept constantly in touch with their progress by

his brother Robert. (R. 1206: 1237.^
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111 a later conversation between Wilkes and Robert

McKeon the latter informed the former that if he

would come back with a definite outline of his plan

he would be told whether the McKeons would or would

not be interested in joining- the proposed merger.

(R. 1126.)

Up to this time the McKeons were under the im-

pression that the properties to be included in the

merger were going in with little or no indebtedness

and it was upon that basis that Robert was authorized

to proceed further with the negotiations. (R. 1206.)

Several days later Wilkes returned with a list of

the properties proposed to be merged and informed

Robert McKeon that the plan proposed by the Italo

Petroleum Corporation was that a syndicate was to

be formed that would underwrite 10,000,000 shares of

stock and that it would purchase the properties mider

consideration and turn them over to the Italo

Petroleum Corporation for the 10,000,000 shares of

stock thus to be imderwritten. (R. 1126.)

Proposal of McKeon Drilling- Co.

In the meantime Robert McKeon had had his or-

ganization make up detailed reports, upon all w^ells in

production upon the properties, as well as gather

considerable information respecting the condition of

the properties and their prospects. (R. 1126.) Finally

Robert McKeon informed Wilkes that if a satisfac-

tory deal could be worked out they would ])robably

go into the merger upon the basis of $1,500,000 in

cash and a stock interest in the company. (R. 1126.)
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Included in this $1,500,000 cash was $500,000 re-

quired to pay off all of the existing liabilities of Mc-

Keon Drilling- Company, so that if the deal were

consummated it could turn its properties and busi-

ness over free and clear of any indebtedness. (R.

1127.)

Wilkes then went to San Francisco and later re-

turned to Los Angeles at which time he suggested

as a counter proposal that in lieu of paying to Mc-

Keon Drilling Company $1,500,000 in cash the Italo

Petrolemn Corporation would assume the liabilities

of the McKeon Drilling Company (amomiting to

$500,000), would pay to it $500,000 in cash and give

notes for the remaining $500,000 payable in install-

ments. (R. 1127.) After some discussion it was finally

agreed that $1,500,000 should be paid in that fashion

;

that is, $500,000 down, $500,000 in installments, the new

company would assume liabilities to the extent of

$500,000 and give to McKeon Drilling Company 3,500,-

000 shares of stock. (R. 1127.) This agreement was

reached upon the assumption that the group of prop-

erties was to be acquired for 10,000,000 shares of stock

and that the only indebtedness of the new company

would be the $500,000 they would owe the McKeon
Drilling Company and the $500,000 of assumed in-

debtedness. (R. 1128.)

ProgTam of Italo changed.

Pending the preparation of a contract to effectuate

this deal, the Italo Petrolemn Corporation eliminated

the ''Edwards property" which it had intended to
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piu'chase and substituted therefor the Graham-Loftus

l^roperties which it had tinally agreed to purchase

for $3,000,000, $1,000,000 of which was to be paid

ui)on the consmmnation of the transaction and the bal-

ance in instalhnents. (R. 1128.) It had fui-ther agreed

to transfer to a s^oidicate 6,000,000 imits of stock for

which the syndicate was to pay $3,500,000. Out of this

sum $1,000,000 was to be paid on the Graham-Loftus

property and $500,000 to the McKeon Drilling Com-

pany, and the balance was to be used in meeting the

cash requirements connected with the purchase of the

other properties. Assmiiing that the merger went

through upon this basis, after the down pa^^nents the

corporation would owe $2,000,000 to the Graham-

Loftus Company and $500,000 to the McKeon Drill-

ing Company which, with its other indebtedness, would

aggregate approximately $2,750,000. Inasmuch as this

indebtedness would have to be liquidated within a

year, the payments v\ould rmi between $225,000 and

$250,000 a month, and instead of 10,000,000 shares of

stock being issued as originally contemplated the

proposition was that 12,000,000 shares would be is-

sued. (R. 1129.) Under this plan the company would

start out largely in debt with a larger stock issue

than previously intended aiid with some chanoes with

respect to the properties to be acquired. (R. 1129.)

Terms of sale agreed upon.

This alteration of the proposed set-up at first per-

suaded Robert McKeon not to go into the merger

on the conditions proposed (R. 1129), principally be-

cause under the original proposal the only indebted-
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ness of the Italo Corporation would be the unpaid

amount due to the McKeon Company, while under

the plan as changed its outstanding financial obliga-

tions would be very considerable. (R. 1130.) After

reaching this determination, however, he engaged in

further discussions with Wilkes and upon giving con-

sideration to the value and then condition of the proj^-

erties to be merged and reviewing the development

work, both contemplated and proposed, he agreed to

go into the merger for the cash consideration out-

lined, viz., $500,000 down, $500,000 in instalhnents

;

the Italo Petroleum Corporation to assume the out-

standing obligations of McKeon Drilling Company
not exceeding $500,000 and to deliver to the latter

company 4,500,000 shares of stock instead of 3,500,000

shares originally proposed. (R. 1129-30.)

It was this understanding that was embraced in

the contract of July 5, 1928. (R. 1130.) The agree-

ment is identified as U. S. Exhibit 44 and its substance

is set forth on pages 305 and 306 of the record. This

agreement is quite elaborate and has attached to it a

nmnber of exhibits describing the properties agreed

t(^ be sold by the McKeon Company to the Italo Cor-

]3oration. It provided for the assmnption by Italo

Corporation of not to exceed $500,000 in liabilities to

be paid within six months or a release to be delivered

to the McKeon Company: the pa^Tnent of $500,000

cash on or before xYugust 1, 1928; the delivery to

the McKeon Company of ten promissory notes by the

Italo Corporation for $50,000 each due monthly be-

gimiing September 1, 1928, and the payment by the

Italo Corporation to the McKeon Company of 4,500,-
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000 shares of its capital stock of which not less than

2,000,000 was to be common stock, to be delivered within

60 days. The agreement provided that it was subject

to the provisions of the Corporate Securities Act and

the approval and consent of the Corporation Com-

missioner, and that in the event that the Italo Cor-

poration failed to deliver the said stock to the McKeon
Company the latter had the right

"to retake the properties agreed to be sold or to

accept a 60-day note for one and a half million

dollars, a 120-day note for one and a half million

dollars, and a 180-day note for one and a half

million dollars" (R. 306),

upon the assumption that the promissory notes to be

delivered in lieu of stock reflected the assmned value

of the stock.

While the total consideration to be received by

McKeon Drilling Company for its assets upon the

basis mentioned in the contract would be approxi-

mately $5,500,000, the Italo Petrolemn Corporation

assuming its outstanding liabilities amounting to

$500,000, it is obvious that the actual consideration

was much less due to the fact that it would have been

impossible to have placed the stock upon the market

without ''breaking" the market and thus considerably

reducing the market value of the stock. (R. 1105.)

On September 18, 1928, at the instance of the Italo

Petroleum Corporation and for reasons to which ref-

erence will hereafter be made, this agreement was

modified, the modified agreement being identified as

U. S. Exhibit 85. (R. 306-7.)
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Italo directors approve purchase.

As has already been stated, the contract between

the parties was signed on July 5, 1928. Its execution,

however, had to be ratified by the directors of the

Italo Corporation. (R. 1131.) While Robert McKeon
had been elected a director of the Italo Corporation,

as already pointed out he had never ujj to this time

attended a directors' meetino" or had anything- to do

with the affairs of the company. On July 6, 1928, the

directors met for the purpose of giving consideration

to and taking final action upon the proposed merger.

(R. 1131.) With respect to this meeting Robert Mc-

Keon testified

:

"I had never been to a director's meeting and
I wanted to become acquainted with the men
with whom I had now associated myself, so John
McKeon, Gordon Siens and myself went to San
Francisco. Our principal reason in going to the

meeting was because we knew the directors were
going to agree to accept or turn down the propo-

sition for taking our properties into the merger
along with these others. I went up as a director

and I asked Jack to come up, saying, 'You had
better come up and get acquainted with the fel-

lows who will be partners with us now.' We
arrived in San Francisco on July 6th at nine

o'clock and the meeting convened at ten o'clock,

and we were introduced to the various directors

who were there at the meeting and we talked

about the various properties, both Jack and my-
self. We had some maps there similar to the

colored map in evidence and both Jack and I

talked to the same extent that we have discussed

the matter here todav, showin"- them the various
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properties, and showed them the productions, and
showed them the wells, and expressed our o]3in-

ion of the value of the properties including" our

own and those taken into the merger, and that

is about our interest in the meeting or what we
did.

The directors asked us about the various prop-

erties already in Italo and those proposed to be

taken in by the merger, and our ideas of the

value and the possibilities of oil in the various

wells, and we told them what we knew about it.

They thought we v\'ould have more information

than they and I believe were dependent upon

what we told them. It was my understanding

that the contract was to be affirmed by the di-

rectors before they became operative. When the

directors had arrived at the point of affirming the

contract under consideration, Jack and I tvHh-

dreiv from the meeting because our properties

were interested and toe were not present when

they voted on the proposition to buy all of these

properties. That was the first meeting of the

board of directors I had ever attended." (R.

1131-2.)

Upon the same subject John McKeon testified:

"I vrent up to San Francisco and the deal was

all settled and was reviewed by the board of di-

rectors. I went before the board of directoi's at

that time and did not conceal from the board

any facts which were then facts or any agi'ee-

ments which had then been made. I stated fairly

to the board of directors what those properties

were and my judgment concerning them. There

were no members of the board of directors at

that time other than Bob who I dominated
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or controlled in any way." (R. 1208.) ''* * *

At that time with my knowledge of the proper-

ties and of the oil business and of the Italo I

thoiiaht the transaction that I was entering" into

not only as to the McKeon but as to all of those

l)roperties, was just and reasonable and a very

fine deal. It did not occur to me that there was
anything in it as the basis of a fraud on any-

body." (R. 1209.)

That no misunderstanding- ever existed and that no

suggestion ever was made that any paii: of the con-

sideration, to be received by the McKeon Company
for its properties, should be turned over or given to

any of the officers or directors of the Italo Cor-

l)oration, or that there was no fraud of any kind

connected with the transaction, was definitely estab-

lished upon the trial. Upon this subject Robert Mc-

Keon testified:

"There was never at any time during- the nego-

tiations for the selling of the McKeon j^roperty

to the Italo Company any miderstanding that

any part of the proposed consideration from Italo

Company to the McKeon Company should not be

paid but should be divided back among directors

or others comiected with the Company. There

was no agreement of that kind at all. Up to the

time of the making of the actual deal I dealt

^^ith the Italo Comj^any at arm's length the same
as I would deal with anybody else. Even though

I was elected as director of the Italo I had for-

gotten about it and never thought about it. I was
sitting on the deal on the McKeon Drilling- Com-
pany side of the table. I was acting for the Mc-
Keon Drilling Company getting the best possible
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deal. I did not offer anything in the way of a

reward or inducement to anybody eomiected with

the Italo Company to further or encourage our

properties. The Italo Company was after us for

the deal ; I was not after the Italo Company for

the deal at all.

I believed at all times that I was making a

fair and upright and honest bargain ^^•ith the

Italo Company for the sale of our properties

(the McKeon Drilling Company properties to the

Italo). There was not at any time preceding the

sale any understanding, directly or indirectly, be-

tween me and anybody else, or to my knowledge

between any other parties, that any part of the

consideration that was being paid by the Italo

Company under the terms of the contract should

be rebated to or paid back or in any v/ay enjoyed

by anyone else." (R. 1172-3.)

Upon this same subject John McKeon testified:

''I did not promise any one or more of the

directors any reward or compensation or com-

mission in the event the deal was consmnmated
and did not suggest anything of that kind to any-

body, and did not authorize anybody else to make
such proposition at my suggestion or on behalf

of the McKeon Drilling Company.

At that time with my knowledge of the ])rop-

erties and of the oil business and of the Italo,

I thought the transaction that I was going into,

not only as to the McKeon properties l3ut as to

all of those properties was just and reasonal^le

and a very fine deal. It did not occur to me that

there was anything in it as a basis of a fraud

on anybody."^ (R. 1208-9.)
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Diversion of stock not agreed to

or contemplated.

That he never contem])latecl ever using any part of

the ^IcKeon Company's consideration for purposes

other than those of the McKeon Company is likewise

shown b}' the following testimony of John McKeon,
his testimonv beino':

''If I had had any idea that I would later be
called upon to use part of the consideration which
we were to get for purposes other than the pur-
poses of the McKeon Drilling Company, we
woulcbi't have considered the deal for a miimte.
We were putting our properties in, in my opinion,
for less than their worth, and putting in clean
nice properties in a clean nice proposition. If
we had thought there would be any difficulties in
the future we would not have considered the
deal on any basis." (R. 1207.)

John M. Perata was the president of Italo Petro-

leum Corporation at the time the transaction was
concluded. With respect to this subject he testified:

"At the time the syndicate was fonned and
before and after that time I did not have any
understandino- or agreement ^\'ith Robert Mc-
Keon or John McKeon or McKeon Oil Companv
or any of the defendants or persons mentioned in
this indictment or anyone else that I was to re-
ceive any consideration whatever in the way of
stock from John McKeon or any other person.
There never was any understanding l^etween me
and any of the defendants that I was to receive
any l)enefit as the result of the purchase by the
Italo Petroleum Corporation of America of the
McKeon Drilling Company." (R. 838.)
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Paul Masoni, who was a director of the company,

also testified upon this subject, his evidence being:

"In the consmmnation of any of these deals

there was no agreement between Wilkes or Perata

or DeMaria, or any of the other defendants and

myself that at any time or under any circum-

stances I was to receive any of the commissions

or benefits whatsoever personally from these

transactions. There was never any such under-

standing at any time." (R. 819.)

Wilkes, testifying upon this subject, said:

''The question of the McKeon Drilling Com-
pany only receiving 2,000,000 shares of stock for

the consideration of their properties was never

discussed by me with anybody and I never under-

stood at any time that the McKeon Drilling Com-
pany was only to receive 2,000,000 shares of

stock." (R. 72(3.)

Ul)on cross-examination he further stated:

''I never at any time had any conversation

with any one of the three McKeon brothers or all

of them, in which any price was suggested by

them or any willingness on their part indicated

to accept a lesser consideration for the McKeon
Drilling Company properties than the considera-

tion which was eventually provided for in the con-

tract. The least price ever suggested by them

that they were willing to accept for their prop-

erties was the $500,000 assmnption of indebted-

ness, the $500,000 in cash and the giving of ten

notes payable over a period of ten months, for

$50,000 each, and 1,000,000 shares of preferred

and 3,500,000 shares of common stock of the

Italo Company. They never accepted the deal as
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filially set up until it was finally agreed upon."

(R. 752-3.)

Fred Shingle, when examined upon this phase of

the controversy, testified:

*'At or prior to the time that the contract was
made between the McKeon Drilling Company
and the Italo Petrolemn Corporation of America,

I did not have any agreement or understanding,

tentative or otherwise, with any one of these Mc-
Keons that 1 was to get any part of the stock

which was to be issued in consideration of the

transfer of the McKeon Drilling properties to

the Italo. At that time or immediately thereafter,

when the syndicate was being organized, I was
not informed by any person that there was any
such agreement as to anybody, with the McKeons,
that the McKeons were to give any part of that

stock to anybody else. So far as I know, each

one of these transactions, whereby the McKeons
gave, sold or disposed of their stock to various

persons, those transactions arose at or about the

time they took place, and that is true with re-

spect to the stock which was transferred to

Shingle, Brown & Company and to me personally.

The stock that was transferred to me personally

Avas transferred to me for the benefit of my firm."

(R. 929-30.)

The defendant, Maurice C. Myers, gave like testi-

mony :

''I never entered into any agreement with any
defendant in this case or anyone else to accept

any secret profits from any deal or deals of any
kind or nature in connection with the acquisition
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of any properties by Italo Petroleiun Corpora-

tion of America." (R. 1057.)

Comparable testimony was given upon this subject

by the defendants Brown (R. 1012) and Cavanaugh.

(R. 1083.)

This brings us to a consideration of the actual value

of the properties and assets of the McKeon Drilling

Company at the time they were purchased by the

Italo Corporation, as to which value there is no con-

flict in the evidence.

Value and character of assets of

McKeon Drilling- Company at

time of agreement.

It is, of course, obvious that the exact or even the

approximate, value of assmned oil-bearing properties

is not susceptible of demonstration. In the very na-

ture of things this must be so. Unless the property is

within proven territory its potentialities are highly

speculative, and frequently when within what is

deemed and ofttimes agreed to be proven territory,

upon the conclusion of drilling operations it is found

to be valueless. It is a matter of common knowledge

that inconsequential considerations are often paid for

property which turns out to be of immeasurable value,

while vast sums are paid for property deemed to be

oil-bearing which, when explored, is found to be bar-

ren and worthless. As it happens, however, practically

all, if not all, of the properties owned by McKeon
Drilling Company were not only within what is under-

stood to be proven territory, but all of its completed

wells were producing and its net returns from oil
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products at the time of the sale exceeded $1,000,000

l)er annum. (R. 1139.)

All of the properties of the McKeon Drillinj:^ Com-

pany were located in Signal Hill oil field situated

near Long Beach, California. (R. 1114.) Defendant's

Exhibit LLL (R. 1115) is a map of the Signal Hill

oil field. The properties appearing thereon colored in

red are those of the McKeon Drilling Company which

were transferred to the Italo Petrolemn Corporation.

(R. 1114.) This map also shows the Graham-Loftus

properties which were turned over to the Italo Cor-

poration, colored in green, as well as those acquired

from the other companies which are colored in yellow.

(R. 1114.) This map also discloses the production in

barrels per day from the various wells, aromid the

Hill, and the depth of certain wells which were in

})rocess of drilling, on July 5, 1928, the day the con-

tract was executed. (R. 1114.)

The Signal Hill oil field is about 2i/^ miles long and
half a mile wide. (R. 1114.) Robert McKeon's
familiarity therewith is demonstrated by the record

without contradiction. McKeon Drilling Company
started the third well that was drilled on that hill

and continuously thereafter was engaged in drilling-

wells. The McKeons had been identified with Signal

Hill since the discovery of oil was made in that field.

(R. 1114.) They had not only drilled approximately

100 wells in that territory, but had kept in close touch

with the wells drilled by other oi^erators, it being the

custom among operators to exchange information con-

cerning wells being drilled. The McKeon Company
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had drilled a corps of scouts who met once or twice a

week or oftener and exchanged information as to

producing- or drilling wells, so that such information

was known among all the operators. (R. 1114.)

Because of his experience in the oil business Robert

McKeon had become familiar with established geo-

logical guides that were used by various geologists and

petroleum engineers in the estimation of oil produc-

tion. (R. 1114-15.) All of the properties owned by

McKeon Drilling Company had been acquired for

the purpose of developing them as oil properties with

its own money. No stock was sold or intended to be

sold, and all money that went into the development

of these properties represented the moneys exclusively

of the McKeon Company. (R. 1115.) With respect to

the acquisition of these properties Robert McKeon

testified

:

'^In the acquiring of these properties from

1926 to 1928 I exercised my judgment and best

knowledge and information upon the question as

to whether they were valuable property and also

used the information that had been obtained from
others and such geological knowledge as I had.
* * * As we acquired these properties I believed

that they were the best that could be obtained on

Signal Hill, and we made oil wells out of nearly

every well we drilled." (R. 1115.)

The real properties turned over to the Italo Petro-

leum Corporation by McKeon Drilling Company were

twelve in number. (R. 1117.) These properties were

not only shown on the map (Defendant's Exhibit

LLL) but were specifically described by Robert
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McKeon in his evidence. (R. 1115, 1117.) At the time

the agreement was entered into the McKeon Com-

pany had five completed wells which were producing

a little in excess of 4300 barrels of oil a day. Within

a day or two after the sale the "Knight" well came

in, pi'oducing somewhere aromid 2000 barrels a day.

(R. 1118.) Between January 1, 1928, and October

15, 1928. when the properties were finally turned over

to Italo Petrolemn Corporation, the McKeon Com-

pany realized in excess of $900,000 from its produc-

ing wells. (R. 1118.) The i3roducing wells were

equipi:)ed with full facilities for handling the oil. such

as tanks, derricks, boiler points, tubiiiir. and every-

thina- that is necessary for a completed well. The

drilling wells were equipped ^^ith ever^'thiiiii- except-

ing the gas traps and production tanks and such other

paraphernalia, which would be finally put on at the

completion of the wells. (R. 1118.)

"With i-espect to the condition of the McKeon Com-

])any at the time of the transfer John McKeon tes-

tified:

"We were in a very aood position at that time,

and had a very splendid income and milimited

credit, and we were a going concern probably
making a net, above cost, better than a million

dollars a year, and our then j^resent opportmiities

were better than they had been in a Ions: time."

(R. 1206.)

McKeon assets valuable and highly

productive.

With respect to the McKeons' imderstanding; of the

then existing situation, John McKeon testified:
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''After the conversation between Bob, Raleigh

and myself we agreed after reviewing the prop-

erties that were going into the consolidation that

if we went in we would have to have a certain

amount of cash and approxunately one-third of

the stock of the company. We felt that our prop-

erties and our organization was worth one-third

of the other properties that were being con-

solidated. We realized that we were giving up
our identity in the oil business and were giving

up the idea of making profits for ourselves; that

our efforts would have to be directed to that

company entirely, and also, if the company ever

got into difficulties, that we would have to be a

part at least of the people that would carry it

through. With all those things in our minds, we
concluded we would have to have at least one-third

of the capital stock of that company. We did

not consider the capital stock that we were get-

ting as the equivalent of cash at the par value of

that stock. We knew that it was stock; that it

was necessarily a speculative commodity. We
knew that the company had just sold six million

shares at the rate of about sixty cents a share to

the syndicate and that that money was used to

buy properties comparable to ours, and that cash

was paid for them. We couldn't be expected to

figure that out stock was worth more than they

were willing to take for it in cash. We knew
it was not the equivalent of cash." (R. 1207-8.)

Upon the question of values the testimony of Robert

McKeon is illuminating. On this subject he said:

"In my opinion the propei'ties of the McKeon
Company transferred to the Italo Compsmy in
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accoi'dance with that agreement, were of a value

of five or six miUion dollars. In considering the

value of these properties I base nw estimate on

the following- things. First of all, I had seen

many of the oil wells on the hill produce more
than a miUion dollars. We had an income there,

above costs, in excess of $100,000 a month, or in

excess of $1,000,000 a year profit. We had a num-
ber of wells drilling and in various stages of

drilling on the various properties, some of them
near completed, and it w^as my opinion that the

completion of these wells would increase our

present income considerably. I thought it would
more than double it. We had in addition to that

a complete unit in the oil field development. We
had a large crew of trusted and experienced men
both as to drillers, production men, engineers,

geologists and every kind of man that was needed.

We had the finest equipment that money could

buy and we could secure leases around there in

competition with any company in the country.

We had a good organization, and all of those

things taken into consideration I don't think I
would have sold the properties for five or six

million dollars in cash if I had to quit the lousi-

ness." (R. 1139-40.)

And as indicating why under such circimistances he

Avas willing to join the merger, he testified:

''If I were just going to take the money and
quit the business I don't think I would have con-

sidered that kind of an offer. The fact that I
was becoming connected with a larger and grow-
ing organization influenced me in the making of
the deal. I realized that while we had a number
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of Avells on this property and a number of wells

drilling', they were all located in one field, and

that many things could happen in the field. I had

always dreaded the thought of a fire at Signal

Hill which would wipe out all of the wells on

Signal Hill. I knew that I was getting a large

interest in many properties on the Hill that were

as vahuible, possibl,v some of them, more valuable

than mine. In addition to that I was getting an

interest in hundreds of acres of proven oil lands,

with producing wells on them. An interest in the

spread of wildcat or prospective potential oil

lands, scattered in many states, even old Mexico,

and was getting associated with men whom I

thought and knew had great ability, such as Fred
Grordon, Alf Wilkes and many of the men in the

company. I realized and thought that we w^ere

going to have good financial backing, and all

those things tended to get me to join in that

merger." (R. 1140-41.)

Geologists appraise McKeon Co. assets.

Notwithstanding the individual knowledge of

Wilkes respecting the properties to be included in the

proposed merger, as well as their value, before agree-

ing to acquire any of these properties (including that

of the McKeon Drilling Company) expert geologists

^vere employed to study and make a detailed report

thereon. One of the experts was Dr. Eric A. Starke,

an outstanding geologist of vast experience. He had

been at the head of the geological department of the

Standard Oil Company of California for twenty-three

years, and thereafter Chief Geologist for the Union
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Oil Company of Delaware, until it was absorbed by

the Shell Company of California. Since that time he

had Ix'en piacticinir his profession in Southern Cali-

fornia. (R. 793.) With respect to his emplo\-ment in

comieetion with the properties here involved he tes-

tified:

••In the year 1928 I was employed by the Italo

Petroleiun Corporation of California throusrh

Alfred O. Wilkes to examine a munber of prop-

erties, includins: those of the McKeon Drilliug

Company at Simial Hill.** (R. 793.)

With leference to his knowledsre of defendant, .John

McKeon, he said:

*'I have known John ^IcKeon for about fifteen

years and am familiar with his creneral reputa-

tion in the Ltil business as a production man. His
reputation is very hiarh, beinsr one of the outstand-

ing: ones in the State." (R. 794.)

As a result of his investisfations. he made a report

upon all of the propeities examined by hiui, including

those of the McKeon Drillins: Company. (U. S.

Exhibit 25.) With respect to this report he states:

^*The report which you have showTi me, which
was made by me, represents my tme oj)inion as

to the value of the McKeon properties. In ar-

riving at the conclusions which I did in that re-

port, I used the method of procedure which I
customarily and ordinarily used in aj^praising oil

pioi)erty based upon my experience. In my opin-

ion, the Signal Hill oil field is a long-lived field.

I have never yet known a major field in CalifoiTua

to die.** (R.'794.)



60

This report, which is quite lengthy, and therefore

iin])ossible to reproduce in this brief, is in the posses-

sion of the clerk of this court and therefore available

to the court for examination. The report places a

total net worth on the leases belonging to McKeon
Drilling Company at $5,874,818, which did not take

into consideration any of its physical properties, such

as derricks, equipment on leases, tankage and other

equipment. (R. 795.) As showing his lack of interest

in the matter this witness testified

:

''I did not have any interest in either the

McKeon or Brownmoor property and was paid a

fixed fee, regardless of the result.'' (K. 79(3.)

He further testified:

''I never discussed that valuation with the

McKeons." (R. 797.)

Charles S. Thomas, another geologist, employed to

pass upon the value of McKeon Drilling Company's

properties, had been engaged in locating, passing on

and valuing oil properties for twenty-two }'ears and

had been geologist for ten years for the Union Oil

Company of California. About 50% of the woi'k

that he had done as geologist had been the appraisal

work of oil properties. (R. 786-7.) About the mid-

dle of Jmie, 1928, he was employed on behalf of

Italo Petroleum Corporation through Wilkes to make

a report on the McKeon Company's property on Sig-

nal Hill. After testifying to the methods pursued by

him in investigating and evaluating oil property (R.

787) and that such methods were pursued in determin-
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ing the value of the McKeoii properties he testified

that in his judgment they were worth $7,537,123. With

respect to this vahuition he stated:

''The vahiation arrived at in this report on

the McKeon properties truly and correctly states

my opinion as to what those properties were

worth at the time the report was made. (R. 787.)

* * * The values which I have placed upon the

McKeon properties in this re])ort (U. S. Ex. 25)

represent the fair and reasonable value of those

jjropei'ties, as of the time the report was made,

which was the smnmer of 1928, and it was my
opinion at that time, and it is my opinion yet,

if the conditions there remain the same.^' (R.

788.)

Concerning his employment to appraise the McKeon
and other properties, he further testified:

''There was nothing contingent about my com-

pensation. It was not contingent upon getting a

permit or anything of that sort. "Wilkes just

asked me to make the report and get it out as

speedily as possible." (R. 792.)

In making his valuation, no consideration was given

to the equipment upon the property. It was confined

exclusively to the assumed oil content of the area.

(R. 793.)

With respect to the advice given by him to the Italo

Corporation, on i-ecross-examination he testified:

"In July, 1928, I would have advised and did

advise the payment of $7,537,123 for the McKeon
properties, and the payment of $6,800,000 for

the Graham-Loftus property. By that I mean
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that is what I make the vakiation at in my report,

and I would have advised my client to pay that

much money for the property." (R. 793.)

The report made b}^ this A\itness is equally as

voluminous as that made by Mr. Starke and has ap-

pended to it maps, diagrams and other documents to

illustrate the verity of his report. This report is also

a part of U. S. Exhibit 25, which is in the possession

of the clerk of this court and therefore available for

consideration.

We have already ])ointed out the extent of the pro-

duction on the McKeon Company's properties at the

time the contract was negotiated, and that from this

production the McKeon Company was then netting

approximately $1,000,000 a year, without taking into

consideration the 2000 barrel well which came in a

few days later. (R. 1139, 1118.)

Revenue of McKeon properties

analyzed.

Supplementing tliis testimony and establishing that

such production continued after the transfer to Italo,

the witness E. J. Byers, who was supervisor of ac-

counting for the receiver of the Italo Corporation

and had previously been called as a witness for the

government, testified

:

''According to the records of that corporation

the McKeon properties were acquired October 15,

1928. From that date t.^ December 31, 1928, the

gross income for the two and a half month's

period was $284,118.55 from the McKeon prop-

erties alone. The operating expense of these
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properties for that period of two months and a

half was $37,9^1:2.14, leavino- a net operating in-

come from the McKeon properties of $246,176.41.

The gross income from the McKeon properties

alone, according to the books of the Italo Com-
pany, for the calendar year 1929 was $1,056,-

509.68 and the operating expense was $101,937.19,

giving a net operating income from the McKeon
properties of $954,572.49." (R. 850.)

At this time the oil bnsiness was at its height, there

was a great demand for oil and the unanimous judg-

ment of those interested in the oil business was that

the price of oil was going up. (R. 1218.) Marketing

companies were making every effort to get contracts

to cover present and future production. (R. 1218.)

Oil curtailment and its disastrous

effect.

During the year 1929 the oil industry of the nation

suffered a serious set-back, some of its underl\ang'

causes being mentioned in the record. (R. 783-4;

847-8.) According to the l)ooks and records of the

Italo Corporation, curtaihnent went into effect on

November 1, 1929. Necessarily the regulations en-

forcing curtailment interfered with what otherA\ise

would have been the normal progress of this enter-

l)rise and materially diminished its production and in-

come. Undoubtedly to the disaster, thus occurring to

the oil industry, can be traced the financial difficulties

in which the Italo Corporation found itself. The effect

(^f curtailment upon the Italo Corporation was shown

bv Bver's testimonv as follows:
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''With respect to tlie normal income from the

McKeon properties turned over to the Italo Cor-

poration, allowing a normal decline had the price

remained the same and there had been no cur-

tailment, I would say that for the two and a

half months' period in 1928 the McKeon proper-

ties earned net $246,000 which was approximately

$.100,000 a month or $1,200,000 per annum. If

they had continued to produce on the same basis,

without curtailment, and at the same price that

they received in 1928, for the period from October

15, 1928, to May 31, 1933, that would be four

years, seven and a half months, that is, 55%
months, at $100,000 per month, would be $5,500,-

000 odd. That is what they would have pro-

duced net. Now, there must be taken into con-

sideration the normal decline in wells, so we take

10% off and I would say that they would have

produced in excess of $5,000,000 to May 31, 1933."

(R. 850-1.)

Oil industry prosperous in 1928.

Upon this phase of the (^ase which bears upon the

question of value, Ralph Arnold, an experienced geolo-

gist w^ho for many years had been a member of the

United States Geological Survey, and while such had

examined all of the oil fields in Califoi-nia, testified:

''In the summer of 1928 the conditions in the

oil industry were the best that I had ever seen

them in my 25 years experience. At that time

the prosperity of the oil industry was going up
all the time and I felt the oil business was on

the uptrend. That was the general opinioii among
oil men at that time. In 1929, due to the impor-

tation of large quantities of oil from Venezuela
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and the natural results of the depression late in

that year there was a very decided effect upon

everybody's ability to raise money and conduct

any business, particularly the oil business. The

result of those conditions had brought about the

curtailment of oil." (R. 783-4.)

And after testifying that the percentage of curtail-

ment in Long Beach field was from 25 7o to 50% and

that 40% reduction in price was the usual curtailment,

with respect to the difference in the price of crude oil

between 1928 and 1929, he stated:

''1 don't remember the exact price of vSignal

Hill crude oil in 1928, but it was about as high

as at any time I remember in the oil business.

1 think it was around $1.50. Since that time

the price has gone down to as low or lower than

35^' per barrel. The decline in price and the cur-

tailment have had a very depressing effect upon
the price of oil properties." (R. 784.)

And as showing the probable loss sustained by the

Italo Corporation from the properties acquired by

it in the merger, due to curtailment, this witness

further testified:

''It seems to me they should have given a

profit then of somewhere between three and four

times the profit that they made if they had sold

all of their oil and at prices ^^•hich were prevailing

in 1928." (R. 784-5.)

Upon this same subject Raymond A. Earle, a

petroleum engineer and field superintendent, then em-

ployed by the receiver of the Italo Corporation and
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prior thereto by the McKeon Company, and there-

fore familiar with the properties of the McKeon

Company, after testifying that curtailment was put

into effect upon the McKeon wells in November, 1929,

and had remained effective ever since, stated

:

"The original curtailment was 38.54% calcu-

lated as follows: In Los Angeles basin the Itaio

Petroleum Corporation, including Santa Fe
Springs, Huntington Beach and Long Beach, for

the month of October and prior thereto in 1929,

before curtailment, the production of the entire

basin for this company was 170,475 barrels of net

oil or an average daily rate of 5,499 barrels. That

v>'as for all of the wells. For Signal Hill alone,

where the McKeon properties were located, for

October 1929, 81,441 barrels or 2,627 barrels per

day, flowing at a maxinmm amount, producing at

100%, and then curtailment was instituted in No-

vember of 1929 carrying on to the present time,

and the production of the entire basin for Italo

was cut to 81,883 barrels or a drop of 88,591,

barrels over the preceding month or 51.97% for

the basin. In Long Beach 58,254 barrels for the

month of November, or a daily rate of 1,967 bar-

rels, a drop in production of 27,187 barrels or

28.47% drop in Signal Hill." (R. 847-8.)

This witness further testified:

''That i)roperty is in ])roven territory, as are

all of the other properties of the McKeon Drill-

ing Company." (R. 484.)

And, as showing the condition of the oil industry

in 1928, he further testified:
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''At the time the transac^tion was made, in the

suinmei' and fall of 1928, the oil industry was in

a very healthy condition and there were no indi-

cations of the things that transpired in 1929.''

(R. 8-19.)

And as showing a further reason for the decline, he

said

:

"The rapid decline had not hit Signal Hill at

the time, and the excess oil from Santa Fe
Springs was followed later by Kettleman Hills.

We could not see those things in the oil indus-

try and were not anticipated in 1928." (R. 849.)

The change in the peti'oleum business is likewise

established by Robert McKeon, whose testimony was:

"There was a marked change in the condition

of the petrolemn business follo\\ing the taking of

the properties over from the McKeon Company
and these other companies." (R. 1180.)

Proceedings before Corporation

Commissioner.

In order to enable the merger to be consmmnated it

was essential that a permit be obtained from the Cor-

poration Conmiissioner of the State of California.

The preparation and filing of this application was

entrusted to Maurice C. Myers, attorney for the Italo

Corporation. A number of conferences were had be-

tween Mr. Myers, the Corporation Commissioner and

his assistant, during the course of which additional

data was requested, which consisted largely of engi-

neering reports, subsequently furnished by the Italo

Petroleum Corporation. (R. 1042.) The proceedings
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before the Corporation Commissioner are of interest,

because they likewise demonstrate, at least with re-

spect to the McKeon properties, that the purchase

price was neither excessive nor unfair.

At the time the application was filed Walter D. Abel

was chief engineer of the State Division of Corpora-

tions, having served as such under a nmnber of dif-

ferent conunissioners. (R. 835.) Touching upon his

qualifications for his position he stated:

"I became chief engineer of the department

some time in 1923, and during my employment in

the department, I was actively engaged in the ex-

amination of either the properties or the reports

that were made respecting them, in connection

with ai)plications to the Commissioner for per-

mits. There were many such applications and in

that employment I became familiar with the vari-

ous oil structures of the state. My training as

mining engineer included also the study of oil

geology. I studied the oil geology of the various

structures in California during that tune, and in

1928 I was generally familiar, as a mining geolo-

gist and engineer, with the various oil properties

in California." (R. 854.)

After the application for the permit had been

filed Abel informed both Myers and Wilkes that be-

fore giving their application final consideration he

would require them to submit appraisements of all of

the properties that were involved in the permit. (R.

854-5.) He was then asked what appraisers would

be satisfactory to the Department. Three were named

by Abel, any one of whom it was stated would be
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satisfactory to the Department. Among the three

named were C. A. Thomas and M. H. Soyster. It ap-

peared, however, that Soyster had been employed by

the Italo Corporation, so the understanding was that

Thomas should be employed to do the work. (R. 855.)

Abel testified that he had no interest in any of these

men ; that their reputation as petrolemn engineers and

geologists was excellent, and each of them was a man
in whose judgment and opinion he had confidence.

(R. 855.) It was because he was named by Abel,

that Thomas, to whose testimony reference has already

been made, was selected. (R. 855.) Thereafter the

reports of Mr. Thomas and Mr. Starke, with sup-

porting data were filed with the commissioner. (R.

855.) With respect to the report of Mr. Thomas,

Abel testified:

''At the time I examined the report of Mr.

Thomas on these properties, I considered it was
made on a sound basis and in accordance with

standard engineering practices on property of

this kind." (R. 855.)

xifter the application had been filed, some of the stock-

holders of the company filed protests and complaints

against the issuance of the permit. One of these com-

plaints was filed by W. D. Rorex, a copy of which is

set forth in the record. (R. 515; 523.) An examina-

tion of this complaint will disclose that, among other

things, it was claimed that the properties to be ac-

quired were not of a value in excess of $6,518,000. To

these complaints, an answer was filed by the Italo

Corporation, and thereafter a hearing was had in the
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office of the Commissioner. (R. 524.) On August 9,

1928, findings of fact and conclusions of law were

signed and filed by H. A. I. Wolch, Assistant Cor-

poration Commissioner, before whom the matter was

heard. It appears from these findings of fact and

conclusions of law that practically all of the com-

plaints were dismissed. After referring to certain

exhibits filed in connection with the application, as

well as the valuations made by certain named petro-

leum engineers, including Eric A. Starke, C. S.

Thomas, Douglas Fyfe, M. H. Soyster and 1). R.

Thompson, the Commissioner found:

'Hhat the valuations and appraisals of the pro])-

erty to be acquired by the Italo (V)mpany are

made by competent engineers, and that said Eric

A. Starke, C. S. Thomas, Douglas Fyfe, M. PI.

Soyster and D. R. Thom]}son are found to be com-

petent and reputable engineers, and that the tabu-

lation of valuations of the properties to be ac-

quired as evaluated by the said engineers had

been tabulated by "W. D. Abel, Chief Engineer

of the State Corjx^rations Department, as fol-

lows:" (R. 524-5.)

Appraisement of McKeon proper-

ties by geologists.

The tabulation referred to appears on pages 526 and

527 of the record. With respect to the McKeon Com-

pany's properties, Thompson, Thomas and Starke

valued them as follows: Thompson, $9,005,188;

Thomas, $7,537,123 and Starke, $5,873,818. (R. 526.)

It will be recalled that this valuation did not include

any of the physical structures, but merel}^ the prop-
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erties themselves. The tabulation also disclosed that,

in the opinion of the geologists, the lowest value of

the actual production from the McKeon Drilling- Com-

pany's properties was $751,8(54, and the lowest value

of possible i)roduction was $3,77(),()69. The valuation

placed upon the equipment of the McKeon Company

was $726,695 l)y Fyfe and $2,750,000 by Soyster. (R.

527.)

Corporation Commissioner finds

values fair and issues permit.

After further finding that the sale of the securities

purposed to be sold in the mamier applied for, was

not unfair, mijust or inequitable to the purchasers

thereof, and that neither the applicant nor any of its

officers or members had engaged or were about to en-

gage in any fraudulent transaction, it was concluded

that the permit should issue. (R. 528-9.) A portion

of the information furnished to the Corporation Com-

missioner was the statement of Wmmer, Ackerman

ct Sully, accountants and auditors, who certified that

during June, 1928, the income for oil, gas and gasoline

produced by the various properties that were to be

merged aggregated $351,182.67. (R. 530-1.;) At the

same tune there was also furnished to the Conunis-

sioner a pro forma balance sheet sho^^'ing the set-up

of the Italo Petroleum Corporation of America, after

giving effect to the proposed acquisition of the prop-

erties. Except as to the property of the Zier Oil Com-
])any, which was valued at the par value of the capital

stock issued therefor, all of the proj^erties being ac-

quired wore valued at 50% of their appraisal. Upon
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this basis the total valuation was $16,980,506, to which

had to be added the then holdings and investments of

the Italo Petroleum Corporation which, with current

assets, aggregated $3,750,732.10. After allowing for

$15,900,000, representing the total issued and out-

standing stock (including the 12,000,000 shares to be

issued for the acquisition of the properties), and also

subsequent rights, and all liabilities, including those

assmned as part of the purchase price of certain of its

properties, the surplus capital upon the basis stated

was $3,015,761.78. (R. 732-3.)

Upon the showing made, the investigations pursued

and the hearings had, on August 9, 1929, a permit was

issued by the Corporation Commissioner

"authorizing Italo Petroleum Corporation of

America to sell and issue 4,500,000 preferred and

7,500,000 common shares of its capital stock to

Maurice C, Myers, as trustee for the applicant,

for the uses and purposes recited in the applica-

tion and the jKipers filed therewith, and in ex-

change for the transfer and assignment to appli-

cant of the pro'perties described in the application

and pai:)eis filed therewith and in the manner re-

cited therein, subject to liens, encumbrances and

indebtedness not to exceed $2,750,000." (R. 535.)

The reason for the stock being issued in trust was

undoubtedly to subserve the convenience of the par-

ties. Ui)on the subject of this trust, as well as its

execution, Mr. Myers testified:

"At one time Mr. Abel mentioned that they in-

sisted upon a trusteeship in a bank or to name
me, and I was reluctant about accepting the re-

sponsibility, but I did not refuse it, and the ])er-
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init came out in that form. The tioisteeship was
not completely closed for a couple of years. I

rendered an accountinii- as two trustees, really;

one was as trustee of the s\^ldicate in the han-

dling of the money, and the other was trustee for

the company as to the 6,000,000 shares of stock.
* * *

At the conclusion of my trusteeship, account-

ings were rendered to the company and to the

SA^idicate. To the best of my knowledge and be-

lief, the accoimtings rendered by me as trustee

to the s^mdicate and the company were true and
correct accoimtings." (R. lO-tS-G.)

McKeons had nothing to do with

securing permit.

In this comiection it will be proper to mention that

neither the McKeon Drilling Company nor any mem-
ber of the McKeon family had anything whatever to

do with the obtaining of this permit. This is con-

clusively shown by the testimony of Robert McKeon,

who testified:

"It was my understanding that the duty of ob-

taining the permit fell on the Italo Corporation

and I had nothing whatever to do with the ap-

plication for the permit or the pressing of the

permit for the issuance of the stock. If the ])er-

mit had nut been granted under the terms of our

contract vre would have retained our })roperties

and the deal would have fallen through. I had
nothing to do, directly or indirectly, with the pre-

sentation of the application for the permit or any

of the hearings that were had during the time

that the pei-mit a])plication was ])ending before

the Corporation Commissioner." (R. 1130.)
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No evidence contradicting' or opposing any of this evi-

dence as to value, production, income, retrenchment or

its effect, was introduced, and none can be fomid in

the record.

McKeons give Italo more time

to pay.

The contract between the Italo Coi^poration and the

McKeon Company pro^-ided that the property should

be transferred and the consideration paid on August

15, 1928. (R. 1136.) Shortly before such date Robert

McKeon was ad^'ised by Gordon and Siens that the

Italo Corporation would be miable to meet the $500,-

000 payment, accruiim* to the McKeon Company on

August 15, 1928, due to the fact that its permit had

been issued only a few days before and it had not

sirfficient time within which to raise the money. Ac-

cordingly, and without hesitation, an extension was

granted by McKeon. (R. 1136.) About this time a

deep sand well had been brought in on the Santa Fe

Springs property and the McKeon Company had ac-

quired leases in that field uj^on which it proceeded to

drill. (R. 1136-7.) Because of the inability of the

Italo Corporation to make the first payment to the

McKeon Company, Robert McKeon had some doubt

as to whether it would be able to finance itself. (R.

1137.) The contract between the McKeon Com-

pany and the Italo Corporation provided that in the

event it was carried out, all properties that the former

had then in its possession, regardless of when ac-

quired, would become the property of the Italo Cor-

poration. In such event any moneys spent by the Mc-
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Keon Company, on the Santa Fe Spi-ings property,

would inure to the benefit of the Italo Corporation.

On the other hand, if the MeKeon Company refrained

from acquii'ing leases or drillinsr wells on its Santa

Fe Springs propeity and the Italo Coii^oration deal

was not closed it would suffer a substantial loss. CR.

1137.)

Itaio in default, McKeons grant

extension.

In ^-iew uf these circumstances Robeit McKeon eon-

feiTed ^^-ith Gordon and Siens. explained the situa-

tion to them and infoiined them that he was seiiously

considering notifying them that the contract had tei-

minated. To avoid this they decided to give him a

$50,000 down payment, provided a further extension

VN'ould be gi-anted. which was given. (R. 1137.)

Dui-ing September. 1928, Robeit McKeon erected

derricks on the Santa Fe Springs property and

started to drill wells, thereby incuiTins: some con-

siderable exi)ense. He then concluded that if the deal

was ultimately closed he would insist uiDon the repay-

ment to the McKeon Company of the money thus ex-

pended on these properties. (R. 1137-8.) Still later,

the situation, not imi^roving. Robert McKeon in-

foiTQed the Italo Corporation that he had made up
his mind to withdi-aw from the merger. (R. 1138.)

To prevent such \\ithdi-a\val a fuither payment of

$100,000 on account was made, whei-eupon a written

extension was given until November 13. 1928, upon
the definite imdei-standing, however, that if the trans-

action was not consummated bv that time the deal
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would be declared off and the McKeon Company

would retain the $150,000 paid, as liquidated damages.

(R. 1138-9.) In giving this extension it was also pro-

vided that the property which had been acquired in

the Santa Fe Springs district after the execution of

the contract should be retained by the McKeon Com-

pany. Notwithstanding this understanding, however,

as a matter of fact, a portion of the Santa Fe Springs

properties were conveyed to the Italo Corporation

when the deal was closed. (R. 1186; 1230-1.) This

extension agreement is dated September 18, 1928, and

is United States Exhibit 85. (R. 307.) Among other

things it provides that the McKeon Company agrees

to accept the subscription obligation of Arthur De-

lany to the syndicate, hereinafter referred to, up to

$100,000 on account of the purchase price, defers the

payment dates of the ten promissory notes for $50,-

000 each, to be delivered to it as part of the purchase

price, and further provides that upon the payment of

the balance of the down payment of $250,000 and the

delivery of said notes, the Italo Corporation should

have full possession of the proj)erty described in

U. S. Exhibit 44 and the benefit thereof. It also pro-

vided that the Italo Corporation should have six

months from the pajanent of the balance of the $250,-

000 (down payment) to i}ay the obligations assumed

by it under this agreement. (R. 307.)

At this point we deem it necessary to direct the

coui-t's attention to another phase of this contro-

versy, the inception of which antedates some of the

incidents already narrated, to which in the orderly
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course of this statement mention should properly be

made.

Formation of so-called "big syn-

dicate".

The court will recall that on July 9, 1928, an ap-

plication was tiled by the Italo Corporation with the

Commissioner of Corporations of the State of Cali-

fornia requesting authority to acciuire the properties

and interests described in said application belonging

to McKeon Drilling Company, Inc., Graham-Loftus

Oil Company, W. W. Pelham, Modoc Petrolemn Cor-

poration, Producers Oil Corporation of America,

Coalinga Em^nre Oil Company, Premier Oil Com-

pany, Zier Oil Company, Pennsylvania Coalinga Oil

Company, Section 71 Oil Company and Maine State

Oil Company in return for not to exceed 12,000,000

shares of capital stock of Italo Corporation. (R.

514.)

For the purpose of effectuating such purchase, the

application requested authority to sell and issue to

Maurice C. Myers 4,500,000 shares of preferred and

7,500,000 shares of conunon capital stock in exchange

for such properties, subject to liens, encumbrances

and indebtedness, including current obligations of not

more than $2,750,000. (R. 514-15.)

The court will also recall that protests w^ere filed

against the issuance of the permit, and that it was only

after a full investigation and hearing that the required

permit was issued by the Corporation Commissioner.

(R. 528-9.) This permit authorized the Italo Cor-

poration to issue the 12,000,000 shares of stock to
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Myers, as trustee, because, as stated by Mr. Welch,

Assistant Conuuissioner of Cori^orations in charge of

the Los Ansfeles office:

"Under the i^erniit as issued we authorized the

corporation to issue the 12.iX)0,000 shares of stock

to a trustee instead of directly in exchauire for the

properties, as was requested in the ai)plication for

permit. I desired to create a trustee relation-

ship between the c'or])oration and Mr. Myers, be-

cause there was some doubt or micertainty as to

the actual amomit of capital that was necessary to

purchase certain properties, and there was also

a doubt as to the exact uiunber of shares that

had to be issued in exchans^e for the properties.

Mr. Myei*s was the attorney for the corporation,

and I i*equired that arrangement with the under-

standing: fiuther that if there was any lesidue of

stock left necessary to acquire these ]iroperties

that he would hold them as trustee for the benefit

of the corporation, to be returned to the cor-

poration for cancellation. That is. as trustee for

the corporation, he would return the residue or

excess." (R. S60-1.)

After the completion of the so-called $80,000 s^ni-

dicate, and after the Italo Corporation had concluded

to acquire a sri'oup of additional oil properties, it was

realized that, to effectuate their inirchase it would be

necessary to have available, sufficient fmids to meet the

cash requirements of the purchase acrreements. In

view of the existins: circmnstances, including the in-

ability of the Italo Corporation to meet such cash

i-equirements, it was essential that a s^^idicate be

foi-med. The necessity for such syndicate was ex-

plained by the de endant Shinde who testified

:
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"The reason whv the syndicate was necessary

was because in all of those purchases thev would

have to be part cash and part stock. For in-

stance, if they needed a million dollars to buy a

certain property they would have to have $250,-

000 in cash, and it was in respect to raising cash

that they were interested in having us form an-

other sTTidicate/' (R. 898-9.)

TVilkes and Vincent first approached Shingle and

Brown with the proposal that the necessary cash be

'•>aned by Shingle, Brown & Company to the Italo

Corporation, but such proposal was declined because,

.s stated by defendant Brown,

^'it calls for anywhere frcm $1,000,000 to $2,000,-

000 and we did not wish to luidertake to raise

that among our friends." (R. 974.)

It wiis finally stated by Wilkes and Vincent that if a

syndicate were formed

"they would interest their friends in bec<«ninsr

subscribers to the syndicate and that people close

to the company and other friends of theirs, they

thou^t could raise the requisite amount of

money." (R. 974.)

In this connection it was farther stated

''that scHne of the officers or directors of Italo

Petroleum Corporation intended to become sub-

scribers to the syndicate." (R. 974.)

That thei*e would be no impropriety in such action

:»n the part of such officers or directors is made mani-

fest bv the testimonv of Brown, who said:
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•'At that time I did not consider there was any

impropriety in any officer or director of Italo

Petrolemn Company becoming a syndicate sub-

scriber. If the people who were interested in

the company's welfare were not interested in the

s>Tidicate designed to assist the company in its

future gro^vth I don't know how they could ex-

pect anybody else to come in. and that is what I

thought about it at the time." (R. 974-5.)

Shingle syndicate manager.

After a niunber of conferences betsveen Wilkes,

Vincent, Shinsie and Bro^^'n it was finally agreed

that the defendant Shinele would assmne the re-

sponsibility of managino; the s>mdicate, but not the

responsibility of raising the money. (R. 897.) It was

intended that the syndicate, when formed, would asn'ee

to imderA^*i*ite or purchase a cei*tain number of shares

of Italo stock, either the whole or a substantial por-

tion of which was intended to be sold.

As cash was required by the company in the ac-

quisition of these properties, the syndicate would

advance to it cash representins: fimds contributed to

the syndicate by the subscribers, or moneys derived

from the sale of the stock purchased by it, or from

both sources. In order to persuade the formation of

the syndicate, as well as its manairement by Shingle,

Vincent asserted that by increasing his sales force a

quantity of stock sufficient to meet the purchase re-

quirements could be sold by his company within a

period of probably six months or a year. (R. 899;

975.)
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There was, howevei', no way of ascertaining" whether

the stock could be sold fast enough by Vincent to

meet these payments. In fact, it was practically cer-

tain that it could not. Therefore the syndicate would

anticipate his ordering" more of the stock. (R. 976.)

It was also understood that neither the defendant

Shinu'le not Shini^le, Brown <S: Com])any were to un-

dertake to sell the Italo stock except by wholesaling it

to Vincent it Co. and, if necessary, to other agencies

outside of the hitter's tield. (R. 976.)

The purpose of the syndicate, as originally de-

signed, according to Jjrown,

"was to take title or options on all of these

various properties that were being assembled to-

gether, turn them over to the company in ex-

change for 12,000,000 shares of stock, ]iay the

amount of stock necessary to purchase these prop-

erties, that is, the stock considerations, and pay
the money necessary to purchase them up to a

certain amount.'' (R. 975.)

Syndicate agreement approved

by Corporation Commissioner.

This proposal, however, was changed because of the

])rovisions contained in the permit of the Corj)oration

Conunissioner. (R. 975.) The i)lan of acquiring

these ]n'o])erties with the cooperation of the proposed

syndi(*ate, as well as the syndicate agreement itself,

was submitted to the State Corporation Dei^artment,

and by it a])proved and ratified. (R. 303.) The sub-

stance of the syndicate agreement, as well as the sub-

stance of the agreement between Italo Petroleum Cor-
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poration aud Maui-ice C. Myei*s trustee, is coutamed

in the record. (U. S. Exs. 83 aud 81.) (R. 302-4.)

The group of properties imder cousideratiou at the

tiiue the s^Tidicate was fii'st asrreed to was substan-

tially the same as those finally piu'chased, excepting

that the Edwards aud Cxihuore properties were elimi-

nated and the Graham-Loftus and two other small

properties were substituted in theii* place. (R. 900;

977.) As the j^roperties proposed to be acquired were

changinir, the amount of stock or cash necessary to

acquii*e them was also changing. Some of the prop-

erties required additional stock beyond the original

estimates and the Graham-Loftus property called for

the pa^^nent of $3,000,000 cash, $1,000,000 as a down

payment and the balance in monthly instalhuents. The

other properties also required cash and stock. (R.

977-8.) It was this chau2:e that necessitated the is-

suance of 12,000,000 shares of stock in lieu of the

10,000,000 shares covered by the original i:)roposed

syndicate aei'eement. (R. 900: 977-8.)

Under the agi*eement as executed the syndicate man-

ager was to receive as compensation 2^2^c of the

profits of the syndicate, not exceeding, however, ^0,-

000. It authorized Shingle, as syndicate manager, to

advance for the purchase of the pro])erties, out of the

syndicate funds that were subscribed, up to $500,000.

(R. 900: 977.) As a matter of fact, s^^ldicate fmids

on accoimt of the purchase of the properties were

advanced before the permit was issued authorizins: the

issuance of the stock. These advancements, however,

as between Italo and the s^nidicate manairer, were in
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was a veiy good time to pick up these properties

because he considered that the value of oil would

increase, that a produciiisr unit would be of very

great effect in this state and have a chance to

make a big oil company: that he considered the

properties were beinsr purchased cheaply: that if

a deal was made respecting the McKeon Oil Com-
pany he expected to turn it in at a fair price.*"

(R.976.)

Upon the same subject Shinsrle testified

:

**I had known Mr. John McKeon for a 2n*eat

many years and thouffht a great deal of him as

an oil man. I went to Los Ansreles and had a

talk with Mr. McKeon to find out if Wilkes was
really on the ri<rht ti-ack, in his st tement to me
that he was buyimr these proi>erties or had an

oppommity to buy them at what he considered a

very cheap price. Jack McKeon was in the Rich-

field Oil Company at that time and he told me
that Wilkes was on the ri<rht track and in his

opinion there never was a better opportunity to

buy oil properties than there was at that time, and
that it would have to be bousrht with some cash

down payment. Ke told me he did not cai*e

much about the refining" end of the business but he

was very enthusiastic about the prcniuction end

and that it had a great future. I went over the

proposed program with him generally and men-
ti"iied to him the various ]>roperties that Mr.
Wiikes told us he contemplated purchasins: and a

rou^rh draft of the prices that Wilkes figured hp

would have to pay for the properties, and Jack
McKeon said he thought the prices were veiy

cheap. He also said that practically all those
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it was finally agTeed that the s}^ldicate should i^ay

$1.16% per unit for the stock. (R. 901.)

The syndicate agreement.

The original syndicate agTeement was revised in

July, 1928, for reasons already stated. While the

agreement itself is in evidence (U. S. Ex. 83, p. 301)

its important x^ro^'isions were correctly described by

Shingle in the following language:

'•The permit provided for the issuance of 12,-

000,000 shares of stock to Maurice Myers, trustee,

of which 7,500,000 were common shares and 1,-

500,000 preferred shares. The syndicate was to

receive 3,000,000 shares of preferred and

3,000,000 shares of common, for which they were

to pay the company in cash a smn aromid $3,-

500,000. That is, the conunitment for properties

that the comx:)any was to acquire called for cash

payments of something between $3,100,000 and

$3,500,000, in cash and also called for the exchanae

of a certain amoimt of stock which was apx^roxi-

mately 6,000,000 shares divided into approximately

1,500,000 shares of common stock and 1,500,000

shares of preferred stock. The company was
lu'oposine to take over these i:>roperties subject

to obligations which amoimted to apj^roximately

$2,750,000. Ultimately the syndicate agreement
ojierated this way: 12.000,000 shares of stock

issued under the i^ermit were issued to Maurice

Myers as tnistee: he tuiiied over to Shingle,

Bro\\'n & Comijany, as escrow holders, 3,000,000

shares of common and 3,000,000 shares of pre-

ferred stock to be delivered to me as syndicate

manacrer when, if, and as I x:>aid for it.'' CR.

905-6.)
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After the permit was issued and the syndicate agree-

ment signed and revised, Shinsfle, as manager of the

s\Tidieate, made a contract with Vincent & Company

which required Vincent to sell 500.000 miits of Italo

stock at a piice of $1.60 net to the syndicate. (R.

906.) In the asn*eement A\'ith Vincent Sz Company it

was provided that it should sell 300.00<) miits of stock

on or before September 15. 1928. (R. 906.) This

requirement was inserted principally because the ar-

ransrement for the purchase of the Graham-Loftus

properties, called for an installment payment on Sep-

tember 20. 1928, of approximately $650,000. If this

provision had been complied \^-ith Vincent and Com-

pany would have had to pay to the syndicate man-

ager by September 15. 1928. $480,000. (R. 906-T: 9^3.)

At the time the contract between Vincent & Com-

pany and Shinsfle. as syndicate manager, was exe-

cuted, a verbal agreement was made with Vincent that

while he was sellins: the 500.000 imits no option would

be given to sell any of the remainimr syndicate stock

in California. Because of this imderstandinsr, as well

as to endeavor to place the Italo stock on the New
York curb, Shinde went to XevN- York. (R. 906.) He
vras accompanied by VTilkes who. apprehensive lest

sufficient cash would not be available to make the

necessary payments upon the properties beins" ac-

uired and to enable the Italo Corporation to develop

the ])roperties. had been in con*espondence ^vith some

of his old associates in New Yoi'k. who had been with

him in the Union Oil. Delaware and Commonwealth

Companies, to ascei'tain if they ^^'ould be interested in
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the company. While Wilkes was able to interest some

of these men in the project, the main group that he

really ^Yanted. to interest informed him that a three

and a half million dollar project was not large enough

to justify the expense that they would be put to in

joining the enterprise, but that if he would return to

California and acquire additional properties and then

propose a refinancing connection they would be in-

terested in undertaking the underwriting of its secu-

rities. (R. 723.) According to Wilkes:

"The purpose of my trip was to interest these

former banker friends of mine who had been in

these other big companies with me." (R. 723.)

Graham-Loftus contract require-

ment causes anxiety.

On September 20, 1928, there was a payment due

to the Graham-Loftus Company which, with accrued

interest, amounted to approximately $650,000. The

pa^^ment of $350,000 had alread}^ been made on this

property and its stock was in escrow. Unless the

instalhnent and interest was paid the stock could have

been withdrawn, the money forfeited and the prop-

erties lost. (R. 724; 907.) While Wilkes was in New
York he received information that things were not

well in California and that the money with which this

pajanent should be made was not coming in. Ac-

cordingly he hurried back to lios Angeles and on the

night of September 19th, one day before the pa>^nent

became due, received information that the Graham-

Loftus Company had brought in their Lightner No.
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4 well which was reported to be the largest well in

the field, producing; better than 5000 barrels per day.

(R. 724.) Prior to the bringing in of this well Wilkes

was of the opinion that, in the event of a partial pay-

ment an extension ujjon the balance could be obtained,

but as testified to by him

:

''With that well coming in, in my opinion it

pretty nearly doubled the value of the property

and I was very much afraid that they would take

advantage of the contract to forfeit what we had
paid and take back their property." (R. 724.)

According to Wilkes, who returned from New- York

about the 10th or 15th of September

:

"Mr. Brown reported to me that the company
had a payment due on the Graham-Loftus prop-

erties of somewhere in the neighborhood of $600,-

000 in principal and another $50,000 or $60,000

in interest. The syndicate had already paid on
the Graham-Loftus properties around $300,000

or $350,000. If that second payment was not

made the syndicate and the company would have
lost the $350,000 they put in towards the pur-

chase price of the Graham-Loftus properties be-

cause the Graham-Loftus people had a right to

forfeit under the contract." (R. 907.) * * *

"Another thing that was very serious was that

the day that the Graham-Loftus payment became
due they brought in a tremendous well and there

was every reason in the world to think that they
would be very glad to have us not make that sec-

ond payment because that made the property
ver}^, very much more valuable right awav." (R.

908.)
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Financial situation of Italo becomes

acute.

This acute situation is described by Brown as fol-

lows:

"I was in Los Angeles about September 18tli

or 19th, 1928, and participated in some of the

transactions wdth respect to the borrowing" of

money from the Farmers and Merchants Na-
tional Bank. About that date we had this large

amount of money coming due on the Graham-
Loftus properties under the escrow with the Bank
of America. On that morning we were scrambling

around trying to find out how to get the money to

make the payment, and there was a feeling it

could be postponed a few days. On the 20th, when
all of this money was due, came the word they

had brought in the Lightner well making 4000

or 5000 barrels, and there was a grave concern

at that time whether the Graham-Loftus people

would continue to give us any continuances what-

ever. Things were really in a very desperate and
serious state. I had a meeting with Mr. Wilkes

and Jack McKeon and Gordon and one or two

others and we had several conversations respect-

ing the situation." (R. 983-4.)

In referring to this situation John McKeon testi-

fied:

''After the transaction was made (confirma-

tion of the contract on July 7, 1928) I paid no
further attention to it. I was very busy running

my own business until about September 18th or

2dth, 1928. Mr. Wilkes had left shortly after

that deal was closed and the other deals closed,

for New York to make his financial arrangements.
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Mr. Vincent was supposed to raise the money
necessary to meet the early payments on the dif-

ferent properties, and I imai^ined everything" was
going- along alright, not being in touch with him,
until about the 18th of September, when Mr.
Wilkes came back from New York and came to
my office immediately to see me and said that
things were in a very bad conditi(^n, that he
hadn't made any immediate arrangements in New
York, that Vincent apparently had not raised any
money, that there was $600,000 due the next day
on the Graham-Loftus properties and I believe
they had already paid the Graham-Loftus
$400,000, and that he was satisfied it would be
impossible to get any extensions on the Graham-
Loftus account because they had $400,000 and had
brought in a 5000 barrel well in the meantime, and
that if he wasn't able to make his payments he
would lose those proi^erties and also the $400,000,
and that would probably stop him and his plan
altogether, and that the project would become a
failure. I believe he said that up to that time the
syndicate had expended close to a million dollars
for the benefit of this Italo consolidation. * * *

Wilkes said, 'Unless something can be done
immediately we are in a state of total collapse.
The syndicate will lose its money and the Italo
will lose its property and we are right up against
a gigantic failure'.'' (R. 1209-10.)

The situation with which the parties was confronted
was that, although the Graham-Loftus payment
amounting to $600,000 and interest was due no moneys
were available to meet such payment. The syndicate
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had already paid out in the neighborhood of a million

and a half dollars on the various properties that had

been purchased and was therefore without funds to

render any assistance with respect to the matter in

hand. According to Brown,

"Things were really in a ver}^ desperate and

serious state.'' (R. 986.)

John McKeon rescues Italo.

In an attempt to find some solution to the problem

Wilkes, Shingle and Brown appealed to John Mc-

Keon, finding that he was as much worried as they

were. (R. 907.) The result of the meeting was that

John McKeon went to the Farmers and Merchants

Bank and arranged for a loan to Fred Shingle, as

syndicate manager, of $300,000. The bank refused to

make the loan, however, unless the note of Shingle

Avas endorsed by John McKeon, and, in addition there-

to, 2,000,000 shares of the stock of Italo Corporation,

held by the syndicate, was put up as collateral. (R.

908.) Shingle and Brown told McKeon that it was

doubtful whether they had a right to put \ip that

stock, whereupon John McKeon agreed to indemnify

the syndicate against loss, and further agreed that if

there was any loss to the syndicate he would make it

good out of the stock of the McKeon Company. (R.

908.) It was necessary, however, to borrow another

$300,000. This was accomplished by John McKeon
through William Lacey, a friend of his, who borrowed

the $300,000 from the Farmers & Merchants Bank,

putting up his own security. (R. 908.) This loan

was likewise endorsed by John McKeon. (R. 1210.)
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The indeixmity agreements were also joined in b}'

the Italo Corporation and F. V. Gordon. (R. 908-9.)

Upon this subject John McKeon testified:

*'I believed it was a wise thing to hold these

properties. Mr. AVilkes felt that if this one huinp

could be iiotten over and that big payment made,

that the financial program would be gotten under
way and from there on we could handle the situ-

ation. However, if we couldn't handle that, he

didn't think there was any use of going further

with that particular financial set-up. So I called

upon my old friend, Mr. William Lacey, who
had been my friend for years; he had been in a

great many oil deals with me, the two of us to-

gether, and he had alieady put $100,000 in the

syndicate. I called Mr. Lacey and Fred Gordon
together and went to the Farmers &: Merchants

Bank and made arrangements to borrow $600,-

000. Mr. Lacey gave his note for $300,000, and I

si lined the note. Fred Shingle or Horace B]'oa\ii

was with us, and the bank wanted two million

shares of stock security on the other note. Mr.

Shingle didn't feel that he had authority to put

the stock up so I agreed ^\'ith Mr. Shingle that

our properties were goino" into the consolidation

and that if we had any trouble on that stock I

would reunburse him from the McKeon Drilling:

Company stock for the stock he was putting' up
out of the s\mdicate. and he put it up. That was
the first agreement that I ever had as to the dis-

tiibution of any of the McKeon Drilling Com-
pany stock." (R. 1210-1211.)

And as showing the effort put forwaid by John

McKeon to save the situation, he further testified:
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''The $600,000 ^Yas paid to the Graham-Loftus
people on the 20th day of September. It had to

be paid on time. I believe I had to get the bank

to keep its doors open a little while so that we
could get in with the money." (R. 1211.)

The price demanded for the Grraham-Loftus prop-

erties was reduced from three and a half million to

three million dollars as a result of the efforts of John

McKeon. Upon this subject he said:

''I had known Mr. Graham for years and had
drilled several wells for him. I had a conversa-

tion with him in connection with the transaction

by which Italo acquired the Graham-Loftus prop-

erties. Mr. Wilkes had done the negotiating with

Mr. Graham and he asked me to go over and tallv

with Mr. Graham and find out if we couldn't get

him to accept some of the Italo stock, all or part

of the payment in Italo stock. I did that. I went

over and asked Mr. Graham to accept half of his

money in cash and half in Italo stock. He said

he would not take any part of it in Italo stock

at all, that he wouldn't give his properties for

the whole capitalization of the Italo Oil Com-
pany; that he wanted to sell for cash and that

he would consider nothing but cash; but after

the conference there I had with him, he did agree

to come down from three and a half million to

three million." (R. 1211-12.)

It a])pears that the Graham-Loftus property was

presented to the Italo Corporation through the cii'-

cumstance that Graham and Loftus, because of their

advanced years, were anxious to sell their properties.

A broker endeavored to sell them to the Richfield Oil
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Company, but John McKeon, who was then handling

the Richfield production, stated that Richfield could

not handle it, but that Italo nii.^ht, and sent him over

to see Mr. Wilkes. Instead of meeting Wilkes he took

the matter up with Siens, who initiated the negotia-

tions resulting in the acquisition of this property by

the Italo Company. The broker told Mr. McKeon
that if he made the deal he would give him a third of

the commission. (R. 1212.)

Vincent causes financial difificulties.

As quickly as the $600,000 was borrowed and the

Graham-Loftus instalhnent paid, Wilkes went to San

Francisco and contacted Vincent who told him that

he had sold a lot of stock but it was on the partial

payment plan and he had not the money. (R. 726.)

Upon visiting the Italo office Wilkes was advised that

continual complaints had been coming in from per-

sons who claimed that they had purchased Italo stock

from Vincent and that although it was fully paid for

they were unable to get their stock. Although this

information was revealed to Vincent, Wilkes could

2:et no satisfaction from him. (R. 726-7.) After dis-

cussing the matter with Shingle, upon inquiry of the

Bank of Italy he learned from a confidential source,

that Vincent & Company had on deposit with that

bank over $400,000. (R. 727.) In the meantime Vin-

cent had formed a company called the ^'Cal-Italo

Compan}^", the stock of which he was selling to people

who believed they were purchasing Italo Petroleum

Corporation stock. (R. 727-8.) It was also learned
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that he ^A'as attempting- to persuade holders of Italo

stock to exchange it for Cal-Italo stock. (R. 728.)

As a result of conferences between Wilkes, Shingle

and Brown, it was concluded to cancel the Vincent

contract and form a broker's pool through which

stock could be sold on the market. (Shingle, R. 910-

11; Wilkes, 728-9; Brown, 986-8; 990.) This group

of brokers conducted intensive investigations for

about ten days or two weeks before they finally agreed

to go into the deal. Around October 15, 1928, or

shortly prior thereto, they definitely agreed that they

would go ahead Avith the proposition. They insisted,

however, as a condition precedent, that the contract

with Vincent & Company be cancelled, gi^^ng as rea-

sons that there had already been a great many rmnors

around San Francisco that the stock was oversold

because Vincent had not been delivering the stock

sold by him, and that he was not a member of any

qualified exchange and sold stock entirely through

salesmen. (R. 990.) The proposed pool members

would not associate the Fred Vincent and did not

want to have anything to do with him. (R. 903.)

With the set-up of Lacey, as president, and his

associates as some of the directors, as will hereafter

be shown, two brokers' pools were formed by the

brokers mentioned which undertook to sell the stock.

(R. 913.) Upon their formation an option was given

it by Shingle, as syndicate manager, covering 2,500,-

000 shares of common stock at various prices. (R.

913.)
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Cancellation of Vincent contract.

In accord with the demands of the brokers, on Oc-

tober 15, 1928, the Vincent option contract was can-

celled. Before making- any conmiitment to the brokers'

pools Shingle incjuired of Vincent as to the nmnber

of shares he had sold that had not been reported or

taken up, stating that he wanted to know his position

and wanted to be fair with him. (R. 913-14.) Vincent

responded by stating that he would require aroimd

120,000 units. (R. 914.) With this information in

mind. Shingle, as syndicate manager, set aside, out

of the syndicate stock in escrow with Shingle, Brown
L^' Compan}-, the 100,000 shares optioned to Lacey, the

120,000 units \vhich Vincent said he would require,

and sufficient shares to satisfy certain other options

given to a group in New Vork. This stock, with 2,-

500,000 shares of common stock optioned to the pool

members, absorbed all the conmion stock which the

s^"iidicate had available. (R. 914.) Shortly thereafter

Vincent reported to Shingle that he had sold more

stock than he had reported; that he had made a mis-

take and instead of being short 120,000 units, was in

fact short about 400,000 miits, and demanded that the

s^iidicate take care of it. Finally he employed Joseph

^Mclnerney to represent him. Mr. Mclneiney

threatened that unless the matter was settled he would

pi-ocure an injunction to enjoin the s^^ldicate from
selling any stock. (R. 914.) With respect to this

Fred Shingle testified:

"It was my opinion at that tune that the til-

uvj: of a suit wcnild be very detrimental because the

company had entered into these contracts to
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make these cash payments. We had no one but

the syndicate to rely on for cash to make the

pajanents. Vincent was one of the main insti-

gators in getting the syndicate started and he

was double-crossing us, and a temporary injunc-

tion preventing us from furnishing the stock

from the syndicate to buy these properties would

have been very serious.'' (R. 914-5.)

The controversy with Vincent is likewise disclosed

by defendant Brown (R. 990-2) and defendant

Wilkes. (R. 731-3.)

When this alleged large shortage was reported to

Wilkes he attempted to have Vincent's books audited,

but was advised by the auditor who was sent there

that it was impossible for him to tell what Vincent's

position was. (R. 732.) A day or two later Mr. Mc-

Inerney, Vincent's attorney, telephoned Wilkes, stat-

ing (according to Wilkes' testimony)

:

"If I was not in his office before 3:30 that

afternoon a suit would be started at 5 o'clock."

(R. 732.)

Vincent's attorney threatens in-

junction.

In the conference which occurred, Mr. Mclnerney

informed Wilkes:

"Somebody is going to take care of it, and I

will give you forty-eight hours in which to get

this matter straightened out and if it is not

straightened out to Vincent's satisfaction I am
going to start suit against the Italo Company for

damages; that Vincent was the fellow who made
the company and had been its fiscal agent at all
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times and had gone to a lot of expense and had

lost a lot of money, and if it was not straightened

out in forty-eight hours he was going to start

suit against Fred Shingle, s^mdicate manager, to

stop him from selling any of that stock/' (R.

733.)

That Melnerney's threat, if carried out, would vitally

aifect Italo, as well as the market value of its stock,

is portrayed by the testimony of Bradford Melvin,

one of its attorneys who participated in the confer-

ences with Mclnerney, his testimony being:

"The first one took place in my office, which

was then in the Financial Center Building in San

Francisco. Vincent and Mclnerney, and I think

it was Brown and not vShingle, but I know one

of them was there, and a great argument devel-

oped over this claim. At that conversation nothim;'

very definite transpired. It was more of a dog

fight than anything else. The next day or the

day following that the same parties met in Me-

lnerney's office in the Mills Building, and on that

day Mclnerney got pretty insistent that the mat-

ter be disposed of, and he threatened that if it

were not disposed of either by paying cash or

delivering the stock that they were demanding

that he would bring some sort of a proceeding to

have an injunction issued against the pool, this

brokerage pool, which Mr. Carnahan referred to,

which had been created at the instance of Italo

in order to get money in fast enough to pay foi'

these properties, and he knew that if an injunc-

tion was issued against that pool that it would

cripple the whole situation and the stock would

become worthless, and that was quite
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The Court. Is that what he said?

A. Yes. Now I am saying that it was a very

adequate threat to force the settlement. As a

result of that threat the settlement finally ar-

rived at was arrived at.
"" '' *'' (R. 881-2.)

Wilkes immediately went to Los Angeles and ex-

plained the situation to John McKeon including the

fact that Vincent & Company was threatening to file

a lawsuit and "bust the whole situation up". (R. 734.)

Finally McKeon said:

"Well, I will tell you what I will do. Go back

and make the best deals you possibly can with

him and whatever deals you will have to make

I will just have to take care of it personall.y, that

is all there is to it. If we have to give him some

little stock to take care of him, why sell him

some stock at a cheap price, I will have to do

it." (R. 734.)

Wilkes then returned to San Francisco and ascer-

tained that Vincent's account had been audited and

that he was over 400,000 units short, which repre-

sented stock sold by him, some of which had been

fully paid for and other portions of which had been

partially paid for by its i)urchasers. (R. 734.) The

result of this audit is conceded by Stratton, where he

states

:

"The audit disclosed that we were 400,000 odd

units short of stock that we had sold and not

delivered." (R. 433.)
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McKeon again comes to rescue

of Italo.

John McKoon finally agTeed to provide the stock

necessary to take care of the stock which Vincent

had sold but had not delivered to the purchasers

thereof. With respect to this matter Shingle testified

:

"We made arrangements with Jack McKeon to

supply Vincent and Company's customers to

whom he was eonunitted. Jack McKeon agreed

to provide the stock necessary to do that out of

the McKeon stock held in escrow with Shingle,

Brown & Company. The stock was provided

from the McKeon escrow with Shingle, Brown
& Company." (R. 916.)

Upon the same subject Horace J. Brown testified:

''With reference to the assurance that I had
received, that the balance of the stock would be

made up some place else, I had some telephone

conversations and also some conversation with

Mr. Wilkes who had gone down to Los Angeles

to talk the matter over with Jack McKeon. As
near as I recall, Jack McKeon said he would
make the thing up and try to settle the thing in

order to make the thing move forward. The sit-

uation was in very bad condition. If somebody
threw a suit in there or attempted to enjoin the

syndicate, we might as well quit right there. We
had a lot of money to pay the next 60 days."

(R. 992.)

That John McKeon aj)])reciated the i-esult of liti-

gation with Vincent and the necessity of avoiding it

even though the McKeon Company would sustain

financial loss, is shown by his testimony

:
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"With reference to Exhibit 297 and to the

entries thereon, Items 36 and 48, showing Bank
01 Italy, Vincent & Company's market losses,

125,000 imits, or 250,000 shares of Italo stock that

was giA-en by me to Frederick Vincent, that stock

was given to Frederick Vincent to get him out of

the picture so that we could get rid of his con-

tract, because of his unsuccessful operation of

the sale of the stock, and was not given to him

to compensate him for any market losses. I did

not know of any market losses, but I knew of

the controversy that was on between Vincent and

the company, and knew that he was making this

demand, and miless his demand was met that he

could cause trouble enough that would turn tlie

whole business upside down, so therefore I was

^villing to settle. I knew at that time that Fred-

erick Vincent had failed in his efforts to sell

the stock and turn the cash over to the syndicate

so that the company could meet its cash obliga-

tions." (R. 1234.)"^

"* * * After the $600,000 was borrowed and

Wilkes went up to see Vincent, Wilkes returned

in a few days and said Vincent was not going to

be able to fuliill his contract, that he had not

sold any stock or at least had no cash available,

and that the 15th day of October was goina' to

find us in the same condition as the 15th of Sep-

tember had; that some drastic changes had to bf^

made. He got in some trouble with Vincent and

said that at this time Vincent was threatening. I

believe Wilkes was negotiating then with Shingle-

Brown to take over the financing. Vincent

wouldn't agree to that and was threatening a

lawsuit, and we all realized that a lawsuit and
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an injunction at that time would completely break

down the financing and kill it entirely. Xo brok-

ers would come in under those conditions and no

one would want to buy stock under those condi-

tions, so that something- had to be done with Vin-

cent. I would say that was probably about Oc-

tober 1, 1928.

"Wilkes told me that the company hadn't any

way in the world of settling with Vincent. They

had no stock and if I did not come to the rescue

of the company at that time he was again in a

very bad hole. I said of course we were all going

in the hole, so I didn't give Mr. Wilkes any deci-

sion but called my brothers over to talk the mat-

ter over with them." (R. 1212-13.)

John McKeon reviewed situation

with brothers.

John McKeon thereupon called his brothers to-

gether for the purpose of canvassing the situation

with them. During the course of the conference John

McKeon renewed what had occurred after the ar-

rival of Wilkes from the east, and after informing

his brothers about the borro^^ing of the $600,000 to

meet the pa^mient due on the G-raham-Loftus prop-

erties, his endorsement of the notes and the execu-

tion by him of the indemnity agreement, according to

Robert McKeon, said:

''In addition to that I have assured them, thnt

is, the other signers of the paper, that if they

would secure the money at this time, we would
close up our deal with them and go in and put

the company over. It has got to the point now
where most of the monev that has been sub-
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scribed to the syndicate is in there because we

are in the deal. We have to close this deal up

and take our coats off and go to work and get

our properties over there, and you fellows have

to go and take charge of the field operations."

(R. 1141-2.)

He then called his brothers' attention to the fact that

Shingle-Brown Company and another group of bro-

kers were going to take over the sale of stock or the re-

financing of the syndicate, so that the initial payments

on the properties could be made ; that Lacey had agreed

to become president of the company and that just as

quickly as he could he was going to leave the Rich-

field Oil Company and take charge of the Italo

properties, and

"that the only thing for us to do was to close

up the deal with Italo and make a real com-

pany out of it. He said the first thing that had

to be done was to get Vincent out of the way. He
said he was misrepresenting things to the pub-

lic; that he was causing a lot of dissatisfaction

among the stockholders, selling stock that he was

not delivering ; that he was not paying any mone}'

into the sjmdicate, and that the very first thing

to do was to get him out of the way; and he said

that he had agreed with Wilkes, or if Wilkes

could get him (Vincent) out of the way, that he

(John) would furnish some stock to do that out

of the stock that we were to receive for our prop-

erty, that he would furnish that stock to get

Vincent out of the way, so Shingle and Brown

and the other San Francisco brokers could take-

over the underwriting or the financing of this

company." (R. 1142.)
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John's brothers were very mneh provoked at him

when their learned he had endorsed and guaranteed

the payment of the $600^000 worth of notes. Quite a

heated argmnent resulted, whereupon Robert MeKeon

said to him

:

^^I told him that when I made the deal I made
a good, fair deal and made just as tough a deal

as it was jHissible for me to make with Wilkes or

with Italo: that I had safeguarded our interests

in every possible way, and that it was rank fool-

ishness for him to have given up that position."*

(R. 1143.)

After a great deal of argument and discussion^ how-

ever, the brothers agreed that because of the posi-

tion in which John found himself, there was nothing

r them to do but to go on with the deaL (R. 1143.)

Thereupon Robert MeKeon moved over to the Italo

and took charge of their field operations. (R. 1143.)

McKeoa Oora^osy replaced stock

It will be recalled that the syndicate manager set

aside 122,000 units of stock to take care of what

'was then believed to repi-esent the commitments of

Vincent & Co. Through some inadvertence on the

j-»art of the syndicate's auditor, who had not been ad-

^"ised that any of the stock that had to be supplied

Vincent & Comp>any in excess of the 122,000 units

:is to be furnished by the McKeon's, the syndicate

- Id to Vincent 4U.819 shares of common and 66,819

shares of preferred stock beyond the stock then avail-

^le for sale, (R. 1000-1.) In ac-cord with their

previous agreement to supply this stock and thus
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avoid the thi-eatened litigatiou, as well as financial

loss to the Italo Corporation, the stock thus sold was

replaced in the syndicate by the McXeons out of the

escrowed stock coming to them. (R. 1001.) The pur-

chase price paid by Vincent to the syndicate for the

stock pi*eviously sold to it was then turned over by

the syndicate to the McKeon Company. This stock is

represented by items 14, 17 and 14 in U. S. Exhibit

297. (R. 595-7.) The siun thus paid amounted to

$86,310.40. (R. 1001-2.) On this subject, amonsr

other things, defendant Brown testified:

'With i-espect to the |86,310.40 which went

into the syndicate account and was then taken

out of the syndicate account and delivei-ed to the

McKeon Diilling Company, that simi represented

the amount i*eceived by the syndicate manager for

the sales of stock over and above the 122,000

imits that Fi-edeHck Vincent was entitled to i*e-

ceive, so that when the matter was discovered the

McKeon stock was placed in the syndicate and

the $86,310.40 was taken «nit and delivei-ed to the

McKeons for their stock which had been placed

in the syndicate." R. 1001-2.)

The transaction in substance was that instead of

the auditor deliveiinir the stock to Vincent &: Com-

pany directly from the McKeon escrowed stock as he

should have done, he delivered shai*es from the syn-

dicate stock, which he I'eplaced with McKeon es-

ci*owed stock, thei-e being at all times sufficient

escrowed stock available to make such delivei'v.
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Stock escnnved witik Baak of

Italj.

Because of their distrost of YiDeent and in order

to be assured that the stoek to be supplied by the

MeXecHis would aetuallr reach those to whcm Tincent

& Ccmapany had sold stocky an escrow was created

with the Bank of Italy under which Tincent &: Cmxt-

pany was required to furnish lists of the names of

both fully and partial paid subscribers and the shares

of stock due to each. The stock was then delirered

to the bank and by it to the subscribers iu accord

with the provisions of the escrow. This escrow was
dated December 18, 1928, and is identified as F. S.

Exhibit 52. (R. 280-1.) With respect to this matter

defendant Brown testified:

"We also received instructions fro«a McKeon
Drilling: Company to deliver stock to Frederick
Tincent & Company and that is the stock that

was placed in the escrow with the Bank of Amer-
ica. The purpose of the escrow in the bank was
tMs: we had them put their partially paid ac-

counts in there for subscriptions, written sub-
scriptions, with instructions to the bank to de-

liver only to the subscribers thereof upon emn-
X^letion of the i>artial payment. The reason for it

was the srreat lack of faith iu Tincent by their

pra-tieular ass(ociate brokers. The purpose of the

creation of the escrow was to see that the people
who were paying for their stock actually received

it and the stock was furnished by the McKeon
Drilling: Comiwiny from the stock in escrow with

Shiiide, Brown & Company." (R. 1003.)
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The escrowed stock tig't>"reg'atecl 353,710 shares, was

supplied out of the McKeon Drilling Company stock

deposited in escrow with Shingle, Brown & Company

and is shown by items 13, 18, 36, 43 and 18 of U. S.

Exhibit 297. (R. 595-7.)

This escrow terminated on February 1, 1929. On
February 4, 1929, the bank sent a check (U. S. Ex-

hibit 55) dated February 4, 1929, to Shingle, Brown

& Company, payable to its order for $100,489, repre-

senting the balance due from the subscribers who had

partially paid for their stock. (R. 1003.)

Formation of broker's pool.

After the McKeon brothers had finally concluded

to stand by the Italo Corporation and assist in con-

smnmating the merger and getting the company on

its feet, and it had likewise been agreed that Vincent

would have to be eliminated from the enterprise, it was

realized by John McKeon and Wilkes that the syndi-

cate would have to quickly dispose of its stock, in

order to provide funds for the requirements of the

Italo Corporation. This subject v\'as discussed in a

conference between John McKeon, Wilkes and the

defendant Bro\^^l. The effect of such conversatic^n,

according to Brown, was as follows:

'Mack said, 'Now, look here, I have taken off

my coat and I have put my name on $600,000

worth of paper. I am going forward in this deal

now and our ]jroperties are going in. * * * I

am going to take off my coat and it is about time

you fellows took off your coats now and went

forward and pulled this thing out. You have got
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to help'. He said, 'As far as the McKeon prop-

erties are concevned you can depend ii])on them
goin^- in'. That he had talked to Bob about this

thing", that it was moving- forward, and he \\'anted

this thing to go into an oil company and he

thought it would into a big one. He also said, 'You
have also had an opportunity now to see how this

situation was getting together. For the first time

we have been given a financial statement of the

company of its earnings. We have been shown
the compilation of Abel and the various ap-

praisei's'. He said, 'I think you will see that it

is good enough for you to intei'est yourselves in

and your friends'. And asked us if we couldn't

interest a group of reputable brokers in this con-

cern enough to pull it through. Incidentally, he

said if we can do it, he would see that avc vrere

not sorry for it." (R. 986.)

Upon Brown's return to San Francisco and after

a conference with Shingle, the latter took up with a

group of the leading and most reputable brokers in

San Francisco and Los Angeles, the proposition of

organizing a broker's pool through which to sell suffi-

cient Italo stock belonging to the syndicate, to enable

it to meet the requirements of its agreement with

Italo. (R. 911; 913; 989.) In discussing the matter

with Shingle, Wilkes said (according to Brown) :

"he would see that we were substantially re-

warded somewhere along the line for our services

if we could jmll this thing through." (R. 989.)

In the early part of October, 1928, representatives

from some of the San Francisco brokerage firms, a
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representative of Cxrahani, Atkinson »Jc Company of

Los Angeles, and Mr. Shingle, had a conference with

.John McKeon about the general ai¥aii*s of the com-

pany. (R. 911-12.) The brokers were of the opinion

that the Italo Corporation should have a more ex-

perienced management and insisted that before go-

ing into the deal John McKeon should head the com-

pany. (R. 912.) McKeon, however, stated that it was

impossible for him to do so at that time because of

his obligations to the Richlield Oil Company with

which he was then associated, but he gave his promise

that as soon as he could sever his connection with the

company he would do so,

"Because his heart was in this combination and

he was going to devote his time exclusively t<^

that, but in the meantime he would get a very

good man to head the company, and he suggested

or asked us if we would be satisfied vrith William

Lacy of Los Angeles.'" (R. 912.)

In order, as far as possible, to keep any large offer-

ings of stock from being placed on the market while

the bi'okei*s were marketing the stock which was the

subject matter of the pool, the brokei-s requested that

the McKeon Drillino: Company stock be placed in

escrow. (R. 993: 915.) As the result of a subsequent

discussion between Bro\\ii and John and Robeit ^Ic-

Keon in Los Ans:eles the escrow was readily agTced

to by the McKeons. (R. 993.) Thereupon all of the

stock 0A\Tied by xhv McKeon Company, excepting 60,-

500 miits which had been sold to International Se-

ciu'ities Company, was deposited with Shingle, Brown
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it Company in escrow for ninety days. (R. 993; 918.)

The escrow instructions were identified as U. S. Ex-

hibit 98, its expi-ess purpose according to the escrow

letter being

"The protection of the market operation in

which you (Shinu'le, Brown & Co.) are engaged.^^

(R. 328-9.)

As a result of the suggestion made by John McKeon
that William Lacey be made president of the Italo

Corporation, an investic^ation was pui*sued by the

brokers who ascertained that he was a man of high

standing in Los Angeles, that he had been president

of the Chamber of Commerce, head of the Community

Chest, chief executive of the Lacy Manufacturing

Company, was then a director of the Fanners and

Merchants Bank, and had been experienced in the

oil business. (R. 912.)

Thereupon John McKeon was commissioned to con-

fer with Mr. Lacy, which he did, resulting in Mr.

Lacy's acceptance of the presidency of the company.

(R. 912.) Lacy insisted that he be .given an option

to purchase some stock and thus become financially

interested in the company which he was to head, and

not desiring to carry the load alone, likewi.se insisted

upon having the right to put on the directorate some

of his closest associates in the bank. ^Ir. Lacey was

elected president of the Italo Petroleum Corporation

on October 16, 1928, and upon his insistence Hugh
Stewart, Fred E. Keeler, Frank B. Chapin, R. R.

McLachlen and George McNear, all men of recognized

integrity and outstanding business capacity, were
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made directors. Mr. Lacy was also given an option

by the syndicate on 100,000 shares of common stock

at $1.00 per share. (R. 913.)

Illustrating the condition of Italo at this time and

the enthusiasm of Mr. Lacy respecting its future, the

testimony of the defendant Brown is illmninating

:

''About the middle of October, 1928, when Mr.

Lacy and the other members of the Board of di-

rectors were elected, I had and was receiving

statements of the auditors, including the earnings

of the properties. I had a long talk with Mr.

Lacy in San Francisco on October 16th, the day

he was inducted into office as president, and he

was highly enthusiastic over the situation. He
stated he had made an investigation of the com-

])any on his own account, and likewise Fred

Gordon, who was a vice-president of the company
and formerly vice-president of the California

Petroleum Company. The picture was about this

:

The company, according to the statement of the

auditors of the properties they were acquiring,

were earning about $354,000 a month in July:

they had a ])roduction of thirteen to fourteen

thousand barrels of oil a day, practically all light

oil, in the Los Angeles Basin, and some in the

San Joaquin Valley. They seemed to have as-

surance of good management through Mr. I^acy.

In addition to this it looked like an extremely

interesting speculative picture for the develop-

ment of an oil company of considerable size. As a

matter of fact, I think at that time it was the

ninth, tenth or eleventh in size in California as

a producer of oil." (R. 998-9.)
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The moinbers of the broker's pool were iniveii an

option on 2,500,000 shares of common stock at vaiious

prices. (R. 913.)

The operation of the broker's pool was highly suc-

cessful and resulted in the sale of the stock. Within

a period of two months after the pool was formed,

from the proceeds of the sale of this stock and the

monevs subscribed bv the members of the syndicate,

the syndicate was able to pay to the Italo CorjDora-

tion the balance of the moneys due it from the s^iidi-

cate, thus permitting the company to use these funds

in the purchase of its properties. (R. 993-4.)

The basic reason for the formation of the pools is

concisely stated by Mr. Brown, his testimony being:

"In fact, the officei-s of the Italo Company in-

sisted that we try to form the pool in order to

save the situation."' (R. 995.)

McKeon subscription to big syndicate.

The members of the big s^mdicate collectively sub-

scribed $1,911,375, all of which, with the proceeds of

the sale of the stock sold by it, were paid to the Italo

Corporation. Of this smn John McKeon, on behalf

of the McKeon Drilling Company, subscribed in the

aggregate $300,000. With respect to these subscrip-

tions John McKeon testified:

"I went into the big syndicate by which the

syndicate acquired 3,000,000 units of stock for

$3,500,000 and was a subsciiber and subscribed

$300,000 thereto. My first subscription was $100,-

000 in the latter part of July, and then I sub-

scribed $100,000 in the name of Art Delaney to
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whom I owed $100,000, and he agreed to accept

the membership in the syndicate for the $100,000.

I put the money into the syndicate because I be-

lieved it needed it. I subscribed another $100,000

in the name of Mr. Siens who was doing a good

deal of work getting members and getting money
into the syndicate. It was at a time when we
depended entirely upon the syndicate to raise the

money necessary, and I felt by putting a sub-

scription in his name it would be an aid to me in

inducing other people in putting money.

When it came up to October 15th and our prop-

erties were to go into the company and we would

not put them in without a $500,000 payment, it

became necessary for me to accept two more mem-
berships and 200,000 more into the syndicate to

make it feasible to put the properties into the

Italo Company whereby the Italo Com]^any would

begin to get the benefits of the production which

at that time was 125,000 a month, but to complete

the consolidation and 'J:(^i the thing going our

properties had to go in. Foi- that reason I took

the other 200,000 subscription, first, to get the

properties in and get the thing com])leted, and,

second, to make a profit or a loss, whichever it

would turn out to be. I had no other connection

with the syndicate." (R. 1222-3.)

Showing his confidence in the project and his de-

sire to assist the Italo Corporation John McKeon

persuaded a nmnber of his friends to subscribe to the

syndicate, his testimony upon this subject being:

"I knew that the life of the Italo depended

entirely on the syndicate and I got a great many
of my friends to subscribe to the syndicate." (R.

1228.")
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Conclusion of big syndicate.

By December 20, 1928, the receipts from stock sales

made by the s^^l(licate, phis the amoimt of money

from subscribers to the syndicate, were sufficient to

pay for the properties, the pa^^uents had been com-

pleted and an accomiting was had with the Italo

Corporation and with Mauiice Myers, trustee of the

stock.

On December 20, 1928, the Italo Corporation,

Maurice C. Myers, trustee, executed an instrmnent

stating' that Shincie and Shingle, Brown tS: Company

had complied with all their obligations as s^Tidicate

manager and escrow holders. (U. S. Exhibits 83 and

81.) These docmnents ended the transaction so far

as Italo and Myers, as trustee, were concerned. (R.

917.)

As between the syndicate manager and the sub-

scribers the syndicate was extended for six months

from and after January 12. 1929. At the end of the

time limit the syndicate stock that remained misold

was distributed pro rata to the syndicate subscribers

according to their ownership therein instead of beintr

sold. The s^^ldicate had forty odd thousand dollars

of notes of the Italo Corporation paid in lieu of

transfer stock dividend which was escrowed w^th

Farmei's & Merchants Bank of Los Angeles, with au-

thority to collect and distribute the fimds to the mem-
bers. None of these notes had been paid. (R. 927.)

The result to the subscribers of the big syndicate is

thus described by Mr. Shinole

:

"When the so-called bis: syndicate was oraan-

ized the ]3rice was agreed upon at $1.1(>;'{-, a unit.
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a unit consisting;- of a share of preferred and a

share of common. That price was agreed to by
the syndicate, leaving- a margin so that when it

was raised there would be a profit. At least a

profit was expected. No one would come into a

syndicate of any kind unless they expected to

make a profit. As a matter of fact, what devel-

oped was this: When that syndicate was formed
in the summer and early fall of 1928, if we had

sold all the stock to Vincent & Company the most

profit any of the syndicate members could have

possibly made was around fifty or sixty per cent.

As it turned out, if they had gone out in January,

1930, and sold their stock at the prevailing mar-

]vet there would be a loss of about 25%, but as

it is, anybody who still held their stock would

have had a loss of 48%. There was 52% paid

back in cash." (R. 928-9.)

It will thus be seen that instead of being profitable,

the big syndicate resulted in a very heavy loss to its

members, including John McKeon. While it was

naturally anticipated that a substantial profit would

be made by the syndicate members (R. 929) as a

matter of fact they actually lost 48% of their invest-

ment, the amount paid to them in cash upon the termi-

nation of the syndicate being but 52% of their sub-

scription. The notes of the Italo Corporation which

the S3mdicate had in its possession representing some

dividends upon the stock were never collected (R.

927) and the shares of preferred stock which

had not been sold and Avere distributed among its

members at the termination of the syndicate were not

of any consequential value.
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McKeon voluntarily restores to

Italo $125,000 loss on Seaton com-

munity lease.

Duriui^- or about the month of May, 1928, and be-

fore any negotiations had occurred between the Italo

Corporation and the McKeons for the purchase of

the McKeon properties, to which reference will be

made later, Wilkes informed Robert McKeon that he

was lookins; around for some properties to buy in

Signal Hill for the purpose of developing them and

wanted to know if he knew anything that was avail-

able. At this time the McKeon Drilling Company was

drilling a number of wells in Signal Hill. McKeon
called his attention to the Seaton Community lease and

offered to sell him a half interest for $125,000 with the

understanding that the McKeon Drilling Company

would complete the well, furnishing everything neces-

sary thereto; that thereafter each would own a half

interest in the well and in the acreage under lease,

and that all subsequent wells would have to be de-

veloped on a 50/50 basis. (R. 1121.) This well was

subsequently drilled, but when a depth w^as reached

from which production could be expected, there w^as

no production, and it was deemed advisable to aban-

don the well. (R. 1122.) This opinion was subse-

quently confirmed by the geologist appointed by the

executive committee of the Italo Company to in-

vestigate and report. Because of the failure of this

well and to assist Italo financially, the McKeons volun-

tarily restored to Italo the consideration paid for it,

relinquishing the property to the original owners and

personally assuming the cost of the well. This was
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done through the sale of 100,506 shares of the com-

mon stock receiA'ecl by McKeon Drilling Company for

its properties and is shown in the summary prepared

by Goshorn, U. S. Ex. 297, p. 595, item 9. Respecting

this transaction, Robert McKeon testified

:

''That is the transaction referred to in the

minutes in which I was thanked by the board of

directors of the executive committee for my
generosity in regard thereto." (R. 1123.)

This transaction is further shown by letter dated

November 21, 1928, written by McKeon Drilling Com-

pany to Shingle, Brown & Company directing it to

sell sufficient stock to net the Italo Company (U. S.

Ex. 103, R. 120), and letter dated December 12, 1928,

addressed to John McKeon for McKeon Drilling Com-

pany to Shingle, Brown and Company. (U. S. Ex.

105, R. 331-2.)

$300,000 loan to Italo.

In April, 1929, the Italo Corporation again found

itself in dire need of a substantial amount of cash.

The monthly payments upon some of its properties, in-

cluding the payment of $160,000 to the Graham-Loftus

Company, were falling due, and ]irovisions had to be

made for the monthly payment of its current obliga-

tions including those arising from their drilling opera-

tions which were quite extensive. (R. 1165.) The

company owed the Farmers & Merchants Bank a]:>-

proxuTiately $700,000, $250,000 of which had been

guaranteed by John McKeon and others, which loan

could not be increased. (R. 1165.) It was imperative.
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therefore, that in order to take care of these necessi-

ties it procure an additional loan of $300,000. Unless

this was forthcoming* it is obvious that the company

would meet with disaster.

Through the efforts of John McKeon the required

$300,000 was loaned by a s^roup consisting* of McKeon

Drilling Company, which loaned $50,000, Shingle,

Brown & Company which loaned $25,000, and the

following directors of the Italo Corporation who con-

tributed $25,000 each, viz., Mr. Stewart, Mr. Gordon,

Mr. Wilkes, Mr. Masoni, Mr. Perata, Mr. Siens and

Mr. DeMaria. The money was turned over to the

Italo Corporation and utilized for the above purposes.

(R. 1165.) Although it was agreed that the loan

should be repaid in ninety days, when the due date

arrived this was found to be impossible. At this

time the company was further embarrassed by the

demands of the Farmers & Merchants Bank for pay-

ment of the indebtedness due it. (R. 1165.)

McKeon 's surrender of its property

security to assist Italo Corporation.

We have just shown that the Italo Corporation was

unable to liquidate when due the $300,000 loan made

to it by the McKeon Drilling Company, Shingle,

Brown & Company, and its directors. We have also

pointed out that the Farmers & Merchants Bank was

])ressing the Italo Corporation for payment of the

indebtedness due to it. (R. 1165.) At this time the

Italo Petroleum Corporation was endeavoring to

negotiate a $3,000,000 loan, to be spread out on a bond

issue or some other comparable character of security,
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which would not require such lar,C!:e monthly pay-

ments. (R. 1165.) There was also an indebtedness

aggregating approximately $190,000 due to Buck and

Stoddard that was past due, and it was pressing for

payment. (R. 1167.) For a number of months the Mc-

Keon Drilling Company had received no payment on

account of the notes executed to it by the Italo Cor-

poration representing a part of the purchase price of

its properties, the unpaid amount of which approxi-

mated $400,000. Some of the group that had loaned the

Italo Corporation the $300,000 were reluctant about

renewing the note. (R. 1166.)

The unpaid portion of the ])urchase i)rice of the

McKeon Drilling Company's property due to it from

the Italo Corporation was secured by the property.

In other words, unless this indebtedness was paid, the

McKeon Drilling Company could have regained pos-

session of its properties. (R. 1166.)

Although the loan to the Farmers & Merchants

Bank had been guaranteed to the extent of $250,000

by John McKeon, Masoni, Perata, De Maria and

Rolandelli, the last four of whom were directors of the

Italo Corporation, the bank was very much concerned

because of the position of the McKeon Drilling Com-

pany with respect to its jiroperties, and likewise the

property of the Graham-Loftus Company, the stock

of which secured the payment of the balance of the

indebtedness due to its stockholders. (R. 1166.) It

was quite apparent that unless this situation could be

relieved in some measure the Italo Corj^oration would

suffer a substantial financial loss.



121

To afford such relief the McKeons again went to

the rescue of the company. John McKeon proposed

that if the group that had loaned the $300,000 would

renew its note for ninety days, and if the Fanners &

Merchants Bank would do likewise with respect to

the indebtecbiess due to it, the McKeon Drilling Com-

pany would deed its properties to the Italo Corpora-

tion, take unsecured notes for the mipaid portion of

the purchase price, and would agree that no pa\^nents

need be made by the Italo Cori>oration upon said notes

until after January 1, 1930. (K. 1166.) He further

proposed that if a bond issue or a refunding plan

could be worked out, and made effective, the McKeon
Drilling Company would take bonds in lieu of its

notes, and thus save the imderwriting of the bonds

to that extent. (R. 1166.)

McKeon Co. releases its securities

on Italo note.
V

As a result of John McKeon 's efforts the plan

proposed by him was acquiesced in by all concerned.

In July, 1929, the McKeon Company transferred with-

out limitation all of its properties, both real and

personal, to the Italo Corporation, releasing all of

its security and taking by way of substitution only

the latter 's imsecured notes. Because of and in con-

sideration of the action thus taken by McKeon, the

loans above mentioned were extended as required,

and the Italo Corporation was able to take care of its

current obligations and proceed with the develop-

ment of its properties. (R. 1167.)
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McKeon's guaranty of Buck-Stod-

dard indebtedness.

Not only was this action taken by the McKeon Com-

pany, but in addition thereto, it guaranteed the in-

debtedness of the Italo Company due to Buck & Stod-

dard in the amount of $190,000, and thus obtained a

further extension of time for its payment. (R. 1167.)

In explaining- the reasons for the action thus taken

by the McKeon Drilling Company, and its members,

Robert McKeon testified:

''The reasons prompting me in foregoing our

lien or claim upon the property at the time that

I did were these: I considered the notes

eventually would be paid, whether secured or

otherwise. I considered that the assets of com-

pany were perfectly good and I could really see the

objection of the other unsecured creditors to my
position as being totally secured. I felt that if

we could forego any insistent payment of those

at that time that, within a few months the Italo

would be w^ell able to take care of all of its cur-

rent indebtedness, if it could just get by without

anybody insisting upon payment, and for that

reason I gave up this security. I thought it

would be a help to the company, but I really did

not think I was giving up anything, because I

thought the notes were good. Buck & Stoddard

had been carrying the $190,000 account and it had
been gradually growing. The}^ had gotten some
payments along the line, but the account had been

gradually growing, and they had their account at

the Farmers & Merchants Bank. That is whei'e

they cai'ried the Italo notes, and the bank was
pressing them a bit for that. They said they were
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g,etting pretty full of Italo paper, and the McKeon
Drilling Company had traded with Buck & Stod-

dard for many years, bought millions of dollars

worth of goods from them in times past, and I

realized that this extensive credit had been given

by Buck & Stoddard to the Italo a good deal on

account of my comiection with the Italo, and

I felt the Italo was perfectly responsible for the

notes and we endorsed or guaranteed that paper

to enable Buck & Stoddard to continue to carry

it at the bank and make a new deal for every-

body. I thought that the guaranteeing of the

indebtedness of the Italo Company to Buck &
Stoddard would help the Italo Company, and that

was my ])ur]:><)se in doing that." (R. 11(38-9.)

Italo sustained by financial Eissis-

tance and cooperation of McKeons.

We have already commented upon the disastrous

effect of the world-wide economic depression, as well

as the (^'er-production of oil and its resultant curtail-

ment, which first made itself manifest during or about

the latter part of 1929. This situation is one of which

this court will take judicial notice, although the evi-

dence bearing upon the subject was not attempted to

be disputed.

Briefly stated, this evidence disclosed that from

October 15 to December 15, 1928, the net income de-

rived from the McKeon properties amounted to $246,-

176.41 and the net income for the calendar year 1929

was $954,572.49. (R. 850.) It was also shown that if

it had not been for curtaihiient the McKeon prop-

ei'ties, after making a deduction of 10% for depletion,
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would have produced at least $100,000 a month, or in

excess of $5,000,000 between October 15, 1928, and

May 31, 1933. (R. 850-1.) According to Ralph

Arnold, if curtaihnent had not occurred the Italo

Corporation would have made a profit of three or four

times the profit made by it during such period. (R.

784-5.) The approximate percentage of curtailment

is disclosed by the testimony of Raymond A. Earle, to

which reference has already been made. (R. 847-8.)

Upon this subject we invite the court's attention to

pages 63 to 67 of this brief.

It is obvious, therefore, that the financial dilermna

in which the Italo Corporation found itself was di-

rectly caused by the conditions just described, and that

if normalcy in the oil industry had continued the Italo

Corporation would have been one of the prosperous

oil companies of California.

In April, 1929, Robert McKeon took over the man-

agement of the properties and production of the Italo

Corporation and remained in such management until

December, 1930. (R. 1170.)

Immediately upon becoming manager he made a

report of the company's affairs to the board of di-

rectors which was spread upon its minutes. This re-

port was made on May 14, 1929, and appears at the

beginning of page 246 of Exhibit 16B. (R. 1179.) Ac-

cording to Robert McKeon 's testimony:

''I made that report a few weeks after I be-

came general manager of the company, for the

purpose of informing the board of directors of

the situation of Italo as I saw it at that time as
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to its pxoperfeiis and finandal coiiditiofly and to

the best of my knowledge and belief it is a correct

leport of the actual conditioii of tbe eompanv at

that time.*'

?«^gBS SIOO^QOQ

- Ix

1929r ahhoogb inereaaed compen-
'^ Jolm McKeon resigned his

' j^tioai of the Richfield Oil

- 'ted bis entire time

-
-
- - -.. : '-ratioii. (R. 1218.)

- "_ - ;. ]- --. .. Tcidfied:

••^
- -^ into the ccnapanr I srave

my resi-;. _- RieMeld to take effect De-

c^nbeT Ist. They prevailed upon me to stay till

Jannaiy 1st to ixet matters strai^^ ' "
'"^>y

did not ^•^^^ ^'"^ ^' '—^^^ ->n'^ wr-ui.^^!. i^^v^c -rr^n

'Zlad if T ; ^ : - ed me an induce-

ment or ::- - " i: I vv-.juld s*ay. but I

€*>aldn't stjiy. I h "_ -ji^ propositi ^ : that

was rapidly fallin-: on my shoulders, and had
ais;:ie€d with ^r^-. Lacy T woeld come int».-> the

ccmapany/' ?c. 1218.)

pays otiier creditors in pref-

erence to MeKfion RrfTftng Co.

Between April. 1929. cind Dc<rcmber, 1980^ while

anaGifis: the Italo properties, Robert MeKeon ar-

ransred for and br^>Uii'ht about the payment of ap-

pi»ximately $2,(30<),*X)O of indebtedness due by the

Corporation to various creditors. (R. 1170.)

^ ' " ^ ss was paid by him notwithstanding:
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the fact that during the same period the Italo Cor-

poration was indebted to the McKeon Drilling Com-

pany in an amount approximating $350,000 or $400,-

000 of which only $12,000 had been paid. (R. 1170.)

The subordination of the indebtedness due to the

McKeon Compan}^ to that due to the other creditors of

the Italo Corporation was for the purpose of assisting

the Italo Corporation, regardless of the effect of such

assistance upon the McKeon Company. (R. 1170-1.)

This is clearly shown by the testimony of Robert

McKeon in which he said

:

^'The other creditors of the Italo were paid in

preference to the McKeon Drilling Company be-

ing paid at my direction because I had full con-

fidence in the ultimate receipt of the money and
I could always use that as an argument to other

creditors when they began getting insistent, by
saying, 'Here I am; I am sitting back and not

paying myself a dollar, really, to help carr}^ the

credit of the company along'. My purpose in

doing that was to help the company and not to

harm it and I believed the com])any would even-

tually work out." (R. 1171.)

During the period above mentioned the McKeon
Drilling Company, in order to meet its own financial

obligations, had been compelled to procure bank loans,

the repayment of which were secured by the Italo

Corporation notes in its possession, representing part

of the purchase price of its properties, as well as by

the contract existing between the Italo Corporation

and the McKeon Company. (R. 1171.)



Robert McKeon becomes owner

of Italo notes to McKeon Drill-

ing Co.

Ill January, 1930, the Italo Corporation was in-

debted to the McKeon Company in a simi between

$350,000 and $400,000. At that time some of the

McKeon brothers, particuhirly Raleiuh, were insisting"

upon the pa^Tiient of some of this indebtedness.

Raleigh complained:

''here they have had our i^roperties now for more
than a year. The properties have produced a lot

of oil and lots of money and we have never been

paid : everybody else has been paid, and it is about

time that we be^ian to look out for ourselves a

little and collect this money." (R. 1169.)

Robert McKeon took the position, however, that

it was impossible for the Italo at that time to make
any pa^inent and offered to trade to them his in-

terest in the McKeon Company for outstanding- notes

of the Italo Comj^any, his testimony being":

"After some discussion I said, 'They can't pay
it : it is imj^ossible for them to pay it at this time,

but I \\'ill make you this proposition; I am risht

ill the middle of the Italo situation and know they

can't pay, but I know that if they have time to

work out their situation they ^^ill be able to pay
all their bills and it ^^dll be really a successful

company. I still have hopes of beins" able to

finance or find a loan somewhere to fund those

indebtednesses. We have reduced the indebted-

ness considerably under $3,000,000. I will tell

you what I will do, I vriW take the Italo paper
and will trade you my interest in the drilliiiii'

company for that'." (R. 1169-1170.)
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The proposal was agreed to and effectuated. Since

that transaction, which occurred in February, 1930,

Robert McKeon has been the owner of the indebted-

ness but has no longer been a stockholder of the

McKeon Drilling Company. (R. 1170.) This indebt-

edness is still unpaid and outstanding. (R. 1195.)

Proposed organization of McKeon
Oil Co.

It will be remembered that when Mr. Wilkes visited

the east with the idea in mind of interesting some

of his former associates in the so-called big syndicate

he w'as informed that the enterprise was not of suffi-

cient magnitude to w^arrant their interest, considering

the expense to which they w^ould be put in making the

necessary investigations, but that if a larger or-

ganization could be effected they undoubtedly would

become interested. (R. 723.)

It will also be remembered that a commitment had

been obtained from John McKeon that as quickly as

he could obtain his release from the Richfield Oil

Company, w^here he was employed, he would take the

management of the Italo Corporation's properties

w^hich at that time included the group of properties

formerly belonging to the McKeon Drilling Company.

After Mr. Lacy took active charge of the comi^any

an extensive drilling program was initiated which

involved the operation of twelve to fourteen strings

of tools, requiring a considerable expenditure. The

properties that w'ere taken into the consolidation were

merged subject to an indebtedness of $2,750,000. The

monthly payments due to the former owners of these
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properties a.^gregated $50,000 a month. These pay-

ments, together with the cost of development, were

in excess of the Italo's monthly income which at that

time was approximately $350,000. (R. 1217.) It

quickly became apparent that the Italo Corporation

was underfinanced and that although it had secured

splendid oil properties it lacked available working

capital. Furthermore, as frequently happens, the

drilling program was not as successful as contem-

plated, and there was considerable disappointment in

the work being done. (R. 1217.)

McKeons authorize use of their

stock to assist Italo.

This state of affairs had already become apparent

to John McKeon because at the time the Vincent

contract was cancelled and the broker's pool brought

into existence, mention of it was made to his brother

Robert, whose testimony upon this subject was:

"He (John) said the company was not properly

financed and a large amount of current monthly

pa^mients, totaling a quarter of a million dollars

falling due, and that that was a big load to carry

;

he said that until the payments were all made the

properties, the main i)roperties of the company
were in jeopardy, and that Wilkes had come back

from New York and had found bankers there

that were very anxious to finance a large produc-

tion company on the coast, pro^^ded they could

get the right personnel in it, and the right kind

of properties, and that they were perfectly

willing to put this money behind him if he would
head the company. Tack said his plan was to
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do that and that in order to do it we would have

to have some money or some means to swing it.

He would have to option some of the properties

and he would need money to get it started until

the backers could be in a position where they

could underwrite whatever money was needed,

so we agreed with him that he should use what

of our stock would be necessary for that pur-

pose. By that I mean that Raleigh and I agreed

with Jack that Jack could use the stock of the

McKeon Drilling Company which it was to re-

ceive from the Italo Company as part payment

for its properties." (R. 1144.)

This situation resulted in a number of discussions

between Wilkes and John McKeon, having in mind

the possible reorganization of the Italo Corporation,

changing the par value of its stock, acquiring addi-

tional oil properties, raising sufficient funds to en-

able payment in full of the outstanding indebtedness

of the Italo Corporation, paying for properties to be

acquired and having on hand sufficient available funds

to enable it to proceed with its development work.

It was also proposed tluit this financing should be

done through New York bankers. (R. 735.)

These conferences, together with the financial situa-

tion that had developed, i^ersuaded Wilkes and John

McKeon that reorganization was imperative, and the

understanding was reached between them that ui)()n

the latter leaving the Richfield Company and taking

charge of the Italo Company's pioperties, Wilkes was

to step out of the company and devote his entire

time and attention to the proposed reorganization.
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(R. 735.) Upon this subject defendant Brown testi-

fied:

"Shortly after October 15th when the com-

pany had been put in shape, Mr. Wilkes said he

was going to devote practically his entire time

from that thne on to develop a larger pic-

ture with Jack McKeon who intended to get away

from the Richfield and was going to take charge

of the company; that they wanted to form a large

company which would be interesting to the East-

ern bankers." (R. 999.)

Eastern capital becomes inter-

ested in proposed consolidation.

Information respecting this proposed reorganization

was conveyed to both Mr. Shingle (R. 918) and de-

fendant Brown. (R. 995.) With the suggested re-

organization in view Wilkes conmumicated with the

group of New York bankers with whom he had previ-

ously conferred with respect to the original financ-

ing of the Italo Corporation, and early in November,

1928, a Mr. De Shadney, a representative of Palmer

& Company, arrived in California for the purpose

of making the preliminar}^ investigations and giving

consideration to the proposal on behalf of his prin-

cipals. (R. 735; 918; 999.) After his arrival meet-

ings were arranged between Mr. De Shadney, Wilkes,

McKeon, Shingle and Brown. The character of Mr.

De Shadney 's mission was explained by him to the

defendant Brown who testified:

"Early in November, 1928. 1 met Mr. De Shad-
ney, the rei)resentative of the eastern banking
group. Mr. De Shadney was connected verv
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closely with Palmer & Company, a member of the

New York Stock Exchange, and he informed me
substantially as follows: That the eastern crowd

was very much interested in financing a large

producing company in the west headed by Mr.

McKeon, if the properties could be gotten to-

gether in j)roper shape, to make a large picture

for them, that they would be very much inter-

ested. It would probably involve financing in a

very large amount, maybe a total of twenty to

thirty million dollars, handled with a good-sized

bond issue as a foundation and the rest would be

handled by them as a stock matter. Both Mr. De
Shadney and Mr. Wilkes, who were experienced

in eastern financing, indicated to us that in order

to put over a big issue in New York it would be

important that they have coast distribution of it

;

that is always true, by the w^ay, of eastern financ-

ing of western matters, that the local market

should take a reasonable amount of the fi^nancing.
'

'

(R. 999-1000.)

According to Mr. Shingle

:

"In November a representative of the eastern

brokers came out to San Francisco and they

wanted to know if we could meet him and if the

figures were all right on this new deal if we would

join with the eastern brokers in helping' out on the

deal, so we asked them wliat the tentative plans

were and it was to be a bond finance and a stocJv

finance, and we told them that we would be very

much interested in carrying our share of the

bonds." (R. 918.)

De Shadney remained in this vicinity for about a

month by which time plans were practically completed

I
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to go ahead with the reorganization. (R. 736.) During

this period communications were constantly passed

between De Shadney and his eastern principals. (R.

1000.) Shortly after De Shadney left for the east he

returned with a lawyer named Lyons and an ac-

comitant. (R. 736.) Lyons explained that the firm of

O'Melveny, Tuller S: Myers had been employed by

them to look over the details and that they expected a

I'eport within a very short time. Also that Mr. Moran

had been or was to be employed to make up to date the

appraisements of all the properties they had under

consideration including those belonging to the Italo.

(R. 921.) Both Lyons and De Shadney said that they

expected the deal to be consmmnated during the latter

part of February. (R. 921.)

Options obtained for benefit of

proposed consolidation.

While De Shadney, and subsequently De Shadney

and Lyons were in California, a number of proven oil

properties were examined and negotiations undertaken

for their acquisition. As a result of these negotiations

options were obtained covering the Wilshire Oil Com-

pany properties, the Dabney-Johnson properties, the

Delaney properties at Signal Hill and the O'Domiell

properties. (R. 736-7.)

The activity of John McKcon in comiection with

this proposed reorganization, as well as the fuiancial

assistance rendered by him in order to secure options

and get together available oil properties for the pro-

posed reorganization is aptly described by him

:
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''I told him (Wilkes) * * * that I would use

what stock was necessary to put the properties

together and finance the deal that we were then

working on. It took a good deal of money to do

that. In order to get this together we had to have

positive options and deeds on our properties, and
we took several properties over and paid substan-

tial amounts on them." (R. 1221.)

Expenses of and options pro-

cured for consolidation paid by
John McKeon.

That all expenses incurred in the attempted con-

solidation were assumed and paid by John McKeon
personally, and that all moneys used in obtaining op-

tions upon properties intended to be acquired for the

proposed consolidation were paid by John McKeon is

also shown by his testimony

:

"I furnished all the money that was used in

that attemitted consolidation. There wasn't a

dollar ever charged to the Italo on it, and it I'an

in all before I got through between $400,000 and

$500,000, nearer $500,000 than $100,000 I believe.

We paid Mr. Dabney $250,000 for his o])tion and

a partial pa^mient on his properties. That was

]iaid in form of a note which I secured with 1,000,-

000 shares of Italo stock which was part of the

4,500,000 shares of stock the property of the

McKeon Drilling Company. That was common
stock. I never got any of that stock back." (R.

1221-2.)

''In the deal I was able to hold the properties

until way into the next summer without any fur-

ther payments. I got extensions and kept Dabney
from selline: anv of the stock to reimburse himself.

I
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by giving him a mortgage on a very beautiful

home I had, and I got further extensions by add-

ing further security, and in the windup I lost the

stock and lost the home and I paid Dabney, I

think, $50,000 in cash besides. The property that

all of this money was paid on was the property

that I was optioning for the purpose of carrying-

out the reorganization of Italo and development

of the so-called big company that was planned.''

(R. 1222.)

Upon the same subject John McKeon further testi-

fied:

''We looked at a great many properties and
decided upon the Dabney and Johnson properties.

That was a very big company and had a big pro-

duction. We had an option on it for $6,000,000 in

cash; it was a very good buy at that price. We
had the propei'ties of the Dabney Petrolemn for

a million and a half and we had the Jim O'Don-
nell properties that we Avere pavdng a million for.

Those were the three groups of x>ropeii:ies that

we were going into with the Italo properties."

(R. 1223.)

The deposit by John McKeon of 1,000,000 shares

of conmion stock belonging to the McKeon Company

as securit}^ for the Dabney-Johnson obligation is evi-

denced by a communication in writing dated Febru-

ary 16, 1929, sent by the McKeon Company to Shingle,

Brown & Company, escrow holders of the stock. (U.

S. Exhibit 114, R. 335.)

With respect to the Dabney option, to which refer-

ence has already been made, John McKeon executed
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and delivered his note for $250,000 and as security

for its pa^^nent put up a million shares of Italo stock

belonging to the McKeon Drilling Comj)any. (R.

1232.) These expenditures were likewise testified to

by Wilkes, who stated

:

^'The money that was spent by McKeon and
myself on the reorganization of the Italo was all

McKeon 's money, although I was acting as his

agent in handling it; when the final settlement

came after the crash in the fall of 1929 it cost us

over half a million dollars. A million shares were

put up to secure the note to Dabney-Johnson,

which were lost, and we had to pay a deficienc>'

judgment of $250,000. Jack McKeon lost a I'anch

which cost him in the neighborhood of $100,000;

there was $10,000 paid to Delaney, $10,000 paid to

O'Domiell and, including the attorneys' fees, ac-

countants' fees, engineer's fees and expenses and

one thing and another it ran up in the neighbor-

hood of half a million dollars. That money was

derived from the sale of stock received by John
McKeon which had been paid to the McKeon
Drilling Company by the Italo Petrolemn Cor-

poration of America in payment of the properties

of the McKeon Drilling Company." (R. 740-1.)

Set-up of proposed consolidation.

The proposed set-up of the new corporation which

was to be called McKeon Oil Company, is shown in a

wire that was sent by John McKeon to Pahner &:

Company in the early part of 1929 and is as follows

:

''Proposed McKeon Oil Company will include

following propei^ies, Italo Petrolemn Company
with present production of thirteen thousand

barrels per day. Net earnings of company for
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last quarter 1928 was $1,043,000. There are eleven

wells drilling- on this property which will be com-

pleted during next ninety days. Cost $17,500,000

stock, $2,500,000 cash.

Dabney Johnson properties present production

12,000 barrels. Earnings last quarter $1,015,000.

Fourteen wells now drilling which will be com-

pleted during next ninety days to be paid for on

basis of production after completion. Past pres-

ent production $6,000,000 cash.

Delaney-Edwards-Campbell-0 'Donnell proper-

ties present production 4500 per day. Past earn-

ing statement not available as to wells recently

completed. Estmiate earnings $125,000 per month.

Cost $2,500,000 Cash $500,000 Stock. Two wells

drilling.

McKeon Brothers properties. Present produc

tion 5000 barrels per day. Production too recent

for earnings statement. Three wells drilling.

Estimate earnings $100,000 per month. Cost

$1,000,000 cash, $750,000 stock.

Arroyo Grande property comprises 2000 acres

proven oil land with one well producing 350 bar-

]'els per day. One well now drilling. This includes

also 600 acres lease at Rindge Ranch considered

very valuable prospective field.

These properties not considered in earning class

but necessary as future reserve, cost $1,000,000

cash, $1,000,000 stock. Engineers reports as y&t

not all completed but am assured will show be-

tween fifty and sixty million valuation of all

properties. Total present production in excess of

34,000 barrels per day and present earnings at

rate of over $10,000,000 per year. Total cash

required $13,000,000 to which should be added
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$2,500,000 working capital. Total stock required

$19,750,000. In order to handle proposition $400,-

000 must be paid down this week to hold certain

properties. McKeon and associates are willing to

furnish this cash but must know that bankers are

ready to go ahead with proposition." (R. 1007-8.)

To acquire these properties, most of which had al-

ready been covered by options acquired by John

McKeon, and thereby effectuate the proposed reor-

ganization, considerable financing was essential. (R.

1223.) It was realized that m order that the reor-

ganization should be successful, the Italo Corporation

would have to be relieved from the immediate pay-

ment of substantial sums and sufficient working capi-

tal would have to be provided to enable its develop-

ment to go forward without hindrance.

Plan for financing proposed

consolidation.

With this plan in mind it was first proposed by the

representatiA^e of the eastern group that if other

properties could be added to the group already ac-

quired, and provided a proper return could be assured,

they would furnish $15,000,000 on a basis outlined by

them. (R. 1218-19.) Upon this subject John McKeon
testified

:

''The bankers were to furnish the $15,000,000,

$10,000,000 of which was to be a bond issue and

$5,000,000 to be raised from the sale of debentures

which were a sort of bond that was transferable

into stock at a certain price, and it was to be part

of the agreement that the brokers on the coast

would handle $5,000,000 of the bonds. We were



139

paying- Dabney $6,000,000, Delaney a million and

a half, and a million to O'Donnell, making a total

of eight and a half million. Out of the $15,000,000

it would take about two and a half million to paj^

the debts of Italo which were to be paid, and that

would leave us $5,000,000 working capital, which

capital would have been used in developing our

undevelo])ed properties and carrying on our work,

and had that deal been consummated the Italo

Company would have been a ver}' splendid com-

pany, and would have made money for everybody

concerned. That would have left four and a half

million for working capital." (R. 1223-4.)

Later on, however, the plan was changed to a $10,-

000,000 bond issue (R. 918-9), upon the understanding

that Shingle, BrowTL & Company would absorb $5,000,-

000 worth of the bonds. Upon this subject Shingle

testified

:

"Along in the latter part of October or the

early part of Xovember we first heard of Mr.

John McKeon's plan for a larger oil company. I

was told that when "Wilkes was in the east, in the

latter part of August or the first part of Septem-

ber, he had been working with eastern bankers

at that time making plans for the formation of a

larger company with the idea of continuing to buy

some properties. This is the first time that we
learned of this matter, and in November a I'epre-

sentative of the eastern brokers came out to San
Fi'ancisco and they wanted to know if we would

meet him and if the figures were all right on this

new deal, if we would join with the eastern

brokers in hel])ing out on the deal, so we asked

them what the tentative plans were and it was to
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be a bond finance, and then a stock finance, and
we told them we would be very much interested

in carrying out our share of the bonds.

The deal as they had it lined up at that time

would take about $10,000,000 of bonds and I don't

recall what was said about the stock, although

there was considerable stock in addition to that.

The entire deal, that is, the amount of all the

properties involved would rmi about $30,000,000.

Wilkes mentioned the acquisition of the jn-oper-

ties of the Wilshire Oil Company, the Delaney

properties and several others. He said the eastern

houses were willing to take it up if it was big

enough. Subsequently I met Mr. De Shadney,

representing the eastern people. I met him in

San Francisco in November, and Mr. Brown had
some talks with him later on that month in Los
Angeles. Mr. De Shadney said the bond issue

would run about ten million dollars and that we
would be expected to take half of the bond issue,

or five million dollars in bonds."' (R. 918-9.)

Under the plan all of the stock was to go to the Italo

( 'Orporation stockholders excepting 12%% which went

to the eastern bankers who furnished the money. (R.

1224.) None of this stock, how^ever, was to go to

Shingle. Brown & Compau}^, notwithstanding the fact

that it had to underwrite or purchase half of the bond

issue. As to this matter Shijigle testified:

"They told us, but we knew that anyway, that

any eastern house would very seldom or

never finance a western bond issue without

having western sponsors or wester-n brokers, in-

terested with them. We had a discussion with

them relative to the $5,000,000 in bonds that we
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were exi^ected to take and we were told very

frankly that this was an eastern deal but we could

be in on the bonds and they wanted us to be

in on the bonds, but as far as the stock was con-

cerned that was to be handled all to themselves.

We knew what it meant; that is, that they had a

stock bonus and didn't Avant to give us any part

of it." (R. 919.)

This testhnony was corroborated by defendant Brown,

who in testifying to a conversation between hunself

and Lvons, said:

''With respect to Shingle, Brown & Company
receiving any portion of the stock bonus that was
to be issued to the eastern bankers for financing

the bond issue I told hun I presmned the eastern

bankers would want the stock bonus. I asked him
if he would have am^ interest in that and he said

no, that the eastern bankers would handle that

entirely back there, that we could handle some
of the bonds. We had already been compensated

and I said we would do that to the limit of our

ability." (R. 1010.)

At this time the firm of Shingle, Brown & Company
was not in a financial position to carry half the $10,-

000,000 bond issue, and it was necessary for them to

get their bank credit in shape to measure up to their

commitment. Accordingly, during the early part of

January, 1929, they proceeded to gradually and slowly

sell the stock which they had obtained from the Mc-
Keoiis, to which reference will hereafter be made, to

put themselves in proper financial position, the stock

being sold at market. (R. 920-1.)
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Company to be called John Mc-
Keon Oil Co.

To avoid localizing the new company it was sug-

gested by Lyons that it be called the McKeon Oil Com-

pany after John McKeon who had ''a big name

throughout the comitr}'". (R. 740.) After Lyons had

piu'sued such investigation as he deemed essential and

before leaving for the east he stated that there was

no question but that the deal would go through. L'pon

this subject defendant Brown testified:

'*Mr. liyons had told me in the presence of

Jack McKeon and A. G. Wilkes in Los Angeles

that there was no question at all about the deal

going through, and Jack McKeon was going east

with him and it would be closed up very quickly."

(R. 1010.)

This was Brown's opinion, who stated:

"In March, 1929, I believed that the McKeon
Oil Company, which was mider discussion at that

tune, was a certainty to go through." (R. 1011.)

McKeon 's New York efforts to

consolidate.

About the 10th of February, 1929, John McKeon

and Lyons went to New York, having arranged with

Wilkes to have prepared auditor's reports and earn-

ings reports covering the different companies whose

properties were to be acquired. The eastern group

then insisted upon obtaining an engmeer's report

upon the whole situation by Robert Moran, a well-

known engineer, which was done. (R. 740; 1009-10.)

In Ai)ril, 1929, defendant Brown was called east on

business and while in ]S'ew York conferred with John
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McKeon. (R. 1010.) xlt this time McKeon, who had

been in the east api:)i'oxiinately two or three months,

although disapi)ointed at the delay, was still hopeful

that the deal would be consummated. According to

Brown's testimony:

''Jack was still somewhat hopeful, but he had
been back there two or three months. The deal

was supposed to be closed every other week and
he still had one matter to thresh out but he was
considerably disappointed. The deal was almost

closed two or three times with other large houses,

but whether it was due to market conditions or

otherwise I don't know. The deal w^asn't quite

closed. He told me that the deal at that time was
coming down to be largely a stock matter, and I

told him that I didn't think it could be success-

fully handled as such. The market was very

heavy on n.ew issues of stock, what is known as

undigested securities. The dealers' shelves were

pretty full and they weren't interested in new
securities. We were coming very definitely to the

birr break in the latter part of the year. I told

Mr. McKeon in the language of the street that I

thought he had been getting the run-around back

there. I also talked to Mr. Lyons of Palmer &
Com]:)any, in the presence of Mr. McKeon. T

asked him what was doing and he said he thought

the deal was still all right and going through all

rip;ht. He asked me if we wanted to handle half

of it and I said, 'What is the deal about? I want
all the details.' He said, 'Well, we are changing

these things so that I am not prepared to give

them to you.' I said, 'Well, I am leading for the

coast ; send me the details and I will give you my
answer.' Subsequent to that I came back to the

coast." (R. 1010-11.)
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As the result of the sale of the stock acquired by it,

towards the end of February,—but at least by the

middle of March, 1929,—Shingle, Brown & Company

reached a position where it was able to take over the

$5,000,000 of the $10,000,000 bond issue if the bonds

had then been issued. (R. 922.) About this time, how-

ever, certain changes took place in the proposals of

the eastern group respecting the character of the fi-

nancial structure of the new company.

While theretofore the basis of the financing of the

new organization, as proposed by the eastern group,

was a bond issue, one-half of which Shingle, Brown

& Company was in a position to absorb, they gradually

turned the ]_:>roposition into a stock deal, the bond

issue being gradually eliminated. (R. 922-3.) This

change of attitude on the part of the eastern group

may have been merely a makeshift to enable its mem-
bers to withdraw their financial support, because of

c(^nditi.ons then making themselves manifest in the

financial world, without making it appear that they

were I'epudiating their commitments.

That it was practically impossible at this time to

secure adequate financial assistance through stock is-

sues is pointed out by the testimony of Shingle, when

he states:

"There vv'as a financial condition that existed in

the country in the spring of 1929 which was that

you could still ^et s,ood bank credit on bonds, but

not on new stock issues, whereas probably six or

eight or ten months before that you could finance

new stock issues. All of the banks in San Frau-

cisco were graduallv shutting down on listed
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stocks on credit they would give to brokers, and
it was absolutely inipossil)le to get any credit, or

any substantial credit at least, on any new stock

issues. It was a forerunner of the market break

that took place in the fall of that year. We could

carry about $5,000,000 of bonds for probably 15%
margin; that would take alwut $750,000 of our

capital, and it meant that to handle $5,000,000 of

stock we would have to put up the whole $5,000,-

000 because we coukbi 't ])orrow anything from the

banks." (R. 923.)

The proposed "big deal" was in fact never effectu-

ated and in the late sunnner of 1929 all negotiations

came to an end. Its termination can readily be traced

to the instability of financial conditions which finally

ended in the still existing world-wide economic depres-

sion. (R. 923-6.)

We are now brought to the disposition made by

John McKeon, with the consent of his brothers, of cer-

tain portions of the stock which was delivered to the

McKeon Company in part payment of its properties

and assets.

McKeon Company stock used for

benefit of Italo Corporation.

As has already been stated, on July 5, 1928, an

agreement was entered into between McKeon Drilling

Company, Inc., and Italo Petrolemn Corporation of

America in which the Italo Corporation purchased

from the McKeon Company certain of its property and

assets for the sum of $5,500,000, of which $500,000 was

to be paid in cash, $500,000 to be represented by ten

promissory notes of $50,000 each, due monthly begin-
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ning September 1, 1928 and 4,500,000 shares of its

capital stock, of which not less than 2,000,000 should

be common stock, the stock to be delivered within sixty

days, and the entire agreement to be subject to the

provisions of the Corporate Securities Act and the ap-

proval and consent of the Corporation Commissioner.

(U. S. Exhibit 44, R. 305-6.)

After several verbal extensions, granted to Robert

McKeon, to which reference has already been made a

supplemental agreement was entered into on Septem-

ber 18, 1928, in which the McKeon Company acknowl-

edged receipt of $250,000 on account of the initial

$500,000 down payment, $100,000 of which was to be

evidenced by the syndicate subscription of John Mc-

Keon. It further agreed that the Italo Corporation

should have until November 15, 1928, to pay the bal-

ance of the $250,000 and agreed to accept the syndicate

subscription obligation of Arthur Delaney up to $100,-

000 on account thereof. The McKeon Company also

agreed to defer the delivery of the ten notes for $50,-

000 each until November 15, 1928, and gave the Italo

Corporation six months from the payment of the bal-

ance of the down payment to pay the obligations as-

sumed by it under its agreement. (R. 307.)

At the time Shingle arranged with the brokers to

sell Italo stock on behalf of the big syndicate, it was

understood that the McKeon Company stock should be

escrowed in order to prevent it from being sold on

the market and thus interfere with their sales. (R.

1150-1.) Accordingly, on October 26, 1928, the stock

to which the McKeon Company was entitled was de-

I
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livered to it by Maurice C. Myers, trustee (R. 328),

and on the same date all of this stock, excepting 60,500

imits which the McKeon Comi:)any had jDreviously sold,

were deposited in escrow with Shingle, Brown & Com-

pany :

**to hold as an escrow so that none of said stock

shall be sold or offered for sale for a period of 90

days, unless such escrow shall be sooner termi-

nated by an agreement between yon and the un-

dersigned." (U. S. Exhibit 98, pp. 328-9.)

The record clearly and convincingly established that

until this escrow was completed, neither John Mc-

Keon, nor any member of his family, agreed to supply

stock to anyone or for any purpose excepting to take

care of the Vincent & Co. situation to indemnify

Shingle, as syndicate manager, against the loss of any

part of the two million shares of stock deposited as

seciuity for the loans obtained from the Farmers &
Merchants Bank aggregating $600,000 and to compen-

sate Shingle, Brown & Co. for services to be rendered

by it in connection with the refinancing of Italo

through brokers' pools, and otherwise. (R. 1238-9.)

We have also shown that when it appeared that

there was a probability of the original merger collaps-

ing because of the omissions and activities of Yincent

& Company, and in order to save for Italo the proper-

ties upon which a substantial part of the purchase

price had been paid, the McKeons used part of the

stock belonging to them then held in escrow. We have

likewise pointed out in the preceding pages of this

statement the use by John McKeon, wdth the consent
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of Ms brothers, of large blocks of this stock for the

purpose of assisting in the financing of Italo, and

likewise in obtaining options upon properties intended

to go into the new consolidation and to meet the ex-

penses connected therewith, all at a time w^hen every-

one interested in the Italo Corporation realized that

due to conditions over which they had no control, it

was underfinanced and in the absence of a further re-

organization, w^hich included the acquisition of addi-

tional properties as w^ell as refinancing, the Italo Cor-

poration and its stockholders would inevitably suffer

disastrous financial loss.

We have likewise made manifest by reference to im-

disputed portions of the record, that neither at the

time that the McKeon-Italo contract w^as negotiated

or executed, nor at any time prior or subsequent

thereto, was there any understanding, suggestion or

intimation by anybody that in connection with the

acquisition by the Italo Corporation of the property

and assets of the McKeon Company any officer, di-

rector or other person interested in Italo should re-

ceive or participate in any part of the consideration

which was demanded, or w^hich would be paid by the

Italo to the McKeon Company. (R. 759, 1173, 1207,

1230.)

On the contrary, it has been conclusively shown that

it was only with the greatest reluctance that the Mc-

Keon brothers w^ere finally persuaded to enter into

the consolidation, and that it was only because of their

desire to prevent injury to the Italo and to avoid

financial loss to their friends wlio had joined the big
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syndicate at their request, that they were prevailed

upon not to withdraw from the consolidation and

cancel their agreement, which course they had a legal

right to pursue.

In order to appreciate the circiunstances under

which certain of the McKeon Company stock was some

months later given to some of the directors and officers

of the Italo Corporation, it is essential that the mider-

lying facts be ascertained and understood, as to which

there is no contradiction in the record. This is im-

portant because unless the transaction culminating in

the purchase of the McKeon properties by Italo was

tainted by some sinister promise, miderstanding or

agreement to turn over to the officials and directors

of the Italo a part of the consideration to be paid

therefor, and that in fulfillment thereof, the stock

subsequently given them was so transferred, no com-

plaint can be legitimately made because of what the

McKeon Company or its officials did with its stock

after the transaction was consummated.

Until Wilkes in New York was unable to obtain fi-

nancial assistance on behalf of Italo in comiection ^^dth

the original merger, due to the fact that the project

was not of sufficient magnitude to persuade the intru-

sion of eastern capital, and until Vincent & Company
failed completely in its commitments to the Italo and

the syndicate and engaged in unauthorized activities

with respect to stock sales, and until it was necessary

for John McKeon to obligate himself and some of his

friends to the Farmers & Merchants Bank to the ex-

tent of $600,000 and indemnify Shingle against the

ft
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The br»>thers, however^ protested against the use

of the stock of their company for this purpose, and

it was not nntil John McKeon had explained to them

the urgency of supplyins? the stock and the necessity

for leoriaranizmg on a larger scale to save the project,

that they finally acquiesced, the understanding being,

however, that when reorganization and proper financ-

ing finally occurred, their loss would be restored. (R.

1, 144-5.) Surely generosity of this kind cannot be

made the basis of or converted into a criminal con-

spiracy. It was only after these explanations had

been made by John McKeon (R. 1141-4) that Robert

and Raleigh McKe«>n agreed that

'^Jack could use the stock of McKeon Drilling

Company which it was to receive from the Italo

Company as part payment of its properties." (R.

1144.)

After Mr. Lacy had taken the presidency of the

Italo Corporation, and at his request certain of his

business associates had become directors

•'Our company took on a new aspect, the syn-

dicate subscriptions rolled in, the sale of stock

started bis: and there was plenty of money to pay
all of the contract payments when they became

due and it looked like it was a very feasible thins:

then to build a larger company out of Italo.'' (R.

1147.)

Under these circumstances, according to Robert

McKeon

:

•'Raleigh and I agreed with Jack that Jack
could use up 2,5<X>,CMX) shares of stock for that pur-
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pose. By 'that purpose' I mean to enlarge the Italo

and make a bigger company out of it. We didn't

know exactly how much it would take, but we
told Jack that he could use the 2,500,000 shares;

that we would be perfectly satisfied for our end

of it if the McKeon Drilling Company retained

2,000,000 shares of stock and that he could use

2,500,000 shares for the purpose of enlarging

Italo or for his own purposes. He had some
aifairs that he wanted to straighten up, some real

estate interests, and it was our understanding that

he was to have the stock to do with as he pleased

for his own affairs and for the affairs of Italo,

including the matter of dealing with Perata and
Masoni, the Vincent settlement and anything else

that he thought it was necessary to do." (R. 1147.)

That no one but the McKeon Company had any

interest whatever in the stock is likewise testified to

by John McKeon

:

"I considered that the McKeon Drilling Com-
pany owned that stock I agreed to distribute.

The drilling company gave real value for the

stock, all that it was worth, and nobody had
anything to do with it. In my judgment at that

time the stockholders of the Italo Petroleum Cor-

poration of America had no remaining interest

in that stock. They had value received for the

stock they had given and had absolutely no in-

terest in it whatever. I figured it was our prop-

erty to do with as we pleased." (R. 1218.)

And as showing the circumstances under which his

brothers finally agreed to his use of the stock, John

McKeon further testified, on cross-examination:
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**After the contract was executed I had a con-

versation with my brothers and discovered at that

tune that the hnancial condition of the Italo was

not what it should be. and that we had to get

behind it and help it out. At the first conference

with my brothers they didn't say, 'You take

2,500,000 shares of stock for your o^vn and do

that with it*, but at that conference we didn't

decide on any munber of shares of stock and

didn't fio-ure it would take anything- like 2,500,000.

There wasn't any agreement on that until after

I had gone into my deal step by step and gotten

rid of a great deal of my stock which was late

in November or early in December. The first con-

versation with my brothers in which it was de-

cided that I should use some of the McKeon stock

for the purpose of ^ettinii- behind the finances of

the company was at that time. Also I was to use

a part of that same stock to straighten out my
real estate affairs and difficulties I had gotten

into in San Bernardino and I needed some money.
That was in November, 1928. It could have been

the latter part of October or the first part of

November, 1928. It was after October 26, 1928."

(R. 1238.)

And stiU later

:

''I considered that entire 2,500,000 shares of

stock to have been transferred to me by my
brothers for any use I wanted to put it to. I did

not consider that I had to account for that stock

to any person." (R. 1242.)

As has already appeared, the contemplated consoli-

dation tentatively referred to as the McKeon Oil Com-
pany, for the reason indicated, was abandoned during-
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the late summer of 1929. Between the escrowing of

the McKeon Drilling Company stock on October 16,

1928, and such abandomnent, a considerable quantity

of the stock of the McKeon Drilling Company had

been delivered to a nmnber of persons, some of whom
were then or had been officers or directors of Italo.

It is with the assigmnent of stock to these individuals

alone that we are presently concerned, for the obvious

reason that any transfer of stock to others would have

no logical tendency of establishing any conspiracy to

defraud Italo or its stockholders, by permitting secret

profits to be gained by its officers or directors, though

later in this statement, we will have occasion to refer

to the stock assigned to Shingle, Brown & Company.

Those coming within the category above mentioned,

to whom stock was delivered by John McKeon are

as follows: A. G. Wilkes, John M. Perata, Paul

Masoni, E. B. Seins, Howard Shores, James B. West-

brook, John B. De Maria, Maurice E. Myers and

Hugh Stewart.

Before showing the circumstances surrounding and

persuading such assignments, we believe it proper to

point out the office held by each of these parties in

Italo, as well as the period during which such rela-

tionship existed. At the first meeting of the directors,

held in Delaware on March 10, 1928, John M. Perata,

Paul Masoni, F. V. Gordon, Robert McKeon and A.

G. Wilkes were elected directors. (R. 236.)

On March 14, 1928, the directors for the first time

met in California. The meeting was. attended by John

Perata, Paul Masoni and A. G. Wilkes, who were
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elected president, secretary-treasurer and vice-presi-

dent respectively. (R. 236-7.)

On May 28, 1928, the board of directors was supple-

mented by the addition of F. P. Tommasini, G.

Rolandelli, John B. De Maria, Adam Bianchi, Oreste

Matteucci, Harrj^ L. Martini, Victor Pizzi, E. B.

Siens, J. V. Westbrook, Howard Shores, James De
Pauli, Henry Clausen, John Spigno and Albert Quil-

ici. (R. 239-40.)

On October 16, 1928, directors Shores, Westbrook,

Quilici, Clausen, Spigno, De Pauli and Tonmiasini,

resigned and William Lacy, Fred E. Keeler, Frank

B. Chapin, Hugh F. Stewart, Maurice C. Myers, R. R.

McLachlen and Greorge McNear were elected in their

place. At the same meeting Perata resigned as presi-

dent, and Lacy was elected in his stead. Thereupon

John B. De Maria was elected second A^ce-president,

and the newly elected president Lacy appointed Wil-

liam Lacy, F. V. Gordon, Robert McKeon, E. B.

Seins, Maurice C. Myers, Paul Masoni, John M.

Perata and A. G. Wilkes as the executive committee.

(R. 245-6.)

Because of the importance of this phase of the case,

as well as to subserve the convenience of the court,

we will deal separately with each of the parties men-

tioned.

1. A. G. WilJies. Wilkes became a director, vice-

president and general manager of the Italo American

Petrolemn Company on November 20, 1927, and re-

mained such until after its assets were transferred

to the Italo Company. He became a director of the
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Italo Company on March 10, 1928, and remained such

until after the appointment of the receiver in Decem-

ber, 1930. (R. 236.) Pie acted as general manager

of the comi)any until April 18, 1929, when he resigned.

(R. 251.) After the election of Lacy as president on

October 16, 1928, he devoted his entire time and atten-

tion to the proposed consolidation. (R. 735, 999.)

From the time that it became evident that Italo

was not sufficiently financed to enable it to meet the

required payments upon the properties purchased by

it, as well as the expenses arising out of the necessary

development of its properties, until after the so-called

contemplated merger, rnider the proposed name of

McKeon Oil Company, came to an end in the summer

of 1929, Wilkes, acting in cooperation with John

McKeon, devoted practically all of his time in the

investigation of oil properties and enterprises of con-

siderable magnitude potentially adaptable for consoli-

dation, obtaining reports upon these properties and

assisting as far as he was able in obtaining finances

for the use of Italo in order to conserve its properties

and permit their development. During this period he

not only traveled extensively over California but like-

wise made several trips to New York. These expenses

as well as moneys paid by him as the repiesentative

of McKeon for options covering properties to be in-

cluded in the proposed merger were derived from the

sale of the stock belonging to the McKeon Drilling

Company. On this subject John McKeon testified:

^'The fact that Mr. Lacy was going to continue

with the company and that I was going to give

the rest of my time—I felt it should be made a



157

bigger company and we felt that we should have
or would have to have some refinancing of one

kind or another, so Mr. Wilkes, whom I depended
upon entirely in the matter of that kind, I
wouldn't have gone into any financial or con-

solidation program without the assistance of Mr.
Wilkes, in whose ability and integrity I had con-

fidence, and with whom I had been for twenty

years, and I felt he was the most capable and
successful organizer and financier I had known
of in the country and I don't think there is any
other man I would have put as much behind as

I Avould have put behind Mr. AVilkes. Thei-efore I

depended upon Mr. Wilkes, so I told him about

this time if we would make a bigger company,
bigger operations, and get more money, providing

he would stay with me and hold together the

members of this company, which would be neces-

sary, that we would attempt to make the company
much larger and put it on a sound basis." (R.

1219.)

And after testifying that the conversation \vith re-

spect to this matter with Wilkes and others occurred

"several months after the deal was made and
it had nothing to do with it at all." (R. 1221.)

John McKeon proceeded:

"At that time I was working with Mr. Wilkes.
He was the man I depended upon in working out
our plans more than anybody else. I told him
that if he would give up his attention entirely

to the Italo and turn that over to my brother
Bob and Lacy, let them handle that, and go to

work on this deal, that I would use what stock
was necessary to put the properties together and
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finance the deal that we were then working on.

It took a great deal of money to do that. In

order to get this together we had to have positive

options and deeds on our properties, and we took

several properties over and paid substantial

amounts on them." (R. 1221.)

Still later, upon the same subject, he testified:

''With reference to the conversation that I had
with Wilkes with respect to his leaving the Italo

Company and giving his attention to the new deal,

that conversation was held in Los Angeles and
I don't think anyone else was present. About this

time the Nev/ York banking group had a repre-

sentative in the field here and had concluded

about what they could do. It was at that time

that I told Wilkes to drop his connection with

the Italo as it was in better hands than his own
from the development standpoint, and to secure

the properties that would be necessary to meet

the New York requirements, that is, to help me
secure them. We looked at a great many prop-

erties, and decided upon the Dabney and John-

son properties." (R. 1222-3.)

And after describing the properties finally decided

upon by them, and their purchase price (R. 1223) he

further stated:

''Wilkes did a lot of the negotiations for the

properties and a lot of the dealings on them, with

myself. He worked with me all the time. I fur-

nished whatever security or money was necessary.

When Wilkes started on the job he thought the

money required to put the deal through would
be furnished by myself, expecting of course that

when the deal would be consummated my expenses
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and money would be returned, and they Avould

have been had the deal ever been finished." (R.

1224.)

With respect to the stock and money turned over

to Wilkes for the purposes indicated John McKeon
testified

:

''I gave orders and directions to Shingle,

Brown & Company, the escrow holders of the

stock, to turn over stock to Mr. Wilkes. The
orders are in evidence here. When that stock

was needed and the money was needed for that

stock in our transactions, it was delivered to

Wilkes and sold on the market by him and the

money put into our transactions. I know where
most of the money went.

I had nothini;- whatever to do with the original

transactions between the Italo and the McKeon
Company and the turning- of the stock over to

Wilkes had no connection with that. That was
not in the form of a commission or a compensa-
tion to Wilkes for inducing the Italo to make the

deal mth the McKeon Company. As it turned

out it was never used for his personal benefit."

(R. 1224.)

This phase of the controversy was given consid-

eration in the testimony of Wilkes. After testifying

to the request of McKeon that he step out of the

management of the Italo Company and devote his

time and attention to the reorganization and assist

in getting it properly organized and financed, and
what he and John McKeon thereafter did (R. 735-7),

Wilkes testified:
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"When I say, 'We made the payment' on these

properties, I mean that I am not speaking oi'

the Italo Company; that that was paid by Mc-

Keon and myself personally. With reference to

the Dabney transaction in lieu of the payment of

200,000 in cash which was the option price or

down payment demanded, a million shares of

the McKeon Drilling Company stock was put up

as security for the note. That may have been

$250,000 instead of $200,000. With reference to

the $10,000 in cash paid on the Delaney deal, that

money was received from the sale of some of the

McKeon stock. About the time we got this thing

closed up with Vincent, and along about the first

of November, Jack told me that he had arranged

with his brothers Raleigh and Bob that he and I

would go to work on the reorganization and re-

financing of the Italo Company and acquiring

of those additional properties, and that he had ar-

ranged with them to use any part of the McKeon
Drilling Company stock that he saw fit in the

securing of these properties and the carrying on

of the program, and also for his own personal

use." (R. 736-7.)

Subsequently upon this same proposition he testified:

"The money that was spent by McKeon and

myself on the reorganization of the Italo was all

McKeon 's money although I was acting as his

agent in handling it. When the final settlement

came after the crash in the fall of 1929 it cost

us OA^er half a million dollars. A million shares

were put up to secure the note to Dabney John-

son which were lost and we had to pay a defi-

ciency judgment of $250,000.
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Jack McKeon lust a vaiich which cost in the

neiohborhood of $100,000. There was $10,000

paid to Delaney, $10,000 paid to O'Domiell, and

inchiding- the attorneys' fees, acconntants' fees,

engineers' fees and expenses, and one thing and

another, it ran up in the neighborhood of half

a million dollars. That was money that was de-

rived from the sale of the stock received b}^

John McKeon which had been paid to the Mc-

Keon Drilling' Company by the Italo Petroleum

Corporation of America in payment of the i^ro])-

erties of the McKeon Drilling Company." (R.

740-1.)

2. John M. Perata and Paid Masoni. On Decem-

ber 22, 1928, the Italo Company had agreed to ])U]-

chase the McKeon Drilling Company properties, and

more than two months after the McKeon Company's

stock had been deposited in escrow, a written order

was signed directing Shingle, Brown & Company, at

the termination of the escrow, to deliver to Perata

and Masoni, each 62,500 units of the escrowed stock

belonging to the McKeon Compan}^ (U. S. Ex. 105,

R. 331-2; U. S. Ex. 108, R. 333.) The circumstances

under which this stock was given to them were clearly

shown by the undisputed e^ddence. The directorate

of the original company, Italo-American Petroleum

Corporation, consisted almost entirely of Italians. On
May 28, 1928, the board of directors of the Italo

Company was supplemented by the addition of nine

Italians (R. 239-40), some or most of whom had

been interested in the original company. On October

16, 1928, when Lacy was elected president of Italo
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in accord with the understanding under which he

accepted the presidency, he and a niunber of his busi-

ness associates were elected directors in place of five

other directors who resigned, four of whom were Ital-

ians. (R. 245-6.) On the same date Perata resigned

as president, being supplanted by Lacy. (R. 245-6.)

It is quite apparent from the record that at least

until October 16, 1928, Italo was recognized as an

enterprise supported and controlled by individuals

who were either Italian born or of Italian extraction,

and that, due to such fact, a nmnber of their comitry-

men had become interested in the compan}', and fur-

thennore, that those in control, took pride in the

respective positions held by them.

When Lacy and his associates took control of Italo

its offices were moved from San Francisco to Los

Angeles. (R. 737.) When McKeon and Wilkes under-

took to reorganize the company, which was late in

1928, it was quickly realized that in order to make

the reorganization a success it was essential to obtain

the cooperation, assistance and support of Perata and

Masoni and their constituents. With respect to this

matter Wilkes testified:

"With respect to the receipts that have been

put in evidence acknowledging the receipt of cer-

tain numbers of shares of stock for efforts in

financing and organizing and furthering the in-

terests of the Italo Petroleum Corporation of

America, I know that when Lacy was elected

president of the company on October 16th that

he insisted that some of his other friends go on

the Board of Directors with him and on the Ex-
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ecutive Committee, and at that time Fred Keeler

was elected a director to replace one of the Ital-

ian members of the board and Frank Chapin, an

experienced oil man, Hugh Stewart, who had

been associated with Lacy as vice-president of the

Farmers and Merchants Bank, and some others

went on the Board at that time, and the operat-

ing officers of the company were being moved
to Los Angeles and there was a feeling among
the Italian stockholders and among the Italian

members of the board that it was soi/t of being

taken away from them and that they were being

shoved out of the company. About the first of

November I could see that Perata and Masoni

were no longer active in the company, and I told

Jack McKeon that I thought it would be a very

good thing, that I did not want those boys to be-

come dissatisfied because they were going to be

very valuable to us in more ways than one, and
that they had worked hard on the thing and
could do us a lot of good, particularly if we could

get into the refining business and the distribu-

tion of it and we want to keep these Italians in

it and we want to keep them interested, and I

suggested to him that he give them some of his

stock. There was no special amount mentioned,

but the next time I was down here I asked Jack
whether I should tell Masoni and Perata that

they will get some of this stock that he was will-

ing to use for his new company. And he said,

'Yes, go ahead and tell them. What do you think

we ought to give them?' I said, 'I don't know'.

but I think I said, 'AVell, give them about half

the amomit we gave Vincent, it will do no harm
and I think it will be a good thing'. So he told
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me to tell them that he would give them 62,500

miits apiece. There are the only two that have

been mentioned here that I talked to McKeon
about except Shingle and Brown. That is the

first time that I ever discussed any division of

this stock and it was not McKeon Drilling Com-
pany stock but Jack McKeon 's personal Italo

stock which he had received through some ar-

rangement with McKeon Drilling Company which

was to be used for his own personal benefit and

for the purpose of organizing this new company.

Neither Perata or Masoni had the slightest idea

that they were going to get any stock until I

told them so sometime in the middle of No-

vember." (R. 737-9.)

The reasons actuating the transfer of this stock to

Perata and Masoni were described in the testimony

of John McKeon, who stated

:

*'The people in San Francisco, who were the

Italian stockholders, and at that time I guess

about 20% of the stock was owned by Italians,

and the loyal fellows that had been with the com-

pany a long time had been pushed aside, and

there was a fast growing dissatisfaction in the

company that I knew would eventually probably

work a great hardship on all of us. So I at-

tempted to straighten that out. I told Mr. Perata

and Mr. Masoni, who had been the founders of

the company and had the absolute confidence of

all their stockholders, that if they would con-

tinue with the company and give it the loyalty

that they had alwa3^s given it and work with me,

that I would give them some of this stock. The

stock that I was going to give them was my
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own property. That conversation with Perata
and Masoni was in December, or late in Novem-
ber. It was before I went to New York.

I talked to Mr. Masoni in Los Angeles and to

Mr. Perata in San Francisco. I told Masoni at

the Biltmore Hotel, when I ascertained that he

was dissatisfied, substantially as I have stated. I

told him we expected to go on and enlarge the

company, and that we needed the support of our

present stockholders, and of our present officers,

and that we did not want any diffei'ent factions

coming up in the company. At that time there

was a great deal of it; and if he would help

straighten out those factions and work with me I

w^ould give him some stock." (R. 1219-1220.)

And as illustrating the condition of mind of Perata

and Masoni, McKeon further testified

:

"About November 15th I saw Perata on the

street in San Francisco and told him practically

the same as I had told Masoni. Perata was very

much upset about the fact that they were all be-

ing pushed out of the picture, and I did not want
them to feel that way. Perata told me that he

felt that way about it. I told them of my future

plans, of the plans that I was trying to w^ork

out, and that if they w^ould help me clear through

that I w^ould be very willing to give hun this

stock." (R. 1220-12210

And as showing there was no connection between the

purchase of the properties of the McKeon Drilling

Company and the assignment of stock, McKeon fur-

ther testified:
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''My conversations with Masoni and Perata in

which I agreed to give them this stock had no con-

nection whatsoever with the making of the deal

whereby the McKeon Drilling Company sold its

properties to the Italo. My conversations with

them were several months after the deal was

made, and it had nothing to do with it at all." (R.

1221.)

The testimony of Wilkes and McKeon was confirmed

by both Masoni and Perata. Upon this subject Ma-

soni testified:

"In the consummation of any of these deals

there was no agreement between Wilkes or Perata

or De Maria or any of the other defendants and

myself that at any time under any circumstances

I was to receive any of the commissions or bene-

fits whatsoever personally from these transac-

tions. There was never any such understanding

at any time." (R. 819.)

And testifying with respect to the receipt of the stock,

Masoni said:

"Some time in April, 1929, I received 62,500

units of Italo Petroleum stock. Prior to receiv-

ing that stock, I had no understanding, agree-

ment or promise from any of my codefendants

that I was ever to receive anything in the way
of a contribution from Mr. McKeon or otherwise

in connection with the pui-chase by Italo Petro-

leum Corporation of America of the McKeon
Drilling Company. In the early part of 1929 I

was down here, and I met Mr. John McKeon
at the Biltmore. He told me he was going to

make a great big company, and wanted to make
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it one of the bigiiest companies in the State of

California; that he needed the help of all the

Italian people, that I had contributed for the

company, and although I might not be qualified

to be secretary of the company, I could do the

company a whole lot of good b}' sticking with

the company and keep on doing the work that I

had done in the past. He said, 'I am going to

give you a block of my stock.' He never said

how much; he never said when. That was in the

early part of 1929 and that is the first intimation

I had that he was ever going to give me any-

thing at all. Previous to that time I had never

discussed such a thing with any of my codefend-

ants and had never heard of it. After I went
back to San Francisco, A. G. Wilkes called me
into the office and told me about the same thing

as Mr. McKeon had told me, that I was going to

get a block of stock from John McKeon. About
a month or so aftel•^vards, I received a letter

from the McKeons to go over and see Mr. Fred
Shingle, that he had something for me. I went
over to Shinale-Brown, and they told me they

had 62.500 units of Italo stock that was coming
from Mr. John McKeon for my benefit. They
presented me with a letter and told me to sign it

to show that they had given the stock to me. I

signed the letter and got the stock." (R. 822, 823.)

And as sho^^ing that there was no connection be-

tween the acquisition by Italo of the McKeon Drilling-

Company's property and the assignment to him of

the stock, on cross-examination, Masoni testified:

"I never had any discussion with Raleigh Mc-
McKeon or John McKeon or Robert McKeon in
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respect to the acquisition by the Italo Coi-pora-

tiou of the McKeon properties. Those men never

at any time asked me directly or indii-ectly to

vote for or approve or acquiesce in the purchase

of the McKeon Drilling Company property by
the Italo, and none of them promised me any
reward in the event the properties were pur-

chased by the Italo. When this purchase was
made and I voted for it. I exercised my free

judgment as to the advisability of acquiidng the

properties, and I was never dominated or con-

trolled or forced into any such acquiescence by
the act of any other person.*******

It was my judgment and opinion at the time

the Italo Petroleum Corporation ot America was
beine <:^rganized and its business beina: brotight

forward by the various steps, throusrh the or-

ganization of the syndicate and the acquiring" of

these various propeities, and the development

thereof, that it was a soimd btisiness and that

the company was and would be a success. I did

what I did in good faith, believing in the sotmd-

ness of the company and its condition. " ' R

.

825-6.)

The evidence of John M. Perata is equally conclu-

sive. After testifying ftilly to the circiunstances imder

which he voted for the merger, including the acqui-

sition of the McKeon DrilHng Company's properties,

and that there never was any miderstandina' that he

was to receive any benefit as a result of the pui'chase

of the ^IcKeon properties, vrith resi>ect to the stock

obtained bv him. he said:
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*'The fii-st tiine I heard of the 62,500 units

of Italo stock that I later received from John
McKeon was when 1 met Mr. McKeon one day
on the street in San Francisco, and we were talk-

ing- about the SNiidicate and things of that t^^pe,

and I told hun about the unfortunate situation

of the syndicate, and he kind of smiled and said,

•Well, don't worry, Johmiy, things will be all

riiiht. You will have a surprise one of these

days'. Then about four or five months later I

received a comnumic<ition from Shingie, Bro\\ii

c^ Company and they told me there was some

stock down there, and I sent a messenuer down,

and I saw 1 had 62,500 units of stock. I siiiiied

a letter as a receipt for the stock, and there was

no secrecy about it." (R. 838-9.)

3. John B. De Maria. De Maria was a director

during the entire period of time mentioned in the

indictment. He received 135,000 shares of common
and 125,000 shares of preferred stock of Italo, aggre-

gating 260,000 shares. Upon the trial of the action

it was conceded by the Ooveniment that this repre-

sented a bona fide sale of 250,000 shares of stock for

$200,000 and the assigmnent to him of an additional

10,000 shares was by way of price adjustment because

of a di'op in the market before delivery of the stock

coidd be eti'ected. No mention of it would be made in

this statement excepting for the fact that notwith-

standing its legitimate character De Maria was sub-

jected to indictment, which indictment was not dis-

missed as to him until long after the trial in the cinirt

below had conunenced.
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The transfer of the stock was thus described by

Robert McKeon:

"With reference to the transfer of some of the

Italo stock belonging- to McKeon Drilling Com-
pany to Mr. De Maria we agreed to sell him some
stock for $200,000. I believe it was 250,000 shares,

and he was to receive delivery of the stock at

the time the stock came out of escrow. That was
the sale to De Maria. He paid $50,000 at one

time, and about the time the escrow was broken

up, he paid us about $90,000. He paid us a total

of $110,000 and gave us his and Tommasini's

note for $90,000. The stock had declined in price,

so we settled up at the end of it for more stock

than he had originally bargained for at the then

market price, that is, to make him out the $200,-

000 I gave him 10,000 more shares at that time;

1 believe those were the figures. It was a pur-

chase and sale and not a donation." (R. 1163-4;

U. S. Ex. 297.)

Items 5 and 40 of U. S. Exhibit 297 confirm the

testimony of McKeon. (R. 595-8.) The dismissal of

the indictment as against John B. De Maria is noted

on page 94 of the record.

4. E. B. Siens. Siens became a director of the

Italo Company on May 28, 1928, and continued as

such director until after the appointment of the re-

ceiver. According to the compilation of the Govern-

ment's witness Goshorn he received 37,057 shares of

common and 32,106 shares of preferred Italo stock.

(U. S. Ex. 297, Items 29 and 50, R. 595-7.) A fur-

ther item of 200,000 shares is noted as being ''F. &

M. Bank loan". (Item 35.) According to Goshorn 's

I
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compilation, showing *' realization" from the disposi-

tion of the McKeon Drilling (Company stock, it is as-

serted that the defendant Siens received $238,277.45,

87,057 shares of common and 32,106 shares of pre-

ferred Italo stock. (U. S. Ex. 297, R. 598.) The in-

justice of this compilation, which was permitted to be

introduced in evidence and observed by the jury is

strikingly shown by these figures. The evidence, with-

out contradiction, demonstrates that Siens never per-

sonally benefited by any of the stock, but it was used

exclusively in comiection with the financing of the

Italo Corporation and for its benefit or the benefit

of the proposed larger reorganization or in comiection

with the properties and business of John McKeon
which, because of lack of proper attention by him,

due to his activities in the proposed reorganization,

were subsequently entirely lost to him. Goshorn con-

ceded upon cross-examination that he merely followed

the stock and the proceeds into the name or possession

of the incli^ddual named, without attempting to ascer-

tain to what purpose it was intended to be devoted, or

how^ it was ultimately used, thus subjecting the indi-

vidual to the imputation that the money and stock

had been appro^^riated to his own use. (R. 611-615.)

With respect to the defendant Siens, John McKeon
testified

:

''All the stuck that went through my account

or Mr. Siens' accomit was all for my accoimt. I

had had a good many dealings with Mr. Siens for

several years.

Prior to getting into the Italo transaction I

came into possession of some land in San Bernar-
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dino, in the city, vacant land in the business sec-

tion, and I built a big business and office building

and a hotel. That work was looked after and
taken care of and worked out principally by Siens.

Siens worked out the deal and handled the money
and the project for me. That building and all was
going on late in 1928 and early in 1929. That work
had connection with the stock which was turned

over by me or ordered turned over by me to Siens

that went through Siens' account. That is the

way I was financing part of that w^ork down there.

I financed that work through the sale of stock

which Siens handled, and those transactions are

all set up in a special set of books that I have

which are not in evidence. Those transactions by
which stock or the proceeds from the sale of stock

went into Siens' possession had no connection

with the making of the sale of the McKeon Drill-

ing properties to the Italo. None of that money
or stock was given to Siens in consideration of

his influencing the making of that deal by the

Italo Company. I had no understanding with him
that he was to receive any of that stock, or any-

thing else, at the time or about the time the trans-

action was made by which the Italo acquired the

McKeon properties." (R. 1225.)

And explaining item 35, U. S. Exhibit 297, reading

^'E. Byron Siens F. & M. Bank Loans 200,000

shares"

John McKeon further testified

:

''(This item) refers to the Farmers & Mer-

chants National Bank loan which I made. I got

the benefit of that loan, and that stock and that

stock was used to secure that note. That 200,000
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shares does not represent any compensation or

contribution which I was making to any of the

officei's or directors of the Italo Corporation to

induce them to defraud the stockholders of that

corporation or to induce them to make the deal by
which they acquired the McKeon properties. That
arrangement had not been made, and there was no

agreement that it should be made at the time that

transaction took place." (R. 1229.)

Upon cross-examination with respect to this item,

John McKeon further testified:

"I sent Mr. Siens to the l)ank to borrow $50,-

000 for me, on my note; I believe they let him
have the $50,000, but they wanted security on

the note, and he said he would furnish them
some Italo stock, and the}^ said they had so much
stock of the Italo in the bank for security that

they wanted something else, so he told them I had
some other stocks in a brokerage house, which I

had a $50,000 equity in, and they said that instead

of lending the $50,000 they would lend $107,000

and for me to have the broker send the stock over

to the bank, and they would pay him the balance

on it and would loan us $107,000, which they did.

In the meantime I believe they allowed us to use

the $50,000 which I wanted to borrow on my note.

The second note was made in the name of E.

Byron Siens. My note was sent to the bank, but I

do not,know what the mechanics of the deal w^as."

(R. 1236-7.)

And that John McKeon was authorized by his

brothers to use stock in connection with his own i*eal

estate transaction difficulties is likewise shown by John

McKeon, who, in testifying to the conversation occur-
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ring between himself and his brothers, relative to the

use of the stock, in part said

:

"Also I was to use a part of that same stock to

straighten out my real estate affairs and diffi-

culties I had gotten into in San Bernardino, and

I needed some money. That was in November,

1928. It could have been the latter part of October

or the first part of NoA^ember, 1928. It was after

October 26, 1928." (R. 1238.)

It was also intimated by the Government that Siens

received some money as a result of the sale by the

International Security Company for the McKeon
Drilling Company of 60,500 units of stock, which were

sold through a Mr. Bentley. As to this matter, John

McKeon testified:

"That stock was sold by Mr. Bentley of the

International Securities Company, but E. Byron
Siens did not get the money derived from that.

We got the money derived from the sales of that

stock. I believe that hax^pened to be credited to

Mr. Siens on our books because I believe Mr.

Bentley was selling stock, as I understood it, for

Mr. Vincent. He got into some difficulty down
here as Vincent's agent and we furnished the

stock to take up the sales that he had made
through the bank escrow, the same as he did in

San Francisco. Mr. Siens looked after the details

of that deal for us to see that the stock went into

the bank and to see that the stock was delivered

to the people who paid for it, and brought the

check over and paid it into oui' office, if I remem-

ber correctly. If that money was later credited to

the account of E. Byron Siens, he gave us noth-

ing for it. He never got credit for that money.

i
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I do not know that any of that money was de-

livered to Mr. Siens directly by Mr. Bentley."

(R. 1240-1.)

This testimony was corroborated by Bentley, a witness

on behalf of the Government. (R. 477-9.)

On December 22, McKeon Drilling Co.. Inc. through

John McKeon, gave Siens an order on Shingle-Brown

Company, to deliver to him 30,636 shares of conmion

and 32,362 shares of preferred Italo stock. With re-

spect to this order, the defendant Brown testified

:

•'They stated to me that the Siens stock had
something to do with the personal relations be-

tween Jack and Siens ; they were partners before,

and as I understood it, in some large San Bernar-

dino real estate transaction and also a breeding

farm for breeding horses." (R. 996.)

On cross-examination, touching upon this order,

John McKeon testified:

"The stock that I ordered given to Siens in

that and other orders and the stock that was de-

livered to Siens was delivered for my account and
benefit. He was to and did perform certain ser-

vices for me, and I was to personally receive the

benefit of those services.

Q. It was not for any services that he had or

expected to perform for the Italo Petroleimi Cor-

poration of America, is that correct ?

A. Well, of course, he had performed a lot of

sei*vices for the Italo. He probably received some
profit on some of that stock. I don't know how
much." (R. 1245.)
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One phase of the Siens situation will be given fur-

ther consideration in discussing the delivery of stock

to Westbrook which he had borrowed. To avoid dupli-

cation it is not here referred to.

5. James V. Westhrook. In February, 1929, James

Y. Westbrook received 2,500 imits of no par Italo

stock which was the equivalent of 25,000 units of $1

par stock. (R. 801.) The stock w^as delivered to him

pursuant to an order dated December 22, 1928, signed

McKeon Drilling Company, by John McKeon, direct-

ing Shingle, Brown & Company, escrow holders, to

deliver to Westbrook 25,000 units of the McKeon
escrow stock. (U. S. Ex. 107, p. 33.) The record dis-

closes without conflict that this stock was given to

Westbrook solely and exclusively by w^ay of adjust-

ment of a controversy over certain shares of Brown-

moor stock occurring between Siens and Westbrook,

claimed to have been ow^ned by Westbrook, and had

nothing whatever to do with the acquisition by Italo

of the McKeon Company properties.

Westbrook was elected a director of Italo on May
28, 1928 (R. 239) but although he was notified of such

election he never attended a board meeting and had

nothing to do with anything transacted at the board

meetings of Italo. (R. 802.) This testimony of West-

brook is corroborated by the minutes of the proceed-

ings of the board of directors of Italo introduced in

evidence by the Govermnent. (R. 240-245.) West-

brook resigned as director on October 16, 1928, when

Lacy and his associates were elected directors. (R.

245-6.)
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Siens, Shores and Westbrook owned 500,001 shares

of stock in the BrowTiinoor Oil Company which stood

of record in the name of E. Byron Siens as trustee im-

der a voting trust. (R. 633; 800.) Westbrook also

claimed one-third of 49,000 odd shares which were not

included in the voting trust control. (R. 800.) At the

time of the sale a dispute arose between Westbrook and

Siens over the foi-mer's interest in the 40,000 odd

shares, as well as over 250,000 Brownmoor shares

which were coming from Monrovia Oil Company pre-

\'iously held by it as security for the $100,000 obliga-

tion of the Brownmoor Comi)any. (R. 800.) John

McKeon acted as arbitrator of this dispute and agreed

with Westbrook that there was due to him 11,600

shares out of the 19.000 odd shares. At the request of

Siens, McKeon agTeed to give Westbrook 25,000 imits

of Italo stock out of the McKeon escrowed stock, when

it came out of escrow, and on November 28, 1928, gave

Westbrook a letter to that effect. (R. 801.) After testi-

fying to the character of the dispute between himself

and Siens regarding this transaction, Westbrook said

:

"Siens wanted to have John McKeon act as

arbitrator of our dispute and McKeon agreed

with me that Siens had made about 11,600 shares

out of the 49,000. I insisted on my share of the

250,000 shares, and after John McKeon had
agreed to i^rotect me for the 11,600 shares we
agreed to leave it to him to settle. Mr. McKeon
agreed to give me Italo stock, which was in escrow,

and gave me a letter for my protection, which is

Exhibit Q in evidence as follows:'' (R. 800-1.)

Exhibit Q, which is the letter above referred to, is set

forth. (R. 801.)

k
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He further testified:

''The 2,500 units of Italo stock that I received

had nothing whatever to do with the Italo-McKeon

deal, but was given to me for the balance of my
interest in the Italo Company by Mr. McKeon at

Siens' request." (R. 802; 812.)

This transaction was called to John McKeon 's at-

tention upon cross-examination and after testifying

that he heard something to the effect that the 250,000

shares of Brownmoor stock held by the Monrovia Oil

Company had been cancelled, he said:

"I don't recall exactly the mechanics about the

matter, although I know there was a dispute be-

tween Siens and Westbrook. I did not make any

inquiry at that time as to whether the other stock-

holders of the BrowTimoor were going to fare be-

cause of the failure to cancel the 250,000 shares of

stock transferred to the Bro\^Timoor Company by

the Monrovia Company in return for the lease. I

had no interest in the deal or in the stockholders.

Westbrook and Siens had a dispute in which they

finally agreed that there should be a settlement

made, and whether that is what it was about or

whether that was the dispute or not, it was no

affair of mine at all. I gave 50,000 shares of stock

to Mr. Westbrook to satisfy him at the request of

Mr. Siens and did not receive any money for that

stock." (R. 1243.)

McKeon also testified that it was agreed at the time

that Siens and Westbrook would finally work out

their owti settlement and that he expected to get the

stock back or be comj^ensated for it, but never was.

(R. 1243.) He characterized the transaction as a
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guarantee that they would adjust their affairs (R.

1245), and then gave the following evidence:

"The fact of the matter was that Siens and
Westbrook, in the future, were to make a settle-

ment and I was to be relieved of the obligation

if they did. If Siens were unable to do so, why,
of course, I had guaranteed a settlement vrith

that stock, and I v.as not under any obligation in

the matter at all. That stock was delivered to

Westbrook to guarantee him that the claim would
be satisfied or otherwise he would have the stock."

(R. 1246.)

Comment was made by the Govermnent upon the

character of receipt that was signed by Westbrook

for the stock. This receipt was a ''stock form" of

receipt that was generally signed by those who re-

ceived any part of the escrowed McKeon stock. Be-

cause of this fact the form and substance of these re-

ceipts will be given attention later under a separate

heading. McKeon stated, however,

"that receipt does not entirely reflect the trans-

action." (R. 1246.)

That the receipt by Westbrook of the stock in ques-

tion had nothing whatever to do with the acquisition

by Italo of the McKeon Company properties is of

course obvious from the circumstance that he never

attended a directors' meeting, knew nothing whatever

about it and never voted upon any project, as well

as for the reasons already given. However, he testi-

fied directly upon this subject and his evidence was

not disputed. (R. 802; 811-2.)
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By its verdict the jury acquitted Westbrook, as

well as his associate, Howard Shores, upon all counts.

6. Maurice C. Myers. Since 1914, except during

the war when he was a Major in the air service,

Maurice C. Myers has been practicing law^ in Los

Angeles specializing in corporation work and oil mat-

ters. Since his return to civil life he has been a part-

ner of William Spalding. (R. 1035.) In the practice

of his profession he had specialized in those branches

of the law relating to corporations including those

engaged in the production and distribution of oil,

haAdng represented many oil companies. (R. 1035.)

Commencing in April or May, 1928, the firm started

to take care of legal matters for the Italo Petrolemn

Corporation in southern California. (R. 1036.) Be-

fore becoming the attorneys for the Italo Company the

firm performed legal services for McKeon Drilling

Company. (R. 1036.) Practically all of the legal

work on behalf of the Italo Company necessarily

rendered in connection with the original consolidation

was given attention by Mr. Myers. These services

were detailed by him wdth great elaboration upon the

trial. Among the services rendered he had drawn by

actual account more than 2000 different contracts for

the company. (R. 1055.) During the rendition of

these services some of the contracts mider which the

properties were acquired were taken in his name, one

of the principal reasons being that

"it was thought adAdsable not to disclose the prin-

cipal especially after it became known that the

Italo was in the market to buy properties." (R.

1038.)

I
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Among other services rendered by him was the prepa-

ration of and attention to the ai)plication for the issu-

ance of the permit by the Corporation Commissioner

authorizing the consolidation and the issuance of stock

for the purpose of acquiring the properties. (R. 1039,

1042-7.)

Myers became a director of Italo on October 16,

1928, at the request of Mr. Lacy when the latter and

his associates were elected directors. (R. 1047-9.)

His only real participation in the matters, how^ever,

was in connection with legal or semi-legal matters.

(R. 1048.) He resigned as a director about the middle

of 1930. (R. 1048.) During the period of approxi-

mately twenty months $35,000 had been paid to Spald-

ing & Myers for legal services rendered on behalf of

the Italo Company. (R. 1049.) According to Myers

"I wouldn't think that that was an exorbitant

fee. In fact, I am sure that it was less than our

actual cost of doing business. I would say that

the expenses ran over $2000 a month and about

75% of the office work was devoted to the Italo

Petrolemn Coi'poration of America during that

period of time begimiing in April or May, 1928,

and continuing on through 1929.'' (R. 1049.)

At the termination of the escrow Myers was given

62,500 miits of the stock in two blocks, one for 32,500

units and another for 30,000 units. (R. 1049.) This

stock was received in April and May, 1929. The 32,500

units were divided between Spalding and Myers. The

second block was divided only partially between Spald-

ing and Myers. (R. 1050.) With respect to the cir-

I
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cumstances under which this stock was received by

Myers, he testified:

"The first time I had any knowledge that I was
going to acquire any stock from McKeon Drilling

Company was early in 1929. My partner had
often asked me what I was going to do about hav-

ing an understandmg for a payment for our

services. I felt as a result of the conversation

with him that I should speak to the officers of the

compan}^, that is, to Mr. Lacy and Mr. Bob Mc-
Keon, who was then over in the office acting as

general manager, and one afternoon when I was
playing golf with Mr. Bob McKeon he said to me,

'Maurice, you have done some very good work and
w^e realize it and I am going to see that you are

well compensated if I have to do it myself.' I

remember that very well because I coimnunicated

that information to my partner. In substance Mr.

Bob McKeon said, 'Your work has been very sat-

isfactory and we appreciate it. We know^ that

you have done a lot of hard work and you have

been badly compensated. You have not been ade-

quately compensated and I am going to see that

you are if I have to do it myself personally.' He
also mentioned at that time that a lot more work
would be asked of us, because at that tune and

for one or two months before, we had been spend-

ing a great deal of time in the way of qualifying

the Italo properties for the proposed McKeon Oil

Company deal which was then i3ending. I never

knew the definite amount of stock we were to get

until the second payment. Mr. McKeon told me
that a substantial block of stock would be set aside

by him alone, if necessary, out of his personal

holdings. I don't know how much the stock would
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amount to until I got the last envelope from the

McKeon office.

Other than the 63,000 units I received from
McKeon Drilling- Company I did not receive any
other stock from the McKeons or the company."
(R. 1050-1.)

With respect to the work done by Spalding & Myers

in comiection with the contemplated consolidation

Iviiown as the McKeon Oil Company, Myers testified:

*'I prepared to draw some contracts, options

and agreements to purchase the various properties

and look into the reports on title and such things

as that. The law firm of O'Melveny, Milliken,

Tuller t\: Myers handled a good deal of that work
also, in comiection with this matter, and I worked
m conjunction with them constantly for months
on that line of work. A report was j^repared by
the firm of O 'Melveny, Tuller t^- Myers, addressed

to the fii-m of Pabner & Company and to Cad-

walder, Wickersham & Taft in New York, pre-

luninarily re])orting upon the properties of the

Italo Corporation of America." (R. 1055.)

When Myers received the stock he likewise signed a

*' stock form of receipt" (R. 1056-7) to which refer-

ence will hereafter he made under a sej^arate heading.

William D. Spalding, a well-known practicing at-

torney of Los Angeles, was Myers' partner. In Au-

gust, 1928, he sustained injuries which for a consid-

erable period inca])acitated him from giving much
attention to their legal practice. (R. 1026.) When
testifying to the services rendered by his firm with
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respect to the receipt by Myers of the stock above

mentioned, he testified:

"During the time that we represented Italo

Petrolemn Corporation of America as their coun-

sel there was never anything that I know of that

was irregular, improper, unethical or unlawful in

the transactions of myself or Mr. Myers with re-

gard to the Italo Petroleum Corporation. I re-

member when Myers received a large block of the

Italo stock. I believe it was about 42,500 units.

Mr. Myers divided that stock with me on an equal

iDasis. Mr. Myers said at the tune that the 42,500

units came from the office of the McKeon Drilling

Company. I do not know if Myers told me why
I received it but I knew it was received as a fee

for services rendered by our firm and it was so

considered by both of us. I felt that our firm had

earned that money represented by that stock."

(R. 1028.)

On cross-examination he further testified

:

"Mr. Myers received some other stock from the

same source, but didn't divide it with me. The

services that we had performed for the McKeon
Drilling Company and the Italo Petroleum Cor-

poration of America were partnership services.

If I had not been incapacitated for a year it would

require a little different distribution. When I

came back to work Mr. Myers and I made what

we deemed an equital)lc division under the condi-

tions that then existed, satisfactory to both of us,

of the i^rofits or assets of the partnership.

Myers told me of the additional stock that went

to make up the 62,500 units." (R. 1031-2.)
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It is obvious, however, that in referring to the

McKeon Drilling Company Spalding intended to re-

fer to the "McKeon Oil Company", on behalf of

which considerable legal services had been rendered

for which no compensation had been paid. (R. 1065.)

The purpose for which this stock was given to

Myers is explained by Robert McKeon, his testi-

mony being:

"The stock was not deli^•ered to Maurice Myers
in payment for attorney's fees as Mr. Spalding

testified. My purpose and my idea in delivering

the stock to Myers was that there were not any

attorney's fees involved in the transaction at all.

The McKeon Drilling Company had paid Spald-

ing & Myers for all services ever rendered, paid

them in cash. I considered that the Italo was

capable and should pay them for any direct ser-

vices that they had done for the Italo, and this

was given just like it was given to the other per-

sons by the McKeon Drilling Company for their

aid in the Italo. That was all. In my mind there

wasn't any consideration of attorney's fees at

all. I do not know, however, how Spalding &
Myers treated that transaction. All I know is

that in my own mind I regarded it as a donation

made, and if they treated it as being payment of

attorney's fees, that is something I know nothing

about." (R. 1163.)

In corroboration of the evidence of his brother on

this subject, John McKeon testified:

"The stock given to Maurice Myers was not

given to him in connection with this transaction.

(Sale of McKeon properties to Italo.) I didn't
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have an}i:hing to do with that, but it was handled

by Bob McKeon. I know that the stock was given

to Myers, and Bob said that we seemed to be

pretty liberal with the stock and that he figured

Maury Myers had worked about as hard and done

as much for the company as anybody else, and

as long as other people were getting the stock he

insisted that Myers should have some, so I told

him to give him what he thought he ought to

have." (R. 1226.)

Inasmuch as Myers was not elected a director of

Italo until October 16, 1928, it is not and of course

could not be claimed that he had anything whatever

to do with the acquisition by Italo of the McKeon
properties. (R. 1163.)

7. Hugh Stewart. As has already been shown,

Hugh Stewart was not elected a director of the Italo

Company until October 16, 1928. He had been man-

ager of the Farmers & Merchants Bank for twenty

years. (R. 1216.) In the early smnmer of 1929 he

received 25,000 shares of Italo stock that belonged to

the McKeons. With respect to this transaction Robert

McKeon stated:

"In the early summer of 1929 this eastern con-

solidation or linancing that Jack had been work-

ing on had pretty definitely come to an end, and
Mr. Stewart was one of the directors of the

Italo Company. I had been genera] manager of

the company since April, 1929, and each month
we were confronted with the payment of around

$250,000 on the purchase price of the properties

that had not been fully paid. We had an audit

made by Peat, Marwick & Mitchell and found
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that the total indebtecbiess of the company at

that time exceeded some $3,000,000, and it was
all current. Vs'e had to adjust it every month,

make what payments we could, and it was a very

hard load to carry. We thought it would be very

possible to fimd those debts in some mamier,

either mider a bond issue or a large loan, and I

told Mr. Stewart if he would assist me in financ-

ing such a loan (he was a banker, and had been

comiected with the Farmei*s cV: Merchants Bank
here for many years and was a financial man,

and I felt he would have nuich more success in

securing or finding such a loan than I would)

I would give him that stock as a present or a

bonus for those services. As a result I agreed

to and did pay Mr. Hugh Stewart 25,000 shares

of stock for his services in endeavoiing to brins^-

about a fimdinu' of the indebtedness." (R. 1164-

5.)

Our imderstandins," is that the integrity of this

transaction is not now challenged by the government.

It eloquently portrays, however, the purpose sought

to be achieved by the McKeons in the distribution of

their stock, and strips each one of those transactions

of any sinister aspect.

8. Shiucjle-Broiru d- Compauij (Fred Shinde and

Horace Bro^^'n). Neither Shingle nor Brown was

ever a director or officer of the Italo Corporation.

Until Wilkes and Vincent took up with Shingle the

negotiations which resulted in the $80,000 loan,

neither had had any connection whatever with Italo

or its predecessor. (R. 883-5.) Shingle subsequently

became manager of the so-called big syndicate to
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which reference has already been made, and when

Vincent & Company failed in its commitments and

jeopardized the financial structure of Italo as a re-

sult of its acti^-ities, he deposited as security for one

of the $300,000 loans made by the Farmers & Mer-

chants Bank, two million shares of syndicate stock,

with respect to which, however, he was indemnified by

John McKeon; and subsequently organized the so-

called broker's pools through which the syndicate

stock was sold and Italo permitted to complete its

purchases.

Both Shingle and Browai likewise rendered inten-

sive service in comiection with the contemplated

larger consolidation which fuially failed of accom-

plishment, and had agreed to subscribe for bonds to

the extent of $5,000,000 and in comiection therewith

had arranged their affairs so as to be financially able

to purchase the bonds. References to the record sub-

stantiating these statements have already been made

in an earlier part of this statement.

Out of the McKeon Drilling Comj^any's escrowed

stock Shingle and Brown, for themselves and their

company, received 450,000 shares of stock. That there

was nothing illegal or illegitimate in the distribution

of this stock to them is made manifest by the record.

Upon this subject Wilkes testified:

"Jack McKeon and I had several discussions

about the New York people and about reorganiz-

ing the Italo Company changing the par value

of the stock and acc[uiring some different and

additional properties and doing our financing the

way we had always done it, through the New
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York banks. About the time the brokers agreed

to take on the financin<i- of the company, Jack
McKeon told me that I could tell Shinde and
Brown that if they took hold of the situation

and cleaned it up and got these properties paid

for and .^'ot the company in financial shape and

raised the three and a half million dollai^s that

was necessary that he vrould see that they got

some compensation." (R. 735.)

And while testifying uj^on cross-examination re-

specting the same $25,000 that Shingle, Bro\^Ti &

Company received out of the sale of some stock, he

testified

:

"Q. Why was it that Fred Shingle & Com-
pany received $25,000 out of this money?
A. That was an arrangement ^^-ith Mr. John

McKeon. It was understood by that time that

Shingle-Brown would get certain shares of John
McKeon 's personal stock for the work that they

had done for the company." (R. 777.)

Shingle, in testifying to a conversation between him-

self and John McKeon before undertaking the forma-

tion of the broker's pool, said:

"We also had a talk T^ith Jack McKeon about

that time. He was very much exercised and said

that something had to be done in order to save

the whole situation and he urged us and wanted

to know if we could not get in and get some of

our local firms to really investigate the company
and form a pool, and he said that if we would

do that he would see that we were compensated.
* * *" (R. 911.)

'^ Prior to that time Wilkes told us that if we
would get into the matter he would see that we
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would be compensated, so that we had that as-

surance from both John McKeon and Wilkes."

(R. 911.)

And in testifying why Shingle, Brown & Company

were to receive one-half of the 961,510 shares of com-

mon stock, being the balance of the so-called McKeon
stock, he testified that

"Mr. Brown told me that he had had a talk

with Mr. Wilkes and that Wilkes told him that

he had a large block of McKeon escrowed Italo

stock which McKeon had given him instructions

to distribute more or less at his disposal to help

out this big deal. After Brown delivered this

letter to me," (U. S. Ex. 11), authorizing the de-

livery of said stock "I had a conversation with

Wilkes in which I asked him about the stock and

he gave me full instructions as to what to do

with it, namely that we were to keep half of

that 961,000 for ourselves and distribute the other

to himself and to his order after taking out for

further distribution that he was still to make.

He told me that the McKeons had sometime pre-

viously to that told him to use the large block

of this stock in furtherance of the big deal and

to more or less use his best judgment where he

thought it would do the best good for the big

deal. This was in connection with what the

broker's pool had done in putting across the deal

plus our commitments for $5,000,000 of bonds.

Wilkes was very appreciative of w^hat we had
done and what he would expect us to do in the

future. With respect to the proposed eastern

deal he told us at that time that negotiations were

very close for that big deal and that he expected

a representative of Palmer & Company would be
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out soon after the first of the year and negotia-

tions would probably be closed at that time."

(R. 919-920.)

And in indicating the reasons why this stock was

not returned when the deal fell through, he said

:

''The McKeon deal did not go through and

we did not give back the 450,000 shares because

we had performed a pretty good service and had

saved this company once, and I think that com-

pensation was given to us for that, probably

more or as much anyvay as standing by and help-

ing finance in the future. We would expect pay

for something we did and we didn't get paid until

after w^e had done the job." (R. 935.)

The defendant Brown, in testifying to a conversa-

tion occurring between himself and John McKeon
when the $600,000 was borrowed from the Farmers

& Merchants Bank, among other things said:

''He said, 'I think you will see that this is

good enough for 3^ou to interest yourselves in it

and your friends,' and asked us if we could not

interest a group of reputable brokers in this

concern, enough to pull it through. Incidentally,

he said if we could do so he would see that we
w^ere not sorry for it. I told Mr. McKeon I

would take it up with Fred Shingle when I got

back to San Francisco." (R. 986-7.)

Upon his return to San Francisco Brown conferred

with Shingle, after which Wilkes again spoke to them.

As to these conversations. Brown testified:

"Our conversations with Mr. Wilkes were

along the same lines, asking us if w^e would get
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together on this thing. He said if we ^Yould he

would see that we were substantially rewarded

somewhere along the line for our services, if we
could pull this thing through." (R. 989.)

When Shingle, Brown & Company sent the McKeon

Drilling Company a check for $86,310.40 received

from the sale of some of the stock escrowed to take

care of the Vincent situation, Robert McKeon sent

them a check for $21,000. Explaining the reason for

this check, Brown testified:

"Robert McKeon had a check made out for

some $21,000 and stated to me that that was a

part of his appreciation for what we had done

in handling this matter. That was the first com-

pensation that Shingle, Brown & Company had

received for the work they had done in the mat-

ter." (R. 1003.)

The check referred to is dated December 14, 1928, and

is a part of U. S. Ex. 104.

He further testified:

'

' I had had no prior understanding with Robert

McKeon of any nature whatsoever that I was

to receive that money." (R. 1004.)

And referring to the distribution of the 961,510

shares of escrowed stock, one-half of which was turned

over to Shingle, Brown & Company, Brown testi-

fied:

"Bob and Jack McKeon told me that that

stock was to be placed at the direction of Mr.

Wilkes to be used by him in compensating us

and also to be used in working out the McKeon
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Oil Company picture. * * * lie told us at the

time that the stock was in compensation for the

services we had performed in getting this deal

through when it looked very bad, and also for

standing in line for the larger picture." (R.

1005.)

And as indicating that he did not believe that the

compensation was excessive, he said:

"I considered that the stock which we received

from the McKeons was compensation for what

we had done in the past and what we were to do

in the future. I considered the compensation

very substantial, but it represented about 10%
of the McKeon Drilling Company's stock, which

I did not consider an excessive cut in considera-

tion of what we have done and were prepared to

do." (R. 1005-6.)

The McKeons, from whom this stock came, appre-

ciated the services rendered and to be rendered by

Shingle, Brown & Company and believed that they

should be compensated by the stock and moneys which

they received. In indicating his belief upon the sub-

ject John McKeon testified:

"With reference to the entries on Exhibit 297

showing approximately 450,000 shares of common
stock going to Shingle, Brown & Company out

of the McKeon escrowed stock, I figured that

Shingle, Brown & Company were very well en-

titled to it, because I realized that if it had not

been for the assistance of Brown and Shingle

in September or earl}^ in October that our whole

project would have collapsed, and I realized at



194

that time that Italo stock, unless the financial

program was worked out, wasn't worth anything,

that it would be selling for ten cents a share or

less. I realized all those things at the time I

agreed to give them the stock. That was at the

time I agreed to use the stock and settle with Vin-

cent. I agreed to it as an inducement to the other

brokers. There was no specification as to the

amount of stock the}^ were to receive, and we all

figured that it would be a very hard job, and

nobody contemplated that the money would come

into the syndicate and that the sale of stock would

be as rapid as it was. We contemplated that

we had a year's or a half year's work ahead, and

they completed it in approximately sixty days.

That was after the company was reorganized

and Mr. Lacy init in and the stock went over

night.

I also knew in December, 1928, that Shingle,

Brown & Company had verbally agreed that they

would finance one-half of the $10,000,000 bond

issue that was then proposed, and that agreement

was all made and entered into before I decided

how much stock I was giving them." (R. 1234-5.)

That none of this stock represented any sinister

understanding, agreement, or transaction is shown by

the evidence of Fred Shingle:

''At or prior to the time that the contract was

made between the McKeon Drilling Company and

the Italo Petroleum Corporation of America, I

did not have any agreement or understanding,

tentative or otherwise, with any one of these Mc-
Keons that I was to get any part of the stock

which was to be issued in consideration of the
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transfer of iflie McKeon Drilling properties to

tbe Italo. At that time or immediately there-

after, when the syndicate was beini^ organized, I

iBrn= '/ ^ ;,-, 4?.. ,.,..,. -.1 ^y r^J^y person that there was

an^ ; _ .t as to anybody^ with the Me-

Ke^-vns, t. ' McKeons would 'jfive any part

- "bodv else. So far as I know,

ei; ^ " - :-tions, whereby the Me-

"T - u^tw', 5<>La «'L LLL:5posed of their stock to

IS persons, those transactions arose at or

- the time they took place, and that is true

with respect to the stock which was transferred

to Shingle, Brown & Company and to me per-

sonaJly. The stock that was transferred to me
personally, was transferred to me for the bene-

fit of my firm/' (R. 929-30.)

It also appears affirmatively that neither Shingle,

Brc'wn, Jones nor Mikel was at any time an officer

- -- '
-

-.^nnected in any way in any official

Lctj.'c;L :_ .. iiL.iciary relationship with the Italo or

with any '"»" ^h- other companies mentioned in the evi-

dence. (E. j^ -i.)

Form, of receipt.

The receipt signed by inost of those who obtained

stock out of the McKeon escrow contained a statement

that the st(X*k was being received

^"for organizin!2:. finamnng or otherwise promoting

the interests of Italo Petroleimi Corporation. '^

It is C(3nclusively shown by the evidence that the form

of this re^feipt was copied froni a receipt which had

been preTioiisly prepai*ed by Maiuice C. Myers for the
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signature of Yincent & Company when certain stock

was turned over to it at the time of the cancellation of

its contract. When Myers received the stock given

him he signed a comparal)le receij^t, his testimony

being

:

"He (Raleigh McKeon) handed me the receipt

to sign and I started to sign it and saw the amomit
of stock just glanced over it hurriedly, and I saw

the last part of it, and I said, 'Raleigh, that's a

fumi}' receipt.' It said, as I recall it, 'for organ-

izing, financing, or otherwise promoting the inter-

ests of Italo Petroleiun Corporation'. I said,

'That's not right, because I was not either an

organizer or interested in the financing or promot-

ing of the Italo Petrolemn Corporation, and most

of my work here has been for the McKeon Com-
pany in the last six months.' He said in sub-

stance, 'This is the receipt I am asked to have

signed, and it is the same receipt that others are

signing-.' I said, 'Well, I guess it doesn't make
any difference.' " (R. 1056-7.)

And after referring to a conversation subsequently

occurring between hunself and his partner, Spalding,

he further testified

:

"During the conversation with Raleigh Mc-

Keon I don't believe I asked him who drew the

receipt or where the wording was secured.

I know now that I drew a sunilar receipt to

that, being a receipt drawn just a fcAv days prior

to that for Frederick Yincent & Com2)any. It was

a receipt for two hundred and some odd thousand

units in order to close up the Yincent contract.

Horace Brown and Bob McKeon both gave me di-

rections to settle u}) the contract vrith. Yincent &
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Company, and in so doing I inclnded a paragraph

which is in identical hmguage with Exhibit 122. I

fonnd that document among the exhibits here."

(R. 1057.)

With respect to this receipt, Robert McKeon, who

typed it, testified:

"Exhibit HHH is a carbon copy of a letter that

I obtained from the files and used at that time.

That part of the letter reading as follows is a

paragraph from which I got the language regard-

ing the commissions, etc. 'for all services of Fred-

erick Vincent & Company and the members and

employees of said company in organizing, financ-

ing and otherwise promoting the said Italo Pe-

troleum Corporation of America'. That receipt,

having been jjrepared by an attorney, I thought it

was a good form and used it." (R. 458-9.)

The carbon copy of the letter referred to (Def. Ex.

HHH) will be found on pages 1071 and 1072 of the

record.

The use of this form of receipt was also explained

by John McKeon on cross-examination when being

questioned about the receipt signed by Westbrook, his

testimony being:

"There was a stock receipt that was used in

that escrow to account for all stock that was de-

livered out. The language of the receipt was

copied from a receipt made by Maurice C. Myers

w^hen he closed up with Vincent. Our office used

that as a copy." (R. 1245.)
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Proposed set-up of transaction

by McKeon Drilling- Company for

federal income tax purposes.

The court's attention has already been directed to

the financial situation confronting Italo, as well as the

McKeon Drilling Company during the fall of 1928;

the action taken by John and Robert McKeon to save

Italo, as well as their own investment, from serious

financial impairment ; the plans proposed by Italo and

themselves for bringing into existence a larger con-

solidation with adequate financial support ; their agree-

ment to devote their stock up to 2,500,000 shares to

such purposes, their actual use of large blocks of such

stock in connection with the Vincent & Company situ-

ation and their commitment to Shingle Brown Com-

pany for the services to be rendered by them in pro-

viding finances to Italo for its requirements. We
have also pointed out that on October 16, 1928, all but

60,500 units of the drilling company's stock was

escrowed, and delivery thereof could not be obtained

by them at least until after the expiration of 90 days.

Having this entire situation in mind, the McKeons

naturally became worried about the amount of the in-

come tax that they would be required to pay to the

Grovernment upon this transaction.

When the drilling company 's properties had been in

fact transferred over to the Italo on October 15, 1928,

it became necessary to verify the liabilities of the

McKeon Company which were assumed by the Italo

and to furnish the Italo with sufficient information to

enable it to set up upon its books the various properties

acc^uired, including depreciation and depletion, as well
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as to close up the drilling company's books as of

October 15, 1928. (R. 1148.) Upon this subject

Edgar P. I^yons, the accountant employed for that

purpose testified

:

''I believe that the McKeon-Italo deal Avas com-
pleted at midnight October 15, 1928, and those

entries were made to relate back to that time.

When Mr. Thackaberiy called upon me to per-

form this accounting work he told me that this

deal had been made whereby the McKeon Drilling

Compan}' were selling their proiDerties to the

Italo, and infoiined me that the Italo were to

assume some $500,000 of their liabilities as of Oc-

tober 15th, and asked me to determine those lia-

bilities as of that date and to get up any other

relevant data from their l^ooks in which the Italo

might be interested. I proceeded to do this. In
a general way this work included the verification

of the liabilities and a detail of their liabilities

which were to be transferred, the preparation of

journal entries to correct the McKeon books with

respect to those liabilities, going over their asset

accomits or detailed well accounts and obtaining

amounts of equipment of various kinds which had
not yet been depreciated and charged off, and in

computing the depreciation and those assets up to

October 15th." (R. 1100.)

See also testimony of Robert McKeon. (R. 1148.)

Having employed Lyons for this purpose, Robert

McKeon discussed with E. A. Thackaberry, secretary

and bookkeeper of the drilling company, the income

tax phase of the deal.

''With reference to the exhibits in evidence

written by Mr. Lyons, I know that Thackaberry
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and I discussed the proposition of the income tax

phase of the deal with the Italo, as to what our

income tax would be. We had received very little

money in cash for our properties at that time, in

fact I think only the sum of $250,000 in cash, and

the Italo Company had our properties, and we had
in exchange for them a lot of notes of the Italo.

We had accepted $300,000 in subscriptions to the

syndicate which we had charged to Jack's accomit,

and the Italo had also assiuned our liabilities but

had not paid hardly any of them at that tune ; so

we were confronted with the situation of how to

set this deal up on our books with a view to the

income tax." (R. 1148, 1149.)

And after having fixed the discussion as occurring dur-

ing the latter part of November (R. 1149) Robert

McKeon j^roceeded:
'

' Thackaberry had been employed in the income

tax department before, and we knew that if we
woidd set that up at a high valuation on our books,

that is, give it the full six million valuation, it

would show a tremendous profit. The leases we
had turned in to the company had been obtained,

many of them, for the privilege of drilling wells

on them. They stood on our books at a certain

cost. Maybe a well that was a big producer would

have cost^$100,000 or $80,000, and that is the way
it stood on our books. The whole group of prop-

erties it seems to me as I remember it had cost us

about $1,500,000. If we set that up at $6,000,000,

we would have to pay a profit on aromid four and

a half million dollars, and we were not at all sure

that our considerations were going to be worth

four and a half million, or we didn't know what

they would be worth. We had the notes of the
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company, we had the stock, and we had those sul>

scriptions to the syndicate, and we did not know

what they would be worth. We talked about it

quite a lot. In fact, I asked him what the posi-

tion woidd be if we would set this up at six mil-

lion as a consideration and made that income tax

i-etum at the time it was due. and if by the fii-st of

the year the Italo could not perform their obliga-

tion and we had to take the piopeities back. Oiu*

stock would then be worthless, and probably most

of our liabilities would come back on oui* hands.

Thackaberry said, *You would probably 2:et a re-

fund on it, but getting a refund from the GoTem-

ment is no easy job.* So I said, 'Well, you get

Lyons over here and you fellows fig:m*e out to pay

the least possible income you can this year on this

deal. The next year or the year aftei-wards the

Govei-nment will come aroimd and recheck our

books and at that time we will know what the

stock is worth, and we A\ill know if the notes are

going to be paid or not, and if the stock is worth

$10 a share, then we are mlliug to pay income tax

on it.* That was about my conversation A\ith

Thackaberry." (R. 1U9, 1150.)

Robert McKeon's testimony respecting his explana-

tion to Thackaberry of what was to be done with the

2.500,000 shares is as follows

:

**At that time I told Thackaberry that two and

a half miUion shares of stock had been tentatively

set aside to l^e used by John for the enlargement

or promotion of the Italo Company or for other

reasons. I was not very defuiite ^vith him as to

what that would l^e used for. At that time we had

put the stock up in escrow to remain for 90 days

or as much time as was necessary, in order to give
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the brokers an opportunity to finance the syndi-

cate and the company, and the escrowing of the

stock was one of the things that we had agreed to

do with the San Francisco brokers when they

came down here and took charge of the financing

and Vincent went out of the company. I told

Thackaberry about that, and that was another rea-

son that that stock might have to remain in

escrow for six months or kmger. There was really

no way as far as I could see that you could do

anything but get the least possible value on the

stock until some future time when you knew what

it was going to be worth and what you might

realize on it." (R. 1150-1.)

Thackaberry then bi'ought Lyons in to work the

matter out as an accountant, and it was not until early

in 1929 that Robert McKeon again heard about the

matter. (R. 1151.)

During the course of his employment, Lyons pre-

pared two docmnents, U. S. Ex. 87a and 87b. (R.

311-3.) These documents were prepared by Lyons

for use in connection with the preparation of the fed-

eral tax return of the McKeon Drilling Company for

the year 1928. (R. 1102.) With respect to the stock

consideration being received by the McKeon Drilling

Company in the preparation of these exhibits, Lyons

assumed that the stock which the McKeon Company

was receiving as part consideration for its properties

was 2,000,000 shares and not 4,500,000 shares (R. 312),

and in estimating the profit which the McKeon Com-

pany would have to pay upon the transaction, he elim-

inated from consideration the 2,500,000 shares which

the McKeon brothers had agreed should be utilized
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for the benefit of Italo, as well as for the other pui*-

poses heretofore mentioned and fixed the net profit to

the McKeon Drilling Company at ''$1,023,929.93".

(R. 311-2.) Upon the docimient thus prepared by

Lyons appeared the following statement

:

''Contract furthei- i)rovides for x:)ayment of ten

notes of $50,000 each, maturing monthly starting

Nov. 15, 1928, and provides for the pa^^nent of

Italo stock to the extent of 4,500,000 shares, of

which some 2,500,000 shares are payable as com-
missions, leaving' 2,000,000 shares as additional

consideration to McKeon Drilling Co.

However, as the financial statement of Italo is

micertain and as it is not definitely kno^vn that

the full consideration will be paid, and as the

market value of the stock is a fictitious value

based upon local supply and demand and is not a

criterion of the real value of the stock, which

value could not possibh^ stand the strain of a))-

sorbins," the block of stock which is i:)ayable under

the contract, it is the belief of the management of

this company that only such i)rofits as result from
the excess of cash received over costs should be

taken into profit and loss.'' (R. 313-4.)

In detailing the circmnstances imder which these

docimients were prepared, Lyons testified:

"About the time I completed my work which is

embodied in Exhibit 87-A, I had a talk with Mr.

Thackaberry about further accounting work to be

done. Thackaberry asked me to do some further

work in connection with advising hun as to how
the whole transaction should be set up on the

books. That is the Italo transaction, the sale of

the assets to the Italo, with respect to the method
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they would return their incouie, compute their in-

come tax later on in the year when it would be

necessary. Mr. Thackaberry told me that the

total consideration to be received by the McKeon
Drilling" Company, according to this contract, was
$500,000 in cash, $500,000 in notes and $500,000 in

liabilities to be assmned, cduI 4,500,000 shares of

stock, of which he stated to me only 2,000,000

shares were to be included in the income of the

McKeon Drilling Company, and that in making
this tax computation I was to make it on the basis

of 2,000,000 shares only. He did not tell me why
only 2,000,000 shares was to be included in the in-

come tax statement. I got all of my information

in regard to the work that I was to do from Mr.
Thackaberry. I do not remember any one of the

McKeons talking to me about it." (R. 1102.)

As to why he used the word " conunissions " in con-

nection with the 2,500,000 shares, he said:

''I do not remember exactly whether I arriA^ed

at the statement as to commissions from what Mr.

Thackaberr}^ told me or from my own conclusions

as to the effect of the transaction that was detailed

to me by him, but I think Mr. Thackaberry re-

ferred to it as commissions. I know that the con-

tract does not provide for any commission. * * *

That reference to the full consideration will not

be paid was talked over between Mr. Thackaberry

and me. I understood that to be a fact at that

time. It was also considered by Mr. Thackaberry

and me that the stock involved was escrowed and
placed beyond the authority or ability of the Mc-
Keons to obtain it at that time. Thackaberry told

me they didn't have the stock, and I remember
him saying it was in escrow." (R. 1104-5.)
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And after testifying to the l)asis at which the value

of the Italo stock was arrived, he further testified

:

"I was not informed as to why the 2,500,000
shares of stock was not at that time retained or
what was to be done with it.

With reference to the commissions referred to

in the statement, to the best of my recollection Mr.
Thackaberry referred to it in that way, and we
were onl}- concerned at that time with making
this C()mi)utation for the tax. I had in mind the
fact that only 2.000,000 shares of the stock was
to be retained, and that 2r^00,000 shares was to be
devoted to some other purj^ose." (R. 1106.)

As to the inirpose sought to be accomplished by him,

he said:

"In arrivinu' at the result fur taxation purjjoses,

I considered a nmnber of different elements. As
a matter of accomiting for tax jjurposes, all money
that comes to a man or to a corj^oration is not tax-

able income. I was endeavoring to arrive at an
equitable adjustment of the transaction for in-

come tax ijurposes upon the basis of the informa-
tion that Mr. Thackaberrv had given me." (R.
1103.)

That the docmnents prepared by him were not final

as far as the McKeon Drilling Company was con-

cerned is further shown l^y this witness' testimony as

follows

:

'*T knew that that smmnarization could be used
for the purpose of makino- entries on the books of
the company unless they changed their mind be-

fore the end of the year or before they filed their

income tax return.'' (R. 1106.)
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Mr. Tliackabeny was a witness called on behalf of

the Government. Upon the question as to the status

of the 2,500,000 shares of stock, he said:

"I did not receive the information that 2,500,-

000 shares were commissions from any person. As
far as commissions are concerned our first reac-

tion to the matter was the tax matter, and the in-

formation that I received was that we were to

receive 2,000,000 shares of stock only. There-

after we treated the contracts, as far as our en-

tries were concerned, and as far as taking care of

taxes, as only 2,000,000 shares. '' (R. 322.)

Robert McKeon knew nothing- whatever about the

statement and computation made by Lyons until early

in 1929. (R. 1151.)

Result of merger and subsequent

activities spelled financial ruin to

McKeons.

When the McKeon Drilling Company turned its

properties over to Italo, it transferred an enterprise

of great value, producing in net profits approxi-

mately in excess of $1,000,000 per annum. (R. 1206.)

John McKeon, as general manager of production of

Richfield, was in receipt of a salary of $100,000 per

annum. (R. 1215.) Robert McKeon was managing

the business and operations of McKeon Drilling Com-

pany. (R. 321.) What the McKeon brothers were

willing to do and actually did with the consideration

received by them from Italo has already been graph-

ically portrayed in those portions of the record to

which reference has already been made.
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The net result of their generosity, their efforts, their

service, their loyalty to Italo and their later endeavor

to bring into existence an organization which, because

of its financial structure, would be impervious to as-

sault, but which was frustrated by the world-wide eco-

nomic depression, was the loss to them of practically

all of their possessions. John McKeon was not only

deprived of all of his properties and resources, in-

cluding his home, but likewise of a position, due to

his ability, paying him a princely salary. Robert Mc-

Keon had left to him the unsecured obligations of

Italo, thus far uncollected. Briefly referring to this

situation, John McKeon testified

:

''In the deal I was able to hold the properties

until away into next summer with(nit fui'ther pay-

ments. I got extensions, and I kept Dabney from
selling any of the stock to ]'eimburse himself, by
giving him a moi'tgage on a very beautiful home
I had, and I got further extensions by adding fur-

ther security, and in the windup I lost the stock

and lost the home and I paid Dabney, I think,

fifty thousand in cash besides." (R. 1222.)

And as showing that the Italo did not participate in

this loss, he further testified:

"Any loss that was suffered in connection with

any of these transactions where I gave away or

transferred for a consideration or not any of this

stock was not charged back to the Italo Petrolemn
Corporation of America. The Italo Corporation

suffered none of the detriment that resulted by
reason of our having lost control or ownership of

that stock and my brothers and myself sustained

that loss and bore it ourselves. The Italo Petro-



208

lemn Corporation acquired all of the McKeon
properties that were involved in this contract and
some other properties, and they had and have title

to all of it." (R. 1230-1.)

Wilkes characterizes the position of John McKeon
as follows:

''The money that was spent by McKeon and
myself on the reorganization of the Italo was all

McKeon 's money, althougii I was acting as his

agent in handling it, when the final settlement

came after the crash in the fall of 1929 it cost us

over a million dollars. A million shares were put

up to secure the note to Dabney Johnson which

were lost and we had to pay a deficiency judgment
of $250,000.

Jack McKeon lost a ranch which cost him in

the neighborhood of $100,000; there was $10,000

paid to Dabney, $10,000 paid to O'Domiell and
including the attorneys' fees, accomitants' fees,

engineers' fees and expenses, and one thing and
another, it ran u]) in the neighborhood of half a

million dollars. That was money that was de-

rived from the sale of the stock received by John
McKeon which had been paid to the McKeon
Drilling Company hy the Italo Petrolemn Cor-

l)oration of America in payment of the proper-

ties of the McKeon Drilling Company." (R.

740-1.)

Robert McKeon smnmarized his x)osition as follows

:

'

' I think that about all I got out of the deal was
the money owing from the Italo Company to the

McKeon Drilling Company, amountmg to about

$350,000 to $400,000, and I have not received that

yet." (R. 1195.)
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This Slim represented the notes which had been

taken by the McKeon Company at the time it turned

its properties over to the Italo Corporation, surrender-

ing the security of these properties, in order to pre-

vent the bank and certain other creditors of Italo

from enforcing payment of its obligations to them.

(R. 1166-7.) The notes were acquired, by Robert Mc-

Keon for his interest in the McKeon Drilling Com-

pany (R. 1195), and as above shown still remain un-

paid. (R. 1195.)

Reputation of McKeons.

The history of John and Robert McKeon, their

character, as well as their reputation in the business

world, is attested by what has been shown in the pre-

ceding pages of this statement. Their excellent repu-

tations, however, were shown during the trial by evi-

dence w^hich was neither disi)uted nor subject to

dispute.

Ralph Arnold, w^ho had known John McKeon for 25

years, and had observed his operations in the oil busi-

ness, testified:

"I consider him one of the best oil production

men there is in the world today. I am familiar

with his general reputation for truth and veracity

and good character and honesty and it is away
above the average. He has a reputation that his

name is better than his bond, because the bond
might depreciate, but I have never known Jack's

name nor him to go back on his word." (R. 785.)

William C. McDuffie, Avho for a number of years

was head of the production department for the Shell



210

Oil Company throughout the entire world, and since

that time has been and still is receiver of the Richfield

Oil Company under appointment by the United States

courts, knew John McKeon since 1912 and had ex-

tensive business relations with him. He said:

''I have always found Mr. McKeon to be honor-

able and upright in his dealings with me, and I

have used him a great deal in drilling contract

wells. During my business relations with Mr.

McKeon I liecame familiar with his general repu-

tation for truth, honesty and integrity in the com-

mimity in which he lives, and so far as I have ever

known that reputation has l)een excellent." (R.

1198.)

John J. Doyle and G. E. O'Donnell, engaged in the

oil producing business, and Greorge W. Walker, chair-

man of the executive committee of the Citizens Na-

tional Bank, all of whom for many years had known

and had business relations with both John and Robert

McKeon, attested the excellent reputation of each of

them. (R. 1198-1200.)

Read in the light of the proven

facts, defendants' correspondence

relating- to revenue stamps in-

nocuous.

The court will recall that prior to October, 1928, in

order to enable Italo to comply with its commitments

arising out of the purchases of property and prevent-

ing the loss of the Graham-Loftus properties, upon

which a substantial part of the purchase price had

already been paid, and to enable the syndicate to pro-

ceed successfully with the sale of its stock through
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which Italo was to be financed, John McKeon en-

dorsed obligations for Italo to the extent of $600,000,

had indemnified Shingle, as syndicate manager, against

loss to the extent of two million shares of Italo stock

and had arranged to utilize sufficient of the McKeon
Drilling Company stock to the extent of approximately

500,000 units for the purpose of taking care of the

Vincent & Company shortage.

We have also connnented upon the conferences that

took place shortly thereafter and during the earty part

of October, 1928, between the three McKeon brothers,

John, Robert and Raleigh, in which the entire situa-

tion was canvassed, and it was agreed that John

McKeon could use iq) to 2,500,000 shares of McKeon
Drilling Company stock for the purpose of protecting

Italo and thereby likewise protecting the McKeon
Company's interest in Italo and bringing into exis-

tence a larger organization adequately financed to take

care of all current obligations.

After testifying to the details of the conversation

(R. 1141-47) with respect to the agreement reached

Robert McKeon testified:

"So Raleigh and I agreed that Jack could use

up to 2,500,000 shares of stock for that purpose.

By that purpose I mean to enlarge the Italo and
make a bigger company out of it. We did not

know exactly how nmch it would take but we told

Jack that he could use the 2,500,000 shares, that

we would be perfectly satisfied for our end of it

if the McKeon Drilling Company retained

2,000,000 shai-es for the purpose of enlarging the

Italo or for his own purpose. He had some affairs

that he wanted to straighten out, some real estate
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interests, and it was our understanding that he

was to have the stock to do with as he pleased for

his own affairs and for the affairs of Italo, includ-

ing the matter of dealing with Perata and Masoni,

the Vincent settlement and anything else that he

thought it was necessary to do." (R. 1147.)

This conference was cori'oborated by John McKeon.

(R. 1213-4.)

On October 26, 1928, for the reasons already dis-

closed all of the McKeon Drilling Company stock then

consisting of 3,440,000 shares of common and 940,000

shares of preferred stock of Italo, were deposited in

escrow with Shingle, Brown & Compan}" for a period

of ninety days, and for such additional time as might

be mutually agreed upon. (U. S. Ex. 98, R. 328-9.)

This escrow terminated on January 24, 1929. Before

its termination—as has already been shown—orders

had been signed directing the delivery of the stock

then remaining in escrow. In comiection with the dis-

tribution of this stock it became necessary for Shingle,

Brown & Company, as escrow holders, to affix to the

stock certificates revenue stamps which, with the reve-

nue stamps previously affixed to the so-called Vincent

stock, aggregated $954.94. Accordingly, on January

11, 1929, in anticipation of the distribution of this

stock bills were sent by Shingle, Brown & Company

to the McKeon Drilling Company, together with a

communication in which it was stated, among other

things

:

"This stock will be transferred into the names
in accordance with the enclosed bills, and upon
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receipt of the stock will be forwarded to them by
registered mail. * * *" (U. S. Ex. Ill, R. 341-2.)

On Jaiiiiaiy 22nd, Thackaberry, on behalf of the

McKeon Drilling Company, responded to the above

conmuuiication as follows:

*'We are in receipt of yonr bill for 4^954.9-1

covering federal stamps on stocks. Does this cover

the stamps for all of the four and a half million

shares or just our part of it ? We would be pleased

if you would send us a little more detail covering

this charge." (R. 342.)

On January 24, 1929, Shingle, Brown & Company,

through L. J. Byers, replied to this conmmnication as

follows

:

"In reply to your conmmnication of the 22nd
relative to our bill for $954.94 covering federal

stamps. Please be advised that Shingle, Brown &
Company originally received in escrow 3,500,000

shares of common stock and a million shares of

preferred stock in the name of Maurice C. Myers
as trustee. We have delivered 60,000 of each

classification to Maurice C. Myers in accordance

with the escrow instructions, which left a balance

of 3,440,000 shares of conmion and 940,000 shares

of preferred on hand which we have transferred

from the name of Maurice C. Myers, trustee, to

the McKeon Drilling Company.
The transfer stamps on this stock on the basis

of 2c per $100 was $876. Later it was necessary

to deliver to Frederick Vincent & Company
198,735 shares conunon stock and 196,035 shares

preferred stock on which the transfer stamps

amounted to $74.94 which, combined with the
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above mentioned charge of $876, makes a total

amount due us of $954.94." (R. 342-3.)

On February 19, 1929, the McKeon Drilling Com-

pany, by Robert McKeon, conunmiicated with Shingle,

BrowTi & Company as follows

:

^

' The McKeon Drilling Company has a bill from
you for something in excess of $900 for revenue

stamps which were used on certain Italo stock.

Would it be possible for you to send us the amount

used on the various stocks issued to certain indi-

\dduals from our escrow so that we can either

bill them for their share or have you do so." (U.

S. Ex. 15, R. 335-6.)

To which Shingle, Brown & Company, by Byers, re-

sponded as follows:

''We wish to acknowledge receipt of j^our com-

munication of the 19th relative to the bill of the

McKeon Drilling Company for $954.94 due Shin-

gle, Bro\Mi & Company for federal stamps. Please

be advised that we are of the opinion that this

charge cannot be passed on to the parties who
received the stock from the escrow account inas-

much as it is the customary ruling in stock trans-

actions for the seller to pay for the federal stamps

and not the purchaser/' (R. 343.)

To this letter the McKeon Drilling Company, by

Robert McKeon, mider date of March 11, 1929 (U. S.

Ex. 116), sent the following connnunication

:

"There has been a good deal of discussion be-

tween this office and yours with respect to bill

for $954.94 for revenue stamps covering all the

stock that was issued in the name of McKeon
Drilling Company.
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Enclosed herewith is our check for $400 in pay-

ment for revenue stamps on 2,000,000 shares that

were actually received by the McKeon Drilling

Company. As you are aware, the balance of the

stock was placed in account of McKeon Drilling

Company only for the convenience of other in-

terested parties. Therefore, we must decline to

pay the revenue stam])s on this stock. Each of

the parties interested should pay for stamps on

that proportion of the stock which he received."

(R. 336.)

That considering the established facts there is

nothing in this correspondence at all antagonistic to

the innocence of the defendants must be obvious. But

as already pointed out the 4,500,000 shares of stock

belonging to the McKeon Drilling Company was trans-

ferred from the name of Maurice C. Myers, as trus-

tee, into the name of McKeon Drilling Company at

the time of the creation of the escrow, viz., October

26, 1928, and after it had been agreed that up to

2,500,000 shares thereof should be utilized for the

purposes indicated.

Under these circumstances the McKeon Drilling

Company rightfully objected to being charged for

the revenue stamps which were to cover the stock

to be utilized for the benefit of Italo, including its

reorganization into a larger enterprise. That this was

the basis upon which this correspondence proceeded

is shown by the testimony of Robert McKeon, wherein

he states:

"I have a cop.y of Exhibit 116 among my
papers. I am familiar with the letter written



216

by myself to Shingle, Bro>Yn & Company con-

cerning certain revenue stamps on certain stocks.

The letter is dated March 11, 1929, and is Ex-
hibit 116. When we put our stock in escrow with

Shingle, Brown & Company on October 26th,

prior thereto when Shingle-Brown and the other

brokers agreed to underwrite and take the under-

w-riting of the syndicate stock or financing of the

syndicate, they insisted that our block of stock

be placed in escrow. They found that the Inter-

national Securities Company had been selling

some stock w'hich we agreed to hold for them
out of our block at a reduced price, and they

had insisted that our block of stock be gotten

out of the way so that it could not be offered

for sale until after they had completed the fi-

nancing of the syndicate. I said, 'Well, let's

just leave it here with Myers, it is in his hands,

and we have not called for it and Ave won't call

for it until such time as you are through'. They
said, 'No, it should be tied a little tighter than

that. It should be placed in escrow'. I said,

'That will be perfectly satisfactory to me, w^e

will place it in any bank that you say'. They
said that there were two reasons really why a

bank is not the best place to escrow it. The first

is that it will cost considerable money to escrow

that large block of stock, and that was not so

much of an item to ask, but it was something,

but the other reason was this : they said, ' If you

put it into a banlv, on some certain day that

escrow^ will expire. We propose to sell our stock

through brokers and there will be many specu-

lators buy the stock or sell short against the

stock, and it will undoubtedly leak out the day

that this escrow will expire, and that this big
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block of stock will continually be overhanging- the

market. We will take it and escrow it ourselves,

hold it in our care, and won't charge anything,

and no one need know the date it is coming out

or anything about it'. So I agreed to that, but

I said, 'In the event that takes i3lace, I want
the stock immediately transferred into the name
of the McKeon Drilling Company'. Up to that

time the stock as delivered to us was all in the

name of Maurice C. Myers, in certificates of dif-

ferent denominations. They were endorsed by
Myers as trustee, and it had been decided by then

that Shingle-Brown were going to get some of the

stock, that Perata and Masoni were going to get

some, and that Vincent was going to get some,

and various other persons, and it was discussed

whether or not we would keep it in that condition,

but I insisted that they were not to get any stock

until they had fully performed the services that

they were expected to perform, that is, Shingle-

Brown were not to get any until they had
financed the syndicate and had fulfilled the obli-

gations of the syndicate to the company. So I

said, 'We will have this all changed into the

McKeon Company's name and then I will know
it is safe there, that nobody is going to get their

hands on it until such time as we decide it is

time for them to have it'." (R. 1153-5.)

It was after the discussion just referred to that the

stock was transferred into the name of the McKeon
Drilling Company. (R. 1155.) That Robert McKeon
should become indignant because of this charge can

be readily understood. It is reflected by his testimony.

He had been ill and shortly after his return from

Honolulu, where he was convalescing, his attention
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was called to the correspondence respecting revenue

stamps amounting to some $900. After looking

through the correspondence he wrote U. S. Exhibit

116. With respect to the reasons persuading this

writing he states:

"I had known that two and a half million

shares of it (Italo stock belonging to McKeon
Drilling Company) had been used or donated by
the Drilling Company, and that some men had
gotten it direct without any cash paj^nent to the

Drilling Company other than whatever indirect

service might have been valuable to the Drilling-

Company, and I was a little provoked about it.

I thought here Shingle-Brown had gotten half

a million shares of this stock, Perata and Masoni

had gotten another half or quarter of a million

shares, which we had given to them, or the Drill-

ing Company had, and, by George ! they at least

ought to be willing to pay the stamps on it. I

said, 'That is carrying things just a little too

far, to come back and want me to pa}^ the stamps

on this stock', so I sat down and wrote this letter

to Shingle-Brown and in it I said, 'As you are

aware, the balance of the stock was placed in the

name of the McKeon Drilling Company only for

the convenience of other interested parties'. I

meant by that language that I was aware that it

had been placed there and eventually had come

into other persons' hands, and I really should

have used 'inconvenience of other parties' be-

cause that stock was placed in the McKeon Drill-

ing Comi3any's name to be held safely and to be

used only if those persons who were to get it

were to help put the Italo over and help Jack on

the final merger of the larger properties. That

is what I meant by that letter." (R. 1156.)



219

Conclusion of statement.

We have endecavored throughout this statement to

furnish the court with a true picture of the record.

While the quotations are principally from the testi-

mony of the defendants' witnesses, this course was

necessary because the Govermnent in the main relied

almost entirely upon record evidence and inferences

therefrom, which, in the absence of explanation, it

claimed could be indulged in. The Government's

points, however, are not glossed over, but on the con-

trary, the pertinent portions of its exhibits and the

testimony of its witnesses are both discussed and

quoted.

In our opinion this statement will be found to be a

full and fair analysis of the evidence, as disclosed by

the entire record, and it is our hope that it will be

helpful to the court, in imderstanding the case in its

entirety, and in giving consideration to the legal

propositions which will be presented to it for its

determination.
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LAW ARGUMENT.

I.

PREJUDICIAL ERROR PRESUMED WHERE APPELLANTS
DEPRIVED OF SUBSTANTIAL RIGHTS.

As will be hereafter pointed out, many rulings were

made by the trial court, which completely disregarded

the substantial rights of the defendants. Before pro-

ceeding, however, to a discussion of the legal propo-

sitions upon which the appellants John and Robert

McKeon rely on this appeal, we believe it proper to

call this court's attention to some of the recent de-

cisions with which it is undoubtedly familiar, which

require the reversal of judgments in cases wherein,

even in solitary instances, defendants have been de-

prived of their substantial rights by a violation of the

rules governing the admission and rejection of evi-

dence.

We are pursuing this course because for a period

following 1919, decisions were rendered by the Cir-

cuit Courts of Appeal in other districts, which were

apparent authority for the proposition that, where a

trial court committed an error in the introduction or

rejection of evidence, the burden was cast upon the

unsuccessful litigant to establish, by a consideration

of the entire record, that the error was prejudicial.

These decisions, however, have . been deprived of

their authority as precedents by the decision of the

U. S. Supreme Court in the case of WiUiams v. Great

Southern Lumber Co., 277 U. S. 19 ; 72 L. Ed. 761, 767.

The action was brought by the widow of a colored

man against the members of a so-called ''vigilance

committee" to recover damages for the killing of her
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husband, which had occurred during- a controversy

between labor unions. Plaintiff complained that a

conspiracy had been entered into between the lumber

company and the remaining- defendants to create a

mob, the members of which, under the guise of a

peace posse, were to kill jilaintiff's husband. The

homicide occurred during an attempted arrest of the

deceased. Over the objections of defendant, the trial

court permitted plaintitf to testify that about fifteen

minutes after the killing, one of the volunteer police-

men said that ''They had come to kill Lem Williams".

The court held that the statement was improperl}^

admitted, because it was made after the conspiracy

had accomplished its purpose. In reversing the judg-

ment, the court, in commenting upon the question as

to whether the error justified the reversal, said:

"Since the passage of this act (Judicial Code,

269, as amended) as well as before, an error

which relates, not to merely formal or technical

matters, but to the substantial rights of the par-

ties 'is to be held a ground for reversal uxless

it appears from the whole record that it was
harmless and did not prejudice the rights of the

complaining party'." (Italics ours.)

The above language appears first in the words of

Justice Stone in the case of U. S. v. River Rouge

Imp. Co., 269 U. S. 411, 70 L. Ed. 339, 346, and is

there prefaced by a statement which recognizes the

earlier conflict of decisions of various Circuit Courts

of Appeal, in the following words

:

"We need not enter upon a discussion of the

divergent views which have been expressed in
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various circuit courts of appeal as to the effect

of the Act of 1919."

In Vickshurg v. O'Brien, 119 U. S. 99, 30 L. Ed.

299, 300, it was held that an error entitles the ag-

grieved party to a reversal unless it appear so clear

as to be beyond reasonable doubt that the error did

not and could not have prejudiced the parties'

rights.

See also:

Deerifs etc. v. Cray, 5 Wall. 795, 18 L. Ed. 653,

657.

In the case of Coulston v. U. S., 51 Fed. (2d) 178,

182 (10th Circuit), the judgment was reversed on the

ground that the prosecuting attorney overstepped the

bounds of cross-examination of the defendant. The

appellee argued that

"the jury convicted upon abundant evidence and
that the errors complained of were not preju-

dicial."

In answering the argument, the court said:

"The same contention was made to the Eighth

Circuit Court of Appeals many years ago, and

in response thereto that court (Sanborn, Van
Devanter, and Philips sitting) said; 'The zeal, un-

restrained by legal barriers, of some prosecuting

attorneys, tem])ts them to an insistence upon the

admission of incompetent evidence, or getting

before the jury some extraneous fact supposed

to be helpful in securing a verdict of guilty,

where they have prestige enough to induce the

trial court to give them latitude. When the error
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is exposed on appeal, it is met by the stereo-

typed argument that it is not apparent it in

anywise intiuenced the minds of the jury. The
reply the law makes to such sui^gestion is: that,

after injecting- it into the case to influence the

jury, the prosecutor ought not to be heard to

say, after he has secured a conviction, it was
harmless. As the appellate court lias no insight

into the (leliberatious of the jury room, the pre-

sumption is to be indulged, in favor of the liberty

of the citizen, that whatever the prosecutor,

against the protest of the defendant, has laid

before the jury, helped to )nake up the weight of

the prosecution tvhich resulted in the verdict of

guilty'." (Italics ours.)

The latest decision on the point.

In addition to the clear definite expression of the

Supreme Court on the point, w^e find the rule, com-

prehensively discussed and exactly defined, in one of

the latest Circuit Courts of Appeal decisions, that of

the tenth circuit in the mail fraud case of

Little v. U. S., 73 Fed. (2d) 860,

in which there w^as before the coui*t the error of the

trial court, in permitting the court reporter to read

parts of the record to the jury in the absence of the

defendant. The rule was there invoked, in answer

to the District Attorney's contention that the error

was harmless. The court recognized, as did the Su-

preme Court in the Williams and River Rouge cases

(supra), that there w^ere decisions rendered since the

amendment to Section 2692 of the Judicial Code, hold-

ing that the burden rested upon the appellant to
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''establish affirmatively both substantial error

and resulting prejudice".

But it then calls attention to a number of cases fol-

lowing the amendment, in each of which

"a verdict was set aside because it did not affirma-

tively appear that no prejudice resulted from

the error"

and then adds

:

"No case has been cited, before or since the

amendment, where substantial error occuri-ed

which, within the ran2,e of a reasonable j^ossi-

bility may have affected the verdict, where the

appellant was required to prove that it did in-

fluence the jury." (866.)

For, said court, the

''appellant is not required to explore the minds

of the jurors in an effort to prove that it did in

fact influence their verdict."

It would be an anomaly if the prosecution in a

criminal case could violate the constitutional rights

of an accused for the purpose of securing: a convic-

tion, and would then be pei-mitted to urge in support

of such conviction that the eiTor was not prejudicial.
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the corporations at a salary of $1000 per month : that

between January. 19!29. and November, 1930. they

paid Carpenter $34,946.48: that thereafter Carpenter

was appointed receiver in equity of Italo Petroleum

Corporation of America: that sub8ei]uently ouster

proceeding's were tiled against him because of his

connection, as attorney, with the McKeons and their

corporations, but that Carpenter successfully resisted

the ouster by his affidavit denying the relationship,

and that he still remaiiis as receiTer (R. 168-169)

:

that since the ouster proceeding said Carpenter

"has manifested and still is manifesting an ani-

mosity toward the said defendants MeKeim and
on many oit^asions used his information and
knowledge of the business aifairs of said Mc-
Keons and their corporations to further his posi-

tion as receiver. * * *" (R. 169.)

That as receiver, the said Carpenter institiited a
suit in the District Court of the United States^ for

the Soudienk District of California, Central Division,

against a number of defendants inehidin^ the iqypel-

lants McKei^n. iind that in these said pn^ceedings

which fell before the Honorable Gei-krge Cv^>sgrave,

judge of said cvmrt. the attorneys representing said

Carpenter stateii in o^n^n cv^urt that

** Robert S. McKemi is the irreatesr conspirator

of them all acainst the ItaK^ :vnd I can pnn-r^ \t
'•

(R. 170.^

Thar rhe srartnuoii: >.- -.y.-.iv- \v,..< --'.v^-.-.-i^'f-J. br ';•:'><'

iiu ''"^'^ ^'^ - \
''- -- '
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''charge of conspiracy contained in said state-

ment against Robert S. McKeon and the other

defendants herein was believed and it had, as a

statement of fact, an influence upon the judicial

conduct of the said Judge Cosgrave, for * * *

the injunction as prayed for was issued by said

court and * * * made permanent." (R. 170.)

That in the complaint so filed by said Carpenter it

was alleged in substance upon information and belief

"that the persons named in the indictment herein

as defendants in said action unlawfully conspired,

. confederated, schemed and connived to cheat and

defraud the Italo Petrolemn Corporation out of

divers srnns of money etc." (R. 171.)

and that such defendants, who were officers or agents

or attorneys for said Italo Petroleum Corporation,

conspired to purport to act for the corporation, but

that they did in fact act on behalf of themselves in

consummation of the alleged fraud, and conspired to

"fraudulently, unlawfully and secretly take and
appropriate etc. * * * large sums of money,

property, etc. * * * of said Italo Petrolemn

Corporation" (R. 171)

and that in pursuance of said fraudulent design, they

agreed to direct the purchase by the said Italo Petro-

leum Corporation from McKeon Drilling Co., Inc.,

of certain of its assets referred to in said complaint,

and that the transactions referred to therein ivere the

same transactions as were referred to in the indict-

ment herein. (R. 171-172.)
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Complaint in injunction case "re

"

reports of gfovemment agents.

And after describing further allegations of Clay

Carpenter in said complaint, in which Carpenter

stated that he had been permitted to peruse portions

of a certain report made by the Department of Jus-

tice of the United States covering the activities of a

nmnber of persons and corporations including appel-

lants (R. 172) and that from said report he was ad-

vised

"of facts indicating that secret profits had been

taken and received by persons, firms and cor-

porations, the exact identity of said peisons be-

ing undisclosed and unknown to said plaintiff."

(R. 173)

;

It is asserted upon information and belief, that the

report referred to by said Carpenter was the report

of the Post Office Inspectors of the United States of

America and the accountants of the Bureau of In-

vestigation of the Department of Justice

"who were assigned to the investigation and
prosecution of the indictment of this case, and
that said reports purport to contain a statement

of the facts and evidence upon which the govern-

ment expects to rely for the prosecution of the

indictment." (R. 173.)

Judge James prejudiced, and
/

such prejudice transmitted to

Judge Cosgrave.

The affidavit then proceeds to state: that the facts

of the relationship of attorney and client, between

said Carpenter and the McKeons and their corpora-
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tions, together with Carpenter's denial of such rela-

tionship, were communicated to the Hon. William P.

James, judge of said court by a letter from one

Richard Powers, an attorney at law^, and that Judge

James thereby became so prejudiced against McKeon
and their associates in the Italo Petroleum Corpora-

tion, that Carpenter

'Svas and still is able to forestall any action that

the said Judge James might have taken or will

hereafter take," and that Judge James, by such

false and distorted statement of fact, and by Car-

penter's indicating to said judge that he was with-

out blame and is being persecuted, has become

prejudiced, and that that prejudice "amounts

to personal bias and prejudice of said Judge

James * * * and that the said prejudice now
abides in the mind of said Judge James against

these defendants and that such personal bias and

prejudice has been coimnunicated by said Judge

James to said Judge Greorge Cosgrave and for

that reason, among others, this affiant believes

that the said Judge Cosgrave has a personal bias

and prejudice against this affiant and his co-

defendants and against their joint and several

defenses." (R. 173-174.)

Government agents' comment on

Judge James' attitude.

That the Government officers engaged in the in-

vestigation and prosecution of this case have stated

that

"if it had not been for Clay Carpenter, acting

through Judge James, the 'Italo case' meaning

thereby the ])resent proceeding, would not be

going to trial at the present time and might not

go to trial at all." (R. 174.)
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Divet employed by McKeons,
and takes up case. J. F. T. O'Con-

nor becomes Comptroller of Cur-

rency.

That Neil S. McCaithy, one of the attorneys in this

proceeding for the McKeons, on April 13, 1933, dis-

cussed the date of trial with Judge James and re-

quested a continuance because he (McCarthy) was not

going to take an active part in the trial and that it had

been arranged for J. F. T. O'Connor to try the case

for the McKeons, but that O'Connor was considering

accepting the position of Comi)troller of the Currency

of the United States; that O'Connor would not accept

the appointment if sufficient time were not allowed

for other counsel to prepare the case which involved a

great amount of work, but that Judge James insisted

that the cause be tried during the then term of court.

(R. 175.)

Rumor of political intrigne in

case passed on to Judge Cosgrave.

That McCarthy stated he had no objection to that,

but desired the cause set for June 6th

"in accordance with the agreement with the At-

torney General".

"Then Judge James stated to the effect that the

case was in Judge Cosgrave 's department and he

would not interfere with it, except that he. Judge
James, wanted it tried during this term. Judge
James stated that statements had been made to

him that it was planned through political influ-

ence to have the trial of this case postponed and
finally disposed of. He stated also that it had
been stated to him that the McKeons had stated

that they were going to have Carpenter removed
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as receiver of the Italo Corporation." (R. 175-

176.)

That Carpenter had urged Judge James that the

trial of the case be had at the earliest possible time

"and affiant further believes that the aforesaid

information received by the said Judge James has

been by said Judge James related to the Hon-
orable George Cosgrave, judge of the above en-

titled court

and by reason thereof the said Judge Cosgrave has a

personal bias and prejudice against affiant and his

codefendants in favor of the prosecution. (R, 176.)

Judge Cosgrave believed story of

political influence being sought.

That Judge Cosgrave then believed that defendants

were using or attempting to use political influence to

secure a dismissal of the indictment, and in addition

received information as to alleged facts and circum-

stances connected with the transactions involved in the

indictment resulting in personal bias and prejudice

on his part. (R. 176.)

Conference in Judge Cosgrave 's

chambers.

That a conference w^as held in the chambers of Judge

Cosgrave on or about May 2, 1933, at which the attor-

neys for the McKeons and the attorneys for other

defendants, together with representatives of the

United States Attorney General and the United States

District Attorney were present, at which conference

Judge Cosgrave was advised that O'Connor had ac-

cepted the appointment as Comptroller of the Cur-
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rency, and that A. Gr. Divet was substituted in his

place; that Divet had come from Washington D. C.

where the Attorney General of the United States had

advised him that the case would not be tried prior to

June 6, 1933. (R. 177-178.)

Judge Cosgrave repudiated At-

torney General's agreement and

accused defendants of improper

motives.

That Divet stated to Judge Cosgrave that he had

accepted the employment because of this understand-

ing with the Attorney General ; that the Special Assis-

tant Attorney General, James Wharton, also informed

Judge Cosgrave, that he had been but recently assigned

to the case ; that he understood the case was not to be

tried until June 6th, but he could be ready if it was

continued for one week to May 23 (R. 178) ; that the

said Judge Cosgrave

''thereupon intimated that there was some irregu-

larity or improper motive in Attorney Divet act-

ing as counsel for any defendants in the case, by
reason of the fact that he, the said attorney Divet,

had formerly been a member of the staff of the

Office of the Attorney General of the United
States ; that he, the said Judge Cosgrave, believed

that Mr. Redwine was qualified and competent to

try the case; that he did not understand why it

was necessary to send a special prosecutor to Los

Angeles to try the case" (R. 178-179)

and that thereupon the said Redwdne informed Judge

Cosgrave that he had been removed from the case and

had thereupon resigned as assistant United States

Attorney. That then,
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"The said Judge Cosgrave stated in substance

and effect that he did not dare or would be afraid

to continue the trial of the said case; that the

request for the continuance of the trial of said

case to^ June 6, 1933, was refused and that the said

case would proceed to trial on May 16th." (R.

179.)

Judge Cosgrave biased aguinst

defendant.

That the reason for Judge Cosgrave 's remark was

that he

''had been informed in substance and effect that

there had been political intrigue used by these

defendants or some of them to have the trial of

the said case postponed for an indefinite period

of time" (R. 179),

and that

"Judge Cosgrave believed that the request * * *

was being made as a part of said plan" (R. 179),

and that

"the information received by Judge Cos2:rave has

created in his mind a personal bias and prejudice

against the defendants" (R. 179-180),

and further

"that by reason thereof none of the defendants

herein could, or would, receive a fair or im-

partial trial before the said Judge Cosgrave" (R.

180),

and further

"that the said Judge Cosgrave is prejudiced and
biased in favor of the plaintiff herein." (R. 180.)
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May 9th meeting- of counsel in

Judge Cosgrave's courtroom.

That upon May 9, 1933, counsel for some of the

defendants were requested to be present in the court-

room of Judge (yosgrave, at which time the case was

called and Judge Cosgrave stated that he understood

that there were matters to be presented to the court.

That thereupon A. Gr. Divet, counsel for defendants

McKeon, in the presence of the prosecuting attorneys

said to the court that the Attorney Greneral of the

United States had entered into an agreement with

J. F. T. O'Connor to the eifect that if said O'Connor

would accept an appointment to the position of Comp-

troller of the Currency of the United States, that the

trial of this action would be continued to the 6th day

of June, 1933, in order to permit the said A. G. Divet

to take over the law practise of the said J. F. T.

O'Connor and allow^ him sufficient time to prepare said

case for trial. Had it not been for such agreement,

O'Connor would not now be Comptroller of the Cur-

rency and Divet would not be in Los Angeles taking

over O'Connor's law practice. That Divet stated to

Judge Cosgrave upon his honor as a lawyer that he

could not properly prepare the case by the time set

for the trial and asked that the trial be continued until

June 6th. (R. 180-181.)

That thereupon Judge Cosgrave stated that he

understood the matter was brought up on the calendar

to enable the attorneys to eliminate collateral or im-

material matter from the issues to save time, and that

James Wharton, one of attorneys for the plaintiff said

that he had been engaged in the investigation of and

in familiarizing himself with, the case, and that he
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expected to eliminate some of the evidence and dismiss

the indictment as to some defendants, and he sug-

gested the case be continued until May 23, 1933. (R.

181-182.)

Judge Cosgrave expresses lack of

faith in veracity of counsel for

defendants McKeon.

That Divet then stated that he would still need the

additional time and Wharton said that he withdrew

his objection to continuing the trial to Jmie 6th. (R.

182.)

That

*'thereupon the said Judge Cosgrave stated in

substance and effect that he was not impressed

w^ith the statement of counsel for defendants that

he required at least until the 6th of June, 1933,

to properly prepare the case for trial and prop-

erly represent his clients ; that he thought that the

trial of the said case could be, and should be, had

at an early date, and that the time required for

the trial thereof could be and should be materially

shortened and stated that mail fraud cases walked

like spectres through the courtroom and it was

necessary to eliminate the fringes of the case in

order to expedite the matter and that, in his

opinion, the suggestion of the plaintiff that one

week be allowed for this purpose was, in his

opinion, justified, and he thereupon set the matter

for trial as of May 23, 1933." (R. 182-3.)
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Grovemment agents desired case

tried by judg-e friendly to prose-

cution. Transfer from Judge Mc-
Cormicks Court to Judge Cos-

grave's Court.

That affiant had just been int'ornied that while this

cause was pending before Hon. Paul J. McCormick,

and during the trial of another case imder the mail

fraud statute, a govermnent employee, engaged in the

investigation and preparation for trial of this case

said that they desired this cause to be tried before a

"more friendly judge", meaning thereby a judge

friendly to the prosecution, and that thereafter the

cause was transferred to Judge Cosgrave, and for that

reason also affiant believes that Judge Cosgrave had

a personal bias and prejudice in favor of plaintilf.

(R. 184.) That the govermnent officers and employees

who were interested in the investigation and prosecu-

tion of the U. S. V. Shoicalfer case and also in an

investigation and a prosecution of this case, said at

the close of the Sho waiter case that if they had re-

ceived more cooperation from the judge in said case,

they would have convicted all of the defendants.

Thereupon affiant stated his belief that by reason of

this information, he believed that Judge Cosgrave is

more friendly to the prosecution of such cases than

Judge McCormick who was fair and impartial and

that Judge Cosgrave would cooperate with the prose-

cution in the matter (R. 185) ; that judge Cosgi'ave

in addition to having a personal bias and prejudice

against the defendants and each of them ' * is personally

biased and prejudiced in favor of the United States

of America, the plaintiff herein, its officers and em-
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ployes assigned to the investigation and prosecution

of this case". (R. 185.)

Judge's ground for refusal to

withdraw.

The trial judge in giving his sole ground for re-

fusing to accede to the affidavit, said

:

'^The affidavit is entirely lacking in facts that

in any degree support a fair inference of bias

and the trial will therefore proceed." (R. 188-9.)

That the matters set forth in the affidavit legally

disqualified Judge Cosgrave from presiding at the

trial must be conceded.

Functions of the trial judge in

passing upon sufficiency of affi-

davit of prejudice.

It has been definitely established that a trial judge

of a federal court, in passing upon an affidavit of

prejudice addressed to him, must accept all of its

statements as true, and that the only function which

the trial judge can exercise, with reference to the

subject matter of the affidavit, is to determine whether

or not, assuming the facts stated as true, there is con-

tained in the affidavit a statement of bias or prejudice.

Berger v. U. S., 255 U. S. 22, 65 L. ed. 481

(certified in the Supreme Court by C. C. A.

9th Circuit)

;

Nations v. U. S., 14 Fed. (2d) 507 (8th Circuit)

(certiorari denied by Supreme Court), 273

U. S. 735, 71L. ed. 866;

Chafin V. U. S., 5 Fed. (2d) 592, 593 (certiorari

denied by Supreme Court), 70 L. ed. 407;
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American BraJie Shoe Company v. Interhoro

R, T. Co., 6 Fed. Supp. 215 (New York Dis-

trict Court).

The sole question to be determined by this court,

therefore, is whether the matters alleged in the affi-

davit are sufficient to bring the case under the purview

of section 21, Judicial Code, requiring the affidavit to

show

:

"(A) That the judge * * * has a personal

bias or prejudice either against him (defendant)

or in favor of any opposite party (plaintiff)";

and (B)

''the facts and reasons for the belief that said

bias or prejudice exists."

The affidavit charges "that the

judge has a personal bias or prej-

udice
'

' against defendants and in

favor of plaintiff.

In this regard the affidavit alleges

:

''that affiant believes and alleges that the

Honorable Judge Cosgrave, before whom this ac-

tion is now pending, has a personal bias and
prejudice against him and his codefendants John
McKeon, Robert McKeon, R. B. McKeon, * * *

and other defendants, and each of them, and in

faA^or of the govermuent. " (R. 167.)

And again:

"This affiant believes that the said Judge Cos-
grave has a personal bias and prejudice against
this affiant and his codefendants and against their

joint and several defenses and in favor of the

government." (R. 174.)
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The affidavit states the reason for

the belief of the affiant as to the

bias and prejudice of Judge Cos-

grave.

It is, of course, impossible for a party litigant to

read the mind of a trial judge for evidence of bias and

prejudice against him. He is only required, there-

fore, to set forth in the affidavit the facts, upon which

his opinion as to the judge's bias are based. Further-

more, the facts set up in the affidavit need not be al-

leged with the particularity of an indictment.

Nations v. U. S., 14 Fed. (2d) 507 at 509.

Three sets of facts charged.

The affirmations in the affidavit of prejudice as to

these facts may be separated into three classes, viz.:

1. Those setting up the facts upon which is

based affiant's belief that Judge Cosgrave has a

personal bias and prejudice against the de-

fendants
;

2. Those stating the facts which caused af-

fiant to believe that Judge Cosgrave was preju-

diced in favor of the prosecution ; and

3. Those which were offered for the purpose

of establishing acts and conduct of Judge Cos-

grave which demonstrated the existence of such

bias and prejudice.

We will therefore address ourselves to the matters

stated in the affidavit in the order stated.
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I. Facts alleged supporting affiant's

belief that the trial judge was

prejudiced against defendants.

(a) That animosity arose in the mind of Clay

Carpenter, Receiver of Italo Petroleum Corporation

of America against the defendants and particularly

against the defendants John McKeon, Robert McKeon
and R. B. McKeon through conflicting affidavits made

by Carpenter on the one side and by the McKeons on

the othei', in the ouster proceedings in which it was

sought to remove Carpenter, as Receiver (R. 167-169)
;

(b) That thereafter Carpenter, as Receiver, filed

an equity suit against the defendants herein to en-

join certain of the defendants, including Robert S.

McKeon and others from disposing of notes secured

by them from Italo Petroleum Corporation growing

out of the sale of the property of the McKeon Drilling

Co., Inc. to Italo Petrolemn Corporation (R. 169-

170)

;

(c) That in the court proceedings of said case

which came before Judge Cosgrave, based upon a

comi^laint i)i which the same conspiracy teas charged

as was char(fed in the indictment before this court,

Carpenter's attorney stated in open court that:
* 'Robert S. McKeon is the greatest conspirator

of them all against Italo, and I can prove it."

and that said statement prompted by false informa-

tion tvas 'believed by Judge Cosgrave and influenced,

him in granting the injunction against the McKeons
as prayed for. (R. 170.)

(d) That in the said complaint filed by said Car-

penter against the said defendants, Carpenter alleged
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that he had had access to the report of the Depart-

ment of Justice coveriim- the activities of the defend-

ants herein, and was there advised that secret profits

had been taken, which charge was, of course, before

Judge Cosgrave on the heaiing- of said injunction.

(R. 172-173.) (The affidavit likevvise states that the

reports referred to in the pleadings in said action are

the reports of the jjostoifice inspectors and Depart-

ment of Justice investigators which were the basis of

the indictment in this case.)

(e) That Carpenter by use of a letter written by

one, Powers, an attorney at law, to Judge James of

the same District Court, and by false and distorted

statements of fact, and by intimating to Judae James

that he was without blame and was beins," persecuted,

created in Judge James" mind a prejudice against the

McKeons and other defendants, and that the personal

bias and prejudice of Judge James has been com-

municated by hun to Judse Cosgrave, and that as a

result affiant believes that Judge Cosgrave has a suni-

lar bias and prejudice. (R. 173, 4.)

(f) That Xeil S. McCarthy, comisel for the

McKeons in their defense as'ainst the indictment

herein, was told by Judse James that the case had to

be tried during the then term of court : that he would

not interfere with Judoe Cosarave's handlina' of the

matter, except that he wanted it tried during the then

term because statements had been made to him (Judge

James) that it was planned through political inter-

ference to have the trial postponed, and finally dis-

posed of, and that he had been told that the McKeons
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had stated that they wei'e going to have Carpenter

removed as Receiver. (R. 175-6.)

(g) That Carpenter had urged Judge James to in

turn urge that a trial of the case be had at the earliest

possible moment, which information was by him re-

lated to Judge Cosgrave, thereby creating in the mind

of Judge Cosgrave a personal bias and prejudice

against the defendants in favor of the plaintiff. (R.

176.)

(h) That Judge Cosgrave believes that the de-

fendants or some of them have attempted to exercise

or exert political influence, and that this fact has

created in his mind a bias and prejudice against the

defendants. (R. 176.)

II. Facts alleged in support of af-

fiant's belief that the trial judge

is prejudiced in favor of the

prosecution.

(a) That this cause was first pending before the

Hon. Paul J. McCormick, one of the judges of said

District Court, and while so pending before him, an

employee of the plaintiff, engaged in investigating

the case and in preparing it for trial stated that the

posecuting officers desired to have the trial before a

more friendly judge, meaning a judge more friendly

to the prosecution than Judge McCormick, and that

thereafter the cause was transferred to the court pre-

sided over by Judge Cosgrave.

(b) That about the same time following the ver-

dict in the case of V. S. v. Showalter, tried before

Judge McCormick, government officers and employees

engaged in the prosecution of this case stated that if
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they had more cooperation from Judge McCormick in

the Sliowalter case, they would have convicted all of

the defendants. (R. 183.)

(c) That the govermnent officers believed that

Judge Cosgrave would cooperate with them in the

prosecution of the defendants. (R. 185.)

III. Facts showing that Judge Cos-

grave, prior to the filing of the

affidavit, had shown bias and

prejudice against the defend-

ants.

(a) That upon the arrival of Divet in Los Angeles

from Washington, D. C, to take the place of O'Con-

nor, Judge Cosgrave was advised that the Attorney

General of the United States had agreed with the

said O'Comior that if O'Connor would accept the

appointment of Comptroller of the (Currency, he, the

Attorney General, would stipulate to a continuance

of the trial of said cause until June 6, 1933, to enable

Divet to i)repare hunself therefore, but that in face

of these facts and despite the further fact that the

special representative of the Attorney General who

came to Los Angeles to prosecute the case, and who

himself required additional time, raised no objection

to the continuance to June 6th, the trial judge refused

to grant such continuance. (R. 177-9.)

(b) That at a conference held in Judge Cosgrave 's

chambers on May 2, 1933, Judge Cosg]*ave intimated

that there was some irregular or imx)rope]* motive in

Attorney Divet acting for the defendants, because he

had been formerly a member of the Attorney Gen-

eral's staff, and also that he. Judge Cosgrave did not
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see why the local xVssistant United States Attorney

could not try the case without help of a special As-

sistant Attorney Gfeneral, and that he, Judge Cos-

grave, ''did not dare, or (could have been afraid to

continue the trial of the case". (R. 179.)

Argument and authorities.

There is nothing- in the Judicial Code section, nor

in the language of the decisions interpreting the same

which requires, that an affidavit of prejudice, furnish

actual acts of prejudice upon the part of the trial

judge. But we believe that the affiant in this case, in

relating what traiispired in Judge Cosgrave's cham-

bers, was alleaing acts and conduct upon the part of

the judge, which did in fact show bias and prejudice.

It seems inconceivable to us that any judge who re-

sented the employment of a special Attorney General

to prosecute the case (which is a common practice),

Avho resented the fact that a fonner Assistant At-

torney General, having had no connection with the

controversy in which he was employed was defending

the case; and who stated that he didn't dare continue

the case, could possibly be in possession of a mind

sufficiently free from prejudice or bias to have enabled

him to accord defendants a fair and impartial trial.

In overruling defendants' objection to his proceed-

ing with the trial, Judge Cosgrave asserted that the

affida^dt in effect merely charges that he had made an

adverse ruling against some of the defendants in a

preliminary motion in a civil action. If this was all

that the affidavit charged as evidence of prejudice, of

course, the affidavit Avould have been insufficient. But
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when consideration is given to the conceded fact that

the ground upon which the court issued both its pre-

liminary, as well as permanent injunction, wa^s the

identical conspiracy clmrged i)i the indictment and

that the court found against the defendants thereon,

it necessarily and logically follows that the court hav-

ing passed upon the fact of conspiracy must have

formed an opinion as to that fact, which would re-

quire evidence to remove. In other words, if the facts

alleged in the disqualifying affida^'it are true, Judge

Cosgrave could not avoid entering upon the trial with

a fixed opinion as to the existence of the conspiracy,

which is the very basis of this action.

Judge Cosgrave further commented in his state-

ment that the affidavit charged no expression of opin-

ion on his part, other than his passing upon the pre-

liminary motion. But it must be conceded that the

expression of opinion of the trial judge, contained in

an order made by hun in a prior proceeding, is just

as definitely an expression of opinion, and just as

strong evidence of bias against the defendants, as

though he had stated outside of court that, in his

opinion, the defendants were guilty of a conspiracy

to defraud. And if he uttered such a statement out-

side of the court, we do not believe that even Judge

Cosgrave would contend that it would not have estab-

lished the existence of bias and prejudice upon his

part.

But Judge Cosgrave was in error, in stating that

no further acts were charged in the affidavit. He
overlooked entirely the recitation in the affidaWt as

to the happening in his chambers when, ^^dth the



247

attorneys for both sides present, he expressed dis-

satisfaction with the fact that the government was

supplanting the local x\ssistant District Attorney in

the case and criticised the defendants McKeon for

employing a former Assistant Attorney General to

represent them and voiced his fear of granting a

continuance therein, despite the fact that the At-

torney General of the United States had on behalf

of the plaintiff consented to such continuance.

There are many cases in the books reversing fed-

eral trial courts for the failure upon the part of the

judge thereof to recognize the virtue of an affidavit of

prejudice filed against hun. While the affidavits in

many of the cases are closely analogous to the affidavit

here undei' consideration, we believe that the affidavit

held sufficient by the Circuit Court of Appeals of the

Eighth Circuit in the case of

Nations v. United States, U Fed. (2d) 507,

in which the govermnent's petition for a w^rit of cer-

tiorari was denied by the Supreme Court (273 U. S.

735, 71 L. Ed. 866), comes as near as any to being

a counterpart of the Siens affidavit in this case.

Comparison of aflfidavit in Nations

case with affidavit in case at bar.

The affidavit in the Xatioiis case in its pertinent

provisions read as follows:

"the judge before whom this action is pending
* * * has a personal bias or prejudice against him,

and has a personal bias and prejudice in favor of

the plaintiff, the United States of America, who
is the opposite party to this action."
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Affidavit in tliis case.

The corresponding statement in the affidavit in

the case at bar is as follows:

^'has a personal bias and prejudice against him

and his co-defendants (naming- them) and in

favor of the govermnent" (R. 167)

but the statement in the affidavit in this case adds the

following

:

*'by reason of which said personal bias and

prejudice * * * neither of these defendants

can have a fair and impartial trial before him."

(R. 167.)

In the Nations case the affidavit further asserted:

''The facts and reasons for the belief that such

bias and prejudice exists are as follows, to wit:

He is informed and believes that persons con-

nected with the United States government and
having a special interest in this prosecution, have

communicated to said judge what they allege to

be knowledge of facts and circmnstances con-

nected with the transactions averred in the in-

dictment, and that as a result of said coimnunica-

tion the said judge has an ill and unfriendly feel-

ing against said defendant, and has formed an
adverse opinion as to the defendant's innocence,

and now entertains the belief that there is no

meritorious defense to the charge made against

said defendant."

In the affidavit before this court for consideration,

Ave find several statements which are analogous to the

affidavit in the Nations case. They charge:

1. That an attorney stated in the presence of

Judge Cosgrave that:

"Robert S. McKeon is the greatest conspirator

of them all against Italo, and I can prove it",
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and that Judge Cosg-rave in hearing said statement

believed it and was influenced thereby in granting an

injunction against the McKeons (R. 170) ;

2. That Carpenter, the Receiver of Italo Petro-

leum Corporation of America, made false statements

of the facts in this case to Judge James, one of the

judges of the said United States District Court, and

that Judge James became thereby prejudiced against

these defendants and connnunicated the false facts and

prejudices to Judge Cosgrave, and created in Judge

Cosgrave's mind a similar condition of bias and

prejudice. (R. 173, 4.)

In the Nations case the affidavit further asserted

that:

''The defendant further says that he is in-

formed and believes said judge has stated that it

is his opinion and belief that this defendant has

been and is guilty of ha\ing cooperated and con-

spired with others * * * to unlawfully give pro-

tection to * * * Griesedieck Bros. Brewery Com-
pany and other persons in unlawfully manufac-

turing, * * * intoxicating liquors in violation of

the laws of the United States."

The affidavit before this court charges that in the

civil action pending before Judge Cosgrave filed by

said receiver, Carpenter, in which the said Carpenter

sought an injmiction against the defendants McKeon
on the gromid that they had engaged in the very con-

spiracy charged in the indictment now before this

court, and with the issue as to whether or not such a

conspiracy to defraud existed. Judge Gosgrave formed

a fixed opinion and expressed that opinion in the form

of an order granting a preliminary judgment on the
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grounds set out in the complaint of said Carpenter,

and that as a result thereof, Judge Cosgrave has a

feelmg of bias and prejudice against the said defend-

ants in this case. (R. 170.)

We believe that the comparison just made of the

affidavit in the Nations case, with the affidavit in this

case, discloses that they cover exactly the same ground,

and that the decision of the Circuit Court of Appeals

in that case, by reversing the judgment of the trial

court because the trial judge refused to give effect to

the affidavit of prejudice filed therein, should be a

safe precedent for reversal by this court of the judg-

ment against defendants herein in the case at bar, be-

cause of the failvire of Judge Cosgrave to recognize

the validity of the affidavit accusing him of bias and

prejudice. But the affidavit in the present case goes

much further in its charges, by alleging that in a con-

ference being had looking towards a continuance of

the trial, Judge Cosgrave insinuated that the defend-

ants were guilty of political intrigue, in endeavoring

to have the trial of the cause postponed (R. 178-179)
;

expressed doubt of the good faith of defendants' coun-

sel Divet, in seeking a continuance of the case so that

he might prepare himself for trial (R. 182-3) and inti-

mated that there was something wrong because of the

fact that the Assistant Attorney General was supplant-

ing the local Assistant United States Attorney in the

case, and that the former Assistant Attorney General

was bemg employed by defendants to represent them

in the case. (R. 178-9.)

It is submitted that it would be difficult indeed to

find a case in which the facts proving prejudice and
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bias are as many or as powerful as those appearing in

the affidavit filed in the court below. That appellants

are entitled to a reversal of the judgment appealed

from, on this point alone, is clear from the following

authorities.

Berger v. U. S., 255 U. S. 22, 65 L. ed. 481;

Nations v. U. S., 14 Fed. (2d) 507 (8th Cir-

cuit)
;

Chafin V. U. S., 5 Fed. (2d) 592, 593;

American Brake Shoe Co. v. Interhoro B. T.

Co,, 6 Fed. Supp. 215.

The right of appellants to a change of judge under

the circmnstances revealed by the affidavit in this case

is statutory. Section 21, Judicial Code, quoted here-

inabove provides that upon the filing of a proper affi-

davit "the judge shall proceed no further". Ob-

viously, therefore, where the trial judge arbitrarily

disregards the affidavit filed and ignores the rights ex-

pressly granted the parties by that section, the appel-

late tribmial camiot by affirming his action, destroy

the very intent and purpose of the Code section. As
was said by the Supreme Court in

Berger v. U. S., 255 U. S. 22, 65 L. ed. 481,

''Remedy by appeal is inadequate. It comes

after the trial, and if prejudice exists it has

worked its evil and a judgment of it in a review-

ing tribunal is precarious."

In other words, as to the duty of the judge upon the

filing of such affidavit the statute is (to quote from

the decision in Nations v. U. S., supra),

"plain in its terms and imperative in its char-

acter."
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III.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING IN EVIDENCE
OVER THE OBJECTIONS OF DEFENDANTS, PURPORTED
RECORDS OF CORPORATIONS AND PARTNERSHIPS WITH-
OUT A PROPER FOUNDATION FOR THEIR INTRODUCTION.

The records in question with the appropriate tran-

script references to the objections made to their intro-

duction, and the assignments of error in relation to

their admission, are as follows:

1. Records of Italo-American

Petroleum Corporation.

(Assig-mnent of Error No. 24.) (R. 1405-7.)

(a) Minute Books, Exhibit 3. (R. 191, 192.)

Objections and ruling. (R. 192.)

(b) Books of Account, Exhibits 5, 6, 8 and 9.

(R. 198-200.)

Objections and ruling. (R. 200-202.)

2. Records of Italo Petroleum

Corporation of America.

(Assigimient of Error No. 27.) (R. 1410-19.)

(Assignment of Error No. 28.) (R. 1419-23.)

(a) Minute Books, Exhibits 16-A, B and C.

(R. 221-6.)

Objections and ruling (R. 222-27) and mo-

tion to strike and ruling. (R. 236.)

(b) Book of Account, Exhibits 28-A, B, C and

D and 29, 31 and 33. (R. 255-261.)

Objections and ruling. (R. 261-264.)
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3, Records of Bacon & Brayton

in account with Wilkes &
Cavanaugh.

(Assignment of Error No. 30.) (R. 1424.)

PJiotostatic copies of statements, Exhibit 58.

(R. 284.)

Objections and ruling. (R. 284.)

4. Books and accounts of Shingle,

Brown & Co., a corporation,

Shingle, Brown & Co., a co-

partnership, and allied com-

panies and partnerships.

(Assignment of Error No. 37.) (R. 1437.)

(a) Exhibit 183. Accomit records of Mont-
gomery Investment Company, a copartner-

ship, consisting of Shingle, Brown, Mikel

and Jones. (R. 448.)

(b) Exhibit 184. Account of Montgomery In-

vestment Company with Shingle, Brown &
Co. (R. 449.)

(c) Exhibits 185, 188-226. Account records of

Shingle, Brown & Co. showing accoimts with

various concerns and corporations in which

defendants McKeon were neither officers,

stockholders or members and with various

individuals not including any of the de-

fendants McKeon. (R. 449-57.)

(d) Exhibits 186, 187 and 227. Books of ac-

count of Fred Shingle, Syndicate Manager.
(R. 449,457-8.)
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(e) Exhibit 228. Ledger sheets of Shingle,

Brown & Co. showing account called

''McKeon Escrow Account". (R. 459.)

Objections to admission in evidence of fore-

going exhibits. (R. 448; 450-1; 453-7; 459-

60.)

5. Records of Brownmoor Oil Co.

(Assignment of Error No. 38.) (R. 1437.)

(Assignment of Error No. 43.) (R. 1444.)

(a) Books of account, Exhibits 32-A, B and 147.

(R. 468-9, 368, 650.)

Objections and ruling. (R. 469, 650.)

Motion to strike and denial thereof. (R.

686, 689.)

(b) Minute Book. (Exhibit 239.)

Objections and ruling. (R. 560-1.)

Under another heading we will discuss the inad-

missibility of these books and records regardless of

their foundation. Here we are dealing exclusively

with their acbnissibility upon the ground that no ade-

quate foundation was laid for their introduction.

It is quite apparent from the record that the gov-

ermnent entered into the trial of this action with the

idea of establishing the existence of the purported

conspiracy and to show the alleged concerted action

of the defendants by books, records and other docu-

ments in order to lay the foundation for the intro-

duction in evidence of the charts and smnmaries

already prepared by the government's employee

Goshorn and by the testimony of Goshorn and his

fellow employee Hynes.
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In another phase of this brief we comment upon

the fact that the summaries prepared by Goshom,

based in part on the records here under discussion

and in part upon his idea of what was necessary to

secure a conviction, were of such colossal size as to

give to the exti*avagant conclusions of Croshom by

whom they were prepared an emphasis to which they

were not legitimately entitled-

If these books and i*ecords were inadmissible, no

justification whatever would have existed for the ad-

mission in evidence of the summaries or the testi-

mony of Goshom or Hynes. Fiuthermore, if these

books and records had not been admitted the govern-

ment's case would have cnuubled and disintegrated.

With these considerations in mind, it will readily be

concluded that none of these books or documents

shotdd have been admitted, imless the foimdation

legally requii-ed for theii* inti'oduction was first estab-

lished, and that their admission in evidence, in the

absence of such foimdation, violated the constitutional

rights of the defendants, thereby demanding a re-

versal of the judgment of the court below.

An examination of those poi-tions of the record to

which reference will shortly be made, will convince

the court that the government failed to properly lay

the foimdation for the admission in evidence of any

of the books and records above described.

To demonstrate this proposition, as well as for the

convenience of the court, we will call attention to the

evidence, offered by the government as a foundation

for the introduction of each of the exhibits referred to.

It will be observed that in the case of manv of these
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exhibits the government did not even make a pretense

of laying a foundation. Some of the exhibits were

identified by bookkeepers and emi)loyees, hired long

after the entries in the books were made. The govern-

ment failed in every instance to establish, and in

most instances, to even attempt to prove that the

books and records introduced were properly kept or

that the entries were correctly made, a^b no evidence

WAS OFFERED OR ATTEMPTED TO BE OFFERED THAT ANY OF

THE ENTRANTS WERE DEAD OR UNAVAILABLE.

The record discloses the fatal lack

of evidence to permit the admis-

sion of the exhibits in evidence.

Exhibit 3, Minute Book of Italo-American Petro-

leum Corporation. These records were introduced for

the purpose of proving minutes relating to a divi-

dend purporting to have been declared in April, 1925.

(R. 192.) They w^ere identified by Courtney Moore,

who testified that he became the attorney for the cor-

poration late in 1925 (R. 191) and that the minutes

in the hook as of prior to December 28, 1925, were

copied from the, original minute book and 'S^arious

memoranda" furnished to him. (R. 191.) No testi-

mony was offered as to correctness. The objection of

defendants, that the foundation had not been laid,

was promptly overruled. (R. 192.)

Exhibits 5, 6, 8 and 9. Books of Account of Italo-

American Petroleum Corporation. These records were

introduced during the testimony of Ida M. Scettrini,

to form the basis for the testimony of the govern-

ment accomitant James F. Hynes. (R. 200, 1406.)

She testified that she went to work for the corpora-
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tion in February, 1927, and continued in such em-

ployment until August 1, 1930. (R. 198.) She identi-

fied Exhibit 5 (general ledger) purporting to show

cash receipts for the years 1926-1929 inclusive. (R.

198.) She identified Exhibit 6 as a ledger made up

from postings from other books and kept under her

supervision; Exhibit 8 as another ledger, and Ex-

hibit 9 as a trial balance for the years 1927-1929

prepared by her. (R. 199-200.) But not a word of

testimony as to their correctness.

Exhihits 7, 10, 12, 13. Fiuiher account hooks of

Italo-American Petroleum Corporation. These ex-

hibits were identified by Emma Baldocchi, called by

the govermnent. She testified that she did bookkeep-

ing for the corporation until February, 1927 (R.

203); that Exhibit 12 was ''one of the books" she

handled, and that the entries therein were made by

her or the public accountant employed by the com-

pany "in its usual course of business". (R. 204.)

She further testified that the entries in Exhibit 12

from November, 1924, were made by her; that as to

Exhibit 13 the ''financial record of Italo American

Co." the entries up to November, 1924, ivere in the

hook when she received it, but that entries since then

were made by her. Exhibit 10 was identified by the

witness in the same manner. She testified that the

entries made prior to November 24, 1924, tvere in the

hook when she received it, and that she made the

entries from that date to February 12, 1927. (R.

205.) Not a word with reference to the integrity of

the books—nothing to indicate they were correct or

even as to the identity of the person who made the

earlier entries.
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The above records in their entirety were used as

the basis for the testimony of the government ac-

countant J. F. Hynes. (R. 204-5.)

Exhibits 16-A, B and C. Minute hooks of Italo

Petroleum Corporation. The govermnent called Rob-

ert R. McLachlen to identify the exhibits. As to Ex-

hibit 16-A he testified that it was "one of the minute

books kept in the office of" the corporation and

covers the period from the organization to December

7, 1928; that the first entry he made was in Volume

2 (Exhibit 16-B) on April 18, 1929. Without further

preliminaries the court thus accepted the identifica-

tion of the minute book, by a witness who never saw

the book until long after the minutes were transcribed

therein, and one who was not even an officer of the

corporation during the period covered by the minutes.

Exhibit 16-A was introduced in evidence over the

strenuous objection of defendants. (R. 221, 226-7.)

As to Exhibits 16-B and C, the witness testified

that his first entry in Volume 2 of the minutes (Ex-

hibit 16-B) was on April 18, 1929, and from then on

he kept all the minutes except ^'possibly two". (R.

221.) When defendants objected to the introduction

of Exhibits 16-B and C, the court took a hand in the

laying of the foimdation and we cannot more clearly

establish the careless manner in which a foundation

was attempted to be laid for the exhibits introduced,

than to quote the exchange between the court and the

witness and counsel, with reference to their introduc-

tion.

"The Court. And were all of these minutes
(referring to minutes from April 18, 1929) made
by you, written by you?" (R. 224.)
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"A. After the date that I designated there

with the exception of several

The Court. Of one or two meetings f

A. One or two meetings.

The Court. And you were the one that kept

the minutes from that time uj) to when?

A. Up to the last few minutes.

The Court. Yes, the hist minutes. Then, all

the minutes from and after April 29 recorded in

the books were kept by the witness?

The AVitness. With the exception of

The Court (interrupting). With the exception

of some of the miuiUes. Do you identify them,

Mr. Redwine?
Mr. Redwine. I was (joing to identifij the last

r/rotip of them.

The Court. But tjon kept the minutes cor-

rectly '?

A. Yes, sir.

The Court. You stated they were the minutes

of the corporation used by the corporation in its

business ?

A. Yes.

The Court. All right y let them he admitted in

evidence.

Mr. Simpson. All of the minutes?

The Court. Yes.

Mr. Simpson. Even those at which witness was

not present at a meeting?

The Court. All of the minutes that the witness

kept.

Mr. Simpson. We don't know which they were.

We would like to tind out. We don't know.

The Court. Overruled." (R. 224, 5.)

The witness McLachlen further testified that the

exhibits did ''not purport to relate everything that

transpired at the meetings'*. (R. 231.)
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Defendants' counsel moved to strike from Exhibit

16-A, the minutes of the meetings which the witness

did not attend, on the very proper legal grounds that

no foundation had been laid for their introduction;

that they were hearsay and a violation of the con-

stitutional right to confrontation of witnesses (R.

236), which motion was denied.

The exhibit contains purported minutes, beginning

with those of March 10, 1928, and ending with that

of December 7, 1928, and includes purported action

of the Board, with reference to the transfer of the

corporate assets of Italo American Petroleum Cor-

poration to Italo Petroleum Corporation, alleged to

have been one of the objects of the conspiracy. (R.

236-7.) They also deal with the application of Italo

American Petroleum Corporation, for the permit to

sell 300,000 shares of common and 300,000 shares pre-

ferred stock (March 14, 1928) ; with the borrowing

of $80,000 from defendant Shingle (May 16, 1928)

and with securing the Corporation Commissioner's

Permit authorizing the Brownmoor transaction (May

21). (R. 238-9.)

Exhibit 58. Photostatic copies of statements from

Bacon idt Brayton to Wilkes and Cavanaugh, a part-

nership. The sole foundation for their admission in

evidence is the testimony of Ada P. Lyle, called by

the government, to the effect that they were copies

of statements kept by Wilkes and Cavanaugh while

she was with them. (R. 284.) Not a Avord as to

whether those entered by him were correct. (R. 468-9.)

Exhibits 32-A and 32-B. Brownmoor Oil Co. hooks

of account. Francis King was the government's foun-
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dation witness as to these exhibits. He testified that

he was bookkeeper for the corporation from July,

1927, to April or May, 1928 (R. 467) ; that 32-A and

B were Record Book and Ledger; that he ''made

entries in these two books" while there and "they

were kept in the regular course of business to reflect

the financial transactions
'

' of the corporation. Nothing

to show what he knew as to correctness of books or

whether all the entries were made by him or even

whether those entered by him were correct. (R. 468-9.)

Exhibit 147. ''Stock Journal and Ledger''. These

records were produced from Bank of America files

by a witness (John Russel Davis) who made none

of the entries and had no personal knowledge of the

transactions. (R. 368.) Inmiediately they were ad-

mitted the District Attorney called their contents to

the attention of the jury. (R. 650.)

Exhibit 239. The Minute Book. This book was also

identified by Francis King, bookkeeper for the cor-

poration, employed between the dates above men-

tioned. (R. 467.) By his own testimony he was not

present at the meetings but posted some of the min-

utes which were handed him by Siens and Shores.

(R. 467.) He said the minutes were kept in the regu-

lar course of business. (R. 468.)

Records of Shing-le, Brown &
Company and allied companies.

Exhibit 183. File of Montgomery Investment Co.,

a partnership consisting of Shingle, BrowTi, Mikel

and Jones. The file was identified by L. J. Byers,

accountant called by the government. (R. 448.)
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Byers testified that he was in the employ of Shingle,

Brown & Co. from August 1, 1928, to December 31,

1930 ; that he supervised the accounts, and the entries

were made by him or under his supervision. (R. 447.)

But he failed to state whether they were true and

correct, or upon what evidence he based the entries.

(Used as a basis for testimony of Goshorn.) (R. 448.)

Exhibits 184-205 are ledger cards, special accounts,

etc., carried in the books of Shingle, Brown Company;

and were all introduced through the identifying tes-

timony of government witness Byers. He said that

he had no personal knowledge of the entries made in

Exhibit 185 prior to August 1, 1928; that Exhibits

186-188 were made under his supervision; that Ex-

hibits 189-193 are journal books of account of Shingle,

Brown & Co., that they contain entries made prior to

his employment in August 1, 1928; that all entries

since relate to Shingle, Brown & Company, a corpora-

tion; that all are used by the corporation in usual

course of their business. (R. 449-451.) No identifica-

tion at all was offered for the pai-ts of the books

which were written prior to August 1, 1928, and no

evidence of the correctness of the items made since

or whether the witness had any knowledge of their

truth or falsity. Neither of the McKeons were stock-

holders or interested in any way in the business of

that company.

Exhibits 206 and 207 were designated by witness

as corporate records of Shingle, Broivii <& Co.;

one book bearing dates June 1, 1928, to June 15,

1928 (which was prior to witness' employment), and

the other date from December 1, 1928, to December
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15, 1928. No testimony was offered as to the correct-

ness of the contents of either exhibit. (R. 451-452.)

Exhibits 208-223. Ledger accounts of various indi-

A'iduals identified by witness Byers. He testified that

he didn't know what account Exhibit 208 was, except

that it was marked ''A. F. Jones Reserve Account"

(R. 452) ; that all of these exhibits were pai*t of the

records of Shingle, Brown & Co. ; that Exhibits

212 and 214 cover period from May 30, 1928, to De-

cember 31, 1928; that all of the records identified

by him were either kept by him or under his super-

vision or ^Hunied over to'' him when he went to work

for the corporation. (R. 454.)

Exhibit 224. Ledger account with McKeon, Wilkes,

Siens and Cavanaugh according to Byers. He testi-

fied that with the exception of one of the circmn-

stances of which he had forgotten, he didn't make the

entries and didn't know ivhich McKeon was referred

to. (R. 456.)

Exhibits 225 and 226—identified merely as records

of Shingle, Brown & Co. (R. 457) without any

evidence of their integrity.

Exhibit 227—purports to be a photostatic copy of

an original docmnent handed Byers by defendant,

Shingle, which Byers testified he used to set up the

accounts of ''Fred Shingle, Syndicate Mgr.". (R.

457.) (The document appears on page 458 of the

record.)

Exhibit 228—the final exhibit identified by witness

Byers as ledger sheets pertaining to ''McKeon Escrow^

Account", and as having been prepared by him or
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under his supervision. (R. 459.) He testified that

the account reflected "generally the movement of the

stock in the escrow". (R. 459.)

All of the foregoing Exhibits 183-228 inclusive,

were used hy witness Goshorn as basis for his testi-

mony, and charts. (R. 1436 and 450-451.)

Records of Italo Petroleum Cor-

poration of America.

Exhibits 28A, B, C, and B, and 29, 31 and 33. The

above exhibits were identified by government witnesses

Davis, Jefferson and Human. Jefferson contributed

to the foundation for Exhibits 28A, B, C, and D by

testifying that he had charge of the accomiting records

of said corporation from July 1, 1928, to the end of

December, 1928. He further testified

:

"I identify a portion of these four books as

records kept in the T.os Angeles office while I was

employed there. They are largely operating rec-

ords and contain all of the transactions that

passed through the Los Angeles accounting office.

The entries were made under my supervision. To

the best of my knowledge and belief they are an

accurate history of the transactions." (R. 254-

255.)

Human was then called to assist in getting the ex-

hibits into evidence. He testified that he worked mi-

der Jefferson and during the same period Jefferson

was employed; that various persons worked on the

books ; that he was instructed by Jefferson to build up

the company's records (R. 255), and that said exhibits

reflected the transactions of the corporation during

his employment. On cross-examination he admitted
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he did not make the entries in Exhibit 28A but that

the "style" of it was made by Phillips mider his di-

rection. He stated that he had seen in the office and

given information to defendant Siens, Lyons, Masoni

and DeMaria concerning the records at their request,

hut did not give any information concerning the rec-

ords to any other defendant.

Upon redirect and recross examination it developed

that the entries in the exhibits with reference to the

Brow^mioor transaction were the rankest hearsay.

He testified:

"We obtained information from Mr. Francis
King who had been the Brownmoor bookkeeper
as to the accomits paid and those payable by Italo

to place on the books, and to show the assets and
liabilities of Brownmoor. We ran down various

details of transactions which we placed on our
books as of May 28, 1928. * * * / fashed with

various persons to get information concerning the

Brownmoor deal with Italo in order to set it up
on the Italo hooks. At that time I had no per-

sonal knowledge of the Italo-Brownmoor deal and
did not personally know that the persons with
whom I talked had personal knowledge of that

deal. I inquired in my conversation with these

indi^-iduals as to whether they personally knew
anything about the Browimioor deal." (R, 257.)

And finally the witness, Hmnan, very definitely dis-

closed the lack of foundation for the admission of

these records by the followTing testimony

:

''I can't say whether these hooks properly reflect

the Brownmoor transaction or not. It is the best in-

fonnation we had. We were endeavorino- to as-
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certain the revenue and liabilities of Browmnoor
and Italo on the transaction. These books did not

exist in August 1928. We started building them
and secured information from every one to build

them up by talking tvith other people and examin-

ing different documents. We sent this informa-

tion to San Francisco. Whether all of it was en-

tered in the San Francisco books I could not say.

We later brought together the results of our in-

vestigation in these books and what we under-

stood was on the San Francisco books, and that is

the data that now appears on these books I identi-

fied, Exhibits 28-A, B, C, D, 29 and 31. Whether
the data in these hooks is correct depends upon

whether or not the information I received is cor-

rect/' (R. 258-9.)

It thus appears that the books were set up as a result

of information gathered from numerous individuals,

that the entries were not made contemporaneously

with the transactions described therein, and none of

the witnesses could testify whether they were in fact

correct. (R. 259.)

Davis stated that he ujas employed by defendant,

Lyons, in January, 1929, as accountant for Italo Pe-

troleum Corporation of America; that Exhibits 28A,

B, C, and D were in the office of the company all of

the time he was there; that Lyons "indirectly super-

vised the work of the entire bookkeeping force"; that

the books were used for the purpose of recording the

daily transactions and the entries were made approxi-

mately at the time the items occurred (R. 260-1) ; that

he ceased to work for the corporation in May, 1930.

The books were offered in evidence up to May, 1930,

as to all entries made therein. After an objection
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which consumes three pages of the record (R. 262-4),

the Court admitted the exhibits in e^ddence. When
cross-examined the witness testified that Exhibit 28A,

was the capital ledger for years 1928-30; Exhibit 28B

a book of journal vouchers for the years 192S-9; Ex-

hibit 28C, general ledger for years 1928-30. (R. 265.)

All of these records were used as a basis for the

testimony of government accountant Goshorn. (R.

265.)

Rule as to foundation for admis-

sion in evidence of private books

and records and the constitutional

right involved.

The admission of private books of account and

minute books of corporations constitute an encroach-

ment upon the hearsay rule, for the reason that the

individual who makes the entries rarely has any per-

sonal knowledge of the facts upon which they are

based. It might be (as was stated by the witness Bal-

docchi with respect to one set of records), that an

officer of the corporation gives the bookkeeper a memo-

randmn of his construction of something that has hap-

pened long before ; it might be that that interpretation

is shaded to favor the informant, or it might be that

the informant was in error, as to the facts related to

the bookkeeper. Despite these dangers, under certain

circumstances hearsay testimony of this character is

admissible in evidence, only Jiowever, in subordination

to legal principles highly protective in character and

rigidly enforced.

The doctrine under which such evidence is admitted,

originated in civil cases and has by many courts been

held not to apply to criminal cases. The Sixth Amend-
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ment to the Federal Constitution guarantees the ac-

cused in a criminal action the right to be confronted

with witnesses against him. Under this rule the ac-

cused, to quote from the decision in

IT. S. V. AngeM, 11 Fed. 34, 43 (First Circuit),

is entitled to

^' enjoy the right to be confronted with the wit-

nesses against him; and this without exception, not

if they can he produced nor if they he witldbin the

jurisdiction, hut ahsolutely and on all occasions/^

(Italics ours.)

The admission of books and accounts, or minute

books of a corporation against an individual accused

of crime, imless kept by him or mider his supervision,

even when supported by the testimony of a witness

who testifies from his or her ow^n knowledge that the

books contain true and correct statements, is a viola-

tion of this constitutional right. But if a trial court

carries the matter one step further and permits books

to be introduced solely upon their identification by a

witness, who neither kept them nor supervised their

keeping, who is not in a position to testify whether

the entries were true or false, correct or incorrect, you

then have hearsay pyramided upon hearsay and a most

flagrant violation of the constitutional right is com-

mitted.

It would deprive the accused of his right to cross-

examine the witness testifying against him, for, the

identifying witness could not be cross-examined as to

the items in the books or the facts stated in the min-

utes, because he would know nothing of them. In such

case the defendant is not only not confronted by wit-
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nesses, who could testify to the facts represented by

the entries, but is not even confronted by the witness

who made the entries in the books.

The books may contain entries designed to protect

a defaulting officer. They may be colored to avoid the

higher brackets of the income tax; they may contain

errors ; they may even be a manufactured set of books,

designed for some ulterior purpose, and yet the de-

fendant against whom they are used would be denied

the opportunity of being confronted by the witness

who made the entries, so that he might determine, for

the benefit of himself, the court and the jury, whether

or not the records are true and correct and accurately

represent what they purport to show.

And if, after the introduction of such books and

records without proper foundation or identification,

the court permits a total stranger to them, e. g., a

government accountant, to testify as to his conclusions

and opinions from such books and records, there is

created such a violent disregard of constitutional

rights, as to clearly entitle the defendants, so im-

posed upon, to a reversal of the judgment.

Foundation required for admis-

sion of books of account and cor-

porate minutes.

With singular unanimity the decisions hold that

before private books of account and minutes of cor-

porations can be admitted in evidence for any pur-

pose they must first be identified and authenticated

and it must be established by competent evidence that

(a) They were kept in the regular course of

the business,
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(b) The entries are original entries or the

first permanent entries of the transaction,

(c) The entries were made at the time or

within reasonable proximity to the time of the

transactions represented,
^

(d) The persons making the entries must have

had personal knowledge of the facts involved or

have obtained such knowledge from a report

regularly made to them by some other employee

whose duty it was to make such a report in the

regular course of business, and

(e) That the books were correctly kept.

The rule upon w^hich appellants rely has been re-

peatedly enunciated by federal and state appellate

tribunals.

In the leading case of

Chaffee v. U. S., 18 Wall. 516, 21 L. Ed. 908,

912,

the court said:

''And that rule, with some exceptions, not

including the present case, requires, for the ad-

missibility of the entries, not merely that they

shall be contemporaneous with the facts to which

they relate, hut shall he made hy parties having

personal hnotvledge of the facts, and he corroho-

rated hy their testimony, if living and accessible,

or hy proof of their handivriting, if dead or in-

sane, or heyond the reach of the process or com-

mission of the court. The testimony of living

witnesses, personally cognizant of the facts of

which they speak, given under the sanction of an

oath in open court, where they may be subjected

to cross-examination, affords the greatest secu-



271

i-ity for truth. Their declarations, verbal or writ-

ten, must, however, sometimes be admitted when
they themselves cannot be called, in order to pre-

vent a failure of justice. The admissibility of

the declaration is in such cases limited by the

necessity upon which it is founded." (Italics

ours.)

In the case of Chan Kiu Sing v. Gordon, 171 Cal.

28, 31, the Supreme Court of California reversed the

judgment of the lower court upon the ground that the

account books vv^ere improperly admitted in evidence,

because the only evidence of their authenticity was
that they were kept under the direction of the wit-

ness, and he was familiar with them, the court say-

ing:

''In order to lay the foundation for the ad-
mission of such evidence it must be shown that

the books in question are books of account kept
in regular course of the business, that the business
is of a character in which it is proper or cus-

tomary to keep such books, that the entries were
either original entries or the first permaneyit en-

tries of the transactions, that they were made at

the time, or within reasonable proximity to the

time, of the respective transactions, and that the

persons making them had personal knowledge
of the transactions, or obtained such knowledge
from a report regularly made to him hy some
other person employed in the business whose
duty it was to make the same in the regular
course of the business/' (Italics ours.)

The two decisions above referred to were quoted with

approval by this court in

Osborne v. U. S., 17 Fed. (2d) 246.
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In

Pahst Brewing Co.^ v. Horst, 229 Fed. 913, 919

(9tli Circuit),

this court held account books inadmissible, because

there was

*'not the slightest testimony as to how the books

were kept, by whom they were kept, when the

entries were made or the source from which they

were made."

In the case of

Singer v. U. S., 58 Fed. (2d) 74, 76 (3d Cir-

cuit),

in reversing a judgment of conviction because of the

improper admission in evidence of books and records

the court said:

"Original entries of transactions made in the

regular course of business whe^ the extrant

IS dead or otherwise un^available upon being

identified are admissible. Such entries are also

admissible when the entrant is present, identifies

them and testifies that they are true, though they

do not refresh his memory and he has no inde-

pendent recollection of the truth of the trans-

actions which they record. This rule grew up as

a matter of convenience, but, under the exigen-

cies and complexities of modern business, it has

become a rule of necessity without which the ad-

ministration of justice in many matters Avould be

difficult or impossible. The M. S. Warden' (C. C.

A.), 219 F. 517, 521, and the many cases there

cited. It is clear that these memoranda do not

come within the above rule, and it was error to

admit them in evidence. Govermnent Exhibit 94

likewise was inadmissible because it was not

shown that the entries were made in the regular
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course of business, nor who the entrant avas,

NOR WHETHER OR NOT HE WAS AVAILABLE FOR

testimony/' (Italics ours.)

A leading case upon this subject is

Phillips V. U. S., 201 Fed. 259, 269 (8th Cir-

cuit).

After quoting from several decisions, the court said

:

"As stated by the Supreme Court, all of the

approved treatises on evidence lay down the rule

as stated in these decisions. If this rule obtains

in civil cases, it should not be relaxed in criminal

cases. It results, therefore, that the books of the

Hanover National Bank were improperly ad-

mitted in evidence, in the absence of the testi-

uiony of some persoii tvho either had some knotvl-

edge of the correctness of the entries made, or

some hnotvledge of the original transaction upon
which the entries were founded, and in the ab-

sence of testimony showing that the person or

persons tvho possessed such knotvledge were either

dead, insane, or beyond the jurisdiction of the

court/'

In this case it is also held error for the trial court

to permit an accountant to testify to a summary in

these books and documents in the absence of testi-

mony which would allow the books themselves to be

admitted.

The authority just cited was followed and ap-

proved in

Beck V, IJ. S., 33 Fed. (2d) 107, 113 (8th Cir-

cuit),

where, among other things, it is said:

"These books, however, were not identified in

accordance with the iTile laid down by this court
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in Phillips v. U. S., 201 Fed. 259, where the

records of a national bank, identified by its city

manager, were excluded."

Without quoting from the decisions, we invite the

court's attention to:

Hagan Coal Miyies v. Netv State Coal Co., 30

Fed. (2d) 92, 93 (8th Circuit)

;

Reineke v. U. S., 278 Fed. 724 (8th Circuit)
;

Worden v. U. S., 204 Fed. 1, 6 (6th Circuit)

;

People V. Blackmail, 127 Cal. 248;

Southern By. Co. v. MooresviUe Cotton Co.,

187 Fed. 72, 74 (4th Circuit).

The rule is a salutary one.

We shall close this phase of our argument by a very

appropriate quotation from the concurring opinion of

the late Justice of the Supreme Court Sanborn,

written while on Circuit Court duty in the case of

Thomas v. U. S., 156 Fed. 897 at 914.

After conunenting upon the danger of violating the

*'hearsay" and ''confrontation" rule by the admission

of books of account without proper authentication

thereof, Justice Sanborn said

:

"No rule of law is more salutary or more in-

dispensable to the security of the life, liberty and

property of the citizen than that which prohibits

the repetition of the written or oral statements of

absent persons to determine issues between liti-

gants and commands that, only after due notice,

after opportunity for cross-examination of the

very parties whose statements are offered and

then only imder the solemnity of an oath or af-

firmation, shall their stories be evidence."



275

IV.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING IN EVIDENCE OVER
THE OBJECTIONS OF DEFENDANTS McKEON, PURPORTED
RECORDS OF CORPORATIONS AND PARTNERSHIPS UPON
THE GROUND THAT THERE WAS NO SHOWING THAT
THEY HAD ANY KNOWLEDGE OF THE BOOKS OR EVER
HAD CUSTODY OR CONTROL OF THEM.

The books and records referred to are those de-

scribed in the pA'eceding section of this brief (Point

3), supplemented, however, by the books and

records hereafter referred to. The assignments of

error covering the errors committed by the trial court

in admitting these books and records in evidence fol-

low the title to said point. The additional books and

records are as follows:

Books of account and minute hook of John Mc-

Keon, Inc. (Assignment of Error No. 39.) (R.

1438; Exhibits 245-A, B and C.)

Objection and ruling. (R. 480.)

Motion to strike all of the above exhibits herein

referred to and ruling thereon. (R. 686-8, 689.) (As-

sigmnent of Error No. 55.)

Books of account of McKeon Drilling Co., Inc.

(Assignment of Error No. 32.) (R. 1429-30.)

(Exhibits 86-A, B, C and D.)

Objection and ruling. (R. 308, 309.)

There was a total lack of evidence that either John

McKeon or Robert McKeon had any comiection what-

soever, either as a director or stockholder of any of

the corporations above referred to, or was interested
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in any of the partnerships, save and except that

Robert McKeon was a director of the Italo Petro-

lemn Corporation and both McKeons were interested

in John McKeon, Inc. and McKeon Drilling Com-

pany. There was no showing that either John or

Robert McKeon had anything whatever to do with

the keeping of the minutes of any corporation above

referred to, or that either of them made or directed

to be made any entries in any of the books or records

introduced in evidence, or had any knowledge of the

contents of the books of any of said corporations or

pai'tnerships.

The books of the Italo-American Petroleum Cor-

poration were offered for the purpose of establishing

the allegation of the indictment that that corpora-

tion declared an alleged illegal dividend. The divi-

dend was purported to have been declared in 1925 and

there is nothing in the record, that even suggests or

insinuates that either of the McKeons had anything

to do with that corporation at any time, or with any

of the officers of that corporation, during the period

in which the dividend was declared or paid. On the

contrary it was without contradiction affirmatively

shown that neither John nor Robert McKeon had any

connection at any time, either direct or remote, with

such corporation. (R. 1118, 1203.)

This absence of any showing, that the defendants

McKeon or either of them participated in the prepa-

ration of the records of any of said corporations or

partnerships, or that they were directors or officers

or stockholders or members thereof (excej^ting of

course, the records of the McKeon Companies and
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the directorship of Robert McKeon in the Italo Petro-

leum Corporation), was fatal to their introduction

in evidence as against either of them.

While, during the last century, the courts have

gradually built up an exception to the hearsay rule,

in favor of admitting in evidence under certain and

definite restrictions, books of account and corporate

records which have been first authenticated, as true

and correct, the same courts have been adamant in

holding, that even though the books and records have

been properly and adequately authenticated, they are

never admissible against strangers to the record, even

in civil cases, not alone in criminal cases where the

constitution protects the accused against such evi-

dence.

The rule is that books of account and corporate

records are admissible against an accused, only where

it is shown that he kept the books or records in ques-

tion, or had such close personal supervision of the

making of the entries therein, that he nmst be pre-

sumed to have actual knowledge of their contents. To
quote authorities to the court upon such a reasonable

and elementary principle would be like ''carrying

coals to Newcastle", so we wdll content ourselves with

citing a few cases in which the rule invoked has been

enunciated.

The principal case in California, based ahnost en-

tirely on decisions of the federal courts of appeal is

that of

People V. Dohle, 203 Cal. 510,

which involved a conspiracy to violate the Corpora-

tion Securities Act of California. The appellant was
the president of the corporation
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"but was actively engaged only in another depart-

ment of the business and had but little to do with

the stock sales department." (p. 513.)

The prosecution examined an expert accountant, whose

summary and testimony were based upon the books of

the corporation, as well as those of F. G. Cox, its

financial agent, who had been authorized by the corpo-

ration to take subscriptions for the sale of its stock

and to make reports and remittances to it at certain

stated times. The sunmiary was admitted in evidence

over the objection of the appellant that

"the books from which it was made had not

been properly authenticated, nor had they been

received, nor were they admissible in evidence."

(p. 514.)

In holding that even the books of the corporation were

not admissible against appellant, the court said

:

"Further, it will be seen that a more serious

error was committed when it is recalled that ap-

pellant was in nowise comiected with the said

entries, it being expressly admitted that he had
no knowledge whatsoever of the books and had no

custody or control whatsoever over them. The
entries were not made by Cox and were therefore

at most the acts of subagents and ordinarily would

not be binding even in a ci^dl action on appellant."

(p. 515.)

Speaking with reference to the books of the defendant

Cox, the entries in which were admitted to have been

made by him and their inadmissibility against Doble,

the court further said:

"It is contended, however, that said books and

the summary thereof were admissible as the acts
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of an agent as to the substantive offenses charged

and as the acts of a co-conspirator as to the offense

of conspiracy. If we admit that Cox was the agent

of appellant, this might allow his declarations,

made within the scope of his agency, to be admitted

in a civil cause, but hiunan liberty does not rest

upon so weak a foundation. A principal, in order

to be held criminally liable, must be shown to have

knowingly and intentionally aided, advised, or

encouraged the criminal act committed by the

agent. In the absence of proof to this extent, the

sunmiary of the books should not have been re-

ceived as a declaration binding upon appellant and

certainly, if other evidence was deemed sufficient

to warrant a finding that appellant knew of the

contents of the books, the smallest consideration

of the rights of appellant, in view of his denial of

such knowledge, would have required the court to

have given in fact or in substance appellant's

requested instruction No. 62, which it refused

to do." (p. 515.)

And after citing cases to the point in a criminal case

''the civil doctrine that a principal is bound by

the acts of his agent within the scope of the

agent's authority has no application"

and dealing with the books of the corporation of which

Doble was the president, the court further said

:

"It should also be observed that said summary
received in evidence was compiled not only from
the Cox books, hut also from the books of the

Doble corporation and from a comparison of the

two sets of books. But again appellant denied all

knowledge of the entries in the books of said cor-

poration, in so far as the same were summarized
and received in evidence. The summary of the
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Doble corporation books was apparently admitted

upon the theory that the set of books from which

the entries were taken consisted of books required

by law to be kept and hence admissible for that

reason. While the books were admissible for what
they might show as to the excess of subscriptions

over the permits, still, in view of the repeated

claims of appellant that he knew nothing of their

contents, he was entitled to an instruction to the

effect that an officer of a corporation is not crimi-

nally liable for the acts of other officers or agents

thereof unless he directly authorized or consented

to such acts/' (Italics ours.) (p. 517.)

And after quoting from and approving the case of

Worden v. United States, 204 Fed. 1, to which refer-

ence will hereafter be made, the court concludes

:

''It will thus be seen that in the trial of an

offense highly technical in its nature serious preju-

dicial errors occurred affecting the substantial

rights of appellant. Without the summary above

referred to the whole fabric of the case for the

People would have been weak and unconvincing."

The position of the appellants in this case, should

appeal more strongly to the court, than that occupied

by Doble. In the instant case it was never contended,

that either appellant ever had any coimection with any

of the corporations or copartnerships, excepting the

McKeon Drilling Company and McKeon Company,

and as to the defendant Robert McKeon, the Italo

Petroleum Company, and the latter had no participa-

tion in or knowledge of the proceedings of the board

of directors of the Italo until after it approved the

purchase of the McKeon Drilling Company's prop-
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erties. It was neither claimed nor shown, that any of

the defendants on trial was familiar with the entries

in any of the books of these concerns or personally

directed the making thereof, and yet as against appel-

lants, all of these books and records were admitted in

evidence and upon them was built the summaries pre-

pared by Goshorn. How it can be considered that such

books were properly admitted is to us incompre-

hensible.

In Worden v. U. S., 204 Fed. 1, 9, Worden and

others were jointly indicted on a charge of con-

spiracy to defraud the United States in the purchase

of certain public lands through alleged ''dummy''

entrymen, for the benefit of plaintiffs in error, and the

J. H. Worden Lumber etc. Company, of which said

Worden ivas president and manager. The books of

account, both of Worden and of the company, over

the objection of the defendants, were admitted in evi-

dence. In reversing the judgment of conviction of the

low^er court, the court said:

"It is manifest that Worden would be preju-

diced by an improper treatment of the entries on
the company's books as competent evidence

against him. Unless the mere fact of Worden 's

presidency and management of the company,
raised a legal presmnption of his acquaintance

with the book entries, thus putting upon him, in

defense of a charge of crime, the burden of re-

butting such legal presumption, we think the

books cannot, in the peculiar state of this record,

be held as matter of law competent evidence

against him. We have found no pei'suasive deci-

sion sustaining such legal presumption (in the

absence of statutory requirement of correct book-
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keeping), except on proof that the books were

kept under the instruction, direction or super-

vision of the person against whom the entries are

offered, or that such person presumably had
examined the books or in some way obtained

actual knowledge of the entries.
'

'

In the case of McDonald v. U. S., 241 Fed. 793, 800,

one Hendrey, the president of a Memphis bank, with

plaintiffs in error and six others, was indicted for

using the mails in furtherance of a scheme to defraud

by organizing a company, called a bank, but in sub-

stance a holding company or chain of banks, and sell-

ing stock in and getting deposits therefor by false

representations. In reversing the judgment of convic-

tion, the court held

:

"Evidence was received as to the contents of

the books of the Memphis bank of which Hendrey
was president. This bank was a corporation, and
the contents of the books of the corporation could

not be put in evidence in a criminal prosecution

against the president, without a more direct show-

ing of his personal responsibility for the book-

keeping than we observe here. Worden v. United

States (C. C. A. 6), 204 Fed. 1, 9, 122 C. C. A.

315."

See also

:

People V. Blackman, 127 Cal. 248, 253;

Oshorne v. U. S., 17 Fed. (2d) 246, 248.

As the defendants futilely endeavored to protect

themselves against the errors just discussed by sub-

mitting a proposed instruction with that end in view,

we will next take up the error of the trial court in

refusing to give the instruction.
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V.

THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GIVE INSTRUCTION NO.

55 REQUESTED BY ALL DEFENDANTS (ASSIGNMENT OF
ERROR NO. 93, R. 1525), AND IN GIVING THE INSTRUCTION
WHICH APPEARS ON PAGE 1292 OF THE RECORD AND IS

DESCRIBED IN ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 394. (R. 1526.)

The two errors ineiitioned above are here considered

together, for the reason that the instruction given and

the instruction refused, relate to the same principle

of law, the former being an incorrect statement of the

principle and the latter the true expression thereof.

Necessarily, the same authorities which sustain the

one, repudiate the other.

Not only does the evidence disclose, as we have

demonstrated hereinabove, that the defendants

McKeon had no comiection with the various corpora-

tions whose books were admitted in evidence, with

the exception of the McKeon Drilling Company, and

with the excejjtion of Robert McKeon 's directorship

in ''Italo", but (as the given instruction above re-

ferred to states) they "testified that they did not know

the contents" of the books in question.

Under the authorities just cited (supra, pages 277-

282) none of these books were admissible against either

of the McKeons because it was not proved that they

made the entries therein, or knew their contents.

In an effort to save themselves from the prejudicial

eft'ect, of the erroneous admission in e^ddence of the

books in question, the defendants requested the giving

of a corrective instruction, as follows:

''You are instructed that all of the e\ddence

which has been received in this case is not appli-

cable to all of the defendants. Onlv such evi-
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dence as tends to directly connect a particular

defendant with the offenses charged in the in-

dictment, can be considered by you in determin-

ing the guilt of that defendant. With respect to

the books of accoimt and other records of the

various corporations concerning which testimony

has been admitted, you are instructed that the

mere fact that a defendant is an officer, director,

or employee of such company, does not make such

books in any^vise admissible as to him. Before

any entry in such books can be considered by you

in determining the guilt of any defendant, it must

first be proven to you beyond a reasonable doubt

that such defendant made, or caused to be made,

that particular entry, or that it was made with his

knowledge and under his supervision. Unless you

so find, no entry in the books of accomit can be

considered by you in any mamier as proving or

tending to prove the guilt of any defendant.

(Osborne v. U. S. (17 F. (2) 246), C. C. A. 9.)"

(R. 1319.)

The trial court spurned the opportunity of correct-

ing its serious error and, fl\Tiig directly in the face of

the imanimous and imquestioned authority of the deci-

sions hereinbefore cited, gave the following instruc-

tion, which instead of relieving the error, magni-

fied it

:

"Some of the defendants have testified that

they did not know the contents of the books and

records of any of the corporations involved in

this prosecution, and in this comiection you are

instructed that if you find from the evidence that

such defendants dominated and controlled and

had access to the books and records of such con-

cern or concerns, and that such books and records
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were kept under their direction, you may infer

that they had knowledge of the contents thereof

for everyone who is in control of an organization

and has the right of access to its books and records

and under whose direction such books and records

are kept is charj^^ed with knowledge of their con-

tents. " (R. 12920

When one for the moment considers that the Gov-

ei*nment, in putting in its case, placed such great reli-

ance upon the importance of the inferences, to be

drawn from those books so erroneously admitted, as

to place those inferences on charts of such startling

dimensions as surely must have established some kind

of a world's record for size of exhibits in a court of

justice, it is difficult indeed to believe that the error

in the refusal of the one instruction, and the giving

of the other was a trivial thing.

For authorities upon the proposition that such

errors entitled the appellants to a reversal of the

Judgment see pages 277-282 herein.
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VI.

THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING IN EVIDENCE OVER DE-

FENDANTS' OBJECTIONS, THE SUMMARIES PREPARED
BY THE WITNESS GOSHORN (U. S. EXHIBITS 297 AND 299),

IN OVERRULING DEFENDANTS' OBJECTIONS TO THE
EVIDENCE OF SAID WITNESS DIRECTED TO SAID SUM-

MARIES AND THEIR ITEMS AND GIVING THE RESULT OF
THE INVESTIGATIONS MADE BY HIM, AND REFUSING TO
STRIKE SAID EXHIBITS FROM THE RECORD. (Assignment

of Error 47, R. 1447-8; Assignment of Error 47-A, R. 1448-60;

Assignment of Error 48, R. 1461-2; Assignment of Error 51, R.

1471-3; and Assignment of Error 53, R. 1475.)

The matters involved in each of the assignments of

error above referred to relate to the same subject-

matter and involve a discussion of identical legal

principles and therefore, for the sake of brevity and

the convenience of the court, we are giving them col-

lective consideration.

Towards the conclusion of the government's case,

over the objection of defendants, two exhibits were

introduced in evidence (U. S. Exhibits 297 and 299)

which had been prepared by the government's ac-

countant, G. S. Goshorn, each of which exhibits con-

tained two summaries.

The first summary appearing in Exhibit 297 char-

acterizes and purports to show the disposition of the

4,500,000 shares of stock issued and delivered to the

McKeon Drilling Company (R. 595-7) and the other

the alleged realization by certain of the defendants

from such purported disjjosition. (R. 598.)

The first summary appearing in Exhibit 299 pur-

ports to represent the disposition of the 600,000 units

of Italo stock paid for the assets of the Brownmoor

Oil Company (R. 636-7), while the second summary
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purports to show the alleged realization by certain

defendants from such purported disposition. (R.

638-9.)

A chart approximately five feet wide and ten feet

high representing each of these exhibits was placed

on a standard and thereafter and throughout the trial

maintained in the jury room in full view of the jury.

(R. 594; 635.) Likewise, over the objection of the

defendants, to which reference will be made in an-

other point and under another title, these summaries
were taken into the jury room and considered by the

jury during its deliberations. (R. 1135; 1140-1.)

The first of these summaries (Exhibit 297) arbi-

trarily divides the 4,500,000 shares of Italo stock

issued and delivered to McKeon Drilling Company for

its assets into two classifications, viz.,

(a) That which is characterized on the sum-
mary as stock retained by McKeon Drilling Com-
pany purporting to represent the actual consider-

ation received by it for its assets and therein

stated to be 2,015,7111/4 of common stock, and

(b) Stock characterized in said smmnary as

''bonus" or ''commission" stock, therein stated

to have been distributed by McKeon Drilling

Company, amounting to 1,484,288% of conmion
and 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock. (R.

595-7.)

The second siumnary (Exhibit 297) purports to

represent the amount realized in cash and stock from
the distribution of the 4,500,000 shares of stock re-

ceived by the McKeon Company. (R. 598.) This sum-
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mary was necessarily based upon the first summary

and assumed its accuracy, as well as the integrity of

the characterization given thereon to the stock both

common and preferred. Any defect in the first sum-

mary destroyed the accuracy of the second.

After the first smmnary had been exhibited to the

jury, upon the objection of the defendants the word

^^ bonus'\ wherever it appeared therein, was directed

to be stricken out, and over the objection of defend-

ants, the w^ord ''commissions" ordered to be substi-

tuted therefor. (R. 601-3.) This change, however,

was never made and the word "bonus" remained, as

it still appears, upon the summary. (R. 595-7, Items

16 and 39.)

An identical situation exists with respect to the

first summary appearing on Exhibit 299. While dur-

ing the examination of the wdtness with reference to

this summary, the court stated:

''Well, we will eliminate the word 'bonus' for

the present as being more or less a conclusion of

the witness. It is something that a jury will pass

upon" (R. 641),

the word ^^ bonus" was permitted to remain and still

appears upon the summary. (R. 636.)

To the introduction in evidence of these smnmaries

as well as evidence given upon direct examination by

Goshorn respecting the matters shown thereon, which

evidence was in effect a literal repetition of what

appeared in the smimiaries, the defendants objected,

which objection was overruled by the court. (R. 590-

592; 599; 600-3; 606-7; 617-8; 635.)
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It was agreed that the objections made should stand

as to all questions asked of the witness respecting the

uiattevs ai)|)earing on the suniniaries. (R. 600.)

Upon the conclusion of Goshorn's testimony the

defendants moved to strike out Exhibits 297 and 299

upon the ground that the testimony of the witness

showed that said exhibits were incompetent ; that they

were made up in part from records that were not in

evidence and in part by statements made by individ-

uals which were hearsay, which motion was denied.

(R. 680.)

Claim of defendants.

Briefly epitomized, it is claimed by defendants

that each of these summaries, together with oral tes-

timony given by the witness in support thereof and

relating thereto, was inadmissible principally upon
the following grounds:

(a) That the evidence was nothing more or less

than the opinion and conclusion of the witness with

respect to disputed matters of fact upon issues vital

to the defendants, the determination of which dis-

puted matters from the evidence was exclusively with-

in the province of the jury, and that by the admission

of this evidence the court permitted the opinion and

conclusion of the witness to be substituted for the

judgment of the jury,

(b) That the smnmaries in evidence were based

in large measure upon books and records not offered

or introduced in evidence and not before the court or

jury.
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(c) That Exhibit 297 and the evidence of Goshorn

relating thereto, was based upon the assumed truth

and effect of the oral testimony of George Stratton.

(d) That no proper fomidation was laid for the

introduction of the books upon which the summaries

were in part based, and

(e) That the summaries were inadmissible against

the McKeons because their introduction was in viola-

tion of the Bill of Particulars.

Points (d) and (e) will not be discussed here for

the reason that the legal principles therein involved

are given consideration elsewhere in this brief. It

might be well, however, for us to supplement the au-

thorities elsewhere herein cited in support of Point

(d) by a particular reference to the case of

Phillips V. United States, 201 Fed. 259 at 260,

where the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Eighth

Circuit reversed the conviction of the defendant be-

cause of the error in admitting the testimony of an

accountant with reference to books erroneously ad-

mitted. The following language appears in the de-

cision :

"We think, however, that the true rule is that

before such expert testimony may be given the

books or documents nmst be public records, or,

if they are private books of accomit or docu-

ments, that sufficient evidence must first be given

to admit the books or documents themselves in

evidence, unless the books or documents are ad-

mitted to be correct. Otherwise, items in books

of account might be given in evidence through

the testuTiony of an expert accountant, when the



291

account books themselves would not be admissible.

This would seem to be wrong in principle and
dangerous in practice."

(a) The summaries Exhibits 297 and 299 were conclusions

of witness as to disputed facts.

That the exhibits themselves, as well as the evidence

of the witness relating thereto, constituted nothing

more or less than the witness' conclusion and opinion

based upon his understanding of the evidence, oral

and docmnentary, introduced upon the trial, as well

as upon certain books and records not in evidence, is

not only apparent from an examination of the docu-

ments, but was admitted by the witness and demon-

strated upon his cross-examination, to which refer-

ence will shortly be made. That considering the issues

to be determined by the jury, this evidence, both oral

and documentary, was highly prejudicial and in all

probability the turning point in the case with respect

to the jury, cannot be successfully challenged.

In presenting this point, excepting as to the law,

we will discuss the two exhibits and the evidence re-

lating thereto separately.

Exhibit 297 reflected solely the

opinion and conclusion of the

witness.

It was the claim of the govermnent and one upon
which it principally relied in support of the indict-

ment, that 1,484,28814 shares of common and 1,000,000

shares of preferred stock of Italo, out of the 4,500,000

shares transferred to the McKeon Company in ex-

change for its assets, was ''bonus" or ''commission"

stock, which stock or its avails formed no part of the
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real consideration for such assets, but by prearrange-

ment between the parties was to be ultimately ac-

quired by the officers and those alleged to be in con-

trol of the Italo Petroleum Corporation.

The integrity of this claim was ^dgorously assailed

by the defendants who contended and testified that

no such understanding existed and that regardless of

what was done with this stock by the McKeon Com-

pany it was all received by it as the actual and

agTeed consideration for its assets. The issue raised

by these conflicting claims constituted the most im-

portant, if not the controlling issue of fact in the case.

Notwithstanding this conceded situation, by means

of the graphic smmnaries (Exhibit 297) constantly

within the observation of the jury not only during

the lengthy trial but also while deliberating upon its

verdict, the government was permitted to impress

upon the jury the opinion and conclusion of the wit-

ness Goshorn reflected by these smimiaries, as well

as by his evidence, that the major portion of the stock

represented "bonus" stock, and that certain of the

defendants received for their own benefit the alleged

''bonus" stock or its proceeds represented by the

smmnaries to have been distributed to or received by

them. Apart from characterizing part of this stock

as "bonus" or "commission" stock, and aside from

asserting that the so-called "bonus" or "commission"

stock was distributed by the McKeon Company (R.

595-7, Items 16 and 39) this smnmary detailed the

names of defendants and others claimed by the wit-

ness to have received certain of said stock, the nmn-
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ber of shares so received and the purpose for which

said stock was distributed to them. The second sum-

mary undertook to state the cash and stock or either

that the defendants had realized therefrom.

Without reference to the cross-examination of Gos-

horn, to which we will hereafter briefly refer, an ex-

amination of Exhibit 297 will quickly convince the

court that the contention of defendants is finnly

grounded. Item 1 represents that the 2,000,000 shares

of common stock were ''retained" by McKeon Drill-

ing Company, Inc., the assmnption being that it was

the only stock consideration received by McKeon
Drilling Company. Item 2 shows that 15,711io shares

were reacquired from such company, makiiio; a total

of 2,015,711^2 shares. Items 3 to 11 inclusive imder-

take to show the distribution of this stock, while

Items 12 to 11 purport to show the details of Item

11. Part of this latter item, however, is characterized

as ''bonus" stock. Item 16 defines the balance of the

common stock aggregating 1,181,28814 as "bonus"
common stock distributed by McKeon Drilling Com-
pany. (R. 595-6.) In Items 16 to 36 the smnmary
piu'ports to show how this so-caUed "bonus" stock

was distributed and in some instances characterizes

the purpose of such distribution. (R. 596.) The siun-

mary relatins,' to the distribution of the preferred

stock is initiated with Item 39 which described the

stock as •' 'bonus' preferred stock distributed by the

McKeon Drilling Company, 1,000,000 shares". An
identical situation exists with respect to the items

relating to the distribution of the preferred stock.

(R. 597, Items 39 to 51.)



294

That the word ''bonus" was purposely used on

the summaries and in the testimony of the witness, for

the purpose of persuading the jury to believe that all

of the stock so characterized was received by the Mc-

Keon Drilling Company under the alleged secret ar-

rangement to return it to those in charge of or

dominating Italo Corporation, and that it constituted

no part of the actual consideration demanded or re-

ceived by the McKeon Drilling Company for its as-

sets, admits of no doubt. That it effected such in-

tended purpose cannot be successfully challenged.

The second summary relating to the ''realization"

from the disposition of said stock undertakes to rep-

resent to the jury the exact amount of cash and stock,

or both, received by McKeon Drilling Company and

each of the defendants on trial. (R. 598.) Detailed

attention will be given some of these items in direct-

ing the court's attention to Goshorn's cross-examina-

tion with respect thereto.

Direct examination of Goshom.

An illustration of Goshorn's examination by the

government to which objection was made is disclosed

by the following portion of the record:

"Q. Now, Mr. Goshorn, using the summary
for the purpose of illustration, will 3^ou state

what the disposition of the 4,500,000 shares of the

capital stock of the Italo Petroleum Corporation

of America that was provided to be paid by the

McKeon Drilling Company in the contract was?

Mr. Divet. That is objected to as calling for

a conclusion of the witness on the construction

of the exhibit and upon all the grounds urged in
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the last objection. May it now be understood that

the objection may stand to all similar questions

concerning the exhibit.

The Court. Yes. Answer the question.

Mr. Divet. Exception.

A. The smnniary shows the disposition of the

3,500,000 shares of common stock, and the 1,000,-

000 shares of preferred stock of the Italo Petro-

lemn Corporation of America as shown by the

books and records which were issued in acquir-

ing the properties of the McKeon Drilling Com-
pany, Inc. The first smnmary relates to the com-
mon stock. Line No. 1 is retained by the McKeon
Drilling Company, Inc., 2,000,000 shares of com-
mon. Line No. 2 refers to reacquired common
stock which was reacquired from the McKeon
Drilling Company escrow with Shingle, Brown
& Company, 15,711% shares, making a total of

2,015,711% shares, which was distributed as fol-

lows: Line 4 shows 25,000 shares of common
going to a Mr. Stewart for commission." (R. 600.)

And after testifying that the word ^' bonus'' stock

was his otvn designation (R. 601), the witness con-

tinued to testify along the lines above indicated, his

answers being conJ&ned practically to an exact repeti-

tion of what appears upon the smnmary. (R. 603.)

Comparable testimony was given by the witness in

referring to the so-called ''bonus" stock items, his

answers being confined to a reproduction of what ap-

peared upon the summary. (R. 603-6.) An identical

procedure was pui'sued with respect to the second

smmnary. (R. 607-8.)
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Integrity of objections demon-

strated upon cross-examination.

If, after considering the summaries, as well as the

direct examination of Goshorn, the court is in doubt

respecting the admissibility of the smmnaries or of

the witness' evidence, such doubt will be dispelled by

the testimony given by the witness upon cross-exami-

nation.

Designation given to stock con-

ceded to be Goshorn 's conclusion.

With respect to this subject-matter the witness on

cross-examination testified

:

*'The designation given to various matters con-

tained on Exhibits 297 and 299 is my conclusion.

The use of the word 'bonus' on Exhibit 297 is my
expression." (R. 646.)

The witness then testified that the word "bonus''

was used in the books of the McKeon Company in but

one instance, with respect to 25,000 shares of stock

that were given to Hugh Stewart, but it was admitted

that the stock was given to Stewart as compensation

for services actually rendered to the McKeon Com-

pany and that it had no sinister aspect, his testimony

being

:

''The record shows that the 25,000 shares of

coimnon stock was given to Hugh Stewart for

services to the McKeon Drilling Company. The
record states that Hugh Stewart received 25,000

shares of that stock in compensation for services

rendered." (R. 646.)

In fact, the position of this stock in the smnmary

shows that it was McKeon Company stock. (Ex. 297,
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Item 4, R. 595.) That the word ''bonus'' is not other-

wise used ill any exhibit in evidence is also shown by

the witness, his testimony being:

''I don't recall any other place in the books and
records that I examined and that are in evidence

where the word 'bonus' appears as is shown on
Exhibit 297 and 298." (R. 646.)

A similar situation exists with respect to the use of

the word ''commissions'', the witness testifying:

"With respect to the suggestion of the district

attorney that the word 'ho nils' appearing on Ex-
hibit 297 should be substituted b}" the word 'corn-

mission' I believe that the reference to the word
'commissions' appears only on the books and
records of the McKeon Drilling Company with
respect to 2,000,000 shares of stock. I don't be-

lieve that the receipts in evidence for stock ob-

tained by various individuals from Shingle,

Bro^^^l & Company of the McKeon Drilling Com-
pany escrow stock the word 'commission' appears.

I believe I said that the Shingle, Brown receipts

designated that stock as 'commissions'. // / did

I am in error. I did not find in the records of

Shingle, Brown tt* Company escrow of the Mc-
Keon Drilling Company stocJx, any reference to

any stock being paid as a commission." (R.

646-7.)

And as showing that the use of the word "commis-

sions" was entirely unjustified, the witness further

testified

:

''Technically I imagine you would not call all

of the 2,500,000 shares of stock as conunission.

"

(R. 624.)
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And that the stock could not be regarded m the cate-

gory of a ''commission" with respect to some of the

transactions shown upon the smimiary, was also con-

ceded by the witness.

With respect to Item 17 (U. S. Ex. 297) captioned

"Escrow stock substituted for syndicate stock, 35,-

11414 shares" (referring to the big syndicate), for

stock inadvertently sold to Yincent & Company, he

stated

:

''I would not call that a commission." (R. 624.)

With respect to Items 19, 20 and 21 (U. S. Ex. 297,

R. 596) involving 473,971 shares of stock, he testified:

'

' These shares were delivered to Shingle, Brown
& Company from the escrow upon the order of

McKeon Drilling Company, and the consideration

for that direction from the escrow is not indi-

cated.

Q. So that is not properly designated as com-

missions ?

A. I will say that you can term it whatever

you want to, commissions or not. Technically,

prodahly not." (R. 625.)

With respect to the item under caption, "Realiza-

tion, E. Byron Siens, $238,277.45" (R. 598), the wit-

ness testified that $75,000 of that smn was represented

by the proceeds from the sale of 150,000 shares of

Italo common stock which came out of 200,000 shares

of common stock that Avas posted as collateral on a

note given by Siens to the Farmers &: Merchants Na-

tional Bank of Los Angeles evidenced by U. S. Ex-

hibit 256. (R. 622.) This exhibit discloses that as

collateral security for the note of Siens, John McKeon
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delivered to the bank his personal note secured by

200,000 shares of Italo stock, being the stock in ques-

tion, the witness upon this subject testifying:

''That stock was attached to the note of John
McKeon which was in turn collateral for Mr.
Siens' note. The records of the Farmers & Mer-
chants Bank show that the stock was collateral

to the $50,000 note of John McKeon, and then

that note and collateral was used b}^ Mr. Siens as

additional collateral to his note." (R. 623.)

That this loan was for the benefit of John McKeon
is conclusively and without contradiction shown by

his evidence. (R. 1229.)

That no part of the proceeds of this stock should

have been characterized as "commissions" is conceded

by the witness whose testimony is

:

"The same is true as to the stock put up with
the bank to which reference has been made, which
was to secure some loans by Mr. Siens and Mr.
John McKeon, being 200,000 shares of common.
Apparentlij that ivas not in the tcay of commis-
sions or bonuses.'' (R. 625.)

And as further showing that the "realizations" in

cash and stock were nothing more than his conclusions,

he testified:

'

'By examining all of these books in the manner
described I concluded that Mr. Wilkes received

the amount of cash mentioned and the amount of

common and preferred stock mentioned on Ex-
hibit 297." (R. 629-30.)
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Alleged ownership of stock en-

tirely unjustified.

Throughout the summaries prepared by this wit-

ness, stock and the avails of stock are sho^Yn to have

been received by named defendants. The smmnaries,

having been introduced in evidence, the jury would

have been justified in concluding, regardless of any

other evidence, that the stock and moneys were in fact

received by such defendants. Having the smmnaries

constantly before them, particularly during their de-

liberations, considering the nmnerous exhibits, the

leng-th of the trial and the complexity of the issues,

the jury could not help but be impressed and possibly

could only recall what was shown upon these smn-

maries. That these definite and positive representa-

tions were in the main unwarranted and constituted

solely his opinion and conclusion was conclusively

shown by the witness when cross-examined with re-

spect to specific transactions, to some of which refer-

ence will shortly be made. Illustrating generally the

basis for the representations appearing upon the

summaries as to stock ownership, he testified

:

"I have not traced the stock on Exhibit 297 to

its ultimate goal, but I stoj^ped after I traced it

into the hands of the persons I have shown. (R.

615.) * * *

In most instances I did not go further than the

first names of those persons into which the stock

was first transferred." (R. 625.)

It is obvious that he did not follow this procedure

in connection with the stock issued to the McKeon
Drilling Company, because, as shown in the statement

of facts, the 4,500,000 shares of stock were issued by
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the company to Myers, as trustee (R. 609) and later,

when it became desirable to escrow the stock, the

entire issue, with the exception of 60,500 miits sold

for the McKeon Drilling Company by International

Securities Company, were transferred to McKeon

Drilling- Company, in the name of which the certifi-

cates were issued. (R. 601, 628-9.) If, in this instance

the witness had confined his testimony to the name of

the first person to whom the stock had been issued, as

reflected by the certificates of stock issued in the name

of the McKeon Drilling Company, the books of Italo,

the agreement under which the McKeon Company's

assets were sold, and the escrow agreement, he would

have been obliged to testify that all of the stock was

received by the McKeon Company as consideration for

the transfer of its assets.

If any other course were to be pursued, before under-

taking to testify to the ownership of stock—assuming

such testimony admissible—it would have been his

duty to have made an adequate investigation, tracing

the stock to its "ultimate goal" and thus to have quali-

fied himself to testify to such ownership.

Opinion evidence demonstrated

by cross-examination.

Items 36 and 48 (U. S. Ex. 297) : It was clauned by

the Government that some of the so-called "bonus"

stock issued to McKeon Drilling Company was used

to reimburse Vincent & Company for market losses.

This claim was denied by the defendants. The truth

of the transaction was necessarily of great importance

to each of the contending parties. If believed by the

jury, it could readily have aifected its verdict.
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Pressed upon cross-examination, he stated that these

items were based upon U. S. Exhibit 52. (R. 615-6.)

Upon being handed such exhibit, the witness then

testified

:

''Exhibit 52 establishes the Bank of Italy

escrow 125,000 shares of conmion and 125,000

shares of preferred, together with other stock

placed in escrow with Bank of Italy by Shingle,

Brown & Company, and Frederick Vincent signed

the escrow. Exhibit 52 does not state that the

125,000 units were delivered to the Bank of Italy

to take care of market losses of Frederick Vincent

& Company. That information was obtained from
the testimony of Mr, Stratton. Exhibit 52 does

not state what the 125,000 units was to be used

for. It states that out of the certificates of stock

handed to the Bank of Italy, it is authorized 'to

cause to be transferred and issued to said sub-

scribers named in said list, or to the persons by

them nominated in writing, the shares of stock of

said Italo Petroleum Corporation of America to

which said list shows them to be entitled. The

balance of the stock remaining from said certifi-

cates hereinabove last mentioned and such paid

up stock subscriptions as have been fully complied

\vith shall be held by you until the termination of

this escrow at which time they shall be issued to

Frederick Vincent & Company.' " (R. 616.)

Finally the witness conceded that that representa-

tion was not based upon any books or records seen by

him, but only upon information obtained from the

testimony given by Stratton. (R. 616-7.)

Stratton, called as a witness for the Government,

undertook to supj^ort its claim. This evidence of
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Stratton was not only refuted by the defendants, but

by the very pro\'isions of the escrow agreement, under

which the stock was dej^osited with the Bank of Italy,

signed, among others, by Vincent & Company. (R.

281.) The testimony of Stratton in some respects is

palpably and knowingly false, as will hereafter be

pointed out. However, regardless of this circumstance,

Goshorn was not legally justified in using as a basis

for his smmnary or his testimony, the disputed or any

evidence of a witness. It appears therefore that, al-

though no hook or record disclosed that any of the

McKeon stock had been used to compensate Vincent &
Company for market losses, Goshorn deliberately in-

serted in his first smnmary, Items 36 and 48 (XJ. S. Ex.

297) the statement

''Bank of Italy Escrow—Vincent & Company
market losses 125,000 shares" (with reference to

each kind of stock)

and while testifying upon direct examination, repeated

such representations, it then being claimed by him that

the smmnary and his evidence were based upon his

examination only of books and records.

No better illustration should be required than this

to prove that the witness ' testimony is only his opinion

and conclusion. He might as well have been asked

whether in his opinion Stratton was testif\dng to the

truth. If such evidence was inadmissible the sum-

maries and his e^T-dence respecting their representa-

tions is equally inadmissible.

Items 29 and 50 (U. S. Ex. 297) : The inaccuracy of

Exhibit 297 is further shown by the witness ' testimony

with respect to Items 29 and 50 showing ''E. B. Siens
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37,057 shares of coimnon and 32,106 shares of pre-

ferred". These items would lead anyone to conclude,

as Goshorn apparently desired the jury to believe,

that Siens actually received such stock. A lack of basis

for any such representation is shown by the cross-

examination of this witness, his testimony being

:

"I computed these items from Exhibit 228

which shows that E. Byron Siens, on May 13,

1929, mailed to McKeon Drilling Company that

stock. I have no knowledge as to whether or not

they were actually mailed to McKeon Drilling

Company except what the record shows." (R.

621.)

Exhibit 228 consisted of certain ledger sheets of

Shingle, Bi'own & Company pertaining to the McKeon

escrow account which reflected the movements of the

stock in escrow. (R. 459.) According to Goshorn:

"The receipt (for these two blocks of stock) is

signed by Mr. Siens, although it says it is mailed

to the McKeon Drilling Company. I made no

investigation at all as to the mailing of that stock

to the McKeon Drilling Company." (R. 622.)

Notwithstanding what the evidence disclosed, Gos-

horn in his suiTQiiary and testimony, charges Siens

with having received the stock. Even if the jury had

been entitled to infer distribution to Siens, which we

deny, it is obvious that Goshorn 's characterization of

the delivery of the stock was purely his conclusion.

Item 7, U. S. Ex. 297 : Item 7 reads "A. G. Wilkes,

400,000 shares" (connnon). It indicated to the jury

that Wilkes received 400,000 shares of the stock as-

serted to have been retained by the McKeon Company.
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This statement, if believed by the jury, would naturally

have prejudiced the McKeons as well as Wilkes. The

cross-examination of Goshorn again shows the lack of

justification for this item, and that his statement is

nothing- more than his mifomided conclusion. Accord-

ing to his testimony

:

''I base that statement upon Exhibit 228, the

McKeon Drilling Company escrow records kept

by Shingle, Brown & Company and to the last

ledger sheet headed 'Stock for McKeon Drilling

Company' to the entry under date February 15,

1929, which says 'Mail to A. G. Wilkes 400,000

shares of common'.'' (R. 660.)

He inmiediately qualifies his testimony, however, by

stating

:

" It is not my testimony that that 400,000 shares

of common stock went to Mr. Wilkes for his use

and benefit. * * * j have not traced those 400,000

shares of conmion stock. I testified that in many
instances the certificate number did not appear.

I don't recall those particular shares." (R. 660.)

Upon being shown Exhibit 228 and the sheet headed

''A. G. Wilkes" being part of the McKeon escrow

records, he admitted that

''that ejchihit does not show that the 400,000 shares

of stock went to A. G. WilJies. It shows that the

400,000 shares of stock were charged to the ac-

count of the McKeon Drilling Company and not to

the account of A. G. Wilkes." (R. 661.)

His attention was then called to Exhibit 113 con-

sisting of the series of letters dated February 15, 1929,

and February 19, 1929, stating in substance as follows

:
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"that certificates for 400,000 shares of common
stock were being mailed to Wilkes at the Biltmore

Hotel, Los Angeles, and charged to the McKeon
Drilling Company acconnt, to be used as collateral

for a bank loan, and giving the certificate numbers

of the stock/' (R. 661.)

whereupon the witness then testified:

''I made no examination or investigation for

the purpose of ascertaining whether that 400,000

shares of stock described in Exhibit 113 were

deposited at the bank as collateral security for

a loan to the McKeon Drilling Company, and I

made no effort to follow out or trace the certifi-

cates of stock the numbers of which appear in

Exhibit 113 representing those 400,000 shares."

(R. 661.)

And notwithstanding his former testimony that the

Shingle-Brown records failed to contain the certificate

numbers of certificates distributed, he was compelled

to testify:

"In some instances the escrow records kept by

Shingle, Brown & Company of the McKeon stock

show that when the stock was distributed to any

person the certificate nimibers of the certificates

distributed appeared. / do not have in mind right

now any particular instance in which the escrow

records kept hy Shingle, Brotvn <k Company of

the McKeon Drilling Company do not show the

certificate numbers of stock distributed to any

particular person." (R. 661.)

Items -*! and 14 (U. S. Ex. 297): Each of these

items is designated "Escrow stock substituted for

syndicate stock." The first appears under the designa-
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tioii '^Bonus Coininon Stock distributed by McKeon
Drilling Company" (Item 16) and the next under the

designation ''Bonus Preferred Stock distributed by

McKeon Drilling Company", Inc. (Item 39.) (R.

596-7.)

The court will recall that on account of the commit-

ments made by Shingle, as manager of the so-called

big syndicate, it was imj^ossible for the syndicate to

sell to Vincent & Company in excess of approximately

122,000 miits of Italo stock and that through mistake

the auditor of Shingle, Brown & Company had de-

livered to Vincent & Co. stock aggregating the amount

of these two items. (R. 1001.) Unless the com-

mitments thus made by the s\Tidicate manager to the

stock brokers with whom arrangements had been made
to sell Italo stock for the benefit of Italo, were carried

out, it would have been impossible for Italo to have

made its pa^anents upon the proposed purchase by it,

and financial disaster would have followed. To save

the situation the McKeon Drilling Company volun-

tarily substituted its escrowed stock for the syndicate

stock thus inadvertently withdrawn, the sale price of

which was paid to it. "Why Goshorn assumed to be-

lieve that he was justified in characterizing such stock

as "bonus" stock is inconceivable. In any event it can

be readily understood that such representation, as w-ell

as his evidence supporting the same, was purely his

opinion and conclusion, a matter solely within the

province of the jury to determine. Some of the testi-

mony with respect to this item shows his unquestioned

unfairness. Although testifying that he had made an

examination of the records of Fred Shingle, syndicate
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manager of the big syndicate (R. 659), he further

stated

:

''I did not examine the records of the syndicate

and do not know whether as of October 15, 1928,

options had been given to brokers for 2,500,000

shares of that coimnon syndicate stock, and I do

not know how^ much of the 3,000,000 shares of

common stock held by Fred Shingle, as syndicate

manager, was under option as of October 16, 1928.

* * *" (R. 657.)

Witness' evidence based upon

previously prepared questions

and answers.

A most remarkable situation was disclosed upon the

cross-examination of Ooshorn, which would indicate

that all of the evidence herein criticized was de-

liberately and intentionally given. Apparently an at-

tempt was being made to ascertain the basis of the

character of evidence being given b}^ hun, in response

to which he testified:

*'In giving my testimony 1 did so pursuant to

typew^ritten questions and answers, which I have

in my hand." (R. 647.)

Exhibit 299: Summaries respect-

ing: Brownmoor Oil Co.

An identical situation -will be disclosed by an ex-

amination of U. S. Exhibit 299 (R. 636-9) and the

testimony of the witness addressed to the two smn-

maries contained in that exhibit. (R. 640-3.) Refer-

ence to some of the items appearing upon this exhibit

will suffice to establish the proposition just asserted.
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Admission of witness respecting

conclusions.

That the matters appearing* upon this exhibit, as

well as Exhibit 297 were his conclusions, the witness

testified

:

"The designation given to various matters con-

tained on exhibits 297 and 299 is my conclusion."

(R. 6-^6.) * * *

"My CO )t elusions in Exhibit 299 are based upon

the stock certificate book of the Bro\\aunoor Oil

Company and the contract between the Bro\^^l-

moor Oil Company and the Italo Petrolemn for

the payment of the 600,000 units." (R. 647.)

Making mention of Item 2 (Ex. 299) as follows:

"Bonus given to members of the $80,000 syndicate",

the witness testified

:

"The expression 'honus given' is my conclu-

sion. The books and records do not disclose the

word ^honus' and do not discJose whether it tvas

given or not. The books say it is but part of the

consideration for the $80,000." (R. 676.)

Specific items demonstrating*

conclusions.

The first smnmary in Exhibit 299 purports to deal

with the 600,000 miits of Italo stock issued to Brown-

moor Oil Company for its assets. Preliminarily it

may be stated that the title to the chart is itself

prejudicially misleading, because by the use of the

words "issued in acquiring the properties of the

Brownmoor Oil Company" the impression is created

that the Italo Company issued to the defendants and

other individuals mentioned in the smnmary, the

shares of stock purported to have been received by
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them, when, as a matter of fact, the stock was issued

to the Browmnoor Oil Company, and by it, mider a

permit issued by the Corporation Commissioner, de-

livered to its stockholders in exchange for their cer-

tificates of stock. (R. 511.)

Item 2. ''Bonus given to members of $80,000 syn-

dicate 40,000 common, 40,000 preferred stock (R.

636) : The court will recall that 40,000 miits of the

stock were exchanged by the BroAMimoor Oil Company

for the 80,000 shares of its stock, assigned by Vincent

& Company, as consideration for the loan of $80,000 to

Italo by Fred Shingle, syndicate manager. In dealing

with this stock, the witness characterized it as

*' bonus" given to the members of the $80,000 syndi-

cate (R. 636) the impression given to the jury being

that it was promotion stock. We have already shown

that according to his own testimony, this was purely

his conclusion and opinion. (R. 676.)

Furthermore, under the caption to the chart above

referred to, the jury undoubtedly concluded that the

40,000 shares, represented part of the so-called

''bonus" stock, claimed to have been issued by Italo,

and that it w^as furnished by Italo to the syndicate

manager. That such was not the fact was conceded

by Goshorn, upon cross-examination, where he tes-

tified :

"Italo Petroleum Corporation of America
never put up the 40,000 shares of Brownmoor Oil

Company stock that became the bomis stock for

the $80,000 loan syndicate." (R. 651.)

That the loan agreement between the Italo Company
and the syndicate manager did not provide for the
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payment of any bonus stock was stipulated by the

Govermnent. (R. 649.)

Item 4. Horace J. Brown, 1250 common, 1260 pre-

ferred shares: Upon this item as well as by his tes-

timony on direct examination, the witness undertook

to convey to the jury the belief that the defendant

Brown was a subscriber to the $80,000 s\aidicate and

was given 1250 units of Italo (bonus) stock. On
cross-examination the witness admitted:

"With reference to the next name, 'Horace J.

Brown, amoimt subscribed $2500', Mr. Brown paid

it. On Exhibit 142 opposite the name Horace J.

Brown is the notation 'Paid, O. B. Wilkes'. That

would indicate to me that the Brown subscription

was paid by O. B. Wilkes. I do not know
whether the stock that was issued in the name of

Horace J. Brown in that syndicate was actually

transferred to the party named O. B. Wilkes and
received by her. I did not make any effort to

ascertain whether that stock did ^o to O. B.

Wilkes but left it in the name in w^hich the cer-

tificate stood." (R. 652-3.)

It is obvious that the item, as well as the e\'idence of

the witness, reflected only his conclusion, because the

record establishes Avithout contradiction that the sub-

scription of Bro^\^l was taken over by Mrs. O. B.

Wilkes who received the stock referred to by the

witness. (R. 968-9.)

Items re B. L. 3Iikel and Axton F. Jones (Ex. 299):

Items 4 and 5 of the first summary appearing in Ex-

hibit 299 occupy the same situation as the item just

discussed. Each of the subscriptions of Mikel and

Jones was assigned to Perata by whom the subscrij)-
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tions were paid and to whom the stock was delivered

(R. 837; 887-8), yet the name of Perata does not ap-

pear upon the smnmary. The exhibit upon which this

portion of the summary was based was Exhibit 142,

with respect to which the witness testified:

''With respect to Exhibit 142 the subscriptions

of Rossiter Mikel and Axel F. Jones each for

$2500, I did not conduct an investigation to ascer-

tain whether those two subscriptions or any part

of them was assigned and transferred to any other

person. The notation on the side there is 'Paid

Perata'." (R. 653.)

The representations on the summaries and the tes-

timony of Goshorn with respect to this and the pre-

ceding item were obviously unfair to Brown, Jones

and Mikel, because they purported to show% and they

conveyed to the jury the information that the three

defendants mentioned received such bonus stock, when

as a matter of fact, as the records in evidence show,

and the witness knew, the subscriiDtions had been

transferred to, and the stock received by other jDcrsons.

Item 11 (Ex. 299) : Fred Shingle 230,000 shares

common, 230,000 shares preferred. (R. 637.) This

item is without the slightest justification. That it had

an effect upon the jury prejudicial to defendants must

be conceded. It relates to the stock issued without the

knowledge of Fred Shingle and his name was en-

dorsed upon the certificates by Vincent without

Shingle's knowledge or authority. This is established

by the evidence beyond the shadow of a doubt. (R.

277.) It was conceded by Government witness Vin-

cent, w^ho testified:
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''This 230,000 units of stock was Italo stock and

not Brownmoor stock. The receipt 'Exhibit 38'

signed by Fred Shingle, dated June 1, 1928, is

signed by me. The words 'Fred Shingle' are in

my handwriting on that receipt. I don't remem-

ber the circmnstances under Avhich I placed my
handwriting on these receipts." (R. 440.)

That all of the circumstances surrounding the transac-

tion relating to the 230,000 units of stock was well

known to the witness is shown by his testimony

:

"From my examination of the records of

Shingle, Brown & Company, and particularly the

ins and outs, I did not find any record of the

receipt by Shingle, Brown & Company of cer-

tificates representing 230,000 units of the Italo

Petroleum Corporation of America which has

been referred to here in evidence as having been

issued in the name of Fred Shingle. I found no

record whatever in the books of the receipt by
that company of those certificates of stock. I did

not find any record of Shingle, Brown & Com-
pany where that company, as a brokerage trans-

action, had any sale or confirmation of sale of

those certificates representing 230,000 units of

stock that stood in the name of Fred Shingle.

(R. 654-5.) * * * I did not find any record

of Shingle, Brown & Company or the Mont-
gomery Investment Company which showed the

receipt of those 230,000 units of stock." (R. 655.)

The witness was then examined upon Defendant's

Exhibit E, being the penciled memorandum written by

Stratton, one of the partners in Vincent & Company,
whereupon he stated

:
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''By referring to Defendant's Exhibit E and

government Exhibit 171, it is a fact that

Frederick Vincent & Company bought the 450,000

shares of Browmnoor Oil Company stock re-

ferred to in the letter (Ex. 171) and paid there-

for the sum of $110,000. The equivalent cost of

that stock in units of stock would have been

91,666 units. The 230,000 units of stock re-

ceipted for by Frederick Vincent in signing Fred
Shingle's name to Exhibit 38 was distributed to

various and sundry persons according to the stock

transfer records of the Italo Petroleum Corpora-

tion, those persons being designated by Frederick

Vincent & Company. No part of those 230,000

units of stock went back to or in the name of

Fred Shingle." (R. 656.)

This is not only a flagrant case of misrepresenta-

tion, but again proves the contention of defendants

that the items upon the simimaries are merely opin-

ions and conclusions of the witness, in some instances

based upon only such portions of the evidence to

which he saw fit to give consideration, and in other

instances having no evidentiary basis whatever.

Some of the remaining items in Exhibit 299 are sub-

ject to similar criticism, but further reference would

unduly prolong this section of our brief. In order,

however, to convince this court that we are not un-

necessarily harsh in our criticism of Goshorn and

his testimony we desire to draw its attention to two

other phases of his testimony. U. S. Exhibit 298 (R.

633) is a summary prepared by Goshorn purporting

to represent the stockholders of the Brownmoor Oil

Company as of the date of the sale of its assets to
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Italo. According to Goshorn's testimony it was com-

piled from the "stock certificate book" of Brown-

moor and he states he had

"computed and inchided in this schedule the num-
ber of shares of Italo stock those lirownmoor

stockholders were entitled to receive respectively

because of the sale of the Brownmoor assets to

Italo Petroleum Corporation of America." (R.

631.)

It will be observed that this exhibit does not dis-

close the issuance of 80,000 shares in the name of

Fred Shingle or 420,000 shares in the name of E.

Byron Siens. The unfairness and lack of integrity of

Goshorn's schedule is disclosed throughout his cross-

examination thereon. Upon cross-examination he tes-

tified:

"The Merchant's National Bank, now Bank of

America, was the registrar and transfer agent for

the Brownmoor Oil Company." (R. 650.)

Thereupon U. S. Exhibit 147 for Identification was

received in evidence, whereupon the witness contin-

ued his cross-examination as follows:

"I saw these ledger cards that are a part of

Exhibit 147 but did not make a detailed audit of

them. '

'

The records of the Brownmoor Oil Company pro-

duced by the Bank of America, registrar and transfer

agent for Brownmoor Oil Company, show that there

was deposited l)y E. Byron Siens certificate for 500,001

shares of the capital stock of the Brownmoor Oil Com-

pany with instructions to issue 80,000 shares there-
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from in four certificates of 20,000 shares each in the

name of Fred Shingle, and the remaining stock, con-

sistmg of 220,001 shares in the name of E. Byron

Siens. Exhibit 147, the stock ledger card, shows that

on May 3, 1928, certificates Nos. 1, 2, 3 and 4 for

20,000 shares each of the capital stock of the Brown-

moor Oil Company were issued in the name of Fred

Shingle. Exhibit 147 further shows that as of Febru-

ary 21, 1928, E. Byron Siens was a stockholder in

Brownmoor Oil Company rex)resented by certificate

No. 60 for 500,001 shares which was surrendered May

3, 1928, and thereupon certificate No. 6 for 420,001

shares of the capital stock of the Brownmoor Oil Com-

pany was issued in the name of E. Byron Siens. (R.

650-1.)

Another instance of this character is shown by

Goshorn's testimony respecting the capitalization of

the Brownmoor Oil Company. Upon cross-examina-

tion he testified that on the date of the Brownmoor-

Italo contract its capitalization was 1,000,000 shares.

(R. 648.) The fact is that on December 13, 1927, a

resolution was adopted by the board of directors of

the Brownmoor Company authorizing the increase of

its capital to 2,000,000 shares of stock. No mention

of this resolution was made by the witness although

it was enacted prior to the Browmnoor-Italo trans-

action.

(b) Summaries contained in U. S. Ex. 297 based in part

upon records not in evidence.

That the exhibit itself as well as the details of the

summaries appearing therein was in part based upon

the books and records of Wilkes-Cavanaugh, a part-
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nership, none of which were introduced in evidence,

is conceded, the witness testifying:

"I have examined the books and records in evi-

dence, a)id the hooks and records of Wilkes and
Cavanaugh, partners, that I have just described,

for the purpose of ascertaining the disposition of

the 4,500,000 shares of stock issued by the Italo

Petroleum Corporation of America for the assets

of the McKeon Drilling Company, Inc., and of

ascertaining the amount of money and stock real-

ized by the defendants from that 4,500,000 shares

of stock. From the examination I have ascer-

tained and prepared a summary reflecting the dis-

position of the stock based on the records and

books in evidence and the hooks and records of

Wilkes-Cavanaugh partnership. * * *" (R.

590-1.)

Later on he testified:

"These records are all in evidence except the

books and records of Wilkes and Cavanaugh part-

nership." (R. 610.) See also page 612.

Still later he testified:

"* * * The books of Wilkes-Cavanaugh part-

nership were examined by me and I used them as

a basis for my testimonj^, hut those hooks and

records are not in evidence." (R. 645.)

(c) Exhibit 297 and evidence of Goshom in part based

upon assumed truth of oral evidence of Stratton.

As has already been pointed out, on cross-exami-

nation the witness Goshorn admitted that his con-

clusion that Items 36 and 48 (U. S. Ex. 297) pur-

porting to show alleged bonus stock aggregating 150,-

000 shares given Vincent & Company to compensate
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it for market losses was based solely upon the testi-

mony of Stratton, his testimony being

:

''That information was obtained from the tes-

timony of Mr. Stratton. (R. 616.) * * * The
statement on my summary (Ex. 297) that the

stock was to cover market losses is not based upon
any hooks or records that I saw, but the informa-

tion was obtained from the testimony of Mr.

Stratton." (R. 616-7.)

ARGUMENT.

Exhibits 297 and 299 and the evi-

dence of Goshom relating thereto

were inadmissible upon the

ground that they represented his

opinions and conclusions.

In our opinion no argument is necessary to con-

vince the court that Exhibits 297 and 299 and the evi-

dence of the witness Goshorn respecting the contents

of these exhibits should have been rejected upon the

ground that they reflected solely his opinion and con-

clusion and that the admission of such evidence in-

vaded the province of the jury to the prejudice of

defendants. We are not uiunindful of the rule that

when contents of tvritings consist of numerous ac-

counts or other documents which cannot be examined

in court without great loss of time and the evidence

sought from them is onlv the general result of the

whole, under certain circumstances the evidence of

an expert accountant is admissible to establish tabu-

lations made from such writings. If the testimony of

the witness Goshorn had been confined to such evi-
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dence, objection thereto would not have been made.

The evidence of Goshorn, however, was not thus lim-

ited, but related to the controlling issues of fact that

were to be determined solely by the jury.

In the indictment it was charged, among other

things, that although the Italo paid to the McKeon
Company 4,500,000 shares of its capital stock for its

assets, which it asserted was far in excess of the value

of its properties, there existed a secret arrangement

\Ahereby certain defendants should receive back from

the McKeon Company 2,500,000 shares of its stock,

which stock should be sold and the proceeds converted

to their own use and benefit, and to the exclusion of

the use and benefit of the Italo Company and its stock-

holders. (R. 34-5.) Comparable allegations were made
respecting the Italo stock which was transferred to

the Browmnoor Oil Company in consideration for its

assets. (R. 29-31.) It was fui'ther charged that the

doing of these things was contemplated by and con-

stituted a part of the alleged conspiracy.

No direct e^ddence was introduced by the Govern-

ment tending to establish any such conspiracy, it being

claimed that its existence could be inferred from the

transactions that actually occurred, including the sale

and purchase of the assets, among others, of Brown-

moor Oil Company and McKeon Drilling Company.

Whether the charges thus made against defendants

were in accord with the truth was a matter exclusively

for the determination of the jury from the evidence

before it. Whether the 2.500,000 shares of McKeon
Drilling Company stock was ^' bonus" or *' promo-

tion" stock, or whether it on the contrary belonged to
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the McKeons and it or its proceeds were used for the

pui'poses and benefit of Italo and its stocldiolders were

matters of vital importance to defendants. Upon the

determination by the jury of these matters was staked

the liberty of the defendants. To permit an accountant

or any other witness to testify tliat either the whole

or any part of this stock was ^'honus'\ **commission"

or "promotion" stock and to characterize the piu'pose

for which the stock or its proceeds was used, or to

state, in effect, that the stock or its proceeds was con-

verted to the use and benefit of a defendant, was the

determination by the witness of the ultimate facts in

issue to be passed upon solely by the jury.

The error of the trial coui't in admitting this testi-

mony, as well as its eft'ect upon the jury, was exag-

gerated and intensified by the further fact that over

defendants' objections these exhibits were taken into

the jury room to be read and examined by the jui'ors

during their deliberations without even having been

corrected as to the word "bonus" as directed by the

court. That under the rules of e^ndence miiversally

recognized and constantly adhered to, the admission

of this evidence was prejudicial error, must be con-

ceded.

Authorities.

The legal proposition involved is elementary. The

case of Hanson v. Pauson, 25 Cal. App. 169, is

squarely in point. One of the issues in the case was

whether certain stock had been issued as bonus stock,.

or whether it had been merely pledged as security for

a loan. A witness was asked whether such stock was

bonus stock. The court held that, althousrh the wit-
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ness could narrate facts disclosing the circumstances

under which the stock was issued, he could not testify

as to whether the stock was "bonus stock'' or other-

wise characterized. In so deciding-, the court said:

"At its best, his answer ein])odied no more than

his mere conclusion as to the result of some un-

disclosed action which may have been taken by
the officers of the cor])()ration concerning the issu-

ance of the stock in question. A witness may not

testify as to his conclusions concerning the effect

of the transaction, even where the facts them-

selves are disclosed; and surely he shoidd not be

permitted to give in evidence his conclusions, ad-

duced from midisclosed facts and circmnstances.

The legal effect of the issuance of the stock to the

defoidant was the paramoioit point in contro-

versy in the present case, and this was a question

which should have been decided by the trial court

upon a consideration of the facts of the transac-

tion, whatever they may have been, unaided and
miinfluenced by the conclusion of the witness. The
motion to stiike out the answer complained of

should have been granted." (Italics ours.)

In Wilson v. Hotchkiss, 21 Cal. App. 392, 398, it

was held that a question

'

' I will ask you whether you at any time treated

the stock otherwise than as security for the in-

debtedness which you claim to be owing from Mr.

Wilson to you"

was improper as calling for the conclusion of the wit-

ness.

In Winslow v. Glendale Light d' Potver Co., 164 Cal.

688, the question involved was whether the plaintiff
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was injured, as the result of the negligence of the de-

fendant or an alleged independent contractor. One

of the men employed by the alleged independent con-

tractor, on cross-examination, was asked the question

''By whom were you employed and for whom
were you working on February 27, 1907?"

(the date of the accident) and made answer

"for the Glendale Lidit & Power Company."

He further testified that he was on duty, on the date of

the accident for "the Grlendale Light & Power Com-

pany". In reversing a judgment in favor of the plain-

tiff, the court, speaking through Mr. Justice Henshaw,

held that the evidence was nothing more or less than

the conclusion of the witness and legally insufficient to

justify the verdict of the jury based thereon.

In Duulap v. Sunset Liimher Co., 26 Cal. App. 131,

it was held improper to inquire of a witness whether

certam stock was issued "in consideration" of the exe-

cution of a note and mortgage.

In In Be Pepper's Estate, 158 Cal. 619, the decision

of the lower court in preventing a mtness from testify-

ing as to whether certain property was commimity

property, was upheld.

In Hirning v. Lifestock National Bank (8th Cir.),

1 Fed. (2d) 307, 310, the action of the lower court in

sustaining an objection to a question

'Whether the plaintiff bank received any part

of the proceeds of the Taylor note"

on the gromid that it called for his conclusion, was

upheld.
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It has been repeatedly held that the opuiion of a

witness upon the ultimate conclusion to be decided by

the jury and drawn b}' it from the facts and circum-

stances in evidence is inadmissible.

In

Pioneer Lumber Co. v. Van Cleave, 279 S. W.
(Mo.) 241, 245,

it was held that although an expert accountant may
testify to the result of an examination of books, papers

and records, which are j^roperly in evidence, or their

absence satisfactorily explained, "he may not be per-

mitted to express his opinion as t(^ the ultimate issue

in the case".

In

Smijthe's Estate v. Evans, 70 N. E. (111.) 906,

it was held that in an action on a contract to recover

a share of the profits realized by a contractor in the

construction of a plant, an expert accountant may
show the jury the result of footings, etc., but carniot

state the aniomit of the profits, that being a conclu-

sion, which is for the jury to determine.

In

People V. Diirant, 116 Cal. 179 at p. 217,

it was said:

''Where the ultimate conclusion is one to be

reached by the jury itself from the facts before it,

and so-called expert evidence is allowed, which
presents to a jury a conclusion other than that to

which they mioht have arrived, the admission of

this improper evidence is tantamount to a declara-

tion by the court that they may set aside their ex-

clusive right of judaino- and accept the judgment
of the expert. In such cases injury is apparent."



324

Without incorporating herein additional quotations

from decisions, we invite the court's attention to the

following authorities, all of which are to the same

effect.

People V. Westlake, 62 Cal. 303 at 309

;

People V. Milner, 122 Cal. 171
;

People V. Farley, 124 Cal. 594;

Lim Ben v. Pacific Gas & Electric Co., 101 Cal.

App. 174;

Hatch V. U. S., 34 Fed. (2d) 436;

Shwal) V. Doyle, 269 Fed. 321 at 333

;

Merritt v. U. S., 264 Fed. (9th Cir.) 870;

Menefee v. U. S., 236 Fed. (9th Cir.) 826;

Spokane & I. E. E. Co. v. U. S., 241 U. S. 344,

60 L. ed. 1037;

Standard Fire Extinguisher Co. v. Heltman,

194 Fed. 400.

Some of the cases above cited hold that even the evi-

dence of an expert upon such subject would be inad-

missible. In the instant case, the question as to

whether the evidence objected to was the subject of

expert evidence was not involved, not alone because it

was not claimed to be so-called expert e^ddence, but

the witness himself was called merely as an accountant

and not as an expert.

Exhibits 297 and 299 and the

evidence of Goshom relating

thereto were inadmissible because

based in part upon books and

records not in evidence.

We have shown that it was both testified to by

Goshorn and conceded by the prosecution that his
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sununaries iii evidence were based iii part upon the

books and records of the Wilkes-Cavanaugh partner-

ship. These books and records, even though produced

in court, under well recognized legal principles would

have been inadmissible in evidence as against any de-

fendants other than Wilkes and Cavanaugh. This

legal proposition is given consideration in Point III

and will not be given attention here. Assummg, how-

ever, for the piu'poses of this discussion the admissi-

bility of such books, if produced in coui't, the simi-

maries in evidence based thereon were inachnissible.

Both Wilkes and Cavanaugh were defendants in

this action represented by comisel entirely indepen-

dent of the attorneys for John and Robert McKeon,

as well as certain other defendants. While the books

of this partnership were available to the defendants

Wilkes and Cavanaugh they were never in the pos-

session of or made available to any of the other de-

fendants.

While under i^roper circmnstances a witness may
be permitted to testify to the contents of numerous

accomits or documents which cannot be examined in

court without creat loss of time and which have not

been admitted in evidence, such evidence is an excep-

tion to the ueneral rule and mider no circumstances

is such evidence admissible unless the books or docu-

ments from which the siunmaries are compiled are

either iii court or made available to the party against

whom they are offered. Each defendant on trial was

asserting his own innocence. No defendant, other

than Wilkes and Cavanaugh, had a right to demand

the production of or be given access to these partner-
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shijD books. To have permitted Goshoni to introduce

into evidence Exhibits 297 and 299 and his testimony

relative thereto in the absence of a foundation charg-

ing the defendants with laiowledge of the contents

of the books and records or being accorded the op-

portmiity of examinins; or having access thereto, was

unquestionably reversible error.

Authorities.

If, under the circiunstances here sho^^^l, smmnaries

were admissible, it would follow that no necessity

would exist to introduce in evidence or make available

to the opposing parties books or records, upon which

such summaries are based. In a criminal case, the

prosecution could develop its case, through the evi-

dence of the accomitant who examined the books and

through smnmaries prepared by him and, without in-

troducing the books in evidence, or making them avail-

able to the defendants, could effectually prevent the

defendants from cross-examining the witness, and

from contradicting or impeachmg him by the books

examined, or by even opposing the e^^dence by the

testimony of their o\^ti accountants or experts. A
mere statement of the proposition itself demonstrates

that such procedure should not be tolerated in any

court of justice.

An examination of the decisions vdW disclose that

in every instance where the books, upon which the tab-

ulation and the e^-idence of the ^^itness were based,

\^'ere not in evidence, the court required that they

either be produced in court or be made available to the

defendants and their comisel as a condition precedent
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to the admission in evidence of such tabulations or the

giving of evidence by the accountant.

In Northern Pac. B. Co. v. Keys (Cir. Ct. North

Dakota), 91 F. 47, 59, a large number of tables pre-

pared in the accounting de])artments of the various

railroads involved, were introduced m evidence. The

records, upon which the tables were based, were pres-

ent as were also the clerks b}^ whom the tables were

prepared. According to the decision

"counsel for the defendants was invited to call

any of the clerks for the ])urpose of cross-exam-

ination and was given the freest access to all the

papers and records from which the comj^utations

were made." (58)

In holding the tables admissible the court said

:

"The method adopted was the only practicable

one for conducting the investigation. It would
have been absolutely impossible for any one man
to have compiled the general result without delay-

ing the case for years. A reasonable safeguard

against falsificatio)} in the preparation of such

statements is fnrnished hg placing the records

from which they are compiled freely at the dis-

posal of the adverse party. It was the duty of

THE COMPANIES TO DO THIS AND TO GIVE THE AT-
TORNEY General the fullest assistance in ex-

plaining SUCH RECORDS AND TO ALLOW HIM TO

PLACE THE SAME IN THE HANDS OF EXPERT AC-

COUNTANTS IF H^ SO DESIRED FOR THE PURPOSE OF

DETECTING ERROR OR FALSIFICATION IN THE TESTI-

MONY AS PREPARED BY THE COMPANIES. The record

shows that this was done throughout the taking

of the testimony in these cases." (59)
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In

Lemon v. U. S. (8th Circuit), 164 Fed. 953,

at page 960, it is said

:

"Ira D. Ogiesby, who had been appointed re-

ceiver of the assets of the trust company and who
had familiarized himself with its books of account

and the value of its assets, was introduced as a

witness on behalf of the government. The hooks

of account were in court and, subject to the inspec-

tion and use of the defendant's counsel. Under
SUCH CIRCUMSTANCES it was not error to permit

the receiver to smnmarize the contents of the

books. * * * The defendant's rights were suf-

ficiently safeguarded by the presence of the books

in court and by the right to use them freely i^

cross-examination."

In

Hooven v. First National Bank, 134 Okla. 217,

273 Pac. 257,

the rule is thus stated

:

"We realize that the use of sunmiaries is an ex-

ception to the rule and countenanced only by rea-

son of necessity and convenience ; a safeguard and

PREREQUISITE is the production of the originals in

court and. an opportunity for inspection of them

by the adverse party."

In

Kinney v. Maryland Casualty Co., 15 Cal. App.

571, at page 575,

the necessity for the books being in court and made

available to defendants is clearly pointed out, the state-

ment being:
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"The books being in court through the use of
which upon cross-examination the accuracy of
such statements could have been determined * * *

would indicate that no prejudicial error could be
said to result from the action of the court in per-
mitting- the memorandum for the pm-poses for

which it was used.'' (Italics ours.)

See, also:

Hagcui Coal Mines v. New State Coal Co., 30 F.

(2d) 92, at 93;

State r. Rhodes, 6 Nev. 352

;

State V. Fiudley, 101 Mo. 217, 14 S. W. 185;

Edelen v. Muiv, 163 Ky. 685, 174 S. W. 474.

In

Wigmore on Evidence, par. 1230, page 1473,

the rule is thus stated

:

"Most courts require as a condition that the
mass thus smnmarily testified, shall, if the occa-
sion seems to require it, ])e placed at hand in the
court or at least he made accessible to the oj)pos-

ing counsel in order that the material for cross-

examination man ?^^ available.'*

These authorities can readily be multiplied. In
each instance it mil be found that where sununaries

were admitted in evidence based upon books and rec-

ords not in evidence, such books and records were
either in court or made available to the opposing
parties.
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Exhibit 297 was inadmissible be-

cause based in part upon the as-

sumed truth of the oral evidence

of Stratton.

The admission in evidence of a tabulation can be

justified only upon the ground that it represented the

general result

"of nmnerous accounts or other docmnents which

cannot be examined in court without great loss

of time."

No precedent or rule of evidence can be cited which

would justify the admission in evidence of the tabu-

lation based in w^hole or in part upon the oral testi-

mony of a witness, particularly one whose evidence,

at least in some particulars was proven to be false,

and yet U. S. Exhibit 297 conceded to have been so

fomided, against the protests and over the objections

of defendants, was not only received and permitted

to remain in evidence, but was turned over to the

jury for consideration during its deliberations. That

in this respect the trial court conmiitted error is un-

questioned.



331

VII.

THE COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING DEFENDANTS' OBJEC-

TIONS TO THE WHOLE OF EXHIBIT 155 BEING TAKEN
INTO THE JURY ROOM AND CONSIDERED BY THE JURY

DURING ITS DELIBERATIONS UPON THE GROUND, AMONG
OTHERS, THAT THE PORTION OF SAID EXHIBIT NOT IN

EVIDENCE SHOULD HAVE BEEN DELETED THEREFROM
BEFORE BEING GIVEN TO THE JURY; AND FURTHER
THAT SUCH EXHIBIT HAD BEEN INTRODUCED ONLY AS

AGAINST DEFENDANT WESTBROOK AND THE JURY

SHOULD HAVE AGAIN BEEN CAUTIONED TO CONSIDER IT

ONLY AS TO SUCH DEFENDANT. (Assignment of Error No.

57, R. 1485.)

Exhibit 155 was a statement made mider oath

(affidavit) on November 12, 1929, by defendant West-

brook to Special Agent Cornelius of the Bureau of

Internal Revenue, relative to the net income of de-

fendant E. Byron Siens. (R. 435-7; 1485-6.) A
portion of this statement was introduced in evidence

as against the defendant Westbrook only, the portion

introduced alone being read to the jury. (R. 436-7.)

That portion of the exhibit which was not read to

the jury was ordered stricken out by the court ^(R.

436-7.)

The proceedings with reference to the delivery of

the affidavit to the jury (R. 1335-40) may be briefly

summarized as follows:

The jury, after having the case submitted to them,

and having retired, transmitted to the court a request

in writing for the delivery of certain enumerated ex-

hibits including the said Exhibit 155. (R. 1335.) De-

fendants' counsel objected to the affidavit being de-

livered to the jury upon the ground that
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"it contained matter that had been ordered

stricken from the evidence and was therefore not

in evidence." (R. 1335.)

And upon the fmther gi'ound

''that the said statement had been admitted in

evidence only as against the defendant Westbrook
and the jniy should be specitieariy instructed that

they were not to consider the said statement * * *

as against any defendant other than the defendant

Westbrook."* (R. 1335.)

The trial court overi-uled the objections thus made

and ordered the entire exhibit, including the stricken

portion, delivered to the jury for consideration by it

duiing its deliberations, to which laiLing the defend-

ants excepted. (R. 1340.) That poition of the veri-

fied statement that had been stricken from the evi-

dence duiing the trial was in substance as follows

:

That the affiant understood that the defend-

ant Wilkes and the defendant Siens were

building a yacht that was costing $100,000; that

the defendant Siens admitted to them that he

owed the goveniment money on prior years' tax

liability : that he had made an oflter of compromise

to the government, but that the goveiTonent

"found out something and would not settle": that

the defendant Siens wanted the affiant to make
his return to conform to Siens* return and that

they both could save income tajtes by falsely

charging off moneys purporting to have been in-

vested and lost in the Brownmoor transactions,

but which had not in fact been so invested and so

lost: that the fake ti'ansaction could be given the

color of legitimacy thi'ough an arrangement with

one Shreve of San Diego. (R. 1335-7.)
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That the Shingle syndicate formed to acquire

certain oil properties in California for the Italo

Petroleum Corporation was successfully organ-

ized and that he helieved the members Jmd made
a large profit; that he believed the moneys raised

by the syndicate were "to pay off the indebtedness

of the Italo and assume 12,000,000 shares of Italo

stock and pay off in cash and stock, for various

oil properties that the Italo had purchased, leav-

ing a residue of a large number of shares which

tvoiild belong to the syndicate and if sold ought

to return from 5 to 10 to 1." (R. 1335-1337.)

It is the contention of appellants that the court

erred

:

1. In directing that the Westbrook affidavit be

taken into the jury room to be considered by the

jurors without first deleting therefrom the portion

not admitted in evidence, and

2. In refusing to instruct the jury when the affi-

davit was delivered to them that they were to con-

sider it only as against the defendant Westbrook.

These two propositions will be given attention in

the order stated:

1. The court erred in directing

that the Westbrook affidavit

be taken into the jury room
to be considered by the jurors

without first deleting- there-

from the portion not admitted

in evidence.

It seems to us that in the absence of any bias or

prejudice on the part of the trial judge, before di-

recting that the affidavit should be delivered to the
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jury he would, and should, have adopted the safety

factor of having covered that portion of the statement

which the jury was not to consider, or have adopted

the more proper course of bringing the jury into

court and having read to them the portions of the

exhibit which were in evidence ; and had the rights of

the defendant been considered, the court at least would

have taken the precaution of instructing the jury that

they must disregard the portions of the affidavit that

had been stricken from the evidence, and would also

have instructed the jury, as requested hy defendants,

that they were to consider such exhibit only with ref-

erence to the defendant Westbrook. (R. 1335-1340.)

Jury's inability to differentiate be-

tween portions of statement ad-

mitted and excluded.

It must be apparent to this court that considering

the character and complexity of the issues involved,

the great length of the trial, and the nmnerous and

involved character of the exhibits introduced, it would

have been hmnanly impossible for the jurors at the

conclusion of the trial, while deliberating upon their

verdict, to differentiate between portions of exhibits

which were introduced in evidence and those portions

which were rejected. To assume such ability on the

part of the jury would be to credit its members with

superhuman attributes.

Having in mind that the basis of the various

charges contained in the indictment aimed at the de-

fendants, was an alleged scheme to defraud by the

division of profits and stock among the defendants,

it necessarily follows that any statement, particularly
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the verified statement of a defendant on trial, which

imi)uted unlawful practices and dishonest motives to

any of the alleged conspirators and which referred to

an alleged division of the stock referred to in the

evidence and prolits therefrom, must have had a very

prejudicial effect upon the jury when considering the

fate of each and every defendant.

Error to deliver to the jury a docu-

ment not in evidence.

it would seem to be stating the obvious to argue

that it is error to order taken into the jury room

for the consideration of the jury, documents not ad-

mitted in evidence. By the delivery to the jury of

the Westbrook affidavit the trial court frustrated its

very purpose in striking out and excluding from the

e^ddence those portions of the statement which it

deemed, and the Tiiited States District Attorney con-

ceded, were inadmissible.

The curiosity of jurors respecting the contents of

written documents excluded from their consideration

is universally recognized. The very fact that objec-

tion is made thereto, in and of itself, ofttimes creates

a prejudice in their minds against the client repre-

sented by the objector. Even though it were assumed

that the jurors recalled that but a portion of the affi-

davit was in evidence, it would be impossible to fur-

ther assimie that their consideration was limited to

such portion. That jurors frequently complain that

they w^ould be better qualified to decide <^ases sub-

mitted to them, if they had the benefit of eWdence

excluded by the court, is known to every judge and

trial lawyer. That jurors, constantly dominated by
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the belief that excluded evidence is evidence harmful

to the objector, would refuse to examine such ex-

cluded evidence if it comes within their grasp, is in-

credible.

The law on the point as declared by the courts is

clear and decisive. To a few of the leading cases

upon this subject we will now direct the court's at-

tention.

In the case of

Bates V. PreUe, 151 U. S. 149, 38 L. Ed. 106,

the plaintiff was endeavoring to recover from a stock-

broker the value of securities which were stolen from

plaintiff's safe deposit by her minor son and delivered

to and sold by the defendant stockbrokers. The plain-

tiff kept a memorandum book ; in which, among other

things, were listed her securities. The trial court,

in considering the offer of the book in evidence and

after an examination of it, excluded a number of

pages from the evidence and admitted the remainder,

and the book was marked as an exhibit. At the close

of the trial, the jury were permitted to take the book

into retirement with them without any sealing of the

pages tvhich were not admitted in evidence, though

the court did in that case instruct the jury to disre-

gard the parts which were not in evidence.

The resultant verdict was against the defendants,

and the Supreme Court, having before it for consid-

eration the defendants' claim that the delivery of

the entire diary, including the excluded evidence, to

the jury was error, reversed the case, holding that
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the delivery of the entire book to the jury was error,

which was not cured by the trial court's admonition

to the jury to disregard the portions not in evidence.

In reversing the judgment the court said:

''Such instruction might have healed an error,

if the contents of the books had been unim-

portant. But the objectionable portions in this

case were such as were likely to attract the eye

of the jury, and accident or curiosity would be

likely to lead them, despite the admonition of the

court to read the plaintiff's comments upon the

defendants and her private meditations, which

had no proper place in their deliberations."

The legal proposition under discussion was given

attention by this court in the case of

Alaska Commercial Co. v. Diiilelspiel, 121 Fed.

318.

There a copy of certain receipts marked for identifi-

cation but not introduced in evidence had been per-

mitted to be sent to the jury room. In holding-

reversible error had been committed this court said

:

"In view of all of these considerations it is

impossible to escape the conclusion that to per-

mit the exhibit to go to the jury as evidence was
error for which the judgment nmst be reversed.

We are unable to say how much the jury may
have been infiuenced by such evidence in finding

their verdict. It is euougli to say that thei/ mail

liave been influeifccd by it." (Citing Bates v.

Preble, 151 U. S. 149, Vicksbiof/ etc. Co. v.

O'Brien, 119 U. S. 919.)
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In

Ogden v. U. S., 112 Fed. 523,

it appeared that when the jury was retiring to deliber-

ate ui^on its verdict an officer handed them the indict-

ment upon the back of which had been endorsed the

fact that upon a former trial the defendants had been

found guilty. It was not shown that the jurors read

such endorsement. In reversing a judgment of con-

viction because of the circumstance just referred to,

the court said:

''It is, however, contended by the comisel for

the defendant in error that it is not shown by

the depositions taken that the indorsements on

the indictments were read by any of the jurors.

The fact that papers with such indorsements upon

them were handed to the foreman of the jury,

presumably by authority, along with other papers,

b}" an officer of the court, could hardly fail to

give to the jury the impression that they were

intended for their consideration and that they

were expected to have some weight in forming

their verdict. We do not think it was necessary

on the part of the defendant below to show that

such endorsements had been read by the jurors

or any of them. It was a gross violation of the

rights of the defendant below that they should

have been handed to them at all in the manner

in which they were. Trial by jury is properly

surrounded hy every reasonable safeguard, to i)i-

sure the absence of any improper influence that

might operate upon the minds of the jurors, and

give to their verdict the dignity and respect so

important to be maintained in the interests of an
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impartial administration of justice. It was not
necessary, therefore, in oiu' opinion, that the de-

fendant below should have gone further than he
did, when he showed the presence in the juiy
rooni of the indictments with the obnoxious en-

dorsements, and the circmnstances mider which
they came into the possession of the jury.

Whether proof that these indorsements were not
read by any of the jury would have brouaht us
to a different conclusion need not be considered.
If it would have had such an effect, the burden
was upon the defendant in error to produce the
proof. The presumption that their presence in
the jury room, imder the circmnstances, was in-

jiu'ious to the defendant below, remains mitil re-

butted by evidence on the part of the plaintiff

below.

We could rest this view of the matter upon
the exceeding importance of guarding every ap-
proach by which improper influence may reach
the jury room, and it would much diminish the
efficiency of these safeguards if we were to re-

quire the aggrieved party to a suit, to not only
show that obnoxious and prohibited docmnents
or other evidence were in the possession of the
jury, but that the jurors had actually availed
themselves of the opportunity thus presented to
them by reading or discussing the same. * * *

While the proof of the fact that a docmnent was
not only in the possession of the jury, but was
read by them, when considered abstractly, may
not transgress the line of separation between what
a juror may and may not testify to, it would be
very hard in practice to so guard the testimony
as to the fact of readincr from trespassing upon
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the forbidden ground of the effect of the reading

on the making up of the verdict.

What we take to be the correct rule in this

regard is not without support in decided cases,

and none have been cited to us hy the defendant

in error clearly in conflict therewith." (Citing

cases.)

The precise question involved here arose in

Kalamazoo Novelty Mfg. Co. v. McAllister, 36

Mich. 327,

''Where an entire book was suffered to be taken

to the jury room, when but three pages were in

evidence, and it was held that the instruction

not to look at the unproved part should not be

taken as relieving its admission to the jury room,

from error."

In the case at bar, as we have already pointed out,

the trial court did not even see fit to give the de-

fendants the doubtful benefit of an instruction to the

jury to disregard the stricken portions, although re-

quested so to do.

Decisions, comparable to that rendered in the Bates

V. Prehle case have been rendered by courts of final

resort in many states, to but a few of which we will

here refer.

In the case of

Lurie v. Kegin Grace Co., 96 So. 344, 345

(Ala.),

it was held that it was error to permit the jury to

take with them to the jury room a deposition, parts

of which were excluded from the evidence (the ex-
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eluded parts having been encJoeed in brackets) r even

though the court instructed the jurv to disregard the

portions which were enclosed in brackets^ and the

case was reversed lApom thai

In

Rich i\ Hayes, 54 Atl. 794 (Maine),

the jury were permitted to take with them not only

a letter, which was introduced in evidence, but a

memo which was attached to it, which was not intro-

duced in evidence, and this was Held reversible error.

In

Sargent c. Lawrence, 40 S. W. 1075 (Tex. Civil

Appeals),

a land office certificate was placed in evidence witk

portions thereof excluded, and when the jurv retired,

it was permitted to take with them the entire cer-

tificate, without any admonition with reference to

the excluded portion, and here again it was held

error, the appellate court stating that the trial

court should not have permitted the jury to take the

document with them

•*imless somethinii" was pasted over the excluded

portion so as to prevent its being read by the

jury'\

The latest ruling on the question of permitting the

jury to consider matter not presented to them by way

of evidence, in open court, is found in the .January

28th advance booklet of the Federal Reporter, 2nd

Series in the decision of the Circuit Court of Appeals

for the tenth circuit in the case of Little i\ U, 5>,

73 F. 2nd 861. That decision passed upon the error
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and prejudicial effect of pei-mitting the couit stenog-

rapher, on the court's order, to enter the jury room

and in the absence of the defendant, read to the juiy

the couit's instructions.

After reciting the danger of permitting the presence

of a stranger in the juiy room, the couit said:

••The juiy system is founded upon the propo-

sition that disinterested jui'oi-s vdYL hear the evi-

dence in open court, and upon tlmt evidence and

that alone, deliberate among themselves until a

verdict is i*eached." (Citing So. Pac. v. Klinze, 65

F. 2nd 85.)

The coiut commented that even the taking of the

indictment to the juiy room should not be counte-

nanced, ivithout an instruction that it is not evi-

dence; and then expatiated upon the prejudice of

such en-ors, stating that the only way of detennining

whether the cause of the defendant was not preju-

diced, would be by ••exploiina: the deliberations of

the juiy room, a procedui'e adopted only in extreme

cases and then reluctantly"'.

So, in the case at bar. it is impossible for this couit

(or even the ti-ial couit) to say what effect the errors

herein complained of, had upon the jury.

2. The court erred in refiisino- to

instruct the jury that they

were to consider the aflBdavit

only as against the defendant

Westbrook-

It is indeed extremely difficult, at the close of a

long trial, for counsel familiar with the record, to dif-

ferentiate between evidence that was admitted as to
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to , one or more. It is ofttimes difficult for even the

court to make such distinction. It is quite obvious,

therefore, that it would be impossible for jurors,

whose knowledge of the case is confined to the evi-

dence developed upon the trial (i)articularly in a case

where over 300 exhibits are inti'oduced, many of them

voluminous in character and difficult of understand-

ing) not only to appreciate the effect of many of such

exhibits, but also to recall which exhibits were ad-

mitted as against all of the defendants and those which

were admitted only against certain defendants.

It was therefore with every intendment of logic and

fairness in their favor that the defendants, through

their counsel, recjuested the trial judge (when they

realized that it was intended to deliver the West-

brook statement to the jury) to again call the jury's

attention to the fact that jjart of the statement was

not in evidence and should not be considered by them

in their deliberations, and this was particularly im-

portant with reference to the Westbrook statement,

because up until the time of their deliberations in

the jury room, the jury had no knowledge of that

])ortion of its contents which was excluded from the

evidence, the admitted poi-tion having been read to

it. It would be expecting far too much to hope that

a jury in considering the statement in their delib-

erations at the close of the trial would pick from that

statement only such portions as had been read to them

and ignore what followed. The trial court overruled

the objections and request of the defendants and its

action is stated in the record in the following words:
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^'The court overruled said objections of said

defendants to said exhibit No. 155 being taken

to the jury room, and ordered that the whole of

said exhibit No. 155, including the stricken por-

tion, be delivered to the jury for consideration

by it during its deliberation, to which said ruling

of the court the defendants then and there ex-

cepted." (R. 1340.)

We submit that this action on the part of the court

is reversible error coming within the purview of the

authorities cited and quoted in this section of the

brief.

VIII.

THE COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING DEFENDANTS' OBJECT-

IONS TO U. S. EXHIBITS 297 AND 299 BEING TAKEN INTO
THE JURY ROOM AND BEING GIVEN CONSIDERATION BY
THE JURY DURING ITS DELIBERATIONS.

(Assignment of Error No. 52, R. 1474-5.)

We have heretofore discussed in this brief the error

of the trial court in admitting in evidence U. S. Ex-

hibits 297 and 299, as well as the testimony of their

author Goshorn. (Supra, pp. 286-330.) We will there-

fore limit this phase of the argument to the error,

incident to the order made by the court, directing that

these exhibits be taken into the jury room for consid-

eration by the jury during its deliberations, without

eliminating therefrom those portions thereof which

had been excluded from the evidence, and with respect

to which certain changes had been directed to be made

by the court. The proceedings resulting in the de-
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livery of these exhibits to the jury (R. 1335-41),

briefly stated, are as follows:

After the case had been submitted to the jury and
it had retired to deliberate upon its verdict, it trans-

mitted to the court a request in writing for the de-

livery to it of Exhibit 155 (Westbrook affidavit) and
Exhibits 297 and 299. (R. 1335.) Defendants ob-

jected to these latter two exhibits and to each of them
being taken into the jury room or considered by the

jury during its deliberations upon the grounds

:

"(a) That portions of said Exhibits 297 and
299 had been l^y the court ordered stricken from
evidence and said portions ordered stricken from
evidence had not been eliminated from said Ex-
hibits 297 and 299 specifying those portions of

said exhibits referring to certain stock as being
'bonus' stock and the jury would therefore be con-

sidering evidence out of court, and

(b) That by considering said exhibits, with-

out the jury having the benefit of testimony which
had been introduced to explain or contradict the

matters appearing on said exhibits, the jury would
be giving undue consideration to said exhibits

w^hich were introduced only for the purpose of

illustration, all of which would be to the prejudice

of the defendants." (R. 1340.)

These objections were overruled by the court (R.

1340) whereupon the court

"ordered the said exhibits 297 and 299, together

with other requested exhibits sent to the jury
room to be considered by the jury during its de-

liberations 'Without eliminating f^^om said exhibits

the portions thereof that had been ordered
stricken from evidence/' (R. 1340-1.)
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Word "bonus" ordered stricken

from exhibits.

During the examination of the witness Goshorn on

his ''voir dire" the following occurred:

"Q. Mr. Goshorn, I notice on this chart, which

is Exhibit 297, that in many places you have

characterized certain stocks as ^honus' stock. Is

there any place in the books and records that

you have examined that are in evidence where

the words 'bonus' stock are used to characterize

any of the transactions referred to therein, or is

that your own characterization?

A. That is my own designation. The books

of the McKeon Drilling Companj^ say that some

2,500,000 shares were given for commissions.

Mr. Simpson. I think that the answer of the

witness again indicates the fact that he is now
testifying and that the exhibit refers to matters

which are his oivn conclusions.

The Court. Yes, you should not designate it

'bonus' stock. I think that is clear * * *." (R.

601.)

"The Court. Mr. Redwine, I suggest that the

witness remark the designation such as 'bonus'

stock.

Mr. Redwine. I am willing to have the 'bonus'

changed to 'commission' as it is designated on

the books of the McKeon Drilling Company.

Mr. Divet. It should not be changed to any-

thing.

The Court. Yes, that may be done. Proceed

with your examination.

Mr. Redwine. We will have that stricken

—

have the word 'commission' substituted for

'bonus'.

Mr. Divet. I think it is just as objectionable

as 'bonus'.
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The Court. Well, he says the books themselves

show he used that term. Is that correct"?

A. That is correct.

Q. So, of course, that would be all right. Pro-

ceed with your examination, Mr. Redwine." (R.

602-3.)

That the court understood that it had stricken out

the word ''bonus" wherever it appeared upon the ex-

hibit is later shown by questions put to the witness

by the court.

"The Court. Now, you account then for 2,-

500,000 shares in the manner indicated on the re-

mainder of your chart?

A. That is correct.

Q. No. 16 says 'bonus' which I helieve ive have

agreed was stricken out." (R. 629.)

With respect to IT. S. Exhibit 299, an objection

to its introduction in evidence upon the ground that

the word ''bonus" was used therein was overruled.

(R. 635.) But later, while the witness was upon

direct examination the word ''bonus" was ordered

eliminated, the record showing:

"The Court, Well, we will eliminate the word
'bonus' for the present as being more or less a

conclusion of the witness. It is something that

the jury will pass upon. 'Bonus' is of course a

word of well-understood significance I guess.

Leave it out for the present." (R. 641.)

Word '

' bonus
'

' not stricken from

face of exhibits.

An examination of U. S. Exhibit 297 (R. 595-8)

and U. S. Exhibit 299 (R. 636-9) will show that they
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are still in the same condition as they were when in-

troduced in evidence. That the word "bonus" had not

been stricken out. is fui'ther apparent from the ob-

jections made before the exhibits were taken into the

jury room, as well as from the statement

:

"Said objections of defendants to said exhibits

being- taken into the juiy room were overruled
* * * and the said court ordered the said Ex-

hibits 297 and 299 * * * sent to the jury room
to be considered by the jury duriufj its delibera-

tions without eliminatinfi from said e,rhibits the

portions thereof that had been ordered stricken

from the evidence/'

We are not here concerned ^A"ith the impropriety

of the use of the word ^^boniis'' upon these exhibits

which was given consideration and was discussed by

us in Point VI of this brief. (Supra, p. 286.) We are

here dealing exclusively with the action of the court

in permitting these exhibits to be taken into the jiuy

room during its deliberations ^\'ithout having- first

deleted therefrom, the word ''bonus'' wherever it ap-

peared, pursuant to the previous order of the coiiii:

and after the court had itself held that its use was

objectionable, as representing solely the conclusion

of the A^itness.

Portions of exhibits improperly

construed by jury.

The prejudicial character of the excluded evidence,

which the jury was permitted to consider by the

action of the court here complained of. can readily

be appreciated by reference to the record.
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(a) Use of word "bonus" in first

summary of Ex. 297. (R. 595-8.)

Item 16. ''Bonus'' coiiunon stock distributed by

McKeon Drilling Company 1,484,2881/0.

Items 17-37 (inc.). Relating- to stock characterized

under Item 16 as ''bonus'' common stock.

Item 39. "Bonus" preferred stock distributed by

McKeon Drilling Company, Inc. 1,000,000.

Items 40-53 (inc.). Relating to stock characterized

under Item 39 as "bonus" preferred stock.

(b) Use of word "bonus" in first

summary of Ex. 299. (R. 636-9.)

Item 2. "Bonus" given to members of $80,000

syndicate, 40,000 conmion, 40,000 preferred shares.

Items 3 to 10 (inc.). Relating to stock charac-

terized under Item 2 as "bonus" given to members.

(R. 636-7.)

While the word "bonus" is not mentioned in the

second smnmaries contained in each of these exhibits

its "taint" was carried into them, because, each of

the second smnmaries was based upon the first and

necessarily included a "realization" from the so-called

"bonus" stock.

Arg-ument.

The argmnent made, and the authorities cited, in

support of the objection to the admission into the

jury room of the whole of Exhibit 155, applies equally

to the situation here under consideration, and re-

quires no repetition in this discussion. We must

cnqihasize however that the action of the lower court
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in permitting the jury to give consideration to these

smnmaries could not help but result in immeasurable

prejudice to the defendants.

As we have before stressed, whether any part of

the 4,500,000 shares of Italo stock delivered to Mc-

Keon Drilling Company in exchange for its assets

was ''bonus'' stock, was the most important, if not

the controlling, issue in the entire controversy. If

the jury had concluded that no part of this stock

was "bonus'' stock, the ine\T.table result to at least

these appellants, would have been their speedy ac-

quittal. That the trial court, not only realized that the

use of the word ''bonus'' on the summaries, as well

as in the evidence of Goshorn, was indefensible, but

also appreciated the effect of its use upon defendants,

is made manifest by its own rulings, in striking out the

word "bonus" wherever it appeared in the siunmaries,

as well as by its observation, that the term reflected

only the conclusion of the witness and was a matter

for the determination of the jury. Why the trial

court permitted these exhibits to be taken into the jury

I'oom, over the objections of defendants, and after its

attention had been directed to the situation here de-

picted, is to us inconceivable.

The summaries had been introduced in e^ddence

near the conclusion of the prosecution's case. A num-

ber of weeks intervened between their introduction

and the close of the e^ddence. Arguments had been

indulged in by counsel occupying no inconsiderable

time. The trial had been long drawn-out and an ap-

palling number of exhibits had been introduced, many

so complicated in character, that it would have been
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humanly impossible for the jury to keep in mind their

details. Indeed, it would have been difficult for the

trial judge, notwithstanding- his experience and train-

ing, to constantly recall in a controversy of this mag-

nitude the evidentiary details.

That at the time the exhibits were sent for, the

jurors' minds were in a state of uncertainty ^^ith

respect to the effect of the evidence introduced, is

apparent from the very circimistance that these par-

ticular exhibits were requested. That after the ex-

hibits reached the jury room, they were seized upon

with avidity by the jurors and examined and used

by them is obvious. The learning from these exhibits,

supposed to represent a tabulation of the evidence

in the case, that 1,484,2881/2 shares of common stock

received by McKeon Drilling Company was ''bonus"

stock, and that large blocks of this stock had been

distributed to defendants and others, and other large

blocks of this stock had been utilized for the purposes

indicated in said exhibits, evidently persuaded the

jury that the statements were in accord with the truth

and that the defendants should therefore be found

guilty. It is impossible to escape from this conclusion.

We have no hesitation in stating that, in our judg-

ment, the conviction of John and Robert McKeon
can be logically traced: tirst, to the admission of

these smnmaries in evidence and the testimony of

Goshorn therein, and, secondly, to their examination

by the jury before reaching its verdict. In permitting

the jiuy to examine these exhibits without first strik-

ing out the word "bonus" wherever used, was in effect

authorizing them to give consideration to matters of



352

great prejudice to a^jpellants, which were not in evi-

dence. That in thus acting, the court committed re-

versible error is apparent from the authorities cited

under Point VII herein (supra, p. 331) to which

reference is hereby made.

IX.

THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING IN EVIDENCE AGAINST
DEFENDANT, JOHN McKEON, IN VIOLATION OF THE BILL

OF PARTICULARS, THE RECORDS OF BROWNMOOR OIL

COMPANY (U. S. EXS. 32A AND B), THE MINUTE BOOK OF
BROWNMOOR OIL COMPANY (U. S. EX. 239), THE FILE OF
THE COMMISSIONER OF CORPORATIONS OF THE STATE
OF CALIFORNIA INVOLVING THE APPLICATION FOR AND
GRANTING OF PERMIT TO BROWNMOOR OIL COMPANY
(U. S. EXS. 272, 3 AND 4), THE INCOME TAX RETURNS OF
BROWNMOOR OIL COMPANY FOR THE YEAR 1927 (U. S.

EXS. 283 AND 284) AND GOSHORN'S SUMMARIES RELAT-
ING TO THE BROWNMOOR ACQUISITION. (EXS. 298 AND
299.)

(Assignments of Error Nos. 38, 43, 51 and 61

;

R. 1437, 1444, 1471 and 1494.)

In view of the fact that the indictment, in setting

forth the various steps of the alleged conspiracy, lim-

ited a nmnber of the acts therein charged to "some of

the defendants",—the defendants McKeon, as well as

the other defendants, exercised their right to request

the District Attorney to specify, in a bill of particu-

lars, which defendants were intended in each of such

charges where the terms "some of the defendants"

were used.

Pursuant to such request, Avhich was made in the

form of a motion, the court ordered a bill of particu-

lars filed, which was thereafter served upon the de-
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fendants. (R. 153-158.) A supplemental bill of par-

ticulars was subsequently served. (R. 158-9.)

It is the failure of the trial court, to hold the gov-

ernment's proof, with reference to the said charges, to

the terms of the indictment, within the limits pre-

scribed by this bill of particulars, that forms the basis

of the above referred to assigmnents of error and the

argument which follows.

The law on the point.

The very existence of a right, accorded a defendant,

to move for a bill of particulars and the power of the

court to grant such a motion, is a sufficient indication

that the government, in presenting its case against an

accused, is under duty bound, to restrict its proof

within the limits fixed by the bill of particulars, for

otherwise the provision which the law makes therefor

would be futile and useless.

This rule of law is very definitely fixed by a long

line of decisions among which are the following:

IT. S. V. Pierce, 245 Fed. 888, 890

;

U. S. V. Rosenwasser, 255 Fed. 233, 235

;

U. S. V. Adams Express Co., 119 Fed. 240;

U. S. V. Goided, 53 Fed. 239.

We will take time to quote from only one of these

authorities. In U. S. v. Pierce, 245 Fed. 888, 890, the

rule is expressed as follows:

''When a ])ill of jiarticulars is once made and
served, it concludes the rights of all parties tvho

are affected hy it and he who has furnished a bill

of particulars, under it must he confued to the

partictdars he has specified, as closely and effectu-
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ally, as if they constitute essential allegations in a

special declaration/'

Similar expressions of the rule are found in:

Loveland on Federal Procedure, Vol. 5, p. 575,

Sec. 2120, and

14 R. C. L. 191.

The errors committed.

For the purj^ose of simplifying the consideration of

the errors relied upon under this subdivision of our

brief, we will divide our discussion under the follow-

ing titles.

1. The Browmnoor Oil Company transaction; and

2. The $80,000 loan.

The Brownmoor Oil Company
transactions.

The allegations of the indictment, with reference to

the Browmnoor transactions are: That some of the

defendants, while acting as directors of the Italo Pe-

troleum Corporation of America, caused the corpora-

tion to purchase the assets of the Brownmoor Oil Com-

pany for a consideration ^'far in excess of the actual

value of the assets
'

'
; that they issued 600,000 shares of

the common and 600,000 shares of the preferred stock

of Italo Petrolemn Corporation, as a part of the pur-

chase price for said assets, and that it Avas part of said

scheme

''that some of the said defendants should and did

wrongfully receive a j)art of said stock so issued
* * * and that some of the defendants should and
did unlawfully receive the proceeds derived from
the sale of said stock to some of the persons to be
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defrauded, for their owii use and benefit * * *

they, the said defendants not givino- any consid-

eration" therefor (R. 29-30)

and that as a part of the said scheme, the said defend-

ants should and did file with the Conunissioner of Cor-

])orations, an application for permission to issue the

said stock, and that they received said permit and is-

sued the stock; that thereafter, they applied for and

secured permission to distribute the stock, so issued

to the Browimioor Oil Company, to the stockholders

of said company, but that instead of delivering all of

the stock to the stockholders of the Browimioor Oil

ComiDany they distributed ''some of said stock to

themselves and to other persons'', who were not stock-

holders of the Brownmoor Oil Company. (R. 31-32.)

In specifying, in the bill of particulars, who were

intended by the terms ''some of the defendants" in

the charges heremabove referred to, the District At-

torney named several of the defendants, but did not

include John McKeon amono- them. (R. 154-156, Bill

of Particulars, 4(c)-4(k).) That this was not an over-

sight is evidenced by the fact that there is nothing in

the record, which in any way connects the defendant

John McKeon AA^ith the transaction.

During the course of the trial, there were offered in

evidence as against all of the defendants named in the

indictment, certain records of, and records referring

to, the Browmnoor Oil Company, namely: Its minute

liook (Exhibit No. 239, R. 560-61) ; the file of the Com-
missioner of Corporations with reference to the permit

authorizing disti'ibution to the Browmnoor stockhold-

ers of the stock deschbed in the i:>ortion of the indict-
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ment now under consideration (Exhibits Nos. 272,

273, and 274, R. 511-512) ; and income tax returns of

Brownmoor Oil Company for year 1927. (Exhibits

283, R. 575.)

These defendants objected to the introduction of

each of the exhibits, upon the ground that they were

incompetent, irrelevant, immaterial, hearsay, were not

binding upon any of the defendants, and did not con-

nect the defendants with any of the charges in the

indictment or bill of particulars. (R. 511, 561, 575.)

In each instance the objection was overruled and the

exhibits admitted in evidence, without limiting their

effect to the particular defendants comiected therewith

in the bill of particulars.

In the light of the failure of the District Attorney

to designate John McKeon, in the bill, as one of the

defendants initiating or participating in the transac-

tions then vmder consideration, the above evidence was

not competent as against him, and its admission with-

out limiting it to those defendants named in the bill

of particulars was, in our opinion, clearly error. And
when it is considered that the record is bereft of any

evidence that in any w^ay connects John McKeon with

these transactions, it would seem apparent that the

error was prejudicial to him.

Incidentally the District Attorney must have real-

ized that the introduction of this evidence as against

those defendants who were not named in the bill of

particulars in connection therewith, would materially

assist towards their conviction, otherwise he would not

have taken the risk of error, in offering the proof
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without the restrictions thereto to which the said de-

fendants were entitled.

By following the record a little further, we find

that the docmnents, so introduced, were to form the

basis of the testimony and charts of Goshorn, the

''stoj) gap" witness for the government, which evi-

dence immeasureably intensified the seriousness of the

error, as against the defendant John McKeon, by add-

ing to the facts of the records so admitted in evidence,

the incriminating opinions of the government witness

as to the motives of the co-defendants. (Exhibit 299,

R. 634-643.)

The objection to the admission of Goshorn 's sum-

mary into evidence, appears on page 635 of the record

and the general objection to his testimony appears on

page 592 of the record.

The errors just above specified are covered by as-

signments of error 38, 43 and 45, which are found in

the record on pages 1437, 1444, and 1446, respectively.

The $80,000 loan transaction.

While the acquisition of the Browmnoor properties

was being negotiated, a syndicate (referred to in the

statement of facts as the ''$80,000 Syndicate")

headed by defendant, Fred Shingle, as syndicate man-

ager, w^as formed, to raise $80,000 to be loaned

''Italo", to assist in carrying through the purchase.

The indictment charged that ''some of the defend-

ants'' (the members of the syndicate w^hich made the

loan), wrongfully received:

"for their own use and benefit, as a bonus for

making said loan, 80,000 shares of the capital
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stock of said Italo Petroleum Corporation of

America, ^Yithout the knowledge or consent of

the persons to be defrauded who were then and

there stockholders of said corporation.*' (R. 29.)

The Bill of Particulars named several defendants,

as those referred to in the foregoing charge of the

indictment, none of whom was John McKeon or

Robert McKeon, and thus eliminated the latter de-

fendants from any liability theremider and relieved

them of the necessity of defending themselves against

the charge. (R. 154, B. of P. 4a-4b.)

Disdaining to recognize the limitations fixed in his

own bill of iDarticulars, the District Attorney pro-

ceeded to his proof as though no bill had ever been

filed under the order of the court; and, over the re-

peated objections of the defendants, had govermnent

witness George Stratton testify as to his conversa-

tions with Wilkes with reference to this s^mdicate

(R. 380), introduced in evidence, through Stratton's

identification, the form of the agreement between Fred

Shingle, as syndicate manager for the $80,000 syndi-

cate, and the subscribers thereto (Exhibit 142, R.

383), and finally had the govermnent accountant,

G-oshorn, by his omnibus conclusions, give the trans-

action the propel' criminal tinge. (Exhibit 299, R.

634-643.)

The objection to the testimony of Stratton, and

through him the introduction in e^ddence of Exhibit

142, is contained in the stipulated general objection

which appears on pages 373-374 of the record. The

stipulated objection was in part as follows:
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*'that a standing" objection would be deemed to

be interposed to each question asked of the wit-

ness pertaining to conversations had with par-

ticular defendants, or as to documents which the

witness testitied were submitted to particular

defendants on behalf of those defendants who
were not present, who did not participate in those

matters, on the ground that such testimony is

incompetent, irrelevant and immaterial, hearsay

and not binding uj^on them and not referring to

any matters alleged in the indictment. And that

an exception was allowed in favor of said de-

fendants to each adverse ruling' of the court

relative thereto.

The objection to the introduction of Goshorn's sum-

mary (Exhibit 299) and to his testimony showing the

distribution of the syndicate memberships appears

in the record on page 634, following the general ob-

jection to the Goshorn charge and to his testimony,

which appears on page 592 of the record. The objec-

tion on page 592 made at the time \Vhen Exhibit 297

was offered in evidence was upon the ground among

others that the District Attorney was

"offering the exhibits and the testimony of the

witness as against all the defendants, whereas

the bill of particulars, furnished by the Govern-

ment in this case, specifically restricted the tes-

timony to the allegations of the indictment ^^ith

respect to the matters referred to by the District

Attorney, to eight named defendants, entirely

omitting from the bill of particulars any ref-

erence to any of the other ten defendants, nine

of whom are now on trial, * * * in violation of

that bill of particulars * * * relied upon". (R.

592.)
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And in tlie same objection, the defendants moved

the court:

"that if this testimony is admitted by the court,

it be admitted for the limited purpose as speci-

fied in the bill of i^articulars, and that it is not

to be considered for any purpose as against any

of the ten defendants who are not named in the

bill of particulars, and by reason of not being

named therein are expressly excluded therefrom,

of having participated in any of the transactions

narrated in the exhibit offered, or from having

ratified or participated or shared in any of the

matters therein referred to".

The objection was overruled and an exception al-

lowed. (R. 593.)

The same general objection, to the introduction of

any records with reference to the Browmnoor deal,

on the grounds hereinabove stated, appears on pages

262-3-4, of the record, and vras made at the time of

the offering in evidence of Exhibits 28A, B, C and D,

29, 31 and 33.

The errors complained of under this heading, are

reached in the assignments of error, in form of ex-

ceptions to the persistent refusal of the trial court

to strike the erroneously admitted evidence in so far

as it affected the McKeons, and to instruct the jury

to disregard such evidence in deliberating upon their

innocence or guilt, which latter errors will be dis-

cussed mider the next heading.
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X.

THE COXIET EEEED, IN" REFUSDi0 TO OOKBSCT THE EEEOES
mCIDSHT TO THE ADMISSION OF THE EVIDENCE WITH
SEFEBSKCE TO THE BROWNMOOE TEAN3ACTI0N, AND
TO THE ItOlMO LOAH TBAHSACTION, BY: 1. DENYING
DEFEHDABTS' MOTIOir TO STE.IKE SAID EVIDENCE IN

SO FAE AS H AFFECTED THE DEFEHDAHT, JOHN Mc-

KBOS, Of THE FDbST TBAITSACTION, AND JOHN AND
SOEEBT MeKBOE IE THE SECOUD TRAHSAGTION. AND
2. SEFUSrae TO lESTBUCT THE JUEY THAT SUCH EVI-

DENCE SHOULD NOT BE CONSIDEEED IN DETEEMINING
SAID -zjz:>o.4^?rrs guilt oe innocence

^.:^.;-l-iz:.i :: Error 38, 43, 61 and 70;

7.. :.,", .iU, 1494 and 1504.)

1.

A" "lie r-I,v5P i;;f the 2:(weriinieiit's ease, to presei*ve

^hr ::i~^ f "heir objection; to relieve the court of

itted, and to save the defendants not

i of paitieiilaTs from any prejudice

::: "_ " the jury, due to the admission of such

""'-It. V lants, and each of them, moved

: stiikr b. and all of the said exhibits^ among

others . j:ether with the testimony in rela-

ritjn thereto, on numerous grounds^ including the ob-

jection iiiL-.:'rporated from the objection tt^ Exhibits

28A. B and C:

"that the defendants did not and were not par-

ties to any of the titinsaetions set out in the

books and had no knowledge of any ti-ansactions

set out in said books, and that thei-e is no proof

tending to show that they were, <3r any of them
was, or that they ever authorized any person to

enter into the said transactions or become a

pai-ty to them, or consent to it without the

knowledge of them.'' (R. 2&4, 686-688.)
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The motion of the defendants was denied by the

court, and exception allowed. (R. 689.) This action

of the trial court, in so far as it affects Exhibits 32A

and B, 147 and 239, was noticed in assignment of

error No. 38.

And as a last desperate effort to save these de-

fendants from the deleterious effect of the errors

hereinabove recited, the defendants off'ered the fol-

lowing instruction which the trial court refused to

give:

''You are instructed that a bill of particulars

has been furnished to the defendants in this case,

by order of this court. The purpose of a bill of

particulars is to advise the court, and more par-

ticularly the defendants, of what facts, in more

or less detail, the defendants will be required to

meet upon the trial of a case, and the Govern-

ment is limited in its evidence to those facts so

set forth in the bill of particulars, as having been

done or committed by any particular defendant.

When furnished a bill of particulars it concludes

the rights of all parties to be affected by it, and

the Govermuent in this case must be and is

confined to the particulars they have specified in

the bill of parti culai's as having been done or

said by any of the particular defendants. The

mere fact, however, that the Government states

in the bill of particulars that any particular de-

fendant or defendants did engage in any of the

transactions therein alleged is not to be con-

sidered by you as any evidence whatsoever that

such defendant or defendants did engage in such

transaction; but it must be proven by the evi-

dence to vour satisfaction beyond a reasonable
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doubt that such defendant did knowingly partici-

pate in such transaction.

However, the Grovernnient is limited and re-

stricted in its evidence to the particulars speci-

tied in the bill of particulars and is not permitted

to prove that any defendant or defendants not

named in the bill of particulars as having engaged

in a particular transaction did engage therein.

In other words, the effect of the bill of particu-

lars in this regard, is that the Government says

that under the evidence the particular defendant

did not engage in the particular transaction not

specified as having been engaged in by him." (R.

1304-5.) (Assigmnent of Error 70; R. 1504-5.)

The refusal of this instruction was not compen-

sated by the giving of any sunilar instruction cover-

ing its subject matter. In fact, throughout the

lengthy instructions given, there is found no refer-

ence whatsoever to the limitations prescribed by the

bill of particulars. The only reference in the court's

charge to the bill appears on page 1269 of the record,

and is contained in the following words, prefacing a

detailing of the indictment charges, viz.

:

''The indictment in this case, as amplified and
rendered definite by the Bill of Particular

charges * * *."

Then in the description following Avhenever the trial

judge came to the words ''some of the defendants"

he supplied their names from the bill. (R. 1269.)

Thus the jury was foi'ced to struggle through a

mass of details, involving numerous complex t]'ans-

actions, into which the government witnesses Goshorn
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and Hyiies endeavored to breathe an atmosphere of

dishonesty and devious dealings: with no measuiing

stick, to enable them to segregate the charges made

as against each separate group of defendants. Thus

did the coiui: pei-mit the govenunent to tiy the de-

fendants on several distmct alleged conspiracies, as

though each ai^plied to every defendant, so that any

antagonistic opinion of the jurors in one transaction

would permeate liis oi^inion as to all of the trans-

actions.

The very persistence of the trial court, in its re-

fusal to limit the evidence in accordance with the

bill of particulars, must have impressed upon the

jurors' minds that the coiut was of the definite

opinion that all of the e^ddence sought to be excluded

in the manner hereinabove set out, affected the inno-

cence or guilt of each and every defendant. And it

would, we believe, be an impossibility, after such a

lona: trial and the introduction of such nuiltifarious

and complicated exhibits, for the jury to Avinnow

the wheat from the chaff—to recall which transaction

involved this or that defendant.
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XI.

THE ISVlDiUICE WAS LEGALLY IKSUlTlCIEirr TO JUSTITT
A VEEDICT OF COMVICTIOH A6AIHST THESE APPEL-
LANTS, AND THE LOWER OOUBT EBBED DT BEFUSDIG
TO GRANT THEIE MOTION TO IHSTBUCT THE JUBY TO
FIND THEM HOT 61IILT7.

(Asoeneats of Brrar Nos. 17 and 18, B. 1403.)

At the conclusion of the Government's case apjjel-

lants requested the conrt to instruct the jury to render

ui verdict of not ^Ity. (R. 689-692.) This motion was
renewed at the conclusion of all of the evidence. (R.

1262.)

Inasmuch as, in our statement of facts, we have

presented to the court the evidence in its fuUness, upon

which the jury based its verdict finding appellants

giiilty of the offense charged against them in the

fifteenth count of the indictment, no usefol purpose

would be subserved by further elaborating upon that

evidence. With this statement in mind^ we believe it

only necessary to iQvite the court's attention, to cer-

tain phases of this controversy as to which, in our

judgment, there can be no dispute. As heretofore

pouited out, the substance of the charge made against

these appellants, claimed by the government to have

been established, is that they participated in a con-

spiracy, the object of which was to effect a sale of

ertain assets of the McKeon Drilling Company, Xnc,

for a

•'consideration far in excess of the actual value of

said assets ^^,

and, as part of such considei-ation, to cause the issu-

ance to it of 4,50<),000 shares of Italo's capital stock;

that by secret aiTangement, certain of the defendants
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who were officers of the Italo and others by whom it

was claimed it was dominated, were to and did receive

back from the McKeon Company 2,500,000 shares of

such stock ^Tithout consideration, other than that of

causing said stock to be issued: and that by such ar-

rangement, defendants intended to and did convert the

proceeds derived from the sale of said stock, to their

o\NTi use and benefit and to the exclusion of the use and

benefit of Italo. We state that such was the charge

claimed to have been proven against these appellants

because the evidence demonstrates that they had no

connection with, or knowledge of, any of the other

activities referred to or alleged in the indictment, and

because, notwithstanding the admission of evidence

relating to these other activities, at the conclusion of

the evidence the goveiiunent obviously staked its right

to a conviction upon the transactions relating to, and

arising out of, the accjuisition by Italo of the assets

of the McKeon Drilling Company.

In the instant case there is no evidence of any sub-

stantiality contradicting or negativing the proofs be-

fore the court that the assets of the McKeon Company

assigTied by it to Italo were greater than the considera-

tion paid to it by Italo, including the value of its

stock which constituted a part of the consideration

for that transaction. Indeed there is no evidence

tending, in the slightest degree, to establish that the

value of the other x^roperties acquired by Italo at the

time of its reorganization was less than the considera-

tion paid therefor. Furthermore, no evidence was

introduced by the govenunent even i-emotely sho^^ing

that appellants were ever connected with Italo
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Aiuerican Petroleimi Corporation or with the Bro^^^l-

moor Oil Company or with any of the transactions

which resulted in the acquisition of the assets of these

companies by Italo Petrolemu Corporation.

The condition of Italo, after the reorganization had

been effected, is graphically described by the govern-

ment witness McLachlen. (,R. 230.) That the net

income aggregating annually approximately one mil-

lion dollars, pi-eviously produced by the McKeon
properties, continued long after their transfer to

Italo and imtil curtailment became effective is shown

by the witness Byers. an employee of the receiver,

who had previously testified as a govermnent witness

(supra, pp. 62-3), and this not^vithstanding the fact

that curtaihnent became effective November 1, 1929.

(R. 850.) The record imequivocally shows that if cur-

tailment had not occurred, the net operating income of

these properties would itself within a few veal's have

I'eturned the purchase i3rice paid for them. (Supra,

p. 61.)

A brief consideration of the so-called Lyons* tax

set-up will prove conclusively that it tends in no re-

spect to suj^port the government's contention. It

must be conceded that the major portion of the so-

called stock referred to by him as "commission" stock

was in fact used by the McKeon Comi:>any for the

benefit of Italo. This is not only reflected by undis-

puted and tmcontradicted testimony but likewise by

many of the items contained in the so-called Goshorn

smmnary. This evidence destroys any sinister aspect

that could be imputed to the matter covered by his

set-up and demonstrates that in characterizing 2,500,-
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000 shares of the stock as "conmiission" stock he was

merely attempting to classify it as stock which had

been or was to be used in connection with Italo and

the new consolidation and therefore ought not to be

given consideration in paying the federal income tax.

In this connection the court will recall that this set-up

was prepared after much of the stock had been used

for the benefit of Italo and after the McKeons had

agreed that 2,500,000 shares of the stock, if essential,

should in fact be used for Italo and the subsequent

consolidation.

Appellants' conduct, in generously giving of their

stock and private fortune to protect the stock interests

of themselves and those interested in Italo and to avert

financial disaster to Italo due to conditions over which

they had no control, as well as their attempt to re-

habilitate Italo by bringing into existence a larger con-

solidation, should not be permitted to be utilized as the

foundation of a criminal proceeding. As already

stated, no direct evidence was introduced tending to

show that prior to the acquisition by Italo of the

assets of the McKeon Company, any understanding,

either secret or otherwise, was had that any of the

officials or other persons connected with Italo should

be given any part of the McKeon stock.

It is contended by the prosecution, however, that

such inference could be indulged in, from the fact that

some of the directors and others interested in Italo

lated received some of this stock. In the instant case

the stock and the proceeds of stock, received by such

directors and others, was claimed by defendants to be

for the sole benefit of Italo. No evidence to the con-

trary was introduced.
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Until the alleged guilt of appellants was established

beyond reasonable doubt, they were protected by the

presimiption of innocence as well as the presumption

of fair and honest dealing. We therefore have a case

where on one side we have an inference opposed on

the other side by legal presumptions.

The situation just dejiicted can best be illustrated

by the following chart:

Existence of Alleged Agreement Between McKeons and
Italo Directors Respecting Secret Profits.

Government's Case. Defendants' Case.

1. Xo direct evidence of such

agreement.

(This despite number of al-

leged conspirators and furtliei*

fact that many employees who
would have kno^yn of such

agreement if it existed were

employed by the receiver hos-

tile to defendants.)

2. Government's case depends

upon the inference that since

the stock was delivered to di-

rectors of Italo after purchase

of McKeon Drilling Company's

assets, the alleged agreement

must have preceded the pur-

chase.

This inference is based upon
assumption that jMcKeons would

not have delivered this stock as

a gift, therefore its delivery

must have been accompanied by
an ulterior purpose.

1. 11 witnesses {defeifidants)

denied the existence of any such

agreement.

(a) Several of those receiv-

ing stock from jMcKeons were

not even directors of or con-

nected with Italo.

(b) McKeons' claim that they

were giving the stock away to

sustain Italo and for its bene-

fit is corroborated by the fact

that it was practically all used

for Italo 's benefit.

2. Defendants protected hy

presumptions of law.

(a) The defendants are pre-

sumed innocent up to the point

where the presumption is over-

come by proof of guilt beyond

a reasonable doubt.

(b) The transactions are pre-

sumed to be fair and regular.
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It follows therefore, that whatever sinister inference

the government might claim can be indulged in, by

the evidence introduced by it, must fall as against the

presumption of appellants' innocence and the pre-

sumption of honest and fair dealing as well as against

the uncontradicted and unimpeached testimony intro-

duced by appellants, not only explanatory of the

government's case wiiere such explanation was essen-

tial to understand the docmnentary evidence relied on,

but consistent alone with appellants' imiocence.

As we have already pointed out, there is an utter

absence of evidence to prove the existence of the con-

spiracy alleged in the indictment. Assuming proof

of such conspiracy, guilty participation therein by

these appellants has not been made out at least to the

extent necessary to justify their conviction. Looking

at the e^ddence from the viewpoint of the prosecution,

the most that can be said is that, in the absence of the

evidence introduced on the part of the defendants, the

jury might have been justified in indulging in one of

two inferences, one of guilt and the other of innocence.

Under such circumstances, however, the inference of

guilt would have to fall as against the presumptions

of "innocence" and ''fair dealing". In Estate of

Brady, 177 Cal. 537, 540 (a civil case), it was said:

"The presumption that a person is innocent of

crime is very strong and it is not to be assumed

in the absence of substantial evidence of the fact

that Brady coimnitted perjury in making his

affidavit of registration."

In Ryder v. Bamberger, 172 Cal. 791, 799, it was

said

:
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(< * * * If there be two inferences equally reason-

able and equally susceptible of being drawn from

the i3roved facts, the one favoring fair dealing

and the other favoring corrupt practice, it is the

express duty of court or jury to draiv the in-

ference favorable to fair dealing.'' (Citing cases.)

In Kenton County Court v. Bank Lick Turnpike

Co., 73 Ky. (10 Bush) 529, 536, it was said:

"Where an act or fact is fairly susceptible of

two constructions, one lawful and the other un-

lawful, that which is lawful should be preferred."

In Glover v. American Casualty Ins. etc. Co., 130

Mo. 173, 186, 32 S. W. 302, it was said:

"If a party's conduct is equally consistent with

innocence or guilt, the presumption is in favor of

innocence, always. If an act is as consistent with

an honest as a dishonest purpose, the finding must

be in favor of the honesty of the transaction."

The case of

People V. Strassman, 112 Cal. 683,

was a fjrosecution for perjury. The defendant had

qualified as a surety upon a bail bond asserting that

he was the o^^^ler of certain real property. It was

claimed by the prosecution that he had no interest

whatever in the property. Upon the trial in the court

below, the prosecution established that a year before

the giving of the bond the property in question stood

of record in the name of Hilda Strassman, and upon

such foundation relied ui)oii the presumption that

Hilda Strassman was still the owner of the property.

No evidence was introduced on the part of the defend-
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ant. Upon reversing the judgment of conviction, Mr.

Justice Henshaw, speaking for the court, said:

"The only argument advanced by the people is

that having shown title in Hilda Strassman more
than a year before the date of the alleged crime,

the law presumes that she continued to own it

imtil the defendant overcomes the presumption.

But all such disputable presumptions give tvay

before the presumption of innocence which be-

longs of right to every defendant, and which re-

mains with him until the prosecution by convinc-

ing proof has established his guilt." (Citing

cases.)

See also:

Greenwood v. Lotve, 7 La. Ann. 197, 199;

Utah Nat. Bank v. Nelson, 38 Utah 169, 111

Pac. 907;

Constant v. University of Rochester, 133 N. Y.

640, 648; 31 N. E. 26, 29;

Marsiglia v. Marsiglia, 159 Atl. 914, 915

;

Fox Film Co. v. Loughman, 233 App. Div. 58,

62, 251 N. Y. Supp. 693.

That upon the record appellants were entitled to a

reversal, upon the ground that the evidence is insuf-

ficient to sustain the judgment of the court below, is

supported by a long line of decisions.

In Union Pac. Coal Co. v. U. S., 173 Fed. 737, 740,

it was said:

''There was a legal presumption that each of

the defendants was innocent until he was proved

to be guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. The
burden w^as upon the govermiient to make this

proof, and evidence of facts that are as consistent
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with innocence as with guilt is insufficient to sus-

tain a comiction. Unless there is substantial e\'i-

dence of facts which exclude every other hy-
pothesis but that of guilt, it is the duty of the trial

court to instruct the juiy to return a verdict for

the accused ; and where all the substantial evidence

is as consistent with innocence as with guilt, it is

the dutv of the appellate court to reverse a judg-

ment of conviction." (Citing cases.)

That portion of the decision just quoted was ap-

proved in the following cases

:

Prettyman v. U. S., 180 Fed. 30, 43:

W. F, Corbin d- Co. v. U. S„ 181 Fed. 296, 305;

Harrison v. V. S., 200 Fed. 662

;

Isabel V. U. S., 227 Fed. 788;

Wright V. r. S., 227 Fed. 855;

U. S. V. Murphy, 253 Fed. 404.

In Siden r. U. S., 9 F. (2) 241, 244, the court said:

••There was a legal presumption that the de-

fendant was innocent of each of the charges in the

information against him until he was proved to be
giiiltv beyond a reasonable doubt. The burden is

on the govermnent to make this proof. Where
all the substantial evidence is as consistent with
innocence as with guilt it is the duty of the appel-
late court to reverse a judgment of conviction."

To the same effect see

:

Eidenoiir v. TJ. S., 14 F. (2) 888, 892:

Haniing v. TJ. S., 21 F. (2) 508;

Salinger v. U. S., 23 F. (2) 48:

Graceffo v. U. S., 46 F. (2) 852,

where the rule is thus stated

:



374

''It has been held by a long line of decisions in

substance that, unless there is substantial evidence

of facts which exclude every other h\^)othesis than

that of guilt, it is the duty of the trial judge to

direct the jury to return a verdict for the accused

and, where all the evidence is as consistent with

imiocence as with gaiilt, it is the duty of the appel-

late court to reverse a judgment against the

accused."

XII.

THE COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING DEFENDANTS' OBJEC-

TIONS TO AND MOTION TO STRIKE THE TESTIMONY OF
DOUGLAS FYFE, GIVING CONVERSATIONS PURPORTING
TO HAVE BEEN HAD WITH JOHN M. PERATA, IN SAN
FRANCISCO AND LOS ANGELES.

(Assignments of Error Nos. 25 and 26, R. 1407, 1409.)

The prosecution's purpose in calling Fyfe as a

witness is not entirely clear. While he testified that

the Italo-American was hard up, the greater por-

tion of his testimony was given over to an expression

of his opinion of defendant Wilkes. It is the objec-

tion to this testimony and the court's ruling thereon,

to which this point of the brief is directed.

The objectionable testimony is taken from two dif-

ferent conversations between the witness and Perata,

one occurring in San Francisco, relating to the Italo-

American Petroleum Co., the other in Los Angeles,

relating to the Italo-Petroleum Corporation of

America, and the error as to each is made the sub-

ject of a different assignment.
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The objectionable testimony.

We will quote first the testimony purporting to re-

late the conversation in San Francisco and follow

it ^^ith that given the Los Angeles locale.

•'I had a conversation with Mr. Perata in San

Francisco about October 15, 1927, in the presence

of Mr. Moore. He infoiined me that a broker,

Mr. Frederic Vincent, had suggested that Alfred

Wilkes be brought into the company to get it

in better shape. Both Mr. Moore and Mr. Perata

expressed some doubt as to the advisability of

such a stej), and asked me what I knew about

Ml'. Wilkes. I told them that I only knew Mr.

Wilkes by reputation, that he had a reputation

for being a iDromoter.

Objected to as incompetent, irrelevant and im-

material as to the reputation of any one of these

defendants. That is not at this time in issue,

i-egardless of whether it is a part of the conver-

sation that might other\vise be admitted, so I

move the court to strike that statement of the

vdtness out. Objection overruled. Exception.

The Court. All of the testimony of this wit-

ness outside of the presence of the persons he

designated is admissible only as a£:ainst those

who particularly were involved up to this time,

but it may later involve othei-s, of course, depend-

ing on what the future evidence is. Exception.

Q. Will you proceed with the conversation

wheie you left off, Mr. Fyfe?

A. They were expressing some doubt about

the advisability of this step, and asked my
opinion. I stated that I did not know Mr.

Wilkes personally, but I did know of him by

reputation; that his reputation was that of a
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pure promoter. I think I used the term 'un-

scrupulous'.

Mr. Wood. I move that the language 'I think

I used the term unscrupulous' be stricken out

and that the jury be instructed not to consider it.

It is purely an opinion of the witness.

The Court. Yes, that should be definite, and

the motion is granted, and the jury is so in-

structed. Further explain, Mr. Fyfe, what did

you mean by saying you think?

A. That is my memory of the conversation.

The Court. Very well.

The Witness (continuing). And I believe I

cited several things that I had heard about Mr.

Wilkes. One thing that I remember telling them

was that at one time I had been employed by an

Englishman, the manager of the California Amal-

gamated Oil Compam^, which had some proper-

ties in the San Joaquin Valley. This gentleman

had siDent some time expressing to me his opinion

of Mr. Wilkes." (R. 214-5; Assignment of Error

1407-9.)

The record with reference to the Los Angeles con-

versation is as follows:

"I had a conversation with Mr. Perata at the

Biltmore Hotel in Los Angeles.

Q. What was that conversation, please?

A. Mr. Perata had called me into the room
in the Biltmore and asked me how I thought

things were going along with the Italo Company.

I told him quite frankly that I thought the Italo

was getting in very bad shape, that it was gen-

erally rumored that the Italo was bujdng prop-

erties at prices very much more than their value.



377

Mr. West. Object to the answer so far as to

what runioi's occurred as being hearsay.

Objection overruled. Exception.

A. That men of very bad reputation were
being brought into the company. The company
was getting a very bad name, and that if he was
not careful, the result would be that he and his

Italian stockholders would suffer heavy losses.

Mr. Perata told me that he realized that the men
he was dealing with were, I think, if I may use

the expression, pretty tough customers, but that

he was watching them and that they wouldn't

put anything over on him.

Q. In that conversation was anything said as

to the names of the persons who were being

brought into the Italo Petroleum Corporation of

America by Mr. Wilkes?
Mr. Divet. Objected to as immaterial, and hav-

ing a tendency indirectly to go into the question

of reputation of the defendants and not at all

necessary to the end of the inquiry being pur-

sued by the Government.

The Court. Overruled.

Exception.

A. Yes, there were some names mentioned.

Defendants moved to strike out all of the tes-

timony of this witness with regard to the con-

versation held at the Biltmore Hotel as being
wholly unmaterial to any charge or issue in this

case as to the reputation of anyone. It is imma-
terial whose names might have been mentioned.

It has indirectly reflected upon men who are

under indictment here, and their reputation is

not in issue unless they put it in issue themselves,

and it is whollv inmiaterial for this witness to



378

be permitted to state, to give a conversation and

through some conversation give his opinion and

statements and rumors concerning the reputation

of anyone. We move to strike out all of the tes-

timony concerning the conversation at the Bilt-

more Hotel, because the reputation of any de-

fendant here is not at issue until we make it so

ourselves.

The Court. Motion denied.

Exception." (R. 216-218; Assignment of Errors

1409-10.)

ArgTiment.

It is hard to conceive of a case in which such a

multitude of errors was crowded into so few pages

of testimony. By these two short conversations, there

was conveyed to the attentive jury : the opinion of the

witness as to the condition of Italo, the opinion of

the witness as to the character and integrity of the

defendants; and the claim of the witness that it was

"rumored" that Italo was paying more for proper-

ties than they were worth (one of the leading issues

in the case).

All of this "all inclusive" testimony was admitted

(over defendants' strenuous objections), in spite of

the fact that the reputation of the defendants was

not in issue, that no foundation was laid for

"opinion" testimony, that neither the witness nor the

matter upon which he was being examined came

within the rule permitting opinion evidence and that

the witness was purporting, from his store of rumor

and personal opinion, to answer the very question

the jury was selected to answer.
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If evidence of this character can be injected into

the trial of one accused of crime, the Bill of Rights

of our Federal Constitution might as well be scrapped.

In face of such a relaxation of the rules of evidence,

no accused defendant could successfully defend an

indictment.

The purpose sought to be accomplished by the

prosecution in thus examining Fyfe was to create in

the minds of the jury at the very threshold of the

trial the belief that the reputations of certain of the

defendants were bad; that they were

^'pretty tough customers, but that he was watch-

ing over them and that they would not put any-

thing OA-er on him." (R. 217.)

Although the names of the persons mentioned in the

conversation last referred to were not given by the

witness, the jury midoubtedly understood that he w^as

referring, among others, to the defendants A. Gr.

Wilkes and Robert McKeon because, as the court will

recall, they were elected directors of Italo on March

8, 1928, by its incorporators (R. 236-7, supra, pp.

20-21), and to the defendant John McKeon inasmuch

as he was one of the owners of the McKeon Drilling

Company the purchase of the property of which was

then being negotiated. The prosecution was also at-

tempting to show by this evidence that in the purchase

of the various properties sought to be acquired by

Italo, it was paying prices greatly in excess of their

actual value.

That the goveriunent was entirely lacking in au-

thority to introduce testimony bearing upon the rep-
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utation of a defendant on trial, unless such reputa-

tion is put in issue by affirmative evidence intro-

duced on his behalf, is too well settled to be now the

subject of controversy.

Greer v. U. S., 245 U. S. 559, 62 L. Ed. 469;

People V. Mohr, 157 Cal. 732

;

State V. Shaw, 75 Wash. 326, at 332, lis Pac.

20.

To appreciate the prejudice resulting to appellants

from the admission of the evidence above quoted it

will be necessary for the court to give consideration

to the point immediate^ following which involves an

instruction given by the court to the jury addressed to

the subject-matter, among others, of ''reputation"

evidence, which clearly discloses that in response to

the express direction of the court in weighing the

evidence of defendants, the jury was justified in con-

sidering and undoubtedly did give weight to such

testimony, to the detriment of defendants.

XIII.

THE COURT ERRED IN GIVING TO THE JURY ITS INSTRUC-

TION ON THE LEGAL PRINCIPLES APPLICABLE TO THE
WEIGHT OF EVIDENCE AND ON THE EFFECT OF REPUTA-
TION TESTIMONY, AND IN REFUSING TO GIVE THE PRO-

POSED INSTRUCTION REQUESTED BY APPELLANTS UPON
THESE SUBJECTS.

(Assignment of Error No. 95, R. 1527.)

(Assignment of Error No. 96, R. 1527-8.)

Appellants John and Robert McKeon introduced

evidence showing the excellent reputations possessed

by them. (Supra, pp. 209-10.) This evidence was not
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contradicted or opposed. Evidence of good character

was also introduced on behalf of the defendants

Shingle and Brown. The only reputation evidence,

therefore properJi/ in the record was that given on be-

half of the defendants John and Robert McKeon and

Fred Shingle and Horace J. Brown.

In order that the jury might be advised respecting

the legal principles to be applied by it when giving

consideration to and weighing the testimony given by

the witnesses (including the defendants) who testified

upon the trial, the court gave the following instruc-

tion:

''All witnesses are presumed to speak the truth

while on the witness stand. This presumption,

however, is a disputable one and may be repelled

by the manner in which your witness testifies, hy

his reputation for truth and integrity, by the

probability of his testimony and to the extent to

which it is corroborated by known facts in the

case, or by his sympathies with either side of the

case, and the extent to which, either favorably or

adversely, he might be affected by the result. If

a witness has knowingly given false testimony

upon a material matter of the case the jury is at

liberty to distrust his testimony in other respects,

even to the extent of rejecting the whole of his

testimony. These principles apply to the de-

fendant when testifying as a witness in his own
behalf and to all other witnesses, and the jury

may well bear in mind in weighing the testimony

of the defendant, the extent to which he may be

affected by the result of the trial; and the de-

fendant in a criminal case is not obliged to become

a witness in his own behalf, and no inference of

guilt can be drawn by the jury because any de-

fendant has not testified at this trial. In the
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Federal courts there is no presumption that the

accused is of good character. Neither can he be

presumed to be of bad character, but if the good

character of the person accused of crime is proven

for the traits of character involved in the charges

against him and in the case on trial, it must be

considered by you in connection with all of the

other facts and circumstances brought out by

evidence admitted on this trial, and, if after such

consideration, the jury is not satisfied beyond a

reasonable doubt of the defendant's guilt of the

offense for which he is being tried, they should

acquit him. But if they are satisfied from all the

evidence in the case that the defendant is guilty

of the charge for which he is being tried, you

should convict him notwithstanding his proof of

good character." (R. 1286-7, Assigiunents of

Error Nos. 95 and 89, R. 1527; 1520.)

The above quoted instruction was the only one

given by the court upon the subjects to which it re-

lates. (R. 1287.) That the instruction constituted an

erroneous statement of the law and was extremely

prejudicial to the defendants, particularly the ap-

pellants, John and Robert McKeon, will be readily

apparent. It was especially injurious, as will here-

after be pointed out, because of the improper evidence

given during the examination of the witness Fyfe re-

ferred to in the previous point of this brief.

By this instruction the jury was definitely informed

that the presumption that a witness (including de-

fendant) was testifying truthfully may be repelled by

(a) his reputation for truth and integrity,

(b) by the probability of his testimony, and
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(c) to the extent to which it was corroborated

by the known facts in the case.

As to each of these propositions the instruction was

palpably erroneous. In other words, the very ele-

ments that would corroborate and confirm the pre-

sumption of truthfulness, the jury was told, were

elements which they were justified in taking into

consideration to overcome such presumption.

Appellants John and Robert McKeon expressly

tendered such issue by affirmative e^ddence which was

not opposed. This evidence supported and confirmed,

but did not repel, the presmnption of truthfulness at-

taching to their testimony. The only evidence in the

case which by any possibility could justify that por-

tion of the instruction complained of in which the

court informed the jury that the presumption of

truth might be repelled by the ''reputation" of a

defendant for truth and integrity must have been the

evidence given by Fyfe over the objection and against

the protest of defendants. The jury therefore was

justified in assuming that when it gave this instruc-

tion the court was directing attention to the evidence

given by the witness Fyfe upon the subject of reputa-

tion because it was the only detrimental ''reputation"

evidence introduced during the tibial in the court

below.

A proper instruction upon the subjects covered by

that portion of the court's charges above quoted was

]'equested by appellants but refused by the court. The

instruction is as follows:

"You are the sole judges of the credibility and

the w^eight which is to be given to testimony of
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the different witnesses who have testified upon
this trial. A witness is presumed to speak the

truth. This presumption, however, may be re-

pelled by the manner in which he testifies ; by the

character of his testimony or by the e^ddence af-

fecting his character for truth, honesty, and in-

tegrity, or his motives; or by contradictory evi-

dence, or showing that he has been convicted of a

felony. In judging the credibility of the wit-

nesses in this case, you may believe the whole or

any part of the evidence of any witness, or may
disbelieve the whole or any part of it, as may be

dictated by your judgment as reasonable men.

You should carefully scrutinize the testimony

given, and in so doing consider all of the circum-

stances under which any witness has testified, his

demeanor, his manner while on the stand, his in-

telligence, the relation which he bears to the

prosecution or the defendants, the manner in

which he might be affected by the verdict and the

extent to which he is contradicted or corroborated

by other evidence, if at all, and every manner
that tends reasonably to shed light upon his

credibility. If a witness is shown knowingly to

have testified falsely on the trial touching any

material matter, the jury should distrust his tes-

timony in other particulars, and in that case you

are at liberty to reject the Avhole of the witness'

testimony, except in so far as it is corroborated

by other credible evidence." (Assigmnent of

Error No. 96, R. 1527.)

That a defendant is entitled to have the jury in-

structed upon the legal principles and rules governing

the construction and weight of evidence is elemental.

In no other fashion could his rights be safeguarded
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or protected. In the absence of such instruction the

jury might well '*run wild" when giving effect to the

evidence and in iDassing upon the guilt or innocence

of a defendant. In the late case of

Hersh V. U. S., 68 F. (2d) 799,

at page 807, this court, speaking through Presiding

Judge Wilbur, stated:

*'It is well settled in the federal court that

where a correct proposition of law essential to

the proper determination of the issues submitted

to the jury is proposed by the defendants, and

the same is not given either in substance or ef-

fect and the jury is not properly advised thereon

by the general charge of the court, the refusal to

give such instruction is error. (Citing cases.)"

In the instant case the defendants find themselves

in a position more deplorable than if the instruction

given by the court had been omitted entirely because

here if the instruction as given was followed, which

will be presiuned, disaster to the defendants would

inevitably occur.

Even assmning that with respect to the effect of

evidence establishing good character the latter part of

the instruction first above quoted correctly stated the

law, nevertheless the giving of the instruction must

be held to be error because the two elements mentioned

in subdivisions (b) and (c) were not subsequently

touched upon, and a clear conflict exists between that

portion of the mstruction referred to in subdivision

(a) and the latter part of the instruction. The in-

struction was therefore conflicting and contradictory

and for such reason alone the judgment should be re-

versed.
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In

Nicola V. U. S., 72 Fed. (2nd) 780, 787,

the court said:

''Where two instructions are given to the jury,

one erroneous and prejudicial and the other cor-

rect, it is impossible to tell which one the jury

followed and it constitutes reversible error."

In

Sundeiiand v. U. S., 19 Fed. (2nd) 202,

where the court, after holding that an instruction as

to the effect of evidence of defendant's good reputa-

tion was insufficient, said (p. 215) :

''whatever virtue there was in the charge as

given, was completely nullified by another and
later portion of the charge * * *."

In

Mills V. U. S., 164 U. S. 644, 41 L. Ed. 584,

the court held that where part of an instruction was

erroneous it was not cured by later correct statements

of the law, as the jury might have relied on either

part.

See, also:

Notary v. U. S., 16 Fed. (2nd) 434.
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XIV.

THE COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING DEFENDANTS' DE-

MURRERS TO THE FIFTEENTH COUNT OF THE INDICT-

MENT MADE ON THE GROUND THAT AN OFFENSE
AGAINST THE UNITED STATES WAS NOT THEREIN
STATED.

(Assignment of Error No. 2, R. 1391.)

(Assignment of Error No. 20, R. 1404.)

John McKeon demurred to the indictment on the

ground

"that said indictment as a whole does not, nor

does either or any count thereof allege facts or

acts which would constitute a violation of any

law of the United States." (R. 147.)

Robert McKeon demurred on the ground that:

"The first and each and every count of said

indictment fails to allege facts sufficient to con-

stitute a public offense under the laws of the

United States." (R. 137.)

The court's overruling of the demurrer appears

on page 188 of the record.

It is the contention of these appellants that the

fifteenth count of the indictment is fatally defective

in that it purports to charge the defendants therein

named with conspiring to commit a conspiracy, and

that no such crime exists.

The pertinent portion of the fifteenth count of the

indictment charges that the defendants did

"feloniously conspire, combine and confederate

and agree among themselves * * * and with other

persons, W'hose names are to the Grand Jury
unknown, to commit certain offenses * * * that
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is to say, that they, the said defendants did * * *

conspire, combine, confederate and agree among
thanselTCS * * * and vnih other persons, whose

names are to the Grand Juiy unknown, as afore-

said, to devise, a scheme and aitifice to defraud
* * * and for the purpose of exeeutkig such

scheme and artifice, to place * * * in liie Post

Ofl&ce * * * letters" etc (R. 60.)

The drsr count is incorporated into the fifteenth

count (R. 61), and it charges that the defendants

**did devise and intend to devise, a scheme and
artifice to defrav.;! I:alo Petroleum Corporation"

etc "by mailing" etc (R. 27. i

The language above quoted from the fifteenth count

dearly shows an attempt to charge the commission

of a conspiracy to commit a conspiracy, a crime un-

known to the law. Of course, the first count pur-

ports to charge a violation of sec 215 of the Criminal

iCode (U. S. C. A Tide 18, sec 338), which be-

gins:

"Whoever having devised or intending to de-

vise any scheme or artifice to defraud" etc

and just as obviously, the fifteenth count is an attempt

to state an offense imder the general conspiracy stat-

ute, namely, sec 37 of the Criminal Code (U. S. C. A.

Title 18, sec 88) which begins

'*If two or more persons conspire to commit
any offense against the United States" etc
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Authorities.

It has been held, in a number of decisions, that

a scheme to defitiud when entered into by two or

more pei-sons becomes a conspiracy. Probably the

best reasoned decision so holding point is that of

Tudge Rudkin of this court in the case of Rohinsoni

. r. 5., 33 Fed. (2d) 238.

See, also:

Belden v. U. S., 223 Fed. 726;

Cochran v. U. S., 41 Fed. (2d) 193, 199.

A conspiracy to commit a conspiracy is not a crime,

and the fifteenth count of the indictment, therefore,

fails to state an offense against the United States.

United States v. Armstrong, 265 Fed. 683, 695.

XY.
THE COTJET EEEED IN .ADDRESSING DEEOGATORY REMARKS

TOWARD DEJKN'D.ANT. ROBERT McKEON". AXD DEPEND-
ANT'S COUNSEL, DURING CROSS-EXAMINATION OF
ROBERT McKEON.

(AsaignmpTtt of Error No, 59, R. 1491-2.)

It wiU be recalled that at the outset of the argu-

ment in this brief, there was presented for this

Courtis attention the i*efiisal of the trial court to

recognize the afi&davit of prejudice filed against him

by the defendants.

As often happens, where there exists a prejudice

in the mind of a trial judge, the prejudice of the

trial judge in this case showed itself on several oc-
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casions (outside of rulings on evidence and the giv-

ing and refusing to give requested instructions), not-

ably on the cross-examination of defendant, Robei*t

McKeon, found on pages 1191 to 1192 of the Record,

which was as follows:

''Q. I show you a Western Union Telegram

under date of April 23, 1929, and ask you if you

have seen that before.

A. I seem to remember that telegram, yes.

Q. To whom is it directed?

A. To myself.

Q. And by whom is it signed'?

A. By John McKeon.
Mr. Wharton. I offer the telegram just identi-

fied in evidence.

Mr. Wood. If the court please, may I ask the

witness some general questions here?

The Court. Oh, I don't know. It is a tele-

gram actually received, isn't it?

Mr. Wood. Now, if the court please, if counsel

agree that it should be entered

The Court. Why waste time for a thing like

that, Mr. Wood? Mr. McKeon, did you receive

that telegram?

A. I believe I did.

Q. Well, did you or did you not?

A. Well, it is a number of years ago. I re-

call a similar telegram.

Q. Oh, never mind what you recall.

A. Well, I will say that I did.

The Court. All right ; that is sensible on your

part, let me tell you. Now, then, gentlemen, there

is nothing further to that, is there ?

Mr. Wood. I wish to make a motion at this

time following some general questions of Mr.
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McKeon, a motion to suppress this evidence, if

I may be allowed so to do.

The Court. Motion denied. Proceed with the

examination.

Mr. Wood. Exception.

The Clerk. Government's Exhibit 343."

Defendants moved to suppress this evidence, which

motion was promptly denied.

The testimony was given July, 1933 (the trial ended

July 23, 1933 (R. 123)), over four years after the

receipt of the telegram referred to in the foregoing ex-

aminations. There would have been nothing to arouse

the resentment of the trial judge, even had the wit-

ness no recollection whatsoever of the receipt of that

particular telegram. The witness made no effort to

deny its receipt. His first answer with reference to

it was "I seem to remember that telegram, yes".

—nothing evasive in that remark.

Mr. Wood, attorney for another defendant, asked

leave to examine on voir dire. Without any knowl-

edge of what ground the voir dire examination was

to cover, the court demonstrated his feeling in the

matter by accusing the attorney of seeking to waste

the court's time.

Then though witness McKeon had answered, fairly

and frankly, the only questions asked about the tele-

gram the trial judge turned to him, intimated that

the witness was falsifying, when he said he ''believed"

he received the telegram, and when the witness testified

that he had at least received a ''similar telegram",

the court let his resentment mount further and again
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attacked the veracity of the witness by saying *'Never

mind what you recall"; and then winds up his exami-

nation of the witness by a covert threat in the lan-

guage:—''That is sensible of you, let me tell you".

It is inconceivable that this little drama was over-

looked by the jury and failed to influence them. As

was said in the late decision of Little v. U. S., 73

Fed. (2d) 861, 867,

"Emphasis plays an important role in the

transmission of ideas by word of mouth."

And here was the most serious form of emphasis. Not

only was an improper emphasis placed upon the tes-

timony of the witness but (1) it was placed there by

the trial judge whose every word and even gesture

is followed by each member of the jury; (2) it was an

emphasis based upon a false premise ; and (3) it con-

veyed the impression to the jury that the witness

was attempting to avoid identification of the tele-

gram, whereas a cold analysis of his testimony with

the court's remark absent, would convince anyone that

the witness was frank and truthful in his answers.

Under the rule as stated in La7i Fook Kau v.

United States, 34 F. (2d) 86 (this Circuit), this con-

stituted error.
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XYI.

THE TRIAL JUDGE COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN

REFUSING TO PERMIT DEFENDANTS TO CROSS-EXAMINE
GOSHORN RESPECTING OPERATING EXPENSES OF
SHINGLE, BROWN & COMPANY AND CONSIDERATION
GIVEN BY IT AND ITS MEMBERS FOR McKEON DRILLING

COMPANY STOCK.

(Assignment of Error No. 49, R. 1462, 8.)

(Assignment of Error No. 68, R. 1501, 3.)

As has already been pointed out, the summaries,

U. S. Exhibits 297 and 299, were prepared by Gos-

horn, who testified in detail respecting the various

items appearing- thereon. According to his e^^idence

the second smmnary (U. S. Ex. 297) correctly dis-

closed the shares of Italo stock and their proceeds

received by the individuals named thereon from the

escrow stock transferred to the McKeon Drilling Co.

The witness also testified that the item appearing on

Exhibit 297, Shingle, Brown & Company, $578,260.63

"was net^\ (R. 664.)

On cross-examination he was asked the question:

"Now, do you know from an examination of

any of these books and records in evidence that

during the year 1929 that the detailed earnings

of Shingle, Brown were $1,229,692.09 ; that after

deducting their expenses, operating expenses and

other expenses, it left a net profit for that year

of $347,840.29?" (R. 664.)

This question was objected to upon the ground that

it was not proper cross-examination. (R. 664.) Be-

fore the objection was passed upon by the court the

witness testified that the smn mentioned represented

the '^net amount received'^ (R. 665-6.) After some

considerable colloquv between court and counsel the

/
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objection was sustained. (R. 669.) Thereupon the

follo^\'LQg occurred

:

"Mr. Simpson. Then, am I to miderstand. so

I won't go contrary to the court's ruling, that I

am not permitted to question this witness with

respect to any matters about any costs, expenses,

valuations of ser^ices or any such thino- which

may go to constitute a proper charge or expense

against this item of $576,260.63?

The Court. Well, now, that is my view. yes.

* * * Well, the objection should be sustained to

that question if that is it?

Mr. Simpson. That is the ruling of the court ?

I don't want to go contrary to it.

The Court. Yes.

Mr. Simpson. Well, we take an exception to

the ruling of the court. In view of the ruling,

your Honor. I have no further questions to ask."

'(R. 669-70.)

Goshorn was again called by the govermnent in re-

buttal for the purpose of testifying to the profits

made by the various stock brokers' jdooIs to whom
Shingle, as syndicate manager, had sold some of the

conunon stock of Italo purchased by the so-called big

s}mdicate. (R. 1250-2.)

Upon cross-examination Goshorn was asked the

question

:

''Isn't it a fact that for the year 1929 the total

earniims of the partnership were $729,904.75?''

(R. 1255.) (the page in the record is erroneously

marked "1355".)

Objection was made upon the gromid that the question

was incompetent, irrelevant and immaterial and not
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l)roper cross-examination. (R. 1255.) In explanation

of the question Mr. Simpson stated

:

"Apparently the govermnent seems to think

there was some significance about making: a profit

out of some transaction. We expect to show that

this was all part of the general business operation,

that their gross income was so much, that the

ojierating- expenses and other expenses were so

much, and get the conclusion as to the net result

from all operations." (R. 1255.)

Thereupon the following proceedings oceui'red:

"The Court. Well, now, Mr. Simpson, my dis-

tinct recollection is that the identical question

came up during the examination of the same wit-

ness. As I remember I expressed the opinion at

that time that it did not make any difference

what he made or lost on other matters, if it

assumed, and on that the court expresses no opin-

ion, that there is annhing culpable with his trans-

actions ^vith respect to this stock, it would not

make any difference in the world that he misfht

have made losses on other totally imrelated trans-

actions. I think that is obvious. The objection is

sustained.

Mr. Simpson. We take an exception. I was
going to inquire of this witness, your Honor, with
respect to the ^toss income, the expenses and the

earnings, and I understand from the ruling of the

court that I am not permitted to do so. Is that

correct ?

The Court. Yes.

Mr. Simpson. So that it would be tmderstood
that I would make an offer to prore those thincrs

along those lines and the Court's ruling is the

same, and I take an exception." (R. 1256-7.)
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It must be obvious that the rulings of the court

complained of were erroneous and that they foreclosed

defendants from developing facts and circumstances

that would have been of incalculable benefit to defend-

ants.

It was clauned by defendants that the Italo stock

received by Shingle, Brown & Company out of the

escrow stock belonging to the McKeon Drilling Com-

pany, as well as moneys representing the proceeds of

the sale of certain of said stock also received by it,

were in consideration of services rendered, expenses

incurred, and obligations assmned for the benefit of

the Italo Petrolemn Corporation. Obviously these were

matters the defendants had a right to place before

the jury, in order that they might give them considera-

tion in reaching a conclusion respecting the character

of these transactions. If, as defendants claim, a sub-

stantial consideration passed from Shingle, Brown

& Company to the McKeon Drilling Company or John

McKeon for the stock and money received by it, such

transactions would midoubtedly appear to the jury in

an entirely different light than if they represented

mere gifts or gratuities.

In the absence of the evidence which the court pre-

vented defendants from eliciting upon the cross-exami -

nation of Goshorn, the jury might well have believed

from the evidence given by Goshorn on direct ex-

amination as well as the summaries constantly within

their observation, that there not only was no consider-

ation given by Shingle, Brown & Company for the

stock and moneys referred to by the witness, but that
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they represented transactions entirely different from

its normal transactions.

Furthennore, the defendants were legally justified

in developing- through the cross-examination of this

witness the gross income, operating expenses, and net

income of Shingle, Brown & Company for 1929, the

year during which these transactions occurred, and

that its books and records revealed that such trans-

actions constituted a part of its normal business op-

erations. Without having this evidence before it, the

jury could readily conclude that the stock and moneys

in question represented a profit to the company as

against w^hich there could be no offsetting expenses or

charges. On the other hand, if the cross-examination

had been permitted, the jury would have been en-

lightened to the extent of being advised not only that

these transactions were a part of the firm's general

business, but that they should have borne their proper

proportion of its overhead, and that the net income de-

rived by Shingle, Brown & Company from all of the

business conducted by it during 1929 did not exceed

$347,840.29, even when taking into consideration the

receipt by it of the $578,260.63 testified to by the

^^^tness. With this evidence in the record the jury

would have been informed that had the $578,260.63

been eliminated from the firm's profits for 1929, the

result would have been a substantial loss in place of

any profit.

The law.

The rule that upon cross-examination a witness may
be interrogated as to all matters brought out in his
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direct examination is of course an elementary one,

and the rule that the restriction of this right is preju-

dicial error is as firmly established.

Mirmer v. IJ. S., 57 Fed. (2d) 506 (10th Cir.)
;

Alford V. U. S., 75 L. Ed. 624;

Heard v. U. S., 255 Fed. 829 (8th Cir.)

;

Meyer v. IJ. S., 220 Fed. 822 (5th Cir.).

This principle is stated in substantially the same

language in each of the above cited cases, and in each

of them it very definitely declared that a full cross-

examination upon all questions develox)ed on the direct

examination is a matter of absolute right, the abridge-

ment of which constitutes prejudicial error. Prob-

ably the most succinct statement is found in Minner v.

U. S., supra, and is as follows:

"A full cross-examination of the witness upon
the subjects of his examination in chief, is the

absolute right, not the mere privilege of the party

against whom such witness is called and denial is

prejudicial error.
'

'

XVII.
THE COURT ERRED IN GIVING ANY INSTRUCTION TO THE

JURY UPON THE RESPONSIBILITY OF DIRECTORS OF A
CORPORATION, BASED UPON THE ALLEGED VIOLATION
BY THEM OF THEIR FIDUCIARY OBLIGATIONS TO SUCH
CORPORATION.

(Assignment of Error No. 103, R. 1534.)

(Assignment of Error No. 104, R. 1535-6.)

(Assignment of Error No. 105, R. 1536-7.)

In its charge to the jury, the court undertook to

deliver an exposition of what it understood to be the

law relating to the duties of fiduciaries, as well as the
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obligations with which they were clothed. It is claimed

by appellants that in its conception and interpreta-

tion of these principles, the trial court fell into error

to the prejudice of appellants, which contention will

be given consideration in the next succeeding point.

Here we are alone concerned with the error of the

court in giving to the jury any instructions what-

ever upon these phases of the law, the claim of api^el-

lants being that none of these instructions had any

application whatever to the issues here involved. If

the claim here made is soimd, it necessarily follows

that a reversal of the judgment entered against ap-

pellants must inevitably occur, because, as we will

<|uickly point out, if the jury followed these instruc-

tions, a conviction might result, even though the jury

concluded that no actual fraud was either contem-

plated by the alleged conspiracy or indulged in by de-

fendants.

The instructions referred to are embraced within

the assigimients of error above designated and are as

follows

:

"You are advised that a director of a corpora-

tion occupies a fiduciary relationship to the cor-

poration and to the stockholders. His position is

one of trust, and he is frequently denominated a

trustee. He is boimd to act with fidelity, the ut-

most good faith, and with his private and per-

sonal interests subordinated to his trust duty

whenever the two come into conflict. The same
is true of its officers and of all other x^ersons who
dominate and control the affairs of the corpora-

tion. They must at all times deal fairly with

those who own or are invited to purchase shares
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of the corporation and must fairly disclose all

facts which might influence them in deciding upon
the value and wisdom of purchasing the stock in

such corporation." (R. 1295, Assignment of

Error No. 103, p. 1534.)

"While it is true that a contract between a cor-

poration and one or more of its directors is not

void or fraudulent, provided the interest of the

directors is known to the corporation; directors,

or other officers are forbidden to make any profit

by selling any property to the corporation of

which they are directors or officers without mak-
ing the fullest disclosure not only to the board

of directors of such corporation, but also to those

who are solicited to purchase the shares thereof.

Directors and officers stand in a trust relation

to the company and are bound at all times to act

faithfully in the interests of the company and

of the stockholders and proposed stockholders. To
make any undisclosed profit for himself is fraudu-

lent on the part of a director and to solicit the

public to purchase shares without fully inform-

ing them of such profit to himself is a fraud upon
them.

"There is evidence in this case which, if believed

by you beyond a reasonable doubt, will justify a

finding that after the organizing of the Italo Pe-

trolemn Corporation of America some of the of-

ficers effected certain mergers and transferred to

the Italo Corporation of America the assets and

property of other corporations at a profit to them-

selves personally without disclosing such fact to

those who had bought and were being invited to

buy stock therein. It is for you to determine be-

yond a reasonable doubt from the evidence in the
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case whether or not this is the fact, and if you so

tind it to be a fact, you would be warranted in

finding- that any defendant so doing did partici-

pate in the scheme and artifice to defraud de-

scribed in the indictment." (R. 1296, Assigmnent

of Error No. 104, pp. 1535-6.)

''It is not unlawful that directors of a corpo-

ration have an interest in property sold to the

corporation and receive a part of the considera-

tion therefor, even without disclosing such inter-

est in the corporation, provided the transaction

as to the corporation is just and reasonable.

Directors, however, are forbidden from making
any secret profits out of their relation. It is

inmiaterial that the cori3oration has not been

damaged by the transaction; secret profits belong

to the corporation for the benefit of its stock-

holders, and directors are under a duty, if they

sell to the corporation, to make the sale without

a profit unless they disclose that they are receiv-

ing such profit and the fact that the property

at the time was worth the purchase price, it in

no way relieves the directors of the duties and

responsibilities resting upon them as fiduciaries.

''Let me illustrate the matter of secret profits.

A prominent business man, I know him well, was

president and a member of the board of directors

of a life insurance company recently organized,

the stock of which had not been sold. The com-

pany entered into a contract with a firm of brok-

ers for the sale of the stock for a percentage. The

l^resident of the corporation made a secret agree-

ment wHth the brokers by which he received a per-

centage of the amount earned by the brokers ag-

gregating some $40,000. Learning of the secret
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agreement the corporation brought suit for re-

covery of this sum as secret profits. The defense

was made that the services rendered by the presi-

dent were w^orth the amount; that he had re-

signed a lucrative position with another firm to

assist the sale of the stock ; that his ser\dces were

necessary in order to effectuate the sales.

"It was held that the duty of securing the sub-

scriptions was one enjoined by law upon the

directors, and that no director could lawfully

make any secret profit in the matter of subscrip-

tions. That by making the secret agreement with

the broker he acquired an interest that was pos-

sibly adverse to his fiduciary duty and he secretly

placed himself in a position where conflict might

arise between his trust duty and his personal in-

terests. So that it is the law regarding the fidu-

ciary duty, and you will observe in the course of

these instructions that he is not permitted to

occupy a position where he makes profits that

are not disclosed to those whose interests he is

bound to protect. In this particular case that

claim was established and was paid from the

estate long after his death." (R. 1297-8, Assign-

ment of Error No. 105, pp. 1536-7.)

All of these instructions were based upon the mis-

taken assumption that if the evidence established that

the defendants, or some of them, had breached their

obligations as fiduciaries, even though actual fraud

teas absent, a verdict of guilty could be rendered,

provided the jury found that a conspiracy existed

to which the defendants were parties, to effectuate

which resort would be had to the use of the United

States mails.
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That instructions relating exclusively to consti-uc-

tive fraud were legally inapplicable to the issues on

trial and should therefore not have been given to the

jury seems to us but the statement of an indisputable

legal proposition.

The instructions are erroneous be-

cause they falsely assume that

constructive or presumed

"fraud" constitutes a "de-

frauding' ' under the mail fraud

statute.

Section 215 of the Criminal Code under which the

indictment herein involved was found provides

:

"Whoever having de\dsed or intending to de-

vise any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for ob-

taining money or property by means of false or

fraudulent pretenses, representations or prom-

ises * * *." (Title 18 U. S. C. A. sec 338.)

It must be obvious to the court that it would be im-

possible for any person to engage in any scheme or

artifice to defraud unless they first formed a delib-

erate intent to accomplish one or more of the objects

mentioned in the statute. In the absence of such

'^ intent'% which is the equivalent of '^had faith'', no

offense is or could be committed under the statute.

Such scheme or plan constitutes what is defined as

''actual" fraud in contradistinction to what is kno\\Ti

as ''constructive" fraud, which merely involves a

breach of duty arising out of a trust relation unac-

companied by any actual or intentional fraud. The

use of the words "scheme or artifice to defraud'^

found in the statute, themselves import "wilful in-
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tent" and ''bad faith". "To defraud" in Webster's

New International Dictionary, is defined to be

"to deprive of some right, interest or property

by a deceitful device ; to cheat ; to over-reach.
'

'

The meaning- of the words "to defraud" was con-

sidered in the case of

HammerSchmidt et al. v. U. S., 265 U. S. 182,

68 L. Ed. 868,

where it was said:

"To conspire to defraud the United States

means primarily to cheat the government out of

property or money, but it also means to inter-

fere with or obstruct one of its lawful govern-

mental functions by deceit, craft, or trickery, or

at least by means that are dishonest."

See, also,

Fasulo V. U. S., 272 U. S. 620; 71 L. Ed. 443,

at 445.

That intent to defraud nmst necessarily be present

is pointed out in the decisions. In

Horman v. U. S., 116 Fed. 350 (6th Circuit)

the court said this:

"A scheme may include a plan or device for

the legitimate accomplishment of an object. But
to come within the terms of the statute under

consideration the artifice or scheme must be de-

signed to defraud. We think, bearing in mind
that the term is used to characterize the guilty

purpose and wroiigfiil intent tvith which the

scheme or artifice has been formed by the accused,

there is no difficulty in understanding the legis-

lative purpose in using the term. The intent to
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defraud in other statutes is made an element of

the oft'ense. It is so in the statute (section 5209)

punishing" embezzlement and misapplication of

the funds of a national bank. The acts are re-

quired to be done with intent to injure or defraud

as distinguished from an innocent purpose in the

doing of the same. We think the term in this

statute, as in that, is intended to define the wrong-

ful purpose of injuring another which must ac-

company the thing done to make it criminal

within the meaning of the statute. (Citing case.)

* * * We think this reasoning is applicable here.

If the scheme or artifice in its necessary conse-

quence is one which is calculated to injure an-

other, to deprive him of his property wrongfully,

then it is to defraud within the meaning of the

statute.
'

'

In

Durland v. U. S., 161 U. S. 306; 40 L. Ed. 709,

the court said:

''In the light of this the statute must be read,

and so reading it includes everything designed

to defraud by representation as to the past or

present or suggestions and promises as to the

future. The significant fact is the intent and pur-

pose. * * * If the testimony had shown that

this Provident Company and the defendant, as its

president, had entered in good faith upon that

business believing that out of the moneys re-

ceived by investment or otherwise, made enough

to justify the promised returns no conviction

could be sustained no matter how visionary might

seem the scheme. The charge is that in putting

forth this scheme it was not the intent of the de-

fendant to make an honest effort for success, but
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that he resorted to this form and pretense of a

bond without a thought that he or the company
would ever make good its promises. It was with

the purpose of protecting the public against all

such intentional efforts to despoil, and to prevent

the post office from being used to carry them into

effect, that it was passed."

That a clear distinction exists between ''actual

fraud" and ''constructive fraud'', and that construc-

tive fraud does not involve deliberate intent to de-

fraud or bad faith is shown by the California Code

definitions of these subjects.

See Sec. 1572, California Civil Code, defining actual

fraud and Sec. 1573, California Civil Code, defining

constructive fraud.

The instructions are erroneous be-

cause they conflict with other

instructions given by the court.

The necessity to establish deliberate intent to de-

fraud was given recognition by the trial court in some

of its instructions to the jury. Its instructions upon

this subject were as follows:

"You will notice from the words of the Statute

that the person guilty of its violation must first

devise or intend to devise a scheme or artifice to

defraud or to obtain money or property by means
of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations,

or promises; and secondly, for the purpose of

executing such scheme or artifice or attempting

so to do, place or cause to be placed any letter,

circular, or advertisement in the Post Office to be

sent or delivered by the Post Office establish-

ment." (R. 1280.)
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"The first fundamental question that you
should determine in this case is: Was there in

fact a scheme to defraud substantially as charged

in the indictment? If you answer that question

in the negative, you are at an end of the case,

and your verdict nmst be not guilty. If, on the

other hand, you answer that question in the

affirmative, you should then determine the ques-

tion whether these defendants or any of them
actively, or consciously participated and entered

into such scheme, or although not directly par-

ticipating knowingly aided or abetted the same."

(R. 1281.)

"Actual fraud as defined by the law of the

state is the suggestion as a fact of that which is

not true ])y one who does not believe it to be true

;

the positive assertion in a manner not warranted

by the information of the person making it, of

that that is not true, though he believes it to be

true ; the suppression of that which is true by one

having knowledge or belief of the facts and who
is mider obligation to reveal it; a promise made
without any intention of performing it; and any
other act committed to deceive. The intent to de-

fraud must exist at all times." (R. 1288.)

"Fraud is never presumed, and the burden is

upon the person claiming fraud to prove it to

your satisfaction by competent evidence beyond

all reasonable doubt. In the absence of such evi-

dence you are to presmne that the defendants were

innocent of any wrongful act or fraudulent con-

duct.

"While it is true that a man is presmned to in-

tend the probable and natural consequences of his

own acts, wilfully and intentionally done, yet this
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presumption is a rebuttable one and may be re-

pelled by other facts and ciremnstances in the

case and should be taken into consideration by

you in connection with all the facts and ciremn-

stances of the case. The Govermnent must estab-

lish that the necessary effect of carrying the

scheme mentioned in the indictment into effect

\Yas to defraud the persons of their money or

property, and that the defendants knew that such

would necessarily be the effect." (R. 1289.)

"The defendants are not on trial for evoMng"

or devising any improvident or impracticable

scheme, even though you believe the plan to have

been such. They are not on trial for errors of

judgment. They are on trial for a criminal of-

fense. An essential element of that offense is an

evil or criminal intent which it is incumbent upon
the Government to prove to your satisfaction be-

yond all reasonable doubt." (R. 1290-1.)

These last quoted portions of the court's charge

were not ajJi^licable and could not properly apply to

''constructive" fraud but must have been considered

by the jury as affecting only such evidence as was not

included in the category of constructive fraud de-

scribed in the instructions here clauned to be erro-

neous. Either that or the contradiction between the

two sets of instructions, plunged the jury into "con-

fusion worse confounded". The jury could not have

followed the erroneous instructions without entirely

disregarding those i)ortions of the last quoted instruc-

tions, which coiTectly state the law. In fact for the

jury to have followed both instructions in arriving at

a verdict would have required of it chameleonic qual-
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ities. The authorities supi^orting the argument under

this head are collated elsewhere in this brief on pages

386 and 422.

It is obvious that constructive fraud in its very

nature could not be the result of a deliberate scheme

or design, and yet in giving to the jury instructions

with respect to breach of the obligations of fiduciaries

the jury became impressed with the belief that such

breaches proved the alleged fraud referred to in the

indictment.

While we believe we have already clearly demon-

strated the impropriety of the action of the lower

court in giving to the jury the instructions complained

of, inasmuch as this point and the one following are

intimately associated, to avoid duplication we respect-

fully request the court to examine the next section

of our brief as well as the argmnent therein made

and authorities therein cited, in connection with this

point.

XVIII.

THE COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY WITH RE-

SPECT TO CRIMINAL RESPONSIBILITY OF DIRECTORS OF
A CORPORATION, BASED UPON THE ALLEGED VIOLATION
BY THEM OF THEIR FIDUCIARY OBLIGATIONS TO SUCH
CORPORATION.

(Assignment of Error No. 103, R. 1534.)

(Assignment of Error No. 104, R. 1535-6.)

(Assignment of Error No. 105, R. 1536-7.)

While each of the instructions given by the court

relating to the above subject matter is covered by a

separate assigmnent of error, grouped together they
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constitute the court's instructions upon various phases

of the legal obligations resting upon fiduciaries. This

situation persuades us that the convenience of the

court will be subserved if they are given consideration

and discussed collectively. This course, therefore, will

be adopted by us. Inasmuch as the instructions com-

plained of are set forth in the preceding point of this

brief, we do not deem it necessary to here reproduce

them.

Although the statute, w^hich it is claimed the defend-

ants conspired to violate, is predicated upon the ex-

istence of a ^'scheme or artifice to defraud'' which

necessarily involves the elements of "actual fraud"

as well as "bad faith" on the part of the accused,

it was apj)arently the viewpoint of the trial court,

made manifest by its instructions, that any secret

profit made by a director of a corporation, regard-

less of his good faith or the circimistances under

which such profit accrued, constitutes a fraud against

such corporation which would come within the pur-

view of the statute referred to and render such di-

rector amenable to criminal prosecution.

It was furthermore the opinion of the trial court

that in any transaction to which the corporation was

a party in which a director was interested, and out

of which such director was making a profit, it was

the duty of the director regardless of the circimi-

stances of the transaction to make a full disclosure

not only to the board of directors of the corporation

and its then existing stockholders, but likewise to

prospective stockholders including those who were

being invited to i^urchase its stock, irrespective of
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whether such in\'itatioii emanated from such director

or from others who might be strangers or unknown

to him, and this notwithstanding such director may
have been acting in utmost good faith. The trial

court was also impressed with the belief that a trans-

action between a director of a corporation and a cor-

l)oration itself as to which a full disclosure was not

made, or as a result of which profit accrued to the

director, was a void or fraudulent transaction, re-

gardless of the circmnstances mider which the trans-

action occurred, and likewise regardless of the ques-

tion of the bona fides of the director. It was in accord

with these views that the court, over the objection and

exception of defendants, gave to the jury the instruc-

tions referred to.

These instructions relate

(a) To transactions engaged in by a corpora-

tion in which some of its officers or directors are

interested.

(b) To alleged secret profits acquired by a

director or officer recoverable by such corpora-

tion, and

(c) To the legal necessity for a director to

disclose his interest and profit to individuals in-

vited or who propose to become stockholders of

such corporation.

That these instructions contain statements of legal

principles at variance with the law; that they fail to

distinguish between a secret profit which is the result

of actual or intentional fraud committed against a

f-orporation and secret profits recoverable by the cor-
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poration because of the trust relationship, but not

based upon any bad faith upon the part of the di-

rector, and that some of the legal principles therein

stated are contrary to and at variance with other legal

principles therein announced by the court, must be

conceded.

In fact, as we will hereafter point out, the hypo-

thetical case described by the court to the jury, which

undoubtedly must have effectively impressed the

jurors, was based upon an erroneous conception of

the legal principles enunciated by the Supreme Court

of California in the controversy to which reference

was undoubtedly made by the court. The propriety

of giving to the jury these instructions will be dis-

cussed under appropriate sub-heads.

(a) Element of bad faith ignored

by trial court.

No argument should be necessary to sustain the

proposition that the obligations resting upon fiduci-

aries ai'e ofttimes breached, although the fiduciary is

acting in absolute (jood faith, and with the highest

motives and tvithoiit any intention to engage in fraud-

ulent conduct. This situation arises where so-called

secret profits are acquired by a director, although the

absence of bad faith or ulterior motives is conceded.

In such instances the director engages in no repre-

hensible conduct; he is not amenable to criminal

prosecution; he is not even removable from his posi-

tion for malfeasance or misfeasance in office.

Notwithstanding the absence of bad faith the law

permits a recovery of such secret profits by the cor-
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l)oration solely, however, because it will not permit

a director to occupy a position that ''possibly'' may
be adverse to his fiduciary duty. The intes^rity of the

statement just made is convincingly shown by the case

of

Western States Life Insurance Co. v. Lock-

woody 166 Cal, 185,

to which the trial court was unquestionably referring

when he gave to the jury the illustration above quoted.

In the hypothetical case put to the jury by the trial

judge it was stated that

"it was held that the duty of securing the sub-

scriptions was one enjoined by law upon the di-

rectors and that no director could lawfully make
any secret profit in the matter of such subscrip-

tions. That by making the secret agreement with

the broker he acquired an interest which was pos-

sibly adverse to his fiduciary duty and he secretly

placed himself in a position where conflict might
arise between his trust duty and his personal in-

terests. So that it is the law regarding the fi-

duciary duty and you will observe in the course

of these instructions that he is not permitted to

occupy a position where he makes profits that

are not disclosed to those whose interests he is

bound to protect. In this particular case that

claim was established and was paid from the

estate long after his death." (Supra p )

While in this statement the trial court properly

enunciated the principles under which a corporation

could recover from a director secret profits acquired

by him resulting from commissions paid in connection

with the sale of stock, such principles had no relation
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whatever to a criminal case where its foundation

necessarily must be a ''scheme or artifice to defraud''

which assumes not only ''had faith'' but "actual

fraud" on the part of the director.

In the case above cited (to which the trial court

was referring) the corporation made a contract with

certain brokers under which they were to sell its

capital stock for a stated commission. Subsequent to

the making of the agreement Arthur Briggs (who had

been a resident of Fresno for a number of years where

Judge Cosgrave resided) was elected president and

director of the corporation. About three months after

the contract had been made and after becoming such

president and director, in consideration of certain

services to be rendered by him to the brokers in con-

nection with the sale of the corporation stock, they

agreed to give him 22^^% of the commissions earned

by them. After the stock had been sold and after

Briggs had died, the corporation learning of the agree-

ment between the brokers, brought suit against his

estate to recover the commissions paid to him upon

the ground that they constituted secret profits. A
demurrer to plaintiff's complaint was sustained and

judgment entered in favor of defendant. On appeal

the judgment of the lower court was reversed.

It must of course be conceded that Mr. Briggs could

not have been criminally prosecuted for entering into

the agreement under which the so-called secret profits

accrued to him, or for collecting and retaining such

profits. A reading of the decision of the Supreme

Court will disclose that it is not based upon any

"had faith" or "fraudulent conduct" on the part of
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Brings. The corporation was legally required to pay

to the brokers the entire commissions earned- No part

f these commissions could have been reeorered by

the corporation trom the brokers. They were recoTer-

able from the estate of Bribes only upon the ground

*hat because of his trust relationship to the corpora-

ion, the law prohibited him from acquiring and re-

taining secret profits resulting from a transaction to

which the corporation was a party. That such re-

•very could be enforced, even though the director

?vercised the hi^rhest degree of good faith, is clearly

tinted out in the decision in which it is stated (p.

190):

^*It is well settled that any seeret profit ob-

tained by the president or a director of a corpora-

tion by reason of any violation or disregard by
him of any obligations incident to the fiduciary

or quasi-trust relations that he ix-cupies towards

the corporation and its stock holders cannot be

retained by him but must be accounted for to

the corporation. * * *

The law in this regard is so strict that he is

not allowed to a^ume a position, to use the

language of the Xew York Court of Appeals in

Seymour v. Spring Forest C*emeter\' Assoc, IM
X. Y. 333. that is 'possibly adverse to' his 'fi-

duciary duty' * * *"

And at page 193:

"It matters not that the officer is entirely free

from any intent to injure the corporation in the

slighte-st degree^ acting in fact in the highest good
faith throughout, or that his actions really ad-

vantage the corporation. Xo inquiry may he made
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into such matter. Any mquiry in this regard is

stopped when the relation is disclosed." (Italics

ours.)

In the case at bar the jurors were justified in be-

lieving from the instructions given them, particularly

from the assumed hyi^othetical case, that ''had faith"

or ''''an intent to defraud" the corporation was an

iimnaterial and umiecessary element in the contro-

versy, in the event they concluded that any of the

defendants had breached the fiduciary obligations rest-

ing upon them. That bad faith is an indispensable

ingredient of the offense alleged is indisputable.

See,

Sandals v. U. S., 213 Fed. 569 (6th Circuit)

in w^hich the contention of the defendants was that be-

cause of certain instructions the jury was prevented

from exercising free and independent judgment touch-

ing the element of good faith. With resj^ect to this

subject the court said (p. 574)

:

''The ultimate issue of fact was whether the

defendants were actuated by an intent to defraud

when using the mails. (Harrison v. United States,

200 Fed. 662, 665, 666, 119 C. C. A. 78) ; and this

was to be resolved by the jury through an un-

fettered consideration of all the admissible facts

and circumstances, under appropriate instruc-

tions of the court. Since the charge of intent to

defraud was met ])y a claim of good faith, the

question is whether, in practical effect, any of

the portions of the charge complained of oper-

ated to prevent the jury, even when considering

the charge as a whole, from exercising a free and
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independent judgment touching the element of

good faith.
* * * J?

See, also:

Downing v. U. S., 35 Fed. (2d) 454 (9th Cir-

cuit).

(b) The court erred in instruct-

ing the jury that directors

are forbidden from making

secret profits out of their

relation, although their in-

terest in the transaction from

which the profits are derived

is made known to the corpo-

ration.

As has been shown, the Italo Corporation purchased

the assets of the McKeon Drilling Company, paying

therefor certain cash and transferring to it certain

of its capital stock. While the evidence does disclose

that the consideration passing for this property was

in excess of its cost to the McKeon Company, the

evidence without conflict established that at the time

of the transaction the value of the property at least

equalled, if it did not exceed, the consideration paid,

although this latter element is not here important.

It was also demonstrated from the proofs introduced

by the prosecution that the McKeon Company assets

were acquired by Italo only after the latter had pur-

sued an independent investigation to ascertain their

value, was satisfied with their value and that w^hile

Robert McKeon was one of the directors of Italo

he did not participate in the action of the board of

directors resulting in the purchase of such assets.
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The evidence further shows that the directors of

Italo knew that the McKeon Drilling Company was

owned by the McKeon brothers, and that they were

also interested in any consideration that would be re-

ceived by the McKeon Drilling- Company for its prop-

erties. It is claimed by appellants that certain por-

tions of the court's instructions, quoted under point

XVII were entirely inapplicable to the situation dis-

closed by the uncontradicted evidence and were ex-

tremely prejudicial, particularly to the McKeons. If

the jury followed these portions of the trial court's

charge, it necessarily believed itself justified in con-

victing the appellants, notwithstanding that the facts

referred to were all within the knowledge of Italo and

its directors. It is not only within the realms of possi-

bility, but reasonably probable that the jury disre-

garded all other transactions and centered itself alone

upon the purchase of the McKeon Drilling Company

properties, in which event the conviction of the appel-

lants could be accounted for under the instructions, of

which comx^laint is here made.

The particular portions of the instructions just re-

ferred to contained in the instructions quoted are as

follows

:

"(1) While it is true that a contract between

a corporation and one or more directors is not

void or fraudulent, provided the interest of the

director is known to the corporation, directors or

other officers wre forbidden to make any pi^ofit by

selling any property to the corporation of which

they are directors or officers without making the

fullest disclosure not only to the board of di-

rectors of such corporation, but also to those who
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are solicited to purchase the shares thereof. * * *

to make any undisclosed profit for himself is

fraudulent on the part of a director and to solicit

the public to purchase shares without fully in-

forming them of such profit to himself is a fraud
upon them." (R. 1296, Assignment of Error No.

104, p. 1535.)

The court further instructed the jury:

'•(2) There is evidence in this case which, if

believed by you beyond a reasonable doubt, would
justify a finding that after the organizing of the

Italo Petroleiun Corporation of America some of
the officers effected certain mergers and trans-

ferred to the Italo Corporation of America the

assets and property of other corporations at a

profit to themselves personally without disclosing

such fact to those who had bought and were being
invited to buy stock therein. * * *" (R. 1296,

Assigmnent of Error No. 104, p. 1535.)

The court then instructed the jury that

"(3) It is not unlawful that directors of a

corporation have an interest in the property sold

to the corporation and receive a part of the con-

sideration therefor even luithout disclosing such
interest to the corporation, provided the transac-

tion as to the corporation is just and reasonable.

Directors, however, are forbidden from making
any secret profits out of their relation. It is im-

material that the corporation has not been dam-
aged by the transaction; secret profits belong to

the corporation for the benefit of its stockholders,

and directors are under a duty, // they sell to the

corporation, to mahe the sale without a jwofit un-

less they disclose that they are receiving such
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profit, and the fact that the property at the time

was tvorth the purchase price, it in no tvay re-

lieves the directors of the duties and responsihili-

ties resting upon them as fiduciaries. (R. 1297,

Assignment of Error No. 105, p. 1536.)

These instructions were clearly objectionable for

several reasons. Although Robert McKeon was a di-

rector of Italo Corporation he took no part in the

adoption of the resolution which authorized the ac-

quisition by Italo of any of the assets of Italo-Ameri-

can Petrolemn Corporation, Brownmoor Oil Com-

pany or McKeon Drilling Company. In the instruc-

tions just referred to nothing was suggested by the

court respecting this situation. Inasmuch as Robert

McKeon was a director of Italo, under the instruc-

tions of the court just quoted, the fact that because

of his interest in the McKeon Drilling Company, he

derived some profit from the sale of its assets to the

Italo Company, would itself without any other cir-

cmnstance, have justified the jury in returning a ver-

dict of guilty, provided the jury believed that a con-

spiracy existed and this was within its contemplation.

These instructions, particularly the instruction

quoted in subdivision (3), would justify the jury in

finding the appellant guilty, even though the corpora-

tion knew of their interest, and even though the prop-

erty sold to the corporation was worth the purchase

price and even though the director was exercising the

highest degree of good faith.

Furthermore, two of the instructions last quoted

were contradictory and conflicting and it is of course
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(1) While it is true that a
contract between a corporation

and one or more of its direc-

tors is not void or fraudulent
provided the interest of the di-

rectors is known to the corpora-

tion * * * directors or other

officers are forbidden to make
any profit by selling any prop-
erty to the corporation of which
they are directors or officers

without making the fullest dis-

closure.

impossible to determine which was followed. By paral-

leling the portions of the instructions referred to the

conflict becomes readily apparent.

(3) It is not unlawful that
directors of a corporation have
an interest in property sold to
the corporation, and receive a
part of the consideration there-
for, even without disclosing
such interest to the corporation,
jyrovided the transaction as to
the corporation is just and rea-
somihle. Directors, however, are
forbidden from making any
secret profits out of their re-

lation. It is immaterial that the
corporation has not been dam-
aged by the transaction; secret
profits belong to the corpora-
tion for the benefit of its stock-
holders and directors are under
a duty, if they sell to the cor-
poration, to make the sale with-
out a profit unless they disclose
that they are receiving such
profit and the fact that the
property at the time was worth
the purchase price, it in no way
relieves the directors of the du-
ties and responsibilities resting
upon them as fiduciaries.

These instructions were directed to important phases

of this controversy, were highly prejudicial, and their

giving in and of themselves constituted prejudicial

error, requiring a reversal of the judgment appealed
from.

That a judgment must be reversed where the in-

structions are contradictory for the reason that the

<-ourt cannot enter the jury room to determine which
instruction was followed by the jury is established
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by the authorities cited supra p. 386, as well as the

following

:

Deserant v. Cerillos Coal B. Co., 178 U. S. 409;

44 L. Ed. 1127, 1133

;

Mideastev]} Contracting Corp. v. O'Toole, 55

Fed. (2d) 909, 911;

Starr v. L. A. By. Co., 187 Cal. 270, 280;

Alcamisi v. Market St. Ry., 67 Cal. App. 710,

715;

De Soto V. Pac. Electric, 49 Cal. App. 285, 287.

The instructions are even errone-

ous statements of the civil lia-

bility of directors.

These instructions were erroneous for the further

reason that a contract between a corporation and its

directors is not void, even though their interest is not

known by or revealed to the corporation, and even

though secret profits are derived therefrom. Under

such circumstances, a corporation would be author-

ized to rescind the contract, or if it preferred, it can

affirm the contract and recover the damages sustained,

as a result of the fraud. The agreement, however,

is not void.

The trial court's error was in failing to distinguish

between fraud by which a contracting party is in-

duced to sign a different contract than he believes he

is signing, and actual fraud in inducing a contracting

party to contract, or constructive fraud created by the

breach of a fiduciary dut}^

In the first of the above instances, the fraud vitiates

the contract, it is void, but in the two latter instances,
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the contract is merely voidable. That the purchase of

the McKeon Drilling Company's assets, even had it

been engaged in by the directors of Italo, in violation

of their fiduciary obligations, was not thereby a void

contract is established hy unconflicting authorities. A
few of the authorities are

:

Civil Code, State of Califoniia, Sec. 1566;

Garcia v. California Truck Co., 183 Cal. 767,

770-3;

Bcvgin v. Haight, 99 Cal. 52, 55;

Sterling v. Sniith, 97 Cal. 313, 347.

The distinction between void and voidable contracts,

as hereinbefore described, is clearly discussed by the

late Chief Justice Angellotti in Garcia v. Calif. Truck

Co. (supra).

While in the instruction quoted in subdivision (1)

the jury was informed that a contract between a di-

rector and a corporation is not void or fraudulent,

// his interest is known to the corporation, thereby

implying that where such interest is not known, the

contract is void or fraudulent, the contrary is stated

in the instruction quoted in subdivision (3), where

the jury is told that if the contract is just and reason-

able to the corporation, property may be sold by a

director to the corporation, in the absence of knowl-

edge of his interest.

Furthermore, the instruction last referred to (subd.

3) is contradictory within itself. It is first stated that

the sale of property in which a director is interested

to a corporation is lawful, even though the director's

interest is not revealed, provided the transaction is
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^^jiist and reasonable" to the corporation, and it is

then stated that a director is forbidden from making

any secret profit out of his relation and it is imma-

terial ^'whether the corporation has been damaged by

the transaction'^ which necessarily means that even

though the transaction is ^'jiiM and reasonable'' to

the corporation, nevertheless, such transaction is

fraudulent.

Under the latter part of the instruction quoted in

Subd. 3 the jury was informed that if a director

sold to a corporation property in which he was inter-

ested, even though such interest was known, he could

not legally make a profit therefrom, miless he dis-

closed to the corporation that he was making such

profit, and in the absence of such disclosure, a breach

of duty was committed, regardless of whether the

transaction was just and reasonable to the cor])ora-

tion. This is certainh^ not the law.

On the contrary the authorities hold that a director

may sell his property to a corporation when it is

known that he is interested in the property, without di-

^ailging to the corporation the amount of profit, if

any, he is making by the transaction, provided the

sale is not induced by false representations of the

director, and provided further that his vote was not

necessary to consummate the sale.

6a CaJ.Jur. 290;

Thompson on Corporations, 3rd Ed. Vol. IT,

Sec. 150;

Burbanl- v. Dennis, 101 Cal. 90, 98:

Densmore Oil Co. v. Bensmore, 63 Pa. St. 43;
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Sau Leandro Can Co. v. Perillo, 84 Cal. App.

627, 631;

Calif. Land Co. v. Ciiddehack, 27 Cal. App. 450,

455;

Porter r. Lassen Co. etc., 127 Cal. 261 271.

(c) The court erred in its instruc-

tions to the jury with respect

to the obligations of directors

to future stockholders.

In the instructions above quoted, upon the subject-

matter here being considered the court instructed the

jury as follows:

''They (directors) must at all times fairly deal

with those who own or are invited to purchase

shares of the corporation and must fairly disclose

all facts which might infliience them in deciding

upon the value and wisdom of purchasing the

stock in such corporation. (R. 1295, Assigmnent

of Error No. 103, R. 1534.)

* * * directors or other officers are forbidden

to make any profit by selling any property to

the corporation of which they are directors or

officers without making the fullest disclosure not

only to the Board of Directors of said corporation

but also to those who are solicited to purchase

the shares thereof. * * *

* * * To make any undisclosed profit for him-

self is fraudulent on the part of a director and

to solicit the public to purchase the shares without

fully informing them of such profit to himself

is a fraud upon them." (R. 1296, Assignment of

Error No. 104, R. 1335-6.)
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We have no dispute with the legal proposition that

where fiduciaries are themselves inviting the public

to become subscribers to the stock of a corporation,

any information given by them for the purpose of

persuading those so invited to become stock purchas-

ers must be at least substantially in accord with the

truth and the facts as they understand and believe

them. Anything less than this would be actual fraud.

Nor have w^e any complaint to make of the proposi-

tion that a director who purchases property in antici-

pation of the corporate needs should, before selling

it to the corporation, disclose to the directors and

such prospective stockholders as he may invite to

purchase the stock of the corporation, the amount of

profit he contemplates deriving from the transaction

and that if the director violates this rule he can be

compelled to deliver up his profit to the corporation

in a civil suit.

But whatever civil liability may rest upon directors

and other fiduciaries of a corporation arising out of

the breach by them of these fiduciary obligations

with which they are burdened, no incidental criminal

responsibility attaches, and no such director or fi-

duciary can be criminally prosecuted solely and ex-

clusively because of the breach by him of such obli-

gations. Before he can be criminally prosecuted for

such a technical dereliction of duty, the interested

director must have been concurrently guilty of in-

tentional deceit or dishonesty in the sale to the cor-

poration. In other words, there would have to be

added to the elements of constructive or technical
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fraud those of actual fraud, namely, a defrauding of

the corporation or its stockholders. If such breach

were accompanied by any intentional deceit or dis-

honesty on the part of the fiduciary his conduct would

be instantly changed from constructive into actual

fraud and criminal responsibility would attach.

The prejudice of the above instructions becomes

readily apparent when it is recalled from the record

(1) that Robert McKeon, the only McKeon who was

a director of Italo, did not participate in the action

of the directors in A'oting the purchase of the McKeon
Drilling- Company properties, (2) that the McKeon
Drilling Company purchased its properties long prior

to his becoming a director of Italo, and (3) that the

record is bereft of any testimony even intimating any

misrepresentation as to the value of the properties

being transferred. The instructions hereinabove

quoted, therefore, are clearly erroneous in conveying

to the jury the fallacious impression that criminal

liability attaches by the sole fact that a director in-

terested in the property transferred to a corporation

fails to divulge the amount of profit which he will

receive therefrom, and thereby permitting the jury

to infer that such a director might be criminally liable

Avithout any deceit or dishonesty being practiced by

him.

These instructions, however, do not correctly state

the law and were particularly prejudicial to Robert

and John McKeon in their application to the purchase

of the McKeon Drilling ComiDany's property. None

of the proi)erty of the McKeon Drilling Company was
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acquired by it or by any of the McKeons for the

purpose of reselling it to Italo. The Italo Corporation

was negotiating" for the purchase of valuable oil prop-

erties then and theretofore owned and operated by a

going concern. Even had Robert McKeon participated

in the deliberations of an action taken by the board

of directors of Italo resulting in the purchase of these

properties, it is not the law that he or the McKeon

Drilling Company would be required to furnish either

to the corporation or to its stockholders or proposed

stockholders the cost price of these properties to the

McKeon Drilling Company in order to permit the

corporation or such stockholders to be advised of the

profit being made by the McKeon Drilling Company

representing the difference between the capital cost

of its properties and their selling price.

These instructions, so far as they appl,y to the

McKeons and the McKeon Drilling Company are an-

tagonistic to and find no support in the authorities.

Neither the McKeons nor the McKeon Company were

in the position of promoters or directors acquiring

property for the express or intended purpose of re-

selling it to the Italo Company for a consideration

in excess of that paid by them for such property.

It is only in such instances that the instructions given

by the court would be justified.

In this connection the court will recall that eliminat-

ing the vote of every director whom it could be

claimed was even remotely interested in any of the

properties being acquired, nevertheless their purchase

was authorized and approved by the majority vote

of the directorate.
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Not only did the court give these instructions to

the jury but refused to give an instruction upon the

subject matter which in our judgment correctly stated

the law. This instruction is set forth in Assignment

of Error No. 109 (R. 1540) and is as follows:

"You are instructed that it is lawful for di-

rectors of a corporation to be interested in prop-

erties sold to the corporation and to be interested

in the consideration which the corporation pays

for such properties, and it is lawful for such

officers and directors not to disclose to the cor-

poration, or its other officers or directors, their

interest in the transaction or in the consideration

paid by the corporation, if the transaction as to

the corporation is just and reasonable at the time

it was authorized, made or approved. In other

words, secrecy as to the interest of directors and
officers in a transaction is lawful, provided the

transaction as to the corporation is just and rea-

sonable; that is to say, provided the properties

acquired by the corporation are of a value com-

mensurate with the consideration which the cor-

poration pays therefor. Therefore, if you believe

from the evidence that the value of the properties

transferred to the corporation by the McKeon
Drilling Company was commensurate with the

value of the money and stock which the Italo

Corporation of America paid therefor, the fact,

if you find it to be a fact, that one or more of

the officers or directors of the Italo Corporation

of America was interested in the transaction, in

that such officer or director received a part of the

consideration paid by the Italo Corporation of

America for said properties, would not make the

transaction fraudulent but on the contrary said

transaction would be lawful.
'

'
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The accuracy of this instruction is established by

the authorities already cited.

XIX.
THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY

THAT IN CONNECTION WITH THE SYNDICATE SUBSCRIP-

TIONS THE DIRECTOR HAD TO EXERCISE BAD FAITH IN

ORDER TO BE HEREIN CRIMINALLY RESPONSIBLE.
(Assignment of Error No. 114, R. 1543.)

Upon the subject above referred to the defendants

requested the court to give to the jury the following

instruction.

"You are instructed that a director of a cor-

poration may advance money to it, may become

its creditor, may take from it a mortgage or

other security, and may enforce the same like

any other creditor, subject only to the obligation

of acting in good faith. It is not a fraud upon
the corporation or its stockliolders for a director

to fail to disclose to the corporation, or to the

other directors, that he is the real lender, where

the loan is nominally made by another person

or by a syndicate of which the director was a

member. In the absence of proof of bad faith

it was not a fraud upon the Italo Petrolemn Cor-

poration of America for any director of the Italo

Petroleum Corporation of America to be a mem-
ber of the syndicate which loaned $80,000 to the

Italo Petroleum Corporation of America ; nor was

it wrongful for him to fail to disclose this fact

to the coi'i^oration or its stockholders. * * * >?

We have already shown that "bad faith" is a neces-

sary element of the oifense which it is claimed was

the subject-matter of the alleged conspiracy. The re-
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quested instruction should therefore have been given.

The remainder of the requested instruction, reads as

follows, viz.:

"There was no j:)resumption that the face value

of the capital stock of a corporation is its real

value. The fact that the price paid by the syn-

dicate for the 6,000,000 shares of capital stock

of the Italo Petroleum Corpoi*ation of America

may have been less than its par value or less

than its actual value did not make the contract

or transactions illegal or fraudulent."

The correctness of the portions of the foregoing-

instructions first quoted is upheld by the Supreme

Court of California in the case of

Schnittger v. Old Home etc., 144 Cal. 603,

in which in passing upon the legality of a loan made

by directors of a corporation through the medium of

a dununy lender, the court said (p. 607)

:

''It was not a fraud upon the corporation, or

upon the other members of the Board, for these

directors not to disclose the fact that they were

the real parties who were loaning the money, or

that the person in whose name the transaction

was had was merely a figurehead. It was no vio-

lation of their duty as trustee to loan the money
in the name of another rather than in their own,

unless it could be shown that thereby the corpo-

ration sustained some detriment or they obtained

some undue advantage over the corporation."

See, also:

2 Thompson on Corporations, 3d Ed., sees.

1352-3;

3 Fletcher—Eaci/. of Corporations (Permanent

Ed.), Sec. 907.
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The last quoted portion of the instruction is sup-

ported by the decision in the case of Castle v. Acme

Ice Cream Co., 101 Cal. App. 91, 101.

The fact that the government in its successful ef-

forts to convict the defendants made a considerable

point of the fact that directors of the Italo became

members of the syndicates formed to make loans to

the corporation discloses the pertinency of the instruc-

tion and the injury suffered by the defendants through

the court's failure to give it.

CONCLUSION.

We believe that we owe the court an apology for

the undue length of this brief. We feel, however, that

the extent of our efforts may be justified not alone

because of our desire to assist the court in reviewing

the evidence, both oral and documentary, but because

of the importance of this controversy to our clients

and our conviction that if properly presented the ne-

cessity for reversal of the judgment of the lower court

will be made manifest.

We believe that within the pages of this brief we

have established:

{8i) That because of the prejudice existing in

the mind of the trial judge, established by the affi-

davit of prejudice filed herein prior to the trial

of this controversy. Honorable George Cosgrave

was legally prohibited from presiding at the trial

of this controversy.
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(b) That during the course of the somewhat

protracted trial in the court below, errors of sub-

stantiality were committed by the trial judge, in

the admission and rejection of evidence, highly

prejudicial to appellants.

(c) That during the course of his charge to

the jury the trial court not only misconceived

the legal principles applicable to the controversy

but gave to the jury principles of law both er-

roneous and contradictory.

(d) That the evidence introduced upon the

trial was not legally sufficient to overcome the

presumption of innocence and to establish the

guilt of the appellants beyond a reasonable doubt.

It is respectfully but with confidence submitted that

the judgment of the lower court should be reversed.

Dated, San Francisco,

March 6, 1935.

Matt I. Sullivan,

Theo. J. Roche,

SrLLivAx, Roche & Johnson,

A ttorneys for Appellants,

John McKeon and Robert McKeon.
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Due to the fact that appellee in its brief asserts that

appellants have erroneously stated the record, did not

reserve proper objections and exceptions in many in-

stances, and appellee has applied correct rules of law to

inapplicable statements of fact and has in many in-

stances been gruilty of an erroneous statement of the

record, we are constrained, in order to lig^hten the burdens

of this court, to call these matters to the court's attention.



I.

Inaccuracies in Appellee's Statement of Facts.

1. Italo American Did Not Improperly Pay Divi-

dends as Asserted in Appellee's Brief, Page 4.

The record, page 211, shows (a) that in the year 1925

Italo American had a profit before deduction of dividends

of $29,775.69. A dividend was declared April 15, 1925

[R. 192].

(b) For the first six months of the year 1926 Italo

American had a profit of $30,948.02. The last dividend

declared that year was payable the 1st day of June, 1926,

as evidenced by Exhibit 3, page 77 . The loss incurred

in 1926 was over the whole year's operations, but when

the dividend was declared there was a substantial profit,

and no dividends were declared or paid during the last

half of 1926 or during the year 1927 (Exhibit 3). Since

Italo American was a corporation engaged solely or sub-

stantially in the exploitation of oil and gas wells, and

having wasting assets, it could under the law distribute

its net income without making any deduction or allowance

for depletion of such assets due to consumption or ex-

ploitation, and the court so instructed the jury. [R, pp.

1292-1293; Cal. Civ. Code, Sec. 346; Excelsior Water &
Min. Co. V. Pierce, 90 Cal. 131 at pp. 140 to 142.] There-

fore this charge of the indictment was not sustained by

the evidence, and the statement that the Italo American

was continually in a morass of financial difificulties from

its incorporation is incorrect.



2. Wilkes' Testimony Relative to Value of Brown-
moor Assets Incompletely Quoted.

The statement on page 10 of appellee's brief "that Wilkes

was not very much impressed with any of the (Brown-

moor) properties except the refinery" shonkl be supple-

mented by the remainder of that sentence "but I knew

of their property on the Kern River Front which Mr.

McKeon and Mr. Cavanaugh had told me about. I later

got Masoni and went to Bakersfield and looked over

those properties on the Kern River Front. It ap[>eared

to us to be a very attractive property, three little producing

wells at that time, they were just about to complete three

more," and by the fin^ther testimony along these lines

appearing on pages 694, 695 and 696 of the record dis-

closing that Wilkes thought that the refinery and the

Kern River Front property were valuable and caused

Dr. Starke to make an appraisal thereof which he did

with the result that the property was appraised at

$4,225,835.00. |R. p. 705.]

3. Inaccurate Statements of Sales Prices of Stock

Purchased by Big Syndicate.

The statement in appellee's brief, pages 28 and 29, to

the effect that the three million units of stock purchased

by the Big Syndicate for $3,500,000 or $1,167/5 per unit

and that "this syndicate the very next day turned around

and authorized \^incent & Company to sell 500,000 units

of these 6,000,000 shares at a minimum gross price of

$2.00 per unit, less 20% commission" or net $1.60 to the

syndicate leaves the inference that these were simul-

taneous transactions. From this erroneous statement,

appellee at page 133 argues that the Italo stock was pur-

chased by the Big Syndicate at a time when it was being



sold to the public at a price of $2.00 to $2.50 per unit, and

then asserts at page 230 that the court did not err in re-

fusing a requested instruction to the effect that there was

no presumption that the par or face value of the stock

was its actual value.

The above statements leave a misleading situation.

The letter quoted on page 27 of appellee's brief (Exhibit

145) is dated June 14, 1928 [R. 384-5]. The first Big

Syndicate agreement is dated June 18, 1928. and the

second July 12, 1928 (Exhibit 280). The price of $1.16-/^

per unit was therefore agreed upon on or about June 18,

1928 when the syndicate agreement was made and exe-

cuted [R. p. 900]. In this connection the defendant

Shingle testified

:

"With reference to the appraised value of the prop-

erties, we were told about what they would run, and

we later saw the actual appraisements. Computa-

tions were made as to the price which the proposed

transfers would reflect for the stock of the Italo

Petroleum that would be issued. There was consid-

erable discussion on that between Brown, myself and

Wilkes. We were trying to arrive at a fair price

which the company should get, and also a fair price

which the syndicate should give. The only basis we
had to go by was the last sale of stock which the

company had made practically a month previously to

\'incent & Company, zvhcrcby they had a contract, but

not a connnitincnt. to purchase Italo units at $1.50

a unit, less 15 per cent, which would mean $1.27^
net to the company. ' Wilkes was quite anxious to

have the syndicate pay as close to that price as

possible. Brown and myself, on the other hand, took

this position: that inasmuch as the company was get-

ting these properties at a cheap price according to

his statement, that the syndicate on the other hand



should have some advantage of that purchase also,

and as I remember I think we started out at around

SI.00 per unit that the syndicate could pay for the

stock, for the reason that the syiiJieate zeoiild be buy-

ing 3,000,000 units of stoek ichieh wouhi be paid for

oicr comparatiz'ely a short period of time, zchereas

J^incent u\is paying $1.37 ['2. and he eouhi eomv in

and buy one unit at a time or not buy any. After

several discussions we arrived at a price of SI. 16-

3

per unit, which we considered fair to the syndicate,

and Wilkes considered fair for the companv." [R.

903-904.]

The price of S1.16;i was therefore agreed upon before

the McKeon and Graham-Loftus and other valuable

properties were finally acquired [R. 904-906]. The Mc-

Keon-Italo contract was executed July 5. 1928 ( Exhibit

44) and it and the other contracts to acquire properties

were subject to the approval of and issuance by the Cor-

poration Commissioner of a permit which was issued

August 9. 1928. On the other hand the contract with

Mncent. whereby \'incent obtained an option to buy (but

was not committed to do so as the syndicate was) 500.000

units of stock net SI.60 to the s>Tidicate was not executed

tmtil August 18, 1928. tzeo tnontJis after the absolute

sjTidicate commitment to buy 3.000.000 units at a price of

SI. 16- 3 was made.

At the time the syndicate commitment agreement was

made June 18, 1928, Italo had only acquired the Brown-

moor properties, although it was then known that other

valuable properties would be acquired and the acquisition

financed by the syndicate, so far as cash payments were

concerned. \\'hen \'incent obtained his option August

18, 1928. these transactions had been consummated and
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the permit issued by the Corporation Commissioner. Be-

tween June 18, 1928, and August 18, 1928, the syndicate

had raised $1,911,375. |
R. 919; R. 933.] These facts

were material in considering" the price at which the stock

was optioned to Vincent. We all know that in a period

of two months during the summer of 1928 the price of

stocks fluctuated, usually upwards.

On June 18, 1928, the Italo stock was not listed on

the Stock Exchange. It was listed at or about the time

the Vincent option was given. [R. 911.] In the above

quotation of the testimony of the appellant Shingle as to

how the price was arrived at that the syndicate should

pay for the stock, reference was made by the witness to

the prior sales to Vincent & Company at $1.27^ net to

Italo. This Vincent subscription to acquire 300,000 units

of Italo stock at $1.27^ per unit net to the company, is

dated May 10, 1928 [Exhibit 137; R. 376] and under the

subscription Vincent subscribed for only 300.000 units

which he could take piecemeal. The only other large sale

of stock which could afford light on the proper price the

syndicate should pay was on May 31, 1928, when Vincent

bought 240,000 units from Siens, Shores and Westbrook

for $288,000 or $1.20 per unit [Exhibit 151; R. 391.]

It is obvious from the above that when the syndicate

agreement was made June 18. 1928, and the price agreed

upon, the price at which the stock was sold months

later could not be used as a basis and that it was neces-

sary to consider sales of large blocks of stock made at

or about June 18th or prior thereto. When the fact is

considered that 3,000.000 units zvcrc purchased and not

optioned it must be conceded that the price was a fair one.

The foregoing summary is deemed necessary lest the
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court be misled and may be considered as an answer to

the argument of appellee in its brief, pag-e 230. that the

facts referred to by him by reason of the price differ-

ential constituted a fraud.

4. Appellee's Erroneous Statement to Appellants*

Explanation of Receipt of McKeons' Stock.

The statement on page 56 of appellee's brief that one

reason the stock paid by the McKeon Drilling Company

to Shingle. Brown & Company was, according to Shingle's

testimony, the deposit of 2.000.000 shares of syndicate

stock as collateral fi")r the bank loan with the Farmers &

Merchants Xational Bank is without foundation. X'o

such claim was made by Shingle. The reasons given by

Shingle and Brown for the payment of this stock are

summarized in our opening brief pages 59 to 68. They

are in substances as follows:

First : It was paid in consideration of valuable services

rendered and moneys expended for expenses in financing

the acquisition of the properties and saving the company

from losing the properties and the moneys paid on account

for them, and these services were rendered necessary

because and only after \'incent had failed to perform the

same services ( for which \'incent's failure he received

250.000 shares of the stock).

Second : Because the commitment to finance one-half

of the SI 0.000.000 b<^nd issue was to be without com-

pensation to Shingle. Brown & Company [See also Mc-

Keon Brief, pp. 187-195 and R. pp. 922, 935 and 1005].
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5. Appellee's Erroneous Statement Relative to Affi-

davit of Personal Bias and Prejudice.

Appellee states at page (:)/ of its brief "that the cause

was on January 17, 1933, set for trial before Judge

Cosgrave for May 2, 1933 [R. 166]," This statement

is erroneous. The record [p. 160] is as follows:

"Thereafter, and on September 19, 1932, the de-

fendants . . . entered their pleas of not guilty

to each and every count of the indictment, and the

said cause was set for trial for Janimry 17, 1933, be-

fore the Hon. Paul J. McCormick, judge of the aboz'e

entitled court. On January 17, 1933, the said cause

was continued for the term for setting, and on the

term day, to-ivit, February 6, 1933, the said cause zvas

transferred to the court of the Honorable George

Cosgrave, judge of the above-entitled court, who, on

said date set said cause for trial for ^lay 2, 1933,

and on April 14, 1933, continued the said trial to

May 16, 1933, and on May 9, 1933, the said trial

date was continued to May 23, 1933."

Appellee, based on this erroneous assumption of facts,

at page 70 states "It is pertinent to inquire why he

didn't file this affidavit when the case came up before

Judge Cosgrave on January 17, 1933." The answer is

clear. The case was not pending before Judge Cosgrave

on January 17, 1933, and therefore the affidavit could not

have been filed against him ten days prior to the beginning

of the February term because the case was not trans-

ferred to Judge Cosgrave until February 6, 1933. For

this reason the provision of the statute requiring the filing

of the affidavit ten days before the beginning of the term

in which the trial is to be held could not have been com-

plied with. It was not sought to disqualify Judge Mc-
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Cormick but to disqualify Judge Cosgrave for personal

bias and prejudice. The argument of appellee that the

affidavit was filed late therefore falls because of the er-

roneous assumption of what the record shows. The

affidavit itself, as will be pointed out by other appellants,

shows that the facts were not known to the appellant

Siens until a few days prior to the tiling of the affidavit.

The court did not disallow the affidavit upon the grounds

that it was filed late, and therefore must have determined

judicially that it stated sufficient facts to constitute an

excuse for the late filing.

IT.

Proper Objection Was Made to the Introduction of

Corporate Books and Records.

Appellee in its brief, pages H7 to 100, attempts to sum-

marize the various foundation e\'idence respecting the

admission of the books and records of the Italo American

Petroleum Corporation, Italo Petroleum Corporation of

America, Shingle, Ih'own & Company, Brownmoor Oil

Company and the Bacon & Brayton account with Wilkes-

Cavanaugh, and also makes reference to the books and

records of the corporation known as John McKeon, Inc.,

and those of the McKeon Drilling Co., Inc.

1. The Italo American minute book was objected to

upon grounds, among others, that "no foundation laid"

fR. 192]. This was a sufficient objection.

2. The records of John McKeon, Inc., and McKeon
Drilling Co., Inc., were erroneously admitted as to these

appellants because the proper foundation was not laid.

Appellee's brief, page 97. asserts that no outline as to

the foundation testimony was given as to the books and
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records of these concerns. On page 132 of our opening

brief we referred to the testimony of D. C. Taylor and

E. A. Thackaberry appearing in the record [R. 319 and

360, respectively], showing that neither of these persons

had ever given Shingle or Brown any information con-

cerning the entries in the McKeon books. Since no foun-

dation was laid as to these books we could only refer the

court to the record sliowing affirmatively that the founda-

tion was not laid. On page 133 of our opening brief we

called attention to the fact that the records of John Mc-

Keon, Inc., were admitted, although there was no showing

made that Shingle or Brown had knowledge of the con-

tents thereof [R. 479-480]. The records of John McKeon,

Inc., were not, as stated by appellee, the records of the

large corporation which was to take over the assets of

Italo, but were the records of a private corporation of

the appellant John McKeon.

3. Foundation evidence respecting books of account of

Italo American, Italo Pete, Brownmoor, McKeon Drilling

Co., Inc., Bacon & Brayton with Wilkes-Cavanaugh part-

nership and Shingle, Brown & Company.

Appellee, in its supplement to appellants' outline of the

foundation evidence respecting the books and records of

Italo American, Italo Pete, Brownmoor, McKeon Drilling-

Co., Inc., John McKeon, Inc., Bacon & Brayton and

Wilkes-Cavanaugh partnership (appellee's brief, pages 88

to 94 and 95-96), does not point to any e\idence showing

that either Shingle or Brown had knowledge of or access

to, or directed the making of any of the entries in said

books and records. Our opening brief, pages 84 to 89,

specified the assignment of error respecting these records,

and at pages 127-134 we summarized the evidence of the
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identifying witnesses to supplement the McKeon summary,

pages 2^2 to 286, for the purpose of showing that the

evidence not only failed to show the requisite foundation

but affirmatively established that neither Shingle nor

Brown had knowledge of the entries in said records. We
shall theref(.)re assume that our summaries were correct.

Shingle. Brown & Company was a corporation operated

by the defendants Shingle, Brown, Jones and ]\Iikel until

January 2. 1929, when a partnership was also formed

I R. 447]. The major part of the evidence in the case

with respect to Shingle and Brown began with the 880,000

loan syndicate in April or May, 1928, and ended with

the completion of the syndicate December 22, 1928. The

McKeon brief
(
page 261 cf scq. ) summarizes the founda-

tion evidence respecting the Shingle, Brcnvn & Company

books and records and points out that the foundation wit-

ness was L. J. Byers, who was first employed by this cor-

poration August 1, 1928, and admitted that he had no

knowledge of any entries dated prior thereto (which in-

cludes all transactions relative to the $80,000 loan, the

S83,000 check in the Montgomery Investment Company

account and the Brownmoor transaction) and of many
entries after that date. Nevertheless on this foundation

evidence the records were received in evidence against all

defendants over objection. Appellant Shingle testified re-

specting his knowledge of the books and records of

Shingle, Brown & Company as follows: 'T do not know
anything about the bookkeeping records of Shingle. Brown

& Company," and again 'T would be glad to answer that,

but I know nothing about bookkeeping" [R. p. 938].

4. The books and records of the corporations other

than Shingle, Brown & Company vrere inadmissible against



these appellants because a sufficient foundation was not

laid for their admission.

Appellee presents several reasons for admission of all

of the corporate records objected to as ag^ainst all appel-

lants. These reasons are summarized and the answers

thereto set forth as follows:

(T) Appellee asserts that the proper foundation was

laid. In this connection appellee makes no effort to show

that the objection on the ground of lack of proper authen-

tication was not well taken, but asserts that "these books

were all available to the defendants and if not correctly

kept they could very easily have determined that fact"

(appellee's brief, page 107). Such is not the rule. The

rule requires that before private books can be admitted

in evidence over the objection of the opposing party some

evidence must be introduced as to their trustworthiness

and the proper foundation laid. (See Phillips v. United

States, 201 F. 259, and other cases cited in our opening

brief.)

(2) Appellee asserts that the records are admissible in

evidence because the proper foundation was laid in that

there was a sufficient showing of knowledge of and

familiarity therewith on the part of these appellants and

argues as follows:

(a) That the Italo American records are admissible

against appellants Shingle and Brozvn because Perata and

Masoni were officers of that company, and Perata ga^•e

some instructions to employees.

(b) That the Italo Pete minute books were admissible,

because McLachlen kept the minutes from and after April

18, 1929, and those minutes were approved and passed

on by Robert McKeon and Myers and the signature of
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some of the defendants (other than these appellants)

appeared in said minutes. It is conceded Shingle and

Brown knew nothing of the contents of said minutes.

(c) That the Italo Pete books of account are admissible

because the bookkeepers worked under the defendant

Lyons' supervision. The defendant Lyons was dismissed

as a defendant on the government's own motion at the

conclusion of its case in chief for insufficient evidence

[R. 686]. Appellee further argues that said records are

admissible because some information had been given from

said books to defendants other than Shingle and Brown

and because other defendants were officers or directors

of the company.

(d) That the Bacon & Brayton records were admissible

because Wilkes and Cavanaugh were partners of the com-

pany which had the records.

(e) That the Brownmoor records were admissible be-

cause Siens was president and Shores and W'estbrook,

two acquitted defendants, officers and directors thereof.

( f ) That the AIcKeon DrilHng Co. records were admis-

sible because Robert and Raleigh McKeon were officers

and John McKeon a director thereof.

(g) That the records of John ^^IcKeon, Inc., were

admissible because it was this company which was to take

over Italo. This assumption is unwarranted. The fact

is that this was a private corporation or holding company

of John McKeon.

From the above arguments appellee concludes that be-

cause sojuc defendants were connected with one corpora-

tion or another, and sonic defendants with another cor-

poration, and so on, that the books and records of those
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corporations were admissible against appellants Shingle

and Brown, who were not connected with the said corpora-

tions and who had no knowledge whatsoever of the con-

tents of their records. By this clouding of the issue

appellee makes the argument, commencing on page 100

of its brief.

The cases of Warden v. United States, People z'. Doble,

Chaffee & Company z'. United States and others cited in

our opening brief (pages lv34 to 144) and in appellants'

McKeon brief ( pages 252 to 275 ) are directly in point.

The contention that because Lyons was a defendant and

supervisor of accounts of Italo that the records should

be admitted against all defendants should never be counte-

nanced. Lyons was dismissed upon motion of the govern-

ment at the conclusion of the government's case in chief

for insufficient evidence after he had been kept under the

shroud of an indictment for eighteen months and had been

compelled to retain counsel and stand trial [R. 686].

This was a reprehensible procedure. The government

in such cases knows its evidence when the indictment is

returned. To follow this argument to its logical conclu-

sion all a prosecutor need do is to indict the supervisor

of accounts of a corporation, introduce the corporate

records in evidence against other defendants upon the

assertion they are admissible because kept by the super-

visor defendant and then dismiss the indictment as to

him for evidence which the prosecutor knew was insuf-

ficient. If the admissibility of the records depended on

Lyons the foundation fell when he was dismissed. The

rule contended for by appellee would wipe out all consti-

tutional safeguards to the American liberty of individuals.
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The cases cited by appellee in its brief (pp. 100 to 104)

were cases in which it was held that under the facts shown

the defendants had sufficient knowledge of and familiarity

with the records to justify their admission in evidence.

Here we have shown the absolute lack of foundation with

respect to such knowledge and familiarity insofar as these

appellants are concerned.

( 3 ) Appellee asserts that the books and records of the

corporations were admissible to show the business trans-

actions of the various companies. What business trans-

actions? How could the business transactions of third-

party corporations be admissible against Shingle and

Brown, who had nothing to d(^ with them? The Lewis.

Barrett and Butler cases cited by appellee were cases in-

volving corporations with which the defendants were con-

nected. One of the issues involved in those cases was

with respect to the financial condition of the company.

Here that issue was not involved, but it was sought to

prove a specific charge, involving the alleged secret profits.

Under the \'ery authorities cited by appellee the proper

foundation was not laid.

(4) Appellee contends that the corporate records were

admissible against Shini^le and Rrown as admissions

against interest.

It is clear from the cases heretofore cited that book

entries may be admissible if a proper foundation is laid

as admissions of the corporation whose books they are,

but they cannot be admissions of third parties who had no

knowledge of the contents of those books. The cases

above referred to and cited in our opening brief dispose

of this argument. The hooks of parties to litigation may
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Siens was president of the Brownmoor Oil Company

and two other acquitted defendants were officers or

directors. The defendants McKeon were connected with

the McKeon Drilhng Co., Inc., and the Wilkes-Cavanaugh

partnership was composed of the two appellants Wilkes

and Cavanaugh. Since, however, neither Shingle nor Brown

had any connection with these corporations, it is obvious

that the rule enunciated in the Citllen case does not apply

to the facts in this case. This argument might be suffi-

cient as a justification for the admission in evidence of

the books and records of Shingle, Brown & Company

against these two appellants but certainly not the books

and records of the other corporations.

(7) It is finally argued by appellee that the books and

records were admissible under the rule that the acts and

declarations of a party are admissible against co-parties

during the existence of the alleged scheme or conspiracy.

This rule is restricted in its application to the acts or

declarations of a party to the action. Here the corpora-

tions were not parties. (See Worden v. United States,

supra.) Hence these acts and declarations were acts of

third parties or strangers to the record and not acts or

declarations of parties. Here there was no act, no declara-

tion. Mere inactivity or passiveness is not a sufficient act

or declaration to constitute a party to a conspiracy.

{Wineger v. United States, C. C. A. 9 (47 F. (2) 692.)

For the foregoing reasons we respectfully reassert our

contention that the books and records of the various cor-

porations were improperly admitted in evidence against

these appellants.
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Til.

The Summaries Exhibits 297 and 299 Prepared by the

Witness Goshorn and His Testimony Relative

Thereto Were Erroneously Received in Evidence.

1. That the conclusions of the witness Goshorn that

the stock Hsted on Exhibits 297 and 299 was "bonus" or

''commission" stock, were entirely unjustified by the evi-

dence is clearly pointed out in appellants' opening- brief.

Appellee asserts that "the witness merely undertook to

testify what was disclosed by the books and records he

examined". On z'oir dire and cross-examination the wit-

ness Goshorn was compelled to admit that the term

"bonus" was his own conclusion and designation and did

not appear in the books and records examined by him.

(See summary of evidence McKeon brief, pp. 291 to

318.) Obviously therefore the witness was not testifying

to what was disclosed by the books and records he ex-

amined in designating' this as "bonus" stock. Although

after objection made the court agreed to change the word

"bonus" to "commission" the change was never made.

[R. 595 to 603.] The only justification urged for chang-

ing "bonus" to "commission" was because the word "com-

mission" was used in one instance by the auditor Lyons

in the McKeon books. It did not appear in any of the

other books and records in evidence [R. 646 to 647], and

yet the charts were admitted as against all defendants,

although not based upon records of these appellants, with

respect to the terminology "bonus" or "commission".

The value of cross-examination was clearly demon-

strated in this instance. Although Goshorn had testified

that the summary "reflected" the disposition of the stock

and "reflected" the monev "realized" bv defendants, based
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upon the books and records in evidence, on cross-examina-

tion he was compelled to admit that the books did not

"reflect" the stock was "bonus" or "commission" stock,

and further that the summaries reflected his conclusion

of the truthfulness of Stratton's testimony. (See refer-

ences in opening brief, supra.)

2. Appellee next asserts that the use of the term

"bonus" on Exhibit 299 was permissible because some

of the defendants in their testimony referred to the 80,-

000 shares of stock as a bonus. What the defendants

may subsequently have called this stock is immaterial.

The point is that the witness was not testifying as to what

the books and records disclosed. He admitted that the

Italo books disclosed that Italo never paid or delivered

80,000 shares of stock as a "bonus" or "commission" or

otherwise [R. pp. 649 and 651 to 652], and the District

Attorney stipulated that the contract (Exhibit 142) did

not provide for the payment of any bonus stock or any

other bonus. |R. 649.] Had the witness Goshorn there-

fore testified to what the books and records "reflected"

and had he so listed the matters upon the said exhibits,

his testimony would have been that the Italo repaid the

syndicate the $80,000 loan with 7% interest. [R. 649.]

This he was compelled to do on cross-examination, but

only after the damage had been done and counsel were

compelled to draw this admission from him on cross-ex-

amination where he testified [R. 676] :

"Referring to Government's Exhibit 299, line 2,

I state, 'Bonus given to members of the $80,000 syn-

dicate,' the expression 'bonus given is my conclusion.

Tlie books and) records do not disclose the zvord

'bonus' and do not disclose zvhether it ivas given or

not. The books say it is a part of the consideration

for the $80,000."
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3. Goshorn's unwarranted conclusions set forth on this

chart that the appellant Brown paid $2500 to the syndi-

cate and "realized" 1250 units of stock therefor were

not "reflected" by the books and records. | R. 652-653.]

4. TJiv charts, ExJiihits 297 and 299, and the oral

direct examination ( whicli was nothing;- but a reading- of

the charts) were clearly inadiiiissiblc as the conclusions of

tJic zi'itncss, because based upon the assumed truthfulness

of the testimony of ihe zvitncss Stratton, which was dis-

puted and clearly shown to be fabricated.

(a) The opening brief of appellants McKeon

(page 317) points out that the item on Exhibit 297

relative to "market losses'" was not based on what

"the books and records reflected", but upon the testi-

mony of the witness Stratton. [R. 616-617.]

(b) Item 11 of Exhibit 299 showing- 230,000 units

of Italo stock going to Fred Shingle and that these

appellants ( Item 1 ) realized $83,000 from the dispo-

sition of that stock is likewise not based upon what

the books and records in evidence "reflected" but

upon the assumed truthfulness of Stratton's testi-

mony.

In our opening brief, pages 18 to 32, we pointed out

that although Stratton claimed that Frederic Vincent &

Company had purchased these 230,000 units through

Shingle, Brown & Company, and paid $83,000 as part

consideration therefor, his evidence was clearly repudiated

by his own evidence that he had already bought and paid

for this stock and Exhibit E in his own handwriting

showing this fact.

The cross-examination of Goshorn [pp. 654 to 656 of

the record] clearlv demonstrates that nowhere in the books
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and records in evidence zcas there any entry disclosing

that Frederic Vincent & Company had pnrchased this

230,000 units from or through Shingh\ Brozun & Com-

pany, or tJiat the $83,000 was a part of the purchase price

thereof. A reference to those portions of the record will

show that Goshorn admitted on cross-examination that

the books of Shingle, Brown & Company did not disclose

the receipt by that company or by Fred Shingle of the

230,000 units of stock or any confirmation of any sale

of that stock bv that company. He further admitted that

those records did not disclose the receipt of $83,000 in

part payment of that stiKk. Xevertheless he had indi-

cated on his chart and testified that the $<S3,000 was in

part payment of these 230,000 units of stock. That this

evidence was based solely on the assumed truthfulness of

the testimony of the witness Stratton is admitted by the

witness on redirect and recross-examination as follows

[R. 677]

:

''Those checks were issued in payment for stock

which Frederic Vincent & Company purchased, which

stock stood in the name of Fred Shingle for 230,000

units, that being the 230,000 units that is set forth on

line 11 of Exhibit 299.

^Iv. Simpson: I move that that be stricken out as

an opinion and conclusion of the witness. He Juis

already testified to the contrary, that he did not know
zvhether Frederic Vincent & Company bought the

stock or not.

The Court: The witness may explain.

A. The checks issued to the Montgomery Invest-

ment Company, I believe, zvcre testified to by Mr.

Stratton, that it zvas in connection zcith the deal zchich

lie had zuith Mr. Wilkes in the selling of this particu-

lar stock in the name of Mr. Shingle. The checks are
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endorsed 'Montgomery Investment Company', and
likewise 'Shingle, Brown & Company', and are car-

ried as credits to the account of Montgomery Invest-

ment Company in the Shingle, Brown & Company
records. The account of Montgomery Investment
Company shows on June 18th

—

Mr. West: Your Honor, I would like to move to

strike that portion of the witness' testimony out

wherein he professes to give a construction of Mr.
Stratton's testimony. He was not examined either in

examination in chief or on cross-examination on that

particular subject.

The Court : Denied.

Mr. West: Exception."

[R. 678, 679] : "O. Mr. Goshorn, I want you to

show me any book and record which is here in evi-

dence that shows that Frederic Vincent & Company
purchased from Fred Shingle or from Shingle, Brown
& Company the 230,000 units of the Italo Petroleum

Corporation of America stock which you referred to

on Exhibit 299. A. Those checks to the Montgom-
ery Investment Company.

Q. Do those checks show that they were in pay-

ment of that 230,000 units of stock ? A. The checks

themselves do not shozv it, no.

Q. Well, ivhere is any record in evidence here to

shozv that Fred Shingle or Shingle, Brozvn & Com-
pany sold that 230,000 units of stock to Frederic Vin-

cent & Company? A. The certificates themselves

are made to Mr. Fred Shingle. I believe they bear

his endorsement, and the Italo stock transfer records

then show that the transfer from those certificates

was made under the direction of Frederic Vincent &
Company.
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Q. Now will you answer my question? A. I am
trying to.

Q. Where is any record in this evidence that

Frederic Vincent & Company bought or purchased

those 230,000 units of stock from Fred Shingle or

Shingle, Brown & Company? Is that what you base

your testimony on that Frederic Vincent & Company
bought those units of stock from Fred Shingle? A.

Yes, sir.

Q. But there is no record in the records of Fred

Shingle, the Montgomery Investment Company or

Shingle, Brown & Company of the confirmation of

any sale of that stock to Frederic Vincent & Com-
pany, is there? A. No, sir.

Q. And there is no record in those books of those

persons and corporations showing that Fred Shingle

or Shingle, Brown & Company or the Montgomery
Investment Company ever received those shares of

stock, is there? A. Not the stock, no, sir." [R.

679.]

In our opening brief we summarized the evidence rela-

tive to the Brownmoor purchase and clearly pointed out

wherein the assertion of Stratton and Vincent that they

purchased this 230,000 units of stock of Brownmoor

through Shingle, Brown & Company was a disputed fact

in the case and that the truthfulness of Stratton's testi-

mony was rebutted by his own evidence, the documents re-

ceived in evidence, and the testimony of defendants re-

specting the same. (See opening brief, pp. 18 to 32.) The

substance of the evidence is that Frederic Vincent & Com-

pany had already bought and paid, or contracted to pay,

for this stock and would, therefore, not be buying the same

stock again.
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It must be apparent from the foregoing quotations that

Exhibits 297 and 299 are in part based upon the assumed

truthfulness by the witness Goshorn of Stratton's testi-

mony. That such evidence was improperly admitted is

established by recent decisions of this Cdurt.

In the case of United States z'. StcpJiens, 73 F. (2)

695. this court reversed the case for the erroneous admis-

sion of evidence which called upon an expert to determine

the credibility of other witnesses in the case and pass upon

conflicts in evidence because it invaded the province of the

jury. At page 703 this court said

:

"A hypothetical question which calls upon a wit-

ness to determine the credibility of other witnesses or

to pass upon conflicts in the testimony invades the

province of the jury, whose duty it is to determine

where the truth lay in cases of conflicts in the evi-

dence. Dexter v. Hall. 15 Wall. (82 U. S.) 9, 21

L. Ed. 73 : Jones on Evidence, vol. 2, sec. 372 : Estate

of Gould. 188 Cal. 353. 205 P. 457: 22 C. J. sec. 807,

p. 720. As stated in Jones on Evidence, vol. 2. sec.

372:

* * * All question calling for their (expert)

opinion should be so framed as not to call upon them

to determine controverted questions of fact or to pass

upon a preponderance of testimony. * * * \Mien

the question is so framed as to call upon the expert to

determine as to which side of the evidence preponder-

ates, or to reconcile conflicting statements, he is in

effect asked to decide the merits of the case which is

a duty wholly beyond his province. * * *

This doctrine was reafiirmed by this court in the recent

case of United States v. Sullivan, 74 F. (2) 799. and by

the United States Supreme Court in the recent case of
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United States v. Spaulding, decided January 7, 1935, 79

L. ed. Advance Opinions, page 251 at 256, where the court

said:

"Moreover that question is not to be resolved by

opinion evidence. It was the ultimate issue to be de-

cided by the jury upon all the evidence in obedience to

the judge's instructions as to the meaning of the

crucial phrase and other questions of law. The ex-

perts ought not to have been asked or allowed to state

their conclusions on the whole case."

We think, therefore, that the objections interpreted to

the admission in evidence of Exhibit 297 upon the grounds,

among others, that the items therein set forth were con-

clusions of the witness and called for his conclusions both

as to law and fact and that no proper or sufficient founda-

tion had been laid to make any of such conclusions of

either law or fact proper or binding upon any parties to

this action [R. 591, 592 and 599, and 600] should have

been sustained, for this objection to the whole exhibit was

reiterated as to all questions asked concerning it. [R.

600.] The same objection was in substance made to Ex-

hibit 299 [R. 631-632 and 635] and the motion to strike

this evidence should have been granted. [R. 677.]

Although the decisions in the Stephens, Sidlwan and

Spaidding cases related to hypothetical questions pro-

pounded to medical experts, the same rule is here applicable

because the witness Goshorn attempted as an expert ac-

countant to summarize what the books and records dis-

closed, and in so doing characterized certain matters which

were not disclosed by the books and records, and admit-

tedly based certain statements in his evidence and upon
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such charts upon what the witness Stratton said and not

n])()n what the books and records disclosed.

It is asserted by appellee in its brief (page 133) that

no objection to the use of the word "bonus" in these ex-

hibits as being prejudicial was made, and that no objection

\\'as made to the changing of the word "bonus" to "com-j

mission". The record [pp. 591 to 600] sets forth the ob-

jections made. Those objections were clearly sufficient

without stating that the exhibit was prejudicial. It was

when we were permitted to question the witness on 7'oir

dire and were about to make a motion to strike the char-

acterization of the stock as "bonus" stock from the exhibit

that the court in response to our suggestion or motion or-

dered the matters stricken from the exhibit. [R. 601.]

It was therefore unnecessary to make a formal motion to

strike. That we clearly objected to changing the word

"bonus" to "commission" is demonstrated by the record,

for when it was suggested that the designation be changed

defense counsel objected "it should not be changed to any-

thing" and "I think it is just as objectionable as bonus".

|R. 602-603.]

It was not necessary to specify that the evidence was

prejudicial for a general objection on the ground that the

evidence is incompetent, irrelevant and immaterial includes

an objection that it is prejudicial.

Glenn Falls Insurance Co. v. Bimdy, 39 S. W. (2)

628, Court of Civil Appeals, Tex.

For a summary of the objections to the use of the word

"bonus" on these charts, see the brief of appellants Mc-

Keon, pages 294 to 295.
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Appellee argues that the evidence contained on these

charts was admissible because it was later substantiated in

part by the defendants. The answers to this are: First,

the objection was not waived, nor the error cured by rea-

son of the defendants introducing evidence in their own

behalf. In Jones Evidence in Civil Cases, sec. 894, page

1414, the rule is stated:

"Where the court has permitted a party to intro-

duce incompetent evidence, over objection and excep-

tion, the party injured thereby may, without waiving

his rights, rebut such evidence."

A party does not waive his right to urge exceptions to

evidence admitted over his objection, by cross-examination

of a witness on the matter objected to or by introducing

evidence to explain or contradict it.

16 C. /. 885, sec. 2218.

In the case of Salt Lake City v. Smith, 104 F. 457 at

470 the Circuit Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit

said:

"Another cc^ntention is that counsel for the city

waived their objection, because, after it was offered,

and after they had taken their exception, they per-

mitted the testimony of other witnesses to be read

without objection, and because in the proof of their

defense they availed themselves of the same class of

testimony. But the single objection which they made,

and the single exception zvhich they took, (^resented

the entire question of the introduction of this hear-

say testimony, and elicited a riding of the court upon

it which zvas conclusive and controlling at that trial

of this case. There was no reason or call for fur-
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ther objections to ezndencc of this character, and their

only effect ivould have been to annoy the court and

to delay the trial. ^M^en a question has once been

fairly presented to the trial court, argued, and de-

cided, and an exception to the ruHn.g has been

recorded, it is neither desirable nor seemly for counsel

to continually repeat their objections to the same

class of testimony, and their exceptions to the same

ruling which the court has advisedly made as a guide

for the conduct of the trial. Counsel for the city

lost nothing by their failure to annoy the court by

repeating an objection which it had carefully con-

sidered and overruled. Nor did they zuaive this ob-

jection and exception by introducing in defense of

the suit ezndence of the same character as that to

zi'hich tJiey had objected, and i<.'hich they hud insisted

was incompetent. They had presented their view of

this question. They had objected to hearsay testi-

mony, and had excepted to the ruling which admitted

it. They had not invited the error of that ruling,

but Jia-d protested against it. This was all that they

coidd do. The plaintiffs had induced the court to

commit the error, and were thereby prohibited from

availing themselz'es of it in any court of reviezu. Un-
der this error they established their case by hearsay.

Were counsel for the city required to refrain from

meeting this proof by evidence of like character,

under a penalty of a loss of their objection and excep-

tion? By no means. They had presented to the court

and argued w^hat they deemed to be the law. The
court had held that they were in error ; and it was the

part of prudence and their duty to their client and the

court to produce all the evidence which they could

furnish in support of their demands, under the rule

which the court announced, firmly but respectfully
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preserving their right to reverse the judgment if

they failed to win their suit under the erroneous

rule which the court had established. If they suc-

ceeded and obtained a verdict, the plaintiffs could not

complain of the error which they had themselves

invited, and the defendant's case would be won. If

they failed, they would in this way preserve, as they

had a right to do, the right of their client to the

trial of its case according to the statute and the

estabHshed rules of evidence, of which the erroneous

ruling had deprived them. One who objects and

excepts to an erroneous ruling which permits his

opponent to present improper evidence does not waive

or lose his objection or exception, or his right to a new

trial on account of it, by his subsequent introduction

of the same class of evidence in support of his case.

Russ V. Railway Co., 112 Mo. 45, 50, 20 S. W. 472,

18 L. R. A. 823; Gardner v. Railway Co., 135 Mo.

90, 98, 36 S. W. 214."

See also Storey v. Green, 164 Cal. 768; Ann. Cases

1914-b, 961.

While it is true that some of the defendants did refer

to the $80,000 loan syndicate stock, w^iich the contract

provided was part of the consideration for the loan, as

"bonus" stock, this stock was not paid by Italo.

Not a single defendant ever referred to, designated,

or intimated that McKeon Drilling Company's stock re-

ceived by it from the Italo Company as part payment for

its assets was paid to them as a "bonus" or a "commis-

sion."

It is next urged by the appellee that the Wilkes-Cava-

naugh books were not producible by the government but
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were by the defendants. These records may have been

producible by Wilkes and Cavanaugh, but they were not

available to the other defendants whose interests were

adverse to those of Wilkes and Cavanaugh, and such other

defendants could not have compelled Wilkes or Cava-

naugh to produce the same.

IV.

The Court Erred in Sending the Westbrook Affidavit

Exhibit 155 to the Jury Room.

1. At page 130 of its brief appellee asserts that there

was no prejudice in sending the part of the Westbrook

statement which was not received in evidence to the jury

room for the reason ( 1 ) that it was not prejudicial, and

(2) that a part of the same information went to the

jury in the Cavanaugh affidavit (Exhibit 277). We shall

consider these points in the reverse order. First: It will

be observed that the whole of the Cavanaugh statement

was received in evidence over the objection of these ap-

pellants and that it was recei\'ed in evidence only as to the

defendant Cavanaugh. [R. 538.] The prejudicial error

in sending that part of the Westbrook statement not in

evidence to the jury room cannot be cured by the specious

argument that it was harmless because another prejudicial

document was admitted in evidence over objection, and

was also sent to the jury room. It will be observed that

the Cavanaugh statement was made October 8, 1929,

after the alleged scheme was terminated and was there-

fore only admitted as against the defendant Cavanaugh.

The rule which renders the acts and declarations of co-

conspirators admissible against all co-conspirators is re-
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stricted to acts aitd declarations made or done in further-

ance of the conspiracy, in furtherance of the common ob-

ject and with reference thereto.

Clune V. U. S., 159 U. S. 590; 40 L. Ed. 269;

Wihorg v. U. S., 163 U. S. 632; 41 L. Ed. 289;

Holsnmn v. U. S., C. C. A. 9, 248 F. 193.

This rule applies whether the acts or declarations are made

during or after the termination of the conspiracy, the

only difference being that if they are made or done after

the conspiracy was terminated they are only admissible as

against the declarant.

Logan v. U. S., 144 U. S. 263; 36 L. Ed. 429,

and cases cited, supra.

Therefore the statements contained in the Cavanaugh

affidavit relative to the purchase of a yacht zvere not

relevant to the conspiracy or scheme to defraud for zvhich

the defendants ivcrc on trial. The same observations

apply to the Westbrook affidavit relative to the attempt

on the part of the appellant Siens to defraud the govern-

ment of income taxes.

With respect to the statement of Westbrook to the

effect that the Shingle syndicate made large profits, it ap-

pears that the record [R. 1335 to 1340] does not fully set

forth what Westbrook actually said in his statement. An

omission appears on page 1339, but inasmuch as the

original affidavit is before this court, we shall set forth

what Westbrook actually said as follows

:

"Q. Do you know, Mr. Westbrook, if the Shingle

Syndicate, the purpose of which was to acquire cer-

tain oil properties in California for the Italo Petro-
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leum Corporation, actually went through? A. Yes.

sir, it went through and it is still in existence.

0. You personally put no money in this? A.

No, sir.

0. Do you consider that large benefits accrued to

the members of this syndicate? A. Yes, sir.

(Mr. Weaver.)

Q. What is the basis for your last answer that

this syndicate made large profits? A. Why do I

believe they made large profits?

Q. Yes. A. W^ell, the money was raised in the

syndicate to pay oft" the indebtedness of the Italo

and assume 12,000,000 shares of the Italo stock and

pay off in cash and stock for the various oil prop-

erties that the Italo had purchased, leaving a residue

of a large number of shares which would belong to

the syndicate and if sold ought to return from 5 to

10 to 1. That is not authentic."

We have heretofore pointed out that the statements of

appellee on page 133 of its brief that the syndicate pur-

chased Italo stock at $1.16-2/3 per unit at a time when

the stock was being sold to the public at a price of $2.00

to $2.50 per unit are not substantiated by the record.

While it is true that the syndicate members expected to

profit by participation therein it was not proper to per-

mit W^estbrook to testify that he considered that the

syndicate members derived large benefits therefrom, nor

to explain how or in what manner he believed that these

large profits were made. Such a statement may have

tended to lead the jury to believe that there was fraud in

this transaction when as a matter of fact there was none.
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The argument on page 134 of appellee's brief that be-

cause Westbrook was acquitted and the remaining defend-

ants were found guilty the jury was not prejudiced by

Westbrook's statement is specious. The contrary would

appear to be true that the jury believed the Westbrook

statement as to his connection with the transaction al-

leged. In so doing they disbelieved the testimony of the

other defendants with respect to the same transaction.

Instead of showing lack of prejudice this argument

shows that the jury was prejudiced by the statement.

V.

Certain Documentary and Oral Evidence Was Er-

roneously Admitted Over Proper Objection in

Violation of the Allegations of the Indictment and
Bill of Particulars.

Appellee, page 137 to 139 of its brief, asserts that al-

though various objections were interposed to the intro-

4uction in evidence of various exhibits "the record dis-

closes" that the objection on the grounds that the ex-

hibits violated the bill of particulars "was not stated by

the appellants as a ground of objection to the most of

these exhibits" and particularly with respect to exhibits

pertaining to the purchase of the Brownmoor property,

and at page 139 appellee asserts that certain record refer-

ences made by us in our opening brief discloses that in

none of those objections was the bill of particulars even

mentioned. We made no such statement in our opening

brief. Therein at pages 112 to 114 we summarized the

transactions alleged in the indictment in which we were

excluded from participation by the allegations thereof and

by the bill of particulars. This summary included both
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the Brownmoor and ]\IcKeon transactions. We then

stated as follows:

''At the outset of the trial these appellants objected

to the introduction of evidence against them with

respect to these transactions upon the grounds that

they were not binding upon them |R. p. 222] and

continuously reiterated these objections [R. pp. 225,

226, 228. 232-236, 261-264, 268, 269, 270], and when

government counsel stated that he was offering evi-

dence to show that appellants Shingle and Brown had

'received some of the secret profits out of the Brown-

moor-McKeon deals' these appellants objected, stating

'that the bill of particulars furnished by the govern-

ment in this case does not claim that Shingle, Brown

or Jones were parties to any secret arrangement for

the distribution of any of the McKeon Drilling Com-

pany stock and defendants were entitled to and did

rely upon the allegation and that the government was

not entitled to attempt to contradict it.' [R. p. 298.]

And this objection was continuously reiterated. [R.

pp. 319-320, 344, 345, 346, 350, 353, 2>7i, 374, 410,

448. 450, 454, 455, 460, 482 and particularly at

592 and 593,607.]"

There are several answers to appellee's contention:

( 1 ) It must be clear that when government counsel

was oft'ering in evidence voluminous books of account and

records, which in this case amounted to a good sized truck

load, defendants could not be advised whether the records

contained anything within the issues raised by the plead-

ings or binding on any particular defendants. Appellants

were not advised of the fact that any of the matters con-

tained in the books might be in violation of the bill of
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particulars until the district attorney so announced at

page 298 of the record, when appellants thereupon ob-

jected to the offered testimony upon that ground, that is,

that the offered evidence violated the allegations of the in-

dictment and bill of particulars.

The lengthy objection appearing in the record begin-

ning at page 222 was to the minute books of the Italo

Petroleum (Exhibits 16 a, b, and c). It included among

other grounds an objection that the records were "incom-

petent, irrelevant and immaterial and not binding on any

of the defendants." And upon the further ground as

shown at page 223 that the offer was too broad and should

be restricted to those parts of the minute book material to

the case and ''that the district attorney designate the par-

ticular parts that may be material in this case and oft'er

them separately." The objection was overruled and an

exception taken. [R. 224.] Appellants could do no more

than require a segregation and specification of the offered

evidence so that they might interpose specific objections

to specific items.

They were foreclosed from so doing by the ruling of

the court. The same objection interposed to these offered

exhibits was in substance reiterated as to Exhibit 17, the

minute book of the executive committee [R. 228, 229] and

thereupon a lengthy motion to strike each of these ex-

hibits and each page thereof from evidence was made

upon the same grounds and others. [R. 232-236.] This

motion included the assertion "there is no showing that

any of the matters contained in the minutes designated by

me are competent or material or relate to any of the

matters charged in this indictment or that they can con-

stitute probative value respecting any of those transac-
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tions." This motion was denied and exception noted. [R.

236.] It should be observed that these exhibits contain

evidence respecting- the v$80,000 loan and the acquisition

of the Brownmoor assets.
|
R. 23H, 239.] Upon the

offer in evidence of Exhibits 28-a, b, c, d, 29, 31 and 33,

books of account of the Italo Petroleum, a lengthy ob-

jection was interposed which appears in the record begin-

ning page 262. This objection included, among other

things, "that it does not appear that any of the entries

in the books are competent or material or related to any

matters charged in the indictment, that they have any

tendency to prove or disprove the allegations thereof or

that they are in any way within the issues of the case."

[R. 264.] This same lengthy objection was interposed

to subsequently offered books and records of this com-

pany. [R. 267, 268, 271, 272, 273; see objection to Ex-

hibit 63, R. p. 285; see objections to Exhibits 70 and 71,

R. p. 292; to Exhibit 77, R. p. 297, on the grounds that

it was not "binding upon any defendant except the de-

fendant Wilkes."]

At page 298 of the record, when Exhibit 78 was offered

in evidence the appellants were first informed that the

district attorney was offering evidence in violation of the

provisions of the indictment and bill of particulars and

objection was thereupon made upon that ground. [R.

298.] Thereafter objection was interposed to further

offered documents on the ground that they were not bind-

ing on any defendants |R. 305], to Exhibit 44, the Mc-

Keon-Italo contract and its supplement [R. p. 306] and

to Exhibits 87-a and "b", certain documents written in

long hand by the McKeon Drilling Co. [R. 310], and the

same objection was interposed to Exhibit 89, records of
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the McKeon Drilling Co., Inc. [R. 314], and thereupon

the following motion was made [R. 319]

:

"Thereupon counsel moved the Court to instruct

the jury that they were not to consider any testimony

pertaining to the execution of the McKeon contract.

Exhibit 44, as supplemented by Exhibit 85, or any

testimony of the zmtness Taylor or any other testi-

mony pertaining to anx alleged secret arrangement

or agreement by which some of the defendants were

to receive back 2,500,000 shares of the Italo Petro-

leum Corporation of America stock issued as part of

the purchase price of the McKeon Drilling Company
assets as against any of the defendants other than

those named in the Bill of Particulars as having

engaged therein. And that as to those defendants

who are named in the Bill of Particulars as having

participated therein such testimony could only be con-

sidered as against them on a showing that they were

at that time parties to the alleged scheme and know-

ingly participated therein upon the grounds and for

the reason that the indictment, page 6, line 23, to

page 7, line 4, as restricted by the Bill of Particulars,

page 5, paragraph 2, and the indictment page 7, lines

5 to 17 as restricted by the Bill of Particulars, page

5, paragraph 4, and page 6, paragraph O-l and page

6, paragraph 0-2 and the indictment page 7. line 18,

as restricted by the Bill of Particulars page 6, para-

graph 0-3, and the indictment page 7, line 26, as

restricted by the Bill of Particulars page 5. paragraph

L-5, and the indictment page 7, line 32, as restricted

by the Bill of Particulars, page 6, paragraph 0-4,

restricted the proof of the Government to proving

that only eight defendants, to wit: E. Byron Siens,

Maurice C. Myers, Paul Masoni, John Perata, James

V. Westbrook, Alfred G. Wilkes, John DeA4aria and
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Robert S. McKeon had knowledg^e of and participated

in the transactions for the sale of the McKeon assets

;

had knowledg-e of and i)articipated in anv secret ar-

rano-ement or agreement for the distribution of

2,500.000 shares of the ca])ital stock of the Ttaki Pe-
troleum Corporation of America received by the

McKeon Drilling Company from the Italo Petroluem
Corporation of America as ])art of the purchase price

of the said assets.

Defense counsel further stated to the Court that

those defendants who were not named in the Bill of

Particulars as having participated in those alleged

acts never thought that they would be called upon to

meet any charge that they did participate in said

transaction."

Thereafter this objection and the objection on the

grounds that the offered exhibits were not binding upon
any of the defendants was interposed to further docu-

ments [R. 331, 332, 333, 335, 338 to 339. 343], and at

R. 345 certain letters were objected to

"upon the further grounds previously stated to the

court relative to the oft'er of evidence contrary to the

specifications of the bill of particulars, and on the

ground that said documents could not be competent
evidence against any defendant in the action zvho zvas

not named in the bill of particulars as having partici-

pated in the transactions therein designated."

This same objection was in substance repeated at pages

346, 349, 350, 352, 353, 356, 358. See also bottom of

373 and top of 374 in which a standing objection was
interposed to the testimony of the witness Stratton and
all the exhibits and documents identified by him which
included testimony respecting the $80,000 loan, the ac-

quisition of the Brownmoor properties by Italo, the is-
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suance and distribution of the 600,000 units of stock, the

payment of the $83,000 check, the issuance of the 230,000

units of stock and testimony respecting the formation of

the Big Syndicate, the execution of the option contract

with Vincent and the cancellation thereof. See also the

standing objection interposed to the testimony of the wit-

ness Vincent [R. 438] pertaining to the same matter.

Shingle, Brown & Company records were objected to

[R. 448] with respect to transactions violative of the bill

of particulars and the same objection interposed to the re-

maining records of that company [R. 450, 451, 452, 453,

454, 455, 460]. Although this specific objection does not

appear to have been interi)osed to Exhibits 32-a and 32-b,

records of the Brownmoor Oil Company [R. 468, 469],

such objection was unnecessary as will hereinafter be

pointed out. The further objection to offered evidence on

the grounds that it violated the bill of jiarticulars appears

at pages 482, 511 (which was to the records of the

Corporation Commissioner's Office relative to the Brown-

moor-Italo transaction) at page 536. The objection to

the Brownmoor Oil Company minute book on pages 560

to 561 included among other grounds that it was "outside

of the issues of the case and not binding u])()n the de-

fendants."

These various documentary exhibits were used as the

basis for the testimony of the witness Goshorn [R. 589-

591] and when Goshorn's testimony and Exhibit 297 pre-

pared by him, purportedly based upon the books and rec-

ords in evidence, was offered, specific objection ivas made

upon the ground that the offered exhibit z'iolafed the terms

and proznsions of the indictment and bill of particnlars

[R. 592 to 593] and at page 600 it was understood be-

tween court and counsel that the objection stood to all
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similar questions concerning Exhibit 297. See also R. p.

607. The objection to Exhibit 299, the chart relative to

the Brownmoor transaction, included the objection that

it was "not within the issues of the indictment" [R. 632].

We think that the above sufficiently disj^oses of the

observation made by appellee and that proper objection

was made to the introduction of the various offered ex-

hibits.

(2) It was unnecessary to reiterate the objection to

the improper evidence offered on the grounds that it vio-

lated the allegations of the indictment and bill of particu-

lars because when improper evidence is first proposed and

l)roperly objected to and the objection is thoroughly argued

objections to similar evidence need not be repeated.

16 C. J., p. 878, sec. 2201;

People 2'. Wilmot, 139 Cal. 103;

People 7'. Castro, 125 Cal. 521

;

State V. SheltoiK 16 Wash. 590 [48 Pac. 258];

Salt Lake City v. Sniith, supra, C. C. A. 8.

VI.

The Court Erred in Admitting Evidence in Violation

of the Bill of Particulars and in Failing and Re-

fusing to Instruct the Jury Not to Consider Such

Evidence as to Appellants.

In our opening brief, pages 6 to 11, we summarized

the allegations of the indictment and pointed out how the

indictment restricted its allegations to certain of the de-

fendants, and in some instances included Shingle and

Brown and in others excluded them. In so doing we re-

ferred the court to the appropriate record page, foot note



—44—

reference, and bill of particular reference, substantiating

our statements. Appellee in its brief, beginning page 141,

challenges our statements in some respects and in so doing

departs from the allegations of the indictment and the

restrictions of the bill of particulars. Therefore we shall

point out to the court that our summary is correct and

appellee's erroneous.

1. Appellee's brief, pages 141 to 142, stating that these

appellants were among those charged with making the

$80,000 loan correctly states what the indictment alleges.

(See our opening brief, page 7, par. 1.) Our complaint

with respect to this transaction is not that the indictment

and bill of particulars did not name us, but that the evi-

dence showed conclusively that we did not make the loan

and did not receive a bonus from Italo from the making

thereof, and therefore the court erred in failing to so

instruct the jury as requested [AE Nos. 70 and 74; R.

1504, 1507]. In substance these requested instructions

would have told the jury that the statements of the bill

of particulars were not evidence that any defendant par-

ticipated in these transactions and therefore when the evi-

dence showed they did not so participate the court should

have so instructed the jury just as the court instructed

the jurv that an indictment is not evidence.

(a) That Shingle and Brown did not lend Italo $80,000

as charged in the indictment is shown by the following-

evidence. The $80,000 loan was made by Shingle as

manager or trustee of a syndicate [Exhibit 238; R. 467].

The twenty-five members of the syndicate loaned $80,000

to the syndicate manager, but their agreement was not

with Italo [Exhibit 142; R. 383.] (b) If it is claimed that

the indictment sufficiently alleges the making of the loan

through the syndicate then it is true that Shingle, as an
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individual, did subscribe $5000 to the syndicate which he

I)aid [R. 652-3], but Brown did not lend the syndicate

anythin<^. He originally subscribed $2500, but his sub-

scription was transferred to O. B. Wilkes, who paid the

same [R. 653] and Brown did not receive the 2500 shares

of stock represented thereby [R. 653, 8^7 and 968].

(c) Since Italo did not p'dx any bonus for the making

of this loan the court should have instructed the jury as

requested [AE No. 74; R. 1507] for this fact w^as testi-

fied to by the witness Goshorn and stipulated to by the

government [R. 651, 654, 649]. We contend, therefore,

that these requested instructions, to the effect that the

mere fact that the bill of particulars or indictment charged

a particular defendant with jiarticipation in a transaction

was no evidence that such defendant did participate, but

that the government was required to prove the participa-

tion, should have been given. In as much as the bill of

particulars and indictment went to the jury room the court

should have given the requested instructions so that the

jury would not be misled. The analogy is found in the

rule that the court instructs the jury that an indictment is

not evidence against the defendant.

2. Appellee's brief, page 142, line 14, states that in

the indictment as restricted by the bill of particulars, the

terminology "that the said defendants" means "all of the

defendants indicted." The incHctment, pages 29 to 30 of the

record, foot note 5, alleges in this respect "that the said de-

fendants w^hile so dominating and controlling," etc. The

bill of particulars is silent as to the names of the desig-

nated defendants. Tt is obvious, however, that this re-

ferred only to those defendants who were officers and

directors of Italo Petroleum at that time, because John
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McKeon had nothing to do with Italo as appellee con-

cedes, and Shingle and Brown not being officers or direc-

tors were not dominating and could not dominate the

Italo's affairs. Further, this is true because the evidence

shows that only the ones named, to wit. Wilkes. Perata

and Masoni executed the Italo-Brownmoor contract. (See

appellee's brief, pages 9 to 10.) This contention is borne

out by the next point.

3. At page 143 appellee asserts "that the defendants

Perata, Wilkes, Masoni and Robert McKeon" filed an

application to issue the stock to the Brownmoor. (See

our brief, p. 8. par. 2.) It is interesting to note that the

terminology used in the indictment [R. p. 31. foot note

15], referring to the original indictment [page 4, lines

26 and 27 \ B/P R. 155, par. 4; subdiv. "h"]. designates

these defendants as Perata, Wilkes, Masoni and Robert

S. McKeon, although the indictment alleges "that the

defendants" filed this application. This demonstrates that

the use of the terminology "the defendants" does not

justify the conclusion that it means all of the defendants.

We must consider the whole context [R. 513].

4. Appellee, in the quoted portion appearing on the bot-

tom of page 143 and the top of 144 of its brief, includes

Shingle and Brown as those named in the indictment and

bill of particulars as issuing the stock to Brownmoor.

This is erroneous and a misstatement of the record. This

allegation is found in the third paragraph, page 31. of the

record, and the terminology "that the defendants" is

shown by footnote 16 to refer to the original indictment

at page 5, lines 6 and 7. The bill of particulars [R. 155;

par 4, subd. "i"], designates "the defendants" as those

named in subparagraphs "e" and "f" thereof, which in-
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elude Shores, Westbrook, Siens, R. S. McKeon, DeMaria,

Wilkes, Perata and Masoni, in other words the officers

or directors of the Itak:) Company who were the only

ones who could cause the stock to be issued. That Shingle

and Brown had nothing whatsoever to do with the issuance

of this stock is clearly shown by the government's own

evidence and not disputed. This is shown by the testi-

mony of Ralph Sunderhauf, government witness, and co-

transfer agent of the Ttalo Petroleum who testified at

pag"es 276 and 277 that neither Shingle nor P)rown had

anything whatsoever to do witli the issuance of the stock.

We submit, therefore, that the above statement of appellee

is erroneous and the requested instructions, the refusal

to give which were assigned as errors Nos. It^ and 76

[R. 1507, 1508] should have been given.

5. Appellee at page 144 states that the indictment

alleges that "all of the defendants" applied to the Cor-

lX)ration Commissioner for a permit to issue the Italo

stock to the Brownmoor Company. The indictment alleges

"that the defendants" made the application, not that "all

of the defendants" made it. The bill of particulars is

silent as to which of the defendants were meant. The

assumption of appellee that it meant all of the defendants

is no more justified than with respect to the observations

contained in paragraph 4 hereof. The evidence [Exhibit

271; R. 511, 512] the file of the Corporation Commis-

sioner shows that the application for the permit was

made by the Brownmoor officers to distribute its capital

assets and that the permit was issued to that company.

Since the bill of particulars was silent and the evidence

disclosed that Shingle and Brown had nothing whatso-

ever to do with these transactions, the court should have

given the requested instruction.
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6. The statement of appellee, beginning on the middle

of page 145 and ending on the top of page 147 is erroneous

and does not correctly state what the indictment and bill

of particulars allege.

(a) The indictment at the top of page 34 of the rec-

ord alleges ''that it was a part of said scheme and artifice

that some of the defendants w^hile so dominating and

controlling the activities of the said Italo Petroleimi Cor-

poration of America, and while officers and directors of

the same" should cause the execution of the McKeon-

Italo contract. This allegation plainly does not allege

that it was part of the scheme of all of the defendants to

do this as stated by appellee. The allegations of the

indictment are plainly restricted by its own terms to those

defendants who were officers and directors of Italo and

who were dominating and controlling its activities on July

5, 1928. When the names of those officers and directors

were stated we then knew who was meant. The bill of

particulars, page 156 of the record, paragraph 4, sub-

division ("L") 3 referring to footnote 27 [R. 34] desig-

nates those officers and directors as Masoni, Perata,

Tomassini, DeMaria, Shores, Siens, R. S. McKeon, West-

brook and Wilkes. This is clearly pointed out in our

opening brief, page 10, paragraph 5.

The same observations apply to the last paragraph re-

ferred to on page 145 of appellee's brief. The indict-

ment alleged "it was further a part of said scheme and

artifice that some of the defendants'*^ who were then and

there officers of said Italo Petroleum Corporation of

America, should and they did have a secret arrangement

and agreement, whereby they, these said defendants,^"

should and they did receive back from the said AIcKeon
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Drilling Co., Inc., two million five hundred thousand

( 2,500.000) shares of said capital stock of said Italo Pe-

troleum Corporation of America, so issued as aforesaid,

without the consent or knowledge of the stockholders of

said Italo Petroleum Corporation of x\merica and with-

out giving any consideration therefor other than and ex-

cept the consideration of causing said Italo Petroleum

Corporation of America, which they, the said defendants'^

were then and there dominating and controlling, to enter

into said agreement and to issue said stock.
"'^

As soon as the information was given of the names of

"some of the defendants" "who were then and there

officers of said Italo Petroleum Corporation of America"

we were informed as to who the defendants were who

had the alleged secret arrangement and agreement whereby

fliey and no one else was to receive this stock without

gi\'ing consideration therefor '"except the consideration of

causing said Italo Petroleum Corporation of America,

which they, the said defendants [same ones] were then

and there dominating and controlling to enter into said

agreement and to issue said stock."

If the bill of particulars had attempted to include any

defendants other than the officers of Italo as being parties

to this secret arrangement and agreement such efifort

would have been contrary to and done violence to the ex-

press allegations of the indictment which, of course,

cannot be enlarged by a bill of particulars. But the bill

of particulars did not attempt to enlarge the indictment

in this respect. It restricted the indictment to those per-

sons whom it named as being officers of Italo Petroleum

and dominating its aflfairs.
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Inserting the names of the defendants designated in

the bill of particulars as participating in this "secret ar-

rangement and agreement" this paragraph of the indict-

ment reads as follows

:

"It was further a part of said scheme and artifice

that some of the said defendants'^ (Siens, Myers,

Masoni, Westbrook, Wilkes, DeMaria and Robert S.

McKeon) who were then and there officers of said

Italo Petroleum Corporation of America, should and

they did have a secret arrangement and agreement,

whereby they, these said defendants'^ (Siens, Shores,

Myers, Masoni, Westbrook, Wilkes, DeMaria and

Robert S. McKeon), should and they did receive back

from the said McKeon Drilling Co. Inc. two million

five hundred thousand (2,500,000) shares of said

capital stock of said Italo Petroleum Corporation of

America, so issued as aforesaid, without the consent

or knowledge of the stockholders of said Italo Petro-

leum Corporation of America and without giving any

consideration therefor other than and except the con-

sideration of causing said Italo Petroleum Corpora-

tion of America, which they, the said defendants''

(Siens, Myers, Masoni, Westbrook, Wilkes, DeMa-
ria, Shores and Robert S. McKeon) were then and

there dominating and controlling, to enter into said

agreement and to issue said stock."

The following references substantiate the foregoing:

Footnote 31 [R. 34] refers to the original indictment,

page 7, lines 5 and 6, which in turn refers to the bill of

particulars [R. 156], paragraph 4, subdivision (L) 4.

Footnote 32, supra, refers to indictment page 34, which

in turn refers to page 7, line 8, of the original indictment.
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Footnote 33 [R. 35], refers to page 7, line 15, of the

original indictment. [See Bill of Particulars, R. p. 157,

subparagraphs ( O ) , 1 and 2.
]

The bill of particulars, page 157. paragraph 4, subdi-

vision (O). subparagraphs 1 and 2. states that the termi-

nology "the said defendants" appearing at these places

(footnotes 32 and 33) in the recijrd refers to and is in-

tended to refer to the same defendants as are named in

(L)-4 hereof, namely, Siens. ^Nlyers, Masoni, Perata,

W'estbrook, Wilkes. DeMaria, and R. S. McKeon. It should

be observed that the reference is to subparagraph or sub-

division (L)-4, not to subdivision ( l)-4 as appellee

states in its brief, page 151. It fairly appeared from the

evidence that these named persons were officers or

directors of Italo. Therefore the bill of particulars by

designating the names of these officers or directors desig-

nated those persons who were charged in the indictment

with having had the "secret arrangement and agreement."

The bill of particulars C(~)uld not specify otherwise without

amending the indictment.

7. Appellee in its brief at the top of page 146 states

that the indictment charges all defendants except the de-

fendant Lyons with selling the stock and receiving the

proceeds therefrom. This paragraph appears in the rec-

ord on page 35^. It clearly is limited by its terms, by

the preceding paragraph of the indictment and by the

bill of particulars, to the eight defendants named as offi-

cers of Italo and could not be otherwise construed. It is

obvious that under the indictment the defendants "who

. sold . . . said stock so received by them un-

der said secret arrangement and agreement as aforesaid"
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were the eight defendants who were alleged in the preced-

ing paragraph of the indictment to have had the "secret

arrangement and agreement." The indictment, page 35,

footnote 36, refers to page 7, lines 19 and 20, of the origi-

nal indictment. The bill of particulars [R. 157, par. 4,

subd. (0)-3] states that ''the terminology 'these said de-

fendants' on page 7, lines 19 and 20, of the indictment,

refers and is intended to refer to the defendants named in

(L) -4 herein." Paragraph (L)-4 designates the eight de-

fendants above named who were officers of the Italo,

to-wit, Siens, Myers, Masoni, Perata, Westbrook, Wilkes,

DeMaria and Robert S. McKeon.

It is asserted by appellee in its brief, page 149, that this

terminology referred to all of the defendants except

Lyons, and in support of this assertion, appellee, at pages

150 and 151 of its brief claims that the terminology in

the bill of particulars, subparagraph (0)-l refers to the

defendants named in the bill of particulars, paragraph

(l)-4, and that the reference (l)-4 was an oversight and

error and should have read "paragraph 1, page 1." Ap-

pellee might with equal justification have asserted that it

referred to paragraphs 2, 3, 4, 5 or 6. Appellee is palpa-

bly in error. As above stated, subparagraph (0)-l of the

bill of particulars is a part of paragraph 4 of the bill

of particulars, and paragraph 4, subdivision (0)-l, says

nothing about the defendants named in subparagraph

(l)-4 hereof. It says "the defendants named in (L)-4

hereof" and the same reference is used in subdivision

(O), subparagraphs 1, 2 and 3 as (L)-4. Hence the

argument falls by reason of appellee's own erroneous state-

ment as to what the record shows.
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The trial court on the motion of the government to

amend the bill of particulars lield that this was the only

construction that could be given to the indictment and

bill of particulars without doing violence to the allegations

of the indictment itself, and denied the motion to amend.

[R. 686.] That this construction must be adopted we

have heretofore pointed out. The court so construed the

indictment as appears from the record. [R. 1273.] But

having so construed the indictment and bill of particulars

as excluding these two appellants from participation in the

so-called secret arrangement and agreement, and the re-

ceipt and sale of the said stock, the court nevertheless in-

consistently refused to strike or limit the damaging evi-

dence theretofore admitted, and refused the requested in-

structions to the effect that the jury should not consider

such evidence against these appellants. Hence the court's

interpretation of the indictment for practical purposes

failed to protect appellants' rights. It is for these reasons

that the court erred to the appellants' prejudice. (See

opening brief of appellants, pages 112 to 127.)

8. Appellee at page 154 of its brief again failed to

fully set forth the allegations of the indictment so that

the court can ascertain whether it alleges what the appel-

lee claims, and whether the bill of particulars violates

the indictment or whether it is consistent therewith.

This paragraph of the indictment appears on the bot-

tom of page 35 and the top of page 36 of the printed

record, and obviously must be construed with the para-

graph just preceding it and the facts in the case. It re-

fers to the application for and receipt by Italo of a permit

to issue its stock for the McKeon assets. This appli-
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cation was necessarily made by the Italo officers and signed

by Wilkes. [R. 514.] It could not have been otherwise

made. With this in mind and remembering that only

eight defendants were alleged to be parties to the so-

called "secret arrangement and agreement," let us turn to

the indictment, record pages 35-36, footnotes 3S and 39.

It alleges that "some of the defendants'^^ should, and

they did, apply to the Commissioner of Corporations . . .

for a permit to issue stock of the Italo Petroleum Corpora-

tion of America for the purpose of acquiring and purchas-

ing the properties of various companies, among which

were the properties of the McKeon Drilling Co., Inc.,

and that they, these said defendants'^" made certain repre-

sentations to the Corporation Commissioner in such appli-

cation "then and there well knowing and intending that

said McKeon Drilling Co., Inc., should, and it did, receive

only 2,000,000 shares of the stock so issued as aforesaid,

and that they, these said defendants" should receive the

remaining 2,500,000 shares of the stock so issued as afore-

said.

The footnote reference 38, record page 35, refers to

the original indictment, page 7, lines 26 and 27, and the

parties are named in the bill of particulars, paragraph 4,

subdivision (L)-5, record page 157, as the same eight

defendants above named as those who had the secret ar-

rangement and agreement and who were officers or di-

rectors of the Italo Petroleum Company, plus the defend-

ant Tomassini, who was also a director. The ter-

minology "they, these said defendants" footnote 39 refers

to record page 36 and the original indictment page 7, line

32. The bill of particulars page 157, paragraph 4, sub-

division (0)-4 designates these defendants as the same

nine named in paragraph (L)-5 as above. This para-
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graph of the indictment in effect alleges a misrepresenta-

tion made by these nine defendants to the Corporation

Commissioner. There is no further reference in the rec-

ord, page 36, disclosing that these nine defendants knew

that anyone other than "they, these said defendants" should

receive any portion of said stock. Hence appellee's state-

ment on page 154 that the terminology last used referred

to all defendants except Lyons is not borne out by the

record. Appellee's assumption is that the reference

in bill of particulars, subparagraph (0)-5, record

page 157 to page 8, line 9 of the indictment means

the terminology appearing in the middle of page 36

of the printed record as "then and there well know-

ing- . . . that they, these said defendants", but

this assumption does not appear to be justified by the

record. Even if appellee's inference could be sustained

by the record its conclusion does not follow. Putting

the matter most favorably to appellee, and construing

their own pleading, the bill of particulars, most strongly

in appellee's favor, e^•en though pleadings are construed

most strictly against the pleader and allowing for the

fact that the appellee had eighteen months to amend and

supplement its bill of particulars and did so without

changing the foregoing, the j^aragraph in question merely

alleges in substance this: That the nine officers and

directors of Italo applied to the Corporation Commissioner

for a permit to issue Italo stock in acquiring the Mc-

Keon and other assets, and in said application the same

nine defendants represented to the Corporation Com-

missioner that Italo had agreed to issue 4,500,000 shares

of Italo stock in part payment for the McKeon assets,

when they, the same nine defendants, knew and intended

that the ATcKeon Company would only receive 2,000.000
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shares of stock and that the defendants, except Lyons,

would receive the remaining 2,500,000 shares. As above

stated this paragraph in effect alleges a representation

made by nine defendants and, as required by law, in alleg-

ing the falsity of a representation, alleges that the defend-

ants making the representation knew that it was false and

intended that other persons would receive a portion of the

stock. This is by no means an allegation that the defend-

ants other than the nine named officers or directors knew

that the representation was made or knew that it was false,

or if it was false, wherein it was false, or that they kne^v

that they were to receive any portion of this stock.

The foregoing analysis of the indictment and bill of

particulars has been made necessary by reason of the fail-

ure of appellee's counsel to fully grasp the scope and effect

of the pleadings and thereby falling into error. We sub-

mit that the above is plainly and adequately supported by

the record and follows from a correct reading of the in-

dictment. Without repeating the argument made in our

opening brief on these propositions we earnestly contend

that the requested instructions should have been given, and

the failure so to do is reversible error. (See our opening

brief, pp. 115 to 127.) In passing we point out that appel-

lee does not in its brief challenge the correctness of our

legal position nor the authorities cited by us, nor does

appellee contend that the case should be affirmed if the

indictment and bill of particulars are construed as we con-

tend. Since they are necessarily so construed reversal

should logically follow. The District Attorney drew the

bill of particulars and the defendants according to their

construction of the indictment and bill of particulars as

hereinabove set forth had no reason to claim any uncer-

tainty therein, and had "no ace in the hole."
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The Cross-Examination of the Witness Goshorn Was
Improperly Restricted.

Appellee states at page 163 of its brief that "at no time

either on direct or cross-examination did this witness state

that the amounts received constituted a net profit". The

record, pages 595 and 597. shows that the witness desig-

nated the stock as "bonus stock" and at 598 that the money

"was realized" from the disposition of this stock. At page

C)13 the witness testified "the item of $578,260.63 which

I have charged to Shingle. Brown & Company shows on

the books of Shingle. Brown & Company. Those books

show that the S5 78.260.63 was taken into the protit and

loss account of Shingle. Brown •& Company. I think the

profit and loss account is here. It shozved all of it as a

profit". And on page 625 he testified "\\'ell. Shingle,

Brown & Company received it out of escrow and you could

designate it as you like. There zcas no consideration paid

the escroze. Those shares were delivered to Shingle,

Brown & Company from the escrow upon the order of

^IcKeon Drilling Company and the consideration for that

direction from the escrow is not indicated. O. So that is

not properly designated as commissions? A. I will say

that you can term it whatever you want to. commissions

or not. Technically, probably not." And again on the

same page. "I do not know what McKeon received from

the individuals for the stock shown on the chart as de-

livered to them. I do not know what he received as a con-

sideration from the individuals for any of the stock that

was directed to be delivered from the escrow, except in in-

stances where they are classified as commissions or such."

It should be here observed that all of these items were re-

ferred to as "bonus" or "commisison" bv the witness.
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On cross-examination [R. 646-647] the witness was

compelled to admit that this stock was never referred to in

the Shingle, Brown & Company records as ''commissions'

or ''bonus" , and at page 664 the witness testified "with

reference to the items appearing on Exhibit 297 and to

the item there "Shingle, Brown & Company $578,260.63, /

testified that that was net"

.

It must be apparent that the witness testified that this

money was received as a net profit without giving any con-

sideration therefor and was a bonus or commission,

whereas the appellants by their cross-examination sought

to prove that the books and records in evidence disclosed

that costs, expenses and appropriate charge for services

and other items were properly chargeable against this sum.

[R. 669.] It should be further observed that in giving

the testimony that no consideration was received or evi-

denced by the books that the witness was testifying to a

negative matter which was improper under the rule enunci-

ated by this court in the recent case of Shrcvc v. United

States, decided April 29, 1935.

VIII.

The Twelfth Count of the Indictment Did Not Allege

a Public Offense Within the Jurisdiction of This

Court.

Appellee asserts page 203 that "unquestionably counsel

for Shingle and Brown would have objected to the indict-

ment if it did not state the manner in which the defend-

ants caused the delivery of the letter at Los Angeles,

California."

In this connection the attention of the court is called to

the demurrer appearing on page 138 of the record wherein
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a demurrer for lack of jurisdiction was interposed on this

very ground, and also to the motion for an instructed ver-

dict of not guilty [R. 690] upon the grounds of lack of

jurisdiction. Appellee in its brief at page 209 concedes

that the court did not instruct the jury that before they

could find the defendants, or any of them, guilty they must

find that the letter pleaded in the twelfth count of the in-

dictment must have been knowingly caused to be delivered

by mail at Los Angeles, California, according to the direc-

tion thereon. That appellee asserts that in as much as the

court referred the jury to the indictment this was a suffi-

cient instruction upon this point. The rule is that an in-

stmetion is erroneous which assumes to state all the ele-

ments of the crime but omits one or more of them, or

i^'hieJi refers the jury to the indietnieut or information to

ascertain any of the essential elements.

See:

16 Corf>us Juris, \). 968, sec. 2632.

The instruction given by the court in this respect was as

follows [R. 1269 and 1278] :

"The indictment in this case, as amplified and ren-

dered definite by the bill of particulars furnished by

the Government, charges:" [R. p. 1269]

and the court then proceeds to summarize its interpretation

of the alleged scheme to defraud, and thereupon on page

1278 of the record proceeds to instruct the jury as follows:

"The twelfth count of the indictment charges that

the defendants on or about the 23rd day of January,

1929, for the purpose of executing the scheme de-

scribed placed in the United States Postoffice at San.

Francisco, a postpaid envelope addressed to O. J.
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Rhode at Los Angeles, containing a certain letter

dated January 23, 1929, and which has been admitted

in evidence as Exhibit No. 234".

And again at page 1280, the court instructed the jury as

to the two elements of the ofifense, the second of which was

"for the purpose of executing such scheme or artifice or

attempting so to do, place or cause to he placed any letter,

circular, or advertisement in the Post Office to be sent or

delivered by the Post Office establishment". It is, there-

fore, clear that the court was instructing the jury under

the mailing provisions of the statute. Appellants did take

exception to the instruction of the court relative to the use

of the mails in the manner alleged in the indictment. This

whole instruction is set forth in the record at page 1282,

and includes the reference to mailing by employees or

clerks of defendant. At page 1327 of the record we took

exception to this instruction in the alternative form by

excepting to the instructions saying "That because Your

Honor was referring to a portion of the statute under

which the indictment is not brought, and if that were the

portion of the statute under which the indictment were

brought, this Court zvould have no jurisdiction". We sub-

mit, therefore, that the matter was sufficiently called to

the attention of the court, and that even in the absence of

an exception to the instructions of the court it was the

duty of the court to instruct the jury as to all of the ele-

ments of the offense.
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Conclusion.

We are not attempting- to be over critical of learned

counsel for appellee, who are "strangers to the record"

not having participated in the trial of the cause. We
well understand how, because of the complicated nature

of the proceedings in the court below, it is most difficult

for third parties, whether advocates or judges, to clearly

grasp the scope of the pleadings and evidence and their

application to the facts and law. In all of- its aspects this

case presents a clear case of separate, disconnected trans-

actions having no legal connection, except possibly upon

the theory that because one or two defendants were con-

nected with one transaction and others with another, and

still other defendants with another transaction, one single

transaction was shown. Such a situation was very clearly

denounced by the Supreme Court in the recent case of

Berger v. United States, decided April 15, 1935, 79 L. ed.

Advance Opinions, page 667. In that case the Supreme

Court held that variance between an indictment charging

a single conspiracy and proof of several conspiracies is

material where it has substantially injured the defendant.

In the present case it teas charged that the scheme was

to induce the persons named as ''the persons to he de-

frauded'' to purchase stock of Italo American and Italo

Petroleum corporations, by the means referred to as

"parts." That the evidence failed to establish the charge

as to appellants Shingle and Brown, is clearly demon-

strated by the following recapitulation.

1. None of these named "persons to be defrauded"

purchased stock in either corporation by reason of any act

or representation made directly or indirectly by Shingle

or Brown and as a matter of fact none of the said per-
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sons purchased stock from any of the appellants. Each

of the persons named as "persons to be defrauded" already

owned stock in corporations whose assets or stock was ac-

quired by Italo American or Italo Petroleum and thereby

became stockholders in the Italo corporation [Witnesses:

George J. Geis, R. 539; Grace Dennison Keating', R. 541

;

Leo Willman, R. 551; J. H. Hud-speth, R. 553; Emma
Riniker, R. 555], or such persons acquired their Italo

stock by inheritance from decedents holding stock in

merged corporations [Witness: LaVinna Hopkins, R.

547], or such persons were "dabbling," ''gambling," or

"speculating," or "taking flyers in the market" [Wit-

nesses: George Gartner, R. 487; J. J. Biagina, R. 492-3].

The remaining witnesses purchased their stock from

stockbrokers or from Frederic \^incent & Company.

It is apparent that none of those persons was induced

to purchase Italo stock by reason of any of the matters

alleged in the indictment or the conduct of these appel-

lants.

The following persons named in the indictment as "the

persons to be defrauded" all acquired or owned their Italo

stock by inheritance, exchange or purchase long before;

the Italo American-Italo Petroleum merger, before the

$80,000 loan, before the Brownmoor purchase, before the

"Big Syndicate," before the McKeon purchase, and before

receiving any literature issued while these appellants were

connected with Italo. Obviously therefore, they were not,

and could not have been, "solicited to purchase," and did

not "purchase" their stock in said companies by reason

of the scheme alleged in the indictment or the conduct of

appellants [R. p. 27] ; neither did they "part with their

money and property" by means of the alleged representa-

tions made after they had acquired their stock.
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(a) George Geis. the indictment witness Count 3. ac-

quired California Refining- Company stock in 1922 or

1923 and received Italo stock in exchange when the com-

panies merged. He "did not buy it because of any state-

ment made by any defendant ... or any letter or

other circular that was sent through the mails by any

defendant in this case." [R. pp. 539-541.]

( b ) Grace Keating, indictment witness Count 2, owned

Modoc Petroleum Corporation stock and received Italo

Pete stock in exchange, on the merger. After the ex-

change she received literature, including the count 2 letter.

[R. pp. 541-542.]

(c) La \'inna Hopkins, indictment witness Counts 6

and 8, acquired her Italo stock by inheritance from her

brother who owned stock in the Coalinga Oil Company

when he died Awqiist 7 , 1917. This stock was exchanged

for Italo stock when Italo purchased the Coalinga Com-

pany's assets. Thereafter she received the letters. [R.

pp. 547-551.]

(d) O. J. Rohde. Count 12 witness, was a "Big Syndi-

cate" member. He purchased stock from the Interna-

tional Securities Company, the date not being given. This

letter however related to Syndicate affairs. It was not in

furtherance of the alleged scheme. [See R. pp. S77-hS?>

and opening brief pp. 182-185.]

(e) Xone of the remaining witnesses, who testified they

purchased or acquired Italo stock, did so by reason of any

representation of appellants. In general, they acquired

their stock in the same manner as the other witnesses.

[See Willman. Count 14 witness. R. p. 551: Hudspeth,

Count 9 witness. R. p. ^SZ\ Riniker, Count 11 witness,

R. p. 555. and Anderson, Count 1 witness, R. p. 586 Ap-
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pellants were acquitted by dismissal or verdict on these

counts.]

In view of the foregoing it is difficult to understand:

how any of these persons were defrauded, or could have

been defrauded, by any conduct of the appellants, or the

alleged representations, or the justification for appellee's

assertions that "the guilt of appellants was overwhelm-

ingly proved by the evidence," or "it was their (defend-

ants) criminal desire to enrich themselves by defrauding

this company, its stockholders" who were enticed to pur-

chase stock with their "hard earned money" and were

thereby "fleeced." The charge in the indictment must be

proved as alleged, which was not done. These assertions

are plainly not supported by the evidence. For failure to

prove the charges alleged the cause should be reversed as

to these appellants.

2. Italo American did not illegally pay dividends, but

if it had, the only defendants involved therein were

Perata and Masoni, as all dividends were paid before

Wilkes became a director of Italo American. [R. 197.]

3. There is no relation between the payments of divi-

dends by the Italo American and the $80,000 loan, or

the Brownmoor purchase, or the McKeon purchase, or

the Big Syndicate, unless, because Perata and Masoni were

connected with these various transactions. This is in-

sufficient. See Berger v. United States, supra.

4. Shingle as a third party unconnected with the vari-

ous oil corporations was perfectly justified in participating

in the $80,000 loan syndicate as manager. He was not an

officer or director of Italo and that company repaid the loan

with seven per cent interest. Even though a bonus had
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been exacted from and paid by Italo this was not a

"wrongful" or "fraudulent" act, but at the most might

have been usury under some state law. Usury, however,

does not involve fraud, but is only made illegal by stat-

utes in many states.

5. Vincent & Company, Italo's fiscal agents, admittedly

acquired or controlled 950,000 of the 1,000,000 Brown-

moor shares, knowing of the probable Brownmoor asset

purchase by Italo. They could dispose of this stock and

the profits therefrom as they saw fit. \^incent and Strat-

ton admit they dealt solely with Wilkes and not with

Shingle or Brown. [R. 425.] Since Vincent & Com-

pany already owned 950,000 shares of Brownmoor stock,

they did not buy 230,000 of those same shares a second

time from Shingle, Browni & Company. The 230,000

shares of stock was receipted for and received by Vincent

who caused its issuance in Shingle's name and forged

Shingle's name to the receipt. [Exhibit 38; R. 443; see

also Exhibit "E."] The distribution of this stock was

in accordance with "our understanding," that is, an under-

standing between Vincent & Company and Wilkes.

[Exhibit 171; R. 405.] These allegations of the indict-

ment were definitely refuted. But had they been true no

criminality attached to Shingle or Brown because they

committed no fraud. Neither the Brownmoor nor the

Italo stockholders were defrauded by the sale of the

Brownmoor assets to Italo.

6. The "Big Syndicate" was and is a common finan-

cial underwriting set-up. It performed its obligations

and neither Shingle nor Brown w^as guilty of any fraudu-

lent act because they subscribed money to the syndicate

and lost it. This was a legal transaction and even the



officers and directors of Italo could legally and properly

become syndicate members.

Castle V. Acme Ice Cream Co., 101 Cal. App. 94

at 101:

Schnittger v. Old Home, etc. Min. Co., 144 Cal.

603, at 606;

Stensgard v. St. Paid Real Estate Co., 50 Minn.

429, 17 L. R. A. 375;

2 Thompson on Corp., 3d Ed., Sec. 1352.

See Record pp. 1543-5.

And the court therefore erred in refusing to give the

requested instructions assigned as errors 114 and 115.

[R. 1543 to 1545-1

7. Vincent & Company, which had agreed to sell the

Big Syndicate stock and finance the cash payments on the

properties, defaulted in its obligations, and by means of

threats, obtained from John ^IcKeon 250,000 shares of

the McKeon stock. By reason of this disaster it was

necessary for someone to step into the breach and attempt

to raise the finances and this Shingle and Brown agreed

to do. It was necessary that money be raised to save

for the Italo stockholders the valuable properties being

acquired, and the moneys already paid thereon. These

properties, particularly the ]\IcKeon properties, are the

principal oil producing properties of Italo today. [R.

850.] Instead of being a fraud on Italo the financing

was a benefit to the "persons to be defrauded." The

450,000 shares of Italo stock paid to Shingle, Brown &
Company as compensation for the services rendered was

paid by the McKeon Company, the owners of the stock.



It was not charged or proved that it was paid pursuant

to any "secret arrangement or agreement." Since it was

not charged these appellants were in the dark and com-

pletely taken by surprise when the government announced

that it expected to repudiate the indictment and its own

bill of particulars. [R. 298, 320. 592.] They were unpre-

pared to meet the charge and the indictment and bill of

particulars served as a "mere snare or delusion" and they

were denied a fair and impartial trial.

8. Without dispute it was shown that the properties

acquired by Italo were worth far in excess of the con-

sideration paid. [See R. 705 for the Brownmoor prop-

erties and R. 526-7 for the McKeon properties.] All

that can be said for the government's case is that un-

forseen conditions arising in the oil business in 1929, fol-

lowed by the world-wide depression, resulted in a charge

of criminal fraud. [See testimony of Ralph Arnold, R.

782 ci scq.\

9. The sole basis of the government's charge is the

inference that because certain ]\IcKeon stock was dis-

tributed to some of the defendants on and after January

24, 1929, that there was a previous secret agreement to

that effect between them. The rule is that proof of the

existence at a particular time of a fact of a continuous

nature gives rise to a presumption that it exists at a

subsequent time, but there is no presumption that tJie fact

h<id prcz'ioiisly existed.

16 Corpus Juris, p. 539, Sec. 1016;

State V. Dexter, 115 la. 678 [87 X. W. 417];

Petroff V. United States, C. C. A. 6 [13 F. (2d)

453].
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Presmnptioits do not run backward and there is no

retroactive ezndentiary inference.

10 Ruling Case Law, Sec. 15, p. 873;

22 Corpus Juris, p. 92, Sec. 30;

Corhin V. United States, C. C. A. 6 [181 F. 296].

We earnestly and sincerely contend that a fair consid-

eration of the evidence as to appellants Shingle and Brown

and a just appreciation of the proceedings had at and be-

fore the trial of this cause can result in no conclusion but

that appellants were prejudiced by the errors committed

by the court and herein assigned and argued as error;

that they were denied a fair and impartial trial to which

they were entitled and that this cause should be reversed.

Respectfully submitted,

J. E. Simpson,

W. E. Simpson,

H. L. Carnahan,

Attorneys for Appellants Fred Shingle and Horace J.

Brown.
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I.

Answer to Appellants' Reply as to Evidence

Introduced.

1. Purchase of Italo American.

On page 5 of the McKeon reply brief it is stated that

neither of the McKeons had anything to do with the pur-

chase of Italo American by the Italo Petroleum Company.

The record discloses that before Wilkes organized Italo

Petroleum he called on Robert McKeon and discussed the

organization of this company with him and asked him to

serve as a director of Italo Petroleum (R. 1119, 1120).

On March 14, 1928, Robert McKeon was elected a
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director (R. 236). On March 23, 1928, an application

was made to the Corporation Commissioner for a permit

to issue and sell stock of the Italo Company, for the pur-

pose of acquiring the assets of Italo American. The

application contained a balance sheet of Italo American,

as of February 29, 1928. Among the items set forth in

the balance sheet, as constituting assets, a valuation of

$200,000 is placed on a gasoline contract (R. 512). In

support of this valuation there was inclosed in the appli-

cation for the permit a letter on the letterhead of the

Richfield Oil Company, dated March 9, 1928, signed by

John McKeon, which read in part as follows:

"Referring to the gasoline contract under July

operating; after looking at a statement of your busi-

ness for the first 2^2 months of your operations, it

is my opinion that a valuation of $200,000.00 is very

conservative for this contract." (R. 513).

James F. Hynes, an accountant, testified that the gaso-

line and oil contracts were appreciated in the amount of

$200,000 (R. 209, 210). The witness further stated:

"What I have testified to as values is simply the

values as shown by the books. The entries indicate,

for example, that the gasoline and oil contract was

set up on the books at $200,000 and offset by an

entry to Capital Surplus of $200,000. Somebody's

opinion. The books do not disclose how this value

was arrived at. Somebody decided the contracts were

worth that much and set it up. There was no entry

indicating that the corporation paid anything for the

gasoline contract. It was just set up on the books

as an appreciated figure." (R. 210).



In our original brief we pointed out the close acquaint-

anceship that existed between Wilkes and the McKeons.

In addition to this testimony, the record shows that when

the officials of Italo American were contemplating placing

Wilkes in charge of this company, John McKeon told

Vincent that Wilkes was a good man and he would like

to see Wilkes get back in the oil business, and that he,

McKeon, would assist Wilkes with data. (R. 438-439).

It is further stated in the McKeon reply brief, on

page 4, that there is no evidence that the assets of Italo

American were worth less than the consideration paid

therefor. On pages 7, 8 and 9 of our brief we have out-

lined that evidence which conclusively shows that the

assets of Italo American were purchased for an excessive

consdieration.

2. Purchase of Italo Stock by Big Syndicate.

On page 6 of the McKeon reply brief it is stated that

the McKeons had no participation in the organization of

the Big Syndicate. The record discloses that John

McKeon testified as follows:

"Prior to that time I had subscribed $100,000 to

the syndicate, and had induced others to subscribe

to it, and I think 75 per cent of the money that went

into the syndicate went in on my account through my
friends." (R. 1210).

On page 1227 of the Record is found the following

expression by John McKeon:

"I w^ent into the big syndicate, by which the syn-

dicate acquired 3,000,000 units of stock for $3,500,-

000, and was a subscriber and subscribed $300,000



thereto. My first subscription was $100,000 in the

latter part of July, and then I subscribed $100,000 in

the name of Art Delaney, to whom I owed $100,000,

and he agreed to accept the membership in the syn-

dicate for the $100,000. I put the money into the

syndicate because I believed it needed it. I subscribed

another $100,000 in the name of Mr. Siens, who was

doing a good deal of work getting members and get-

ting money into the syndicate. It was at a time when

we depended entirely on the syndicate to raise the

money necessary, and I felt by putting a subscription

in his name it would be an aid to him in inducing

other people in putting money in."

In the reply brief of Shingle and Brown, on page 5, it

is stated that the appellee incorrectly stated that the big-

syndicate, thq day after the contract to purchase 6,000,000

shares of Italo stock at the price of $1,16 2/3 per unit

was made, sold 500,000 units of the 6,000,000 shares at

a minimum gross price of $2 per unit, less 20 per cent

commission. What the appellee stated was that the

directors of Italo, at a meeting held August 17, 1928,

ratified and approved an agreement (Ex. 83) between

Italo, Shingle, Brown & Company, Fred Shingle and

Maurice Myers, dated August 13, 1928, and, also, ratified

and approved an agreement (Ex. 84) made the same day

between Italo and Maurice Myers, as Trustee. It was

further stated, by Appellee, that by reason of these agree-

ments Myers was authorized to deliver to Fred Shingle,

as syndicate manager, 6,000,000 shares of Italo stock for

the purchase price of $3,500,000, which was approxi-

mately $1,16 2/3 per unit. It was further stated, by

appellee, that this syndicate, the day after this meeting,
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sold 500,000 units of this stock to Vincent and Company

at a minimum gross price of $2 per unit, less 20 per cent

commission.

The appellants stated that the purchase price of the

6,000,000 shares of stock was determined some time in

June and, therefore, the fact that this stock was sold to

the public at a price of $2.50 a unit in August, 1928,

would be no indication that this stock had this market

value in June, 1928. In reply we state that the contract

between the syndicate manager and Italo for the purchase

of this stock was not made until August 13, 1928 (R. 302,

303), and that before this contract was binding on lialo

it had to be approved by the Board of Directors \of that

Company, (R. 303) which approval was not given until

August 17, 1928, the day before the syndicate sold the

500,000 units to Vincent and Company (R. 244). If Vin-

cent and Company were able to sell the stock delivered

to them at prices ranging from $2 to $2.50 a unit on

August 18, 1928, it is safe to assume that this stock

purchased by the big syndicate at a price of $1,16 2/3

per unit was on August 17, 1928, of a value of approxi-

mately $2 to $2.50 a unit, and that the directors of Italo

at the time they approved the sale of this stock to the

big syndicate knew that this stock had this market value.

There is evidence, however, that in June, 1928, Italo

stock was much in demand by the general public, and

that the price of this stock had risen considerably. Perata

stated, on page 842 of the record:

"I never advanced any money for the purchase of

the Brownmoor stock because after the permit had

been issued and the announcement of the sale of this
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stock it just went like a volcano, seeing the people

come, and so forth."

The permit referred to by Perata was issued May 16,

1928 (R. 514).

The appellants. Shingle and Brown, refer to the first

syndicate agreement in June, 1928, and the second syndi-

cate agreement on July 12, 1928, and then state that the

price of $1,16 2/3 per unit was therefore agreed upon

on or about June 18, 1928. These two agreements are

agreements between Fred Shingle, as syndicate manager,

and the subscribers to the syndicate, and is not the agree-

ment between the syndicate and Italo Petroleum Com-

pany. The agreement between the syndicate and Italo is

Exhibit 83, which was not entered into until August 13,

1928, four days before the big syndicate sold the 500,000

units to Vincent and Company (R. 302, 303).

3. Wilkes Interested in Purchase of Brownmoor Stock.

In the reply brief of Wilkes, Siens, Cavanaugh and

Myers it is stated on pages 1 and 2 that Wilkes was not

interested in the purchase of the Brownmoor stock which

was exchanged for Italo stock. The record discloses that

Wilkes was interested in this stock. In addition to the

testimony outlined in our Statement of Facts, the Record

discloses that Masoni testified as follows, in reference

to the purchase of this Brownmoor stock:

"Wilkes said it was a good buy, and he zvas buy-

ing that stock cheap enough that zvc were going to

make some money out of it. By 'we' I suppose he

meant himself and whoever else was going to go in

to guarantee that purchase of that stock by Frederic
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Vincent & Company. Wilkes told me he was going

to be interested with Frederic Vincent & Company

in buying that stock, and that is why he asked me if

I wanted to be interested with Vincent and himself."

(R. 827).

Perata testified (R. 842) : "Wilkes said there was a

chance of making some money out of the deal, but he

did not tell me how much."

4. Purchase of McKeon Properties.

It is argued in the McKeon Reply Brief, on pages 8 to

18, that the McKeon properties were not purchased at

an excessive price. In this reply reference is made to the

testimony given by L. J. Byers, the former supervisor of

accounting of Shingle, Brown & Company. This witness

stated, according to the appellants, that if curtailment had

not occurred the income from the McKeon properties

would have amounted to approximately $5,000,000 over a

period of approximately 4^ years. The basis for this

conclusion of the witness is merely that the McKeon

properties for a period of 2^ months in 1928 earned

$246,000. From this it is concluded by the witness that

if the production of oil had remained the same for 4^
years the production would have been approximately

$5,000,000. It will be seen at a glance that this conclu-

sion based only on 2^^ months' operation is practically

worthless. In addition, this witness stated, that he was

unable to state how much of the 1928 production was

settled production and how much was flush production.

The testimony of Thackaberry to the effect that he

considered $2,123,829.93 to be the fair market value of
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the property of the McKeon Drilling Company is attacked

by appellants as unreliable, for the reason that Thacka-

berry was in no position to know the fair market value

of McKeon properties. We submit that Thackaberry was

sufficiently acquainted with the value of McKeon prop-

erties to state an opinion as to the same. He was Secre-

tary and Treasurer of the Company and kept the financial

records. That being the case, he certainly was acquainted

with how much money was coming into the McKeon

Drilling Company and how much was going out, and the

value of its properties.

In our brief, however, we have outlined some of the

testimony which indicates that the McKeon properties

were purchased at an excessive consideration, and it is

not our intention to again review this evidence. We
believe, however, that one of the strongest indications

that the price paid for the McKeon properties was exces-

sive is the evidence that the McKeon Drilling Company

actually received only 2,000,000 shares of stock, and that

approximately 2,500,000 shares were distributed to the

appellants and to some of the defendants in the court

below. It is inconceivable, to us at least, that the

McKeons would be willing to give away, for the reasons

stated by them, 2,500,000 shares of stock if the proper-

ties were actually worth the purchase price paid by Italo.

The reasons advanced for the distribution of these

2,500,000 shares of stock have been briefly commented

upon in our brief. We submit the reasons given are so

unreasonable and contradictory that they are evidence in

themselves that the stock was given in accordance with

a pre-existing understanding that this stock was to be
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given back to the appellants and some of the defendants

in the court below, which understanding was a condition

precedent to the purchase of the McKeon properties. In

other words, this deal is no different than the deal which

Wilkes attempted to have Charles Behr agree to when

the purchase of the White-Behr Consolidated Oil Com-

pany was being negotiated. (R. 564).

On pages 18 to 25 of the McKeon Reply Brief the

appellants have undertaken to explain the statement of

Lyons (Ex. 89), in which it is stated that 2,500,000

shares of the 4,500,000 shares are payable as commis-

sions, leaving 2,000,000 shares as additional consideration

to the McKeon Drilling Company. It is stated that the

reference to commissions should be ignored as this wit-

ness was in no position to know whether the stock re-

ferred to was commissions or not. The information that

this stock was commission stock, in the opinion of Lyons,

was given to him by Mr, Thackaberry (R. 1104, 1105).

Thackaberry testified that while he did not receive the

information from any person that 2,500,000 shares were

commissions, he did state that he received from Robert

McKeon the information that the McKeon Drilling Com-

pany was to receive only 2,000,000 shares, and that this

information was conveyed to Mr. Lyons (R. 322).

Robert McKeon testified that his attention was called to

the use of the word "commission" early in 1929 when

Mr. Clay Carpenter told him that the reference to this

stock as commissoins would be badly construed. Robert

McKeon, however, did not change this entry in the books,

but allowed it to remain as originally made (R. 1151).
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5. Value of Italo Stock Involved in Modoc Deal Con-

ducted by Myers.

On pages 2 and 3 of the Reply Brief filed by the appel-

lant Myers, it is stated that there is no evidence as to the

value of the Italo stock which Myers, Wilkes, Masoni

and Siens received in exchange for Modoc stock which

they had previously purchased at a price of about 60

cents a share. 10,000 shares of Modoc stock were pur-

chased from a Mr. Gillespie. This stock was later ex-

changed for Italo stock, Wilkes, Masoni and Siens re-

ceiving 1231 units and Myers receiving 1231 shares of

common and 1131 shares of prefererd stock. 100 shares

went to Myers' secretary (R. 271). Myers himself testi-

fied (R. 1060) that the value of Italo stock at the time

the exchange was made was more than the amount paid

for the Modoc stock. He further stated that it was his

recollection that the par value of the common stock was

about a dollar or a little bit more and the preferred some-

thing under a dollar. It is argued that this might mean

that the preferred stock was worth about 1 cent. We
submit that the statement "something under a dollar"

means something very close in amount to a dollar. Myers

further stated "it was more than what we paid or I would

not have bought the stock." (R. 1060).

XL

Answer to Appellants' Reply to Law Argument.

1. The Affidavit of Prejudice.

It is pointed out in the Shingle-Brown Reply Brief, on

page 10, and in the McKeon Reply Brief on pages 27

and 28 that this case was not assigned to Judge Cosgrave
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until February 6, 1933, at which time a new term of

court began. The contention of the appellee is not that

the affidavit of prejudice should have been filed ten days

before the beginning of the term of court. If this case

was first assigned to Judge Cosgrave on the first day of

the new term of court, as appears to be the case, the

affidavit of prejudice, of course, could not have been

filed ten days before the beginning of the term. This

fact, however, did not excuse the Appellant, Siens, from

filing his affidavit at the very first opportunity after

learning that this case was assigned to Judge Cosgrave

for trial. Inasmuch, as pointed out in our brief, the appel-

lant Siens contends in his affidavit that the Trial Judge

evidenced prejudice against him on March 22, 1932

(R. 169-173) and on April 13, 1933 (R. 175-176) the

affidavit, not being filed until May 20, 1933, was filed too

late. Siens should have filed this affidavit immediately

upon becoming aware that this case was assigned to Judp;e

Cosgrave for trial. Siens in his affidavit admits that he

had knowledge of the events of March 22 and April 13,

long prior to the filing of his affidavit of prejudice. On

page 185 it appears that Siens, in his affidavit, stated:

"That he had no knowledge of any of the matters

hereinbefore set forth in this affidavit, save and

except that portion thereof that refers to the alle-

gations contained in the bill of complaint filed in

case W-62-C Equity and herein above referred to."

The situation in the present case is different than that

present in the case of Morris, ct al. v. United States,

26 F. (2) (8th Cir.) 444. In the Moivis case, the de-

fendant believed that previous conduct on the part of the
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Judge evidenced prejudice against him, but was persuaded

by his attorney that the conduct of the judge did not

evidence this prejudice. Later, however, further conduct

on the part of the trial judge convinced the defendant's

attorney that this prejudice did exist. In the present case

there is no statement in the affidavit that Siens attempted

to file an affidavit before May 20, 1933, but was per-

suaded from doing so against his wishes and judgment.

The only conduct on the part of the trial judge, which

the appellant Siens states he was not aware of until May

17th, is that conduct which was supposed to have occurred

on May 2 and May 10, 1933. There is no showing, how-

ever, that his attorney was not aware of what took place

on May 2 and May 10, and no reason is advanced by

Siens for waiting from May 17th to May 20th to file the

affidavit.

In Chafin v. United States, (CCA 4th) 5 F. (2) 592,

595, it is stated:

"When the indictment is found after the term is

begun the affidavit must be filed as soon as the dis-

qualifying facts are known or good cause shown for

delay."

The court also stated on the same page:

'Tf there were no statutory requirements, the just

and reasonable rule would be that a challenge to a

judge for bias and prejudice must be made at the

first opportunity after discovery of the facts tending

to prove disqualification."

There is absolutely no showing whatsoever in the affi-

davit filed that none of the other appellants had no knowl-

edge of the facts alleged in the affidavit until just before

I
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the trial of this case. No excuse of any kind is offered

by these remaining appellants for failure to file this affi-

davit before May 20, 1933.

It is stated on pages Z7 to 40 of the McKeon Reply

Brief and on pages 3 and 4 of the Wilkes, Siens, Cava-

naugh and Myers Reply Brief, and on page 11 of the

Shingle-Brown Brief that no objection was made in the

lower court to the affidavit on the ground that it was

filed too late or that separate affidavits should have been

made by the appellants. In answer to this we state that

the appellants are seeking to reverse this complaint on

the ground that the trial judge erroneously proceeded to

trial after the filing of this affidavit. We submit, there-

fore, that if the affidavit does not conform to the require-

ments of the statute which must be strictly construed

Keoimi V. Hughes, (CCA 1) 265 Fed. 572, 576: Henry v.

Speer (CCA 5) 201 Fed. 869, 872; Benedict z\ Seiberling,

17 F. (2) 831, S?)6, the appellants are not entitled to have

this complaint reversed on the ground now urged. This

court is entitled to inquire into the legal sufficiency of the

affidavit and compliance or non-compliance with the

statute under which it is brought. If the appellants have

not complied with the statute this court is justified in

holding that the trial judge did not err in proceeding

with the trial of this case. That the appellants did not

comply with the statute is conclusively shown, we believe,

on pages 65 to 86 of Appellee's original brief.

2. The Introduction in Evidence of Corporate Books

and Records.

It is argued by the appellants. Shingle and Brown, on

pages 11 to 21, that the books and records of the various
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partnerships and corporatoins involved in the many deal-

ings of Italo were erroneously introduced in evidence.

The argument advanced is merely a recapitulation of the

argument advanced by the appellants in their original

brief filed. We believe we have, in our original brief,

fully answered the arguments advanced by the appellants

and do not believe it necessary to reaffirm what has been

said by us in our original brief.

3. The Summaries of Witness Goshorn.

On pages 41 to 65 of the McKeon Reply Brief, on

pages 21 to 33 of the Shingle-Brown Reply Brief, and

on pages 4 to 7 of the Wilkes, Cavanaugh, Siens and

Myers Brief, the same argximent advanced in the original

briefs filed by the appellants as to why the summaries of

Goshorn are supposed to have been inadmissible in evi-

dence is reiterated. An attempt is again made to demon-

strate that these summaries and the testimony given in

relation to them are erroneous conclusions, and are inad-

missible, as based in part on sworn testimony and in part

on one set of books not introduced in evidence.

We have sought, in our original brief, to point out that

Goshorn, in his summaries, merely undertook to relate

what the books and records examined by him disclosed.

While it is true that in designating certain stock he used

the word "bonus," this word was used merely as a con-

venience in designating that portion of the stock dis-

tributed to the appellants here and some of the defendants

in the court below.

As pointed out in our original brief, none of the appel-

lants contended that the 80,000 shares of Italo stock given
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to the subscribers of the $80,000 syndicate was not

"bonus" stock. In fact, some of the appellants admitted

that this stock was "bonus" stock and themselves re-

garded it as such and so called it. Wilkes testified (R.

70S) that this stock was to be given to the syndicate "as

a bonus for the loan." The appellant Shingle testified

(R. 886) that after the $80,000 loan was agreed upon:

"Vincent said that the bonus stock would be put

no

Surely if the appellants themselves on the witness stand

saw fit to call this stock "bonus" stock the reference to

this stock as such by Goshorn should not be regarded as

prejudicial to the appellants.

All the witness Goshorn did was to use the same word,

later employed by the appellants themselves, to differ-

entiate between the 80,000 shares of stock given to the

syndicate members, and the remainder of the stock. In

effect then, Goshorn said merely that the stock, referred

to by the appellants at the time of the formation of the

$80,000 syndicate as "bonus" stock was, according to the

books and records examined, given to the appellants

named in his summary, (Ex. 299). Thus, it can be seen,

Goshorn did not state certain stock was in fact "bonus"

stock, but merely stated that the stock so classified by the

appellants themselves was distributed in a certain manner.

This the Jury well understood, for it was brought out in

the extensive examination of this witness.

The word "bonus" on Ex. 297 was used to designate

the 2,500,000 shares of Italo stock described on the books

of the McKeon Drilling Company as "commission" stock

(R. 601, 603). It was made clear to the jury that this
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word was merely used to distinguish the stock referred

to as "commission" stock from other stock.

The witness at no time attempted to have the jury

believe that any of the stock referred to was in fact

"bonus" stock. For he readily stated from the witness

stand that the word was his own expression, used to

differentiate the 80,000 shares of stock and the 2,500,000

shares of stock from the other stock.

Even if it be considered that Goshorn did state that

certain stock was in fact "bonus" stock, which cannot be

done, and even if this is regarded as an erroneous con-

clusion of the witness, which we deny, still the record

discloses that the court, of its own volition and without

any previous objection by counsel for appellants (a

thought only being expressea R. 601 ) told the witness he

should not designate the 2,500,000 shares of stock as

"bonus" stock (R. 601) and suggested that the stock be

designated as "commission" stock. To this suggestion

the prosecuting attorney agreed and the change was made.

No stated objection was made to this change, and no

exception noted (R. 602, 603). It is clear, therefore, that

the witness was not allowed to designate this stock as

"bonus" stock. Since this word was stricken, we fail to

see how it can now be contended that the witness was

erroneously permitted by the court to designate certain

stock as "bonus" stock. The court likewise refused to

allow the word to be used in reference to Exhibit 299

(R. 641).

Counsel for the McKeons, on page 44 of the Reply

Brief, complains of the word "commission" used to desig-

nate the 2,500,000 shares of stock. This designation is
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made in the McKeon books and certainly Goshorn cannot

be blamed because it was so used there. Robert McKeon

himself knew that this word was used in these books, but

was evidently satisfied with the designation, as he didn't

see fit to change it (R. 1151).

Counsel for appellants, in attempting to demonstrate

that Goshorn has been guilty of erroneous conclusions,

have ignored the quite evident fact that this witness

undertook to narrate and summarize only what the books

and records disclosed. This is made clear by the state-

ment contained on page 45 of the McKeon Reply Brief,

to the efifect that the word ''commissions" was unwar-

ranted. In attempting to demonstrate the truth of this

statement the following testimony of Goshorn is quoted:

"Technically I imagine you would not call all of

the two million five hundred thousand shares of stock

as 'commission.'
"

That the witness attempted only to narrate what the

books and records showed is evidenced by the above, for

while Goshorn did not entirely agree that all of the

2,500,000 shares of stock was "commission" stock, he,

nevertheless, designated this as "commission" stock for

the reason that it was so designated in the books he

examined. In other words, he did not allow his view to

prevent him from designating the stock as it was desig-

nated on the McKeon books.

In other attempts at demonstrating that Goshorn's sum-

maries are unreliable, it is pointed out that certain stock

which was traced to certain defendants was later accord-

ing to the defendants, transferred, disposed of, or used

for various reasons as stated by them. Again we find
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that appellants ignore the testimony of Goshorn to the

effect that he had attempted only to trace the stock, in

most instances, to the names of those persons to which

the stock was first transferred (R. 625). He did not

undertake to discover what those persons did with the

stock after receiving the same. That being the case, the

supposed inaccuracies of Goshorn's summaries, pointed

out on pages 46 to 48 of the McKeon Reply Brief, are

non-existent.

Counsel for appellants contend that Goshorn is not an

expert accountant. We submit he was qualified as such

and proved his qualifications (R. 643, 644). At no time

did the appellants contend that this witness had not quali-

fied as an expert. In our original brief on pages 127 to

128, we have cited authorities holding, in effect, that

conclusions and summaries and opinions of expert ac-

countants, based on book entries are properly received in

evidence. In addition to the cases there cited we call this

court's attention to Lezvis v. United States, (CCA 9th)

38 F. (2d) 406, 411 and Mitchell v. United States, (CCA

9th) 23 F. (2d) 260, 263.

In the Lewis case, cited above, the court stated:

"One of the principal objections to the expert's

deductions from the books and records is that his

statements were conclusions, and therefore inad-

missible, but the reason for utilizing an expert ac-

countant is that he may explain the technical sig-

nificance of the account books, that is, of the nature

and character of the entries, whether debit and

credit, etc., and to deduce therefrom whether the

books do or do not show certain facts in issue."
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In answer to the appellants' contention, made in the

Reply Briefs, that the testimony of Goshorn was inad-

missible, for the reason that it was based in part on the

books and records of the Wilkes, Cavanaugh partnership,

which were not introduced in evidence, we again state

that inasmuch as these books and records were in the

possession of the appellants, Wilkes and Cavanaugh

(R. 286), the Government could not produce them and,

therefore, was not required to introduce them in evidence.

The books were shown to be in the possession of the

appellants and the Government therefore was without

power to require their production at the trial. Boyd v.

United States, 116 U. S. 616, 6 Sup. Ct. 524, 29 L. Ed.

746; Eddington v. United States, (CCA 8) 24 F. (2d)

50; Hanish v. United States, (CCA 7) 227 Fed. 584, 585.

In the Hanish case, cited with approval in the Edding-

ton case, the court stated:

"That the defendant could not be compelled to

produce any document constituting a link in the

chain of evidence against him."

In Lazanski v. United States, (CCA 4) 31 F. (2d)

846, the defendants, who were partners, voluntarily

showed books and records of the partnership to Govern-

ment agents and left them in their possession for audit-

ing. The books and records were later returned to the

defendants. The accountants later were allowed to testify

as to the contents of the books and records examined. It

was claimed that this was error. The court stated on

page 850 of the Reporter:

"The next point strenuously insisted upon by de-

fendants is that the trial court erred in allowing
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agents of the government to testify as to the con-

tents of books and records of defendants, and in per-

mitting photostatic copies of certain pages of these

to be introduced in evidence. The basis of these ob-

jections is, first, that the oral testimony and the pho-

tostatic copies were received in violation of the best

evidence rule; and, second, that the evidence was

obtained in violation of the rights of defendants

under the Fourth and Fifth Amendments to the Con-

stitution. We see nothing in either of these points.

"So far as the best evidence rule is concerned, the

government complied with this rule, in that it pro-

duced the best proof which could be produced under

the circumstances of the case. The books were shown

to be in possession of the defendants ; and, because of

the provisions of the Fourth and Fifth Amendments,

the court was without power to require their pro-

duction at the trial. * * * But evidence as to the

contents of books and papers is not lost to the gov-

ernment because the defendant has them in his pos-

session and their production cannot be ordered or

the usual basis laid for the introduction of secondary

evidence. In such cases, the rule is that, when they

are traced to his possession, the government, without

more ado, may offer secondary evidence of their

contents."

4. Submission to Jury of Westbrook Affidavit and

Summaries of Goshorn.

In the Shingle, Brown Reply Brief, on pages 33 to 36,

it is stated that the fact that the same information con-

tained in the Westbrook affidavit (Ex. 155) was con-

tained in the Cavanaugh affidavit (Ex. 277), which was

admitted in evidence, should not be considered by this
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court, for the reason that the Cavanaugh affidavit was

admitted in evidence over the objection of these appel-

lants. Reference is made to page 538 of the record. An
examination of this page discloses that none of the appel-

lants other than Cavanaugh objected to the introduction

in evidence of the Cavanaugh affidavit. The record cites

that "Cavanaugh's counsel objected to it as incompetent,

irrelevant * * '^ etc." A few lines later it appears that

Cavanaugh's attorney expressly ordered that the whole

of this affidavit be read to the jury. This was then done

without any objection on the part of any of the appel-

lants.

It is further stated by these appellants that the belief,

expressed in the W^stbrook affidavit, that the Big Syndi-

cate would make a profit out of the purchase of Italo

stock, may have tended to lead the jury to believe there

was fraud in the transaction. This expressed belief on

the part of Westbrook, however, is not the only reference

found in the record to a belief in profits to be made out

of this purchase of stock. As pointed out in our original

brief, it is not denied by any of the appellants that they

expected to make a profit out of the operations of the

Syndicate. Some of the appellants even testified that they

expected to make a profit. The appellant Shingle testified

that:

**A profit was expected. No one would go into a

syndicate of any kind unless they expected to make

a profit." (R. 929).

It is clear, therefore, that the belief of Westbrook was

no different than the belief of the appellants, which was

voluntarily expressed by them to the jury.
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In the McKeon Reply Brief, on pages 65 to 71, it is

stated that Westbrook's statement to the effect that

Wilkes and Siens were building a yacht might have lead

the jury to believe that Wilkes and Siens were using, for

their personal pleasure, the money received as the result

of the McKeon deal. This assumption is too far-fetched

to be worthy of consideration. In addition, it is unwar-

ranted, for the reason that the Cavanaugh affidavit, in-

troduced in evidence without objection on the part of the

appellants, expressly stated that this yacht was purchased

for business reasons and was to be used in taking over a

Government oil grant in Central America.

In considering this affidavit of Westbrook, it should be

remembered that it was introduced in evidence only

against Westbrook, and this was stated in the presence

of the jury by the prosecuting attorney (R. 435, 436).

The court also stated to the jury:

"The document is admissible only as against the

defendant Westbrook, and is not evidence and not

to be considered by you as evidence against any of

the other defendants here on trial, gentlemen/'

The court, in addition, informed the jury, in its charge,

that all of the evidence introduced was not appHcable to

all the defendants. (R. 1291). In Pennsylvania Company

V. Roy, 102 U. S. 451, 26 L. Ed. 141, it was stated that

the presumption is that the jury will regard and obey

the instructions of the judge.

In answer to appellee's statement that the appellants

did not even consider the use of the word "bonus" preju-

dicial at the time the two summaries of Goshorn were

admitted in evidence, it is stated in the McKeon Reply
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Brief that such a ground of objection need not have been

specifically stated in the objection made to these exhibits.

This statement is no answer to appellee's contention.

While we do seriously question the suflkiency of the ob-

jection made, we do contend further, however, that the

fact that the use of the word was not objected to as

prejudicial is a good indication that this word was not

regarded as prejudicial. If it was so regarded, counsel

at the time would have so stated. The fact that it was

not claimed that this word was prejudicial is an indica-

tion, at least, that the possibility of prejudice never even

occurred to appellants' counsel at the time the exhibits

were offered in evidence.

And this is not to be wondered at, for it was clearly

brought out before the jury that this word was merely

used, in tracing a great number of shares of stock, to

differentiate certain stock from other stock and was not

to be regarded as an indication that certain stock was in

fact "bonus" stock.

The jury was well aware that the word "bonus" was

stricken, and that it was not to be regarded as evidence

that certain stock was in fact "bonus" stock. At various

times during the testimony of Goshorn, this was recalled

to the attention of the jury. On page 601 it appears that

the court stated to the witness, "You should not designate

it 'bonus' stock." On page 602 the word "bonus" was

stricken, and the word "commission" substituted. On

page 629 appears the statement of Goshorn that "No. 16

says 'bonus,' which I believe we have agreed was stricken

out."
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The jury, by reason of the above, were well aware that

the word "bonus" was stricken and therefore not in evi-

dence. In addition, the trial court instructed the jury

that the jury was not to regard evidence which was

stricken out by the court, and the jury was expressly told

that such evidence was to be regarded by them as though

it had never been given. (R. 1268). We wish also to call

the court's attention to the fact that no mention is made

in Westbrook's affidavit of any appellant other than

Wilkes and Siens, and the reference to Wilkes is merely

in connection with the purchase of a yacht, which pur-

chase was also referred to in the Cavanaugh affidavit,

admitted in evidence without objection by any of the

appellants, other than Cavanaugh.

5. Cross-examination of Witness Goshorn.

On pages 57 to 58 of the Shingle, Brown Reply Brief,

it is stated that, inasmuch as the witness Goshorn testi-

fied on cross-examination that the item of $578,260.63

charged to Shingle, Brown Sz Company was shown on

the books of that company as a profit, and inasmuch as

the witness on cross—examination testified that Shingle,

Brown & Company split the proceeds of the Bank of

Italy escrow four ways with Siens, Wilkes and the

McKeon Company, and no consideration was paid the

escrow and, inasnmch as the witness on cross-examination

testified that he didn't know what consideration was re-

ceived by McKeon for the stock delivered to the various

appellants, it was error to refuse counsel for Shingle and

Brown to ask this witness what operating expenses

Shingle, Brown and Company incurred for the years

1928 and 1929.



—25—

It will be immediately noted that proof that Shingle,

Brown and Company had office expenses in 1928 and 1929

would in no way refute the testimony that $578,260.63

was placed on the books of Shingle, Brown and Com-

pany as a profit. The witness did state, however, that

this amount was not "net profit," but was the "net amount

received." (R. 665). It likewise would not refute the

testimony that the Bank of Italy escrow was split four

ways and no consideration was paid the escrow. It would

likewise not refute the testimony that the witness did not

know what consideration was received by McKeon for

the stock delivered to the appellants.

For the reasons ad\anced above and for the reasons

advanced on pages 163 to 164 of our original brief, we

submit there was no improper restriction of cross-exami-

nation. The extent of cross-examination is left to the

discretion of the trial judge. Jelke v. United States

(CCA 7) 255 Fed. 264, 287, 288; Postman v. United

States (CCA 8) 34 F. (2d) 406, 408; Quigley v. United

States (CCA 1) 19 F. (2d) 756, 759. We submit that

the trial court was guilty of no abuse of this discretion.

The appellants' statement that "it should be further

observed that in giving the testimony that no considera-

tion was received or evidenced by the books that the wit-

ness was testifying to a negative matter which was im-

proper under the rule enunciated by this court in the

recent case of Shreve v. United States, decided April 29,

1935," is without justification or merit and is now raised

for the first time. This objection was not made in the

court below nor in the original brief filed and should not

now be considered. In addition, this testimony was not
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brought out by the Government, but by the appellants

during cross-examination. In reference to the Bank of

Italy, escrow, the witness, although first stating that no

consideration was paid the escrow, later made a correc-

tion and stated that "the consideration for that direction

from the escrow is not indicated." The testimony there-

fore is not testimony concerning a negative matter.

6. The 12th Count of the Indictment.

On pages 58-60 of the Shingle-Brown reply brief, it is

stated that appellee concedes the court did not instruct

the jury it must find that the letter contained in the

twelfth count was delivered by mail. We did not and

do not concede this, but contend that the jury was suffi-

ciently informed as to the necessity of proving delivery.

We have argued this point at considerable length in our

original brief on pages 208-213 and will not therefore

reargue it. We merely point out, however, that the trial

court read to the jury the particular section of the statute

involved in count 12 (R. 1279), and further stated it

was necessary that the jury find the letter "passed through

the mails" (R. 1282). In addition the court gave the

indictment to the jury and told the jury that it must find

that the defendants "used the United States mails in the

manner alleged in the indictment" (R. 1282).

Appellants did not request an instruction as to the

necessity of proving the delivery of the letter set out in

the twelfth count of the indictment, (R. 1304-1324), nor

did they request that the trial judge further amplify the

charge given. In Allis v. United States, 155 U. S. 117,

122, 15 S. Ct. 36, 38, 39 L. Ed. 91, it is stated:



—27—

"A party must make every reasonable effort to

secure from the trial court correct rulings or such

at least as are satisfactory to him before he will be

permitted to ask any review by the appellate tribunal

;

and to that end he must be distinct and specific in

his objections and exceptions. * * * However, it

might pain us to see injustice perpetuated by a judg-

ment which we are precluded from reviewing by the

absence of proper exceptions to the action of the

court below, justice itself and fairness to the court

which makes the rulings complained of, require that

the attention of that court shall be specifically called

to the precise point to which exception is taken, that

it may have an opportunity to reconsider the matter

and remove the ground of exception."

In addition, no exception was taken in reference to the

supposed failure of the trial court to instruct as to the

necessity of proof of delivery. In Dinger v. United States

(CCA 8th) 28 Fed. 2d. 548-550, and in United States v.

McGiiire (CCA 2nd) 64 Fed. 2d. 485-493, it was held

that a failure to charge on the presumption of innocence

was not a ground for reversal where no request was

made for such instruction and no exception preserved.

A general exception was taken to the whole charge

(R. 1325) but this presented nothing for review. In

Block V. Darling. 140 U. S. 234, 238, 11 S. Ct. 832, 35

L. Ed. 476, it was stated:

**The general exception 'to all and each part of the

foregoing charge and instructions' suggests nothing

for our consideration. The court below was entitled

to a distinct specification of the matter whether of

fact or of law to which objection was made =^ ^ 'i^.

An exception 'to all and each part of the charge'
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gave no information whatever as to what was in the

mind of the excepting party, and, therefore gave

no opportunity to the trial court to correct any error

committed by it."

The exception found on page 1327 of the record and

referred to by counsel for appellants in their Reply Brief

on page 60 was not an exception to the supposed failure

to instruct on the necessity of proof of delivery. Counsel

has quoted only part of this exception, beginning with

the middle of the sentence. The beginning of the sentence

containing the exception is as follows

:

"We except to the instruction given to the court

relating to the mailing of any mail matter by clerks

or employees as being snfficienf proof that any de-

fendant had anything to do with that * * *" (R.

1327).

Immediately after that portion of the exception, quoted

above, is found that part of the exception quoted on page

60 of the Reply Brief. It is clear, therefore, that this

exception had reference only to the mailing by clerks,

etc., and not to the necessity of proof of delivery.

In Mouler v. Am. Life Ins. Co., Ill U. S. 335, 337,

4 S. Ct. 466, 28 L. Ed. 447, it was stated

:

"If it was intended to save an exception as to

distinct propositions embodied in the instructions,

the attention of the court should have been directed

to the specific points concerning which it was sup-

posed error had been committed."

7. The Bill of Particulars.

On pages 43 to 57 of the Shingle-Brown reply brief an

attempt is made to point out wherein the appellee com-
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mitted error in construing the indictment as restricted by

the Bill of Particulars. We submit that the appellee has

committed no error in construction. The only error

pointed out is one which the appellee has already pointed

out to this court in the oral argument. As stated by

appellee at that time, the reference, on page 150 of ap-

pellee's brief, to subdivision (o-l) of the Bill of Particu-

lars was erroneous. The reference should have been to

(o-3). The appellee, however, correctly listed on page

151 of the original brief those persons who were referred

to under subdivision (o-3).

The appellant admits that the appellee's construction

of the indictment, as restricted by the Bill of Particu-

lars, in reference to the $80,000 loan is correct. On

page 45 of the Reply Brief it is stated the terminology

''that the said defendants," appearing in the indictment

on the last line of page 29 of the record, does not refer

to all defendants. The Bill of Particulars is silent as

to what persons are meant by "the said defendants."

Inasmuch as all the defendants are charged with having

participated in a scheme to defraud and inasmuch as

the Bill of Particulars does not attempt to limit the

tenninolog}' "the said defendants," the only reasonable

conclusion which can be arrived at is that the termin-

ology used means all of the defendants indicted. This

is made clear by reference to the terminolog}- "and i^'hiJe

some ,of the said defendants were acting as directors

and officers of said corporation," appearing on lines 3

and 4 of the indictment as the same appears on page 30

of the record. "Some of the said defendants," accord-

ing to the Bill of Particulars, refers to Robert McKeon.
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Wilkes, Perata and Masoni. From this it is ascertained

that it was not only the officers of Italo who were

charged with causing Italo to enter into an agreement

to purchase the assets of the Brownmoor Oil Company.

The reference to these officers was merely that the agree-

ment to purchase was caused by the defendants while

these named officers were acting as such.

On page 46 of the Reply Brief it is stated that appellee

committed error in including Shingle and Brown as

those named in the indictment and Bill of Particulars

as issuing the stock to Brownmoor. We submit that

Shingle and Brown were included in the indictment. The

allegation of the indictment is found in the third para-

graph, page 31 of the Record, and the terminology "that

the defendants" is shown by Footnote 16 to refer to the

original indictment at page 5, lines 6 and 7. The Bill

of Particulars (R. 155; par. 4, subd. "i") designates

"the defendants" as those named in subparagraphs "e"

and "f" thereof. Under subdivision "f" the Bill of Par-

ticulars refers to subdivision "e". Subdivision "e" re-

fers to the defendants named in subdivision "b" and also

certain named defendants. Subdivision *'b" has two ref-

erences. One is to subdivision "a" and also refers to

certain defendants. Subdivision "a" refers, among other

defendants, to Shingle and Brown. (R. 155-154.)

On page 47 of the Reply Brief appellants complain

that the appellee stated that the indictment alleges that

"all of the defendants applied to the Corporation Com-

missioner for a permit to issue the Italo stock to the

Brownmoor Company." Again, we find that while the

indictment alleges "it was further a part of said scheme
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and artifice that the defendants should and they did

make application * * *
, the bill of particulars is silent

as to the names of these defendants. The indictment,

therefore, not being restricted by the bill of particulars,

should be construed to mean all of the defendants.

We have already discussed in our original brief the

fact that there are inconsistent references in the bill of

particulars to those defendants who received part of the

2.500,000 shares of stock distributed by the McKeons.

In two places Shingle and Brown are charged with hav-

ing received this stock under a secret arrangement and

agreement. (R. 153: par. 1, B. of P.; R. 157: B. of P.

"o-5": R. 157: B. of P. "o-3".) This has been fully

discussed in our original brief on pages 150 to 154, so

we will not now again comment on this. Appellants,

however, state that the reference in the bill of particu-

lars (subparagraph (o-5) R. 157) to line 9 of the in-

dictment does not refer to terminology^ "and that thev,

the said defendants, should and did receive for their

own use and benefit * * * " appearing on page 36 of the

Record. An examination of the bill of particulars, how-

ever, discloses that it refers to page 8. line 9 of the

indictment. This can mean nothing but that it refers

to the language of the indictment quoted immediately

above.

The purpose of our reply is merely to point out that

the inconsistencies which appellants claim exist in the

appellee's construction of the indictment, as restricted

by the bill of particulars, do not exist. We refer this

court, therefore, to our argument on the bill of particu-

lars contained in the original brief on pages 136 to 156.
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8. Instructions of Court in Reference to Fiduciary

Relationship.

On pages 54 to 65 of the McKeon Reply Brief the ap-

pellants again point out their view that the court, in its

instructions to the jury on the fiduciary relationship ex-

isting between officers of a corporation and a corpora-

tion, spoke only of constructive fraud and therefore com-

mitted error prejudicial to the appellants. It is also

undertaken by appellants to excuse their failure to take

proper objection and exception to the particular instruc-

tions now complained against.

The appellants on page 56 of their reply brief state

that the appellee's definition of actual fraud is erroneous,

and point out that before there can be actual fraud the

"suppression of that which is true by one having knowl-

edge or belief of the fact" must be with "intent to

deceive another party thereto or to induce him to enter

into the contract." We assume, therefore, that appel-

lants do admit that if the suppression was made with

the intent to deceive or to induce one to enter into a

contract actual fraud does exist. With this in mind, let

us examine the charge of the court as to what consti-

tuted actual fraud. On page 1288 of the record the

trial court stated:

"Actual fraud as defined by the law of the state

is * * * the suppression of that which is true by one

having knowledge or belief of the facts and who is

under obligation to reveal it ; a promise made with-

out any intention of performing it; nnd a^ny other

act committed to deceive. The intent to defraaid

must exist at all times."
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From the above, it is clear that the trial court did

instruct the jur>' that actual fraud must exist in the mat-

ter of secret profits, and that it must have been com-

mitted with the intent to deceive. In this connection, we

quote the language of the appellants on page 56 of their

reply brief:

"If the lower court had confined itself to the giv-

ing of a definition of actual fraud, the complaint

here urged would not have been made."

In our original brief on pages 224-226, we set out the

instructions of the judge dealing with the intent to

defraud. We submit that these instructions clearly and

definitely informed the jury that it was necessary that

the Government prove and the jun- find beyond a rea-

sonable doubt that the intent to defraud existed. That

being the case we fail to see how the appellants can

successfully contend that the jury was not properly

informed as to the necessity of proving this intent to

defraud.

Although the appellants object, on review, to the giv-

ing by the trial judge of instructions on the fiduciary

relationship between an officer of a corporation and the

corporation, we find that no objection whatsoever was

made to the fact that the judge gave these instructions.

Indeed the appellants themselves sought to have the

court instruct on the relationship between directors and

their corporations. This is evidenced by the tendered

instruction contained on page 1323 of the transcript of

record and the instruction contained on page 1540-1541.

It is not understandable to us how appellants can sue-
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instructing on a point which the appellants themselves

requested the court to instruct on.

In an attempt to convince this court that proper ob-

jection and exception was taken, not to the giving of

instructions on fiduciary relationship, but to the con-

tents of the instructions given, the appellants on pages

62 and 63 of their reply brief set out some of the excep-

tions taken to the instructions given by the trial court.

The first exception outlined was merely to the effect that

the exception was made on the ground that an officer

of a corporation does not owe any fiduciary duty to any

one except the corporation or its then existing stock-

holders. The second exception outlined was similar to

the first in that the exception was taken to the state-

ment of the court that it was the duty to disclose to

prospective purchasers that profits may or may not have

been made. The third exception was to the illustration

given by the court and did not in any way refer to what

appellants call constructive fraud. The ground of the

objection was that the court had gone outside the record

and called upon his personal experience. In reference

to this exception it is to be noted that it is stated on

page 413 of the original brief filed by the McKeons

that the court, in giving the hypothetical case, properly

enunciated the principles under which a corporation

could recover from a director secret profits. The fourth

exception outlined is to the instructions of the court on

secret profits and is based on the ground that the court

did not define what constituted a secret profit.
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It is apparent then that the objections now urged to

the instructions of the trial court were not pointed out

to the trial court. That being the case this court should

not now undertake to consider the correctness of the

instructions on the ground now claimed.

"If it was intended to save .an exception as to

distinct propositions embodied in the instructions,

the attention of the court should have been directed

to the specific points concerning which it was sup-

posed error had been committed."

MOlder v. Am. Life Iiis. Co., HI U. S. 335, 337,

4 S. Ct. 466, 28 L. Ed. 447.

9. The Eighth Count of the Indictment.

On pages 8 to 16 of the Reply Brief filed by appellant

Myers, it is contended that the authorities cited by the

appellee, to the effect that the use of the mails and not

the written word is the gist of the crime, and that the

letter sent through the mails need not be sent out in haec

verba unless it touches the very pith of the crime, are

not applicable to the present case. We submit that not-

withstanding the appellants' view the cases cited are

applicable as can readily be determined by a reading of

the same and we will, therefore, not attempt in this

Reply Brief to justify the citation of the same.

We do wish to point out, however, several erroneous

statements made in this argument. On page 9 of the

brief it is stated that the Government is in error in stat-

ing that no application was filed by the defendant Myers

for a Bill of Particulars. We reaffirm our statement

that the record does not disclose that Myers applied for

a Bill of Particulars. A Bill of Particulars was re-
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quested only by the McKeons (R. 15), and by Shingle,

Brown, Jones and Mickel (R. 16). On page 16 of the

Reply Brief it is stated that the Government "responsive

to the order of the court granting the Bill of Particu-

lars, should have supplied the defendants and each of

them, not only with a copy of the alleged circular, but

under the authorities submitted by us to a translation

thereof so that they might have imparted information

as to the contents of the same."

The only Bill of Particulars embraced in the transcript

of the record is a Bill of Particulars filed by Shingle

and Brown, and nowhere in the same does it appear

that any request was made that a Bill of Particulars be

furnished as to the contents of the circular set out in

the Eighth Count of the indictment (R. 146-153). It is

clear, therefore, that the statement of Myers quoted

above has no merit and is without any basis, for it

appears affirmatively from the record that the court

never did order the Government to furnish a bill of par-

ticulars as to the circular contained in the Eighth Count.

III.

Conclusion

In this reply brief, appellee has attempted to refrain

from repeating the arguments advanced in the original

brief filed and has attempted to answer only those points

raised in the reply brief of the appellants which the

appellee thinks require a reply. We beheve, however,

that those portions of the reply brief, filed by the appel-

lants, which have not been expressly answered in our

reply brief have been fully covered in the original brief
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filed by the appellee, and we request this court to con-

sider the original brief along with this reply brief in

determining the merit of the points raised by appellants.

We submit that in the original brief, and in this our

reply brief, we have successfully and completely an-

swered the various contentions of the appellants and for

the reasons advanced by us in these two briefs we re-

spectfully request that the judgment of conviction en-

tered against each and everyone of the appellants be

affirmed.

Respectfully submitted,

Peirsox M. Hall.

United States Attorney.

T. Albert Woll,
Special Assistant to the

Attorney General.

Attorneys for Appellee.
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EH UNITED STATES OF AMERJICA, SS.

A

To THE ST. HELENS PETROLEUM COMPANY,
LTD., a corporation, and TO: MILLER, CHEVA-

LIER, PEELER & WILSON, its attorneys

:

Greeting

:

You are hereby cited and admonished to be and appear

at a United States Circuit of Appeals for the Ninth Cir-

suit, to be held at the City of San Francisco, in the State

of California, on the 8th day of March, A. D. 1934, pur-

suant to Order Allowing Appeal, filed February 17, 1934

in the Clerk's Office of the District Court of the United

States, in and for the Southern District of California, in

that certain action entitled THE ST. HELENS PE-

TROLEUM COMPANY, LTD., a corporation, vs.

GALEN H. WELCH, Collector of Internal Revenue, for

the Sixth Collection District of California, No. 4252-C,

wherein GALEN H. WELCH, Collector of Internal

Revenue, is Defendant and Appellant, and you are Plain-

tiff and Appellee to show cause, if any there be, why the

Judgment in the said cause mentioned, should not be cor-

rected, and speedy justice should not be done to the parties

in that behalf.
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WITNESS, the Honorable Geo. Cosgrave United States

District Judge for the Southern District of Cali-

fornia, this 17th day of February, A. D. 1934, and

of the Independence of the United States, the one

hundred and fifty-eighth.

Geo. Cosgrave

U. S. District Judge for the Southern

District of CaHfornia.

Receipt is acknowledged of a copy of the within Cita-

tion, together with a copy of the Petition for Appeal,

Assignments of Error and Order Allowing Appeal herein.

DATED: FEBRUARY 17th, 1934.

E.H.

MILLER, CHEVALIER, PEELER & WILSON,

By Joseph D. Peeler

Attorneys for Plaintiff.

[Endorsed] : Filed Feb 17 1934 R. S. Zimmerman,

Clerk By Edmund L. Smith Deputy Clerk



IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE UNITED
STATES IN AND FOR THE SOUTHERN

DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
CENTRAL DIVISION.

THE ST. HELENS PETROLEUM
COMPANY, LTD., a Corporation,

Plaintiff,

- V - At Law
No. 4252-C

COMPLAINTGALEN H. WELCH, Collector of

Internal Revenue, for the Sixth Col-

lection District of California,

Defendant.

NOW COMES the plaintiff. The St. Helens Petroleum

Company, Ltd., a corporation, and through its attorneys

complains of the defendant, Galen H. Welch, and as and

for a cause of action against said defendant alleges:

I.

That the plaintiff. The St. Helens Petroleum Company,

Ltd., is and was at all times hereinafter mentioned, a cor-

poration organized under the laws of Great Britain, and

having its principal office and place of business at Los

Angeles, California.

II.

That the jurisdiction of this court is dependent upon a

Federal question in that the cause arises under the laws

of the United States of America pertaining to internal

revenue, to-wit, the Revenue Act of 1921 and subsequent

Acts.



III.

That the defendant, Galen H. Welch, is now and has

been since April 6, 1926, the Collector of Internal Revenue

for the Sixth Collection District of California, duly com-

missioned and acting pursuant to the laws of the United

States, and resides and has his office in the City of Los

Angeles, in the said State of California.

IV.

That this action is brought against the defendant as an

officer acting under and by virtue of the Revenue Act of

1921 and later Revenue Acts, on account of acts done

under color of his office, and of the Revenue Laws of the

L'nited States as will hereinafter more fully appear.

y.

That the plaintiff duly filed with the proper officer desig-

nated by statute, its original and amended corporation in-

come tax returns for the fiscal year ended May 31, 1921,

as required by law and within the periods prescribed by

law, that is, on to-wit, August 15, 1921, November 24,

1922. October 22, 1923. and November U. 1923.

VI.

That the plaintiff duly paid to the Acting Collector of

Internal Revenue taxes shown to be due on said returns

for the fiscal year ended May 31, 1921, in the total amount

of $418,292.95.

VIL

That thereafter, on March 11, 1929, the defendant,

Galen H. Welch, as Collector of Internal Revenue for the

Sixth Collection District of California, exacted from plain-

tiff the payment under protest and duress of an additional

amount of $275,202.52. on account of said income tax

returns for the fiscal year ended May 31, 1921, together



with interest in the amount of $116,454.01. Plaintiff has

paid on account of said returns a total amount of $693,-

495.47, together with interest in the amount of $116,-

454.01.

VIII.

On May 3, 1930, plaintiff filed with the Commissioner

of Internal Revenue, through the defendant as Collector

of Internal Revenue for the Sixth Collection District of

California, a claim for refund in the amount of $50,000.00,

setting forth errors of the Commissioner of Internal

Revenue and the defendant in the computation of plain-

tiff's taxes for the fiscal year ended May 31, 1921, setting

forth as the reasons for said claim the following:

"1. The Commissioner made a mathematical error of

$12,000.00 in determining the total depletion allowance

for this year. The depletion schedules attached to the

Department's letter of November 7, 1928 (symbols: IT:

FAR : SM-60D : LMS-28935-C-28938-A-28936-D-28939-

B-28937-E-28940) show the following amounts of 'deple-

tion sustained':

Anaheim Lease $9,423.00

Anderson do 2,770.25

Johnson do 3,674.00

Edwardson do 214.07

King do 50,222.28

Schultz do 96.96

Eggleston-Taylor do 40,636.17

Nutt do 998.70

Piuma-Briana do 1,972.88

McLeod do 512,561.23

Monterey do

;tained

2,355.63

Total depletion sus $624,925.17
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"The Unit inadvertently carried these amounts into the

income computation, Schedule 11(d), at a total of $612,-

925.17, thereby understating^ the deductions and overstat-

ing the net income in an amount of $12,000.00.

"2. The Commissioner's allowance for Depreciation on

Wells is erroneous due to the allowance of only $4,875.49

on the Nutt Lease as against the correct amount of $11,-

479.90, as shown in Form O, Schedule VL The differ-

ence arises from the failure to consider the investment of

$66,132.15 at the beginning of the taxable year, the De-

partment's depreciation schedule taking cognizance only of

the $48,819.28 expenditures during the taxable year.

"3. In the computation of net income, the Commis-

sioner allowed 99.75 per cent of the Br'tish excess profits

and corporation profits taxes accrued during the taxable

year, based on the proportion of income from sources

within the United States. However, the Commissioner

has failed to allow as a deduction any part of the British

income tax accrued against the corporation during the tax-

able year. Following the basis used by the Unit in the

computation of the deduction for the British profits tax,

this deduction would be as follows:

Income tax accrued £ 11,258-14

at 3.70 in £ $ 41,657.19

99.75 per cent $ 41,553.05

"Our contentions on this point have been fully set forth

in various briefs heretofore filed with the Department."

IX.

That the Commissioner of Internal Revenue has failed

and refused to take any action with respect to said claim

for refund filed May 3, 1930, to the time of filing this
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proceeding, and that more than six months have expired

from the date of fihng such claim without any decision by

the Commissioner of Internal Revenue thereon. That the

taxes covered by said claim for refund and this proceeding

were paid within five years before this proceeding was

begun.

X.

That the taxes heretofore collected from the plaintiff

for the fiscal year ended May 31, 1921, are excessive to

the extent of $18,116.43, for the reasons set forth in the

claim for refund and heretofore presented to the Com-

missioner of Internal Revenue, which are the same as the

grounds set forth herein as the basis for this proceeding.

XI.

The Commissioner of Internal Revenue made a mathe-

matical error of $12,000.00 in determining the total de-

pletion deduction for the fiscal year ended May 31, 1921.

The depletion schedules attached to the Department's letter

of November 7, 1928 (symbols: IT:FAR:SM-60D:LMS-

28935-C-28938-A-28936-D-28939-B-28937-E-28940)show

the following amounts of "depletion sustained":

Anaheim Lease $ 9,423.00

Anderson do 2,770.25

Johnson do 3,674.00

Edwardson do 214.07

King do 50,222.28

Schultz do 96.96

Eggleston-Taylor do 40,636.17

Nutt do 998.70

Piuma-Briano do 1,972.88

McLeod do 512,561.23

Monterey do

sustained

2,355.63

Total depletion $624,925.17



The Unit inadvertently carried these amounts into the

income computation, Schedule 11(d), at a total of $612,-

925.17, thereby understating the deductions and over-

stating the net income in an amount of $12,000.00.

XII.

The Commissioner of Internal Revenue has made an

allowance for depreciation on wells with respect to the

I
Nutt lease, of only $4,875.49. whereas the correct amount

of said depreciation is $11,479.90. The difference arises

from the failure to consider the investment of $66,132.15

at the beginning of the taxable year, the Commissioner's

depreciation schedule taking cognizance only of $48,819.28

expenditures during the taxable year.

XIII.

During the fiscal year ended ^Nlay 31, 1921, plaintiff

accrued and paid to the Government of Great Britain, an

income tax in the amount of £11,258-14 Sterling, which,

at the rate of S3. 70, is the equivalent of $41,657.19 in

United States currency. The Commissioner of Internal

Revenue has determined that the income of plaintiff" from

sources within the United States during the fiscal year

ended ^lay 31. 1921, was 99.75 per centum of the total

net income of plaintiff". Accordingly, under Section 234

of the Revenue Act of 1921, plaintiff" is entitled to a total

deduction on account of said British income taxes of 99.75

per centum of $41,657.19, or a net amount of $41,553.05.

In determining the taxes heretofore paid by the plaintiff
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for the fiscal year ended May 31, 1921, the Commissioner

of Internal Revenue has not allowed any deduction on ac-

count of said British income taxes.

XIV.

That the defendant erroneously and illegally collected

from the plaintiff and is erroneously and illegally with-

holding from plaintiff and is indebted to said plaintiff in

the total amount of $25,782.58 representing additional tax

collected on March 11, 1929, in the amount of $18,116.43,

and interest on said sum in the amount of $7,666.15, ille-

gally exacted from plaintiff on March 11, 1929, on ac-

count of income taxes for the fiscal year ended May 31,

1921, together with interest thereon as provided by law.

XV.

That although often demanded the defendant has not

nor has anyone on his behalf repaid or refunded said sum

or sums or any part thereof, and said claim of said plain-

tiff herein is the sole property of plaintiff and has not been

sold or assigned or transferred to any person or individual.

WHEREFORE, plaintiff prays for judgment against

the defendant, Galen H. Welch, in the amount of $25,-

782.58, together with interest at 6 per centum from March

11, 1929, as provided by law.

Joseph D. Peeler

Melvin D. Wilson

Attorneys for Plaintiff.
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STATE OF CALIFORNIA )

) ss.

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES )

CHARLES DRADER and R. W. STEPHENS, being

first duly sworn, on oath depose and say:

That The St. Helens Petroleum Company, Ltd., plain-

tiff herein, is a corporation organized under the laws of

Great Britain, with its principal office and place of busi-

ness at Los Angeles, California.

That said CHARLES DRADER and R. W. STE-

PHENS, are its attorneys-at-law and in-fact in charge of

its business in the United States and duly authorized to

verify this complaint. That they have read the complaint

and that the facts contained therein are true to the best

of their knowledge and belief.

Charles Drader

R. W. Stephens

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 6th day of No-

vember, 1930.

[Seal] Ethel E. Jones

Notary Public in and for the County of Los Angeles,

State of California.

[Endorsed] : Filed Nov. 6, 1930. R. S. Zimmerman,

Clerk, By M. R. Winchell, Deputy Clerk.
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[Title of Court and Cause.]

ANSWER
Comes now the defendant, Galen H, Welch, and in

answer to the above-entitled complaint, admits, alleges and

denies, to-wit:

I.

Denies specifically the allegations contained in para-

graph I of said complaint.

II.

Admits the allegations contained in paragraph II of said

complaint.

III.

Admits each and every allegation contained in para-

graph III of said complaint.

IV.

Admits each and every allegation contained in para-

graph IV of said complaint.

V.

Answering paragraph V of said complaint, the defend-

ant admits that the plaintiff filed its original and amended

corporation income tax returns for the fiscal year ended

May 31, 1921 on August 15, 1921, November 24, 1922,

October 22, 1923, and November 14, 1923; denies speci-

fically each and every other allegation contained in said

paragraph.

VI.

Admits each and every allegation contained in para-

graph VI of said complaint.

VIL
Answering paragraph VII of said complaint, the de-

fendant admits that plaintiff paid additional taxes in the
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sum of ^27D,202.'b2 on account of said income tax re-

turns for the fiscal year ended May 31, 1921, together

with interest in the amount of $116,454.01; admits that

the total amount paid by plaintill on account of said re-

turns is the sum of $693,495.47, together with interest in

the amount of $116,454.01. With regard to said addi-

tional payments referred to in paragraph \'II of said

complaint, the defendant affirmatively alleges that said ad-

ditional amount of ^27d,202.}>2 and interest of $116,-

454.01, a total of $391,656.53, was paid by credit in the

amount of $361,872.74 on Januar}- 22, 1929, and the bal-

ance thereof, to-wit, $29,783.79, was paid by cash on

IMarch 11, 1929. Defendant denies specifically each and

every other allegation contained in said paragraph.

Admits the allegations contained in paragraph \'III of

said complaint.

IX.

Answering paragraph IX of said complaint, the defend-

ant admits that the Commissioner of Internal Revenue

has failed to take any action with respect to the claim for

refund filed ]\Iay 3, 1930, and admits that more than six

months have expired from the date of filing such claim;

admits that the taxes covered by said claim for refund

were paid within five years before this proceeding was

begun. Denies specifically each and every other allegation

of said paragraph.

X.

Denies specifically each and every allegation contained

in paragraph X of said complaint.
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XL
Denies specifically each and every allegation contained

in paragraph XI of said complaint.

XII.

Denies specifically each and every allegation contained

in paragraph XII of said complaint.

XIII.

Denies specifically each and every allegation contained

in paragraph XIII of said complaint.

XIV.

Denies specifically each and every allegation contained

in paragraph XIV of said complaint.

XV.

Answering paragraph XV of said complaint, the de-

fendant admits that no part of the amount sought to be

recovered has been paid or refunded to the plaintiff. De-

nies specifically each and every other allegation contained

in said paragraph.

WHEREFORE, this defendant prays that plaintiff take

nothing by its complaint and that this defendant have his

costs of suit.

SAMUEL W. McNABB,
United States Attorney.

Ignatius F. Parker.

IGNATIUS F. PARKER,
Assistant United States Attorney,

C. M. CHAREST
General Counsel,

Bureau of Internal Revenue.

Richard W. Wilson
RICHARD W. WILSON,

Special Attorney,

Bureau of Internal Revenue.
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STATE OF CALIFORNIA )

) ss.

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES )

GALEX H. \\'ELCH, being first duly sworn, deposes

and says: That he is the duly appointed, qualified and

acting Collector of Internal Revenue for the Sixth In-

ternal Revenue Collection District of the State of Cali-

fornia, and is the defendant named in the within entitled

action; that he has read the foregoing Answer and knows

the contents thereof: that the same is true of his own

knowledge, except as to those matters which are herein

stated on his information and belief, and as to those mat-

ters he believes it to be true.

Galen H. Welch

Collector of Internal Revenue.

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 29 day of De-

cember, 1930.

[Seal] T. G. Albright

Notary Public In and for the County of Los Angeles,

State of California.

My Commission Expires Oct. 22, 1932.

[Endorsed] : Filed Dec. 30, 1930 R. S. Zimmerman,

Clerk. By M. L. Gaines Deputy Clerk.



16

[Title of Court and Cause.]

STIPULATION WAIVING JURY.

IT IS HEREBY STIPULATED by and between

counsel for the respective parties that trial by jury in

the above case is expressly waived.

DATED : This 8th day of April, 1931.

MILLER, CHEVALIER, PEELER & WILSON,

By Joseph D. Peeler

Attorneys for Plaintiff,

Samuel W. McNabb

SAMUEL W. McNABB,

United States Attorney,

Ignatius F. Parker,

IGNATIUS F. PARKER,

Assistant United States Attorney,

Attorneys for Defendant.

• [Endorsed] : Filed Apr. 9, 1931. R. S. Zimmerman,

Clerk By Murray E. Wire, Deputy Clerk.
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE UNITED
STATES IN AND FOR THE SOUTHERN

DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
CENTRAL DIVISION.

ST. HELENS PETROLEUM COM-
PANY, LTD., a corporation,

Plaintiff,

vs.

GALEN H. WELCH, Collector of In-

ternal Revenue,

Defendant.

ST. HELENS PETROLEUM COM-
PANY, LTD., a corporation,

Plaintiff,

vs.

GALEN H. WELCH, Collector of In-

ternal Revenue,

Defendant.

ST. HELENS PETROLEUM COM-
PANY, LTD., a corporation,

Plaintiff,

vs.

REX B. GOODCELL, Collector of In-

ternal Revenue,

Defendant.

No. 4252

No. 4255

No. 4258

I
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MOTION TO REOPEN CASE FOR THE PURPOSE
OF ADMITTING ADDITIONAL EVIDENCE
AS STIPULATED

COME NOW the plaintiff and defendant by and

through their respective attorneys and move this Honor-

able Court to reopen the above entitled cases to admit in

evidence additional facts as set forth in Stipulation of

Additional Facts filed herewith.

The purpose of this additional evidence is to enable the

Court to determine whether it has jurisdiction of all or

any part of said proceedings and, if it has jurisdiction, to

assist it in determining the amount of the judgments to

be entered.

DATED: This 6th day of November, 1933.

Joseph D. Peeler,

Joseph D. Peeler,

Attorney for Plaintiff.

Peirson M. Hall.

Peirson M. Hall, E. H.

United States Attorney,

Alva C. Baird

Alva C Baird, E. H.

Assistant United States

Attorney,

Eugene Harpole

Eugene Harpole,

Special Attorney,

Bureau of Internal Revenue,

Attorneys for Defendants.

It is so ordered

Geo. Cosgrave,

Judge.

[Endorsed] : Filed Nov. 6, 1933. R. S. Zimmerman,

Clerk. By Francis E. Cross, Deputy Clerk.
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[Title of Court axd Cause.]

SPECIAL FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLU-
SIONS OF LAW.

The above case came on regularly for trial on the 28th

day of April, 1931, before the Court, sitting without a

jury, a trial by jury having been waived by written stipu-

lation of the parties thereto : plaintiff appearing by Joseph

D. Peeler and ^lelvin D. Wilson, Esqs., and Miller,

Chevalier, Peeler & Wilson, its attorneys, and the defend-

ant appearing by Samuel W. McNabb, Esq., United States

Attorney for the Southern District of California, Ignatius

F. Parker. Esq., Assistant L'nited States Attorney for said

District, C. M. Charest. Esq., General Counsel, Bureau of

Internal Revenue, and Richard W. Wilson, Esq. Special

Attorney, Bureau of Internal Revenue: and evidence, both

oral and documentary, having been received and the Court

having fully considered the same, hereby makes the fol-

lowing special findings of fact:

I.

The Court finds that the plaintiff. The St. Helens Pe-

troleum Co. Ltd. is and was at all times hereinafter men-

tioned, a corporation organized under the laws of Great

Britain, and having its principal office and place of busi-

ness at Los Angeles, California.

IL

That the plaintiff' filed with Rex B. Goodcell. the then

Collector of Internal Revenue for the Sixth Collection

District of California, its original and amended corpora-

tion income tax returns for the fiscal year ended ^lay 31,

1921, on, to-wit, August 15, 1921. November 24, 1922,

October 22, 1923, and November 14, 1923.
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III.

That the plaintiff paid to said Rex B. Gooacell, as Col-

lector of Internal Revenue, the taxes shown to be due

on said returns, in the total amount of $418,292.95.

IV.

That thereafter, the plaintiff paid to the defendant,

Galen H. Welch, as Collector of Internal Revenue, upon

demand, an additional tax of $275,202.52 on account of

said income tax returns for the fiscal year ended May 31,

1921, together with interest in the amount of $116,454.01,

or a total of $391,656.53. That said payments were made

by a credit in the amount of $361,872.74 on January 22,

1929, and by $29,783.79 in cash on March 11, 1929.

V.

That on May 3, 1930, plaintiff filed with the Commis-

sioner of Internal Revenue a claim for refund of taxes

paid for the fiscal year ended May 31, 1921, in the man-

ner and form provided by law, covering the issues raised

in the complaint herein.

VI.

That the Commissioner of Internal Revenue failed to

take any action with respect to said claim for refund ; that

more than six months elapsed from the date said claim

was filed before this proceeding was commenced, and that

the taxes covered by said claim for refund and this pro-

ceeding were paid within five years before this proceed-

ing was begun.
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VII.

That plaintiff is entitled to a further deduction for oil

depletion in the amount of $12,000.00 for the fiscal year

ended May 31, 1921.

VIII.

That plaintiff is entitled to a further deduction for de-

preciation on wells, with respect to the Nutt Lease, in the

amount of $6,604.41, for the fiscal year ended May 31,

1921.

IX.

That during the fiscal year ended May 31, 1921, plain-

tiff accrued and paid to the Government of Great Britain,

an income tax in the amount of £11,258-14 Sterling,

which, at the rate of $3.70 was equivalent of $41,657.19

in United States currency. The income of plaintiff from

sources within the United States during the fiscal year

ended May 31, 1921, was 99.75 per centum of the total

net income of plaintiff from all sources during said year.

The amount of the British income tax allocable to United

States income was $41,553.05. Plaintiff deducted from

dividends paid by it to its stockholders during said fiscal

year an amount of at least $41,553.05, on account of said

British income taxes.

X.

That the Commissioner of Internal Revenue has allowed

no deduction on account of said British income taxes for

the fiscal year ended May 31, 1921, and that no refund

has been made to plaintiff of any taxes paid by it on its

Federal income tax return for said fiscal year.
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XI.

The taxable net income of the plaintiff for the fiscal

year ended May 31, 1921, as determined by the Com-

missioner of Internal Revenue, was $2,350,425.78. The

profits tax of plaintiff for said fiscal year was determined

under the provisions of Section 328, Revenue Acts of

1918 and 1921, as follows:

Profits tax, Section 328 (1920 rates) $568,803.04

Profits tax, Section 328 (1921 rates) 464,444.13

7/12 of $568,803.04 331,801.77

5/12 of $464,444.13 193,518.39

Total profits tax for fiscal year

ended May 31, 1921, Section 328— $525,320.16

The income tax of plaintiff for said fiscal year was de-

termined as follows:

Net income— • $2,350,425.78

Less

:

Interest on United States

obligations not exempt— $143,352.56

Profits tax— 525,320.16— 668,672.72

Amount taxable at 10%— $1,681,753.06

Income tax at 10%— $ 168,175.31

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

As a conclusion of law from the foregoing facts, the

Court determines that the Commissioner of Internal

Revenue erred in failing and refusing to allow to plaintiff

deductions on its income tax return for the fiscal year
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ended May 31, 1921, in the amount of $12,000.00 for fur-

ther depletion; in the amount of $6,604.41 for further

depreciation on wells; and in the amount of $41,553.05

for income taxes accrued and paid to the Government of

Great Britain, and in levying tax assessments on the basis

of net income computed without the allowance of said

deductions.

The Court determines that the defendant Galen H.

Welch, erroneously and illegally collected from plaintiff

the sum of $25,782.58, and that the plaintiff is entitled

to recover from defendant the sum of $25,782.58, together

with interest thereon at the rate of six per cent from

March 11, 1929, as provided by law.

That the plaintiff" is also entitled to costs of suit herein.

That judgment be entered against the defendant ac-

cordingly.

DATED: November 17, 1933.

Geo. Cosgrave

United States District Judge.

Approved as to form according to Rule 44

Eugene Harpole

Special Attorney,

Bureau of Internal Revenue.

[Endorsed] : Filed Xov. 17, 1933 R. S. Zimmerman,

Clerk, By Francis E. Cross, Deputy Clerk.
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE UNITED
STATES IN AND FOR THE SOUTHERN

DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

CENTRAL DIVISION

THE ST. HELENS PETROLEUM
CO. LTD., a Corporation,

Plaintiff,

vs.

GALEN H. WELCH, Collector of In-

ternal Revenue for the Sixth Collection

District of CaHfornia,

Defendant.

No. 4252-C

JUDGMENT ON FINDINGS.

The above case came on regularly for trial on the 28th

day of April, 1931, before the Court, sitting without a

jury, a trial by jury having been waived by written stipu-

lation of the parties thereto; plaintiff appearing by Joseph

D. Peeler and Melvin D. Wilson, Esqs., and Miller,

Chevalier, Peeler & Wilson, its attorneys, and the de-

fendant appearing by Samuel W. McNabb, Esq., United

States Attorney for the Southern District of California,

Ignatius F. Parker, Esq., Assistant United States Attor-

ney for said District, C. M. Charest, Esq., General
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Counsel, Bureau of Internal Revenue, and Richard W.

Wilson, Esq., Special Attorney, Bureau of Internal

Revenue: and the trial having proceeded, and oral and

documentary evidence on behalf of the respective parties

having been submitted to the Court for consideration and

decision, and the Court, after due deliberation, having ren-

dered its decision and tiled its findings and ordered that

judgment be entered in favor of plaintiff in accordance

with said findings;

NOW, THEREFORE, by virtue of the law, and by

reason of the findings afor^aid, it is considered by the

Court that the plaintiff* have judgment in the amount of

$25,782.58, together with interest at the rate of 6 per

cent from March 11, 1929, as provided by law, with costs

taxed at S20.00.

Judgment rendered this 17th day of November, 1933.

Geo. Cosgrave

United States District Judge.

CERTIFICATE OF PROBABLE CAUSE.

The Court certifies that the defendant, Galen H. Welch,

as Collector of Internal Revenue, exacted and received

payment of the monies recovered herein in the perform-

ance of his offfcial duty, and that there was probable cause

for the act done by the defendant, and that he was acting
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under the directions of the Secretary of the Treasury,

or other proper officer of the Government.

Geo. Cosgrave,

United States District Judge.

Approved as to form as required by Rule 44.

Peirson M. Hall

P/erson M. Hall, E. H.

United States Attorney.

Alva C. Baird

Alva C. Baird, E. H.

Assistant United States

Attorney.

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT.

Joseph D. Peeler

Joseph D. Peeler,

ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF.

JUDGMENT ENTERED NOVEMBER 17th, 1933

R. S. ZIMMERMAN, Clerk,

By Francis E. Cross,

Deputy Clerk.

[Endorsed] : Filed Nov. 17, 1933 R. S. Zimmerman

Clerk, By Francis E. Cross, Deputy Clerk.
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE UNITED
STATES IN AND FOR THE SOUTHERN

DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

CENTRAL DIVISION

THE ST. HELENS PETROLEUM
COMPANY, LTD., a Corporation,

Plaintiff,

vs. and Appellee,

GALEN H. WELCH, Collector of In-

ternal Revenue for the Sixth Collection

District of California,

Defendant and

Appellant.

No. 4252-C

BILL OF EXCEPTIONS

Be it remembered that heretofore to-wit, on the 28th

day of April, 1931, the above-entitled cause came on

regularly for trial at Los Angeles, California, upon the

issues joined herein before his Honor, George Cosgrave,

sitting as Judge of the above-entitled Court, without a

jury, a jury having been duly waived by the parties by

written Stipulation as follows:
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"IT IS HEREBY STIPULATED by and between

counsel for the respective parties that trial by jury in

the above case is expressly waived.

''Dated: This 8th day of April, 1931.

MILLER, CHEVALIER, PEELER & WILSON

BY JOSEPH D. PEELER

Joseph D. Peeler

Attorneys for Plaintiff,

Samuel W. McNabb

Samuel W. McNabb,

United States Attorney,

Ignatius F. Parker,

Ignatius F. Parker,

Assistant U. S. Attorney,

Attorneys for Defendant"

Messrs. Miller, Chevalier, Peeler & Wilson by Joseph

D. Peeler, Esq. appeared for plaintiff, and the defendant

appeared by Samuel W. McNabb, United States Attorney

for the Southern District of California, Ignatius F.

Parker and Louis Somers, Assistant United States At-

torneys for said District, and Richard W. Wilson, Special

Attorney, Bureau of Internal Revenue, and the parties

introduced in evidence a Stipulation as to certain facts

which had been agreed upon by both parties, which Stipu-

lation (omitting the Exhibits therein referred to) is as

follows

:
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE UNITED
STATS IN AND FOR THE SOUTHERN

DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA,
CENTRAL DIVISION.

THE ST. HELENS PETROLEUM
CO. LTD., a Corporation,

Plaintiff,

—V—

GALEN H. WELCH, Collector of In-

ternal Revenue for the Sixth Collection

District of California,

Defendant.

No. 4252-C.

STIPULATION OF FACTS.

It is hereby stipulated and agreed by the parties plain-

tiff and defendant, in this action, by their respective coun-

sel, that the following statements of fact are true and cor-

rect, and shall be accepted and used as agreed evidence in

this case, provided, however, that nothing herein shall

prevent either party from introducing other and further

evidence, not inconsistent herewith.

I.

That the plaintiff. The St. Helens Petroleum Company,

Ltd. is and was at all times hereinafter mentioned, a cor-

poration organized under the laws of Great Britain, and

having its principal office and place of business at Los

Anegeles, California.
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II.

That the plaintiff filed with Rex B. Goodcell, the then

Collector of Internal Revenue for the Sixth Collection

District of California, its original and amended corpora-

tion income tax returns for the fiscal year ended May 31,

1921, on, to-wit, August 15, 1921, November 24, 1922,

October 22, 1923, and November 14, 1923.

III.

That the plaintiff paid to said Rex B. Goodcell, as Col-

lector of Internal Revenue, the taxes shown to be due on

said returns, in the total amount of $418,292.95.

IV.

That thereafter, the plaintiff paid to the defendant,

Galen H. Welch, as Collector of Internal Revenue, upon

demand, an additional tax of $275,202.52 on account of

said income tax returns for the fiscal year ended May 31,

1921, together with interest in the amount of $116,454.01,

or a total of $391,656.53. That said payments were made

by a credit in the amount of $361,872.74 on January 22,

1929, and by $29,783.79 in cash on March 11, 1929.

V.

That on May 3, 1930, plaintiff filed with the Commis-

sioner of Internal Revenue a claim for refund of taxes

paid for the fiscal year ended May 31, 1921, in the man-

ner and form shown by photostatic copy herewith, marked

Exhibit No. 4.

VI.

That the Commissioner of Internal Revenue has failed

to take any action with respect to said claim for refund;

that more than six months elapsed from the date said
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claim was filed before this proceeding was commenced,

and that the taxes covered by said claim for refund and

this proceeding were paid within five years before this

proceeding was begun.

VII.

That plaintiff is entitled to a further deduction for oil

depletion in the amount of $12,000.00 for the fiscal year

ended May 31, 1921.

VIII.

That plaintiff is entitled to a further deduction for de-

preciation on wells, with respect to the Nutt Lease, in the

amount of $12,022.93, for the fiscal year ended ]\Iay 31,

1921.

IX.

That during the fiscal year ended May 31, 1921, plain-

tiff accrued and paid to the Government of Great Britain,

an income tax in the amount of £11,258-14 Sterling,

which, at the rate of $3.70 was the equivalent of $41,-

657.19 in United States currency. That the income of

plaintiff from sources within the United States during the

fiscal year ended May 31, 1922, was 99.75 per centum

of the total net income of plaintiff from all sources during

said year. Plaintiff' contends, and defendant denies, that

plaintiff is entitled to a deduction, in determining its tax-

able net income, of the income taxes so accrued and paid

to the Government of Great Britain; but it is agreed that

if said taxes are deductible, the amount of said deduction

for the fiscal year ended May 31, 1921, is $41,553.05.

It is also stipulatd that plaintiff deducted from the divi-

dends paid by it to its stockholders during said fiscal year

an amount of at least $41,553.05, on account of said Brit-

ish income taxes.
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X.

That the Commissioner of Internal Revenue has allowed

no deduction on account of said British income taxes for

the fiscal year ended May 31, 1921, and that no refund

has been made to plaintiff of any taxes paid by it on its

Federal income tax return for said fiscal year.

Joseph D. Peeler

Miller, Chevalier, Peeler & Wilson

Counsel for Plaintiff.

Samuel W. McNabb

SAMUEL W. McNABB,

United States Attorney.

Ignatius F. Parker

IGNATIUS F. PARKER,
Assistant United States At-

torney.

C. M. CHAREST,
General Counsel, Bureau of In-

ternal Revenue.

Richard W. Wilson

Richard W. Wilson,

Special Attorney, Bureau of

Internal Revenue.

Approved

:

United States District Judge.

[Endorsed] : Filed Apr. 28, 1931 R. S. Zimmerman,

Clerk By Francis E. Cross, Deputy Clerk.
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(Testimony of A. P. McEachren)

A. P. McEACHREN,

a witness called on behalf of the plaintiff, being first duly

sworn, testified as follows:

I am local secretary for the Kern River Oilfields of

California, Ltd. and the St. Helens Petroleum Co. Ltd.

My duties are those of office manager and chief account-

ant. The books of these companies have been handled un-

der my direct supervision from July 1919 to date. I am

familiar with the oil lease called the Nutt Well No. 1. It

comprises 20 acres located in the Montebello Field and was

acquired on May 8, 1919. The capital expenditure on

the one well that was drilled on that property from the

date of acquisition to June 1, 1920, amounted to $66,-

132.15. They were capital additions and not included in

the revenue. They were depreciable assets. In auditing

the returns of the St. Helens Petroleum Company for

the fiscal year ended May 31, 1921, and 1922, respectively,

the Government failed to allow a depreciation on account

of those sums totaling $66,132.15, owiug to inadvertence

or error on the part of the Internal Revenue Agent, ap-

parently, he overlooked the capital expenditures to Nutt

Well No. 1 to May 31, 1920. He allowed depreciation

to the capital additions from July 1, 1920. The period

from June 1 to May 31st was a fiscal year adopted by

the corporation. The figures I have given are from the

books of the St. Helens Petroleum Co., Ltd. and are true

and correct to the best of my knowledge and belief.

Counsel for the respective parties thereupon entered into

the following Stipulation in open Court:
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''MR. PEELER: There is just one thing I overlooked,

and should have stated. This involves British cases and

British law, and by agreement, we have not attempted to

put into evidence the British law or the British cases. I

don't know whether the court will take judicial notice of

them automatically or not, but we would like to stipulate

that the court may take judicial notice of the British law

incorporated in the briefs of counsel.

"AIR. WILSON: That is agreeable to the Govern-

ment, your Honor.

"THE COURT: Very well"

Pursuant to said Stipulation made in open Court, the

plaintiff in its opening Brief cited the following British

cases and British law:

Act of 1842, Section 54.

British Income Tax 1918, Schedule D, Par. 359.

British Income Tax 1918, Schedule D, Par. 394.

General Rules, Paragraph 420,

General Rules, Paragraph 439,

Law of Income Tax, E. M. Konstam, K. C, 1923.

Bradbury v. English Sewing Cotton Company, Ltd.,

(1922) 2 K. B. 589.

Commissioners of Inland Revenue v. John Blott

(H. L. 1921) 2 A. C 171.

Gold Fields American Development Company, Ltd.

v. Consolidated Gold Fields of South Africa,

Ltd., 135 The Law Times 14 (1926).

Rex V. Purdie (1914) 3 K. B. 112, 111 Times Law

Reports 531.

Sheldrick v. South African Breweries, Ltd. (1923)

1 K. B. 173, at 191.
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Defendant cited British cases and British law as fol-

lows in his Brief:

Ashton Gas Company v. Attorney General (1906)

75 L. J. Ch. 1, 93 L. T. 676.

Bart, Sir Marcus Samuel, v. The Commissioner of

Inland Revenue. 34 T. L. R.. 552 {\'o\. 7, Great

Britain Tax Cases, p. 27)

Brooke v. Commissioners of Inland Revenue (7 T.

C. 261) (1918) 1 K. B. p. 257.

Commissioners of Inland Revenue v. John Blott

(H. L. 1921) 2 A. C. 171.

IMylam (Surveyor of Taxes) v. The Market Har-

borough Advertiser Company, Ltd., 21 T. L. R.

201, Great Britain Tax Cases. \'ol. 5. p. 95.

Scottish Union and Xational Insurance Company

V. Xew Zealand and Australian Land Company

(1921), 1 App. Cas. 172.

Sheldrick v. South African Breweries, Ltd. (^1923),

1 K. B. 173^

"Income Tax", F. G. L'nderhay.

'"The Law of Income Tax' '. Second Edition. E. ^I.

Konstam, K. C.

Report of Commissioner of Inland Revenue for

the fiscal year ended ^larch 31. 1922.

"Taxation of Business in Great Britain", Depart-

ment of Commerce, Trade Promotion Series, No.

60, p. 65.

Great Britain:

Income Tax Act 1918 and Finance Acts 1919 to

1925, inc.
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Schedule D, paragraph 359,

Schedule D, paragraph 394.

Section 237, Act of 1918.

General Rules, paragraph 420.

General Rules, paragraph 439.

General Rules, paragraph 442.

In its Reply Brief, plaintiff cited British law and British

cases as follows:

Konstam, Income Tax, pp. 19 and 20.

Ashton Gas Company v. Attorney General, 75 L.

J. Ch. 1.

Bradbury v. English Sewing Cotton Co., Ltd., 2

K. B. 589.

Commissioners v. Blott, 2 A. C. 171.

Gold Fields American Development Company, Ltd.

V. Consolidated Gold Fields of South Africa,

Ltd., 135 The Law Times 14.

Ritson V. Phillips, 131 L. T. 384; 9 Tax Cas. 10.

Thereupon the respective parties having rested, plaintiff,

by its counsel, moved for judgment on the record and

asked for special findings of fact, and the defendant, by

his counsel, moved for judgment for the defendant on the

oral and documentary evidence introduced. The Court

reserved its ruling on said motions until the final decision

of the case.

Briefs were filed and the cause submitted for decision.

Thereafter and on the 21st day of September, 1933, the

Court made the following Minute Order
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At a stated term, to wit: The SEPTEMBER Term,

A. D. 1933, of the District Court of the United States

of America, within and for the CENTRAL Division of

the Southern District of California, held at the Court

Room thereof, in the City of LOS ANGELES on

THURSDAY the 21st day of SEPTEMBER in the year

of our Lord one thousand nine hundred and thirty-three.

Present

:

The Honorable GEO. COSGRAVE, District Judge.

THE ST. HELENS PE-

TROLEUM COMPANY,

LTD., a corporation,

Plaintiff,

vs.

GALEN H. WELCH, Col-

lector of Internal Revenue,

Defendant.

THE ST. HELENS PE-

TROLEUM COMPANY,

LTD., a corporation.

Plaintiff,

vs.

REX B. GOODCELL, Col-

lector of Internal Revenue.

Nos. 4252

4255

Nos. 4258-H

4045-H (Dismissed)
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Nos. 4253-M

4256-M

4257-J Law

KERN RIVER OILFIELDS

OF CALIFORNIA, LTD.,

a corporation,

Plaintiff,

vs.

REX B. GOODCELL, Col-

lector of Internal Revenue,

Defendant.

KERN RIVER OILFIELDS

OF CALIFORNIA, LTD.,

a corporation.

Plaintiff,

vs.

GALEN H. WELCH, Col-

lector of Internal Revenue,

Defendant.

These consolidated causes having under date of April

28, 1931 come before the Court for hearing, and having

been ordered submitted on Stipulation of Facts filed and

briefs to be filed, and briefs having been filed, and the

Court having duly considered the matter, it is now by the

Court ordered

"The question presented in this case is whether, in com-

puting its net taxable income, a foreign corporation is en-

No. 4254-JLaw



39

titled to deduct income taxes paid a foreign country when

such taxes so paid were, as permitted by the laws of the

foreign country, deducted from dividends paid to its stock-

holders. The Revenue Act applicable to the years in-

volved in clear language allows such deduction, but the

government maintains that since the corporation is em-

powered to deduct from the dividends payable to its stock-

holders the amount of such tax, it does not come within

the meaning of the Revenue Act.

*'I think the position of the government is not well-

founded. The foreign corporation in the express lan-

guage of the Revenue Act is entitled to a deduction of

such payments and I regard as entirely incidental the cir-

cumstance that under the laws of the foreign country the

corporation is entitled to credit to the tax so paid when

it comes to paying dividends to its shareholders. The in-

statutG

terpretion sought by the government would change a / pro-

vision of a statute in which there is no ambiguity what-

ever. This may not be done. (Gould v. Gould, 245 U.

S. 151).

"Judgment is therefore ordered in favor of the plaintiffs

with exception to defendant."

Pursuant to a Motion to re-open the case for the ad-

mission of additional evidence, and the Order of the Court

made on said Motion, the following Stipulation of Addi-

tional Facts was submitted to the Court
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IX THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE UXITE"D

STATES FOR THE SOUTHERN
DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

CENTRAL DIVISION

ST. HELENS PETROLEU:\I COM-

PANY, LTD., a corporation,

Plaintiff,

vs.

GALEN H. WELCH, Collector of In-

ternal Revenue,

Defendant

ST. HELENS PETROLEUM C0:M-

PANY, LTD., a corporation,

Plaintiff",

vs.

GALEN H. \\'ELCH, Collector of In-

ternal Revenue,

Defendant.

ST. HELENS PETROLEU:\I COM-
PANY, LTD., a corporation,

Plaintiff,

vs.

REX B. GOODCELL, Collector of In-

ternal Revenue,

Defendant.

No. 4252

No. 4255

No. 4258
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STIPULATION OF ADDITIONAL

FACTS

IT IS HEREBY STIPULATED AND AGREED

by the parties, plaintiff and defendant in these actions,

by their respective counsel, that the following statements

of fact are true and correct and shall be accepted and

used as agreed evidence in these cases, in addition to the

evidence heretofore presented to the Court.

I.

On N'ovember 7, 1928, the Commissioner of Internal

Revenue issued a letter to the St. Helens Petroleum Com-

pany, Ltd.. setting forth his final determination of its tax

liability for the fiscal years ended ^lay 31, 1917 to 3*Iay

31, 1922, inclusive. A copy of said letter of November 7,

1928, is attached hereto, marked Exhibit A.

IL

It is stipulated that said letter of November 7, 1928,

sets forth the final determinations by the Commissioner of

Internal Revenue, of the net income, income tax, and

profits tax of the St. Helens Petroleum Company, Ltd., for

the fiscal years ended ^lay 31, 1921 and 1922, respectively,

as well as the method and figures used in said determina-

tions.

L
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III.

Nothing in this stipulation of facts is to be construed

as an admission by the plaintiff that said determinations

and computations of the net income, income tax or profits

tax by the Commissioner of Internal Revenue, for either

of the fiscal years ended May 31, 1921 and ]\Iay 31, 1922,

respectively, are correct, insofar as they are inconsistent

with the stipulation of facts heretofore introduced in these

actions.

JOSEPH D. PEELER

Joseph D. Peeler,

ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF

PEIRSON M HALL
Peirson M. Hall, E. H.

U. S. Attorney

AL\^\ C. BAIRD
Alva C. Baird, E. H.

Assistant U. S. Attorney

EUGENE HARPOLE
Eugene Harpole,

Special Attorney,

Bureau of Internal Revenue

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS

[Endorsed] : Filed Nov. 6, 1933 R. S. Zimmerman,

Clerk, By Francis E. Cross, Deputy Clerk.
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Copy

TRE-\SURY DEP-\RT]y![EXT

Washington

Office of

Comrmsgoner of Internal Rerenoe,

Address Reply to

Com iiiissicmer of Internal Rerenne

And refer to

Not. 7, 1928.

St. Helens Petrolemn Company, Ltd.,

1100 Qiapman Bmldiog,

Los Angeles. California.

Sirs;

In accordance with Section 274 of the Revenue Act

of 1926 yon are advised that the determination of 3"Our

tax liability for the fiscal years ended May 31, 1917 to

May 31, 1922, inclusive, discloses a deficiency of S277-

368J'3 for the fiscal years ended May 31, 1921 and May
31, 1922, and overassessments aggregating S412,333.38

for tie fiscal 3-ears ended May 31. 1917 to May 31, 1920,

inclusive as shown in the attached statement.

The section of the law above mentioned allows you to

petition the L'nited States Board of Tax Appeals within

sixty da^'s from the date cf the mailing of this letter

for a redetermination of your tax liability. However, if

you acquiesce in this determination, you are requested to

execute the enclosed Form 866 and forward both orig-

inal and duf)hcate to the Commissioner of Internal Re^--

enue. Washington, D. C, for the attention of IT:C:P-7.

Respectfully,

D. H. BL.\IR,

Commissioner.

By: C B. .Allen

Deputy Commissioner.
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Enclosures:

Statement

Form 866

Form 882

STATEMENT
IT:FAR:SM-60D
LMS-28935-C-28938

A-28936-D-28939

B-28937-E-28940

In re: St. Helens Petroleum Company, Ltd.,

1100 Chapman Building,

Los Angeles, California.

Fiscal Years Ended

:

Deficiency in Tax Overassessment

May 31, 1917 $ 75,862.08

1918 130,653.69

1919 124,526.94

1920 81,290.67

1921 $275,202.52

1922 2,166.21

Totals $277,368.73 $412,333.38

Reference is made to your protest dated November 26,

1926, against the findings of the Bureau relative to the

audit of your income and profits tax returns for the fiscal

years ended May 31, 1917 to May 31, 1922, inclusive, as

set forth in Bureau letter dated November 12, 1926.

After a careful examination and review of your pro-

test and of the additional information submitted in con-

ference held on January 21, 1927 and subsequent there-

to, you are advised that the Bureau holds that the denial

of your application for the assessment of your excess



45

profits tax for the fiscal year ended May 31, 1917 under

the provisions of Section 210 of the Revenue Act of 1917,

is correct inasmuch as there has been disclosed no excep-

tional hardship evidenced by gross disproportion between

the tax computed without the benefit of Section 210 and

the tax computed by reference to the representative con-

cerns specified in that Section.

Your profits tax liability for the fiscal years ended May

31, 1918 to May 31, 1922, inclusive, has been redeter-

mined under the provisions of Sections 210 and 328 of

the Revenue Acts of 1917, 1918 and 1921, respectively,

based upon the additional information submitted.

The detailed computation of your tax liability for the

fiscal years ended May 31, 1917 to May 31, 1922, in-

clusive, is as follows:

St. Helens Petroleum Company, Ltd. Statement.

Year ended May 31, 1917

Schedule 1

Net Income

Net income shown in Bureau letter dated

November 12, 1926 $ 143,560.83

As corrected 142,543.40

Deduction $ 1,017.43

Deduction

:

(a) Total depreciation allowed $ 106,742.65

Previously allowed 105,725.22

Additional depreciation $ 1,017.43
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Explanation of Item Chang-ed

(a) Depreciation on wells has been adjusted in ac-

cordance with the attached schedule. No change has

been made in depreciation on field equipment as pre-

viously allowed.

Schedule 2

Invested Capital

Capital stock $ 723,862.98

Surplus 1,791.96

Total beginning of year shown by books as

disclosed by Schedule 2, Revenue Agent's

report dated September 30, 1922 $ 725,654.94

Additions

:

(a) Increase in value of

properties $543,384.39

(b) Nonoperating wells 8,547.74

(c) McLeod Lease Suspense 232,052.83

(d) Depreciation reserve 168,094.86

(e) Sale of capital stock 119,774.54

(f) Unpaid dividends 2,371.48

Total additions 1,074,225.84

Total $1,799,880.78
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St. Helens Petroleum Company, Ltd. Statement.

Forward $1,799,880.78

Reductions :

(g) Storm loss $ 9,337.84

(h) Depletion 245,160.57

(i) Impounded cash, Mc-

Leod Lease 295,712.73

(j) Accrued British In-

come Tax 46,976.95

(k) Income tax prorated 2,145.49

(1) Dividends 140,931.61

Total reductions 740,265.19

Invested capital as corrected $1,059,615.59

Explanation of Items

(a) Property values with respect to leaseholds and

wells have been adjusted to conform to the values shown

in the attached schedules. The value allowed for field

equipment is that shown by books. The McLeod Lease

properties have been eliminated for invested capital pur-

poses, since the income from this lease was impounded

and not included in taxable income by reason of a suit

pending against the occupants of the lands on which this

lease was located.
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(b) As adjusted in Schedule 2, Revenue Agent's re-

port dated September 30, 1922.

(c) McLeod Lease items eliminated from liabilities for

reasons given under item (a) above.

(d) Reserve for depreciation decreased to conform

to the attached schedules after elimination of deprecia-

tion on McLeod Lease.

(e) Sale of capital stock January 24, 1917 $337,546.44

Average for 4-8/31 months $119,774.54

(f) -Unpaid dividends as at May 31, 1916, reduced to

the amount shown in protest dated March 1, 1927.

(g) Storm loss is eliminated from invested capital

since the loss occurred prior to the taxable year and is

carried on the books as a deferred expense.

(h) Reserve for depletion is adjusted to conform to

the attached depletion schedule.

St. Helens Petroleum Company, Ltd. Statement.

(i) Impounded cash of McLeod Lease eliminated for

reasons given under item (a).

(j) Accrued British income taxes, liability for which

was not set up on books.

(k) Preceding year's income tax $3,881.28 prorated.

(1) Inasmuch as date of payment of dividend has not

been furnished the total amount is eliminated from in-

vested capital as of the beginning of the taxable year.
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Schedule 3

Computation of Tax

Excess Profits Tax

Net income, Schedule 1 $ 142,543.40

Invested capital, Schedule 2 $1,059,615.59

Less

:

.00547% account of foreign

income 5,796.10

Invested capital employed in the United

States $1,053,819.49

Deduction

:

8% of invested capital $ 84,305.56

Income Deductions Balance Rate Tax

$142,543.40 $84,305.56 $58,237.84 20% $11,647.57

Profits tax - $11,647.57 reduced to 5/12 $ 4,853.15

Income Tax

Net income $142,543.40

Less:

Excess profits tax 4,853.15

Taxable at 2% $137,690.25 2,753.81

I
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St. Helens Petroleum Company, Ltd. Statement.

Amounts brought forward $ 4,853.15

2,753.81

5/12 of net income $58,393.08

Less

:

Excess profits tax 4,853.15

Taxable at 4% 2,181.60

Total tax $ 9,788.56

Previously assessed:

Original tax assessed, August 1917, Page 2,

Line 21 $ 2,054.03

Assessed September 1917, Page 3, Line 29 1,326.41

Assessed May 1918, Page 366, Line 9 5,264.04

Assessed January 1921, Account #400001 8,178.67

Assessed August 1922, Account #400221 70,881.52

Total $87,704.67

Less:

Tax abated - C - 146614 2,054.03

Balance tax assessed $85,650.64

Tax liability 9,788.56

Overassessment $75,862.08
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Fiscal year May 31, 1918

Schedule 4

Net Income

Net income shown in Bureau letter dated

November 12, 1926

As corrected

Deductions

St. Helens Petroleum Company, Ltd.

Deductions

:

(a) Depreciation $1,038.18

(b) Depletion 602.49

$175,038.50

173,397.83

$ 1,640.67

Statement.

Total deductions $ 1,640.67

Explanation of Items Changed

(a) The basis of this adjustment is set forth in

Schedule 1(a) herein.

Total depreciation allowed $106,076.54

Previously allowed 105,038.36

Additional depreciation $ 1,038.18

(b) Depletion is allowed in accordance with the at-

tached schedules. The total allowance for the taxable

year is based on the 1917 and 1918 law and regulations

proportioned to the proper periods included in the taxable

year.
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Depletion under 1917 law $ 95,29671

7/12 for fiscal year $ 55,589.75

Depletion under 1918 law 117,568.12

5/12 for fiscal year 48,986.72

Total allowed $104,576.47

Depletion previously allowed 103,973.98

Additional depletion $ 602.49

Schedule 5

Computation of Tax - 1917 Law

Net income. Schedule 4 $173,397.83

Less

:

Profits tax, Section 210 10,820.02 $ 10,820.02

Amount taxable at 2% and 4% $162,577.81

Tax at 2% 3,251.56

Tax at 4% 6,503.11

Total tax under 1917 law $ 20,574.69

St. Helens Petroleum Company, Ltd. Statement.

Schedule 6

Computation of Tax - 1918 Law

Net income. Schedule 4 $173,397.83

Less:

Profits tax. Section 328 42,465.13 $ 42,465.13

Amount taxable at 12% $130,932.70 15,711.92

Total tax under 1918 law $ 58,177.05
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SUMMARY
7/12 of tax under 1917 law $ 12,001.90

5/12 of tax under 1918 law 24,240.44

Total tax for fiscal year ended May 31, 1918 $ 36,242.34

Taxes previously assessed:

August 1918 List, Page 16, Line 11 $ 22,932.60

Account #400222 143,963.43

Total tax assessed $166,896.03

Less

:

Total tax liability 36,242.34

Overassessment $130,653.69

Year ended May 31, 1919

Schedule 7

Net income shown in Bureau letter dated

November 12, 1926 $ 63,007.49

As corrected 62,107.06

Deduction $ 900.43

St. Helens Petroleum Company, Ltd. Statement.

Deductions

:

(a) Depreciation on wells $67,571.76

Depreciation on equipment 18,692.24

Total allowed $86,264.00

Previously allowed 85,363.57

Additional depreciation $ 900.43

(a) The basis of this adjustment is explained in

Schedule 1(a) herein.
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Schedule 8

Computation of Tax

Net income, Schedule 7 $62,107.06

Less:

Profits tax, Section 328 None

Amount taxable at 12% and 10" $ 62,107.06

Tax at 12% (1918 rate) $ 7,452.85

Tax at 10% (1919 rate) 6,210.71

Summary of Taxes

7/12 of tax at 1918 rate $ 4,347.49

5/12 of tax at 1919 rate 2,587.79

Total tax liability for fiscal year ended

May 31, 1919 $ 6,935.28

Tax previously assessed:

Account #400141 $106,850.14

Account #40122 3,897.74

Account #400081 20,714.34

Total tax assessed $131,462.22

Less:

Total tax liability 6,935.28

Overassessment $124,526.94
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St. Helens Petroleum Company, Ltd. Statement.

Year ended May 31, 1920

Schedule 9

Net income as shown in Bureau letter dated

November 12, 1926 $ 49,316.67

As corrected 49,599.34

Additions $ 282.67

Additions

:

••

(a) Depreciation

(b) Depletion

Explanation of Items Changed

(a) Explained in Schedule 1(a) herein.

Depreciation on wells $70,545.04

Depreciation on equipment 25,740.16

Total allowed $ 96,285.20

Previously allowed 96,517.87

Amount disallowed $ 232.67

(b) Depletion is allowed in accordance with the at-

tached schedules.

Depletion previously allowed $61 , 144.03

Total allowable 61,094.03

Amount disallowed $ 50.00
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Schedule 10

Computation of Tax

Net income $49,599.34

Less:

Profits tax, Section 328 None

Amount taxable at 10% $ 49,599.34

St. Helens Petroleum Company, Ltd. Statement.

Total tax liability (10% of $49,599.34) $ 4,959.93

Total tax assessed:

Account #400020 $ 4,865.10

Account #400140 81,385.50

Total tax assessed
. ,

$86,250.60

Less:

Total tax liability
• 4,959.93

Overassessment $81,290.67

Year ended May 31, 1921

Schedule 11

Net income as shown in Bureau letter

dated November 12, 1926 $2,705,115.12

As corrected 2,350,425.78

Net adjustment $ 354,689.34
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Additions

:

(a) Impounded funds $48,790.97

(b) Increase in profit on

sale of McLeod Lease 23,001.57

Total additions $71,792.54

Deductions

:

(c) Deprecia-

tion $ 64,200.02

(d) Depletion 300,770.68

(e) California

audit fee 1,110.00

(f) McLeod

Lease ex-

cess profits

duty 29,529.70

(g) British cor-

poration

profits

taxes 23,695.53

(h) London of-

fice expense 7,166.95

Total deductions 426,481.88

Net adjustment as above $ 354,689.34
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St. Helens Petroleum Company, Ltd. Statement.

Explanation of Items Changed

(a) The net income on McLeod Lease impounded funds

is revised as follows:

Impounded income as shown on page 7

of office letter dated November 11,

1926 $1,707,992.83

Add:

Depreciation on wells and equipment 66,031.98

1,774,024.81

Deduct

:

Difference in value of Liberty Bonds

entered on books and the value at

date of release of impounded

funds as shown in schedules trans-

mitted with letter from your rep-

resentatives dated March 1, 1927

Inmpounded income as corrected

As previously determined

Increase

17,241,01

$1,756,783.80

1,707,992.83

$ 48,790.97

(b) The increased profit on sale of McLeod Lease is

determined as follows:

Payments received in year of sale $1,070,000.00

Depletion sustained on cost as shown in

attached schedules 25,949.37

Depreciation sustained 72,153.54
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Cost or value at basic date $ 20,000.00

Cost of subsequent addi-

tions :

Legal expenses in 1921 91,880.23

Bonus plus interest, 1921 11,578.00

Cost of equipment and labor 95 ,677. 5

1

Profit on sale for fiscal

year 1921 948,967.17

$1,168,102.91 $1,168,102.91

Profit on sale as above $ 948,967.17

As previously determined 925,965.60

Increase $ 23,001.57

St. Helens Petroleum Company, Ltd. Statement.

(c) The basis of this adjustment is explained in

Schedule 1(a) herein. Accumulated depreciation sus-

tained on McLeod Lease wells and equipment is included

in the total depreciation allowed.

Depreciation allowed on wells $ 184,271.72

Depreciation allowed on field equipment 42,050.82

Total allowed $ 226,322.54

Previously allowed $ 162,122.52

Additional depreciation $ 64,200.02
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(d) Explained in Schedule 9(b) herein.

Total depletion allowed $ 612,925.17

Previously allowed 312,145.49

Additional depletion $ 300,779.68

(e) (f) (g-) and (h) These adjustments are based on

the additional information furnished by your representa-

tives under dates of January 17, 1927 and March 1, 1927.

Schedule 12

Computation of Tax

Profits tax, Section 328 (1920 rates) $568,803.04

Profits tax, Section 328 (1921 rates) 464,444.13

7/12 of $568,803.04 $331,801.77

5/12 of $464,444.13 193,518.39

Total profits tax for fiscal year ended May

31, 1921, Section 328 $525,320.16

Net income $2,350,425.78

Less:

Interest on

United States

Obligations

not exempt $143,352.56

Profits tax 525,320.16 668,672.72

Amount taxable at 10% $1,681,753.06 $168,175.31

Total tax liability $693,495.47
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St. Helens Petroleum Company, Ltd. Statement.

Forward $693,495.47

Less taxes previously assessed:

Account #401796 $ 32,928.24

Account #400080 18,546.31

Account #400080 21,702.09

Account #400041 345,116.31 418,292.95

Deficiency ^ $275,202.52

Year ended May 31, 1922

Schedule 13

Net income as shown in Bureau

letter dated November 12, 1926 $264,473.36

As corrected 245,913.17

Net adjustment $ 18,560.19

Additions:

(a) Depreciation . $ 11,547.06

Deductions:

(b) London office" expense and

British corporation profits tax 30,107.25

I

Net deduction as above $ 18,560.19

Explanation of Items Changed

(a) Explained in Schedule 1(a) herein.

Depreciation on wells $131,233.37

Depreciation on equipment 46,890.24

Total allowed . $178,123.61
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Previously allowed 189,670.67

Amount disallowed $ 11,547.06

(b) This adjustment is based on the information sub-

mitted by your representatives in supplemental protest

dated January 17, 1927.

St. Helens Petroleum Company, Ltd. Statement.

Schedule 14

Computation of Tax

1921 Rates

Net income $245,913.17

Less:

Profits tax. Section 328 26,779.94 $ 26,779.94

Amount taxable at 10% $219,133.23 21,913.32

Total tax at 1921 rates $ 48,693.26

1922 Rate

Net income $245,913.17

Tax on above at 12>^% $ 30,739.15

Summary of Taxes

7/12 of tax at 1921 rates

($48,693.26) $ 28,404.40

5/12 of tax at 1922 rates

(30,739.15) 12,807.98

Total tax liability for fiscal year $ 41,212.38
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Less taxes previously assessed:

Account #402133 $ 15,273.16

Account #400040 22,930.61

Account #400101 842.40

Deficiency

39,046.17

$ 2,166.21

In accordance with the above conclusions, the claims

listed below will be adjusted as indicated in the following

schedule

:

St. Helens Petroleum Company, Ltd. Statement.

Kind Year Amount Allowed Rejected

Refund 1917 $49,282.73 $49,282.73

Refund 1917 35,000.00 26,579.35 $ 8,420.65

Refund 1917 10,000.00 10,000.00

Refund 1918 10,000.00 91,345.88

Credit 1918 35,964.57 35,964.57

Refund 1919 10,000.00 121,692.73

Allowed

Credit 1916-1918-1920 8,054.21-1918 portion $3,343.24

1919 " 2,834.21

1920 " 1,753.62

RejectedI

1916 portion 123.14

Allowed Rejected

Credit & Refund 1920 6,537.23 19,537.05

Refund 1920 10,000.00 10,000.00

Refund 1920 50,000.00 50,000.00

Refund 1921 50,000.00 50,000.00

Refund 1921 15,000.00 15,000.00

Refund 1922 7,500.00 7,500.00

Credit 1922 10,631.87 10,631.87
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The overassessments indicated above will be made the

subject of Certificates of Overassessment which will reach

you in due course through the office of the Collector of

Internal Revenue for your district and will be applied by

that official in accordance with section 284(a) of the

Revenue Act of 1926.

The Collector of Internal Revenue will also be notified

of the above rejections.

Payment should not be made until a bill is received

from the Collector of Internal Revenue for your district

and remittance should then be made to him.

A copy of this letter has been furnished your authorized

representatives, Miller and Chevalier, Southern Building,

Washington, D. C.

St. Helens Petroleum Company, Ltd. Statement.

The right of appeal to the United States Board of Tax

Appeals as indicated on page one of this letter appHed

only to those years in which there is a deficiency in tax

as defined by Section 273 of the Revenue Act of 1926.

On the 17th day of November, 1933, defendant filed a

Motion for Arrest of Judgment, which said Motion, omit-

ting the Memorandum of Points and Authorities thereto

attached, is as follows:
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE UNITED

STATES IN AND FOR THE SOUTHERN

DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

CENTRAL DIVISION

ST. HELENS PETROLEUM COM-
PANY, LTD., a corporation,

Plaintiff,

vs.

GALEN H. WELCH, Collector of In-

ternal Revenue for the Sixth Collection

District of California,

Defendant.

NO. 4252-C

MOTION
FOR

ARREST OF
JUDGMENT.

Now on this 10th day of November, 1933, comes Galen

H. Welch, defendant in the above-entitled cause, by his

attorneys, Peirson M. Hall, United States Attorney for

the Southern District of California, Alva C. Baird, As-

sistant United States Attorney for said District, and Eu-

gene Harpole, Special Attorney, Bureau of Internal Rev-

enue, and moves that judgment in the above-entitled cause

be arrested, as to him, upon the following grounds and for

the following reasons:
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1. That no substantial or sufficient evidence has been

introduced in the case upon which to base a judgment for

the plaintiff.

2. That this Court has no jurisdiction of the subject

matter of this action, the tax having been assessed under

the "special assessment" provisions of Sections 327 and 328

of the Revenue Acts of 1918 and 1921. (40 Stat, 1092,

1093).

Dated: This 10th day of November, 1933.

Peirson M. Hall

PEIRSON M. HALL,

U. S. Attorney, E. H.

Alva C. Baird

ALVA C. BAIRD,

Asst. U. S. Attorney, E. H.

Eugene Harpole,

EUGENE HARPOLE,

Special Attorney, Bureau of Internal Revenue,

Attorneys for Defendant.

[Endorsed] : Filed Nov. 14, 1933 R. S. Zimmerman,

Clerk By L. Wayne Thomas, Deputy Clerk.

Subsequently and on the 17th day of November, 1933,

the Court entered the following Minute Order of its action

upon said Motion for Arrest of Judgment.
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No. 4252-C-Law

At a stated term, to wit: The SEPTEMBER Term,

A. D. 1933, of the District Court of the United States of

America, within and for the CENTRAL Division of the

Southern District of California, held at the Coiu~t Room

thereof, in the Cit>' of LOS AXGELES on FRIDAY the

17th day of XO\'EMBER in the year of our Lord one

thousand nine hundred and thirty-three.

Present

:

The Honorable GEO. COSGRAVE District Judge.

THE ST. HELEXS PETROLEUM
COMPANY, LTD., a corporation,

PlaintiflF,

vs.

GALEN H. WELCH. Collector, etc..

Defendant.

THE ST. HELENS PETROLEUM
COMPANY. LTD., a corporation,

Plaintiff,

vs.

GALEN H. WELCH. Collector, etc..

Defendant.

THE ST. HELENS PETROLEUM
COMPANY. LTD.. a corporation,

Plaintiff,

vs.

REX B. GOODCELL, Former Col-

lector of Internal Revenue,

Defendant.

Xo. 4255-C-Law.

Xo. 4258-C-Law.
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The Court having duly considered the motion of the

Government for arrest of Judgment, filed on November

14th, 1933, in No. 4252-C, Law; and the motions of the

Government for arrest of judgment, each filed on Novem-

ber 17, 1933, in cases 4255-C and 4258-C, Law, respec-

tively, and having duly considered the Memorandum of

Points and Authorities filed November 16, 1933, in oppo-

sitions to motions for arrest of judgment,

IT IS NOW by the Court ORDERED that the said

three motions in arrest of judgment be, and the same are

hereby denied, and that exceptions be noted for the de-

fendant.

On the said 17th day of November, 1933, the Defendant

filed and presented to the Court the following Request for

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law:
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE UNITED
STATES IN AND FOR THE SOUTHERN

DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

CENTRAL DIVISION

THE ST. HELENS PETROLEUM CO.

LTD., a Corporation,

Plaintiff,

vs.

GALEN H. WELCH. Collector of Inter-

nal Revenue,

Defendant.

NO. 4252-C.

REQUEST FOR FINDINGS OF FACT AND
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Comes now the Defendant above-named, by and through

his attorneys, Peirson M. Hall, United States Attorney

for the Southern District of CaHfornia, Alva C. Baird,

Assistant United States Attorney for said District, and

Eugene Harpole, Special Attorney, Bureau of Internal

Revenue, and hereby requests the Court that in rendering

and making its judgment in the above-entitled cause,

which has been submitted to the Court, said Court make

specific findings of fact and conclusions of law upon the
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issues included in said cause, as set forth in the proposed

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law hereto attached.

Peirson M. Hall

PEIRSON M. HALL, E. H.

U. S. Attorney,

Alva C. Baird

ALVA C. BAIRD, E. H.

Assistant U. S. Attorney,

Eugene Harpole

EUGENE HARPOLE,

Special Attorney, Bureau of Internal Revenue,

Attorneys for Defendant.

Considered and denied Exception noted.

Geo. Cosgrave

Judge.

FINDINGS OF FACT.

I.

That there was no substantial or sufficient evidence pro-

duced on behalf of the plaintiff upon which to support a

Judgment in its favor in the above-entitled action.

XL

The tax involved in this action was assessed under the

provisions of Sections 327 and 328 of the Revenue Acts

of 1918 and 1921 (40 Stat. 1092, 1093).



71

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW.

I.

That there was no substantial or sufficient evidence pro-

duced on behalf of the plaintiff upon which to support a

Judgment in its favor in the above-entitled action.

IL

That this Court has no jurisdiction of the subject mat-

ter of this action, the tax involved having been assessed

under the provisions of Sections 327 and 328 of the Rev-

enue Acts of 1918 and 1921 (40 Stat. 1092, 1093).

IIL

That upon the law, the plaintiff is not entitled to re-

cover any sum whatsoever from the defendant in the

above-entitled cause.

Dated: This day of , 1933.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE.

Approved as to form as provided by Rule 44:

Attorneys for Plaintiff.

[Endorsed] : Filed Nov. 17, 1933. R. S. Zimmer-

man, Clerk. By Francis E. Cross, Deputy Clerk.

Plaintiff presented the following Findings of Fact and

Conclusions of Law^ to the Court on the 17th day of No-

vember, 1933:
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE UNITED
STATES IN AND FOR THE SOUTHERN

DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
CENTRAL DIVISION

THE ST. HELENS PETROLEUM CO.,

LTD., a Corporation,

Plaintiff,

vs.

GALEN H. WELCH, Collector of Inter-

nal Revenue for the Sixth Collection Dis-

trict of California,

Defendant.

No. 4252-C.

SPECIAL FINDINGS OF

FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW.

The above case came on regularly for trial on the 28th

day of April, 1931, before the Court, sitting without a

jury, a trial by jury having been waived by written stipu-

lation of the parties thereto; plaintiff appearing by Joseph

D. Peeler and Melvin D. Wilson, Esqs., and Miller,

Chevalier, Peeler & Wilson, its attorneys, and the defend-

ant appearing by Samuel W. McNabb, Esq., United States

Attorney for the Southern District of California, Ignatius

F. Parker, Esq., Assistant United States Attorney for

said District, C. M. Charest, Esq., General Counsel, Bu-

reau of Internal Revenue, and Richard W. Wilson, Esq.,
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Special Attorney, Bureau of Internal Revenue; and evi-

dence, both oral and documentary, having been received

and the Court having fully considered the same, hereby

makes the following special findings of fact

:

I.

The Court finds that the plaintiff, The St. Helens Pe-

troleum Co. Ltd. is and was at all times hereinafter men-

tioned, a corporation organized under the laws of Great

Britain, and having its principal office and place of busi-

ness at Los Angeles, California.

11.

That the plaintiff filed with Rex B. Goodcell, the then

Collector of Internal Revenue for the Sixth Collection

District of California, its original and amended corpora-

tion income tax returns for the fiscal year ended May

31, 1921, on, to-wit, August 15, 1921, November 24, 1922,

October 22, 1923, and November 14, 1923.

IIL

That the plaintiff paid to said Rex B. Goodcell, as Col-

lector of Internal Revenue, the taxes shown to be due on

said returns, in the total amount of $418,292.95.

IV.

That thereafter, the plaintiff paid to the defendant,

Galen H. Welch, as Collector of Internal Revenue, upon

demand, an additional tax of $275,202.52 on account of

said income tax returns for the fiscal year ended May

31, 1921, together with interest in the amount of $116,-

454.01, or a total of $391,656.53. That said payments

were made by a credit in the amount of $361,872.74 on
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January 22, 1929, and by $29,78379 in cash on March

11, 1929.

V.

That on May 3, 1930, plaintiff filed with the Commis-

sioner of Internal Revenue a claim for refund of taxes

paid for the fiscal year ended May 31, 1921, in the manner

and form provided by law, covering the issues raised in

the complaint herein.

VI.

That the Commissioner of Internal Revenue failed to

take any action with respect to said claim for refund;

that more than six months elapsed from the date said

claim was filed before this proceeding was commenced,

and that the taxes covered by said claim for refund and

this proceeding were paid within five years before this

proceeding was begun.

VII.

That plaintiff is entitled to a further deduction for oil

depletion in the amount of $12,000,00 for the fiscal year

ended May 31, 1921.

VIII.

That plaintiff is entitled to a further deduction for de-

preciation on wells, with respect to the Nutt Lease, in

the amount of $6,604.41, for the fiscal year ended May

31, 1921.

IX.

That during the fiscal year ended May 31, 1921, plain-

tiff accrued and paid to the Government of Great Britain,

an income tax in the amount of £11,258-14 Sterling,



75

which, at the rate of $3.70 was the equivalent of $41,-

657.19 in United States currency. The income of plain-

tiff from sources within the United States during the

fiscal year ended May 31, 1921, was 99.75 per centum of

the total net income of plaintiff from all sources during

said year. The amount of the British income tax allocable

to United States income was $41,553.05. Plaintiff de-

ducted from dividends paid by it to its stockholders during

said fiscal year an amount of at least $41,553.05, on ac-

count of said British income taxes.

X.

That the Commissioner of Internal Revenue has allowed

no deduction on account of said British income taxes for

the fiscal year ended May 31, 1921, and that no refund has

been made to plaintiff of any taxes paid by it on its Fed-

eral income tax return for said fiscal year.

XL
The taxable net income of the plaintiff for the fiscal

year ended May 31, 1921, as determined by the Commis-

sioner of Internal Revenue, was $2,350,425.78. The

profits tax of plaintiff for said fiscal year was determined

under the provisions of Section 328, Revenue Acts of

1918 and 1921, as follows:

Profits tax, Section 328 (1920 rates) $568,803.04

Profits tax. Section 328 (1921 rates) 464,444.13

7/12 of $568,803.04 331,801.77

5/12 of $464,444.13 193,518.39

Total profits tax for fiscal year

ended May 31, 1921, Section 328— $525,320.16
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The income tax of plaintifif for said fiscal year was

determined as follows:

Net income— $2,350,425.78

Less

:

Interest on United States

obligations not exempt— $143,352.56

Profits tax— 525,320.16—668,672.72

Amount taxable at lO^o— $1,681,753.06

Income tax at 10%— $ 168,175.31

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

As a conclusion of law from the foregoing facts, the

Court determines that the Commissioner of Internal Rev-

enue erred in failing and refusing to allow to plaintiff

deductions on its income tax return for the fiscal year

ended May 31, 1921, in the amount of $12,000.00 for

further depletion; in the amount of $6,604.41 for further

depletion on wells; and in the amount of $41,553.05 for

income taxes accruel and paid to the Government of Great

Britain, and in levying tax assessments on the basis of

net income computed without the allowance of said de-

ductions.

The Court determines that the defendant Galen H.

Welch, erroneously and illegally collected from plaintiff
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the sum of $25,782.58, and that the plaintiff is entitled

to recover from defendant the sum of $25,782.58, to-

gether with interest thereon at the rate of six per cent

from March 11, 1929, as provided by law.

That the plaintiff is also entitled to costs of suit herein.

That judgment be entered against the defendant ac-

cordingly.

DATED: November 17, 1933.

Geo. Cosgrave,

United States District Judge.

Approved as to form according to Rule 44

Eugene Harpole,

Special Attorney,

Bureau of Internal Revenue.

[Endorsed] : Filed Nov. 17, 1933. R. S. Zimmerman,

Clerk By Francis E. Cross, Deputy Clerk.

Whereupon the Court accepted the proposed Findings

of Fact and Conclusions of Law submitted by the Plain-

tiff, and adopted, made and entered the same as its Find-

ings of Fact and Conclusions of Law herein and rejected

the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law requested

by the defendant to which the defendant noted an excep-

tion and on the 24th day of November, 1933, the follow-

ing Order was duly made and entered by the Court:
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE UNITED
STATES IN AND FOR THE SOUTHERN

DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
CENTRAL DIVISION

ST. HELENS PETROLEUM COM-
PANY, LTD., a corporation,

Plaintiff,

vs.

NO. 4252-C.

ORDER
ALLOWING
EXCEPTIONSGALEN H. WELCH, Collector of In-

ternal Revenue,

Defendant.

IT IS ORDERED that exception in favor of the de-

fendant, to the Court's action in adopting and entering

the Conclusions of Law and Judgment presented by the

plaintiff and in refusing to adopt the Findings of Fact and

Conclusions of Law presented by the defendant, be entered

on the minutes of the court as of the 17th day of Novem-

ber, 1933, by the Clerk, nunc pro tunc.

Geo. Cosgrave

UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

Approved as to form under Rule 44 and no objection

offered to entry of the Order.

Joseph D. Peeler,

Attorney for Plaintiff.

[Endorsed]: Filed Nov. 24, 1933 R.S.Zimmerman,

Clerk By L. Wayne Thomas, Deputy Clerk.
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STIPULATION RE APPROVAL OF BILL OF
EXCEPTIONS

IT IS HEREBY STIPULATED AND AGREED
by and between the attorneys for Plaintiff, Appellee, and

Defendant, Appellant, that the foregoing Bill of Excep-

tions contains all evidence given and proceedings had in

the trial of this action material to the Appeal of defend-

ant, and that it may be approved, allowed and settled by

the Judge in the above-entitled Court as correct in all

respects; that the same shall be made a part of the record

in said case and be the Bill of Exceptions therein and that

said Bill of Exceptions may be used by either plaintiff or

defendant upon any Appeal taken by plaintiff or defend-

ant, and that said Bill may be certified and signed by the

Judge upon presentation of this Stipulation without fur-

ther notice to either party hereto or to their respective

counsel.

Dated : This 26th day of April, 1934.

MILLER, CHEVALIER, PEELER & WILSON,

BY Joseph D. Peeler

Attorneys for Plaintiff and Appellee.

Peirson M. Hall A
PEIRSON M. HALL,

United States Attorney,

Robert W. Daniels

ROBERT W. DANIELS,

Asst. U. S. Attorney,
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Alva C. Baird E. H.

ALVA C. BAIRD,

Assistant U. S. Attorney,

Eugene Harpole

EUGENE HARPOLE,

Special Attorney, Bureau of Internal Revenue,

Attorneys for Defendant and Appellant.

ORDER APPROVING AND SETTLING BILL

OF EXCEPTIONS

The following Bill of Exceptions duly proposed and

agreed upon by counsel for the respective parties, is cor-

rect in all respects and is hereby approved, allowed and

settled and made a part of the record herein and said Bill

of Exceptions may be used by the parties plaintiff or de-

fendant upon any appeal taken by either party plaintiff or

defendant.

Dated: This 21st day of April, 1934.

Geo Cosgrave

UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

[Endorsed] : Filed Apr 27 1934 R. S. Zimmerman,

Clerk By L. Wayne Thomas Deputy Clerk
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[Title of Court and Cause.]

ORDER EXTENDING TIME WITHIN WHICH TO
SERVE AND FILE BILL OF EXCEPTIONS
AND EXTENDING TERM.

On motion of Peirson M. Hall, United States Attorney

for the Southern District of California, Alva C. Baird,

Assistant United States Attorney for said District, and

Eugene Harpole, Special Attorney, Bureau of Internal

Revenue, and good cause appearing therefor;

IT IS ORDERED that the time within which the de-

fendant herein may serve and file its proposed Bill of

Exceptions herein is hereby extended to and including

February 17, 1934.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that for the purpose

of making and filing Bill of Exceptions herein and having

same settled and allowed, and the making of any and all

motions necessary to be made within the Term in which

the Judgment herein was entered, the Term of this Court

is hereby extended to and including February 17, 1933.

Dated: November 23, 1933.

Geo. Cosgrave,

UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE.

[Endorsed] : Filed Nov. 24, 1933. R. S. Zimmerman,

Clerk, By L. Wayne Thomas, Deputy Clerk.
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[Title of Court and Cause.]

ORDER EXTENDING TERM.

Upon motion of the Defendant, and good cause appear-

ing therefor,

IT IS ORDERED that for the purpose of making and

filing Bill of Exceptions herein, and the making of any

and all motions necessary to be made within the Term in

which the Judgment herein was entered, the Term of this

Court is hereby extended to and including May 8, 1934.

DATED: FEBRUARY 7, 1934.

Geo. Cosgrave

United States District Judge.

[Endorsed] : Filed Feb. 7—1934 R. S. Zimmerman,

Clerk By L. Wayne Thomas Deputy Clerk



83

[Title of Court and Cause.]

ORDER EXTENDING TIME WITHIN WHICH TO

SERVE AND FILE BILL OF EXCEPTIONS.

Upon motion of the Defendant, and good cause appear-

ing therefor

:

IT IS ORDERED that the time within which the De-

fendant herein may serve and file his proposed Bill of

Exceptions is hereby extended to and including May 8,

1934.

DATED: FEBRUARY 17, 1934.

Geo. Cosgrave

United States District Judge.

[Endorsed] : Filed Feb 17 1934 R. S. Zimmerman,

Qerk By Edmund L. Smith Deputy Clerk
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[Title of Court and Cause.] •

,

PETITION FOR APPEAL

TO: THE HONORABLE GEORGE COSGRAVE,
JUDGE OF THE ABOVE COURT:

NOW COMES the Defendant, Galen H. Welch, Col-

lector of Internal Revenue for the Sixth Collection Dis-

trict of California, and feeling himself aggrieved by the

Judgment entered in this cause, hereby prays that an ap-

peal may be allowed, to-wit: from the United States Dis-

trict Court for the Southern District of California to the

United States Circuit Court of Appeals for the Ninth

Circuit, and in connection with this Petition Petitioner

hereby presents his Assignment of Errors.

DATED: FEBRUARY 16th, 1934.

Peirson M. Hall

PEIRSON M. HALL, E. H.

United States Attorney,

Alva C. Baird

ALVA C. BAIRD, E. H.

Assistant U. S. Attorney,

Eugene Harpole

EUGENE HARPOLE,

Special Attorney,

Bureau of Internal Revenue,

Attorneys for Defendant.

[Endorsed] : Filed Feb 16 1934 R. S. Zimmerman,

Clerk By Edmund L. Smith, Deputy Clerk
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IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE UNITED
STATES IN AND FOR THE SOUTHERN

DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA,
CENTRAL DIVISION

THE ST. HELENS PETROLEUM
CO., LTD., a Corporation,

Plaintiff,

vs. No. 4252-C

ASSIGNMENT
OF ERRORS.

GALEX H. WELCH, Collector of

Internal Revenue for the Sixth Collec-

tion District of California,

Defendant.

The Defendant and Appellant above-named makes and

files the following assignment of errors upon which he

will rely in the prosecution of his appeal from the judg-

ment of this Court entered herein on the 17th day of

November, 1933.

I.

The Court erred in rendering judgment against the de-

fendant and in favor of the plaintiff in the sum of $25,-

782.58, together with interest thereon and costs taxed in

the sum of $20.00, in that the evidence introduced herein,

the facts stipulated, and those facts established and found

therefrom by the Court and the record in this cause are

insufficient to support a judgiuent in favor of the plain-

tiff in said amount, or in any other sum, or at all.
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11.

The Court erred in rendering judgment for the plain-

tiff and against the defendant herein, for the reason that

the evidence introduced and facts stipulated disclose that

plaintiff is a corporation organized under the laws of

Great Britain which, during the fiscal year ended May 31,

1921, accrued and paid to the Government of Great Britain

an income tax equivalent to $41,657.19 in United States

currency and that the plaintiff deducted from the divi-

dends paid by it to its stockholders during said fiscal year

an amount of at least $41,553.05 on account of said

British income taxes.

III.

The Court erred in rendering judgment for the plaintiff

and against the defendant herein for the reason that the

facts found by the Court are insufficient to support a

judgment for the plaintiff, the Court having found from

the evidence introduced herein that

"I.

.

" the plaintiff. The St. Helens Petroleum Co. Ltd. is and

was at all times hereinafter mentioned, a corporation or-

ganized under the laws of Great Britain, and having its

principal office and place of business at Los Angeles,

California.

'TX.

"That during the fiscal year ended May 31, 1921, plain-

tiff accrued and paid to the Government of Great Britain,

an income tax in the amount of £11,258-14 Sterling,

which, at the rate of $3.70 was the equivalent of $41,-

657.19 in United States currency. The income of plain-

tiff from sources within the United States during the fiscal
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year ended May 31, 1921, was 99.75 per centum of the

total net income of plaintiff from all sources during said

year. The amount of the British income tax allocable to

United States income was $41,553.05. Plaintiff deducted

from dividends paid by it to its stockholders during said

fiscal year an amount of at least $41,553.05, on account

of said British income taxes.

"X.

"That the Commissioner of Internal Revenue has al-

lowed no deduction on account of said British income

taxes for the fiscal year ended May 31, 1921, and that

no refund has been made to plaintiff of any taxes paid

by it on its Federal income tax return for said fiscal year.

"XL

"The taxable net income of the plaintiff for the fiscal

year ended May 31, 1921, as determined by the Com-

missioner of Internal Revenue, was $2,350,425.78. The

profits tax of plaintiff for said fiscal year was determined

under the provisions of Section 328, Revenue Acts of

1918 and 1921, as follows:

Profits tax. Section 328 (1920 rates) $568,803.04

Profits tax. Section 328 (1921 rates) 464,444.13

7/12 of $568,803.04 331,801.77

5/12 of $464,444.13 193,518.39

Total profits tax for fiscal year ended

May 31, 1921, Section 328— 525,320.16
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The income tax of plaintiff for said fiscal year was de-

termined as follows

:

Net income— $2,350,42578

Less

:

Interest on United States

obligations not exempt— $143,352.56

Profits tax— 525,320.16— 668,672.72

Amount taxable at 10%— $1,681,753.06

Income tax at 10%— $ 168,175.31"

IV.

The Court erred in finding and concluding as a matter

of law herein that any part of the amount of $41,657.19

accrued and paid by the plaintiff to the Government of

Great Britain as an income tax during the fiscal year

ended May 31, 1921, and deducted by plaintiff from divi-

dends paid by it to its stockholders during said fiscal year

was deductible from plaintiff's gross income for said year

in computing the correct income tax due from it to the

Government of the United States.

V.

The Court erred in refusing to adopt the Defendant's

Proposed Finding of Fact number I, which reads as fol-

lows:

"I.

"That there was no substantial or sufficient evidence

produced on behalf of the plaintiff upon which to support

a judgment in its favor in the above-entitled action,"

for the reason that the record and the evidence in this case

support and require said Proposed Finding of Fact.
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VI.

The Court erred in refusing to adopt the Defendant's

Proposed Finding of Fact number II, which reads as

follows

:

"11.

*'The tax involved in this action was assessed under the

provisions of Sections 327 and 328 of the Revenue Acts

of 1918 and 1921 (40 Stat. 1092, 1093)",

for the reason that the record and the evidence in this

case disclose that the tax involved in this action was as-

sessed under the provisions of Sections 327 and 328 of the

Revenue Acts of 1918 and 1921.

VII.

The Court erred in refusing to adopt the Defendant's

Proposed Conclusions of Law numbered I, II and III,

which read as follow^s

:

'T.

**That there was no substantial or sufficient evidence

produced on behalf of the plaintiff upon which to support

a judgment in its favor in the above-entitled action.

"11.

"That this Court has no jurisdiction of the subject

matter of this action, the tax involved having been as-

sessed under the provisions of Sections 327 and 328 of

the Revenue Acts of 1918 and 1921 (40 Stat. 1092,

1093).

"HI.

"That upon the law, the plaintiff is not entitled to re-

cover any sum whatsoever from the defendant in the

above-entitled cause."
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for the reason that the evidence introduced and the facts

found by the Court in this action support and require the

adoption of said Conclusions of Law and disclose that

the Court is without power or jurisdiction to enter a

judgment for the plaintiff herein.

VIII.

The Court erred in concluding as a matter of law that

the Commissioner of Internal Revenue erred in failing and

refusing to allow to plaintiif a deduction on its income

tax return for the fiscal year ended May 31, 1921, in the

amount of $41,657.19 for income taxes accrued and paid

to the Government of Great Britain, for the reason that

the evidence introduced and the facts found therefrom

by the Court disclose that the amount of $41,657.19 so

paid by plaintiff was by it deducted from dividends paid

by it to its stockholders during said fiscal year.

IX.

The Court erred in denying Defendant's Motion for

Arrest of Judgment herein for the reason that the evidence

introduced herein and the facts found therefrom by the

.Court disclose that plaintiff's income and profits taxes

for the fiscal year ended May 31, 1921 were assessed

under the "Special Assessment" provisions of Sections

327 and 328 of the Revenue Acts of 1918 and 1921, and

the Court is without power or jurisdiction to recompute

the tax determined by the Commissioner of Internal

Revenue.
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X.

The Court erred in holding that it had jurisdiction or

power to review the determination of the Commissioner

of Internal Revenue of the plaintiff's net income and the

amount of income and profits tax due thereon for the tax-

able year ending Alay 31, 1921, for the reason that said

net income and the tax due thereon were determined by

the Commissioner of Internal Revenue under the "Special

Assessment" provisions of Sections 327 and 328 of the

Revenue Acts of 1918 and 1921 (40 Stat. 1092, 1093).

XL

That the Court erred in denying the defendant's Mo-

tion for Arrest of Judgment herein for the reason that

there was no substantial or sufficient evidence introduced

in the case upon which to base a judgment for the plaintiff

and the further reason that the Court had no jurisdiction

or power to review the discretion of the Commissioner of

Internal Revenue in determining plaintiff's net income and

the tax due thereon for the taxable year ending May 31,

1921, the tax having been determined and assessed under

the "Special Assessment" provisions of Sections 327 and

328 of the Revenue Acts of 1918 and 1921 (40 Stat.

1092, 1093).

XII.

The Court erred in its Conclusions of Law for the

reason that said Conclusions are not supported by the

facts found by the Court herein.
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XIIL

The Court erred in concluding as a matter of law that

the defendant had illegally collected from the plaintiff the

sum of $25,782.58 and that the plaintiff is entitled to

judgment against the defendant for the following reasons

:

(1) That the Court was and is without power or juris-

diction to review the discretion of the Commissioner of

Internal Revenue in determining the plaintiff's net income

and the tax due thereon for the taxable year ending May

31, 1921, the tax having been determined and assessed

under the "Special Assessment" provisions of Sections 327

and 328 of the Revenue Acts of 1918 and 1921 (40 Stat.

1092, 1093); (2) That the tax, of which a refund is

sought in this action, was determined, assessed, collected

and paid as an excess profits tax within the meaning of

sections 327 and 328 of the Revenue Acts of 1918 and

1921.

XIV.

The Court erred in adopting its Finding of Fact num-

bered X for the reason that the same is not supported by

the evidence in that the evidence and pleadings disclose

that plaintiff's income tax for the taxable year ending

May 31, 1921, was not increased by the Commissioner of

Internal Revenue but that the deficiency determined arose

from additional excess profits tax determined by the

Commissioner.
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Dated: This 16th day of February, 1934.

Peirson M. Hall

PEIRSON M. HALL, E. H.

United States Attorney,

Alva C. Baird

ALVA C BAIRD, E. H.

Assistant U. S. Attorney,

Eugene Harpole

EUGENE HARPOLE,
Special Attorney, Bureau of

Internal Revenue,

Attorneys for Defendant.

[Endorsed] : Filed Feb. 16, 1934 R. S. Zimmerman,

Clerk By Edmund L. Smith, Deputy Clerk

[Title of Court and Cause.]

ORDER ALLOWING APPEAL

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the appeal prayed

for in the Petition for Appeal in the above entitled cause

be allowed.

DATED: FEBRUARY 17, 1934.

Geo. Cosgrave

United States District Judge

[Endorsed] : Filed Feb 17 1934 R. S. Zimmerman,

Clerk By Edmund L. Smith Deputy Clerk
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[Title of Court and Cause.]

AMENDED PRAECIPE

TO: R. S. Zimmerman, Clerk of the United States Dis-

trict Court, Southern District of Cahfornia

:

YOU ARE HEREBY REQUESTED to make a

Transcript of Record to be filed in the United States Cir-

cuit Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit pursuant to

an appeal allowed in the above-entitled cause, and to in-

clude in said Transcript of Record, the following papers:

1. Citation on Appeal.

2. Complaint.

3. Answer

4. Stipulation Waiving Jury.

5. Motion and Order Re-opening cases for Additional

Evidence.

6. Court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.

7. Judgment.

8. Order Extending Time Within Which to Serve

and File the Bill of Exceptions and Extending

Term, dated November 23, 1933.

9. Order Extending Term, dated February 7, 1934.

10. Petition for Appeal.

11. Assignment of Errors on Appeal.

12. Order Extending Time Within Which to Serve

and File Bill of Exceptions, dated February 17,

1934.

13. Order Allowing Appeal.
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14. Bill of Exceptions,

(a) Stipulation Waiving Jury.

(b) Stipulation of Facts with Exhibits omitted.

(c) Testimony of A. E. IMcEachren.

(d) Stipulation of Counsel and citations of British

Law and Cases.

(e) Minute Order dated September 21, 1933.

(f ) Stipulation of Additional Facts.

(g) Defendant's Motion for Arrest of Judgment

with Memorandum of Points and Authorities

Omitted.

(h) Minute Order dated November 17, 1933.

(i) Defendant's Request for Findings of Fact

and Conclusions of Law.

(j) Plaintiff's Findings of Fact and Conclusions

of Law.

(k) Order Allowing Exceptions.

15. Clerk's Certificate and this Amended Praecipe.

Dated: This 26th day of April, 1934.

Peirson M. Hall D.

PEIRSOX M. HALL,
United States Attorney,

Robert A\\ Daniels

ROBERT W. DANIELS,
Assistant United States Attorney.

Alva C. Baird E. H.

ALVA C. BAIRD,
Assistant U. S. Attorney,

Eugene Harpole,

EUGENE HARPOLE,
Special Attorney, Bureau of

Internal Revenue,

Attorneys for Defendant and Appellant.



96

STIPULATION

IT IS HEREBY STIPULATED AND AGREED by

and between counsel for the Appellant and Appellee that

the foregoing Amended Praecipe may be filed, shall be

used in lieu of and replace all Praecipes heretofore filed

for the purpose of the preparation of the record upon

Appeal in the above-entitled action; that in preparing the

record herein, the Clerk of the United States District

Court may omit all endorsements except the endorsements

of the filing date, from the papers requested in the fore-

going Amended Praecipe.

MILLER, CHEVALIER, PEELER & WILSON,
By Joseph D. Peeler,

Attorneys for Plaintiff and Appellee.

Peirson M. Hall D.

PEIRSON M. HALL,
United States Attorney.

Robert W. Daniels

ROBERT W. DANIELS,
Assistant United States Attorney,

Alva C. Baird E. H.

ALVA C. BAIRD,

Assistant United States Attorney.

Eugene Harpole

EUGENE HARPOLE,
Special Attorney,

Bureau of Internal Revenue,

Attorneys for Defendant and Appellant.

[Endorsed] : Filed Apr 27 1934 R. S. Zimmerman,

Clerk By L. Wayne Thomas Deputy Clerk
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[Title of Court and Cause.]

CLERK'S CERTIFICATE.

I, R. S. Zimmerman, clerk of the United States District

Court for the Southern District of CaHfornia, do hereby

certify the foregoing volume containing 96 pages, num-

bered from 1 to 96 inclusive, to be the Transcript of

Record on Appeal in the above entitled cause, as printed

by the appellant, and presented to me for comparison and

certification, and that the same has been compared and

corrected by me and contains a full, true and correct copy

of the citation; complaint; answer; stipulation waiving

jury; motion to reopen case for the purpose of admitting

additional evidence as stipulated; special findings of fact

and conclusions of law; judgment; bill of exceptions;

orders extending time within which to serve and file bill

of exceptions; order extending term to file bill of excep-

tions; petition for appeal; assignment of errors; order

allowing appeal, and amended praecipe.

I DO FURTHER CERTIFY that the amount paid for

printing the foregoing record on appeal is $ and

that said amount has been paid the printer by the appellant

herein and a receipted bill is herewith enclosed, also that

the fees of the Clerk for comparing, correcting and certi-

fying the foregoing Record on Appeal amount to

and that said amount has been paid me by the appellant

herein.
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IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my

hand and affixed the Seal of the District Court of the

United States of America, in and for the Southern

District of Cahfornia, Central Division, this

day of May, in the year of Our Lord One Thousand

Nine Hundred and Thirty-four and of our Inde-

pendence the One Hundred and Fifty-eighth.

R. S. ZIMMERMAN,

Clerk of the District Court of the

United States of America, in

and for the Southern District

of California.

By

Deputy.
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In TiiF

United States

Circuit Court of Appeals
For the Ninth Circuit.

GALEN H. WELCH, Collector of In-^

temal Revenue, for the Sixth Collec-

tion District of California,

Appellant,

vs.
>

THE ST. HELENS PETROLEUM
COMPANY, LTD., a corporation,

Appellee.

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLANT

Opinion Below

The only previous opinion in the present case is that

of the District Court of the United States for the

Southern District of CaHfornia (R. 37-39), which is

unreported.

Jurisdiction

This .appeal involves income and profits taxes of The

St. Helens Petroleum Company, Ltd., a corporation, for

the fiscal year ended May 31, 1921 (R. 29-30), and is

taken from a judgment of the District Court in favor of

the taxpayer entered November 17, 1933 (R. 24-25).
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The appeal is brought to this Court by petition for appeal

on behalf of the Collector of Internal Revenue filed

February 16, 1934 (R. 84), pursuant to Section 128 (a)

of the Judicial Code, as amended by the Act of February

13, 1925.

Questions Presented

1. Whether a British corporation, doing business in

the United States, is entitled to deduct from gross in-

come, income taxes paid to Great Britain when such

income taxes were deducted from dividends paid to its

stockholders.

2. Whether the court erred in denying .a motion in

arrest of judgment where it appeared that the taxpayer

had been allowed special assessment.

3. Whether the judgment is supported by the findings.

^ Statutes and Regulations Involved

The applicable provisions of the statutes and regula-

tions involved will be found in Appendices A. and B,

infra, pp.

Statement

The facts were stipulated. (R. 29-36, 41-64). The

appellee is a corporation organized under the laws of

Great Britain, having an office and place of business at

Los Angeles, California, (R. 29), whose income from

sources within the United Ntates during the fiscal year

ended M.ay 31, 1921, was 99.75 per centum of its total

net income from all sources during that year (R. 31).
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During the fiscal year ended May 31, 1921, appellee

accrued and paid to the government of Great Britain an

income tax amounting to £11,258-14 Sterling, which at

the rate of $3.70 was the equivalent of $41,657.19 in

United States currency, of which appellee deducted from

dividends paid by it to its stockholders during said fiscal

year an amount of at least $41,553.05, on account of

said British income taxes. (R. 31).

In its income tax returns for the fiscal year ended May

31, 1921, appellee reported a tax due therein of $418.-

292.95, which was duly assessed and paid to appellant,

then Collector of Internal Revenue for the Sixth Collec-

tion District of California. (R. 30). Upon an audit of

the returns, the Commissioner of Internal Revenue de-

termined a deficiency in appellee's tax for the year ended

May 31, 1921, of $275,202.52 (R. 30). under Section

328 of the Revenue Acts of 1918 and 1921 (R. 45,

56-61), which deficiency together with interest, amount-

ing to $116,454.01, was duly assessed (R. 30), and

appellee notified of such determination and assessment by

Bureau letter dated November 7, 1928 (R. 41, 43). Ap-

pellee paid such deficiency and interest to appellant,

amounting to a total of $391,656.53, by applying thereon

on January 22, 1929, a credit of $361,872.74 and a cash

payment of $29,783.79 on March 11, 1929. (R. 30).

On or about May 3, 1930, appellee filed with the Com-

missioner of Internal Revenue a claim for refund of

$50,000 of the tax paid for the fiscal year ended May

31, 1921, claiming that the Commissioner had made a

mathematical error of $12,000 in determining the total

depletion allowance for the year (R. 6), which was con-



ceded by appellant (R. 31), and allowed by the court

(R. 21, 74) ; further claiming that the Commissioner's

allowance for depletion on wells was erroneous in the

amount of $11,479.90 (R. 7), which was conceded by

appellant (R. 31), and allowed by the court for $6,604.41

(R. 21, 74) ; and further claiming that the Commissioner

had failed to allow as a deduction any part of the British

income tax accrued against appellee during the taxable

year (R. 7). Appellee contended, and appellant denied,

that appeHce was entitled to such deduction, but it was

agreed that if said British income taxes were deductible,

the amount of such deduction for the fiscal year ended

May 31, 1921, was $41,553.05. (R. 31). This amount

was allowed as a deduction by the court. (R. 21, 75).

No other deductions were claimed by appellee in its claim

for refund (Ex. 4) or in the complaint (R. 4-11).

The Commissioner of Internal Revenue failed to take

any action with respect to the claim for refund (R. 30),

and this suit was commenced on November 6, 1930, for

the recovery of $25,782.58 (R. 4-11).

By stipulation a jury was waived, and the case was

tried by the court without the intervention of a jury.

(R. 28). At the close of all the evidence, counsel for

appellant moved for judgment in favor of the appellant

(R. 36), and on September 21, 1933, the court, by minute

entry, ordered judgment in favor of the appellee

(R. 37-39). Pursuant to order of the court on motion to

reopen the case for additional evidence (R. 18, 39), a

stipulation of additional facts was filed November 6,

1933 (R. 41-64). Thereafter, on November 14, 1933,

the appellant filed a motion in arrest of judgment
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(R. 65-66), which was denied by the court (R. 67-68).

The appellant filed requests for special findings of fact

and conclusions of law (R. 69-71), which were denied

by the court (R. 77). The findings adopted by the court

(R. 19-23) were those requested by the appellee

(R. 71-77).

The court held that the appellee was entitled to a de-

duction of $41,553.05 on account of income taxes paid to

the government of Great Britain and deducted from divi-

dends to its stockholders (R. 23), and on this basis

rendered judgment for the appellee for $25,782.58

(R. 24-25). From the judgment for appellee, the appel-

lant has appealed. (R. 84).

Specification of Errors to Be Urged

The court erred (R. 85-92)

:

1. In rendering judgment against the appellant and in

favor of the appellee in the sum of $25,782.58, together

with interest thereon and costs taxed in the sum of $20.

in that the evidence introduced herein, the facts stipu-

lated, and those facts established and found therefrom

by the court and the record in this cause are insufficient

to support a judgment in favor of the appellee in said

amount, or in any other sum, or at all.

2. In rendering judgment for the appellee and against

the appellant herein, for the reason that the evidence

introduced and facts stipulated disclose that appellee is

a corporation organized under the laws of Great Britain

which, during the fiscal year ended May 31, 1921, accrued

and paid to the government of Great Britain an income

tax equivalent to $41,657.19 in United States currency



and that the appellee deducted from the dividends paid

by it to its stockholders during said fiscal year an amount

of at least $41,553.05 on account of said British income

taxes.

3. In rendering judgment for the appellee and against

the appellant herein for the reason that the facts found

by the court are insufficient to support a judgment for

the appellee, the court having found from the evidence

introduced herein that (R. 86-88)

—

I.

"* * * the plaintiff, The St. Helens Petroleum

Co., Ltd., is and was at all times hereinafter men-

tioned, a corporation organized under the laws of

Great Britain, and having its principal office and

place of business at Los Angeles, California.

IX.

"That during the fiscal year ended May 31, 1921,

plaintiff accrued and paid to the Government of

Great Britain, an income tax in the amount of

£11,258-14 Sterling, which, at the rate of $3.70 was

equivalent of $41,657.19 in United States currency.

The income of plaintiff from sources within the

United States during the fiscal year ended May 31.

1921, was 99.75 per centum of the total net income

of plaintiff from all sources during said year. The

amount of the British income tax allocable to United

States income was $41,553.05. Plaintiff deducted

from dividends paid by it to its stockholders during

said fiscal year an amount of at least $41,553.05, on

account of said British income taxes.

X.

"That the Commissioner of Internal Revenue has

allowed no deduction on account of said British



income taxes for the fiscal year ended May 31, 1921,

and that no refund has been made to plaintiff of

any taxes paid by it on its Federal mcome tax return

for said fiscal year.

XI.

"The taxable net income of the plaintiff for the

fiscal year ended May 31, 1921, as determined by

the Commissioner of Internal Revenue, was $2,350,-

425.78. The profits tax of plaintiff for said fiscal

year was determined under the provisions of Section

328, Revenue Acts of 1918 and 1921, as folows

:

Profits tax. Section 328 (1920 rates) $568,803.04

Profits tax. Section 328 (1921 rates) 464,444.13

7/12 of S568,803.04 331,801.77

5/12 of $464,444.13 193.518.39

Total profits tax for fiscal year ended

May 31, 1^21. Section 32S $525,320.16

"The income tsLx of plaintiff* for said fiscal year

was determined as follows:

Net income— $2,350,425.78

Less:

Interest on United

States obligations

not exempt $143,352.56

Profits tax— 525,320.16 668,672.72

Amount taxable at 10%— 1,681,753.06

Income tax at 10%— 168,175.31"

4. In finding and concluding as a matter of law herein

that any part of the amount of $41,657.19 accrued and

paid by the appellee to the government of Great Britain

as an income tax during the fiscal year ended May 31,

1921, and deducted by appellee from dividends paid by
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it to its stockholders during said fiscal year was deducti-

ble from appellee's gross income for said year in com-

puting the correct income tax due from it to the govern-

ment of the United States.

5. In refusing to adopt appellant's proposed finding

of fact number I, which reads as follows (R. 88)

:

"That there was no substantial or sufficient evi-

dence produced on behalf of the plaintifi upon which

to support a judgment in its favor in the above-

entitled action,"

for the reason that the record and the evidence in this

case support and require said proposed finding of fact.

6. In refusing to adopt appellant's proposed finding

of fact number II, which reads as follows (R. 89)

:

*'The tax involved in this action was assessed

under the provisions of Sections 327 and 328 of the

Revenue Acts of 1918 and 1921 (40 Stat. 1092,

1093),"

for the reason that the record and the evidence in this

case disclose that the tax involved in this action was

assessed under the provisions of Section 327 and 328 of

the Revenue Acts of 1918 and 1921.

7. In refusing to adopt appellant's proposed conclu-

sions of law numbered I, II and III, which read as

follows (R. 89):

"That there was no substantial or sufficient evi-

dence produced on behalf of the plaintiff upon which

to support a Judgment in its favor in the above-

entitled action.
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"That this Court has no jurisdiction of the sub-

ject matter of this action, the tax involved having

been assessed under the provisions of Sections 327

and 328 of the Revenue Acts of 1918 and 1921

(40 Stat. 1092, 1093).

"That upon the law, the plaintilT is not entitled

to recover any sum whatsoever from the defendant

in the above-entitled cause."

for the reason that the evidence introduced and the facts

found by the court in this action support and require the

adoption of said conclusions of law and disclose that the

court is without power or jurisdiction to enter a judg-

ment for the appellee herein.

8. In concluding as a matter of law that the Com-

missioner of Internal Revenue erred in failing and re-

fusing to allow to appellee a deduction on its income tax

return for the fiscal year ended May 31, 1921, in the

amount of $41,657.19, for income taxes accrued and paid

to the government of Great Britain, for the reason that

the evidence introduced and the facts found therefrom

by the court disclose that the amount of $41,657.19 so

paid by appellee was by it deducted from dividends paid

by it to its stockholders during said fiscal year.

9. In denying appellant's motion for arrest of judg-

ment herein for the reason that the evidence introduced

herein and the facts found therefrom by the court dis-

close that appellee's income and profits taxes for the

fiscal year ended May 31, 1921, were assessed under the

"Special Assessment" provisions of Sections 327 and 328

of the Revenue Acts of 1918 and 1921, and the court is

without power or jurisdiction to recompute the tax de-

termined bv the Commissioner of Internal Revenue.
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10. In holding that it had jurisdiction or power to

review the determination of the Commissioner of Inter-

nal Revenue of the appellee's net income and the amount

of income and profits tax due thereon for the taxable

year ending May 31, 1921, for the reason that said net

income and the tax due thereon were determined by the

Commissioner of Internal Revenue under the "Special

Assessment" provisions of Sections 327 and 328 of the

Revenue Acts of 1918 and 1921.

11. In denying the appellant's motion for arrest of

judgment herein for the reason that there was no sub-

stantial or sufficient evidence introduced in the case upon

which to base a judgment for the appellee, and the fur-

ther reason that the court had no jurisdiction or power

to review the discretion of the Commissioner of Internal

Revenue in determining appellee's net income and tbe

tax due thereon for the taxable year ending May 31,

1921, the tax having been determined and assessed under

the "Special Assessment" provisions of Sections 327 and

328 of the Revenue Acts of 1918 and 1921.

12. In its conclusions of law for the reason that said

conclusions are not supported by the facts found by the

court herein.

13. In concluding as a matter of law that the appel-

lant had illegally collected from the appellee the sum of

$25,782.58. and that the appellee is entitled to judgment

against the appellant for the following reasons : ( 1 ) That

the court was and is without power or jurisdiction to

review the discretion of the Commissioner of Internal

Revenue in determining the appellee's net income and

the tax due thereon for the taxable year ending May 31.



—11—

1921, the tax having been determined and assessed under

the "Special Assessment" provisions of Sections 327 and

328 of the Revenue Acts of 1918 and 1921; (2) that the

tax, of which a refund is sought in this action, was de-

termined, assessed, collected and paid as an excess profits

tax within the meaning of Sections 327 and 328 of the

Revenue Acts of 1918 and 1921.

14. In adopting its Finding of Fact numbered X for

the reason that the same is not supported by the evi-

dence in that the evidence and pleadings disclose that

appellee's income tax for the taxable year ending May

31, 1921, was not increased by the Commissioner of

Internal Revenue but that the deficiency determined arose

from additional excess profits tax determined by thf*

Commissioner.

Summary of Argument

Appellee, being a foreign corporation, was accorded

special assessment under Sections 327 and 328 of the

Revenue Acts of 1918 and 1921. The action of the court

below in setting aside the determination of the Commis-

sioner as to appellee's income and profits taxes consti-

tuted a review of the Commissioner's determination.

Courts are without jurisdiction to review or revise the

computation of income and/or profits taxes as deter-

mined by the Commissioner when special assessment has

been granted.

These facts are disclosed in the findings of the court

below, and the situation resulting was called to the at-

tention of the court by motion in arrest of judgment.

The question presented by the motion in arrest of judg-
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ment relates to the jurisdiction of the court and is one

which may be raised at any stage of the proceedings.

In passing on the merits the court below found that

the deductions claimed by appellee for taxes alleged to

have been paid to the Crown of Great Britain were

deducted from dividends paid by appellee to its stock-

holders. Under the income tax laws of Great Britain

approximately seventy per cent of all income taxes are

collected at the source. Dividends paid to stockhold-

ers of corporations are taxed as income, and the tax

thereon is deducted by the corporation from the divi-

dends paid to stockholders, which remits the proceeds

to the Crown as a tax collector for the Crown.

In the event a stockholder has other income, in mak-

ing his return he is required to report as income the

dividend actually received plus the amount deducted by

the corporation as tax. and in turn is allowed a credit

to the extent of the amount of tax already paid for him

and deducted from his dividend by the corporation. In

cases where the stockholder who has received a dividend

was not subject to tax he may file a refund with the

Inland Revenue Commissioners for the amount of the

tax paid for him by the corporation and withheld from

his dividend. The refund is made by the Crown direct

to the stockholder and not to the corporation.

Because the stockholders and not appellee were the

taxpayers of the amount sought to be claimed by appelee

as a deduction on account of taxes paid to the Crown

of Great Britain appellee is not entitled to the deduction.
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ARGUMENT
I.

The Action of the Commissioner of Internal Revenue

in Determining Appellee's Income and Profits

Taxes by Special Assessment Under Sections 327

and 328 of the Revenue Acts of 1918 and 1921,

Was Not Subject to Judicial Review.

The appellant contends that the action of the District

Court in setting aside the Commissioner's determination

of appellee's income and profits taxes and redetermining

such taxes, constitutes a review of the Commissioner's

determination which was unauthorized by statute and

beyond the power of the court. It is also contended

that in recomputing- the profits taxes the court below

made )icz>.' special assessments, and thus usurped discre-

tionary functions granted by statute to the Commis-

sioner. It is now definitely setded that the courts are

without jurisdiction to review or re^-ise the computation

of the incomic and/or profits taxes as made by the Com-

missioner when special assessments have been granted.

Heiner r. Diamond Alkali Co.. 28S U. S. 502. 507:

Williamsport Co. z'. United States, 277 U. S. 551:

Brown's "Shamrock" Linens z: Bozvers, 48 F. (2d) 103

(CCA. 2d), certiorari denied. 283 U. S. 865: Duquesne

Steel Foundry Co. z'. Commissioner, 41 F. (2d) 995

(C C A. 3d), affirmed per curiam, 283 U. S. 799: Cra-

mer 6- King Co. r. Commissioner. 41 F. (2d) 24 (C C
A. 3d) : Joseph Joseph &- Bros. Co. v. United States, 71

F. (2d) 389 (C C A. 6th): Cleveland Automobile Co.

V. United States. 70 F (2d) 365 (C C A. 6th): Rail-

way Supply Co. v. Burnet. 51 F. (2d) 437 (App. D. C);
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Central Iron & Steel Co. v. United States, 6 Fed. Supp.

115 (C. Cls.); W. H. Bradford & Co. v. United States,

6 Fed. Supp. 117 (C. Cls.) ; Chicago Frog & Switch Co.

V. United States, 67 (C. Cls.) 662, certiorari denied, 280

U. S. 579; Oak Worsted Mills v. United States, 36 F.

(2d) 529 (C. Cls.), new trial denied, 38 F. (2d) 699,

affirmed on another issue, 282 U. S. 409.

The most recent pronouncement by the Supreme Court

as to the jurisdiction of the courts in special assessment

cases will be found in the case of Heiner v. Diamond

Alkali Co., supra. In that case the Commissioner of

Internal Revenue had granted special assessment to the

taxpayer under Sections 327 and 328. Subsequently,

action was brought in the Court seeking a reduction in

the taxable income and the application of same rate of

profits tax on net income as had been previously deter-

mined by the Commissioner of Internal Revenue under

Section 328. In affirming its position in the Williams-

port Co. case, supra, denying jurisdiction to the courts

to review or alter official acts of the Commissioner

under the special assessment provisions of Section 210

of Revenue Act of 1917 and Sections 327 and 328 of

the Revenue Act of 1918, the Supreme Court said (p.

507)

:

"The grant of special assessment and the ascer-

tainment of the rate or ratio of tax to be applied

to the net income of the taxpayer are indissolubly

connected by the terms of the statute. The exer-

cise of the discretion in both aspects is committed

to the Commissioner and to the Board of Tax Ap-

peals upon review of his action. That discretion

cannot be reviewed bv the courts, nor exercised bv
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them in place of the administrative officer desig-

nated by law. It is beyond the power of a court

to usurp the Commissioner's function of finding

that special assessment should be accorded, and

equally so to substitute its discretion for his as to

the factors to be used in computing the tax. The

courts below were in error in adopting the rate

chosen by the Commissioner and applying it to a

net income other than that which he used in making

his comparisons and arriving at the rate. The re-

spondent's tax could only be computed in accord-

ance with §301 or under §328. The former pre-

scribes the elements to be considered, and error in

the computation remains subject to judicial correc-

tion; the latter .-jrants the taxpayer the benefit of

discretionary action by the Commissioner, and pre-

cludes judicial revision or alteration of the compu-

tation of the tax."

In Williamsport Co. v. United States, supra, the tax-

payer requested special assessment under Sections 327

and 328 of the Revenue Act of 1918, which the Com-

missioner refused. Suit was brought and jurisdiction

challenged by demurrer. In affirming the judgment sus-

taining the demurrer, Mr. Justice Brandeis, speaking

for a unanimous Court, said (pp. 558-559, 560, 562) :

"The task imposed on the Commissioner by

§§327 and 328 was one that could only be per-

formed by an official or a body having wide knowl-

edge and experience with the class of problems con-

cerned. For the requirement of a special assess-

ment under paragraph (d) of §327 and its compu-

tation in all cases, are dependent on 'the average

tax of representative corporations engaged in a

like or similar trade or business.'
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"To perform that task, power discretionary in

character was necessarily conferred. Whether, as

provided in paragraph (d) of §327, there are 'ab-

normal conditions'; whether, because of these con-

ditions, computation under §v301 would work 'ex-

ceptional hardship'; whether there would be 'gross

disproportion' between the tax computed under §301

and 'that computed by reference to the representa-

tive corporations specified in section 328;' what are

'representative corporations engaged in a like or

similar trade or business;' which corporations are

'as nearly as may be, similarly circumstanced with

respect to gross income, net income, profits per unit

of business transacted and capital employed, the

amoimt and rate of war profits or excess profits,

and all other relevant facts and circumstances'

—

these are all questions of administrative discretion.

* Jjs :!^ * *

"Thus the aims which induced Congress to enact

§§327 and 328, the nature of the task which it

confided to the Commissioner, the methods of pro-

cedure prescribed, and the language employed to

express the conditions under which the special as-

sessment is required, all negative the right to a re-

view of his determination by a court.

* j|; ^ >i: ;;:

"We conclude that the determination whether the

taxpayer is entitled to the special assessment was

confided 1>y Congress to the Commissioner, and

could not, under the Revenue Act of 1918, be chal-

lenged in the courts—at least in the absence of

fraud or other irregularities." (Italics supplied.)

In the case of Chicago Frog & Switch Co. v. United

States, supra, the taxpayer complained that the Com-



—17—

missioner used the wrong comparatives and exacted

from the plaintiff too high a proportion of tax, but it

was there held that the court had no jurisdiction to

review the action of the Commissioner and certiorari

was denied, 280 U. S. 579.

In Brozvn's "Shamrock" Linens v. Bowers, supra, the

complaint alleged that the percentage of tax to the aver-

age income of representative corporations engaged in

like business and similarly circumstanced to plaintiff was

25%; that the Commissioner failed to use this ratio,

but assessed plaintiff 44.8% of its net income, and

counsel advanced the claim that plaintiff being a for-

eign corporation by the terms of Section 327 must be

specially assessed under Section 328; that therefore it

was not a matter of discretion of the Commissioner

whether or not to apply Section 328. but was mandatory;

that the administrative discretion determined by the

Williamsport decision to be inapplicable to the courts

referred only to Section 327; that the decision did not

hold the computation under Section 328 to be admin-

istrative discretion; that the computation of tax under

Section 328 was not a matter of discretion but by ex-

plicit direction.

The court ignored this claim and dismissed the com-

plaint (41 F. (2d) 862). On appeal the Circuit Court

of Appeals for the Second Circuit affirmed the dismissal

(48 F. (2d) 103), and certiorari was denied (283 U. S.

865) by the Supreme Court. Thus it was effectually

and finally settled that the administration of both Sec-

tions 327 and 328 is discretionary and non-reviewable.

Here, as there, the taxpayer is a foreign corporation
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and the District Court was in error in retaining juris-

diction when it appeared that special assessment had

been accorded.

In Oak Worsted Mills v. United States, supra, the

question of special assessment was under consideration

by the Court. There it appeared that the Commissioner

had computed the excess-profits tax under the provisions

of Sections 327 and 328 of the Revenue Act of 1918.

and because of the reHef allowed under the provisions

of such sections had made a refund of a substantial

amount of the profits taxes paid upon the return filed

by the taxpayer. Upon reconsideration of the taxpayer's

right to a special assessment, the Commissioner deter-

mined that he had refunded a greater amount than the

taxpayer was entitled to, and such amount was there-

upon assessed against and collected from the taxpayer

who then instituted suit to recover such amount upon

the ground that the prior action of the Commissioner

in allowing such assessment was final and that he was

without authority to reassess and collect any portion

of the amount refunded. The Court sustained the right

of the Commissioner, within the period of limitations,

to correct his errors. In a separate concurring opinion.

Judge Littleton, on motion for a new trial (38 F. (2d)

699) stated (p. 704) :

"To go into the question whether the Commis-

sioner had authority to change his determination

and reassess a portion of the tax refunded under

the special assessment provisions would be the same

as inquiring into the correctness of such deter-

mination. The amount which the Commissioner

finallv determined the plaintiff owed was less than
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the tax imposed by Section 301. The entire mat-

ter was embraced within the provisions of Section

328. * * * In such a situation the court would not

have jurisdiction to go into the matter. * * *"

These decisions are based on the theory that inter-

ference by a court in a special assessment case is an

usurpation of the authority of the Commissioner under

a statute which grants to him absolute discretion in ac-

cording to a taxpayer an advantage resulting in a reduc-

tion of his tax as compared to a computation made in

the regular way. While the decision in the Diamond

Alkali Co. case was limited to a consideration of the

determination of profits taxes by special assessment,

the trend of the later cases applying the rule announced

in that case and the Williamsport Co. case, have gone

further and held, in effect, that courts are without juris-

diction in any case, where the Commissioner has allowed

special assessment and determined the tax under the

special assessment sections of the statute when the result

of the court's decision, if in favor of the plaintiff, on

the question presented would alter or abrogate the Com-

missioner's determination under the special assessment

provision; or necessitate further consideration by the

Commissioner for the purpose of determining whether

the profits-tax rate theretofore fixed under the relief

provisions would be increased or decreased, or whether

the decision of the court on the question concerning

the correct income had removed the abnormality upon

the basis of which special assessment had been allowed.

In Cleveland Automobile Co. v. United States, supra,

it appeared that the taxpayer corporation had been
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granted special assessment of excess profits tax for the

year 1920, under Sections 327 and 328 of the Revenue

Act of 1918. The court held that in view of such spe-

cial assessment it had no jurisdiction to pass upon a

question which involved the amount of the net income

of the taxpayer. On the authority of the repeated

pronouncements of the Supreme Court as contained in

the Diamond Alkali Co. and Williamsport Co. cases and

in United Stales :'. Henry Prentiss & Co., 288 U. S. 73,

the court stated (p. 368) :

**It seems to us that the logic of the Williams-

port, Prentiss and Diamond Alkali cases leads in-

evitably to the conclusion that once the special dis-

cretionary power to grant relief under sections 327

and 328 is invoked and exercised, and no claim of

fraud or other irregularity is asserted, neither

the determination, nor the factors used in compu-

tation, nor the result itself, is open to review. It

would seem to be a contradiction in terms to say

that a determination to grant or deny extraordinary

relief, notwithstanding the normal operation of the

statute, is not open to judicial review, and yet to

say that the extent of the relief granted may be

reviewed. It is to say that the whole is greater

than the sum of its parts, and the greater does not

include the lesser. Moreover, to hold the special

assessment reviewable on questions of value and

income would tend to defeat the very purpose for

which sections 327 and 328 were enacted. If con-

siderations affecting net income are to remain open

to review, the very basis upon which alone special

assessment can be granted and made becomes a

shifting one, and the assessment an idle gesture,

binding the government possibly, but never the tax-
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payer. The latter may with impunity speculate

upon the result, and gaining nothing, lose nothing.
* * * "

This same language was adopted and followed by the

court in Joseph Joseph & Bros. Co. v. United States,

supra. Following such quotation the court said (p.

391):

"We have quoted from the Cleveland case be-

cause section 210 and sections 327 and 328 are so

similar in purpose and in the procedure provided

as to compel the conclusion that the District Court

has no more authority to review the action of the

Commissioner under one section than under the

other. A suit in the District Court under the

Tucker Act (24 Stat. 505) contemplates a money
judgment. To say that such a judgment may be

awarded appellant upon the gi-ound that the Com-
missioner, proceeding under section 210, wrong-
fully over-assessed the taxes against it through the

use of incorrect data, is to substitute the court

for the Commissioner. We have been cited to no

statute clothing the District Court with such juris-

diction. It is not a tax assessor. See Central Iron

& Steel Co. V. U. S., 6 F. Supp. 115 (Court of

Claims): McDonnell z: U. S., 59 F. (2d) 290

(Court of Claims)."

The Court of Claims, in a number of decisions, has

recognized that the discretionary power accorded the

Commissioner of Internal Revenue under the special

assessment statute was not subject to review and that

the IVilliamsport Co. case, supra, was controlling as

to the 1918 special assessment provision. Thus in Mc-
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Donnell v. United States, 59 F. (2d) 290 (C. Cls.) the

court said (p. 293) :

"The matter of the computation of the partner-

ship's profits tax under the special relief provisions

of section 210 of the Revenue Act of 1917 was

entirely within the discretion of the Commissioner/'

(Italics supplied.)

In Freeport Texas Co. v. United States, 58 F. (2d)

473 (C Cls.), the court said (pp. 478-479):

"The plaintiffs asked to have the provisions of

section 210 of the Act of 1917 applied in deter-

mining the amount of their taxes for that year.

The Commissioner complied with the request, so

computed the taxes, and his conclusion to apply

this section, and his determination of the taxes

thereunder was an exercise of his discretionary

powers, and is not now subject to review. * =i« * /^

(Italics supplied.)

As late as March of the last year, the Court of Claims

has reaffirmed its former position in holding that it was

without jurisdiction to inquire into the merits of con-

troversies presented by taxpayers where special assess-

ment had been accorded.

Thus in Central Iron & Steel Co. v. United Stales,

supra, it was held by the Court of Claims that the

court was without jurisdiction to substitute its decision

for that of the Commissioner when it was stated (pp.

116-117):

"The system provided by law for a judicial re-

view of the Commissioner's actions in tax cases

contemplates that the court shall render final judg-
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ment, and, since the court is without jurisdiction

to substitute its decision for that of the Commis-

sioner as to the factors to be used in computing the

tax, it cannot proceed with a case as though special

assessment had not been appHed, and the court is

Hkewise without jurisdiction to decide the question

presented and remand the case to the Commissioner

for further exercise of his discretionary powers

to determine whether or not the change in net

income results in a greater or less profits tax."

And in 14'. H. Bradford &- Co. v. United States,

supra, where the tax liability was determined by the

Commissioner under Section 328 of the Revenue Act of

1918, in connection with which determination he refused

to allow a deduction from gross income for 1920 of

$38,341.72, excluded by the taxpayer from its gross

income in its return for 1920 and claimed as a worthless

debt or a loss arising out of a shipment of coal. The

court held that it was w^ithout jurisdiction to inquire

into the merits of the claimed bad debt deduction which

would reduce the net income as found by the Commis-

sioner in granting special assessment of profits tax

under Section 328 of the Revenue Act of 1918. The

court said (pp. 118-119):

"Inasmuch as the court is without authority to

review the action of the Commissioner in determin-

ing the amount of the profits tax under section 328

or to revise, correct, or abrogate such determination,

it necessarily follows that the Commissioner's action

in determining the amount of plaintiff's net income

is not subject to judicial review. Before the Com-
missioner can apply the provisions of section 328,

he must determine the net income. If net income is



—24—

reduced, one of the principal factors in computing

the profits tax has been destroyed and the Commis-

sioner's determination has been altered. Any change

in the income requires a new computation of the

tax. This is not permitted by the statute. Central

Iron & Steel Co. v. United States (Ct. CI.) 6 F
Supp. 115, decided this date. If the net income is

altered, the same corporations used as comparatives

by the Commissioner may no longer be similarly cir-

cumstanced with respect to net income. It may also

be that by reason of the reduced income, because of

the deduction claimed, there would be no abnormal-

ity in income, which may have been the cause that

prompted the Commissioner to allow special assess-

ment, and the taxpayer would not be entitled to any

relief under the special assessment section of the

statute, or that the corjx)rations used as compara-

tives would no longer be comparable. Moreover, the

amount of the profits tax is a deduction, credited

against income under section 236 (b), Act of 1918

(40 Stat. 1080) from income in computing the in-

come tax. If the profits tax should be rendered

erroneous by reason of a change of factors upon

which such tax was computed under section 328, the

income tax, computed upon an income erroneously

determined, by reason of the deduction of an erron-

eous profits tax, would also be erroneous."

In that case the facts are indistinguishable from those

in the case at bar. Here the appellee claims that he was

entitled to additional deductions in the way of depletion

and depreciation allowances and for income tax paid to

the British Crown. The allowance of such deductions by

the court amounted to a review of the determination by

the Commissioner under the special assessment pro-
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visions of section 328 of the Revenue Acts of 1918 and

1921. It is urged that the court below erred in refusing

to sustain the motion in arrest of judgment filed by ap-

pellant prior to entry of judgment.

In the Commissioner's letter of November 7, 1928,

advising the appellee of a determination of a deficiency

for the period herein involved (R. 45), it was stated:

"Your profits tax liability for the fiscal years

ended May 31, 1918 to May 31. 1922, inclusive, has

been redetermined under the provisions of Sections

210 and 328 of the Revenue Acts of 1917, 1918 and

1921, respectively, ]:)ased upon the additional infor-

mation submitted."

Where the Treasury Department has promulgated a

regulation which really accords greater privileges to a

taxpayer than the actual wording of the statute itself

would seem to justify and such administrative construc-

tion receives the implied or expressed sanction of Con-

gress in later legislation, the taxpayer who benefits to

any extent by invoking such admmistrative regulation

should abide by the benefits received thereunder. Lash's

Products Co. z\ Vjiitcd States, 278 U. S. 175. The pro-

visions of Sections 327 and 328 of the Revenue Act of

1918 were re-enacted in the Revenue Act of 1921 and the

regulations promulgated by the Treasury Department

(Regulations 45. Art. 913) continued without change and

were reissued and applied to the Revenue Act of 1921

(Regulations 62).

Here the determination was made under Section 328

because appellee was a foreign corporation and under

Section 327 (b), it was mandatory upon the Commis-
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sioner to compute the tax through resort to comparatives.

In Brown's^ "Skam^rock" Linens r. Bowers, supra, the

contention w.as that the Commissioner had failed and re-

fused to use the proper ratio enjoined upon him by Sec-

tion 328, and it was urged that the ratio which the Com-

missioner had used was not the ratio of the average tax

to the average net income of representative corporations.

In disposing of that contention the court said (p. 104):

"The fact that special assessment is mandatory

for a foreign corporation and permissive for a

domestic one furnishes no basis for distinction when

each is attacking the Commissioner's computation on

the ground that he selected improper comparatives

in determining the assessment which he made."

The opinion in IVillmmspoi'f Co. z'. United States.

supra, gives recognition to the construction placed upon

Section 210 of the Revenue Act of 1917 by the Treasury

Department. In a footnote on page 558, it was stated:

Seefion 210 zvas liberaMy cO'iistrned by the Treas-

ury. See Regulations 41, Art. 52 (T. D. 2694).

Thus it will be seen that tacit approval was given by

Congress to the administrative construction and applica-

tion of Section 210 by the Commissioner of Internal

Revenue. Under the construction of Section 210 of the

Revenue Act of 1917 by the Treasury Department, its

application was identical with the application of Sections

327 and 328 of the Revenue Act of 1918. Thus, as a

practical matter, the basis of comparison considered

proper where either Section 210 or Section 328 was in-

voked, was a comparison of corporations similarly cir-
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cumstanced as nearly as may be with respect to gross

income, net income, profits per unit of business trans-

acted, and capital employed, the amount and rate of war

profits and excess profits and all other relevant facts

and circumstances. In the application of special assess-

ment it became necessary to secure from thousands of

audited returns the statistical data of all concerns in

order to determine which ones were really representative

within the meaning of these statutes.

Thus, to determine whether a corporation is entitled to

the relief of special assessment and, if determined affir-

matively, the proper rate of profits tax, there must be

available and there must be considered the returns made

by all corporations in order that comparison may be

made with representative corporations similarly circum-

stanced as nearly as may be.

The application of these sections of the statute by a

court or jury would lead into a maze of collateral issues

involving the minutest administrative detail. After de-

termining the gross income, net income, profits per unit

of business transacted, the capital employed, etc., with

respect to the litigant taxpayer, the court or jury would

then be required to proceed into the field of outside cor-

porations not parties to the suit. In addition to determin-

ing the gross income, net income, profits per unit of

business, capital employed, etc., of such other corpora-

tions, it must be further determined whether their in-

vested capital can or can not be determined. From this

outside field the court or jury must then select the most

representative concerns similarly circumstanced, as nearly

as may be, with respect to the things specifically men-
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tioned in the statute, as well as with respect to all other

relevant facts and circumstances. In determining the

gross income, net income, profits per unit of business,

capital employed, etc., the court or jury would be led

into collateral issues as varied as all income and profits

tax litigation. Since no two corporations .are exactly

alike, it is at once manifest that in selecting representa-

tive corporations it is necessary to have access to the

facts contained in the books or tax returns of all cor-

porations in the general class to which a litigant taxpayer

belongs in order to determine which are the most nearly

comparable.

After having explored this maze of administrative de-

tails and selected comparatives, the court or jury would

then be called upon to fix a rate for an excess profits

tax. This is the situation which the Supreme Court had

clearly in mind when it affirmed the judgment of the

Court of Claims in JVilHcmisport Co. v. United States,

supra, and denied to the courts jurisdiction to judicially

review the determination of the Commissioner of In-

ternal Revenue in special assessment cases.

Inasmuch as the court below was without power to

review the action of the Commissioner in determining the

amount of appellee's profits tax under Section 328, it

necessarily follows that the Commissioner's action in

determining the amount of appellee's net income and

income tax is also not subject to judicial review, for

the two acts are inter-related and dependent upon like

factors, one of which is appellee's net income for the

fiscal year ended May 31, 1921.
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Obviously, if net income is altered, then one of the

principal factors in computing the profits tax has been

destroyed and the Commissioner's determination has been

altered. If net income is altered, it may well be that no

longer would the same corporations used as comparatives

by the Commissioner by similarly circumstanced with

respect to net income. It may also well be that under

the reduced tax resulting from the allowance as a deduc-

tion of the item of $12,000 for oil depletion, of the item

of $6,604.41 for depreciation on wells, and of the item

of $41,553.05 for British income tax, that the corpora-

tions used as comparatives would no longer be compar-

able. Furthermore, the amount of the profits tax is a

deduction (credited against income, Section 236 (b) of

the Revenue Acts of 1918 and 1921) from income in

computing the income tax. If the profits tax is erroneous

by reason of a change of the factors upon which the

computation of such tax under Section 328 was based,

it must follow that the income tax, computed upon the

income erroneously determined by I'casOji of the deduc-

tion of an eyroncO'us profits tax, is also erroneous.

It is urged by appellant that the computation of the

income tax in this case is so inextricably bound up and

related to the discretionary acts of the Commissioner

which are not subject to judicial review that these activi-

ties which are really ancillary or incidental to the Com-

missioner's discretionary acts also may not be reviewed

by the court. ll^iUia'insport Co. v. United States, supra.

It is respectifully submitted that the action of the Com-

missioner of Internal Revenue in the computation of the

tax under the provisions of Section 328 of the Revenue
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Acts of 1918 and 1921, precludes judicial revision or

alteration of the Commissioner's determination and for

that reason the decision and judgment of the court below

should be reversed.

11.

A Question of General Jurisdiction May Be Raised

at Any Time.

The findings of fact made by the court below dis-

close the facts with reference to the Commissioner's com-

putation of the profits tax here involved under Section

328 of the Revenue Acts of 1918 and 1921. (R. 22).

This finding is supported by the statement contained in

the letter from the Commissioner under date of Novem-

ber 7, 1928, advising the appellee of the determination

of the deficiency in his tax liability, wherein appellee was

advised that his profits tax liability for the fiscal years

ended May 31, 1918, to May 31, 1922, inclusive, had

been redetermined under the provisions of Sections 210

and 328 of the Revenue Acts of 1917, 1918 and 1021,

respectively. These facts, together with the provisions

of Section 328 of the Revenue Acts of 1918 and 1921.

deprived the court of jurisdiction to review the question

in controversy. This situation was called to the attcntioTi

of the court by counsel for the appellant by way cf

motion in arrest of judgment. (R. 65-66). The question

presented by the motion in arrest of judgment relates

to the jurisdiction of the court. The question of the

jurisdiction may be raised at any time. Central Iron &
Steel Co. V. United States, supra. Tt is axiomatic that

the question of jurisdiction of the subject matter is
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never waived and may be raised for the first time on

appeal, and the question of general jurisdiction in Fed-

eral courts may be properly raised by a motion in arrest

of judgment. M'Eldoumcy r. Card, 193 Fed. 475 (E. D.

Tenn.), appeal dismissed by stipulation of counsel, 213

Fed. 1020 (C. C. A. 6th).

III.

Income Tax, Paid By a Foreign Corporation and De-

ducted By It From Dividends Paid By It to Its

Stockholders, is a Tax Paid By the Stockholders

and Not a Tax Paid By the Corporation.

The court below found (R. 21):

"Plaintiff deducted from dividends paid by it to

its stockholders during said fiscal year an amount

of at least $41,553.05, on account of said British

income taxes."

The appellee (taxpayer) contends that the tax is a tax

on the corporation and not one on the recipient of the

dividend, whereas it is the position of the appellant

(Collector) that the tax is paid by the recipient of the

dividends and cannot, therefore, be claimed as a deduc-

tion by the appellee corporation.

This question cannot be answered by determining who

performs the physical act of paying or remitting the

British tax to the Crown. That act, beyond question,

was done by the appellee corporation in the instant case

and not by its shareholders. In the United States it is

already thoroughly recognized that physical payment is

not determinative. Familiar examples are the gasoline

tax, the admissions tax, and the tax on bank checks, each
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of which are paid or borne by the purchasers of gasoHne,

of tickets of admission, and of the makers or issuers of

the bank checks. The tax is collected and physically paid

over to the Government by the gasoline dealer, the

amusement association or proprietor, or the bank. Yet

no one would seriously contend that either the gasoline

dealer, the amusement proprietor or the bank could claim

a deduction from their incomes of such taxes collected

by them from their patrons, and by them as tax col-

lectors paid over to the Government.

Therefore, in arriving at an answer to the (question

under consideration, it is necessary to analyze the admin-

istration of the British tax laws. Taxes in this country

are, with few exceptions, assessed and collected from the

taxpayer who receives the income and who bears the

burden of the tax. thereon. In Great Britain the princi|)al

method of collection is by deduction at the source.^ There

the tax is recovered from the payee through requiring

him to include such income in his own assessment, the

payer of the tax being authorized to deduct the standard

rate of tax from the payment made to the ultimate pro-

prietor. To illustrate, a limited com])any is required to

pay the standard rate of tax on the whole of its gains,

irrespective of their ultimate destination. The company

may recoup itself, however, by deducting at the standard

rate from such amounts as are distributed as dividends

or paid out as interest on loans or deductions. It is esti-

mated that at least 70% of the British tax is collected

in this manner.^

1 Taxation of Business in Great Britain, Department of Commerce.
60 Trade Promotion Series 65; The Law of Income Tax by E. M.
Konstam, K.C., 4th ed., p. 4.
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The Income Tax Act of 1918 of Great Britain con-

solidates the Income Tax Acts of 1842 and 1853, and the

material provisions of all of the statutes relating to

income tax up to and including the Income Tax Act of

1918. This Act contains practically all the statutory law-

relating strictly to income tax, except that certain mat-

ters like the rates of income tax, super tax, and the rates

in respect to earned and unearned income are left to be

provided by Parliament with respect to each year of

assessment so that these provisions are contained in the

annual Finance Acts. Income Tax by F. G. Underhay,

p. 1. The Acts subsequent to the Act of 1918 relate

principally to rates of taxation for the period covered

by the particular Act, and, therefore, are of no value in

the consideration of the question here presented. Under

the Income Tax Act, 1918, the properties, profits and

gains in respect of which income taxes are payable, are

classified under five schedules having reference to the

different sources of income, and these schedules contain

rules for estimating the tax payable upon the particular

classes of property. Such schedules as outlined in the

Act are as follows:

Schedule A. On property in lands and buildings.

Schedule B. On occupation of lands and buildings.

Schedule C. On income from government securi-

ties.

Schedule D. On annual gains, profits, etc.

Schedule E. On income from public office, annui-

ties and pensions.

The appellee is assessed under Schedule D. See Appendix

B, infra, pp. 7-8.
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In Great Britain individual incomes of less than £225

(formerly £160) are exempt from income tax. Subject

to such elxemption the British Income Tax Act of 1918

imposes a tax on all income from every source. See

Income Thk Act, 1918, Sec. 1, Appendix B, infra, p. 1.

The tax is levied and collected under five schedules

which cover every kind of income. Dividends fall under

Schedule D which in turn is subdivided into schedules.

The Fifth Schedule of Schedule D requires an income

tax statement or return "by every person entitled to

profits of an uncertain value * * * or dividend, to be

charged under Schedule D." The Finance Acts reim-

posing the income tax for subsequent years similarly

charge all income with tax except such income as is

therein expressly exempted.

Because "all income," including dividends, must be

reported and is subject to the tax, taxpayers under the

British Acts report their income, including dividends

and including dividends at their full or true amount, not

at the amount received in hand after tax has been col-

lected therefrom by the corporation. The deduction by

the corporation is not a subtraction of income from the

income but is a collection of tax on the full or true

income.

The rule relating to deduction of the tax where divi-

dends have been paid to stockholders, which is contained

in Rule 20 of General Rules applicable to Schedules

A, B, C, D and E (Appendix B. infra, p. 8), is the

same as that which was contained in Section 54 of the

Act of 1842.
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The procedure for the assessment and collection of

taxes thereunder is outlined in the case of Mylmn v. The

Market Harhorough Advertiser Co., Ltd. (1905), 21

T. L. R. 201, 5 Tax Cases 95, which involved the claim

of a corporation for exemption as a "person" on the

ground that its total income was less than the statutory

limitations. The court, per Phillimore, J., said (p. 99):

"Under section 54 the corporate body making an

income is bound by its proper officer to make a

return of its profits, and to estimate those profits

before any dividend has been paid over to any share-

holder or other person entitled to the benefits of

the Corporation, and in due course to pay them, and

all such persons are to allow out of their dividends

a proportionate deduction in respect of the duty so

charged. Therefore in this case the Company by

their proper officer are bound in the first instance

to make a return showing what their profits will be

before any dividend is made, and then they are en-

titled in paying their dividend to deduct from that

dividend as .against each recipient his quota of the

common income tax on the whole return of the Cor-

porate body. That being so, there is no reason for

the exemption of the Corporation, and the exception

upon the exemption in this section certainly applies.

The Corporatiaii lose nothing by playing the Income

Tax because they deduct it from their shareholders.

Therefore there is no reason why they should be

exempted. The shareholders may or may not be

entitled, as being themselves in receipt of a smaller

income than £160 a year, to exemption. In that case

the procedure is well known. They must accept the

dividend minus the Income Tax, and they must send

a certificate that such is their dividend to the office



—36—

of the Inland Revenue, with proper declarations, and

get their Income Tax returned to them." (Italics

supplied.

)

By virtue of the provisions of Rule 20 of the Gen-

eral Rules of the Income Tax Act, 1918, a company

is chargeable with income tax upon the full amount of

its profits without any deduction in respect of dividends

paid or to be paid. On distributing a dividend, how-

ever, the company is entitled to deduct and retain tax

at the standard rate for the year in which the dividend

becomes due. Rule 20 provides in effect the machinery

for the enforcement of the charge of tax against the

recipient of a dividend. It is true that, except in the

special circumstances contemplated by Section 211 (1)

of the Income Tax Act, 1918, the Acts do not provide

for the making of a direct assessment upon a share-

holder in an English company in respect of a dividend

received therefrom, but that is not to say that the share-

holder is outside the scope of the charge of tax. Al-

though not liable to direct assessment, he is within the

charge, and the tax imposed by the charge is collected

—and collected from the shareholder—by the process

of deduction.

In the light of these considerations, when a share-

holder submits to a deduction of tax from a dividend

due to him, he is rightly regarded as paying the tax so

deducted. That this conception is shared (a) by the

legislature, (b) by the courts, and (c) by the Inland

Revenue Department is sufficiently established by the

following instances:
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(a) Viezv of the Legislature:

Finance Act, 1920:

Sec. 27. " * * ^ (1) If any person who has

paid, by deduction or otherwise, or is liable to pay,

United Kingdom income tax * * * "

Finance Act, 1930:

Sec. 12. "*** (3) *** there shall in respect

of that income be deemed to have been paid by

deduction tax of such amount * * *."

These words clearly show that in the view of the

Legislature a person who suffers deduction of tax

thereby ''pays" tax.

Income Tax Act, 1918:

Sec. 33. " '• * * (1) Where an assurance com-

pany * * * claims and proves * * * that * * *, it

has been charged to tax by deduction or otherwise

* "^ * the company '^^ * * shall be entitled to repay-

ment of so much of the tax paid by it * * * ."

This subsection indicates that there may be a charge

to tax by deduction, and that tax charged by deduction

is "tax paid."

(b) View of the Courts:

Marion Brooke v. Conimissioiiers of Inland Rev-

enue (1917), 115 L. T. 715; 33 T. L. R. 54;

118 L. T. 321; 34 T. L. R. 142, 7 Tax Cases

261, per Atkin, J. (p. 269):

"But I think it is fallacious to say that the indi-

viduals who receive income from which income

tax is deducted at the source are not chargeable

with the tax * * * ."
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His Lordship proceeds to show that

—

"If the payee has not paid income tax by allow-

ing the deductions, as by the appropriate sections

he is compelled to do, "^ '^ * ."

An absurd and impossible situation results.

Ibid,, per Warrington, L. J. (pp. 274-275):

"It seems to me, with all respect to the argu-

ment, it makes no difference for this purpose

whether the income tax is deducted at the source,

under the operation of what Lord Halsbury calls in

the Ashton Gas Company v. The Attorney-General

the somewhat difficult and complex machinery which

makes the officers of the company officers of the

finance department of the government for the pur-

pose of collecting the tax, or whether the tax is

directly assessed upon the person in question. She

pays the tax * * * ." (Italics supplied.)

Williams v. Singer and Others (1918), 2 K. B. 749;

(1919), 2 K. B. 108; (1920), 36 T. L. R. 661; 7 Tax

Cases 387, per The Master of the Rolls (p. 402)

:

"Again, it is not true to say that the Income Tax

Acts look only to the legal owners, as they contain

references to persons who pay income tax either

by way of deduction or otherwise. A person who

pays income tax by deduction is a taxpayer."

Hamilton v. Commissioners of Inland Revenue

(1931), 2 K. B. 495; 100 L. J. K. B. 693; 145 L. T.

303; 16 Tax Cases 213, per Lawrence, L. J. (p. 234):

"As My Lord has pointed out, the taxpayer is

the shareholder and, under this machinery [i. e.,

Rule 20 of the General Rules of the Income Tax
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Act, 1918], the company is made the collector of

the shareholder's tax for the revenue."

Ibid, per Romer, L. J. (pp. 235-236)

:

"It has, however, frequently in recent days been

pointed out by the courts, * * * that the company

is one taxpayer and that each individual share-

holder is another, and a separate taxpayer, on

whose behalf the company deducts a tax when it

pays a dividend, but on whose behalf it is not pay-

ing the tax when it pays its own tax to the Crown
^ ^ 5): * "

(c) Viezi' of the Inland Revenue Department:

In the case of a claim for relief from tax under the

provisions of Section 34 of the Income Tax Act, 1918,

subsection (2) of the section, Appendix B, infra, p.

6, provides that the Commissioner shall require "proof

to their satisfaction * * * of the payment of tax upon

the aggregate amount of income" of the claimant. It

is said that many thousands of claims under this sec-

tion are dealt with by the General and Special Commis-

sioners year by year. It is also said that in the great

majority of cases some part of the "aggregate amount

of income" takes the form of dividends that have not

borne tax otherwise than by deduction. The Commis-

sioners with the entire concurrence of the Inland Reve-

nue Department invariably accept proof that tax has

been deducted from a dividend as satisfying the words

"payment of tax."

Claims of repayment in respect of personal reliefs

and allowances, of which it is said there are hundreds

of thousands in every year, are dealt with in similar

fashion.



Having charged the taxpayer with tax on all income,

including the true or gross income, the statutes of

Great Britain give stockholders of corporations reliefs

or allowances for tax collected by deduction at the

source. As a result the stockholder is not subjected to

double taxation on the same income; that is to say, the

stockholder is allowed to take credit for the tax col-

lected from him by the corporation as collector for the

Crown. Likewise, taxpayers are released from paying

taxes again on interest, rents and other forms of in-

come on which income tax has been collected by deduc-

tion at the source.

Provisions as to allowances or credits as well as to

repayments or refunds are contained in the Income Tax

Act, 1918. See Sections 16, 17, 27, 28, 29, Appendix

B, infra, pp. 1-5. One of the striking evidences that

the stockholder is the taxpayer as to the tax collected

by deduction from the source of his dividends is the

fact that the shareholder has the right to refund from

the Crown of the tax collected from the stockholder's

dividends by the corporation if, on the stockholder's

whole income, the stockholder was not subject to any or

as much income tax as had been collected. In other

words, if the deduction of tax from the dividend

amounted to an overpayment by the stockholder, as

computed on the stockholder's whole taxable income,

the payment is refunded, and refunded, be it observed,

to the stockholder, not to the corporation. The Crown

would not repay or refund to the stockholder unless

under its laws the stockholder is considered as having

paid the overpayment by collection from his income at
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the source. The tax collected at the source is not a

reduction of income but is a tax on income and is col-

lected at the source of the income by deduction. It is

said that the Inland Revenue Department makes "repay-

ments" of tax, aggreg-ating- to millions of pounds in

the year, to persons who have paid no tax otherwise

than by suffering deduction from the dividends they

have received; and in so doing, it acts upon the view

that tax rightly suffered by deduction is tax "paid" by

the person submitting to the deduction.

Snelling's Dictionary of Income Tax and Sin'fax

Practice, 8th ed., published by Sir Isaac Pitman & Sons,

Ltd., London, states (p. 151):

"The usual circumstances in which it is neces-

sary for a taxpayer to make a claim to repayment

are

—

"(a) Where an individual's income is wholly

taxed before receipt (e. g., an owner of property

or shares) the rents or dividends from which con-

stitute an annual income upon which the taxpayer

maintains himself and his dependents.

"(b) As in (a), but also where the individual

is also in receipt of earned income under £160 (the

exemption limit).

"(c) As in (a), but where earned income in

excess of £160 is also received."

It is further stated at p. 138:

"It is, of course, necessary to prove that the tax

reclaimed has in the first instance been paid to the

revenue. The evidence required is usually the re-

ceipt, voucher or certificate showing the payment
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or deduction of the duty in question, as will now

be explained under headings appropriate to each

source of income."

It is further stated at p. 156:

"A very common cause of repayment is (c), when

the amount of the tax borne on taxed income is

greater than the total net liability, as follows

—

Income Tax borne

1929-30

Salary (say) £240

Dividends (say) 100 £20

340

Less Earned Income Relief £40

Married Allowance 225 265 Liability

Tax due at 2s. on £75 £7 10

"In the above case a repayment of £12 10s. is

due. Having made a return, the taxpayer auto-

matically receives from the inspector, some weeks

afterwards, a form stating that it would appear

from such return it is not possible to grant full

relief without repayment, and instructing him to

complete the reverse side of the form and forward

it (either before or immediately after the following

5th April), with all vouchers for taxed dividends,

to the inspector."

Up to this point reference has been made in terms

only to those cases in which a company, in paying a

dividend, makes a specific deduction of tax therefrom

It is a well settled principle of the Income Tax Law of

the United Kingdom, however, that a dividend paid
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"free of tax" is in substance and effect a dividend of

such a gross sum as after the deduction of income tax

at the rate appropriate thereto, amounts to the net sum

actually distributed, and that for all the purposes of the

Income Tax Acts, there is no material difference be-

tween a "free of tax" dividend and a "gross, less tax"

dividend of the same net amount. See Attorney General

V. Ashton Gas Co. (1904), 2 Ch. 621; (1906) A. C. 10;

and Sir Marcus Samuel, Bart. v. Commissioners of In-

land Revenue (1918), 34 T. L. R. 552; 7 Tax Cases

277. The principles herein expressed, therefore, should

be understood as applicable no less to the case of a divi-

dend paid "free of tax" than to the case in which a

dividend is shown as paid under a specific deduction of

tax in accordance with the provisions of Rule 20 of the

General Rules of the Income Tax Act, 1918, as modi-

fied by Section 39 (1) of the Finance Act, 1927. More-

over, by the provisions of Section 33 of the Finance

Act, 1924, every warrant or cheque drawn in payment

of a dividend is required to

—

"Have annexed thereto or be accompanied by a

statement in writing showing

—

"(a) The gross amount which, after deduction

of the income tax appropriate thereto, corresponds

to the amount actually paid; and

"(b) The rate and the amount of income tax

appropriate to such gross amount; and

"(c) The net amount actually paid."

This enactment applies no less to the case of a "free

of tax" dividend than to the case of a dividend paid

"gross, less tax."
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The effect of this principle in relation to the case of

a "fixed rate" dividend deserves notice, where the terms

of issue of the stock carrying the dividend contain no

specific reference to income tax, the net amount received

by the shareholder year by year varies with variations

in the rate of tax, although his income for all the pur-

poses of the Income Tax Acts, being the gross amount

of the dividend, before deduction of the tax, remains

constant. Where, however, the terms of issue provide

for a dividend at a fixed "free of tax" rate, the net

amount actually received by the shareholder year by

year remains constant whatever be the rate of tax; but

his income for income tax purposes, which is taken to

be the "gross" equivalent, at the prevailing rate of tax,

of the "net" amount received, must necessarily vary

with variations in the rate of tax.

This principle is aptly ilKistrated in Snelling's Dic-

tionary of Income Tax and Surtax Practice, 8th ed..

where it is stated (p. 101):

"(d) Income from Taxed Dividends, Interest,

Annuities, etc. The gross amount, i.e., the actual

amount received in the year to the previous 5th

April, plus the tax deducted prior to payment must

be inserted in all cases. It is advisable to state in

detail the sources of the various dividends, etc., and

a separate sheet of paper should be used, if neces-

sary, for this purpose, the total only being brought

to this sub-section.

"In the case of dividends which are termed 'Tax

Free,' particular care should be taken to read the

details on the dividend voucher, 'Tax Free' really

means that the dividend has been declared at such
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a rate that after tax has been deducted will leave

the amount of the dividend. The amount to be de-

clared is the amount shown on the voucher plus the

tax applicable to it. For instance, a 'Tax Free'

voucher for £5 paid out of profits which have been

taxed at 4s. is really

—

£ s. d.

Gross dividend 6 5

Tax borne 15
Net Dividend £5

"The gross dividend is the amount to be declared

on the return."

In the case of Sir Marcus S^amiiuel, Bart. v. Convmis-

sio'iiers 'Of Inland Revenue, supra, the appellant was the

holder of certain shares of common stock, .and under

the authority of a resolution of the directors duly con-

firmed by the stockholders at their annual meeting, the

dividends upon such shares were to be paid "free of

income tax." In arriving at the super-tax assessments,

the Commissioners by whom such assessments were made

computed the portion of the income of the appellant de-

rived from dividends by adding to the actual sums re-

ceived the amount of the income tax in respect thereto.

It was contended by the appellant that when a company

declares a dividend "free of tax," it in effect makes a

present to the shareholders of the amount of the tax,

and that such voluntary payment could not be regarded

as a portion of the income of the shareholder, either for

income tax or super-tax purposes, and that the real

income of the appellant from the shares in question was

the amount for which he could maintain an action
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contention, stating, per Sankey, J., 7 Tax Cases 277,

282-283:

"Super-tax is payable under Section 66 of the

Finance (1909-10) Act, 1910, which provides that

'In addition to the income tax charged at the rate

of one shilhng and two-pence under this Act, there

shall be charged, levied and paid for the year begin-

ning on the sixth day of April, nineteen hundred

and nine, in respect of the income of any individual,

the total of which from all sources exceeds five

thousand pounds, an additional duty of income tax

(in this Act referred to as super-tax) at the rate

of sixpence for every pound of the amount by which

the total income exceeds three thousand pounds."

The figures have been altered in subsequent Acts.

'Tt is further provided by Section 54 of the Act

of 1842 that a company shall pay Income Tax on

behalf of its shareholders, the marginal note of the

Section reading 'Officers of Corporations to prepare

statements of profits and gains to be charged, esti-

mated on the annual profits before dividend made.'

And it is provided that 'all such persons and corpo-

rations or companies shall allow out of such divi-

dends a proportionate deduction in respect of the

duty so charged."

^ ^5 ^ 5)e ^

"In my view this question is concluded by author-

ity. In the case of Attorney-General v. Ashton Gas

Company ([1904], 2 Ch. 621), it was held that,

'Where by a special Act of a gas company it was

provided that the profits divisible in any year

amongst the ordinary shareholders should not exceed

a given rate, in calculating the rate of dividend

Income Tax ought to be included."
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The same interpretation was placed on the administra-

tive procedure of the Income Tax Acts of Great Britain

by the Commissioner of Inland Revenue for the fiscal

year ended March 31, 1922, which contains an explana-

tion of the principles of the British Income Tax Law.

(See Appendix C, infra, pp. 1-5).

Scottish Union and National Insurance Co. v. New
Zealand and Australian Land Co. (1921), 1 Appeal

cases 172, and Sheldrick v. South African Breweries,

Ltd. (1923), 1 K. B. 173, are in harmony with the views

herein expressed. In each of these cases corporations

deducted the proper proportionate part of the income

tax paid by it from dividends paid to stockholders who

had shares preferred to the extent of a certain number

of shillings in the pound. The right of deduction was

not denied in either case, though the Court of King's

Bench in the South African Breweries case arrived at a

different conclusion from that reached by the House of

Lords in the New Zealand and Australian Land Co. case

as to what should be the amount of the deduction. This

difference arose from the fact that Parliament had placed

in the Finance Act, 1920, a provision not found in the

Finance Act, 1916, relative to deductions of income tax

paid by corporations to certain dominions. In both cases,

however, the deduction of the proper amount of the tax

was approved; thus showing that even where a share-

holder is entitled to preferred dividends of a certain per-

centage, his preferred dividend has to bear its proper

proportion of the income tiJlx. The shareholder receives

his preferred dividend less the tax, and he is, therefore,

the one who in fact pays the tax, and not the corpora-

tion.
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That rule 20 of the General Rules of the Income Tax

Act, 1918, now receives the same construction by the

courts of Great Britain as that which had been placed

upon Section 54 of the Income Tax Act, 1842, is shown

by the following statement by Warrington, L. J., in

Sheldrick v. South African Breweries, Ltd., supra, where

it was said (pp. 187-188)

:

"Rule 20 is in these terms: [His Lordship read

the rule and continued:] In the case of a company,

that rule operates in this way. The profits or gains

to be charged on the company are computed at the

full amount of the payment made in dividend. \A'hen

the company comes to pay the dividend to the share-

holder it deducts from that dividend the propor-

tionate amount of the income tax which it has itself

paid. That means, of course, in effect, to take the

case of United Kingdom income tax at 6s. in the

pound, that if the company has been charged at 6s.

in the pound on the whole of its profits and it

divides any part of those profits amongst its share-

holders, or a class of its shareholders, it deducts

from the amount so paid tax at the rate of 6s. in

the pound."

In Ashloii Gas Co. i'. The Attorney General, supra, a

gas company was prohibited by its special Act from

paying dividends to its shareholders above a fixed rate

per annum. The company claimed the right to deduct

the amount of the income tax from its gross profits

before paying any dividend, and then to pay the divi-

dend in full to the shareholders. The right of the com-

pany to follow this procedure was denied, and the court

held that in arriving at the rate of dividend, the profits
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ought to be calculated as inclusive and not delusive ot

the amount payable in respect of the income tax.

In his work on Income Tax, which is "A Summary

of the Law of Income Tax and Super-Tax," F. G.

Underhay, in his new edition, states (p. 96):

"It should also be borne in mind that a person

is not entitled to relief in respect of income tax

which he has the right to deduct or retain out of

any payment to another person."

This statement is explained in a footnote which states

:

"The reason is of course that the other person,

if the deduction or retention be made, actually bears

the tax. His remedy, if he is exempt from tax. is to

apply for repayment of the amount of tax paid and

dedueted or retained." (Italics supplied.)

In The Law of Income Tax, by E. M. Konstam, K. C,

4th ed., it is stated (pp. 265-266)

:

"The income tax on the dividends distributed

forms part of the profits of the company: it is a

proportionate part which the Revenue is entitled to

take out of the profits. It is not a deduction before

arriving at the profits: and income tax is not pay-

able again by the shareholders on the share of the

profits subsequently distributed to them.

4: 4= ^ ^ ^

"Accordingly, where there is a limit by way of

percentage put by statute or otherwise upon the

amount that may be distributed to the shareholders

(or to shareholders of any particular class, such as

preference shareholders), it is not lawful to pay a

dividend at the fixed rate per cent, 'free of income

tax.'
"
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Hamilton v. Commissioners of Inland Revenue (1931)

2 K.B. 495, XVI Tax Cases 213, decided by the Court

of Appeal on appeal from the decision of Rowlett, J., of

the King's Bench Division, involved the question of what

was the taxpayer's dividend income for surtax purposes.

The taxpayer held 67,500 shares of a total issue of

150,000 shares of stock in Transvaal Agency, Ltd. He

was paid a dividend. The surtax was assessed on in-

come computed by addition to the net dividend received

in hand, the amount of the tax deducted therefrom by

the corporation. The taxpayer contended that there

should be added to the net dividend received in hand,

only the amount representing his proportion of the in-

come tax paid by the company. The Court of Appeal

sustained the view that the corporation is one taxpayer,

the shareholder is another, and the shareholder's income

must be computed by addition to the amount received

in hand as dividends, the amount of income tax at the

standard rate, without any regard to what taix had been

paid by the company. That is to say, the deduction made

by the company is not a diminution or reduction of the

stockholder's dividend but is a collection of a trfx on the

stockholder's true income, the tax on the stockholder

being collected by deduction at the source of the income.

The decisions relied on by counsel for appellee at the

trial below, as well as the more recent decisions of the

courts of Great Britain relating to the position of the

shareholder in a corporation, all support the conclusion

reached in S. M. 3040, IV-1 Cumulative Bulletin 198.

and S. M. 5363, V-1 Cumulative Bulletin 89, to the

effect that an American taxpayer who has paid British

income tax bv deduction thereof from dividends paid to
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the American taxpayer, is a taxpayer of such British

income tax collected at the source, and is entitled to a

credit of such British income tax against the tax pay-

able to the United States within the provisions of the

Revenue Acts of the United States. It must follow that

appellee, being a British corporation doing business in

the United States, is not entitled to deduct from gross

income taxes which it has paid to Great Britain, where

such taxes were deducted from dividends paid to ap-

pellee's stockholders, because the stockholders and not

appellee paid the tax now sought to be claimed as a

deduction.

It is clear from the language of the British Income

Tax Act and from the actual tax practice and admin-

istration thereof by the Inland Revenue that the stock-

holder is treated as the taxpayer of income tax collected

by deduction at the source from his dividends. This is

true of ever}' situation in which the question has arisen

—

charge on total income, report of income, income for

super tax or surtax purposes. The court decisions of

Great Britain, without exception, sustain these con-

clusions.

The long established practice of the Bureau of In-

ternal Revenue has been in accord with the position here

taken. The foreign tax. when deducted from dividends,

has been considered as a t^x paid by the stockholder,

and in the determination of his individual tax liability

has been allowed as a credit under Section 222 (a) of

the Revenue Act of 1918. and the corresponding section

of the later acts, which provide that the tax computed

on individual incomes shall be credited with "the amount
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of any income * * * taxes paid during the taxable year

to any foreign country, upon income derived from

sources therein." S. M. 3040 and S. M. 5363, supra. If

such taxes must be allowed as a credit to the individual

stockholders, obviously they should not also be allowed

as deductions to the corporation. It was so held in S. M.

5363, supra. These rulings have been consistently fol-

lowed by the officials charged with the administration of

the statute, and should not be disturbed except for

weighty reasons.

Brewster r-. Gage, 280 U. S. 327, 336;

Fawcus Machine Co. r. United States, 282 U. S.

375.

The practice of the Commissioner has been approved

by the United States Board of Tax Appeals in Rohillard

V. Comnussioucr, 20 B.T.A. 685. The Board held that

the tax on dividends received by a citizen stockholder on

stock of a British corporation, having been paid at the

source by the British corporation to the Crown, was an

allowable credit to the shareholder against income tax

in this country. The Board held, however, that no credit

would be allowed to the shareholder when the t^x was

paid at the source on account of a foreign corporation

(of which the British corporation paying the tax was a

holding company), and not on account of a shareholder.

This decision was affirmed by the United States Circuit

Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit, 50 F. (2d)

1083, certiorari denied, 284 U. S. 650.

In deducting tax from dividends paid, the appellee has

acted as collector for the Crown of the tax imposed on

the shareholder. Appellee has no more right to the de-
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duction claimed than has a gasoHne dealer to the right

of deduction for gasoline taxes collected from its cus-

tomers and paid over to the United States.

IV.

Conclusion

The decision of the court below in holding that

amounts accrued and paid by the appellee to the govern-

ment of Great Britain as an income tax and deducted

by appellee from dividends paid by it to its stockholders

during the fiscal year, was deductible from appellee's

gross income for that year, and in refusing to sustain

appellant's motion in arrest of judgment, was erroneous,

and should be reversed.

Respectfully submitted,

Frank J. Wideman,
Assistant Attorney General.
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Revenue Act of 1921, c. 136, 42 Stat. 227:

"Sec. 234. (a) That in computing the net in-

come of a corporation subject to the tax imposed by

section 230 there shall be allowed as deductions:

"(3) Taxes paid or accrued within the taxable

year except * "" '•" (b) so much of the income, war-

profits and 6xcess-profits taxes imposed by the

authority of any foreign country or possession of

the United States as is allowed as a credit under

section 238, * * *.

"(b) In the case of a foreign corporation or of

a corporation entitled to the benefits of section 262

the deductions allowed in subdivision (a) shall be

allowed only if and to the extent that they are con-

nected with income from sources within the United

States; and the proper apportionment and allocation

of the deductions with respect to sources within and

without the United States shall be determined as

provided in section 217 under rules and regulations

prescribed by the Commissioner with the approval

of the Secretary.

"Sec. 238. (a) That in the case of a domestic

corporation the tax imposed by this title, plus the

war-profits and excess-profits taxes, if any, shall be

credited with the amovmt of any income, war-profits,

and excess-profits taxes paid during the same tax-

able year to any foreign country, or to any posses-

sion of the United States: Provided, That the

amount of credit taken under this subdivision shall

in no case exceed the same proportion of the taxes,

against which such credit is taken, which the tax-



payer's net income (computed without deduction for

any income, war-profits, and excess-profits taxes im-

posed by any foreign country or possession of the

United States) from sources without the United

States bears to its entire net income (computed

without such deduction) for the same taxable year.

In the case of domestic insurance companies subject

to the tax imposed by section 243 or 246, the term

'net income,' as used in this subdivision means net

income as defined in sections 245 and 246, re-

spectively.

"Sec. 262. (a) That in the case of citizens of

the United States or domestic corporations, satis-

fying the following conditions, gross income means

only gross income from sources within the United

States

—

"(1) If 80 per centum or more of the gross in-

come of such citizen or domestic corporation (com-

puted without the benefit of this section) for the

three-year period immediately preceding the close of

the taxable year (or for such part of such period

immediately preceding the close of such taxable year

as may be applicable) was derived from sources

within a possession of the United States; and

"(2) If, in the case of such corporation. 50 per

centum or more of its gross income (computed

without the benefit of this section) for such period

or such part thereof was derived from the active

conduct of a trade or business within a possession

of the United States; or

"(3) If, in the case of such citizen, 50 per centum

or more of his gross income (computed without the

benefit of this section) for such period or such part
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thereof was derived from the active conduct of a

trade or business within a possession of the United

States either on his own account or as an employee

or agent of another.

"(b) Notwithstanding the provisions of subdivi-

sion (a) there shall be included in gross income all

amounts received by such citizens or corporations

within the United States, whether derived from

sources within or without the United States.

"(c) As used in this section the term 'posses-

sion of the United States' does not include the Virgin

Islands of the United States.

"Sec. 327. That in the following cases the tax

shall be determined as provided in section 328:

* ^ * * *

"(b) In the case of a foreign corporation or of

a corporation entitled to the benefits of section 262;

^ ^ t- ^ 4"-

"Sec. 328. (a) That in the cases specified in

section 327 the tax shall be the amount which bears

the same ratio to the net income of the taxpayer

(in excess of the specific exemption of $3,000) for

the taxable year, as the average tax of representa-

tive corporations engaged in a like or similar trade

or business, bears to their average net income (in

excess of the specific exemption of $3,000) for such

year. In the case of a foreign corporation or of

a corporation entitled to the benefits of section 262

the tax shall be computed without deducting the

specific exemption of $3,000 either for the taxpayer

or the representative corporations.

"In computing the tax under this section the Com-

missioner shall compare the taxpayer only with rep-



resentative corporations whose invested capital can

be satisfactorily determined under section 326 and

which are, as nearly as may be, similarly circum-

stanced with respect to gross income, net income,

profits per unit of business transacted and capital

employed, the amount and rate of war profits or

excess profits, and all other relevant facts and cir-

cumstances.

"(b) For the purposes of subdivision (a) the

ratios between the average tax and the average net

income of representative corporations shall be de-

termined by the Commissioner in accordance with

regulations prescribed by him with the approval of

the Secretary.

"(c) The Commissioner shall keep a record of all

cases in which the tax is determined in the manner

prescribed in subdivision (a), containing the name

and address of each taxpayer, the business in which

engaged, the amount of invested capital and net

income shown by the return, and the amount of

invested capital as determined under such subdivi-

sion. The Commissioner shall furnish a copy of

such record and other detailed information with re-

spect to such cases when required by resolution of

either House of Congress, without regard to the re-

strictions contained in section 257."

Regulations 62:

"Akt. 373. Deduction allozvcd foreign corpora-

tions.—Foreign corporations are allowed the same

deductions from their gross income arising from

sources within the United States as are allowed to

domestic corporations, to the extent that such deduc-

tions are connected with such gross income. The
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proper apportionment and allocation of the deduc-

tions with respect to sources within and without the

United States shall be determined as provided in

section 217 and articles 325-328.

"Art. 611. Credit for foreign taxes.—This credit

includes income, war profits, and excess profits taxes

paid or accrued during the taxable year to any for-

eign country or to any possession of the United

States but shall not exceed the same proportion of

the taxes against which the credit is taken which

the taxpayer's net income (computed without deduc-

tion for any income, war profits, and excess profits

taxes imposed by any foreign country or possession

of the United States) from sources without the

United States bears to its entire net income (com-

puted without such deduction). If the return is for

a fiscal year beginning in 1920 and ending in 1921

the credit shall be determined entirely under the

Revenue Act of 1921 instead of partly under the

Revenue Act of 1918 and partly under the later

statute. To secure such a credit a domestic corpora-

tion must pursue the same course as that pre-

scribed for an individual by article 383, except that

Form 1118 is to be used for claiming credit and

Form 1119 for the bond, if a bond be required. For

the redetermination of the tax, when a credit for

such taxes has been rendered incorrect by later de-

velopments, see article 384, all of the provisions of

which apply with equal force to a corporation tax-

payer. For credit where taxes are paid by a foreign

corporation controlled by a domestic corporation, see

article 612. A claim for credit in such a case is

also to be made on Form 1118. For the meaning

of the terms used in section 238 of the statute see

section 2 and article 382.
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"Art. 901. Treatment of special cases.—In the

cases specified in section 327 of the statute the tax

will be specially determined under the provisions of

section 328, but the tax will not ordinarily be com-

puted under section 328 merely because the corpora-

tion's form or manner of organization, or the limita-

tions imposed by section 326, result in a greater tax

than would otherwise be payable. ^ * '^

*'Art. 911. Computation of tax in special case-s.

—In the cases specified in section 327 of the statute

the tax is to be computed by comparison with rep-

resentative corporations whose invested capital can

be satisfactorily determined under section 326 and

w^hich are engaged in a like or similar trade or busi-

ness and similarly circumstanced. The provisions of

section 328 do not permit the determination of a gen-

eral average for any trade or business. In each case

which comes under the provisions of section 327 the

Commissioner will determine, as nearly as may be,

the group or class of corporations with which the

corporation should be compared and the amount

which bears the same ratio to the net income of the

corporation (in excess of the specific exemption of

$3,000) for the taxable year as the average tax of

such representative corporations bears to their aver-

age net income (in excess of the specific exemption

of $3,000) for such year. The comparison will take

account of similarity with respect to character of

business, size and condition of plant, gross income,

net income, profit per unit of business transacted

and capital employed, the amount and rate of war

profits or excess profits, and all other relevant facts

and circumstances.

"Art. 913. Determination of first installment of

tax in the case of foreign corporation or a corpora-
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tion entitled to the benefits of section 262.—In the

case of a foreign corporation or a corporation enti-

tled to the benefits of section 262 the installments

of the tax shall in the first instance be detennined
upon the basis of a war profits and excess profits

tax computed by using its invested capital for the

taxable year 1917, such tax for the calendar year
1921 not to exceed 20 per cent of the net income
not in excess of $20,000, plus 40 per cent of the

net income in excess of $20,000. For the purpose of

this article the invested capital for 1917 shall he

adjusted for any subsequent changes in its amount
due to cash or property paid in or withdrawn or to

surplus or undivided profits of prior years retained

in the business and properly attributable to its busi-

ness within the United States. If the tax for 1917
was detemiined under section 210 of the revenue
Act of 1917, the constructive capital which would
result in a tax equivalent to the tax determined
under that section shall be used. In the case of a

foreigTi corporation or a corporation entitled to the

benefits of section 262 which was organized subse-

quent to the taxable year 1917, or which had no in-

come from sources within the United States during-

1917, the instalments of the tax shall in the first

instance be determined upon the basis of an excess

profits tax equal to 20 per cent of the net income
not in excess of $20,000, plus 40 per cent of the net

income in excess of $20,000.

"Art. 914. Payment of tax in special cases.—
In any case falling under the last two articles the

installments shall be paid upon the basis therein

provided until the Commissioner notifies the cor-

poration of the amount of tax computed under sec-

tion 328. The installments shall then be recom-
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puted upon the basis of an excess profits tax of such

amount, and if the amount already paid is less than

the amount which would have already become due

if the installments had originally been computed

upon that basis, the additional amount shall be due

and payable ten days after notice and demand from

the collector."

Reveime Act of 1918, c. 18, 40 Stat. 1057:

"The applicable sections are practically identical

with the same sections of the Revenue Act of 1921,

supra."
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The Complete Statiutes of Eiig\land, Vol. 9, pp. 426-

692:

THE INCOME TAX ACT, 1918.

(8 & 9 Geo. 5, c. 40.)

An Act to Consolidate the Enactment relating to Income

Tax. (8th August, 1918.)

PART I.

Charge of Income Tax.

1. Charge of income tax.—Where any Act enacts that

income tax shall be charged for any year at any rate, the

tax at that rate shall be charged for that year in respect

of all property, profits, or gains respectively described or

comprised in the schedules marked A, B, C, D, and E,

contained in the First Schedule to this Act and in accord-

ance with the Rules respectively applicable to those

Schedules.

2. Yearly assessments.—Every assessment and charge

to tax shall be made for a year commencing on the sixth

day of April and ending on the following fifth day of

April, except where under the provisions of this Act

weekly wage-earners are to be assessed and charged

(half yearly).

PART III.

Exemption, Abatement, and Relief.

(Ss. 9-13 rep. 10 & 11 Geo. 5, c. 18, s. 64.)

Jjc jl; sjc ^ :Jc

16. Method of allowance of relief.—Except as other-

wise provided, any (allowance or deduction) shall be



given either by discharge or reduction of the assessment,

or by repayment of the excess which has been paid, or

by all or any of those means, as the case may require.

17. No relief to be given in respect of charges on

income.—A claimant shall not be entitled to (allow-

ance or deduction) or relief in respect of any income

the tax on which he is entitled to charge against any

other person, or to deduct, retain, or satisfy out of any

payment which he is liable to make to any other person.

27. Delivery and allowance of claims for relief.— (1)

Any person who claims (any allowance or deduction,)

shall, within the time limited by this Act for the delivery

of lists, declarations, and statements, or within such

further time as the general commissioners for the divi-

sion may for any special reason allow, deliver to the

assessor of the parish in which he resides, a notice of his

claim, together with a declaration and statement in thj

prescribed form, signed by him, setting forth

—

(a) all the particular sources from which his income

arises, and the particular amount arising from

each source;

(b) all particulars of any yearly interest or other an-

nual payments, reserved or charged thereon,

whereby his income is or may be diminished ; and

(c) all particulars of sums which he has charged or

may be entitled to charge on account of tax

against any other person, or which he has de-

ducted, or in »y be entitled to deduct, out of any

payment to which he is or may be liable.
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(2) Any surveyor may examine every such declara-

tion and statement and take copies of or extracts from

the same.

(3) The assessor shall transmit to the commissioners

the notice of claim and the declaration and statement.

If the surveyor does not within forty days after the

transmission or within such further time as the commis-

sioners on just cause may allow, make any objection to

the claim, the commissioners may allow the claim.

(4) If it appears that any property or profits of the

claimant are charged, or are liable to be charged, in some

other division, the commissioners shall certify the allow-

ance, in the prescribed form, to the Commissioners of

Inland Revenue, who shall direct the appropriate relief to

be given in that other division.

(5) If the surveyor objects in writing to such claim

stating that he has reason to believe that the income of

the claimant, or any other particulars in the declaration

or statement of the claimant, are not truly or fully set

forth in any specified particular, the claim shall be heard

and determined by way of appeal by the general commis-

sioners, in like manner as other appeals under this Act

and with the like liability to penalties, and if the claim

is allowed the commissioners shall grant and issue all

necessary certificates accordingly.

28. Method of making and proving claims.— (1) All

claims (for any allowance or deduction) shall be made

and proved before the general commissioners for the

division in which the claimant resides, pursuant to the

powers and provisions under which tax under Schedule
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D is ascertained and charged, and whether he be person-

ally charged in that division or not.

(2) If the whole income of the claimant arises from

an office or employment of profit, or from a pension or

stipend under the jurisdiction of the commissioners of

a department or office, the claim may be made to and

allowed by those commissioners.

(3) If a claimant is not within the United Kingdom,

an affidavit stating the particulars required by this Act,

and taken before any person who has authority to ad-

minister, in the place where the claimant resides, an oath

with regard to any matter relating to the public revenue

of the United Kingdom, may be received by the respec-

tive commissioners.

(4) If satisfactory proof is given to the commission-

ers that a claimant is unable to attend in person, a claim,

on his behalf may be made by any guardian, trustee, at-

torney, agent or factor acting for him.

(5) Where a person is assessable on behalf of any

other person, he may make a claim as aforesaid on be-

half of that other person.

29. General commissioners to certify c^aim to special

commissioners.— (1) If it is proved to the satisfaction

of the general commissioners that any person whose

claim for (allowance or deduction) or relief has been

allowed, has paid any tax, by deduction or otherwise, the

general commissioners may, in the form prescribed, cer-

tify the factb i)T-oved before them to the special commis-

sioners.



(2) The certificate of the general commissioners

shall state the particulars of the different sources of in-

come in respect of which tax has been paid, the relief to

which the claimant is entitled, the amount repayable in

respect thereof, and the name and place of abode of the

claimant.

(3) On receipt of the certificate, the special commis-

sioners shall issue an order for repayment.

^ :ic ^ % ;f:

33. Relief to life insurance companies and others in

respect of expenses of management.— (1) Where an

assurance company carrying on life assurance business,

or any companies whose business consists mainly in the

making of investments, and the principal part of whose

income is derived therefrom, or any savings bank or

other bank for savings, claims and proves to the satisfac-

tion of the special commissioners that, for any year

of assessment, it has been charged to tax by deduction

or otherwise, and has not been charged in respect of its

profits in accordance with the rules applicable to Case I.

of Schedule D, the company or bank shall be entitled to

repayment of so much of the tax paid by it as is equal

to the amount of the tax on any sums disbursed as ex-

penses of management (including commissions) for that

year ; * * *

34. Rehef in respect of certain losses.— (1) Where

any person sustains a loss in any trade, profession, em-

ployment or vocation, carried on by him either solely or

in partnership, or in the occupation of lands for the pur-

pose of husbandry only, or in the occupation of wood-

lands in respect of which he has elected to be charged to
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tax under Schedule D, he may upon giving notice in

writing to the surveyor within (one year) after the year

of assessment, apply to the general commissioners or to

the special commissioners, for an adjustment of his lia-

bility by reference to the loss and to the aggregate

amount of his income for that year estimated according

to this Act.

(2) The commissioners shall, on proof to their satis-

faction of the amount of the loss, and ox the payment

of tax upon the aggregate amount of income, give a

certificate authorising repayment of so much of the suin

paid for tax as would represent the tax upon income

equal to the amount of loss, and the certificate may ex-

tend to give any exemption, abatement, or relief depend-

ing upon total income from all sources, authorised by

this Act.

Upon the receipt of the certificate the Commissioners

of Inland Revenue shall cause repayment to be made in

conformity therewith.*****
PART X.

Miscellaneous.

^ ^ ^ ^

211. Provisions as to charge and deduction of tax in

any year not charged or deducted before the passing of

annual Act.— (1) Where in any year of assessment any

half-yearly or quarterly pa\Tnents have been made on

account of any interest, dividends or other annual profits

or gains, previously to the passing of the Act imposing the

tax for that year, and tax has not been charged thereon

or deducted therefrom, or has not been charged thereon or



—7—

deducted therefrom at the rate ultimately imposed for the

said year, the amount not so charged or deducted shall be

charged under Schedule D in respect of those payments,

as profits or gains not charged by virtue of any other

Schedule, under Case Vl. of Schedule D, and the agents

entrusted with the payment of the interest, dividends or

other annual profits or gains shall furnish to the Commis-

sioners of Inland Revenue a list containing the names and

addresses of the jersons to whom payments have been

made and the amount of those payments, upon a requisi-

tion made by those Commissioners in that behalf,

jjc ^ :jj ^

237. Interpretation.—In this Act, unless the context

otherwise requires:

—

:}: ^ ;Ji :);

"Body of persons" means any body politic, cor-

porate, or collegiate, and any company, fraternity,

fellowship and society or persons, whether corporate

or not corporate;

:|c ^K H^ H=

Schedule D.

;|< ^ ^ H=

2. Tax under this Schedule shall be charged under the

following cases respectively; that is to say,

—

'I* T* 'P -T^

Case VI.
—"Tax in respect of any annual profits or

gains not falling under any of the foregoing Cases,

and not charged by virtue of any other Schedule;

and subject to and in accordance with the rules applicable

to the said Cases respectively.

* * * *
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Miscellaneous Rules applicable to Schedule D.

1. Tax under this Schedule shall be charged on and

paid by the persons or bodies of persons receiving or

entitled to the income in respect of which tax under this

Schedule is hereinbefore directed to be charged.

;< :!; ^ ^;

General Rules applicable to Schedules A, B, C, D, and E.

* *

20. The profits or gains to be charged on any body of

persons shall be computed in accordance with the pro-

visions' of this Act on the full amount of the same before

any dividend thereof is made in respect of any share, right

or title thereto, and the body of persons paying such divi-

dend shall be entitled to deduct the tax appropriate thereto.

* ^: =1: :;<

23.— (1) A person who refuses to allow a deduction of

tax authorised by this Act to be made out of any payment,

shall forfeit the sum of fifty povmds.

(2) Every agreement for payment of interest, rent,

or other annua.1 payment in full without allowing any such

deduction shall i}e void.

Hi * >!i

FIFTH SCHEDULE.
Statements, Lists, and Declarations.

5j; sji ^ ^

IX.—By every Person entitled to Profits of an Uncertain

Value not before stated, or any Interest, Annuity,

Annual Payment, Discount or Dividend, to be

charged under Schedule D.
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The full amount of the profits or gains arising there-

from within the preceding year.

:)c :•; :!; :(;

THE FINANXE ACT. 1920.

(10& 11 Geo. 5, c. 18.)

An Act to grant certain duties of Customs and Inland

Revenue (including Excise), to alter other duties,

and to amend the Law relating to Customs and Inland

Revenue (including Excise), and the National Debt,

and to make further provision in connection with

Finance. (4th August, 1920.)

Part II.

Income Tax.

(S. 14 rep. 17 & 18 Geo. 5, c. 42 (S. L. R.).)

^ ^ ^ ^

27. Relief in respect of Dominion income tax.— (1) If

any person who has p^id, by deduction or otherwise, or is

liable to pay. United Kingdom income tax for any year of

assessment or any part of his income proves to the satis-

faction of the Special Commissioners that he has paid

Dominion income tax for that year in respect of the same

part of his income, he shall be entitled to relief from

United Kingdom income tax paid or payable by him on

that part of his income at a rate thereon to be determined

as follows :

—

(a) If the Dominion rate of tax does not exceed one-

half of the (appropriate rate of United Kingdom

income) tax, the rate at which relief is to be given

shall be the Dominion rate of tax:
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(b) In any other case the rate at which rehef is to be

given shall be one-half of the (appropriate rate of

United Kingdom income) tax.

^ % ^ 5|j

THE FINANCE ACT, 1924.

(14& 15 Geo. 5, c. 21.)

An Act to grant certain Duties of Customs and Inland

Revenue (including Excise), to alter other Duties,

and to amend the Law relating to Customs and Inland

Revenue (including Excise) and the National Debt,

and to make further provision in connection with

Finance. (1st August, 1924.)

^ T^ 'K -f*

PART II.

Income Tax and Inhabited House Duty.

^ ^ ^ ^

33. Explanation of income tax deduction to be annexed

to dividend warrants, etc.

—

(1) Every warrant or cheque

or other order drawn or made, or purporting to be drawn

or made, after the thirtieth day pi November, nineteen

hundred and twenty-four, in payment of any dividend or

interest distributed by any company, being a company

within the meaning of the Companies (Consolidation)

Act, 1908, or a company created by letters patent or by

or in pursuance of an Act of Parliament, shall have

annexed thereto or be accompanied by a statement in

writing showing

—

(a) the gross amount which, after deduction of the

income tax appropriate thereto, corresponds to the

net amount actually paid ; and
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(b) the rate and the amount (^f income tax appropriate

to such gross amount ; and

(c) the net amount actually paid.

^ ^ ^ ^

THE FINANCE ACT, 1927.

(17&18Geo. 5, c. 10.)

An Act to grant certain duties of Customs and Inland

Revenue (including Excise), to alter other duties,

and to amend the law relating to Customs and Inland

Revenue (including Excise) and the National Debt,

and to make further provision in connection with

Finance. (29th July, 1927.)

PART III.

Amendment with respect to Method of charging additional

Income Tax on higher income, basis of assessment

under Schedule E., etc.

;(; H: * *

39. Provisions with respect to income tax chargeable

by way of deduction.— (1) Such of the provisions of the

Income Tax Acts as provide that income tax may be

deducted from any payment at the rate or rates of tax in

force during the period through which the payment was

.accruing due, or that there may be deducted from any divi-

dend the^ tax appropriate thereto, or that a proportionate

deduction of the tax charged shall be allowed by any per-

son out of any produce or value payable to him, shall have

effect as if they provided that tax may be deducted or shall

be allowed at the standard rate for the year in which the

amount payable becomes due: * * *,
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APPENDIX "C"

Sixty-Fifth Report of the Commissioners of His

Majesty's Inland Revenue, For the Year ended 31st

March, 1922:

Income Tax, 1921-22 (pp. 89-90) :

OUTLINE OF THE TAX.

"1. * * * In the mam it is a taiv on the incomes of

individuals. This fact may be illustrated by Table 67

of our last Report, which showed that out of a total

actual income of £2,547,179,823 assessed to tax in

1919-20 nearly 90 per cent, was distributed among
individuals resident in the United Kingdom. The

remaining 10 per cent, accrued to and w^as retained by

corporate bodies

—

e.g., undistributed profits of limited

liability companies—or accrued to person resident

outside the United Kingdom. The Income Tax borne

by individuals resident in the United Kingdom is a

graduate tax, that is, the real effective rate of tax

levied on each pound of actual total income rises

gradually from a fraction of a penny in the pound

until, in combination with the Super-tax, it closely

approaches a maximum rate represented by the sum

of the standard rate of Income Tax and the highest

rate of Super-tax. Income Tax borne by individuals

is thus one tax on the total income of the individual,

and not a series of taxes on the separate sources of

his income. It is imposed in terms of a 'standard

rate' for a 'year of assessment,' which runs from the

6th April in one calendar year to the 5th April of the

following year. The object of the operations of

assessment and collection of the tax is to secure ^hat

every individual pays just that amount of tax which



is proper to his particular total income and circum-

stances, and that all non-personal income bears tax at

the .standard rate of tax in force for the year of

assessment. * * * (Italics supplied.)

THE GENERAL SCOPE OF THE TAX
"2. Income Tax extends, broadly speaking, to:

—

(a) all income arising in the United King-

dom, by whomsoever it may be enjoyed;

and

(b) all income accruing to a person residing

in the United Kingdom, without regard

to the place where it may arise.

jj: ^ >is H= ;}:

"3. The expression 'person residing in the United

Kingdom' includes, as well as individuals, companies

or other bodies or associations of individuals. * * *"

Schedule D, 1921-22 (pp. 96-97)

:

"27. Case I. Broadly speaking, trade profit brought

into the computation of the assessment is the differ-

ence between the gross receipts and the expenses

incurred wholly and exclusively for the purposes of

the business. Among such expenses may be mentioned

debts which are proved to be bad, doubtful debts to

the extent that they are estimated to be bad, and any

Excess Profits Duty or Corporation Profits Tax

which has been paid in respect of the business. The

net amount upon which tax has been paid under

Schedule A in respect, of lands and buildings owned

by the trader and occupied for the purposes of his

business is also deducted in arriving at the profit, in

order to avoid a double charge of tax on that part of

the total profit of the business. In the case of mills.
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factories, and other similar premises, an additional

deduction is allowed as explained in the following

paragraph. The Acts prohibit deductions in respect

of capital charges, lost capital, losses unconnected

with the business, and private and domestic expenses.

They also prohibit, under the system of collection at

the source (sec para. 41 et seq.), the deduction of cer-

tain charges which would normally be regarded as

commercial expenses. Such charges include any

annual interest on borrowed money, annuity, or other

annual pav-ment payable out of the profit, and any

royalty in respect of a patent. The total profit

brought into the computation of the assessment thus

includes these charges, but as the trader is entitled

on paying the interest, royalty, etc., to deduct there-

from income tax at the standard rate of tax appro-

priate to the period to which the interest, royalty, etc.,

relates, he recovers in this manner the tax relating to

that part of the total profits paid away to other

persons."

Schedule E. 1021-22 (pp. 103-105):

COLLECTION OF THE TAX
"41. The peculiar distinction of the British In-

cmne Tax is collection at the source. Broadly speak-

ing, wihenez'cr it is possible to do so, tax is obtained

by deducting it before the income reaches the person

to whom it belongs. Wherever possible, the formal

assessment is laid on each source of income by itself,

and on persons who are debtors in respect of income

belonging to other persons. Power is given to the

payers of income to deduct the appropriate tax from

the payments made to the ultimate proprietors of

that income. For instance, instead of tax being col-

lected directly from the various persons who may be



interested in the rents arising from lands or build-

ings which are let, it is normally assessed on and re-

covered from the occupier of the property, who de-

ducts it from the rent paid to his landlord. He, in

his turn, if the property is encumbered with a mort-

gage or subject to a ground rent, may deduct the

appropriate tax from the payments of those charges.

Similarly, a limited liability company is assessed to

tax at the standard rate on the whole of its profits,

without reference to the ultimate destination of

those profits. On paying interest to its debenture

holders or dividends to its shareholders, the company

is entitled to deduct and retain the amount of tax

appropriate to the interest paid or dividend distri-

buted, and the investor thus receives his interest or

dividend subject to this deduction of tax." (Italics

supplied.)

"42. The principal classes of income on which

tax is collected by deduction at the source are the

following

—

5|t 5|C ^ H' jK

''Schednile D. Dividends, debenture and other in-

terest paid by limited liability companies ; interest

and dividends payable by Dominion and Foreign

companies through agents in the United Kingdom;

coupons for dividends payable abroad which are

realised through a banker or coupon dealer in the

United Kingdom; patent royalties; annual interest

and annuities payable under contracts.

^ ^t :(: :Jf 5}:

It is estimated that in 1921-22 approximately 67 per

cent of the net yield of the tax was collected at the

source.

"43. Whether the tax charged in respect of any

income brought into assessment is collected by de-
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duction at the source or not thus depends upon ihc

ultimate proprietorship of the income assessed. So

far as the person charged is not the ultimate pro-

prietor, the tax is collected by deduction at the

source; so far as he is, the tax is collected directly.

The chief classes of income in respect of which the

tax is collected directly are the profits from trade

of individuals, whether sole or partnership traders,

the like profits of limited liability eonipmiies so far

as they are not distributed to shareholders, deben-

ture holders, etc.; profits from the occupation of

land; income from professions and most employ-

ments; income from Dominion and Foreign securi-

ties and possessions not paid through agents in the

United Kingdom ; income from certain interest, dis-

counts, etc. (Italics supplied.)

"44. The income of limited liability companies is

charged in the assessments at the full standard rate

of tax. With certain exceptions, income on which

tax is collected at the source is similarly charo:ed and

tax is deducted from the recipient of the income

at the full standard rate. * * *."
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Statement of the Case.

This amici curiae brief is filed pursuant to leave of

Court heretofore granted.

The question is whether a British corporation, in

computing its United States income for Federal income

tax purposes, is entitled to deduct British income taxes

paid with respect to such income, even though, during

the taxable year, the British corporation pursuant to the

British tax laws deducted from dividends paid to its

stockholders the amount of such British taxes.



Our interest in the case is that we represent stock-

holders of British corporations who have received divi-

dends from such corporations from which British income

taxes have been deducted by the payor corporations.

These stockholders, in computing their Federal income

taxes, claimed the right to a deduction or credit for

such British taxes. The decision of this case as to the

status of British income taxes paid by a British corpo-

ration but deducted from dividends paid its stockholders

will have an important bearing on the claims of stock-

holders for a deduction or credit for such British taxes.

We contend that a British corporation is not entitled

to deduct, for Federal income tax purposes, a British

income tax which it has paid but which it has deducted

from dividends paid to its stockholders, because in such

a case the corporation has fully recouped the tax and the

tax is imposed on and paid by the stockholders and the

stockholders bear the burden of the tax.

Our position is in accordance \^dth the practice of

the Bureau of Internal Eevenue for many years, and

we agree ^vith Counsel for the Collector of Internal

Revenue that the decision of the lower court should be

reversed. To reach this result it is not necessary for the

Court to hold that the British corporation is not a tax-

payer, or that it acts merely as a tax collector for the

British Government or agent for the stockholders to pay

their taxes.

The facts in the present case are: During the taxable

year the appellee, a British corporation, doing business

in the United States, and subject to Federal income taxes,

received 99.75% of its total net income from sources with-

in the United States. It paid to the British Government

income taxes equivalent to $41,657.19, of which $41,553.05

was allocable to the income from sources within the

United States. The appellee deducted from dividends

paid to its stockholders during the taxable year an amount
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at least equal to $41,553.05 on account of such British

income taxes (R., 20, 21). It does not appear from the

record whether the dividends were at "fixed rates" on

"preference" shares or dividends declared on "ordinary"
shares. The appellee claimed the right to a deduction of

$41,553.05 in computing its Federal income taxes under

the provisions of the Revenue Act which allow a deduc-

tion for "Taxes paid or accrued within the taxable year
* * *." The lower court sustained the appellee.

It was stipulated in the lower court that the court

could take judicial notice of the British tax law there

incorporated in the briefs of counsel (R., 34). The British

tax law so introduced in evidence is discussed in the

argument herein.

Statutes Involved.

The statutes involved, both Federal and British, are

set forth in the appendix hereto.

Summary of Argument.

Appellee claims a deduction under the sections of the

Federal Revenue Acts allowing deductions for taxes paid

or accrued within the taxable year. The statutory deduc-

tions allowed to taxpayers under the Federal Revenue

Acts for amounts paid or accrued do not include amounts

paid or accrued which the taxpayer is entitled to and

does recoup from others.

Under the British income tax system the appellee was

entitled to and did recoup the British income taxes by

deducting the amount of such taxes from the dividends

paid to its stockholders.

The British income tax system in the taxation of cor-

porate income and dividends has no exact counterpart

in the United States tax laws. The system contemplates

that corporate income distributed as dividends shall bear

one tax. This is carried out by requiring the corporation

to pay the tax initially, and authorizing the corporation



to deduct the amount of the tax from the dividends it

pays. The corporation thus is entitled to recoup the

tax or reimburse itself by discharging its indebtedness to

its stockholders, by payment of that indebtedness less the

amount of the taxes.

The provisions of the British income tax statutes and

decisions of the British courts show that the tax, to the

extent of the amount deducted from the dividends, is a

tax imposed upon the stockholders and not upon the cor-

poration. Consequently, to the extent of the amount de-

ducted from dividends, the stockholders and not the cor-

poration are entitled to the deduction or credit in com-

puting Federal income taxes. The corporation is entitled

to the deduction to the extent it does not reimburse itself

by deduction from the dividends.

Under the British tax law, provision is made for re-

fund of taxes by the British Government to a stockholder

who has received a dividend from which the tax has been

deducted, but who does not have sufficient income to be

subject to income tax. This shows beyond question that

when a deduction from the dividend is made on account

of the tax, the tax is then a tax on the stockholder and

not on the corporation.

In computing income for surtaxes the stockholder must

include the gross dividends and he pays surtaxes on the

gross dividends, although he only receives the net divi-

dend, showing that the income tax is borne by the stock-

holder when it is deducted from the dividend.

In the case of a "fixed rate" of dividends, as on pref-

erence shares, the obligation of the payor corporation is

satisfied by payment of the fixed rate less the income

tax deducted therefrom, and the payment of any greater

amount would be a payment in excess of the fixed rate,

again showing the tax deducted from dividends is a tax

on the stockholder.

If, for some reason, the corporation does not pay a

tax on income and makes no deduction in paying divi-



dends, the tax can be assessed directly against the stock-

holder. This shows that the tax whether paid by deduc-

tion or by direct assessment is a tax on the stockholder.

The language of the British courts has not been en-

tirely consistent as to whether the corporation is re-

garded as a taxpayer itself in the first instance or is re-

garded merely as a tax collector for the Government or

agent for the stockholders to pay their taxes. It is un-

necessary for the court in the present case to decide this

question. If the corporation is merely a collector of the

stockholders' taxes for the government, obviously the cor-

poration is entitled to no deduction for such tax. Even if

the corporation is a taxpayer, it is not entitled to deduct

any part of the tax for which it is fully reimbursed by de-

ducting such amount from dividends as a tax on the stock-

holders pursuant to British law.

The corporation, of course, may never declare a divi-

dend and, if it does not, it is entitled to the deduction in

computing Federal income taxes, because in such a case

it actually bears the burden of the tax and does not re-

coup it.

Difficult questions may arise as to the precise treat-

ment of the deduction for Federal income tax purposes

where the British tax is paid by the corporation in one

year and the deduction from dividends is made in later

years at the then standard rate of tax, which may be

different from that paid by the corporation in the first

year. These questions are not involved in the present

case and in any event their determination does not affect

the proposition that to the extent of the deduction from

the dividends the tax is recouped by the corporation and

is a tax imposed upon the stockholders.

The practice of the Bureau of Internal Revenue for

many years has been to allow the deduction to the British

corporation for Federal income tax purposes to the ex-

tent that no deduction is made from dividends and to

allow the deduction or credit to the stockholders to the



extent of the deduction from the dividends. This admin-

istrative construction should be sustained. It allows the

deduction or the credit to the taxpayer who actually bears

the burden of the British taxes.

ARGUMENT.
In computing Federal income taxes a British

corporation is not entitled to deduct British,

income tax paid to the British Government
^vhich, pursuant to the British tax law, it has
fully recouped and -which tax has been borne
by its stockholders by deduction of the tax from
dividends paid.

Appellee maintains that it is entitled to deduct from
income of the fiscal year ending May 21, 1921, British

income taxes of $41,553.05 paid by it in that year with

respect to its United States income as "Taxes paid or

accrued within the taxable year * * *" (section 234[a] [3],

Revenue Acts of 1918, 1921). We maintain that the cor-

poration is not entitled to such deduction because during

the same year, pursuant to the British tax law, it de-

ducted from dividends paid to its stockholders at least

$41,553.05 on account of the British income taxes paid,

thus fully recouping the amount paid and reimbursing

itself for such tax payment. In such a case, the British

income tax, although initially imposed on and paid by

the corporation, is by virtue of the provisions of the

British statutes recouped by the corporation and imposed

on the stockholders as an income tax.

(a) Statutory deductions allowed taxpayers under the
Federal Revenue Acts for amounts paid or accrued
DO NOT include AMOUNTS WHICH THE TAXPAYER IS EN-

TITLED TO AND DOES RECOUP FROM OTHERS,

We maintain that taxpayers are entitled to deduct the

various payments and accruals specified in section 234(a),



Revenue Acts of 1918 and 1921 only to the extent that

they do not recover such amounts as such from others.

We show below that under the British tax law the appel-

lee was entitled to and did recoup the entire amount of

the British income tax which it paid in the fiscal year

1921 from its stockholders by deducting from their divi-

dends declared and paid the British income taxes imposed

on the stockholders with respect to such dividends.

The statute allows taxpayers to deduct business ex-

penses paid or incurred during the taxable year, depre-

ciation, taxes, losses, etc. (section 234[a]). It seems

obvious that these deductions must be limited to items, the

burden of which is borne by the taxpayer and which it

is not entitled to collect as such from others, although no

such express limitation appears in the statute {Paul and

Mertens Law of Federal Income Taxation, Vol. 3, page

42).

For example, the statute permits the deduction of a

reasonable allowance for depreciation of property (section

234[a] [7]) but such depreciation, even if it has occurred,

can not be deducted by the owner of rented property

if the tenant is obliged to make good the depreciation.

{Commissioner of Internal Revenue v. Terre Haute Elec-

tric Co., Inc., 67 F. [2d] 697; Reiner v. Wilhelm, 28 F.

[2d] 30).

Losses deductible under section 234(a) (4) are limited

to losses "not compensated for by insurance or other-

wise," the limitation here being expressed in the stat-

ute. Similarly amortization deductible under section

234(a) (8) can be deducted only with respect to part of

the cost of the property which "has been borne by the

taxpayer." See also Article 129 of Regulations 77.

The same principle must apply to the deduction for

British income taxes which are recouped by the corpora-

tion and borne by the stockholders. If the taxpayer,

under the applicable statutes, is entitled to and does re-

coup the taxes paid and reimburses itself, it should not
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be allowed a deduction for a payment the burden of

which did not actually fall upon it. Congress did not in-

tend by the provision for the deduction of taxes paid or

accrued that the deduction should be allowed under

such circumstances.

(b) Under the British income tax system the appellee
was entitled to, and did, recoup the amount of the
British income taxes paid by deducting the amount
OF SUCH taxes from THE DIVIDENDS PAID TO ITS STOCK-

HOLDERS. Consequently the appellee is not entitled

TO the DEDUCTION.

The British tax system in its taxation of corporate in-

come and dividends has no exact counterpart in the United

States tax laws. The system as historically developed

contemplates that corporate income distributed as a divi-

dend shall bear one tax.

The manner in which this is carried out under the

British system in general is as follows

:

The general structure of the British income tax is

established by the Income Tax Act of 1918, as amended

from time to time. An annual Finance Act is passed

each year which establishes the rates of tax for the cur-

rent year. The tax at this so-called ''standard rate",

usually about 20%, is imposed on income whether corpo-

rate or individual. A separate excess profits tax on cor-

porations and a separate super-tax on individuals were

also in effect in 1921, but the tax with which we are con-

cerned is the income tax.

The manner in which the tax at the standard rate is

levied is governed b}^ Rule 20 of the General Rules which

are part of the Income Tax Act of 1918. Rule 20 reads

as follows:

"The profits or gains to be charged on any body
of persons [corporation] shall be computed in ac-

cordance with the provisions of this Act on the

full amount of the same before any dividend there-



of is made in respect of any share, right or title

thereto, and the body of persons paying such
dividend shall be entitled to deduct the tax appro-
priate thereto."

The first step, therefore, is the imposition of the tax

on the corporation on its net income before distribution

of dividends. The corporation, however, is entitled, upon
paying dividends, to deduct the tax "appropriate there-

to", i. e., at the standard rate then in effect. By rule 23,

a penalty is imposed upon any person who refuses to

allow such deduction to be made. The tax is ordinarily

imposed and collected in this way but provision is made
for direct assessment on the stockholder if for some rea-

son the tax has not been paid by the corporation and is

not deducted from the dividends, as, for example, if the

dividends are declared and paid before the passing of the

annual Finance Act which provides the rate of tax. (Sec-

tion 211 [1] Income Tax Act, 1918.)

The British tax system thus contemplates that the

corporation pay the tax initially and authorizes the cor-

poration to deduct the tax from dividends paid. The cor-

poration therefore is entitled to recoup the amount paid

and discharge its indebtedness to its stockholders, whether

such indebtedness is a fixed liability, as in the case of

"preference" shares, or a liability created by the declara-

tion of a dividend on "ordinary" shares, by pa>Tnent of

that indebtedness less the amount of the taxes paid to the

Government. In so doing the corporation directly re-

imburses itself for the amount initially paid to the gov-

ernment. We show below that the tax to the extent of

the amount deducted from the dividends is a tax imposed

upon the stockholders and not upon the corporation, and

that the deduction is not treated as a mere reduction in

the rate of the dividends.

In the present case the appellee received income upon

which it became liable for British income taxes. It paid
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the taxes and during the same year deducted from divi-

dends paid to its stockholders an amount equal to the

taxes. The appellee thus has fully recouped the amount
paid and has been reimbursed for the tax paid to the

British Government and should not be entitled to the

deduction.

(c) The pro^^sions of the British income tax statutes
AND decisions OF THE BrITISH COURTS SHOW THAT THE
TAX TO THE EXTENT OF THE AMOUNT DEDUCTED FROM
THE DIVIDENDS IS A TAX IMPOSED UPON THE STOCKHOLDERS
AND NOT UPON THE CORPORATION. CONSEQUENTLY TO

THAT EXTENT THE CORPORATION IS NOT ENTITLED TO DE-

DUCT THE British tax in computing its Federal
INCOME TAXES.

The provisions of the British income tax statutes

and the decisions of the British courts make it clear that

the British income tax to the extent of the deduction from

dividends on account thereof is a tax imposed on stock-

holders. Provision is made for refund of taxes by the

British Grovernment to a stockholder who has received

a dividend from which a tax has been deducted but

who does not have sufficient net income to be subject to

income tax. Section 29, British Income Tax Act of 1918,

as amended by the Finance Act 1920, provides

:

"If it is proved to the satisfaction of the general

commissioners that any person whose claim for

allowance or deduction or relief has been allowed,

has paid any tax, by deduction or otherivise, the

general commissioners may, in the form prescribed,

certify the facts proved before them to the special

commissioners." (Italics ours.)

The section goes on to provide for repayment on certifi-

cate of the general commissioners. For example, assume

an individual owns stock on which a dividend amounting

to £50 is declared; that a tax of £10 is deducted and the
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individual receives only £40. Assuming he had no other

income or that his income was offset by statutoiy deduc-

tions, so that his net income was less than the specific

exemption, he would be entitled to have the British Gov-

ernment pay him the £10 deducted by the corporation on

account of his dividend.

The fact that the stockholder under the above circum-

stances is entitled to a refund shows beyond question that

when the tax is deducted from the dividends the deduc-

tion is made on account of the tax and it is then a tax

on the stockholder. If the tax remained a tax upon the

corporation, obviously there could be no refund by the

Government to the stockholder. This also shows the

deduction is not considered a mere reduction in the rate

of dividends.

In computing income for surtaxes the stockholder

must report not the net amount of dividend he actually

receives, but the gross dividend, and he must pay surtaxes

on the gross dividend. In the case of Sir Marcus Samuel,

Bart. V. Commissioners of Inland Revenue, "VTI British

Tax Cases 277 (1918), the court held that where a com-

pany paid a dividend of £100 to a shareholder "free of

tax", his actual share of the earnings of the company

was not the £100 he actually received, but £100 plus the

tax. That case involved a dividend "free of tax" as dis-

tinguished from a dividend from which the tax is de-

ducted, but the reasoning is equally applicable to either

case. Again, it is obvious that the tax must be considered

as imposed on the stockholder to the extent that it is

deducted from his dividends.

In the case of a "fixed rate" dividend, as on prefer-

ence shares, distribution of a dividend at the limited fixed

rate without deduction of the tax was held to be illegal,

indicating that the company would fully satisfy its obliga-

tion to pay the fixed rate by paying the amount thereof

less the tax. In such a case the net amount actually

received bv the stockholder varies from vear to vear with
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the variations in the rate of tax. His income, however,

is the ''gross" amount of the dividend and remains con-

stant. 'See Ashton Gas' Cow,pany v. Attorney General,

75 L. J. Ch. 1, 93 L. T. 676 (House of Lords, 1906) and Sir

Marcus Samuel, Bart. v. Commissioners of Inland Rev-

enue, supra. Again it is obvious that the tax is imposed
upon the stockholder when it is deducted from the divi-

dends. In the present case the record does not show
whether the dividends paid were dividends at a "fixed

rate" on preference shares or dividends declared on ordi-

nary shares.

In some instances it happens that the income tax is

not paid by the corporation. For example, if income is

received and a dividend declared during the year but

prior to the passage of the annual Finance Act which

provides the tax for the current year, the corporation

may pay the dividend without deducting any tax. In

that event the corporation may be called upon for re-

turns somewhat similar to the Federal information re-

turns, but the tax is assessed directly against the stock-

holder. The corporation pays no tax. (Section 211 [1]

Income Tax Act, 1918; Konstam, K.C., The Law of Income

Tax, pages 245, 271.) The same procedure of direct assess-

ment against the stockholders is followed if a dividend i«

paid in property and not in cash. This shows that the

tax whether paid by deduction or by direct assessment is

a tax on the stockholders.

The language of decisions of the British courts has

not been entirely consistent as to whether the corpora-

tion is regarded as a taxpayer itself in the first instance,

or whether it is regarded merely as a tax collector for

the government or as an agent of the stockholders to pay

their taxes. In the early case of Ashton Gas Company v.

Attorney General, 75 L.J. Ch. 1, 93 L.T. 676 (House of

Lords, 1906), the corporation was referred to as a tax

collector, while in later cases such as Commissioners of

Inland Revenue v. Blott, 2 App. Cas. 171 (House of Lords,
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1921), it is said that the company is a taxpayer and

does not pay a tax as agent of the stockholder when it

pays it to the Crown. It is unnecessary for the Court

in the present case to decide this question.

If the view be taken that the coi^Doration is merely a

tax collector or agent for the stockholders then the case

is analogous to sales taxes and similar taxes in the United

States which are levied on the purchaser and collected

and paid by the vendor. In those situations the deduc-

tion is of course allowable only to the purchaser. Even
if the view be taken that the corporation is a taxpayer,

nevertheless, as pointed out above, it is not entitled to

the deduction because it is reimbursed to the extent it

deducts the tax from the dividends. There can be no

doubt the stockholder is a taxpayer and bears the burden

of the tax to the extent it is deducted from dividends.

It is true, of course, that the corporation may never

declare a dividend and thus may never reimburse itself

for the tax it has paid and the tax may never be borne

by the stockholders. In such cases the corporation bears

the tax and is entitled to the deduction in computing its

Federal income taxes, but this does not affect the propo-

sition that where, as in the present case, the corporation

did declare a dividend and did deduct the tax, the corpo-

ration has been reimbursed and the tax has been borne

by the stockholder.

Also, it ma}' happen that the corporation will pay a

dividend in a year subsequent to that in which it received

the income and paid the taxes to the Government and in

a year for which the tax rate has been changed. The

tax will be deducted at the rate in effect for the year

in which the dividends are paid. In such a case difificult

questions may arise as to the precise treatment of the

deduction for Federal income tax purposes. Whether

the corporation should take the deduction for the year

in which it paid the tax and later adjust its income for
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that year depending on the amount actually deducted, or

whether it should be allowed the deduction for the first

year and take up as income in the subsequent year the

amount deducted, are questions which do not arise in the

present case. Here the income was earned, the dividend

was declared and the tax deducted in the same year. In

any event the determination of these questions does not

affect the proposition that to the extent of the deduc-

tion from the dividends, the corporation is reimbursed and

the tax is imposed upon the stockholders.

(d) The practice or the Bureau of Internal Revenue
FOR many years HAS BEEN TO ALLOW THE DEDUCTION TO

THE British corporation to the extent that no de-

duction IS made from dividends and to allow the de-

duction OR CREDIT TO THE STOCKHOLDERS TO THE EXTENT
OF THE DEDUCTION FROM THE DIVIDENDS. ThIS ADMIN-
ISTRATIVE CONSTRUCTION SHOULD BE SUSTAINED.

The Bureau of Internal Revenue in iSolicitor's Memo-
randum 3040 (Cumulative Bulletin IV-1, p. 198, 1925) and

in Solicitor's Memorandum 5363 (Cumulative Bulletin

V-1, p. 89, 1926) ruled that the income tax paid by a

British corporation to the British Government is a tax

which may or may not be borne by the corporation; that

to the extent of the deduction on account thereof from

profits distributed as dividends it is a tax on the stock-

holder and the stockholder is entitled to the deduction

or credit; and that to the extent no deduction is made

the tax is deductible by the corporation. (We understand

that recently the Bureau of Internal Revenue because of

the decision of the lower court in this case has disallowed

the deduction to corporations and also the deduction or

credit to stockholders solely in order to avoid the pos-

sibility that both the corporations and the stockholders

might receive the benefit of a deduction or credit for the

same tax.)
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In Solicitor's Memorandum 5363 supra, it was said:

"The entire income tax paid by a British corpo-
ration to the British Government for a given year
on its gains and profits may or may not be borne
by the corporation. The tax which it bears is the
tax directly assessed against it on its gains and
profits pins any tax withheld from income received
by the corporation during the year, less (a) the

tax deducted and retained on annual charges on
profits reported for tax and (b) the tax on the
profits distributed as dividends.

''The tax deducted from profits distributed as
dividends is a tax against the shareholder. The
tax deducted from interest payments or annual
charges is a tax against the recipient of the inter-

est or other annual payments. The tax on the
profits which are retained by the corporation is a

tax against the corporation."

This practice of the Bureau of Internal Revenue has

been approved by the Board of Tax Appeals. Basil

Rohillard, Executor, 20 B. T. A. 685, 689, aff'd 50 F. (2d)

1083. Such long-established practice should not be dis-

turbed.

Breivster v. Gage, 280 U. S. 227

;

National Lead Co. v. Ufiited States, 252 U. S. 140.

See cases cited in

Paul and Mertens Law of Federal Income Taxa-

tion, pp. 47, 48.

We submit that the practice of the Bureau of Internal

Revenue is sound. It allows the deduction or the credit

to the taxpayer who actually bears the burden of the

British taxes.

Conclusion.

Appellee, pursuant to British tax law, fully recouped

the amount of British income taxes paid by it. The
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British income taxes were borne by the stockholders of

appellee. Consequently the appellee was not entitled to a

deduction for such British income taxes in computing

its Federal income taxes. The judgment of the lower

court should be reversed.

Respectfully submitted,

Abthur a. Ballantine,

GrEORGE E. ClEARY,

A. L. Weil,

Amici Curiae.
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Appendix.

FEDERAL INCOME TAX LAW
Revenue Act of 1921

(42 Stat. 227)

"Sec. 234. (a) That in computing the net income of

a corporation subject to the tax imposed by section 230

there shall be allowed as deductions:

"(3) Taxes paid or accrued within the taxable year

except (a) income, war-profits, and excess-profits taxes im-

posed by the authority of the United States, (b) so much

of the income, war-profits and excess-profits taxes im-

posed by the authority of any foreign country or pos-

session of the United States as is allowed as a credit

under section 238, * * *.

"Sec. 238. (a) That in the case of a domestic cor-

poration the tax imposed by this title, plus the war-profits

and excess-profits taxes, if any, shall be credited with the

amount of any income, war-profits, and excess-profits

taxes paid during the same taxable year to any foreign

country, or to any possession of the United States: Pro-

vided, That the amount of credit taken under this sub-

division shall in no case exceed the same proportion of

the taxes, against which such credit is taken, which the

taxpayer's net income (computed without deduction for

any income, war-profits, and excess-profits taxes imposed

by any foreign country or possession of the United States)

from sources without the United States bears to its entire

net income (computed without such deduction) for the

same taxable year."

".Sec. 214. (a) That in computing net income there

shall be allowed as deductions:
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"(3) Taxes paid or accrued within the taxable year
except (a) income, war-profits, and excess-profits taxes

imposed by the authority of the United States, (b) so

much of the income, war-profits and excess-profits taxes,

imposed by the authority of any foreign country or

possession of the United States, as is allowed as a

credit under section 222, * * *.

"Sec. 222. (a) That the tax computed under Part II

of this title shall be credited with:

*'(1) In the case of a citizen of the United States the

amount of any income, war-profits and excess-profits taxes

paid during the taxable year to any foreign country or

to any possession of the United States; and

**(5) The above credits shall not be allowed in the

case of a citizen entitled to the benefits of section 262;

and in no other case shall the amount of credit taken

under this subdivision exceed the same proportion of the

tax, against which such credit is taken, which the tax-

payer's net income (computed without deduction for any

income, war-profits and excess-profits taxes imposed by

any foreign country or possession of the United States)

from sources without the United States bears to his entire

net income (computed without such deduction) for the

same taxable year."

BRITISH INCOME TAX LAW
Income Tax Act of 1918

** Chapter 40

''An Act to Consolidate the Enactments relating to

Income Tax. [8th August 1918.]

''Be it enacted by the King's most Excellent Majesty,

by and with the advice and consent of the Lords Spiritual
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and Temporal, and Commons, in this present Parliament

assembled, and hy the anthority of the same, as follows

:

"PART I.

"Charge of Income Tax.

"1. Where any Act enacts that income tax shall be

charged for any year at any rate, the tax at that rate shall

be charged for that year in respect of all property,

profits, or gains respectively described or comprised in

the schedules marked A, B, C, D, and E, contained in the

First Schedule to this Act and in accordance with the

Rules respectively applicable to those schedules."

"29. General commissioners to certify claim to spe-

cial commissioners.— (1) If it is proved to the satisfaction

of the general commissioners that any person whose claim

for allowance or deduction or relief has been allowed, has

paid any tax, by deduction or otherwise, the general com-

missioners may, in the form prescribed, certify the facts

proved before them to the special commissioners.

" (2) The certificate of the general commissioners shall

state the particulars of the different sources of income in

respect of which tax has been paid, the relief to which the

claimant is entitled, the amount repayable in respect there-

of, and the name and place of abode of the claimant.

"(3) On receipt of the certificate, the special com-

missioners shall issue an order for repayment."

"FIRST SCHEDULE.

"Schedule A.

"Tax under Schedule A shall be charged in respect

of the property in all lands, tenements, hereditaments,
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and heritages in the United Kingdom, for every twenty
shillings of the annual value thereof.

"Schedule C.

"Tax under Schedule C shall be charged in respect

of all profits arising from interest, annuities, dividends,

and shares of annuities payable out of any public revenue,

for every twenty shillings of the annual amount thereof.

"Schedule D. (a)

"1. Tax under this Schedule shall be charged in re-

spect of

"(a) The anual profits or gains arising or accru-

ing

"(i) to any person residing in the United
Kingdom from any kind of property whatever,

whether situate in the United Kingdom or else-

where; and

(ii) to any person residing in the United
Kingdom from any trade, profession, employ-
ment, or vocation, whether the same be re-

spectively carried on in the United Kingdom
or elsewhere; and

" (iii) to any person, whether a British sub-

ject or not, although not resident in the United
Kingdom, from any property whatever in the
United Kingdom, or from any trade, profes-
sion, employment, or vocation exercised within
the United Kingdom; and

"(b) All interest of money, annuities, and other an-
nual profits or gains not charged under Sched-
ule A, B, C or E, and not specially exempted
from tax;

"in each case for every twenty shillings of the annual
amount of the profits or gains."
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''GENERAL RULES APPLICABLE TO SCHEDULES
A, B, C, D and E.

"1. Every body of persons shall be chargeable to tax

in like manner as any person is chargeable under the pro-

visions of this Act.

"20. The profits or gains to be charged on any body

of persons shall be computed in accordance with the pro-

visions of this Act on the full amount of the same before

any dividend thereof is made in respect of any share,

right or title thereto, and the body of persons paying such

dividend shall be entitled to deduct the tax appropriate

thereto.

'*23. (1) A person who refuses to allow a deduction

of tax authorised by this Act to be made out of any pay-

ment, shall forfeit the sum of fifty pounds.

"(2) Every agreement for pa^^ment of interest, rent,

or other annual payment in full without allowing any
such deduction shall be void.^'
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BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE.

OPINION BELOW.

The opinion of the court below, the District Court of

the United States for the Southern District of California,

which is unreported, is set forth on pages 37-39 of the

Transcript of Record.

JURISDICTION.

This appeal involves income and profits taxes for the

fiscal year ended May 31, 1921, and is taken from a judg-

ment of the District Court entered in favor of. the taxr..



payer on November 17, 1933. [R. 24-25, 76.] The appeal

is brought to this Court by petition for appeal filed by

appellant on February 16, 1934 [R. 84], pursuant to

Section 128(a) of the Judicial Code, as amended by the

Act of February 13, 1925.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED.

1. The Commissioner of Internal Revenue was re-

quired to determine, and did determine profits tax rates

of appellee, as a foreig^n corporation, by comparison with

the rates paid by representative domestic corporations.

Appellant concedes, and the trial court has found, that

the Commissioner erroneously overstated appellee's taxable

net income because of the disallowance of certain deduc-

tions to which it was entitled. The trial court redeter-

mined appellee's profits taxes by applying to the corrected

taxable net income the rates previously determined by

Commissioner and redetermined the income tax by apply-

ing to the corrected net income the rate fixed by law.

Was the Court without jurisdiction to change the amount

of either the profits taxes or the income tax as determined

by the Commissioner?

2. During the taxable year ended May 31, 1921, the

appellee paid to Great Britain certain income taxes upon

its profits and subsequently deducted a corresponding

amount from dividends paid by it to its stockholders dur-

ing said year. Were such taxes deductible from its gross

income for said taxable year? The fundamental question

is whether said taxes were imposed by Great Britain upon

the corporation's income or upon the dividends paid to its

stockholders.
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STATUTES INVOLVED.

In an Appendix attached hereto are set forth the relevant

provisions of the United States Revenue Acts, and also

such provisions of the British statutes as were cited or

quoted in the briefs below. At the hearing below the

parties and the Court agreed that the Court might take

judicial notice of the British law incorporated in the briefs

of counsel. [R. 34-36.] In his brief herein, appellant

has cited and quoted many additional provisions from the

British statutes which were not cited in the briefs below.

We respectfully submit such additional provisions are not

in evidence and cannot be considered by this Court.

(^Liverpool and Great Western Steam Company v. Phenix

Insurance Company, 129 U. S. 397, 446.) Included

among the additional citations in the present brief of ap-

pellant are quotations from the Finance Act, 1930 (Brief

for Appellant, p. 2>7), and from the Finance Act, 1927

[Brief for Appellant, Appendix B, p. 11] which obviously

can have no bearing on the earlier years, here in question.

A similar question might be raised as to British judicial

decisions which were not cited in the briefs before the

Court below, but appellant is willing to assume, subject to

the approval of this Court, that additional British deci-

sions may be considered for the purpose of explaining the

statutory provisions which are properly in evidence.

In any event, it seems difficult to reconcile with the

stipulation below [R. 34-36], the copious quotations in

appellant's brief (pp. 41-42, 44-45) from Snelling's Dic-

tionary of Income Tax and Surtax Practise, apparently a

recent text-book or treatise, not cited in any of the briefs

below. [R. 34-36.] It is practically impossible to deter-

mine whether the author's comments, obviously directed



to current law, would apply equally to the British law in

effect during the earlier years here in question.

For the above reasons, appellee is not attempting herein

to cover any statutory provisions or text-book quotations

which were not introduced into evidence below through

citation in the briefs there submitted.

STATEMENT OF FACTS.

All the facts were stipulated. [R. 29-36, 41-64.] The

appellee is a corporation organized under the laws of Great

Britain having its principal office and place of business in

Los Angeles. California. [R. 29.] During the fiscal year

ended May 31, 1921, it accrued and paid to the Govern-

ment of Great Britain an income tax in an amount, con-

verted into United States currency, of $41,657.19. [R.

31.] During the same fiscal year its income from sources

within the United States v\"as 99.75 per cent of its total

net income from all sources. [R. 31.] Appellee deducted

from the dividends paid by it to its stockholders during

said fiscal year an amount of at least $41,553.05, on ac-

count of said British taxes. [R. 31.] The parties here-

to stipulated and agreed that if the plaintiff is entitled to

a deduction, in determining its taxable net income, of in-

come taxes so accrued and paid to Great Britain, the

amount of said deduction for the fiscal year ended May
31, 1921, is $41,553.05. [R. 31.] The Commissioner

of Internal Revenue allowed no deduction on account of

said British income taxes for the fiscal year ended May
31, 1921. [R. 32.]

In its tax returns for the fiscal year ended May 31,

1921, appellee reported total taxes in the amount of $418,-

292.95, which was duly assessed and paid to the then
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Collector of Internal Revenue. [R. 30.] Upon an audit

of the returns, the Commissioner of Internal Revenue

determined a deficiency in tax for said year of $275,-

202.52. [R. 44.] In determining said deficiency, the

Commissioner redetermined appellee's profits tax liability

for said fiscal year under the provisions of Section 328,

Revenue Acts of 1918 and 1921. [R. 45, 60.] Said

deficiency was duly assessed and paid by appellee to appel-

lant as Collector of Internal Revenue on January 22 and

JVIarch 11, 1929. [R. 30.]

Within the period and in the manner provided by law,

appellee filed with the Commissioner of Internal Revenue

a claim for refund, setting forth therein the same grounds

alleged in its Complaint in the present proceeding. [R.

6-10, 13, 30, 74.] The Commissioner of Internal Revenue

failed to take any action with respect to said claim for

refund and after a lapse of more than six months, appellee

filed its complaint in the present proceeding. [R. 11,

14-15, 74.]

By stipulation a jury was waived and the case was tried

by the Court without the intervention of a jury. [R. 28,

72.] The parties filed with the Court a stipulation of

facts, in which appellant stipulated that appellee was en-

titled to a further deduction for oil depletion in the

amount of $12,000.00, and a further deduction for depre-

ciation on wells in the amount of $6,604.41, for the fiscal

year ended May 31, 1921. [R. 31, 74.] The parties left

for determination by the Court the question of deducti-

bility of the British income taxes. [R. 31.] At the close

of all the evidence, counsel for each party moved for judg-

ment on the record. [R. 36.] On September 21, 1933,

the Court, by minute order ordered judgment in favor of

appellee. [R. 37-39.] Pursuant to order of the Court



on motion to reopen the case for additional evidence, a

stipulation of additional facts was filed on November 6,

1933. [R. 39-64.] Thereafter on November 10, 1933,

appellant filed a motion in arrest of judgment, which was

denied by the Court. [R. 65-68.] Appellant filed requests

for special findings of fact and conclusions of law, which

were rejected by the Court. [R. 68-71, 17 .\ The Court

accepted and adopted the findings and conclusions of law

requested by appellee. [R. 71-77.] The Court determined

that the Commissioner had erred in refusing to allow to

appellee deductions from income for the fiscal year ended

May 31, 1921, in the amount of S12,000 for further de-

pletion: in the amount of $6,604.41 for further depletion

on wells; and in the amount of $41,553.05 for British

income taxes, and in levying tax assessments on the basis

of net income computed without the allowance of said

deductions. [R. 7^.'\ On this basis, the Court rendered

judgment for the appellee for $25,782.58, with interest as

provided by law. [R. 24-25.] From this judgment for

appellee, the appellant has appealed. [R. 84.]

PRELIMINARY STATEIVIENT.

At the trial below, six associated cases were consoli-

dated for trial, all being suits against present or former

collectors of internal revenue for income or income and

profits taxes alleged to have been erroneously collected.

In each of these cases, judgment was entered by the Court

in favor of the taxpayer, and all, upon appeal, have been

set for argument together before this Court. Following

is a list of these cases, showing the Docket No. in this

Court, the names of the parties, and the fiscal year

involved.
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Fiscal

Year
Taxpayer Collector Ended

Docket Xo. (Appellee) (Appellant) May 31

74SS The St. Helens Petroleum Co.. Ltd. Galen H. Welch 1921

7490 " "
" " "

1922
7493 " " '

" " Rex B. Goodcell 1922
7491 The Kern River Oilfields of Cal.. Ltd. " " "

1923
7492 " " '• " " " " " 1924
7489 " " " " 1925

Dockets 7490 and 7493 involved the same taxpayer, the

same taxable year, and the same issues, with separate suits

being brought and separate judgments being rendered

against two successive collectors of internal revenue be-

cause a part of the tax in controversy was paid to each

of them.

The issue involving the deductibility of British income

taxes is involved in all of these cases and was the only

issue presented by the parties at the trial below, the other

issues raised by the pleadings having been conceded by

appellants in the stipulations filed at the trial. [R. 29-

32, 38-39.]

The other issue, involved only in Docket Nos. 7488,

7490. and 7493, is rhe jurisdiction of the trial court to

enter judgment in any case where the profits taxes have

been determined under Section 328, Revenue Acts of 1918

and 1921. As Congress did not impose any profits tax for

any period after December 31, 1921, this issue naturally is

not presented in Docket Nos. 7489, 7491 and 7492.

Appellants have presented their full arguments on both

issues in the brief filed in Docket No. 7488, and have

merely referred to said brief in the briefs presented in all

other cases. As a matter of convenience and to avoid

confusion, the same procedure is being followed by appel-

lees. Accordingly the full statement of argument on

both issues will be presented in the brief filed under

Docket No. 7488.
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SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT.

Issue I. The Court below did not err in denying

appellant's motion in arrest of judgment. Neither in the

pleadings nor at the trial of the case was any issue raised

as to jurisdiction of the Court or as to the propriety of

the Court redetermining the profits tax on the basis of the

rates previously determined by the Commissioner. Appel-

lant conceded at the trial that the taxable net income of

appellee had been overstated in the amount of $18,604.41

because of insufficient allowances for depletion deductions,

and submitted to the Court for determination the propriety

of an additional deduction of $41,553.05 for taxes, which

issue was decided by the Court in favor of appellant. The

total reduction in net taxable income found by the Court

($60,157.46) was small in comparison with the net income

determined by the Commissioner ($2,350,422.78) and in

the absence of any allegation or proof to the contrary, the

Court was justified in applying to the correct net income

the profits tax rates previously determined by the Com-

missioner. The Court has not attempted to override the

discretionary powers of the Commissioner,

None of the authorities cited by appellant support his

position and, on the contrary, the Supreme Court has in

three cases affirmed, either in whole or in part, decisions

of lower courts allowing refunds to taxpayers whose

profits taxes had been determined under ''special assess-

ment."

Congress has not given the Commissioner unreviewable

discretion where errors were admittedly made in the deter-

mination of net income, even though the profits taxes are

computed under Section 328. This is particularly so in the

case of foreign corporations to whose returns "special
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assessment" was required by law and not granted as a

matter of relief.

Even if the Commissioner's computation of the profits

tax was not subject to review by the Court, such inhibition

would not apply to the redetermination of the income tax,

where the exact rate was provided in the law and was not

a matter of discretion.

Under appellant's construction, the law would be of

doubtful constitutionality. Since appellee's profits taxes

had to be determined under "special assessment," it would

follow under appellant's contentions that it could never

obtain a judicial review of the Commissioner's determina-

tion of either its income or its profits tax, no matter how

arbitrary or erroneous the basis. This would not only

violate the due process clause of the Constitution, but

would also amount to a delegation of legislative and judi-

cial functions to the executive branch. The interpretation

of the law adopted by the Court below avoids these con-

stitutional difficulties and carries out the clear intention of

Congress to provide a complete system of judicial review

to taxpayers.

Issue II. Under the Federal Revenue Acts of 1918

and 1921, the deduction for taxes (including* income

taxes paid to a foreign Government) is allowable to the

one on whom the taxes were imposed and by whom they

were paid. It has been stipulated and found by the Court

that the British income tax of $41,553.05, in issue here,

was paid to the British Government by the appellee. [R.

31.] It is clear that, under British law, this tax was im-

posed on appellee, was determined on the basis of its net

income, and was payable in any event, even though no

dividends might ever be declared to its shareholders.
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There is no British income tax on dividends as such.

In paying the British income tax, appellee did so as a

taxpayer and not as an agent for its shareholders. The

mere fact that it was permitted, though not required,

under the British practice, to deduct from dividends paid,

if any, a proportionate amount of the tax, does not change

the fact that it paid the taxes on its own behalf as a tax-

payer. Such deductions from dividends did not result in

any reimbursement to appellee of its own income tax pay-

ment; having paid the tax. its income available for divi-

dends was merely the lesser sum.

To speak of the payment of the income tax by appellee

as a "withholding" is simply a misnomer contrary to facts.

It was required to pay the tax to the British Government

on its entire net income even though (1) it made no pay-

ment whatever to its stockholders and (2) the stockholders

had no income from this or any other source.

The construction contended for by appellant would re-

sult in confusion in the administration of our tax laws

and often would result in an unfair and unjust duplica-

tion of deductions, defeating the collection of tax revenues.

The statute is plain and unambiguous, leaving no need

for departmental construction. There has been no uni-

form and long continued rule of construction by the courts,

the Board or the Treasury Department. The informal

Bureau rulings relied upon by appellant "have none of the

force or effect of Treasury decisions and do not commit

the Department to any interpretation of the law." As

a matter of fact, the Bureau's views on this question have

changed from time to time. At the present time the De-

partment is contending in various cases before the Board

precisely in accordance with appellee's contentions herein.
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ARGUMENT.

POINT I.

The Court Below Did Not Err in Denying Appellant's

Motion in Arrest of Judgment.

As a foreign corporation, appellee's profits taxes for

the year in question were determined under sections

327 (b) and 328, Revenue Acts of 1918 and 1921, through

the method of comparison with the profits tax rates paid

by representative domestic corporations, a determination

usually referred to as "special assessment."

Appellee brought this suit in the court below to recover

income and profits taxes ''erroneously assessed and col-

lected" by the appellant as collector of internal revenue.

The errors complained of were that whereas the law

provides* that "in computing net income there shall be

allowed" as deductions certain items, including deprecia-

tion, depletion and income taxes imposed by any foreign

country, the Commissioner had in these instances refused

to obey that provision, which leaves him no discretion.

Issue was joined and the case was heard on the merits.

At such hearing the appellant, represented by the United

States Attorney, admitted . that the Commissioner had

erred as regards two of the deduction items mentioned in

the petition (depletion and depreciation), and the trial

court found in favor of the appellee as to these two items,

and also as to the deductibility of an additional item of

taxes which the petitioner claimed in the petition had

been erroneously disallowed as a deduction.

Sections 234(a)(7) and (9), Revenue Act of 1921.
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The trial court, having found in favor of appellee,

allowed the filing of an additional stipulation of facts.

The appellant then filed a motion in arrest of judgment

asserting (notwithstanding the errors admitted and the

additional error found by the trial court), that judgment

must be for appellant because the evidence was insufficient

to enable the court to enter judgment for appellee, and

further because the court lacked jurisdiction to enter judg-

ment in favor of appellee.

The basis for the motion in arrest of judgment was

that petitioner as a foreign corporation must have its

profits taxes computed at rates arrived at by comparisons,

to be made exclusively by the Commissioner of Internal

Revenue, of appellee's gross and net income, with the gross

and net incomes of other comparable business corpora-

tions, in the manner required by sections 327 and 328 of

the Revenue Act of 1921"^'.

The evidence before the court when the motion in arrest

of judgment was filed enabled the court to ascertain the

profits tax rates theretofore determined by the Commis-

sioner. It also showed what was appellee's gross income,

its net income, and every factor necessary to enable the

Commissioner to make the comparisons necessary to arrive

at the proper profits tax rates to be applied to this correct

net income. Appellant did not at any time aver {and does

not nozv aver) that the proposed correction of net income

would require the application of any dififerent rates than

those which the Commissioner of Internal Revenue found

Under these sections, the profits tax is determined by applying to the

statutory net income, calculated under Sections 232-236, Revenue Act of

1921, rates of tax determined by using as comparatives other corpora-

tions "similarly circumstanced."
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to be applicable upon his original examination of the

necessary comparatives.

The trial court denied the motion in arrest of judgment

and entered a judgment in which ( 1 ) the ordinary cor-

poration income taxes were calculated by applying the

statutory income tax rates to the corrected net income,

and (2) the profits ta.vcs were calculated, for the years in

which a profits tax v/as imposed, by applying to the cor-

rected net income the profits tax rates originally deter-

mined by the Commissioner to be correct.

The trial court did not err in retaining jurisdiction of

the case and in redetermining both the ordinary corpora-

tion income taxes and the profits taxes of appellee.

Although the suit was against the Collector, he was repre-

sented by the United States attorney and counsel for the

Commissioner. [R. 1, 14.] In addition, a certificate of

probable cause was issued. [R. 25-26.] The court below

was entitled, therefore, to assume from the failure of the

defendant to plead that new profits tax rates were neces-

sary, that the rates previously determined [R. 60] were

appropriate for the corrected net income found by the

court.

In any event, neither the Commissioner nor the United

States will be concluded by the judgment against the Col-

lector from protecting the interests of the United States.

Bankers Pocahontas Coal Company v. Burnet, 287

U. S. 308, 311-312;

Tait V. Western Maryland R. Company, 289 U. S.

621, 627.
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(a) The Commissioner May Not Oust the Court of

Jurisdiction ey Failing to Advise the Court

Whether or Not New Profits Tax Rates Are

Required Because of the Court's Correction of

Errors Made bv the Commissioner in Determin-

ing AppELLEE^s Net Income.

Appellant in this appeal appears to stand squarely upon

the proposition that the Commissioner alone'*' has power

to make determination of profits tax rates under sections

327 and 328 of the Revenue Act of 1921 and accordingly

that the court below lacked jurisdiction to entertain the

appellee's suit for refund, even though based on admitted

errors in determining net income, as to which the Commis-

sioner concededly has no discretion.

Thus, this appeal is based on a theory that the Commis-

sioner's admitted errors in denying nondiscretionary de-

ductions cannot be redressed in the United States courts

because the Commisisoner's determination of the excess

profits tax was a decision of a type which the courts will

not review.

Appellee contends that there is no indication in any part

of the tax law that Congress intended that errors made

by the Commissioner in applying nondiscretionary parts

of the tax law should not be reviewable by the courts, and

particularly not in the case of foreign corporations who

have no choice as to the application of special assessment.

On the contrary. Congress intended to establish a system

of remedial justice so that when the Commissioner assessed

*We have herein ignored the fact that the Board of Tax Appeals may
review the determinations of the Commissioner respecting special assess-
ment {Blair v. Ocstcrlcin Machine Comically, 275 U. S. 220), since that
review may only be had where additional assessments are proposed by
the Commissioner.
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a tax in clear violation of definite provisions of the tax

law. the taxpayer could recover a refund of the tax so

erroneously assessed. If it is true that determinations

under certain Paracp-aphs of the tax law are within the

discretion of the Commissioner and are not reviewable by

the courts, it still remains true that when he misapplies

one of the iwiidiscreiionary provisions of the tax law, his

error in that regard is intended to be reviewed by the

courts. In this case, as has been pointed out, appellant

has never alleged or proved that the Commissioner's

determination of the rate of excess profits tax (said to be

unreviewable in court) was wrong or was not properly

applicable to the net income as now determined by the

court.

Appellant's position is also untenable in that it fails to

give effect to appellant's status as a party defendant in an

action at law for a recovery of taxes "erroneously assessed

or collected". District courts have been vested with juris-

diction of suits of this character, and the right to sue

Collectors of Internal Revenue in cases of this kind has

existed since the beginning of the National Government

as a common law right carried over by our Government

from colonial jurisprudence. Sage v. United States, 250

U. S. ?>?>, ?)7 ; United States v. Emeny etc. Co., 22>7 U. S.

28, 31. Such suits have been authorized as a part of a

system of corrective justice in relation to the revenue laws

so complete that Congress has been sustained in the enact-

ment of statutes depriving taxpayers of injunctive relief

from erroneous or illegal assessments. Cheatham v.

United States, 92 U. S. 85, 88; Snyder r. Marks, 109 U.

S. 189, 193; Bailey v. George, 259 U. S. 16, 20; Graham

v. Dupont, 262 U. S. 234. 2SS. Being actions in assump-

sit, they approach nearer to a bill in equity than any other
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common law action. American Chain Company v. Eaton,

291 U. S. 386, 402; Hozvhcrt v. Norris (C. C. A. 10),

72 F. (2d) 753, 755; Nezv York Life Insurance Company

V. Anderson (C. C. A. 2), 263 Fed. 527, 530.

When made a party defendant in the suit at bar, the

appellant had a right to rely upon a presumption that the

tax assessment by the Commissioner was free from error

{United States v. Rindskopf, 105 U. S. 418, 422; Wick-

zvire v. Reinecke, 27S U. S. 101, 105), but when prima

facie error was established (it was admitted in this case)

and no reason appeared why the correct amount of the tax

could not be found, the burden of next proceeding shifted

to the appellant*. Commissioner v. Van. Vorst (C. C. A.

9), 59 F. (2d), 677; Duffin v. Lucas {C. C. A. 6), 55 F.

(2d) 786-796; Jones v. Commissioner, (C. C. A. 7), 38

F. (2d) 550; Wilson v. Eisner (C. C. A. 2), 282 Fed. 38,

42; Bernheim Distilling Company v. Mayes (D. C. Ky.),

268 Fed. 629-633.

In this connection, attention is invited to the decision of

the Supreme Court in Helvering v. Taylor, January 7,

1935, holding that it was not necessary for the taxpayer

to prove the correct amount of the tax where he has shown

clear error in the Department's determination. The opin-

ion states in part as follows

:

''Unquestionably the burden of proof is on the tax-

payer to show that the Commissioner's determination

is invalid. Lucas v. Structural Steel Co., 281 U. S.

264, 271; JVickzuire v. Reinecke, 275 U. S. 101, 105.

Welch V. Helvering, 290 U. S. Ill, 115. Frequently,

*There was certainly no reason why the trial court should assume as a

matter of judicial notice that a decrease o£ appellee's net income (de-

termined by the Commissioner to be $2,350,422.78) by only $60,157.46 would
require the application of revised profits tax rates.
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if not quite generally, evidence adequate to over-

throw the Commissioner's finding is also sufficient to

show the correct amount, if any, that is due. See,

e. g., Darcy v. Commissioner, 66 F. (2d) 581, 585.

But, where as in this case the taxpayer's evidence

shows the Commissioner's determination to be arbi-

trary and excessive it may not reasonably be held that

he is bound to pay a tax that confessedly he does not

owe, unless his evidence was sufficient also to estab-

lish the correct amount that might lawfully be

charged against him."

If the new and correct net income required a determina-

tion of new rates for the profits tax, the duty of showing

such requirement and what were these new rates, devolved

upon appellant. Nor is this duty afifected by the circum-

stances that the court may have lacked power to revise any

rates determined by the Commissioner "in the absence of

fraud or other irregularities". {Williamsport Wire Rope

Company v. United States, 277 U. S. 55.) Neither appel-

lant nor the appellee made any claim in the court below

that the change in appellee's net income required any rede-

termination of profits tax rates under the procedure pre-

scribed by sections 327 and 328 of the statute and neither

has since contended that such revisions of rates are re-

quired as a matter of fact. In these circumstances the

trial court properly concluded that the rates previously

determined by the Commissioner were appropriate to be

used in connection with the revised net income of appellee.

Appellant appears to contend that because a revision of

profits tax rates might conceivably be required, and be-

cause the normal tax might also be affected, the trial court

lacked jurisdiction to continue with the case.
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That there is no inherent lack of jurisdiction is made

plain by considering that if the appellant had voluntarily

stipulated the correct profits tax rates applicable to the

corrected income, no impediment to full correction of the

Commissioner's refusal to allow deductions, mandatory

under the law, would have existed, even under appellant's

theory of the case. Compare United States v. Factors and

Finance Company, 288 U. S. 89.

Appellant's contention, in its basic form, is evidently

that the Commissioner not only has exclusive discretion

in arriving at the correct profits tax rates to be applied in

the case of a foreign corporation, but also has such unre-

viewable discretion so to act that the courts are unable to

correct errors admitted to have been made by him in

determining justiciable matters, such as deductions allow-

able in determining net income.

Such unreviewable discretion (as regards errors in

determining net income) as appellant seemingly claims has

not been expressly granted to the Commissioner. Its

existence would be at complete variance with the long

established system of corrective justice expressly provided

for by Congress. The result obtained is so shocking to

reason and justice, as to deny the imputation to Congress

of an intention (not expressed in the statute) to single out

foreign corporations for such unfair treatment. Domestic

corporations which voluntarily make application for special

assessment as a matter of relief have an alternative which

affords them a judicial review. See Heiner v. Diamond

Alkali Co., 288 U. S. 502, 507.
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(b) The Precedents Cited by Appellant do not

Support His Contention.

In considering the precedents relied upon by appellant

it should be borne in mind that appellee is a foreign cor-

poration; that under the Revenue Act of 1921 (Section

327(b)) it is mandatory that its profits taxes be de-

termined by the procedure prescribed in Section 328 of

that statute; and that in this case no effort has been made

to have the trial court review or revise in any degree any

determination of the profits tax rates made by the Com-

missioner, pursuant to Section 327 or 328 of the statute.

Appellee concedes that special assessment was mandatory

and that the Commissioner's selection of representative

corporations was correct. Nor was it necessary that any

such review be had. All that was necessary was that the

appellant tell the court the correct tax rates to be used,

if any change in the profits tax rates was found necessary

as a result of the reduction in income. It has never been

alleged in this case that the correction of the net income

required any redetermination of the profits tax rates,

and in the absence of such allegation or showing, the trial

court was fully justified in assuming no change was

necessary.

In each of the cases relied upon by appellant some inter-

ference, direct or indirect, with the exercise of the Com-

missioner's discretion was necessary to a determination

of the issues before the courts. All of these cases, with a

single exception, related to domestic corporations and di-

rectly involved the exercise of two discretionary powers

reposed with the Commissioner; (a) the determination

whether special relief under Section 328 was justified,

and (b) the selection of proper profits tax rates through
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the use of comparatives (i. e., corporations similarly situ-

ated as to business and gross and net incomes).

In Williamsport Wire Rope Company v. United States,

277 U. S. 551, a domestic corporation sought a review in

the Court of Claims of a refusal by the Commissioner to

grant special relief under Sections 327(d) and 328 of the

Revenue Act of 1918 because of alleged abnormalities in

the relationship of plaintiff's net income to its gross in-

come. The Supreme Court reviewed the nature of "special

assessment" authorized by these sections as an alternative

"relief" procedure to be availed of in appropriate cases

upon application by the taxpayers, and concluded that Con-

gress had not meant to empower courts to grant this relief

where the Commissioner had determined that it was not

appropriate. The Court affirmed the action of the Court

of Claims in sustaining a motion to dismiss the proceeding.

In Heiner v. Diamond Alkali Company, 288 U. S. 501,

the plaintiff, a domestic corporation, sought special assess-

ment because of alleged abnormalities which entitled it to

special relief under Sections 237(d) and 328 of the

Revenue Act of 1918. The Commissioner granted "special

assessment." The plaintiff sued for a refund in the Dis-

trict Court, alleging errors by the Commissioner both as

to the amount of its net income and as to the rates of

profits taxes arrived at by the Commissioner through the

procedure prescribed by Section 328 of the statute. The

trial court found (39 F. (2d) 645) that the Commissioner

had erred in arriving at the plaintiff's net income, and ap-

plied the profits tax rates determined by the Commissioner.

The Circuit Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit (60

F. (2d) 505) found that the Commissioner had erred to

a greater degree than found by the trial court in arriving
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at the plaintiff's net income, and held that the profits tax

rates originally determined by the Commissioner should be

applied to this corrected net income.

On appeal by the Collector, the Supreme Court pointed

out that the plaintiff had deliberately sought special assess-

ment : that the granting thereof by the Commissioner was

a discretionary power vested solely in him; and that the

correct amount of net income was an essential factor in

the Commissioner's discretionary determinations (a)

whether special assessment was warranted and (b) what

comparatives should be used in fixing the correct profits

tax rates. Upon these considerations the Supreme Court

held that the lower courts had erred in proceeding as had

been done. The Supreme Court did not decide, however,

that the courts lacked jurisdiction of the case merely be-

cause special assessment was involved, but remanded the

case for "further proceedings in accordance with this

opinion." As a matter of fact, the lower courts had

revised the amounts of both the income tax and the profits

tax. The Government did not question on appeal to the

Supreme Court the reduction of the normal income tax

so a refund was actually allowed in that case. Obviously,

if the courts have no jurisdiction of cases in which special

assessment has been applied, the Supreme Court would

have directed the lower courts to dismiss the whole pro-

ceeding.

In Brown's "'Shamrock" Linens, Ltd. v. Bozvers, 48 F.

(2d) 103, the plaintiff, a foreign corporation, brought suit

in the District Court for a refund on the ground that the

Commissioner had used improper comparatives in de-

termining the plaintiff's profits taxes pursuant to Sections

327(b) and 328 of the Revenue Act of 1918. The Col-
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lector's motion to dismiss was granted by the District

Court (4 F. (2d) 862) and the Circuit Court of Ap-

peals for the Second Circuit affirmed. That court, how-

ever, made it plain that its decision was limited to a case

(unlike the case at bar) where a court was asked to sub-

stitute its judgment as to proper comparatives for tax

rate purposes for the judgment of the Commissioner. The

court said:

''The fact that special assessment is mandatory for

a foreign corporation and permissive for a domestic

one furnishes no basis for distinction zvheii each is

attacking the Commissioner's computation on the

ground that he selected improper comparatives in

determining the assessment which he made." (Italics

supplied throughout this brief.)

This decision seems open to serious question on con-

stitutional grounds, and although certiorari was denied by

the Supreme Court (283 U. S. 865), it cannot be regarded

as reflecting the views of that Court. United States v.

Carver, 260 U. S. 482, 490. Note also the dissenting

opinion of Circuit Judge Manton at 48 F. (2d) 104-105.

Moreover, the facts in that case are essentially different

from those in the case at bar. In that case there was no

error in the determination of the net income and the Court

could only grant relief by making a new "special assess-

ment" in substitution for that made by the Commissioner.

In the case at bar errors were made as to the correct net

income of the plaintiff—plainly a justiciable matter—and

relief was not dependent upon any revision by the court

of the "special assessment" determination of the Commis-

sioner.
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Dtiquesne Steel Foundry Steel Foundry Company v.

Commissioner, 41 F. (2d) 995; Cramer and King Com-

pany V. Commissioner, 41 F. (2d) 24; and Railroad

Supply Company v. Burnet, 51 F. (2d) 437, each

involved efforts to have the courts review decisions by

the Board of Tax Appeals which affirmed decisions by

the Commissioner that the petitioners {domestic corpora-

tions) were not entitled to relief by special assessment.

These cases were substantially identical, therefore, with

Williamsport Wire Rope Company v. United States, supra.

Joseph Joseph & Bros. Company v. United States, 71

F. (2d) 389; and Chicago Frog & Suntch Company v.

United States, 67 Ct. Cls. 662, involved suits for refunds

in which domestic corporations alleged that the Commis-

sioner erred in the comparatives selected for rate determi-

nations under "special assessments" sections of the statute

and were directly controlled by Williamsport Wire Rope

Company z: Commissioner, supra.

In Cleveland Automobile Company v. United States,

70 F. (2d) 365, a domestic corporation, sought and

secured special assessment, and thereafter brought suit in

the District Court alleging errors in determination of its

net income as determined by the Commissioner. Judg-

ment was for the Government and on appeal the Circuit

Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit affirmed. That

court pointed out that the facts were substantially those

involved in Heiner v. Diamond Alkali Company, supra,

in that a revision of the net income would entitle the

Commissioner to reconsider whether or not special relief

was justified and, if so, what profits tax rates should be
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used. The court did not, however, remand the case for

further proceedings as did the Supreme Court in the Dia-

mond Alkali Company case, but found, on the merits,

that the net income had not been overstated.

Central Iron and Steel Company v. United States, 6

F. Supp. 115; and W. H. Bradford a,nd Company v.

United States, 6 F. Supp. 117, were cases involving do-

mestic corporations in which special assessment was al-

lowed by the Commissioner and refunds were sought in

the Court of Claims on allegations that the Commissioner

had erroneously determined the net incomes of the plain-

tiffs. The Court of Claims pointed out that these facts

were the same as were involved in Heiner v. Diamond

Alkali Company, supra, but dismissed the suits instead

of requiring the Commissioner to show whether special

assessment was warranted and the correct rate of tax,

based upon the correct net incomes. The dismissals in

these cases may have been appropriate, owing to the

limited jurisdiction of the Court of Claims which (unlike

a District Court) may not require taxing officials to pro-

ceed with affirmative defenses upon penalty of having

judgment rendered against them. However, these de-

cisions by the Court of Claims are inconsistent with other

decisions of that court.

In United States v. Supplee-Biddle Hardware Co., 265

U. S. 189, affirming a decision of the Court of Claims,

58 Ct. Cls. 343, "special assessment" had been granted by

the Commissioner and yet the Supreme Court affirmed a

refund of both income and profits taxes ordered by the

lower court. Obviously, if the courts have no jurisdic-

tion in special assessment cases, the Supreme Court, which
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noted the fact that the profits taxes had been computed

under Sections 327 and 328 of the Revenue Act of 1918

(pp. 193-194), would have ordered that the proceeding

be dismissed.

In Factors and Finance Company v. United States, 73

Ct. Cls. 707, 56 F. (2d) 902, the plaintiff, a domestic

corporation, filed a refund claim alleging that the Com-

missioner had erred in matters relating to its net income.

After the statute of limitations on filing refund claims

had expired, but while the Commissioner still had the

claim for refund under consideration, plaintiff filed an

amended claim for refund seeking relief by special assess-

ment. The Commissioner examined all of the facts and

made a tax determination under the special assessment

section of the statute (Section 210, Revenue Act of 1917),

but refused to make a refund of the over-assessment ad-

mitted by him to have been made, on the theory that the

amended refund claim was in fact a new claim which was

barred by the statute of limitations. The plaintiff sued

for relief in the Court of Claims, which gave judgment

for the refund due under the Commissioner's special as-

sessment. The Supreme Court affirmed the judgment of

the Court of Claims. (United States v. Factors and

Finance Company, 288 U. S. 89.)

In Oak Worsted Mills v. United States, 38 F. (2d)

699, the Court of Claims sustained the right of the Com-

missioner to exact an additional tax from a domestic

corporation by way of a second "special assessment" with-

in the period of limitations upon assessments and collec-

tions. The court did not conclude in that case that it had

no jurisdiction (see opinion by Judge Littleton), but re-

tained jurisdiction and entered a judgment which made

the issues res judicata as between the parties.
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In Freeport Texas Company v. United States, 58 F,

(2d) 473, the Court of Claims again took jurisdiction of

a refund suit deciding it upon the merits against the do-

mestic taxpayer, observing incidentally that since special

assessment had originally been sought and secured the

court believed that the plaintiff could not in a later pro-

ceeding seek to have the taxes computed on a different

basis.

United States v. Henry Prentiss & Company, 288 U.

S. 73 and McDonnell v. United States, 59 Fed. (2d) 290,

each involved the applicability of statutes of limitations

to suits for refunds by domestic corporations, and are not

here in point.

In U. S. Paper Exports Ass'n v. Bozuers, 6 F. Supp.

735, the District Court assumed jurisdiction and ordered

a refund in a case where special assessment had been

granted to a domestic corporation.

(c) The Question of Jurisdiction Would in Any
Event Apply Only to the Profits Taxes and

Not to the Income Tax.

Under the Revenue Acts of 1918 and 1921, here in

question, corporations were subjected to two entirely dif-

ferent types and amounts of taxes, as follows:

(1) Under "Title II—Income Tax," an income

tax, computed on a straight and fixed percentage of

the taxable net income.

(2) Under "Title III—War Profits and Excess-

Profits Tax," a profits tax, computed under one of

the following methods, the lowest tax shown to pre-

vail:

(a) Under Section 301, the normal method for

domestic corporations, requiring different rates and
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depending for credits and brackets upon the statutory

"invested capital." This method was expressly not

available to foreign corporations.

(b) Under Section 302, providing" a maximum
"limitation of tax," computed without reference to

invested capital but with different rates and brackets.

This method also was not available to foreign corpo-

rations.

(c) Under Section 328, computed with reference

to the rates of profits taxes paid by "representa-

tive corporations," similarly circumstanced. This

method was applied to such domestic corporations

only as qualified for same, within the discretionary

determination of the Commissioner, under the terms

of Section 327. Under Section 327(b), however, the

Commissioner was required to apply this method of

computation to all foreign corporations.

It should be noted that the law required the profits

taxes of appellee, as a foreign corporation, to be deter-

mined under Section 328. There was no alternative op-

tion to such a corporation, even though it might have a

large and useful invested capital: and likewise the Com-

missioner had no choice or discretion regarding the appli-

cability of "special assessment."

The taxes paid by appellee for the taxable year in ques-

tion and the taxes sought to be recovered in this proceed-

ing, consisted not only of protits taxes assessed under

Section 328, but also of normal income taxes zvhich were

computed and assessed under an entirely different title of

the Acts zi'itJwut any reference zdiatever to Section 328.

In Heiner v. Diamond Alkali Co., supra, the Supreme

Court held that, in the case of a domestic corporation, the

courts could not alter or revise the Commissioner's com-
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putation of the profits tax under "special assessment."

However, n.o appeal was taken by the Government from,

and no decision was rendered by the Supreme Court with

respect to, the revision by the lower courts of the income

tax. On page 12 of the Solicitor-General's brief before

the Supreme Court in that case appeared the following

statement

:

"Petitioners do not question here the action of the

courts below in reducing the normal income tax by

increasing the deductions from gross income and ap-

plying to the reduced net income the normal tax rate

prescribed by the statute. The questions presented

to this Court in the instant cases relate only to profits

taxes. Attention, however, is called to the fact that

there is a necessary correlation between the profits

tax and the income tax since, under Sec. 236(b) of

the statute, the amount of the former is allowed as

a credit against net income in computing the latter."

Accordingly, while the question was not decided by the

Supreme Court, the Heincr v. Diamond Alkali Co. case

would appear to be strong authority f.or the proposition

that, even in the case of a domestic corporation, the courts

have jurisdiction to correct errors in the computation of

income and to revise the income tax on the basis of such

corrected net income, even though the profits tax had been

determined under special assessment.

As a matter of logic, this would appear to be the cor-

rect procedure. If the courts are without power to revise

the amount of profits tax determined by the Commis-

sioner, it follows that such determination reflects the cor-

rect and final amount of the profits tax due and payable,

and as such is a proper deduction in computing net income,

for purposes of the income tax.
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Clearly, the Commissioner has been given no discretion-

ary power with respect to the income tax computation,

which is at a fixed rate prescribed in the statute. Accord-

ingly, where, as here, the Government concedes or the

courts find that the Commissioner has erroneously over-

stated the taxable net income, there is no reason, in logic

.or in fairness, why the fixed rate should not be applied to

the corrected net income. Obviously, such determination

requires no comparison with Departmental data on other

corporations and presents no practical or administrative

difficulties to the courts.

Accordingly, we submit that irrespective of this Court's

decision with respect to the trial court's revision of appel-

lee's profits taxes, no error was committed in redetermin-

ing the income tax on the basis of the net income as de-

termined by the Court.

(d) The Statute as Construed by Appellant Would
Be of Doubtful Constitutionality.

Appellant apparently contends that Congress has vested

the Commissioner with the power to determine the profits

tax rates which are to be applied to foreign corporations,

and the power to make these findings without any right of

review by the courts.

The fixing of tax rates is a function of Congress (Art.

I, Sec. 8, United States Constitution), and it may well

be questioned whether the general standard by which the

Commissioner is to act has been sufficiently delineated so

as to prevent the statute from being a delegation of legis-
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lative authority vested solely in Congress by Article I,

Sections 1 and 8, of the Constitution.

United States v. Merriam, 263 U. S. 179;

United States v. Cohen Grocery Co., 255 U. S. 81

:

Field V. Clark, 143 U. S. 649-700;

Yick Wo V. Hopkins, 118 U. S. 356-374;

Panama Refining Co. v. Hopkins, decided by Su-

preme Court Jan. 7, 1935, Vol. 79 L. Ed. 223.

By eliminating all review by the courts, even as to the

determination of gross and net income (in appellant's

view of the law), Congress would seem, in so far as any

review by the Commissioner of his own acts is concerned,

to have delegated purely judicial functions to an adminis-

trative officer in violation of Article III, Section 1, of the

Constitution. See

:

Phillips V. Commissioner, 283 U. S. 589-595 et

seq.;

Kilhourne v. Thompson, 103 U. S. 168;

Monangehela Navigation Co. v. United States,

148 U. S. 312;

Murray's Lessee v. Hohoken Land and Improve-

ment Co., 59 U. S. (18 How.) 272.

There is nothing in the statute which expressly requires

the Commissioner to hear appeals by foreign corporation's

from tax determinations made by the Commissioner, and

unless the same rules apply as in other and admittedly

justiciable cases, the property of these corporations may

be taken from them without due process of law in viola-

tion .of the Fifth Amendment to the Constitution. Taxa-

tion by fiat, whether by Congress or an executive officer,

is unconstitutional.

Heiner v. Donnan, 285 U. S. 312;

Schlesinger v. Wisconsin, 270 U. S. 230.
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This is true even if Congress could be regarded as hav-

ing a motive or policy to regulate or discourage the activ-

ities of foreign corporations, which is very doubtful.

Child Labor Tax Case, 259 U. S. 20;

Hill V. Wallace, 259 U. S. 44.

Even if it be considered that Congress by granting the

Commissioner power to make reasonable and proper regu-

lations, intended that foreign corporations would be

granted a right of appeal to the Commissioner—it is quite

plain that the Commissioner is not required to disclose

the basis upon which he made his determinations so that

such an appeal would be worthless and not due process of

law. A taxpayer cannot present his case if he does not

know what facts the Commissioner has relied on.

The statute, in appellant's view, forecloses judicial re-

view of any tax determinations made by the Commis-

sioner, in respect of foreign corporations, even where, as

here, the Commissioner admittedly made errors in the

computation of net income, the base for the tax. If such

a provision were in the law, it would be so arbitrary and

unreasonable as to amount to an authorization of con-

fiscation of properties in the guise of getting taxes, and

would for that reason also violate the Fifth Amendment.

Nichols V. Coolidgc, 274 U. S. 531;

Eisner v. Macomber, 252 U. S. 189;

Hoeper v. Tax Commissioners, 284 U. S. 206;

Klein v. Board of Tax Supervisors, 282 U. S. 19.

It is a well recognized principle of statutory construc-

tion, that the courts will avoid, where possible, giving to

a statute any interpretation which will cast doubt upon its

constitutionality.

Strattons Independence v. Hoivbert, 231 U. S. 399.



POINT II.

The Court Below Did Not Err in Holding That Ap-

pellee Was Entitled to the Deduction of Income

Taxes Paid by It to Great Britain.

Prelimivmry Statement. The appellee, St. Helens

Petroleum Company, Ltd., being organized under the

laws of Great Britain, and being a resident of that

country, was subject to the British income tax on its

entire income from all sources, 99.75 per cent of which

was derived in the United States during the fiscal year

ended May 31, 1921. [R. 31.] Likewise, the United

States Government imposed income and profits taxes upon

the portion of appellee's income which was derived from

sources within the United States. Thus it was that

appellee's income from United States sources was subject

to both British and United States income and profits

taxes.

Our revenue acts have consistently allowed a deduction

for income taxes paid to a foreign country in determining

the net income subject to our tax. (Sec. 234 (a) (3),

Revenue Acts of 1918, 1921, 1924 and 1926; Sec. 22> (c)

(2), Revenue Acts of 1928, 1932 and 1934.) This allow-

ance is subject to certain limitations as to amount, based

upon the sources of the income on which the foreign tax

was imposed, but there is no question as to such limita-

tions in the present case. The parties have stipulated

that the amount deductible, if at all, is $41,553.05.

[R. 31.]

The only issue involved in the present case is whether

the appellee is to be deprived of the deduction because

of the fact that it deducted an amount equivalent to the

British tax from dividends paid to its shareholders.
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(a) Under Our Revenue Acts the Deduction for

Taxes Is Allowable to the One on Whom the
Taxes Were Imposed and by Whom They Were
Paid.

Section 234 (a) (3), Revenue Acts of 1918 and 1921,

provide as follows:

"(a) That in computing the net income of a cor-

poration subject to the tax imposed by Section 230

there shall be allowed as deductions:

*'(3) Taxes paid or accrued within the taxable

year except (a) income, war-profits, and excess-

profits taxes imposed by the authority of the United

States, (b) so much of the income, war-profits and

excess-profits taxes imposed by the authority of any

foreign country or possession of the United States

as is allowed as a credit under Section 238, * * *."

The test of deductibility of taxes under the above

section, and the similar sections of later acts, as dis-

closed by the decided cases, is "imposition" and "pay-

ment".

In Shearer v. Commissioner, 48 F. (2d) 552, the pur-

chaser of an automobile who had been billed for the

excise tax on the sale claimed the right to deduct that

tax. The Circuit Court of Appeals for the Second

Circuit, in an opinion by Judge Learned Hand, pointed

out that the tax was imposed on the dealer, and could not

be deducted by the purchaser, even though he ultimately

bore the burden of the tax. On this subject the opinion

states

—

"But the final incidence of taxation is not a

measure of the person on whom the tax is levied,

and it seems to us that the form of the statute must

control. * * *"
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Decisions of the Board of Tax Appeals of like effect

are:

Appeal of R. C. Musser, 3 B. T. A. 498;

Hamilton v. Commissioner, 6 B. T, A. 240.

In these cases, deduction for the excise tax on auto-

mobiles was denied the purchasers, though they had been

separately billed for the tax by the dealers. The ground

for the decisions was that the tax was not imposed on

the purchasers.

In Small v. Commissioner, 27 B. T. A. 1219, the Board

denied a deduction for taxes paid by a husband on prop-

erty belonging to his wife, although the husband had

obligated himself to the mortgagee to pay taxes on the

property. The Board's opinion reads in part as follows:

'Tn order to be entitled to a deduction for taxes

paid, a petitioner before us must show not only that

he paid the taxes, but that the taxes were imposed

upon him by the taxing authority. A. Eisenherg,

11 B. T. A. 574; Samuel Riker, Jr., 15 B. T. A.

1160; Caroline T. Kissell, 15 B. T. A. 1270; George

L. Shearer, 18 B. T. A. 465; affd. in Shearer v.

Commissioner, 48 Fed. (2d) 552; Falk Corp., 23

B. T. A. 883; aff'd. 60 Fed. (2d) 204; and Borg &
Beck Co., 24 B. T. A. 995. The petitioner has not

shown that the taxes in question were imposed upon

him."

In Peterson v. Commissioner, 31 B. T. A. 172, the

petitioner received a certain sum as a prize in a lottery,

less his share of an income tax assessed by the Govern-

ment of Newfoundland against the organization which

conducted the lottery. The petitioner claimed the de-

ducted tax as a credit against his United States tax on
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the lottery prize. The Board denied the credit, its opinion

reading in part as follows:

*'The imposition upon and the payment of the tax

by the organization conducting the lottery would

necesarily reduce the proceeds from the lottery out

of which prizes could be paid. This in turn would

reduce the amount that would be received by winning

ticket holders. But these facts in and of themselves

would not make the tax paid by the organization a

tax upon the winning ticket holders. For a foreign

tax paid to be allozvahle as a credit against a tax-

payer's Federal income tax liability, such foreign tax

must have been a tax against the taxpayer and not

a tax imposed upon and paid by another on its ozmi

account, as was the situation in the instant case.

Elgin National Watch Co., 17 B. T. A. 339; Basil

Robillard, Executor, 20 B. T. A. 685; DuckzivrtJi

Co., 24 B. T. A. 304."

Bureau rulings on this subject are

—

A. R. R. 3041, C. B. II, page 1100—holding that the

sales tax imposed by Section 902, Revenue Act of 1918,

could not be deducted by the vendee even though he

reimbursed the vendor for the tax.

A. R. R. 1020, C. B. 1-2, page lOA—denying the

trustee under a will the right to deduct Federal estate

taxes paid by them.

We do not understand the statements which appear at

pages 10 and 11 of the appellant's brief to the effect that

the gasoline tax is deductible by the purchaser of gaso-

line. Mim. 3988, C. B. XI-2, 25, holds that the Federal

Gasoline Tax imposed by Section 617, Revenue Act of
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1932, is deductible by the manufacturer, producer or

importer. This ruHng states—

-

<'* * ^ ^ jobber, dealer, or consumer who

reimburses the manufacturer, producer, or importer

for such taxes, even though billed to him as a specific

item, is not entitled to deduct from gross income the

amounts so reimbursed * * *."

Likewise, in G. C. M. 7630, C. B. IX-2, 107, the Gen-

eral Counsel ruled that ''the motor vehicle fuel tax im-

posed by the State of California is deductible for Federal

income tax purposes by the distributor who pays it and

not by the consumer".

While the point is not raised in appellant's brief,

mention should be made of the argument in the amici

curiae brief filed in this case, to the effect that appellee

is to be denied the deduction for British income tax

because it has subsequently "recouped" same from its

stockholders. This argument apparently proceeds on the

theory that the corporation, while entitled to the tax

deduction, realizes taxable income through the subsequent

"reimbursement". The answers to this argument are as

follows

:

(1) As will be demonstrated later in this brief, no

recoupment or reimbursement is involved. The corpora-

tion merely deducts the tax from its income and pays the

remainder in dividends to its shareholders.

(2) The corporation has already satisfied its tax

liability to the Crown, so its liability is in no sense satis-

fied by its shareholders.

(3) The corporation is not enriched through the pay-

ment of dividends to its shareholders, whether or not

the dividend is "free of tax". It receives nothing from
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them. \Miat has happened is that the corporation has

paid to its shareholders exactly what it was obliged to

pay them under the dividend resolution, no more and no

less. Cf. Commissioner z\ Rail Joint Co., 61 F. (2d) 751

(C. C. A. 2.) If, for example, the corporation declared

as dividends the whole of its surplus, leaving it with its

original capital and nothing more, in what form would

the alleged income be?

(4) Even if the appellee realized taxable income

through "recoupment" of its British income tax by

deduction from dividends paid to its shareholders, such

income was derived entirely from a transaction in Great

Britain and to no extent from sources in the United

States. Accordingly, such income would not be subject to

taxation in the United States. See Section 233(b),

Revenue Acts of 1918 and 1921.

Accordingly, since the tax in question was imposed

upon and measured by the income of appellee and was

actually paid by it, it is deductible from its taxable net

income under the clear provisions of our law. As stated

in the opinion of the Court below

:

"The foreign corporation in the express language

of the Revenue Act is entitled to a deduction of such

payments and I regard as entirely incidental the cir-

cumstance that under the law^s of the foreign country

the corporation is entitled to credit to the tax so

paid when it comes to paying dividends to its share-

holders. The interpretation sought by the govern-

ment would change a provision of a statute in which

there is no ambiguity whatever. This may not be

done. (Gould v. Gould, 245 U. S. 151.)"



(b) Under the British Law the Tax Here in

Question Was Imposed on and Was Paid by the
Appellee.

The appellant has stipulated that the income tax of

$41,553.05 was paid to the British Government by the

appellee [R. 31], and the Court below so found in its

Special Findings of Fact [R. 21]. The following refer-

ences to the British Revenue Act of 1918 will show that

the above tax was imposed on the appellee as a company

income tax.

Under the provisions of the British Income Tax Act of

1918, the company is the taxpayer whether the company

pays its dividends less tax, or free of tax, the company

being free to choose either method since Rule 20 is per-

missive. Rule 1 of the General Rules, applicable to

Schedules A, B, C, D, and E, contained in the Income

Tax Act of 1918, provides that:

"Every body of persons shall be chargeable to tax

in like manner as any person is chargeable under the

provisions of this Act."

Section 237 of the Act, which is the interpretative sec-

tion, defines "a body of persons" to mean (inter alia) "any

company."

The provisions referred to are not ambiguous, and, were

it not for Rule 20, the present controversy would not have

arisen. The question, then, is whether this rule has the

effect, when dividends are paid, and tax is deducted there-

from, of cancelling, or removing the imposition of a part

of the tax that was imposed on and paid by the company.
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(c) Rule 20 of the British Act Does Not Operate

TO Cancel Axy Part of the Income Tax Imposed

ON a British Company, or to Shift Any Part

OF That Tax to the Company''s Stockholders.

For convenience. Rule 20 is quoted here, as follows:

"The profits or chains to be charged on any body of

persons shall be computed in accordance with the pro-

visions of this Act on the full amount of the same

before any dividend thereof is made in respect of any

share, right or title thereto, and the body of persons

paying such dividend shall be entitled to deduct the

tax appropriate thereto."

It will be seen that the Rule is not mandatory, but is

permissive only; also, that the Rule is not a tax imposing

provision and that it does not direct the company which

may elect to deduct tax from dividends to account there-

for to the Crov.'n.

It should be plain from an examination of Rule 20 that

under the British system, as under our own system, it is

recognized that dividends and the company profits out of

which they are paid are economically the same income and

since these profits bore income tax in the hands of the

company, they are not again subjected to normal income

tax when they come into the hands of the shareholders

as dividends. Thus, we find when we come to examine

the decisions of the British courts in cases w^hich have

involved Rule 20, that they have said

:

( 1 ) That a British corporation does not pay its own
income tax as agent for its shareholders;

(2) That the company does not act as collector for the

Crown when it deducts income tax from dividends, since,
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(3) There is no income tax on dividends as such;

(4) That Rule 20 merely serves as a measure of sur-

tax income and of the amount of relief due to shareholders

who fall in the exempt class.

By way of an introduction to our examination of the

decisions of the British Courts involving Rule 20, we

quote from the opinion of Mr. Justice Rowlatt of the

Court of the King's Bench, in the case of Hamilton v.

Commissioners of Inland Revenue (1931), 16 British Tax

Cases 213, cited in appellant's brief herein. Mr. Justice

Rowlatt appears to have heard and decided a large num-

ber of the litigated tax cases in England in the court of

first instance during the past ten or fifteen years and, as

will be seen, his opinions are frequently quoted with re-

spect and approval in the House of Lords. The Hamilton

case will be discussed in detail later on. At present we

quote from Mr. Justice Rowlatt's opinion merely for back-

ground against which to view the operation and eflfect of

Rule 20 in the British taxing system. Mr. Justice Row-

latt said, in the Hamilton case (pp. 222-223) :

"Now, as I said during the argument, I do not

think anybody has ever sat down to really tackle ex-

haustively, so as to work out a complete system, the

problem which arises in relating the taxpayer's indi-

vidual income to the income of the company. Those

problems of course were very much in the background

in 1842, but they came into some prominence as soon

as you got the growth of the Joint Stock commer-

cial companies, and their consideration has been one

of the esoteric joys of the select company of Income

Tax lawyers for a long time."



The statement just quoted, coming as it did, in 1931,

from a British jurist who has probably had the widest

experience with Htigated tax cases of any British lawyer

or judge, prepares us for the conflicting dicta in the Brit-

ish decisions as to the effect of Rule 20.

Rule 20 and its predecessor. Section 54 of the Revenue

Act of 1842, have been in force for ninety-three years.

It will fairly appear hereinafter, from citations of British

decisions, that when this provision was first enacted, Brit-

ish companies were regarded as being no more than the

aggregate of their shareholders, so that income tax levied

upon corporations was thought of as being collected at the

source from the shareholders. It will further appear that

when, later on, the "corporate entity" theory became fully

recognized in Great Britain, it became necessary to recog-

nize also that the income tax paid by a corporation was

paid on behalf of the corporation itself, and not on behalf

of its shareholders. Still. Rule 20 remained in the British

law, so, to square the "corporate entity" concept with

other concepts which conflicted with the former, it was

necessary for the British courts to indulge in a number

of fictions. These fictions, which appear usually in the

form of dicta in the earHer British decisions, have led the

Bureau of Internal Revenue, and the appellant here, into

error.

Thus, the appellant gives the impression throughout his

brief that when a British corporation deducts tax from

dividends, it does so as collector for the Crown, and

actually remits the deducted tax to the Crown. This is

not so. There is no British income tax on dividends, as

such. Not one farthing of actual money changes hands

when tax is deducted from dividends. The Crown gets

but one income tax—that paid by the company on its
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profits. All that happens when tax is deducted from divi-

dends is a paper deduction. No income tax is paid to the

Crown in respect of the dividend.

The concept upon which the tax is based is described

by Mr. Justice Rowlatt in Ritson v. Phillips, 131 L. T.

384, 9 Tax Cas. 10 (1924), as follows:

"He is not taxed on his dividends. The companies

are taxed on their profits not as his agents (as has

been loosely said), though at his ultimate expense.

There is no provision for the return of any of this

tax to the shareholder save in the process of giving

effect to deductions and reliefs."

The British cases cited below point out that their law

does not impose any income tax on dividends, as such;

hence it follows there could be no occasion that would

require ( 1 ) collection at the source by the company paying

the dividend, or, (2) payment of any tax on the dividend

by the shareholder; and, if there is no income tax on divi-

dends, as such, it follows that the relief to dividend re-

ceivers who fall in the exempt class cannot be made on

the theory that they paid an income tax on their divi-

dends. The British cases are equally clear that the com-

pany does not pay its own income tax as agent for its

shareholders.

In Purdie v. Rex (1914), 3 K. B. 112, 111 Law Times

Reports 531, the contention was made by a married woman

that she was entitled to a refund from the Crown of in-

come tax deducted from dividends and interest paid to her

by a company. She said that under Section 45 of the

Act of 1842 she was exempt from tax, being a married

woman living with her husband; that she had therefore

been improperly taxed on her dividend by the process of



—45—

deduction under Section 54 of the Act of 1842, which was

similar to Rule 20. Judge Rowlatt, of the Court of the

King's Bench, denied Mrs. Purdie's contention for reasons

which appear in his opinion, as follows:

"Schedule D levies a tax on profits made from
trade. In this case the trade is done by a company
and Mrs. Purdie says 'I am one of the part-owners

of the company.' How are we going to deal with in-

come tax on profits made from trade when the trade

belongs to a company? The answer is to be found
in Section 54 of the Act of 1842. That says that a

company shall make an estimate of its profits and
gains computed on the amount of the profits and
gains before any dividend shall have been paid, and
that all persons entitled to dividends shall allow out

of such dividends as a proportional deduction in re-

spect of the duty so charged. So that in effect the

company is the taxpayer. There is strictly speaking

no income tax on dividends at all. The company Jias

to pay income tax on its profits as a company, and
having paid income tax, the result is there is less to

divide among shareholdei's. That is what it comes
to. Mrs. Purdie has, therefore, strictly speaking,

never been charged with income tax at all in respect

of her dividends from the company. What has really

happened is that the company has been charged with
income tax and is by so much the poorer, and has

therefore to declare a smaller dividend. The com-
pany has been charged with the income tax and has
to reimburse itself."

While the above decision was by a court of first in-

stance, Mr. Justice Rowlatt's reasoning was quoted with

approval by the House of Lords in the recent (1934)
case of Neumann v. Commissioners of Inland Revenue
150 Law Times Reports 481, 18 British Tax Cases 332.
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Bradbury (Collector of Taxes) v. English Sewing Cot-

ton Company, Ltd. (House of Lords, 1923), 8 British

Tax Cases 481, involved this question. The taxpayer, a

British company, owned all the stock of an American

company and in the years 1914 to 1916 received dividends

from the American company on that stock. .During these

years the American company, although incorporated in

America, was controlled from England, hence, under Brit-

ish law it was resident in Great Britain and was subject

to tax as a British company. In 1917 control of the

American company was removed from Great Britain and

it was not thereafter taxed as a British company. At

the time this case arose, British companies were taxed on

the average of their income for the three years preceding

the year of assessment, and the question for decision was

whether, in determining the English Sewing Cotton Com-

pany's taxable net income for 1917, it was proper to in-

clude therein the average of the dividends which it had

received from the American company f.or the years 1914,

1915 and 1916. The Crown contended that the dividends

were taxable as income received by a British company from

a foreign source, whereas the taxpayer contended that the

dividends were paid out of profits thai had borne the Brit-

ish income tax and were not, therefore, again subject to

income tax.

The Court of Appeal held with the taxpayer and its

judgment was affirmed by the House of Lords. The fol-

lowing quotations are from the opinions rendered in the

House of Lords

:

Lord Wrenbury in his opinion (p. 516) said:

"The English Sewing Cotton Company during the

first three years held, and they subsequently con-

tinued to hold, all, or nearly all, the ordinary shares
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in the American Company. They were entitled to

receive, and did receive, dividends in respect of them.

The fund available for their payment was not the

profits of the American Company, but the dififeren-

tial sum remaining after deduction from those profits

of the Income tax which the American Company
was liable to pay and had paid. And the person to

make payment to them was the American Company.
The case was one within Section 54 of the Income

Tax Act, 1842. The English Company as a holder

of shares in the American Company was a person to

whom an annual payment was made out of property

of the American Company in respect of which the

American Company was chargeable to Income Tax
under the Act. The English Company could not,

during the first three years, be assessed, and was not

assessed, in respect of the dividends thus received

The American Company was the person, and the only

person who could be assessed in respect of the profits

of the business of the American Company. The
corporator bore his share of the tax by the deduction

of the appropriate share of the collective tax paid by

the corporation from his dividend (Inland Revenue v.

Blott (2), (1920), 1 K. B. 114, 130, 131)."

Lord Phillimore was of the same view. His opinion

reads in part as follows:

"This case seems to depend upon the following

considerations. A joint stock company is under the

Income Tax Act, 1842, treated as a person and is

directed to make a return of its profits or gains ac-

cording to Schedule D upon a conventional figure,

arrived at by taking an average of the three preced-

ing years, and is liable to be assessed and taxed

thereupon.
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"If the principle of its being a distinct person, dis-

tinct from its shareholders or the aggregate of its

shareholders, had been carried to a logical conclusion,

there would have been no reason why each share-

holder should not, in his turn, have to return as part

of his profits or gains under Schedule D the money

received by him in dividends, (p. 518.)

"Be this as it may, I find no warrant in law for

such a conception. A company either comes under

Section 40 of the Act of 1842, or it does not. If it

does not, it is not taxable; but in that event those

who receive dividends from it will be taxable in re-

spect of their dividends. // it does come under Sec-

tion 40, its shareholders are not taxable for their

dividends. This is so, not because of any implied

rule of law against double taxation, a rule for which

it would be difficult to find support in the hooks, but

because dividends on shares in a taxed company do

not come under Schedule D." (p. 520.)

Lord Justice Younger, of the Court of Appeal, after-

wards Lord Blanesburgh, House of Lords, expressed the

following views (pp. 501-502) :

"Now during that period dividends upon its com-

mon stock were declared and paid by the American

company. On these dividends, under Section 54 of

the Act of 1842, Income Tax was deducted by the

American company at its source. These dividends un-

der that deduction were paid to the English company

and they with its deducted income t?.x are the divi-

dends with reference to which the present contention

of the Crown is made.

"Now, there may, before Inland Revenue Com-

missioners V. Blott (supra), have been some ques-
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tion as to the character in which these deductions

of income tax zvere made by the American company.

There is nozv no question upon that head. 'Plainly/

says Lord Cave in that case (125 L. T. Reports, 505;

(1921) A. C. at page 201), *a company paying in-

come tax on its profits docs not pay it as agent for its

shareholders. It pays as a taxpayer and if no divi-

dend is declared the shareholders have no direct con-

cern in the payment. If a dividend is declared the

company is entitled to deduct from such dividend a

proportionate part of the amount of the tax pre-

viously paid by the company, and in that case the

payment by the company operates in relief of the

shareholder. But no agency properly so called is

involved.'

'The same subject is dealt with, and in terms, for

present purposes more directly in point, by Rowlatt,

J., in his judgment in the same case (121 L. T. Rep.

at p. 650 (1920), 1 K. B. at 130). The learned

judge says: The dividends or drawings of corpora-

tors, shareholders, partners, joint-owners, and the

like, were not again taxable as a new subject matter.

Corporators or shareholders bore their share of the

tax (/. e.^ a share of the collective tax^ not an indi-

vidual tax) from their dividends under the express

authority of Section 54.'
"

The views expressed in the opinions in the Bradbury

case were noted and reaffirmed in 1934 by the House of

Lords in Neumann v. Commissioners of Inland Revenue,

150 Law Times Reports 481, 18 British Tax Cases 332.
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In the Neumann case, the taxpayer received a dividend

that was paid out of profits that were theoretically

charged with income tax in the hands of the company

which paid the dividend, but which, actually, had not

borne tax,, for the following" reason

:

The company which paid the dividend operated a prop-

erty from which it received a rental income. The British

law does not tax the actual rents received, but, instead,

sets up a hypothetical income determined on the basis of an

assumed rental value. The actual rents were considerably

in excess of the assumed figure, and in a prior proceed-

ing the Crown sought to tax the excess. The House of

Lords there held that the hypothetical figure governed,

regardless of the actual rents, and, after that decision the

company distributed the excess rents as dividends to its

shareholders. Neumann was one of these, and he re-

ceived the sum of £4,275.

The Crown contended that, notwithstanding that the

profits out of which the dividend was paid had not ac-

tually borne income tax in the hands of the company, for

the purpose of the surtax, Neumann should report the

sum received, of £4,275, plus the income tax "appropriate

thereto" of £1,068 15s., making the amount subject to

surtax £5,343 15s. The House of Lords held that only

the sum received, £4,275, was subject to surtax.

The opinions in this case are of particular importance

in that they:

(1) Approve the reasoning of Purdie v. Rex, su-

pra, and Bradbury v. English Sezving Cotton Com-

pany, supra.

(2) The opinions disapprove the dicta in Hamil-

ton V. Commissioners of Inland Revenue, cited on

pages 38 and 50 of appellant's brief.
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The opinion of Lord Tonilin states

—

"The case is a difficult one, and the difficulty in part

arises from the fact that the amendments from time

to time made to the Income Tax Acts, directed as

they frequently are to stoppino- an exit throiig-h the

net of taxation freshly disclosed, are too often

framed without sufficient regard to the basic scheme

upon which the Acts ori.irinally rested.

"The relative positions of a company and the

shareholders of the company in relation to Income

Tax under the Income Tax Acts have always been

recognized as special in character. It was never, I

think, doubted that, under the Act of 1842, the profits

of a business carried on by a company were taxable

against the company under Schedule D, and were not

taxable again, after distribution, in the hands of the

shareholders under Schedule D or any .other Sched-

ule. At the same time, it was permisible to the

company, under Section 54 of the Act of 1842, to

deduct from the dividend the proportionate part of

the tax paid to the tax collector, and the shareholders

entitled to exemption from or abatement .of Income

Tax could, upon the footing of the deduction, obtain

the necessary return of tax. I cannot but think that

the position under the Act of 1842 upon its proper

construction is correctly described in the f.ollowing

passage from the speech of Lord Phillimore in Brad-

bury V. English Sewing Cotton Company, Limited,

(1923), A. C. 744, at page 769. * * *

"In practice, the matter did not work out quite so

simply. It has to be remembered that the amount

distributable in dividend in any year might, in view

of the assessment of profits or gains under Schedule

A being upon the basis of the average of the three
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preceding years, as it then was, be much more or

much less than the amount of the assessment for that

year, so that if this proportionate deduction was

treated as meaning" the rateable proportion of the tax

paid by the company in respect of the year of dis-

tribution, it might much exceed or be much less than

the amount which would be deducted from the divi-

dend if the current rate of tax in respect of the gross

dividend had been deducted. At any rate, a practice

seems to have grown up of companies deducting

from dividends tax appropriate to the amount of the

dividend at the current rate of tax, quite irrespective

of the amount of tax paid by the company to the

Revenue, and of the shareholders claiming exemption

or abatement being treated by the Revenue as having

paid tax to the extent of that deduction. As the

company making the deduction lay under no obliga-

tion to pay to the Revenue anything more than the

tax based upon its ozvn assessment^ the result was

that the tax returned to those claiming exemption or

abatement could rarely, if ever, have had any exact

relation to the amount of tax received by the Revenue

from the recipient of returned tax.

"The effect of this last-mentioned Section seems to

place beyond doubt this, that, where tax may be de-

ducted from a dividend, the amount deductible is

the sum which equals the standard rate of tax for

the year of payment upon the gross amount of the

dividend and that, whenever the profits were earned,

the sum from which the deduction is made, and the

deduction itself, are to be treated as income and de-

duction in respect of the year in which the payment

is made. Thus, the deduction permissible from, the
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dividend clearly had no relation to the figure of tax

payable by the company to the Revenue, though there

was still no obligation on the company to account to

the Revenue for what was deducted. The deduction,

in fact, was only part of a system by which was

measured (1) the extent of the shareholder's right

to have exemption or abatement, and (2) the Hability

of the shareholder to Sur-tax.*********
"I may say at once that, having regard to the

view which I have expressed as to the general scheme

and operation of the Income Tax Acts in regard to

dividends, / am unable to accept the viezv that divi-

dends, as such, are taxable under Schedule D. I do

not think they are. I think it is accurate to say, as

Mr. Justice Rowlatt said in Purdie v. Rex (1914), 3

K. B. 112, at page 116: There is, strictly speaking,

no tax upon dividends at all.' They are, however,

under Rule 20 of the General Rules and Section 39

of the Finance Act, 1927, and apart altogether from

Section 7 of the Finance Act, 1931, liable, where the

dividends are made out of profits or gains charged

on the company, to sufficient deduction of a sum equal

to tax at the standard rate on the gross amount of

the dividends and, in such cases, the gross amount of

the dividend is the Income Tax income to be taken

into account, whether it be for computing the amount

of tax which the shareholder is entitled to have re-

turned, or for fixing his liability to Sur-tax. * * *"

Lord Wright's opinion reads in part as follows:

"Rule 20 is, in effect, based on Section 54 of the

Income Tax Act, 1842, with the substitution of the

words 'the tax appropriate thereto' for the words
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'the tax proportionate thereto.' The scheme of these

provisions, as I understand them, is to impose the

tax on all the profits of the company at the source;

if and so far as these profits have been so taxed,

they are not liable to any further tax, other than

sur-tax, in the hands of the shareholder receiving

the dividend. The shareholder and the company are,

no doubt, separate entities: the company is not an

agent for the shareholder to pay tax on the dividend,

nor is the company the collector for the Revenue to

deduct the tax from the dividend. The company is

the taxpayer. The shareholder has no right to any

share of the profits till a dividend is declared; the

company may use the profits in any way it pleases

vis-a-vis any shareholder; it may put them to reserve

or capitalize them or use them for extensions or

improvements; the profits declared and paid as divi-

dends in one year may have been made in previous

years, when the standard rate of tax was different.

It is only very rarely, and in exceptional cases, that

dividends are paid out of any particular source of

profit; usually they are paid out of the general

revenue fund of the company. What is essential

to the requirements of the Inland Revenue is that

all the profits of the company should be taxed, and,

if that is done, the Revenue is not concerned with

what is done with these profits. The company is not

hound, hut only authorised, to deduct tax in paying

dividends; whether it deducts or not is left to its dis-

cretion, because the profits, once having been taxed

in the company's hands, do not bear further tax

—

apart from Sur-tax—in the shareholders' hands.

There is, in fact, only one profit, no new profit being

created from the fact that the shareholder gets his

share; the tax is a tax on the profits and not on the
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dkndend. But, if tax is deducted from the dividend,

the Acts have provided that it is to be at the standard

rate of tax of the year of dividend, in order to avoid

obvious difficuhies which might arise because profits

divided in one year may have been earned in other

years. The provisions of Section 7 of the Finance

Act, 1931, will be considered by me more particu-

larly in connection with the cross-appeal.

"On a careful review of these provisions, I reach

the conclusion that a shareholder is not separately

taxable— I disregard Sur-tax—on a dividend, as a

profit individual to himself, under Schedule D, Case

\'I, as the Court of Appeal held, or at all. Apart

from what I conceive to be the clear effect of the

Acts in this regard, I think the position has been so

stated by this House more than once, at least as a

matter of observation. Thus, in Inland Revenue

Commissioners v. Blott (1921), 2 x-\. C. 171, at page

201, \lscount Cave thus explained the system:

—

'Plainly, a company paying income tax on its profits

does not pay it as agent for its shareholders. It

pays as a taxpayer, and if no dividend is declared

the shareholders have no direct concern in the pay-

ment. If a dividend is declared, the company is

entitled to deduct from such dividend a proportionate

part of the amount of tax previously paid by the

company: and in that case the payment by the com-

pany operates in relief of the shareholder." In Brad-

bury z'. English Sezving Cotton Company (1923),

A. C. 744, at page 766, Lord Wrenbury thus ex-

pressed the same idea in concise form: 'The cor-

porator bore his share of the tax by the deduction

of the appropriate share of the collective tax paid

by the corporation from his dividend.' Lord Philli-

more expresses the same view at page 771 : 'the share-
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holder'—in the ordinary case of a taxed company

—

'is taken to have paid the tax upon his dividends

through the company and is not . . . taxed

upon them.'

"These cases, and other similar statements of the

principle which I may quote, were, no doubt,

made with reference to Section 54 of the Income

Tax Act, 1842, but I do not think that the substitu-

tion in the later Act of the word 'appropriate' for

the word 'proportionate' in the earlier Act, affects

the principle. In 1842, the modern development of

limited companies was not in contemplation; 'propor-

tionate' was an apt word for the simple cases of

corporators where each year the corporators shared,

in definite proportions, the available net income.

'Appropriate' tax, which is more precisely defined

by the Finance Act of 1927 as being at the standard

rate of the year of payment, is clearly a more apt

term in connection with the dividends of a company.

But the same view has been expressed in regard to

Rule 20 of the Act of 1918, for instance, by Lord

Sterndale and Lord Warrington, in Sheldrick v.

South African Breweries, Limited (1923), K. B.

173.

"The Court of Appeal, in deciding against the

appellant, on the ground that the dividend he re-

ceived was separately taxable in his hands at the

standard rate (because charged with Income Tax
under Schedule D), found some support for their

decision in Hamilton v. Inland Revenue Com,mission-

ers (1931), 2 K. B. 495: in that case, the share-

holder claimed that he was only liable to be taxed to

the extent of a proportionate part—that is, in the

proportion that a shareholding bore to the total issued

capital of the company—and not on the basis of the
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tax appropriate to his actual dividend. That con-

tention was rightly rejected both by Mr. Justice

Rowlatt and by the Court of Appeal. But the deci-

sion did not involve, or require, as I think, any con-

clusion that dividends were separately taxable in the

shareholders' hands under Schedule D, nor did Mr.

Justice Rowlatt so think, though certain dicta in the

Court of Appeal may seem to point that way. I

cannot, with respect, go with the Court of Appeal

in dismissing the Appellant's appeal on the ground

that the dividend, not being a capital distribution,

was chargeable with Income Tax under Schedule

D. For the reason I have stated, I think that is not

in accordance with the provision of the Acts."

See, also:

Inland Revenue Commissioners v. Blott (1921),

2 A. C. 171.

The language quoted in the appellant's brief from opin-

ions in earlier British cases is utterly in conflict with the

later opinions of the higher British tribunals, quoted

above. Such statements were not necessar^v* for the deci-

sion of the controversies there involved and, as dicta,

have been entirely discredited by decisions of the House

of Lords, the highest court in Great Britain. We do

not believe anything would be gained by reviewing them

at length.

\\*e submit that the British cases cited above clearly

show

—

(1) that the income tax of a British company is not

paid as agent for its shareholders, but is a tax imposed

on and paid by the company, separate and distinct from

its shareholders;
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(2) that the situation of the company is not affected

by the deduction of tax from dividends;

(3) that the reUef allowed to shareholders who fall

in the exempt class is grounded on the independent con-

sideration that the shareholders ultimately bear the com-

pany income tax burden, and that the refunds are made

because the company paid income tax—not because the

shareholder paid a tax on his dividend; and

(4) that the addition of deducted income tax to the

net dividend received by a shareholder, for surtax pur-

poses, is grounded on separate considerations that are

not material to the question in issue here.

(d) The Deduction of a Tax From Dividends Under
Rule 20 of the British Act Does Not in Any
Real Sense Reimburse the Company for Its

Own Income Tax Payment.

We have seen that the Crown has only a collateral

concern in the deduction of tax from dividends. The

question, then, is whether, as between the company and

its shareholders, the deduction has the effect of reim-

bursing the company for a part of its own income tax

payment.

The following simple illustration will make it obvious

that the company does not gain anything when it deducts

tax from dividends. Assume the case of a company

that distributes annually all of its profits as dividends.

If, in 1921, that company had profits of £10,000; if it

paid income tax thereon of £2,000; and distributed £8,000

to its shareholders by means of a declaration of a £10,000

dividend, less tax of £2,000, where is there any reim-

bursement? The company made £10,000. It paid income
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tax thereon to the British Government of £2,000, dis-

tributed what remained—£8,000—to its shareholders.

The deduction of tax, £2,000, added nothing to the com-

pany's weakh.

As between the company and the shareholder, the

deduction of tax under Rule 20 merely has the effect

of allowing the company income tax as a deduction in

ascertaining the amount of profits available for distribu-

tion as dividends. As Mr. Justice Rowlatt aptly said in

Purely z\ Rex, supra,—
''The company has to pay income tax on its profits

as a company, and having paid income tax. the

result is there is less to divide among shareholders."

Superficially, it might appear that through deduction

of the tax, a British company is allowed to discharge

its liabiHty for dividends for less than the declaration

obligated it to pay. Upon analysis, it becomes clear that

this view is utterly without merit, viz.

:

1. Under Rule 20, every British shareholder's right

to dividends is subject to a tax deduction. Thus, the

shareholder has no right to demand the gross dividend

declared by a British company if that company chooses

the "less tax" form of declaration. When this form of

dividend declaration is adopted, the company's liability

to the shareholder is for payment of the "less tax" sum.

The practical eft'ect of the Rule is to prevent the share-

holders from demanding more than the company can pay

without charging its income tax to capital.

2. Xothing is received by the company when it incurs

the liability arising from a dividend declaration. Thus,

the situation is utterly different from the one where a

corporation issues its bonds for cash, and later retires
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the bonds at less than the issuing price. There, on the

whole transaction, the corporation clearly improves its

economic position in the amount of the difference between

what it realized for the bonds when they were issued, and

the amount it disbursed to rid itself of the liability. In

the case of the deduction of tax from dividends, the

transaction has no beginning or end. It is all one

operation.

3. In the case of dividends, the amount thereof is

usually within the reasonably exercised discretion of the

management of the company. It would be an odd result

if that management were able to fasten a liability on the

company by declaring a dividend in excess of what was

intended to be actually paid, and then be said to have

recouped, or reimbursed itself for a part of that liability

through deduction of tax from dividends paid to share-

holders.

The truth of the matter is that profits available for

dividends, under our conception of law and accounting,

have passed tax-paid through the door of income into

the capital account of the company. What is done with

these profits thereafter in the way of distribution to

shareholders is purely a capital transaction and does not

give rise to gain or loss.

After all, we are dealing here with a United States

statute which allows this appellee a deduction from

income taxes paid to Great Britain. The purpose of the

statute in allowing this deduction was to ascertain net

income by deduction from gross income of all proper

expenses—foreign taxes being dealt with, as they should

be, as an expense item incurred in earning the income

subject to our tax. Our statute gives this deduction for

foreign taxes *'paid". There is no doubt but that the
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appellee paid the British taxes in question; and there is

no doubt but that it paid them on its own income and

for its own account. There is also no doubt but that

the taxpayer never received any part of these taxes from

its shareholders, in any real sense.

The effect of the appellant's argument is that under

British law, the word "paid," as applied to payments of

income tax, is construed to mean "paid" and "ultimately

borne". In this connection, it is interesting to observe

how completely the appellant's conception is at variance

with the views of the British courts when they have had

occasion to construe the word "paid" as it appears in

their own law. The case of the Commissioners of Inland

Revenue v. Dalgety & Co., Ltd., 15 T. C. 216, is precisely

in point. There the taxpayer realized income in England

and also in Australia, all of which was taxable at the

British rates. The Australian income had also borne

income tax imposed by the Government of Australia.

The purely English income was insufficient to meet de-

benture interest, and the deficiency was met out of Aus-

tralian income. The question in the case involved the

amount of the relief to which the taxpayer was entitled

on account of its payment of Australian income tax,

under Section 27 of the Finance Act of 1920, which

provided as follows:

"If any person who has paid, by deduction or

otherwise, or is liable to pay, United income tax for

any year of assessment, on any part of his income,

proves ^'' * ^^ that he has paid Dominion income

tax for that year in respect of the same part of his

income, he shall be entitled to relief from United

Kingdom incom.e tax paid or payable by him on that

part of his income at a rate thereon to be determined

as follows * * *."
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It will be noted that the above section has the effect of

our own provision allowing a credit for foreign taxes;

also, that the British taxpayer seeking relief under the

section must prove that he ''paid" Dominion income tax

on the part of the income on which he "paid" British in-

come tax.

The Crown contended that the relief for Dominion in-

come tax could not be allowed as to that part of the

Dominion income that was applied to the payment of the

debenture income, for, said the Crown, the burden of tax

on that income was borne by the debenture holders from

whose interest payments tax was deducted by the company.

The Court of Appeal and the House of Lords held that

the relief for Dominion income tax should be given the

taxpayer on the ground that the word "paid' 'in the relief

section meant exactly what it said, and did not mean, as

the Crown contended, "paid and ultimately borne."

Here was an interest case where deduction of tax

actually diminished the amount that would otherwise have

been payable to the debenture holders,—a much stronger

case than where a mere bookkeeping arrangement is made

in regard to dividends. Nevertheless, the British court

refused to construe the word "paid" as meaning "paid and

ultimately borne," as the appellant in our case would have

this Court construe the word "paid" as its appears in

Section 234 (a) (3), Revenue Acts of 1918 and 1921.

The following is quoted from the opinion of Lord

Thankerton in the Dalgety case:

"The Special Commissioners decided in favour of

the Respondents, Mr. Justice Rowlatt in favour of

the Crown, and the Court of Appeal in favour of

the Respondents. I agree w^ith the decision of the
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ing of the language used is in favour of the Re-

spondent's contention. In accordance with the pro-

visions of the Income Tax Acts the whole of the

Company's profits, whether applied in whole or m
part in payment of debenture interest, or not so

applied at all. forms their income for the purpose of

assessment for charge under Schedule D and, in my
opinion, the fact that they are entitled, though not

bound, to recover the appropriate proportion by de-

duction on payment of the interest cannot be held to

alter the position. The Company are entitled to make

that deduction Avhether they have paid their Income

Tax or not; and are under no liability to account

to the Crow^n for it. The contention of the Cromn

involves constrning 'paid' to mean 'paid and utimately

borne', a construction for ivhich I see neither necessity

nor warrant."

Lord Macmillan, in his opinion, said

:

"There can be no question that the Company has

paid full United Kingdom Income Tax on the whole

of its income, including the portion derived from the

Dominions and applied in paying its debenture inter-

est. No deduction from assessment has been made

in respect of its debenture interest and none could

properly be made. The amount of the debenture in-

terest is not deductible for the purpose of ascertain-

ing the net assessable income of the Company. It

is true that the Company will not have borne full

United Kingdom Income Tax on the portion of its

income derived from the Dominions and applied in

paying its debenture interest if the relief claimed is

accorded. But the right to deduct Income Tax at

the full United Kingdom rate when paying its de-

benture interest is plainly conferred on the Company
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by Rule 19, for the condition is that the interest shall

be 'payable wholly out of profits or gains brought into

charge to tax' and the whole profits of the company

have been brought into charge to tax. Actual pay-

ment, not ultimate incidence, is the criterion both of

the right of relief and of the right to deduct/'

If under the British law, a company has paid British

tax where it has "passed the tax on" to the debenture

holders and thereby relieved itself of interest, it certainly

has paid British tax where it has declared a dividend either

free of tax or less tax, and has merely deducted the so-

called tax appropriate thereto.

Whether viewed under the British decisions or under

the provisions of our own Act, the appellee paid the tax

in question on its own profits and is entitled to a deduc-

tion therefor.

(e) Appellant's Construction of the Law Would
Result in Administrative Confusion and Seri-

ous Danger of Duplicating Deductions.

Appellant apparently takes the position that the correct

rule of construction is set forth in S. M. 3040, C. B., IV-1,

198 and S. M. 5363, C. B., V-1, 89, two informal rulings

of the Bureau of Internal Revenue. These rulings, pro-

mulgated in 1925 and 1926, respectively, hold in effect that

the British income tax constitutes a credit or deduction to

the stockholder if it is "deducted" from dividends, but

that it constitutes a credit or deduction to the corporation

if no dividends are paid by the company. We respectfully

submit that such a construction, while it might work sub-

stantial equity in some cases, lays the emphasis upon the

ultimate burdot of the tax, where the test prescribed by

our law is imposition and payment.
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Furthermore, such a construction leads to innumerable

administrative difficulties. In the first place it is difficult

for our officials to determine what dividends have been

paid by a foreign corporation.

Again, it rests the deductibility of the tax upon an

event which of necessity is subsequent to the imposition

and payment of tax. It would be just as logical to say

that the California gasoline tax is deductible by the con-

sumer if he ultimately bears the burden, yet the Depart-

ment has ruled expressly to the contrary. See G. C. M.

630, C. B., IX-2, 107.

Furthermore, in most cases a corporation declares di-

vidends in a year subsequent to that in which the profits

were earned. Years after the corporation has paid the

tax and been allowed the deduction, it may pay dividends

out of such profits and, under the appellant's construc-

tion of the law, the stockholders would be entitled to

another deduction. How would our officials be able to

protect our tax revenues in such a situation?

Again, under the British law, as showm in the quotations

from the opinions of the House of Lords in the Neumann

case, supra, the tax is deducted from the dividend at the

rate current in the year of distribution, irrespective of the

amount of tax paid by the company. In such a situation,

what amount is deductible by the stockholder, the rate of

tax actually paid by the company or the rate at which the

deduction was made from dividends? If it is the amount

of deduction, then it may have no relation whatever to

the tax actually paid to and received by the British gov-

ernment—in other words, it is not a tax deduction. If,

on the other hand, it is the rate actually paid by the com-

pany, how are our officials to determine out of what profits
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in past years the dividend was paid or what rate of tax

such profits bore?

The obvious conclusion is that the appellant is attempt-

ing to convert a tax actually imposed upon the profits of,

and paid by, the company into a tax paid by the stock-

holder on the basis of subsequent events which may not

occur for many years, whereas the theory of our Acts is

to treat each taxable year as a unit and ignore events

which occur in other periods.

The administrative confusion which would follow from

such an interpretation is in itself sufficient rebuttal to appel-

lant's contentions, even if the law were ambiguous. For-

tunately, however, the language of our statute is plain.

Whether the tax paid by the corporation is deductible de-

pends upon the situation at the time it is paid and cannot

be changed retroactively by any subsequent events.

(f) There Has Been no Implied Ratification by

Congress of the Interpretation for Which
Appellant Contends.

Appellant makes the further contention that reenact-

ment by Congress of the tax deduction and credit pro-

visions in later Acts implies ratification of appellant's

interpretation. Such an argument has no foundation.

In the first place, the Departmental rulings referred to

above merely set forth an interpretation of British law

based upon dicta in old cases which have been repudiated

by the highest courts of England. Furthermore, these

rulings were not promulgated until 1925 and 1926, sub-

sequent to the taxable years in question.
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The Commissioner has not followed a consistent practice

on the question here presented. As a matter of fact, the

Bureau is vigorously contending today before the Board

of Tax Appeals that stockholders of British corporations

are not entitled to a deduction for any "taxes" on divi-

dends paid by such corporations. The Board cases re-

ferred to include George W. EIkins, Docket No. 75742:

Leslie H. Reed, Docket No. 75812; Estate of Marie Cook

Hickey, Docket No. 75849; Estate of James Hickey,

Docket No. 75852; and Mary Duke Biddle, Docket No.

62025. The fact is that the Commissioner is awaiting a

final decision by the courts on the question and in the

meanwhile is protecting the Government's interests by

denying the deduction to both corporations and stock-

holders.

The only court decision on this question to date is

that of the Court below in the present group of cases,

and that, of course, was in accordance with appellee's

contentions. The case of Basil Rohillard, 20 B. T. A.

685, cited by appellants, does not represent a considered

decision by the Board on this question, for the reason

that parties there stipidated that the credit should be al-

lowed for amounts deducted from dividends by the British

company on account of income taxes, with respect to stock

then held by the taxpayer. P. 687, par. 5.) The only

question presented to the Board was w^hether like treat-

ment should be accorded to dividends from a Canadian

company which in turn had in turn received dividends

from the British Company. The Commissioner having

stipulated the propriety of the credit and having

introduced no facts or arguments to the contrary, the

Board had no alternative but to follow the stipulation.
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Obviously, this was not a "decision" at all. On the other

point, the Board upheld the Commissioner. Upon appeal

by the taxpayer^ the Circuit Court of Appeals, 2nd Cir-

cuit, affirmed without an opinion. On such appeal, the

question here involved was not even presented to the

Court.

In this connection, attention is invited to Helvering

V. New York Trust Co., 292 U. S. 455, where the Su-

preme Court disposed of a similar contention with the

following comments:

"The Commissioner's suggestion that, by retaining

the same definition in the 1924 Act, Congress ap-

proved the construction for which he contends is

without merit. The definition had not been con-

strued in any Treasury decision, by the Board of

Tax Appeals or by any court prior to that enactment

* * * The rulings, I. T. 1379, 1660 and 1889,

cited by the Commissioner were made before the

passage of the 1924 Act but they 'have none of the

force or effect of Treasury decisions and do not com-

mit the Department to any interpretation of the

law.' See cautionary notice published in the bulletins

containing these rulings. It does not appear that

the attention of Congress had been called to any such

construction. There is no ground on which to infer

that by the 1924 Act Congress intended to approve

it."

For like reasons, the rulings cited by appellant do not

have the force of Treasury decisions and would not be

of value even of the statute were ambiguous. However,

the language of the law is plain—the word "paid" is

hardly susceptible of ambiguity. Under these circum-
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stances, "there can be no construction where there is

nothing to construe." United States v. Hartwell, 6 A\'all.

385, 396. See also Omega Chemical Co., 31 B. T. A. Xo.

200, in which the Board refused to follow what the tax-

payer argued was an administrative interpretation of the

foreign tax credit provision in the Department's regula-

tions.

We respectfully submit, therefore, that the Court below

properly held that appellee was entitled to a deduction

for the British income tax imposed on its profits and

paid by it.

Conclusion.

For the reasons set forth above, we respectfully urge

that no error was committed by the Court below and

that the judgment in favor of the appellee should be

affirmed.

Respectfully submitted,

Joseph D. Peeler,

819 Title Insurance Bldg.,

Los Angeles, Calif.

Counsel for Appellee.

George M. Wolcott^

Donald V, Hunter,

922 Southern Bldg.,

Washington, D. C.

Of Counsel.





APPENDIX.

Statutes.

XoTE. The trial court herein agreed to take judicial

notice of the British law incorporated in the briefs of

counsel [R. 34]. In accordance therewith, appellee is set-

ting forth below all, and only such extracts from the

British statutes as were set forth in the briefs in the trial

court. In this connection, it will be noted that a number

of the provisions of the British statutes which are set

forth in Appendix B. attached to appellant's brief herein,

were not cited cr quoted in the briefs below.

United States:

Section 234 Revenue Act of 1921, provides in part as

follows

:

"(a) That in computing the net income of a cor-

poration subject to the tax imposed by section 230

there shall be allowed as deductions

:

"(3) Taxes paid or accrued within the taxable

year except (a) income, war-profits, and excess-

profits taxes imposed by the authority of the United

States, (b) so much of the income, war-profits, and

excess-profits taxes imposed by the authority of any

foreign country or possession of the United States

as is allowed as a credit under section 238."

Identical provisions are contained in section 234 (a) (3)

of the Revenue Acts of 1924 and 1926. Similar pro-

visions are contained in section 238 (a). Revenue Act of

1918.
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Section 238 (a), Revenue Act of 1921, provides in part

as follows:

"(a) That in the case of a domestic corporation

the tax im])osed by this title, plus the war-profits and

excess-profits taxes, if any, shall be credited with the

amount of any income, war-profits, and excess-profits

taxes paid during the same taxable year to any

foreign country, or to any possession of the United

States * -^ '^"

Identical provisions are contained in section 238 (a) of

the Revenue Acts of 1924 and 1926. Substantially the

same provisions are contained in section 238 (a). Revenue

Act of 1928.

Section 234 (b) of the Revenue Act of 1921 provides

as follows:

"(b) In the case of a foreign corporation or of

a corporation entitled to the benefits of section 262

the deductions allowed in subdivision (a) shall be

allowed only if and to the extent that they are con-

nected with income from sources within the United

States; and the proper apportionment and allocation

of the deductions with respect to sources within and

without the United States shall be determined as pro-

vided in section 217 under rules and regulations pre-

scribed by the Commissioner with the approval of

the Secretary."

Identical provisions are contained in section 234 (b) of

the Revenue Acts of 1924 and 1926. Substantially the

same provisions are contained in section 234 (b). Revenue

Act of 1918.
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Section 327, Revenue Act of 1921, provides as follows:

"Sec. 327. That in the following cases the tax

shall be determined as provided in section 328:

"(a) Where the Commissioner is unable to deter-

mine the invested capital as provided in section 326;

"(b) In the case of a foreign corporation;

"(c) Where a mixed aggregate of tangible prop-

erty and intangible property has been paid in for

stock or for stock and bonds and the Commissioner

is unable satisfactorily to determine the respective

values of the several classes of property at the time

of payment, or to distinguish the classes of property

paid in for stock and for bonds, respectively:

"(d) W^here upon application by the corporation

the Commissioner finds and so declares of record that

the tax if determined without benefit of this section

would, owing to abnormal conditions affecting the

capital or income of the corporation, work upon the

corporation an exceptional hardship evidenced by

gross disproportion between the tax computed with-

out benefit of this section and the tax computed by

reference to the representative corporations specified

in section 328. This subdivision shall not apply to

any case (1) in which the tax (computed without

benefit of this section) is high merely because the

corporation earned within the taxable year a high rate

of profit upon a normal invested capital nor (2) in

which 50 per centum or more of the gross income

of the corporation for the taxable year (computed

under section 233 of Title II) consists of gains,

profits, commissions, or other income, derived on a

cost-plus basis from a Government contract or con-

tracts made between April 6, 1917, and November 11,

1918, both dates inclusive."
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Identical provisions are contained in section 327,

Revenue Act of 1918.

Section 328, Revenue Act of 1921, provides as follows:

"Sec. 328 (a). In the cases specified in section

327 the tax shall be the amount which bears the same

ratio to the net income of the taxpayer (in excess

of the specific exemption of $3,000) for the taxable

year, as the average tax of representative corporations

engaged in a like or similar trade or business bears to

their average net income (in excess of the specific ex-

emption of $3,000) for such year. In the case of a

foreign corporation the tax shall be computed without

deducting the specific exemption of $3,000 either for

the taxpayer or the representative corporations.

"In computing the tax under this section the Com-

missioner shall compare the taxpayer only with repre-

sentative corporations whose invested capital can be

satisfactorily determined under section 326 and which

are, as nearly as may be, similarly circumstances with

respect to gross income, net income, profits per unit

of business transacted and capital employed, the

amount and rate of war profits or excess profits, and

all other relevant facts and circumstances.

"(b) For the purposes of subdivision (a) the

ratios between the average tax and the average net

income of representative corporations shall be deter-

mined by the Commissioner in accordance with regu-

lations prescribed by him with the approval of the

Secretary.
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"In cases in which the tax is to be computed under

this section, if the tax as computed without the benefit

of this section is less than 50 per centum of the net

income of the taxpayer, the installments shall in the

first instance be computed upon the basis of such

tax; but if the tax so computed is 50 per centum or

more of the net income, the installments shall in the

first instance be computed upon the basis of a tax

equal to 50 per centum of the net income. In any
case, the actual ratio when ascertained shall be used

in determining the correct amount of the tax. If

the correct amount of the tax when determined ex-

ceeds 50 per centum of the net income, any excess

of the correct installments over the amounts actually

paid shall on notice and demand be paid together

with interest at the rate of 1/2 or 1 per centum per

month on such excess from the time the installment

was due.

"(c) The Commissioner shall keep a record of all

cases in which the tax is determined in the manner
prescribed in subdivision (a), containing the name
and address of each taxpayer, the business in which
engaged, the amount of invested capital and net in-

come shown by the return, and the amount of invested

capital as determined under such subdivision. The
Commissioner shall furnish a copy of such record and
other detailed information with respect to such cases

when required by resolution of either House of Con-
gress, without regard to the restrictions contained in

section 257."

Identical provisions are contained in Section 328, Rev-

enue Act of 1918.
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Great Britain:

(1) Cited in appellee's briefs below.

The income tax provisions of Great Britain for the

years in question, as set forth in "The Income Tax Act

1918 and Finance Acts 1919 to 1925 inclusive" as pub-

Hshed by His Majesty's Stationery office shows that the

tax is levied and collected under five schedules as follows

:

Schedule A—On property in lands and buildings

Schedule B—On occupation of lands and buildings

Schedule C—On income from Government secur-

ities

Schedule D—On annual gains, profits, etc.

Schedule E—On income from Government secur-

ities

Appellee was assessed under Schedule D and the pro-

visions relating thereto are as follows:

Schedule D, paragraph 359:

"1. Tax under this Schedule shall be charged in

respect of

—

"(a) The annual profits or gains arising or

accruing

—

"(i) to any person residing in the United

Kingdom from any kind of property whatever,

whether situate in the United Kingdom or else-

where; and

"(ii) to any person residing in the United

Kingdom from any trade, profession, employ-

ment, or vocation, whether the same be respec-

tively carried on in the United Kingdom or else-

where; * * *



"2. Tax under this schedule shall be charged

under the following cases respectively; that is to

sav,

—

Case \ I.—Tax in respect of any annual

profits or gains not falling under any of the

foregoing cases, and not charged by virtue of

any other Schedule;

and subject to and in accordance with the rules ap-

plicable to the said cases respectively."

Under the heading "Miscellaneous Rules Applicable to

Schedule D," the following is pro\-ided at paragraph 394:

"1. Tax under this schedule shall be charged on
and paid by the persons or bodies of persons receiv-

ing or entitled to the income in respect of which tax

under this schedule is hereinbefore directed to be

charged."

Section 217, Act of 1918, provides in part as follows:

"In this Act. unless the context otherwise requires

:

'• 'Body cf persons' means any body politic,

corporate, or collegiate, and any company, frater-

nity, fellowship and society of persons, whether
corporate or not corporate."

Under the heading "General Rules Applicable to Sched-

ules A. B. C. D and E'* at paragraph 420, there is the

following pro\-ision:

"1. Every body of persons shall be chargeable to

tax in like manner as any person is chargeable under
the provisions of this Act."
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Under the same heading at paragraph 439, there is the

following provision

:

**20. The profits or gains to be charged on any

body of persons shall be computed in accordance with

the provisions of this Act on the full amount of the

same before any dividend thereof is made in respect

of any share, right or title thereto, and the body of

persons paying such dividend shall be entitled to

deduct the tax appropriate thereto."

An identical provision was contained in section 54,

Act of 1842, referred to in some of the British cases cited

below herein.

(2) Additional provision cited in appellant's brief

below.

"444 (Section 23, Act of 1918) (1). A person

who refuses to allow a deduction of tax authorized

by the Act to be made out of any payment, shall for-

feit the sum of fifty pounds.

"(2) Every agreement for payment of interest,

rent, or other annual payment in full without allowing

any such deduction shall be void."



IN THE

MttU^ft §tat^a Oltrntit OInurt nf App^ala

FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT.

No. 74«8.

GALEN H. WELCH, Collector of Internal Revenue for the

Sixth Collection District of California,

Appellant,

vs.

THE ST. HELEXsS' PETROLEUM COMPANY, LIMITED,
a corporation.

Appellee.

On Appeal from the District Court of the United States

for the Southern District of California.

BRIEF SUBMITTED BY WILUAM H. HOTCHKISS
AND JOHN S. BRECKINHIDGE,

AMiCI CURIAE,

Fii r
WILLIAM H. HOTCHKISS,

WAR 1^ 1^35 JOHN S. BRECKINRIDGE,
Amid Curiae.

The Hecla Press. 225 Varick Street, N. Y. C. Tel. WAlker 5-1480.





INDEX.
PAGE

Statement 1

Summary of Argument 3

Agency 4

Imposition and Payment by the Shareholders. .

.

5

Surtax Liability , 6

Shareholder's Relief 7

Recoupment or Reimbursement. 7

Argument 9

I. The appellee is entitled to a deduction for

foreign taxes imposed upon and paid by it

in connection with its income from United

States sources 9

II. The British income tax on the appellee's

profits and other income was imposed upon

and paid by it and, therefore, constitutes an

allowable deduction to the extent permitted

by Section 234-b 12

As to "imposition of the tax" 13

As to "payment of the tax". 14

III. The British tax so imposed upon the appellee's

profits and other income and paid by it, was

not imposed upon or paid by its share-

holders 15

The Agency Theoi'y 15

Rule 20 of the General Rules 15

First—Imposition and Payment 16

Second—Shareholder's Liability for Sur-

tax 26

Third—The Relief Granted the Share-

holder 27

Recoupment or Reimbursement 34

Conclusion 37



11

PAGE

IV. Finally, the similarity of tlie taxation of cor-

porate profits and the distribution thereof in

the form of dividends under American law

and British law points to the only possible,

feasible and practical conclusion which can

be justified as a matter of law 38

V. There are no decisions or rulings on the pre-

cise British tax question at issue binding

U130U this Court 43

Conclusion 49

Appendix.

United States Revenue Act of 1921, Sections 234, 238

.

51

British Income Tax Act of 1918, Sections 33 (1),

1U6 (Ij, (2 ), 169 (1), (2 I, 237 52

General Rules, British Income Tax Act, 1918, Rules 1,

19, 20, 21, 27 54

Finance Act of 1930, Section 12 56

Statutes.

(a) United States:

Revenue Act of 1921

:

Sec-tion 234 (a) (3) 9, 51

234 (b) (3) 9,12,51
" 238 9, 51

Revenue Acts of 1924 and 1926

:

Section 222 (a) (4) 46



Ill

PAGE
(b) British:

Income Tax Act, 1918

:

Section 33 (1) 21, 52
" 106 4,13,52
" 169 14, 53
" 237 4,13,53

General Rules:

Rule 1 4, 13, 54
" 19 9,54
" 20 4, 6, 9, 15, 18, 19, 21, 41, 55
" 21 9,55

Finance Act of 1920

:

Section 27 21, 30

Finance Act of 1930 :

Section 12 (3) 21, 56

Rulings and Other Authorities.

PAGE

A. R. R. 1020, C. B. 1-2, 104 12

A. R. R. 3041, C. B. II-2, 110 11

I. T. 2768, C. B. XIII-1, 54 12

I. T. 2783, O. B. XIII-1, 54 12

I. T. 2787, C. B. XIII-1, 56 12

I. T. 2790, C. B. XIII-1, 56 12

S. M. 3040, C. B. IV-1, 198 2, 15, 43, 44

S. M. 3714, C. B. IV-2, 50 12

S. M. 5363, C. B. V-1, 89 2, 15, 43



Cases Cited.

PAGE

(a) United States:

Biddle v. Ck)mmissioner, B. T. A. No. 62025. .

.

2

Central Life Society v. Commissioner, 51 Fed.

(2d) 939 38

Central Ileal Estate Co. v. Commissioner, 47

Fed. (2d) 103G 45

Eisner V. Macomber, 252 U. S. 189 27

Elkins V. Commissioner, B. T. A. No. 75742 .... 2

Hamilton v. Commissioner, 6 B. T. A. 240.11, 20, 21

Hamilton v. Rathbone, 175 U. S. 414, 419 45

Helvering v. New York Trust Co., as Trustee

of Matthiessen, 292 U. S. 455 45

Hickey, James J., Estate of, B. T. A. No. 75852

.

2

Iselin V. United States, 270 U. S. 245, 251 45

R, C. Musser, 3 B. T. A. 498 11, 21

Peterson v. Commissioner, 31 B. T. A. 172 10

Reed v. Commissioner, B. T. A. No. 75812 2

Robillard v. Commissioner, 20 B. T. A. 685;

aff'd 50 Fed. (2d) 1083 45-48

State Planters Bank & Trust Co. v. Commis-

sioner, B. T. A. No. 75849 2

State Planters Bank & Trust Co. v. Commis-

sioner, B. T. A. No. 75852 2

Small V. Commissioner, 27 B. T. A. 1219 10

St. Helena Petroleum Company, Ltd. v. Welch

(S. D. Calif.), decided September 21, 1983,

unreported ; see CCH-1933, paragraph 9575

.

1

The London & Lancashire Insurance Co., Ltd.,

B. T. A. Nos. 68556, 73179 2

The London Guarantee and Accident Co., B.

T. A. No. 73240 2

Thompson v. United States, 246 U. S. 547, 551

.

45

United States v. Hartwell, 6 Wall. 385, 396.

.

45



PAGE

(b) British:

Attorney General v. Ashton Gas Co., (1904)

2 Ch. G21; 75 L. J. Ch. 1; 93 L. T. 676 22

Bradbiir}' v, English Sewing Cotton Co., Ltd.,

(H. L. 1923) A. C. 744; 8 T. C. 481. . . .20,28,33

Brooke v. Commissioners of Inland Revenue,

(1918) K. B. 257; 115 Law Times Reports

715: 7 T. C. 261 22, 23, 27

Commissioners of Inland Revenue v. Blott,

(H. L. 1921) 2 A. C. 171: 8 T. (\ 101

5, 15, 20, 22, 23, 44

Commissioners of Inland Revenue v. Dalgety &
Co., Ltd., 15 T. C. 216 8, 30-32

Gold Fields American Development Company,
Ltd. V. Consolidated Gold Fields of South

Africa, Ltd., 135 Law Times Reports 14 20

Hamilton v. Commissioners of Inland Revenue,

(1931) 2 K. B. 495; 145 L. T. 303; 16 T. C.

213 22,23,27

Neumann v. Commissioners of Inland Revenue,

(1934) 150 Law Times Reports 481; 18 T. C.

332 20, 22, 23, 25, 33

Purdie v. Rex, (1914) 3 K. B. 112; 111 Law
Times Reports 531 19, 22, 32

Ritson V. Phillips, (1924) 131 Law Times Re-

ports 384: 9 T. C. 10 20, 22, 23, 28, 32

Samuel v. Commissioners of Inland Revenue,

(1918) 2K. B. 553; 7 T. C. 277 22,27

Williams v. Singer, (1918) 2 K. B. 749; (1919)

2 K. B. 108; (1920) 36 T. L. R. 661; 7 T. C.

387 22,27





IN THE

Httit^i ^tat^fi (tttrruit (Court nf

Appeals

FOR THE MNTH CIRCUIT.

Galen H. Welch, Collector of

Internal Revenue for the Sixth

Collection District of Cali-

fornia,

Appellant,
\^ ^.^ -^gg

YS.

The St. Helenas Petroleum Com-

pany, Limited, a corporation,

Appellee.

On Appeal fro:m the District Court of the

United States for the Southern District

OF California.

BRIEF SUBMITTED BY WILLIAM H. HOTCHKISS
AND JOHN S. BRECKINRIDGE,

AMICI CURIAE.

Statement of the Case.

This amioi curiae brief is presented pursuant to

a stipulation by the parties granting permission

therefor.



Our interest in this case is tliat we represent over

thirty British insurance companies who are trans-

acting business in the United States through

United States branches duly admitted and licensed

under the laAvs of our various States. Such com-

panies, in comi)uting their Federal income tax lia-

bility, have claimed the right to deduct the United

Kingdom income tax imposed upon their profits and

paid by them to the extent that such tax is imposed

upon or connected with their income.

It is our contention that both under British law

and under American law the British company, and

not its shareholders, is the taxpayer and entitled

to the tax deduction and that the British company

is not reimbursed for the tax by nor does it recoup

such tax from its shareholders.

This brief will be confined to the issue in these

proceedings Avhich has to do with the appellee's de-

duction for British income taxes. The British tax

question has assumed a position of importance and

prominence since the decision in the Court below.

There are now pending before the United States

Board of Tax Appeals the appeals of The London

and Lancashire Insurance Company, Ltd., Docket

Nos. 68556 and 73179, and The London Guaran-

tee and Accident Company, Docket No. 73240, and,

in addition, several cases involving the British tax

credit or deduction allowable to individual share-

holders in British companies, viz. : George W. Elk-

ins, Docket No. 75742; Mary Duke Biddle, Docket

No. 62025 ; Leslie H. Reed, Docket No. 75812 ; IState

Planters Bank cC- Trust Co., Admr., d. h. n. c. t. a.,

Estate of Marie Cooke Hickey, Docket No. 75849

;

and ^tate Planters Bank d Trust Co., Executor,

Estate of James J. Hickey, Docket No. 75852.



The appellant, in this case, has denied the deduc-

tion allowable to the appellee for British income

taxes imposed upon and paid by it because the

amount of tax •"deducted" by the appellee from its

dividend distribution to its shareholders, at least,

equaled the tax so imposed and paid. This de-

nial was apparently first made by the appellant

on the theory advanced in *S'. M. SOY), C. B. IV-1,

198, and ^•. M. oS6S, C. B. V-1. 89, that the appellee

paid its British income tax as agent for or on be-

half of its shareholders. After consideration of

the records and voluminous briefs since tiled in

all the various proceedings involving the British

tax question, it has at once become apparent that

this theory of agency has been thoroughly exploded

and has been abandoned in such proceedings, if not

in this. In lieu of this theory, new contentions

have been raised to the eti'ect that the shareholders

pay the tax ; that the company recoups or is reim-

bursed for the tax, etc. All of these new conten-

tions not only are answerable, but. as the appellee

believes, may be wholly refuted.

Fnrther, this British tax question has been sur-

rounded by a dense fog of notions, fictions and

excess verbiage. The necessity for finespun theories

is hardly conceivable in solving so practical a ques-

tion as, upon whom is the British tax imposed and

by whom is it paid. Hence, this brief has been pre-

pared with the intention and hope of being of some

assistance in clearing away the fog.

Summary of Ai^ument.

Under the Federal Revenue Act of 1921, the de-

duction for taxes (including income taxes paid to

a foreign country) is allowable to the one upon

whom the taxes were imposed and by whom they

were paid.



It lias been stipulated that the appellee paid

United Kingdom income taxes of |41,657.19 for

such fiscal year, of which |41,553.05 was allocable

to income from United States sources. Such

taxes were paid under the British Income Tax Act,

1918, and the Finance Acts applicable to such years.

These taxes were so paid by the company and were

so assessed by the British Crown under Rule 1 of

the General Rules and Sections 237 and 106 of the

Income Tax Act. Such provisions are unambiguous

and leave no room for interpretation. They impose

a tax on the company as a "body of persons" in

like manner as any other person is chargeable.

Hence, there was both imposition and payment of

these taxes and such imposition was on and such

payment was made by the appellee.

Under Rule 20 of the General Rules, Income Tax
Act, 1918, a British company is also charged with

the tax on its profits but may, if it chooses, in

distributing a dividend to shareholders, deduct the

tax appropriate thereto. It has therefore been

asserted that, under the operation of such rule, the

shareholder and not the company is the taxpayer

to the extent that a tax is "deducted" from divi-

dends, or that in any event the company has re-

couped itself or has been reimbursed for the tax.

In support of this assertion, various arguments

and theories have been advanced which are con-

trary to the express provisions of the statute, the

opinions in the British cases and the actual facts

as to imposition and payment.

Agency: The theory was first advanced that such

tax was imposed upon and paid by the appellee

as agent for or on behalf of its shareholders. There

are dicta in some of the earlier British cases to that
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effect. However, ever since the decision of the

House of Lords in 1921, in the case of Commis-

sioners of Inland Revenue v. Blott (H. L., 1921),

2 A. C. 171, 8 Tax cases 101, the British law has

been to the contrary and the dicta purporting to

find an agency rehitionship emphatically repudiated

in a long line of more recent decisions. In fact,

this theory of agency has been abandoned in this

or other proceedings.

Imposition on and Payment hij the Shareholder:

Failing to sustain the theory of agency, it is now
asserted that the tax is actually imposed upon or,

at least, paid by the shareholder. Under the British

system of taxation, as well as under the ximerican

system, there is no tax at the normal or standard

rate on dividends. The reason for this is obvious.

There are no new or fresh profits to be taxed. There-

fore, the only normal tax actually paid to or re-

ceived by the British Crown is the tax paid by the

company on the whole of its profits. Rule 20 does

not provide for a new or second tax over and above

the tax charged against the "body of persons."

After repeating this charge on the "body of per-

sons," the remaining provisions of Eule 20 of the

General Rules, Income Tax Act, 1918, have to do

and affect only the relationship between the com-

pany and the shareholder. In so doing, such rule

has the effect of allowing the company's income tax

as a deduction in ascertaining the amount of profits

available for distribution as dividends. It does not

levy, charge or impose a tax on the shareholder

and no other authority, statutory or otherwise,

establishing the imposition of a tax upon the share-

holders has been presented or found.
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It is contended, however, that, even in spite of

the absence of an imposition of a tax, the share-

holders pay the tax. Since the only tax paid to the

British Crown is the 'tax imposed upon and paid by

the company, it is difficult to conceive how a pay-

ment on the part of the shareholders can be made
out. There is no tax at the normal or standard rate

imposed on dividends. There is no legislative au-

thority requiring payment of a tax by the share-

holders on the company's profits or on the dividends

distributed—other than a surtax. There are no

decisions in the English courts holding that the

shareholders are liable for any such tax. Payment

of the company's tax is not a payment by the share-

holders or for the shareholders.

Surtax lAahility: It is true that the shareholder

in reporting his dividend for surtax purposes must

add thereto, the tax deducted therefrom if the divi-

dend was declared less tax, or the notional (theo-

retical) tax if the dividend was declared free of

tax. That Parliament saw fit to require a taxpayer

to include in gross income for surtax purposes his

gross or notional dividend, does not prove that the

tax on the company's profits was paid by the share-

holder or that the shareholder paid a normal tax

on his dividends. The statutory provisions of the

Act and the decisions are to the contrary. Under

the British system, there is no normal tax on divi-

dends and the company pays the normal tax on its

profits.

Shareholder's Relief: It is also true that the

shareholder, in certain circumstances, may be en-

titled to a refund of the tax deducted from his divi-

dend if the dividend is a dividend less tax, or of the



notional (theoretical) tax if the dividend is a fiee-

of-tax dividend. This refund is made, not because

the shareholder paid the company's tax or paid a

separate and distinct tax. It is made to the share-

holder because, under the British law and for this

sole purpose, he is treated as having suffered his

collective share of the company's tax. In short, for

this one purpose, British law lecognizes the theoiy

of the "ultimate burden" and disregards the cor-

porate entity.

Recoupment or Feimhiirsement: Lastly, it is

contended that the company is reimbursed for the

tax by or recoups the tax from its shareholdei's.

There is no reimbursement or recoupment. The

actual situation is that the payment of the tax by

the company, like the payment of any other expense

such as rent, salaries, interest, etc., results in there

being that much less to distribute to the sharehold-

ers. Thus, if a company has a profit of £1,000 be-

fore the payment of its tax and pays a tax of 20%,
or £200, the profits available to the shareholders

amount to £800. Now, it does not matter whether

the profits are distributed by a dividend less tax

—

i. e., a dividend of £1,000 less the tax of £200, or

£800—or by a free-of-tax dividend of £800. The

company has received nothing from the sharehold-

ers. It has disbursed its entire profits by paying a

tax of £200 and a dividend of £800. It is said that

the company has discharged a liability of £1,000 to

its shareholders by paying £800. But the declara-

tion of the dividend less tax or the free-of-tax divi-

dend limited the company's liability to £800. Hence,

the company has received nothing from its share-

holders and has not been reimbursed bv them.
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The opinions rendered in the British cases of

Commissioners of Inlmid Revenue v. Dalgety & Co.,

Ltd., 15 Tax Cases 216, and N'eummin v. Commis-

sioners of Inland Revenue, 18 Tax Cases 332, 150

Law Times Reports 481, successfully and emphat-

ically answer all of these contentions raised by

the appellant and others and conclusively demon-

strate that the United Kingdom income tax on the

whole of the appellee's jDrofits was imposed upon

and paid by it. This is particularly true of the

opinions rendered in the House of Lords in the last-

mentioned cases, which (decided in 1934) is the

latest case bearing on this subject. In such case,

the opinions unanimously reverse and disapprove

of the dicta in earlier cases and of the contentions

of the appellant based thereon.

Finally, it is respectfully submitted that the taxa-

tion of corporations and corporate dividends in

England and in the United States is fundamentally

the same although there are minor differences. For

all practical purposes, however, in both countries

the tax on the company's whole profits is imposed

upon and paid by the company. Those profits when
distributed in the form of dividends are not again

subject to normal tax. The surtax, if any, on such

dividends is then imposed upon and paid by the

shareholder. In short, in both countries, the com-

pany pays the normal tax on the entire profits and
the shareholder pays the surtax on the distributed

profits. This fundamental similarity cannot be

hidden in the confusion created by emphasizing the

minor and unimportant differences and by vague

references to taxation at the source. The principle

of taxation at the source has nothing to do with the

tax on the company's profits (which are subject to
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normal tax ) or the shareholders' dividends ( which

are not subject to normal tax). Compare Rule 20

with Rules 19 and 21.

Therefore, it is respectfully submitted that the

appellee is entitled to deduct the ratable part of

the United Kingdom income tax imposed upon and

paid by it which is attributable to income from

United States sources and that in so determining

such ratable part, the amounts deducted from divi-

dend distributions to the appellee's shareholders

should not be used to reduce the United Kingdom
income tax so paid.

ARGUMENT.

I.

The appellee is entitled to a deduction for

foreign taxes imposed upon and paid by it in

connection with its income from United States

sources.

Under §234 (a) (3) of the Revenue Act of 1921,

the petitioner is entitled to a deduction in comput-

ing its net income for "taxes paid or accrued within

the taxable year except * * * so much of the

income, Avar-profits and excess-profits taxes imposed

by the authority of any foreign country or posses-

sion of the United States as is allowed as a credit

under section 238," such deduction being limited

only to the extent provided in §234 (b).

In determining the deductibility of taxes, the

Board of Tax Appeals, our courts and the Treasury

Department, have consistently refused to accept



10

the principle of "ultimate burden" and have, in-

stead, laid down the test that

—

^^The taxes deductible are taxes imposed
upon and paid by the taxpayer/'

Thus, in Small v. Commissioner 27 B. T. A. 1219,

the Board denied a deduction of taxes paid hy a

husband on property belonging to his wife, although

he had obligated himself to the mortgagee to pay

the taxes upon the propei-ty. The Board stated

:

"In order to be entitled to a deduction for

taxes paid, a petitioner before us must show
not only that he paid the taxes, but that the

taxes were imposed upon him by the taxing
authorit3^ A. Eisenberg, 11 B. T. A. 574;
Samuel Riker, Jr., 15 B. T, A. 1160 ; Caroline
T. Kissel, 15 B. T. A. 1270; George L.

Shearer, 18 B. T. A. 465; aff'd in Shearer v.

Commissioner, 48 Fed. (2d) 552; Falk Corp.,

23 B. T. A. 883; aff'd 60 Fed. (2d) 204; and
Borg & Beck Co., 24 B. T. A. 995. The peti-

tioner has not shown that the taxes in ques-

tion loere imposed upon him.''

Where petitioner received a certain amount as a

prize in a lottery less his share of the Newfound-

land Income Tax assessed against the organization

running the lottery, the Board, in Peterson v. Com-

missioner, 31 B. T. A. 172, denied a credit to the

petitioner, stating:

"T/ie imposition upon and payment of the

tax by the organization conducting the lot-

tery loould necessarily reduce the proceeds

from the lottery out of which prizes could

be paid. This in turn would reduce the

amount that would be received by winning
ticket holders. But these facts in and of

themselves would not make the tax paid by
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the organization a tax upon the winning
ticket holders. For a foreign tax paid to be

allowable as a credit against a taxpayer's

Federal income tax liability, such foreign

tax must have been a tax against the tax-

payer and not a tax imposed upon and paid

by another on its own account, as was the

situation in the instant case. Elgin Xational
Watch Co., 17 B. T. A. 339; Basil RohiUanl,
Executor, 20 B. T. A. 085; Diickicortli Co.,

24 B. T. A. 304.'- (Italics ours.)

So, whether the (juestion involves a credit or a

deduction, a domestic tax or a foreign tax, the test

still is

—

^^Was the tax imposed upon and paid hij

the taxpayer?"

Imposition without payment or payment without

imposition is not sufficient. Further, that the tax-

payer may have suffered or borne the tax, or that

the ultimate burden of the tax may be his, does not

establish imposition and payment within the limits

of the Act.

Thus, if a sales tax is levied against a manu-

facturer, it is included in his cost of production and

a consumer is not entitled to any deduction, even

though the manufacturer passes the tax on to the

consumer as a specific item {A. R. R. SOJ^l, C. B.

II-2, 110). The Board has so decided in denying

to a vendee the deduction of a sales tax on an auto-

mobile, even though the tax was actually paid

separately by the vendee. R. C. Musser, 3 B. T. A.

498; Hamilton v. Commissioner, 6 B. T. A. 240.

There are numerous rulings by the Treasury De-

partment to the same effect as to stamp taxes, gaso-

line taxes, sales taxes, etc. Among others, see

—
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A. R. R. 1020, C. B. 1-2, 104—denying the

trustees under a will the right to deduct Fed-

eral estate taxes paid by them.

S. M. 3714, C. B. IV-2, 50—holding a Wis-

consin gasoline tax to be deductible only by the

dealer and not by the purchaser who actually

paid the same.

/. T. 2768, C. B. XIII-1, 54—to the effect that

the Federal liquor tax imposed upon the dis-

tiller or importer is not deductible by the stock-

holders of a company although paid by them

when whiskey was withdrawn from bonded

warehouses.

Also /. T. 2790, C. B. XIII-1, 56; /. T. 2787,

C. B. XIII-1, 56; /. T. 2783, C. B. XIII-1, 54.

Therefore, on these authorities, it is clear that

the appellee is entitled to deduct the British in-

come tax on its profits and other income if the tax

was imposed upon and paid by it.

II.

Tlie British income tax on the appellee's

profits and other income was imposed upon and
paid by it and, therefore, constitutes an allow-

able deduction to the extent permitted by Sec-

tion 234(b).

The appellee is claiming a deduction under the

United States Revenue Act of 1921. The claim is

not for relief under British law. Under our law,

the deduction or relief is granted to those upon

whom the tax was imposed and by whom it was
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paid. The words, ''imposed upon" and "paid/' have

a definite meaning under our law.

If the tax was actually assessed against or levied

upon the appellee by the taxing authority of the

foreign country, it conies within the requirement of

a "tax imposed." If the tax so imposed was also

actually paid by the appellee to the taxing author-

ities, it comes within the requirement of a "tax

paid." It is this conception of "imposition" and

"payment" which must govern.

The sole purpose of introducing British law into

this proceeding is to establish the "imposition*' of

the British income tax upon the appellee by the tax-

ing authority and the "payment" of such tax to the

British Crown within the test laid down by our

law.

As to 'Umposition of the tax": Rule 1 of the Gen-

eral Rules, applicable to Schedules A, B, C, D and

E contained in the Income Tax Act of 1918, pro-

vides :

"Every body of persons shall be charge-

able to fflj? in like manner as any person is

chargeable under the provisions of this Act."

Section 237 of the Act, which is the interpreta-

tive section, defines *^*a body of persons" to mean,

inter alia, "any company.'' Section 106 fixes the

responsibility of acting for a "body of persons

chargeable to tax" upon its officers, and gives every

such officer the right to retain out of any money

coming into his hands on behalf of the body so

much thereof as is sufficient "to pay the tax

charged upon the body and the right to indemnity

for all such payments made in pursuance of the

Act.

These provisions are not ambiguous. There is

no need to resort to rules of construction, notional
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income or any other fiction. The tax is imposed

upon the company as a body of persons. It is liable

therefor and it can be sued and the tax recovered

as a debt.

Thus, we have here a certain and unambiguous

statutory ^Hmposition" of an incom,e tax by a for-

eign country upon the company {the appellee)

within the meaning and intent of our laic.

As to the ''payment of the taaf': That the body

of persons—i. e., the company—is liable for pay-

ment of the tax is clear from the very statutory

provisions which charge it with tax. Under Sec-

tion 169 of the Income Tax Act, 1918, any tax

charged under the provisions of the Act "may be

sued for and recovered, with full costs of suit, from

the person charged therewith in the High Court as

a debt due to the Crown."

As a matter of law, the only possible conclusion

is that the income taxes under this Act are im-

posed upon, paid by, and borne by the company.

That this appellee did, in fact, pay British income

taxes for the fiscal and taxable year ending May
31, 1921, has been conceded. Under the stipulation

it appears that the appellee paid a British tax of

111,533.05 upon its profits and other income from

United States sources.

In conclusion, therefore, it is respectfully sub-

mitted that the British income tax on appellee's

profits and other income, including its income from
United States sources, uxis clearly "imposed upon"

and ''paid by" the appellee and that, under our

lauy, the ratable part of such ta^ attributable to

United States income constitutes an allowable de-

duction as a tax ''imposed upon" and "paid by"

the appellee.
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ni.

Tlie Briti«ili tax so imposed upon the appel-

lee's profits and other income and paid by it,

was not imposed upon or paid by its share-

holders.

The contention has been advanced in this pro-

ceeding or in other proceedings involving questions

relative to British taxes, that the British income

tax was not imposed upon or paid by the company

because Rule 20 of the General Eules of the In-

come Tax Act, 1918, permits the company, in dis-

tributing the profits already taxed, to deduct and

retain the tax appropriate to such distribution.

Various theories have been advanced to sustain

this contention and are discussed in what follows.

The Afjcncy Theory: The rulings known as

»*?. M. SO4O, repor-ted in C. B. IV-1, at page 198,

and S. M. 5363, reported in C. B. V-1, at page 89,

hold that, under British law, the company pays the

tax as agent for or on behalf of the shareholder.

This theory is wholly unsound and contrary to

British law ever since the case of Commissionerft

T. Blott (H. L., 1921), 2 A. C. 171, 8 T. C. 101.

It is also understood that this theory has been

definitely abandoned and, therefore, further discus-

sion seems unnecessary.

Rule 20 of the General Rules: It is contended

that, since the company in paying a dividend is per-

mitted to ''deduct" the tax appropriate thereto, the

company's tax to that extent is a tax paid by the

shareholder and not by the company. This con-

tention is apparently based upon certain "notions"



16

peculiar to Englisli law, viz. : the taxation of the

"gross dividend" for surtax purposes and the relief

granted or refund made to shareholders of the tax

so "deducted" in special cases. However, the ques-

tion at issue in this proceeding is not fanciful. It

has to do solely tcith the normal tax upon the oom-

pawifs promts. With some hesitation, and with

some fear of beclouding the issue by comments on

the British law applicable to these extraneous mat-

ters, the following discussion is entered into with

the hope that it may, as already suggested, clear

away the fog:

First—Imposition and Payment: If this is a

tax on the shareholders within the meaning of our

law, there must be an imposition of the tax on the

shareholder and a payment by him.

In order to facilitate this discussion, the follow-

ing illustration will be referred to throughout the

remainder of this argument. Assume that a com-

pany has a profit of £1,000 in a given year when
the standard or normal rate of tax is, say, 2

shillings in the pound, or 10%. The company is

assessed under Schedule D on its business or

trading profit of £1,000 and pays a tax of £100

to the Collector of Taxes. This leaves £900 in its

coffers.

Now, under our conception of corporate account-

ing and law, the company may declare a dividend

of £900. However, m England, the income tax is

regarded both hy income taw law and company law

as being a disbursement out of profit, and not an
expense incurred in the earning of profit. So, the

company may declare a dividend equal to its gross

profit less tax, or it may declare a dividend out of

its net profit^—i, e., after disbursement for income
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tax. Thus, it may declare a diyidend of £1,000 less

the tax appropriate thereto of £100, making a net

dividend of £900 received by the shareholders. On
the other hand, it may simply declare a free-of-tax

dividend of £900.

The results in each case are as follows:

Diridend Dividend
less taj- free-of-tax

Profits subject to tax £1,000 £1,000

Tax thereon at 10% 100 100

Available for distribution . . £ 900 £ 900

Dividend less tax— $ Gross. . £1,000

|Tax.... 100

Dividend free-of-tax £ 900

Amount received bv share-

holders
".

£ 900 £ 900

In both cases, the company earned £1,000, paid

a tax of £100, and distributed £900 to its share-

holders.

yow, it is important to rememher that the taw

of £100 wa^ assessed agaimt—i. e., "imposed upon"
—the company and paid hy it; and that this was

the only normal or standard ta^ paid to or received

by the British Crown, in respect of such income.

Therefore, it is difficult to understand how there

can be an imposition on and payment of a tax of

£100 by the company and at the same time the im-

position on and payment of a tax of £100 by the

shareholder, when in fact and in law only one tax

—
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the company's tax—of £100 was ever assessed by
and paid to the British Crown. Hence, it remains

to be seen whether this same tax is also imposed

upon and paid by the shareholder.

The authority under which the company "de-

ducts" the tax from a dividend declared less tax is

Rule 20 of the General Rules, which provides as

follows

:

"The profits or gains to be charged on
any body of persons shall be computed in

accordance with the provisions of this Act
on the full amount of the same before any
dividend thereof is made in respect of any
share, right or title thereto, and the body of

persons paying such dividend shall be en-

titled to deduct the tax appropriate thereto."

The effect of this rule is permissive. It does not

impose, levy or charge a taw against the share-

holder. It does not fix any liability on the share-

holder if the company fails to pay the tax. It

neither requires the declaration of dividends nor

the deduction of the tax. It merely permits a com-

pany to deduct the tax, which has been assessed

on its profits, from those profits before making a

distribution thereof to its shareholders ; otherwise,

the shareholders might demand a full distribution

of the profits and leave the company to charge the

tax to its capital.

Rule 20 does not provide for a new or second

tax. To do so would he unreasonable, since there

are no new or fresh profits to he tawed. The only

taw imposed by Rule 20 is the tax charged against

the "body of persons."
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In short, Rule 20 affects onl}- the relationship

between the company and the shareholder. The

company pars the tax of £100 to the Crown, and

from then on the Crown is not interested in how
the company distributes the balance of its profits.

It may distribute £1,000 less the tax of £100, or

£900 : or it may distribute £900 free of tax. The re-

sult is the same.

As between the company and the shareholder,

the "deduction" of tax under Eule 20 merely has

the effect of allowing the company income tax as

a deduction in ascertaining- the amount of profits

available for distribution as dividends. As Mr.

Justice Rowlatt aptly said, in Piirdie v. Re.r

(1914), 3 K. B. 112, 111 Law Times Reports 531—

"The company has to pay income tax on
its profits as a company, and having paid in-

come tax, the result is there is less to divide

among the shareholders.''

Hence, it is submitted that Rule 20 does not im-

pose or charge a tax upon the shareholders and no

other authority, statutory or otherimse, establish-

ing the imposition of a ta^ upon the shareholders

has been presented or found.

In spite of the absence of any "imposition," it

has been vigorously maintained that the share-

holders pay a tax on their dividends and, therefore,

the contentions in respect to '^payment'- should

also be given careful consideration.

It has already been shown that the only tax ac-

tually paid to the British Crown was the £100 paid

by the company. The company, in paying this taw,

did not do so as agent for or on behalf of the share-

holders.
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Commissioners v. Blott, (H. L. 1921) 2

A. C. 171; 8 T. C. 101;

Bradbury v. English Sewing Cotton Com-

pany, Ltd., (H. L. 1923) A. O. 744; 8

T. C. 481

;

Gold Fields American Development Com-

pany, Ltd., V. Consolidated Gold Fields

of South Africa, Ltd., 135 Law Times

Reports 14;

Ritson V. Phillips, (1924) 131 Law Times

Reports; 9 T. C. 10;

Hamilton v. Commissioners, 16 T. C. 213

;

Neumann v. Commissioners, (1934) 18

T. O. 332 ; 150 Law Times Reports 481.

Since the only tax paid to tlie foreign country

(United Kingdom) was the tax imposed upon and

paid by the company, it is difficult to conceive how
a pa^'ment on the part of the shareholders can be

made out.

Still, it is vigorously asserted that the tax

^'deducted" from a dividend less tax and the tax

added to a free-of-tax dividend to arrive at the

"notional gross" is a tax paid by the shareholders.

The only possible basis for such contention is

that the shareholder-recipient suffered a deduc-

tion. In other words, the shareholder received

a smaller dividend because the company had to

pay a tax on its profits and therefore may be said

to have suffered, borne and, in that sense, paid

a tax. This is nothing more than a vivid illustra-

tion of the '^ultimate hurden'' theory which the

Board and our courts have rejected time and time

again. It is perhaps a little more vivid because

the shareholder receives a certificate showing the

gross dividend, the tax appropriate thereto and the

net dividend. However, it is no more so than where
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the vendees of the automobiles in the case of I)i re

Musser, 3 B. T. A. 498, and Hamilton v. Commis-

sioners, 6 B. T. A. 240. liad receipts showing the

amounts of the automobile taxes included in or

added to the purchase price of the cars.

Therefore, under our conception of what consti-

tutes a payment of ta.r— /. e., the actual payment

of a ta.r to a ta.i-ing authority—there has been no

payment of a ta.r by the shareholders.

It has also been stated that this conclusion of a

payment of a tax is based on '*leg:islative au-

thoritT,"' ''judicial authority." and "the practice of

the Inland Revenue Department.''

As to the legislative view, reference is first made
to Section 27 of the Finance Act of 1920, in which

the words, "has paid, by deduction or otherwise,"

appear. Reference is next made to Section 12(3)

of the Finance Act of 1930 in which the words,

"deemed to have been paid by deduction," appear.

Finally, a quotation is made from Section 33 of

the Income Tax Act of 1918 in which there are the

words, "has been charged to tax by deduction or

otherwise." Taking these words, it is argued that

in the view of the English legislature a deduction

of tax is a payment of tax.

These sections are utterly immaterial to the ques-

tion here. Section 27 of the Finance Act of 1920

has to do with the relief to be allowed for Dominion

income tax. Section 33 of the Income Tax Act,

1918. has to do with the relief to be granted life

assurance companies for life expenses of manage-

ment. Section 12(3) of the Finance Act of 1930

has to do with the computation of the "gross divi-

dend" as income when the tax -'deducted" under

Rule 20 has been less or greater than the standard

rate.
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Not one of such sections provides directly for

payment of a tax on dividends at the source as in

the case of interest or rent, or as in the c^se of

the tax upon the profits of the company. Not one

of such sections indicates or contemplates that a

shareholder is personally liable or must pay a tax

to the United Kingdom on his dividends.

It is most significant that there is an entire ab-

sence of statutory authority for the direct imposi-

tion of a tax upon shareholders and providing for

payment by the shareholders and enforcement of

such payment against the shareholders.

For judicial authority as sustaining a payment
of the tax by the shareholders, the following cases

have been relied upon

:

Marion Brooke v. Commissioners of In-

land Revenue, (1918) 115 Law Times

Reports 715; 7 T. C. 261;

Williams v. Sing&r, 7 T. C. 402; (1918) 2

K. B. 749; (1919) 2 K. B. 108; (1920)

36 T. L. R. 661

;

Hamilton v. Commissioners, 16 T. C. 213.

Other cases which have been referred to are

:

Attorney General v. Ashton Gas Co., Ltd.,

(1904) 2 C. H. 62;

Satnuel v. Commissioners, 7 T. C. 277;

Commissioners v. Blott, 1921, 2 A. C. 171

;

Neumann v. Commissioners, 18 T. C. 332

;

Ritson V. Phillips, 9 T. C. 10

;

Purdie v. Rex, (1914) 3 K. B. 112; 111

Law Times Reports 531.

None of these cases establishes that the share-

holders paid a normal tax on the profits of the com-
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pany or on their dividends, or that a tax was paid

on their behalf to the United Kingdom. Prior to

the Blott case in 1921, there are dicta in some of

the cases—of which the Brooke case and the Samuel

case are examples—to the effect that the company
in paying the tax on its profits did so as agent for

its shareholders; although on this point even the

earlier cases were not all in harmony—see Furdie

V. Rex. However, ever since the Blott case, it has

been held time and time again that the company is

the taxpayer when it pays the tax to the Crown and

does not pay such tax as agent for the shareholders

—see the cases of Blott, Hamilton, Neumann and

Ritson, among others.

Statements in the opinions to the effect that the

shareholder pays a tax by "deduction''— i. e., suffers

a tax—or that the company in "deducting" the tax

from dividends acts as collector of the tax, are mis-

leading. The tax so "deducted" or "collected"

never reaches the Crown. It is retained by the com-

pany if the company can be said to retain Avhat it

never actually physically receives. There is there-

fore no payment of a tax by the shareholders to the

British Crown Avithin our understanding and con-

struction of the word, "paid." No amount of cita-

tion of cases or quotations of dicta from the English

cases or expert theorizing can overcome the total

absence of any proof of a payment of a tax by the

shareholders or on their behalf within the meaning

of our law.

As to the practice of the Inland Revenue Depart-

ment, it appears that the Department refunds or

repays to a shareholder entitled to relief the tax

"deducted" from a dividend, paid less tax or the

tax added to a free-of-tax dividend. The fact that
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siicli relief is granted irrespective of whether the

tax is "deducted" or not, brings out more forcibly

than ever the marked distinction betAveen what con-

stitutes a payment of tax under English law and

such a payment under American law. The com-

pany, having £1,000 in profits, pays a tax of £100.

It then declares a free-of-tax dividend of £900, and

the shareholder receives £900. Under both English

and American law, the company is the taxpayer in

respect to this £100 tax. In the United States, the

shareholder would pay a surtax on £900, but in

England would pay a surtax on £1,000. This £1,000

is arrived at by a "grossing-up'' process which adds

the tax necessary to arrive at the ''notional gross."

However, under English law, this notional (theo-

retical) tax w^hich was not even deducted by the

company is considered for the purposes of relief as

a tax paid. Since the shareholder is not subject to

a normal or standard tax on his dividends, it is

assumed that he paid this notional (theoretical)

tax and he is allowed a credit of £100. If because

of the smallness of his income he is not subject to

tax, he is entitled to a repayment of this £100.

There is another illustration which clearly estab-

lishes that this relief is not based upon an actual

tax payment within the meaning of our law. As-

sume that a company has a profit in one year of

£1,000 and pays a tax for that year at 10%, or

£100. It does not declare a dividend until the fol-

lowing year, when the tax rate is 25%. It then de-

clares a dividend of £1,000 less tax of £250, making

a net dividend of £750; or it declares a free-of-tax

dividend of £750. Irrespective of the form of the

which was ever paid on this income was the £100

paid by the company in the previous year, the
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Inland Revenue Department will refund or repay

to the shareholder £250 if he is wholly exempt.

That this is so, appears from the following quota-

tion from the opinion of Lord Tomlin in Xeumann
V. Camrnissioners of Inland Revenue, (1934) 18

rax Cases 332, 150 Law Times Reports 481

:

•"At any rate, a practice seems to have
grown up of companies deducting from divi-

dends tax appropriate to the amount of the

dividend at the current rate of tax, quite

irrespective of the amount of tax paid by the

company to the Revenue, and of the share-

holders claiming exemption or abatement
being treated by the Revenue as having paid

tax to the extent of that deduction. As the

company making the deduction lay under no
obligation to pay to the Revenue anything

more than the tax based upon its own assess-

ment, the result was that the tax returned to

those claiming exemption or abatement could

rarely, if ever, have had any exact relation

to the amount of tax received by the Revenue
from the recipient of returned tax.''***»*

"Thus, the deduction permissible from the

dividend clearly had no relation to the figure

of tax payable by the company to the Rev-

enue for what was deducted. The deduction,

in fact, was only part of a system by which

was measured (1) the extent of the share-

holders' right to have exemption or abate-

ment, and ( 2 ) the liability of the shareholder

to Sur-tax."

LTnder our law, which considers the amount paid

to the taxing authority, the only tax paid was that

paid by the company of £100 and at no time was

a tax of £250 paid. Therefore, it is submitted that

the English conception of a tax payment of £250
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cannot be accepted. The practice of the Inland

Revenue Department cannot be used to establish

the payment of a tax by or on behalf of the share-

holder to the taxing authority when, in fact, no

such tax has been paid.

Second—Shareholdei^s Uahility for Surtax:

Since the dividend when received by the share-

holder has borne the normal or standard tax in the

hands of the company, it is not again subject to

a normal or standard tax in the hands of the share-

holder. It is, however, subject to surtax in his

hands. Fui-ther, it appears that the shareholder

is subject to surtax on the "gross dividends''

—

i. e., the net dividend received plus the tax appro-

priate thereto. For this purpose, a dividend less

tax and a free-of-tax dividend are treated the same.

This is accomplished by applying to the free-of-tax

dividend what is known as the "grossing-up

process.'' That is, such a sum is added to the free-

of-tax dividend as may be necessary to arrive at a

gross dividend which less the tax would equal the

free-of-tax dividend. This is referred to as a "no-

tional gross."

So, in the illustration given, the shareholder

would be held to have received a gross dividend,

whether less tax or free-of-tax, of £1,000. He would

not be subject to a tax at the normal or standard

rate. He would, however, if liable therefor, pay a

surtax on the amount of £1,000 and not on the £900

actually received. But the question at issue does

not have to do with surta-xes. Parliament and the

English courts could and had the power to deter-

mine what constituted income for surtax purposes.

They are not limited by a written Constitution or
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b}- a decision equivalent to our Eisner v. Macomher,

252 U. S. 189. It has been decided in England

time and again that the shareholder is liable for

surtaxes on this gi'oss or notional gross dividend

and it is conceded by all parties that the surtax

is imposed upon and paid by the shareholders.

Brooke v. Inland Revenue Commissioners,

7 Tax Cases 261;

WiUiams v. ^inyer, 7 Tax Cases 387;

Hamilton v. Commissioners, 16 Tax Cases

213;

Samuel v. Commissioners, 7 Tax Cases

277.

However, this does not prove or establish that

the tax at the normal or standard rate "deducted"

from the dividend less tax or added to the free-of-

tax dividend in the gi-ossing-up process was a tax

imposed upon or paid hij the shareholder. On the

profits of £1,000 earned hi/ the corporation only

one taw of £100 is imposed and paid—i. e., the tax

imposed upon and paid hy the corporation.

Third—The Relief Granted the Shareholder:

Much has been made of the refunds made to share-

holders of the tax "deducted" from their dividends

or of the notional (theoretical) tax added to their

free-of-tax dividends when it appears that the

shareholder is exempt from tax. This subject has

also been touched upon above. A few brief addi-

tional comments may serve to clear up this pecu-

liarity of the British practice.

These refunds are apparently a result of the

policy of British law which recognizes, for this

special purpose, that the shareholder bears the ulti-
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mate burden of the corporate income tax. In short,

this is a special situation in which the "corporate

entity" theory is ignored. These refunds are made,

not because the shareholder has actually "paid"

the "deducted" tax, but because he is deemed to

have "borne" his share of the corporate tax. The

tax so refunded is, in effect, a part of the tax that

was imposed on and paid by the company. And,

since the shareholder receives the refund in such

cases, the companj^ is utterly unaffected in the mat-

ter of its own tax payment.

The concept upon which the relief is based is de-

scribed by Mr, Justice Rowlatt in Ritson v. Phillips

(1924), 131 L. T. 384, 9 Tax Cases 10, as follows:

"He is not taxed on his dividends. The
companies are taxed on their profits not as

his agents (as has been loosely said), though
at his ultimate expense. There is no provi-

sion for the return of any of this tax to the

shareholder save in the process of giving

effect to deductions and reliefs."

The following is quoted from the opinion of Lord

Phillimore in Bradbury (Collector of Taxes) v.

English Sewing Cotton Company, Ltd. (House of

Lords, 1923), 8 Tax Cases 481; 1923 A. C. 744:

"Their taxation would seem to be logical,

but it would be destructive of joint stock

company enterprise, so the Act of 1842 has

apparently proceeded on the idea that for

revenue purposes a joint stock company
should be treated as a large partnership, so

that the payment of Income Tax by a com-

pany would discharge the quasi-partners.

The reason for their discharge may be the

avoidance of increased taxation. But the
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law is not founded upon the introduction of
some equitable principle as modifying the
Statute: it is founded upon the provisions
of the Statute itself ; and the Statute carries

the analogy of a partnership further, for it

contemplates a company declaring a divi-

dend on the gross gains, and then on the
fact of the dividend warrant making a pro-

portionate deduction in respec-t of the duty,

so that the shareholder whose total income
is so small that he is exempt from Income
Tax or pays at a lower rate can get the In-

come Tax which has been deducted on the

dividend warrant returned to him."

These quotations clearly indicate that such re-

funds are made on The theory that the shareholder

bore his proportionate share of the collective cor-

porate income tax and not because of an individual

payment of a tax. Hence, this peculiarity of the

English law does not prove an imposition on or

payment of tax by the shareholder within the

meaning of our law.

On the final analysis, therefore, the conclusion

that the shareholders pay a tax on their dividends

is. at most, a conclusion based on the English

conception of what constitutes a tax payment.

There is nothing in the legislative provisions, the

court decisions or the practice of the Inland Rev-

enue Department that indicates or establishes a

liability of the shareholder to the Grovernment for

a tax or that a payment of a tax is made to the

Government by the shareholder or on his behalf

other than the surtax. The fact is that the opinions

expressed in the English cases are to the contrai*y.

It apparently has never been necessary in Eng-

land to determine whether the company or the
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shareholder pays the tax on the company's profits.

It is hard to see how any such question could

arise. The Income Tax Act, 1918, imposes the

normal tax on the company and the Crown collects

the tax from the company. In proper cases, a sur-

tax is imposed upon the shareholder and the Crown
collects the surtax from the shareholder. There is

no room for controversy as to upon whom each of

these separate liabilities is imposed or who shall

pay or did pay these separate and distinct taxes.

The nearest approach to a decision on this ques-

tion is that in the case of Commissio)iers of Inland

Revenue v. Dalgety and Co., Ltd., 15 Tax Cases

216. Briefly, in such case the company contended

that it had paid United Kingdom income tax on

that part of its Australian income which was dis-

bursed by way of interest to its debenture-holders

and therefore that it was entitled to the relief

granted by Section 27 of the Finance Act of 1920,

which provides:

"If any person who has paid, by deduc-

tion or otherwise, or is liable to pay. United
Kingdom income tax for any year of assess-

ment on any part of his income proves * * *

that he has paid Dominion income tax for

that year in respect of the same part of his

income, he shall be entitled to relief from

United Kingdom income tax paid or payable

by him on that part of his income at a rate

thereon to be determined * * *."

The company had paid Australian income tax on

its Australian income and, like all other companies

in England, had paid or was liable to pay a United

Kingdom income tax by deduction or otherwise on

its total profits including its Australian profits.
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The company disbursed part of its Australian

profits as interest to its debenture-holders and, in

so doing, deducted the United Kingdom income tax

appropriate thereto. The Crown contended that

the company was not entitled to relief because it

had not borne the United Kingdom income tax on

such profits since it had "recovered" such tax by

"deducting" a tax on the payment of the debenture

interest, or in short that the tax was ultimately

borne by the debenture-holders. This contention

was phrased by Lord Warrington in the House of

Lords as follows (p. 249) :

"The Respondents have deducted from the

interest payable to the debenture-holders the

United Kingdom tax in respect of that in-

terest and it is said they have thus recovered

a corresponding portion of the United King-

dom income tax paid or payable by them in

respect of the profits from their Dominion
trade and ought not therefore to be treated

as having paid United Kingdom tax on the

whole of such profits."

This is the same as the contention advanced here

—

namely, that the appellee having -^deducted" a

tax from its dividend distributions should not be

treated as having paid United Kingdom tax on the

whole of its profits. The House of Lords forcibly

and in no uncertain terms rejected this contention

and held that the company must be treated as hav-

ing paid the United Kingdom tax on the whole of

its profits. Thus, Justice Lawrence, in his opinion

in the Court of Appeals, stated (p. 238) :

"The Company has in the natural and
literal sense paid both the United Kingdom
Income Tax and the Dominion Income Tax.
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No one else has paid or become liable to pay
both these taxes, and no one else can claim
relief under the relevant Sections."

Lord Warrington, in the House of Lords, said

(p. 249) :

"The Respondents' contention is a simple
one. The Company is a person who has paid
or is liable to pay United Kingdom Income
Tax on part of his income, viz., in this case

the trading profits earned in the Dominions,
and has also paid Dominion Income Tax on
the same part of his income, and is there-

fore entitled to relief from United Kingdom
Income Tax payable on that part of his in-

come. Reading the words of the statute in

their ordinary and natural meaning there is

no answer to this contention."

As further indication of the trend of English

opinion of the respective liabilities of the com-

pany and the shareholder, the following quotations

from the opinions in certain cases are very mate-

rial, if not conclusive.

Judge Rowlatt in Ritson v. Phillips (1924), 131

L. T. 384 ; 9 Tax Cases 10

:

"He is not taxed on his dividends. The
companies are taxed on their profits not as

his agents (as has been loosely said), though
at his ultimate expense."

Judge Rowlatt, again, in Purdie v. Reo) (1914),

3 K. B. 112, 111 L. T. R. 531:

"So that in effect the company is the tax-

payer. There is strictly speaking no income
tax on dividends at all. The company has



33

to pay income tax on its profits as a com-

pany, and having paid income tax, the re-

sult is there is less to divide among share-

holders."

Lord Phillimore, in Bradbury {Collector of

Taxes) v. English Sewing Cotton Company, Ltd.

(House of Lords, 1923), 8 Tax Cases 481, at page

520:

"A company either comes under Section

40 of the Act of 1842, or it does not. If it

does not, it is not taxable ; but in that event

those who receive dividends from it will be

taxable in respect of their dividends. // it

does come under Section J^O, its shareholders

are not taxable for their dividends. This is

so, not because of any implied rule of law

against double taxation, a rule for which it

would be difficult to find support in the

books, but because dividends on shares in a

taxed company do not come under Sched-

ule D." (Italics ours.)

Particular attention is called to the opinion of

Lord Wright, in Nemnann v. Commissioners of In-

land Revenue (1934), 18 Tax Cases 332, 150 Law

Times Reports 481, from which the following is

quoted

:

"The scheme of these provisions, as I un-

derstand them, is to impose the tax on all

the profits of the company at the source;

if and so far as these profits have been so

taxed, they are not liable to any further tax,

other than surtax, in the hands of the share-

liolder receiving the dividend. The share-

holder and the company are, no doubt, sep-

arate entities; the company is not an agent

for the shareholder to pay tax on the divi-

dend, nor is the company the collector for



34

the revenue to deduct the tax from the divi-

dend. The company is the taxpayer. * * *

The company is not bound, but only au-
thorized, to deduct tax in paying dividends

:

whetiier it deducts or not is left to its dis-

cretion, because the profits, once having
been taxed in the company's hands, do not
bear further tax—apart from surtax—in the

shareholders' hands. There is, in fact, only

one profit, no new profit being created from
the fact that the shareholder gets his share

;

the tax is a tax on the profits and not on the

dividend."

On these authorities and on the provisions of

(he Income Tax Act and the actual facts of im-

[)osition and payment of the tax, the following con-

clusions are fully justified:

1

—

That the company is the tax-payer upon

whom the ta^D was imposed and hy ivhom the

tax was paid, iii respect of its profits and

income.

2

—

That there icas no tax imposed upon or

jmid by the shareholder in respect of dividends

,

other than a possible surtax.

Recoupment or Reimbursement: The last con-

tention advanced is that the aj^pellee is not en-

titled to a deduction for the United Kingdom in-

come tax to the extent that it recoups or recovers

the tax from its shareholders. Clearly, this is

grasping at straws.

It is absurd to contend that the company has ac-

tually been reimbursed for the tax merely by dis-

tributing a dividend less tax—a bookeeping trans-

action. Assume that two companies each have a
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capital of £1,000,000 and each have earnings before

payment of the British tax of £100,000. The British

tax is, say, 20%, or £20,000, leaving £80,000 avail-

able for distribution, which it is decided to dis-

tribute. Company "A" declares a dividend of 10%,
less tax, and Company "B" declares a free-of-tax

dividend of 8%. The figures would then be as

follows

:

Company "A" Company "B"

Net earnings £100,000 £100,000

British tax paid 20,000 20,000

Available profits £ 80,000 £ 80,000

Dividend at lO^o £100,000

Less tax at 20% 20,000 80,000

Dividend at 8% 80,000

Undistributed earnings None None

In both cases, the company's assets remain ex-

actly the same and exactly the same amount of cash

is paid to the British Crown as a tax on the com-

pany's profits and exactly the same amount of cash

is paid out to the shareholders. Yet, under the

theory advanced, Company "A" is deemed to have

recouped the tax and Company "B" is not deemed

to have recouped the tax. Nothing of the sort has

happened.

The shareholders have in each case received all

they were entitled to. A fanciful argument has

been broached to the effect that Company "A" has

been reimbursed because it discharged a liability of

£100,000 to its shareholders by a payment of £80,000.

This presumes a liability upon the company to pay

its shareholders £100,000, but the very form of the

dividend declaration limited its liability to £80,000.

This form of dividend declaration protects the com-

pany from having to pay the income tax out of
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capital. It is merely another form for distributing

the profits of the company after the payment of

income tax. It never created a debtor-creditor rela-

tionship between the shareholders and the company

to the extent of £100,000. The liability to pay such

amount never having been created, it cannot be said

that the company has been discharged from such a

liability by a cash payment of £80,000' and the

Avaiver of such fictitious liability by the share-

holders to the extent of £20,000. The shareholders

cannot be considered as having waived or forgiven

a debt or liability which they w^ere not entitled to

receive and which never existed.

The liabilities intended to be and actually created

in both cases were to pay the British Crown a tax of

£20,000 and to pay the shareholders £80,000. These

liabilities were discharged by cash payments and,

upon their discharge, no recoupment was made to

or reimbursement received by either of the com-

panies.

However, even if there were a recoupment or

reimbursement, the company still is entitled to

claim the deduction of the tax since it was imposed

upon and paid by it. We have many examples in

this country where the manufacturer, the dealer or

distributor passes a tax on to the purchaser and

yet has been held entitled to deduct the tax because

it was imposed upon and paid by him. True, he

must include the full sales price, inclusive of the

tax in his income. So, here, the company is taxed

on its whole profits without the benefit of a deduc-

tion for the tax paid or the dividend declared.

Hence, in both cases, the total profit is taxed and

the person ui)on whom the tax is imposed and by
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whom it is paid is held entitled to the tax deduction

although the ultimate burden of the tax may be

on another.

But the ultimate burden of the United Kingdom
tax on the British company's profits is no more of

a burden on the shareholder in the British company,

than is the United States corporate tax a burden on

the shareholder in an American company. In both

cases, there is just that much less to distribute to

the shareholders. No one would seriously contend

that the shareholder in the American company pays

the corporate tax or reimburses the corporation.

Similarly, it cannot be said that the shareholder in

the British company pays the tax of the British

company or reimburses it.

Therefore, in conclusion, it is respectfully sub-

mitted that

—

1

—

The appellee did not paij the United King-

dom income ta-r on its profits as agent for or

on behalf of its shareholders.

2

—

That such taj:- loas not imposed upon or

paid by the appellee's shareholders, but was

imposed upon and paid bi/ the appellee.

3

—

That the appellee did not recoup such

tajp from nor uns it reimbursed for such ta^

by its shareholders.
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IV.

Finally, the similarity of the taxation of cor-

porate profits and the distribution thereof in

the form of dividends under American law and
British law, points to the only possible, feasible

and practical conclusion which can be justified

as a matter of law.

It has been stated that "taxation is an intensely

practical matter and the law in respect thereto

should be construed in a practical way." Central

Life Society v. Commissioner of Internal Revenue,

51 Fed. (2d) 939. This suggestion of keeping

Ijractical considerations in mind is peculiarly ap-

plicable to the Avhole British tax question. Com-

pare, from a practical standpoint, the taxation in

the United States of a domestic corporation and

its dividend distributions with the taxation in Eng-

land of a British corporation and its dividend dis-

tributions.

Assume that a domestic corporation has net

profits of $100,000 before payments of its corporate

income tax. For the year 1930, it pays a tax of

12%, or $12,000, leaving $88,000 available for divi-

dends. Upon payment of $88,000 as a dividend,

there are no earnings left to carry to surplus or

capital. The shareholder upon receiving the divi-

dend of $88,000 does not pay a normal tax thereon.

His liability is confined to a surtax upon $88,000,

say, of 10%, or $8,800. Thus, it is clear that the

corporation pays the normal tax and a dividend

which, in the aggregate, equal its total profit and

that the shareholder pays the surtax.
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Now, assume that a British corporation has a

profit of £100,000 before payment of the United

Kingdom income tax. It pays a tax of 20%, or

£20,000, leaving £80,000 available for dividends.

Upon payment of £80,000 to its shareholders,

whether pursuant to a less-tax or free-of-tax divi-

dend, there are no earnings left to carry to surplus

or capital. The shareholder receiving the dividend

does not pay a normal tax but is subject to a surtax

upon the gross amount of £100,000 and such tax,

say, at 10%, would be £10,000.

In short, in both cases the company has paid a

tax on its total profits, has distributed the balance

by way of dividends and the shareholder has become

liable to and has paid the surtax.

Since the appellant is of the opinion that there

is some relationship between the British tax credit

or deduction to be allowed the American shareholder

of a British company and the British tax deduction

allowed the British company and since such ques-

tion has been raised in the shareholders' cases men-

tioned at the outset, it is thought proper to present

the following conclusions and discussion:

(1) The United Kingdom income tax on the

whole of the profits of a British company is

imposed upon and paid by the company.

(2) Therefore, the company is the one en-

titled to deduct such tax if and to the extent

that it is connected with income from United

States sources.

(3) The shareholder in the British company

does not pay any part of the company's tax and,

in fact, does not pay a normal tax on dividends

received bv him.
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(4) However, the income received by the

American shareholder under our law is not the

gross or notional dividend arrived at for sur-

tax purposes under British law, but the actual

dividend received.

(5) Any United Kingdom surtax paid by

the shareholder is an allowable tax credit or

deduction, as the case may be.

It may be contended that this results in a double

deduction of the same tax, in that the British com-

pany is permitted to deduct the tax and the share-

holder by including only his net dividend in income

also receives the benefit of the deduction of the tax.

This contention strikes at the very crux of the whole

question. It indicates that the difficulty which has

arisen is due to a misconception of income as well

as of the identity of the taxpayer. Taking the view

that the "gross dividend" is the shareholder's in-

come, it becomes necessary, in order to avoid exces-

sive taxation, to resort to the fiction that he paid

a United Kingdom income tax on such dividend.

However, he did not pay such a tax—there is no

United Kingdom income tax on dividends—and the

difference between the "net dividend" received by

the shareholder and the "gross" or "notional divi-

dend" was never income to the shareholder. This

difference merely represents his collective share of

the tax paid by the company on the profits of the

company so far as distributed. Such difference has

no place in. the gross income to he reported for

Federal income tax purposes.

In the United States, we do not add to the share-

holder's gross income the tax paid by the company.

Such tax is treated as a disbursement bv the com-
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pany in earning income. The fact that England

treats this item as income solely for surtax pur-

poses does not require a shareholder to report as

income in the United States what he never receives

and what is not income. Thus, so far as our con-

ception of income is concerned, the shareholder has

received a dividend equal to the ''net dividend''

shown on his dividend warrant.

That there may be no doubt as to this, attention

is again called to the fact that in England the in-

come tax is regarded both by income tax law and

company law as being a disbursement out of profits

and not an expense incurred in the earning of

profits. With this in mind the mechanics of Rule

20 are more clearly understood. It permits the

company to retain out of the profits to be dis-

tributed to shareholders sufficient funds to pay the

company's income tax. This is nothing more than

a roundabout way of arriving at a distribution of

the net profits which is the practice followed in this

country. Here, the company pays the tax and de-

clares a dividend out of the net profits left after

paying the tax. In England, the company pays the

tax, but declares the dividend out of the gross

profits before deducting the tax and then reduces

the declared "gross dividend'' by the amount of the

tax. The result in each case is the same. Both

companies pay the tax on their entire profits and

both pay, in cash, a dividend out of profits avail-

able after the payment of the tax.

Return to the illustration of a company having a

profit of £1,000 and paying a tax of 10%, or £100,

and distributing £900 to its shareholders. Irre-

spective of the fact that, under British law, the

shareholders are said to have received for surtax
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purposes a gross or notional dividend (income) of

£1,000—i. e., £900 in cash plus tlieir collective share

of the company's tax—it remains that, except for

this one purpose, the shareholders' income was not

and could not be more than £900. It is this ''net

dividend" that is and should be treated as taxable

income under our law.

However, if the company is also taxed on its in-

come of £1,000, then neither the shareholder nor

the companj^ has been allowed the deduction. In

short, the company's net income in the illustration

given was £900 and, since it distributed £900 to its

shareholders, that was also the shareholder's in-

come. If a comj^any distributes all its profits for a

given year, it necessarily follows that the net in-

come of the company will equal the dividend re-

ceived by the shareholders.

The appellant would say that both the share-

holder and the company- had income of £1,000 and

that the shareholder paid the company's tax of

£100. This is so obviously in error from all points

of view as to disprove his entire argument.

There is no provision in our law that requires us

to treat the relationship between a British company

and its shareholders differently from the relation-

ship between a domestic company and its sharehold-

ers. Our conception of the income of the company

and the income of the shareholder and of the re-

spective taxes paid by each determines the income

and deductions to be reported by each for Federal

income tax purposes. Under our law and practice,

the shareholder in the British or domestic company

does not pay the company's tax (i. e., the tax im-

posed on and paid by the company) nor is he con-

sidered as having received a gross or notional divi-

1
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dend over and above the actual dividend paid to

him. As to deductions, the shareholder in the

British or domestic company is not entitled to a

tax credit or deduction for a tax imposed upon and

paid by the company. Therefore, under our law,

the British company is considered as the taxpayer

and the shareholder in such a company is con-

sidered as having received a dividend equal to the

so-called "net dividend." Further, as has been

shown, there is nothing in the British law, the

British cases or the practice of the Inland Revenue

Department which requires a holding to the con-

trary.

V.

There are no decisions or rulings on the pre-

cise British tax question at issue binding upon
this Court.

Much has been made as to the practice of the

Internal Revenue Bureau prior to December, 1938,

and the rulings ^. M. SOJfO, C. B. IV-1, 198, and

aS'. J/. oS6S, C. B. V-1, 89. Undoubtedly, the prac-

tice of the Bureau prior to December, 1933, was

based on such rulings.

The Solicitor of Internal Revenue, in arriving

at his conclusions in S. M. SOJfO and S. M. 536S,

relied, not tipon the stattitory provisions of the

British Income Tax Act, but upon certain language

loosely used in comparatively old British cases.

Thus, in .S'. J/. 30JfO, it was held that—

"^In view of these decisions, it is the opin-

ion of this office that where under the income
tax act, 191S, of Great Britain, a tax is paid
to the British Government by a corporation
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on the basis of its profits and gains which is

deductible by the corporation from the divi-

dends paid its shareholders, such tax is a

tax against the shareholders and may be

taken as a credit by a citizen shareholder of

the United States under section 222 of the

Revenue Acts of 1918 and 1921. Although
the corporation is held chargeable to tax,

the decisions cited above construe the provi-

sion permitting the deduction of taxes from
dividends as being a payment of tax on be-

half of the shareholders, or a collection at

the source/'

Subsequently, a foreign company requested a re-

consideration of S. M. SOJjO in view of the decision

of the highest court in England in Commissioners

of Inland Revenue v. lUott (H. L., 1921), 2 A. C.

171. The Solicitor, in aV. M. o3G3, reaffirmed its

previous opinion, dismissing such decision with the

mere statement that, "it is the opinion of this oiiice

that the Blott decision in no way affects the sound-

ness of the conclusion." This in spite of the fact

that the Blott decision became the accepted law and

has been followed ever since.

In short, the British decisions relied upon by the

Solicitor, even if in point—which they are not

—

were all made prior to 1919. The particular lan-

guage used in such decisions and forming the basis

of the Solicitor's conclusions had been expressly

overruled even at the time the Solicitor rendered

his second opinion. Hence, his interpretation of

British law, reached solely by refusing to recognize

the leading British decision in the Blott case, is not

only unsound, but should be reversed.

These rulings of the Bureau are not conclusive

on the Board of Tax Appeals or on this Court
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and there have been many occasions Avhen similar

rulings have been re\ersed. Further, such rulings

have not taken the force of law by reason of Con-

gressional re-enactments of the statutes. Where
the law is plain, the doctrine of adoption of depart-

mental construction by subsequent re-enactment

does not apply.

Hamilton v. Rathhone, 175 U. S. 414, 419

;

Thompson V. United States , 246 U. S. 547,

551;

Umted States v. Hartwell, 6 Wall. 385,

396;

Helveriny v. Neic York Trust Company us

Trustee of Matthiessen, 292 U. S. 455

;

Central Real Estate Company v. Commis-

sioner, ^^7 Fed. (2d) 1036;

Iselin V. United States, 270 U. S. 245, 251;

Undted States v. Graham, 110 U. S. 219,

221.

Further, Bureau rulings ''have none of the force

or effect of Treasury decisions and do not commit

the Department to any interpretation of the law."

Helverlnij v. JS^ew York Trust Company as

Trustee of Matthiessen, supra.

If the Bureau's owti rulings do not even commit

the Bureau, hoAv much less are they binding or

conclusive on this Court.

The case of Basil Robillard v. Commissioner, 20

B. T. A. 685, affirmed 50 Fed. (2d) 1083, has been

cited as decisive of the issue here. It is contended

that this case upholds the allowance to a share-
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holder of a Britisli corporation of a credit for the

British tax paid on his dividend. That was not

the question at issue in such case. The sole issue

involved, as stated by the Board, was

—

"whether or not petitioner, a resident and
citizen of the United States, is entitled to

credit, against United States income taxes,

taxes paid to the British Government by a

Canadian corporation of which petitioner

was a stockholder."

The petitioner in such case claimed such deduc-

tion under §222 (a) (4) of the Revenue Acts of

1924 and 1926 on the ground that, since Spirella

Securities, Ltd., of Canada, was a holding company
rather than an operating company, decedent stock-

holder was the beneficiary of a trust within the

meaning of the above section and was therefore en-

titled to a credit. In denying such credit the Board

was not required to consider whether the British

corporation was the taxpayer to the extent of the

entire tax j)aid on its profits. The Board readied

the conclusion that Spirella Securities, Ltd., was
an ordinary holding corporation and that its stock-

holders occupied no different status from stock-

holders of such corporations generally. In these

circumstances, as stated by the Board, Spirella

Securities, Ltd., owned the stock in Spirella Co.

of Great Britain and the dividends received on that

stock belonged in the first instance to it. There-

fore, the Board finally concluded with the state-

ment that

—

"We know of no authority of law Avhich

would permit its stockholders to take credit

against their own liability for such taxes

paid on the theory that they are beneficiaries
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of II trust within the meaning of section

2'2'2{ii) (4), quoted at the begfinning of this

opinion."

And later

:

"Petitioner should be taxed only on the

amoiuits actually received from Spirella Se-

curities, Ltd., of Canada, without any credit

against the tax for foreign taxes paid by the

Spirella Co. of Great Britain in dividends

disbursed to Spirella Securities Co., Ltd., on
stock owned by it. In other words, the divi-

dends received by petitioner's decedent from
Spirella Securities, Ltd., should be taxed as

income to petitioner without reference to any
foreign tax which had been paid by Spirella

Co. of Great Britain for account of Spirella

Securities, Ltd., of Canada."

Thus a Ciireful analysis of the issue involved and

the Board's decision on such issue clearly estiib-

lishes that it is not material to or conclusive of the

issue herein.

It is true that the Board in the course of its

opinion did state, apparently pursuant to para-

graph ••5" of the stipulation, on page 687, that the

'•petitioner should be allowed credit against the

tax of income taxes paid to the British Government

by the Spirella Co. of Great Britain on dividends

disbursed direct to petitioner's decedent, as a

stockholder in the Spirella Co. of Great Britain."

But in such case neither the petitioner nor the re-

spondent had raised any issue as to whether the

tax deducted from dividends by the British corpo-

ration represented a tax paid by the shareholder.

The respondent allowed the credit probably pursu-

ant to the rulings mentioned above and the peti-

tioner naturally accepted such credit. Hence, the
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action of the Board in such case apijroving of such

credit is in reality nothing more than a tacit ap-

proval of the Commissioner's action in the ahsence

of any controversy. Further, the affirmance of the

Board's decision (50 Fed. [2d] 1083) was without

opinion and therefore decisive only of the question

at issue below.

It is most signiticant that following the decision

of the court below in this case, and ever since De-

cember, 1933, the Commissioner and the Bureau

have consistently denied a deduction or credit to

the shareholder. It is also very significant that

the Commissioner before the Board has vigorously

defended the shareholders' cases mentioned at the

outset on the very grounds contended for by this

appellee—^namely, that the shareholder did not pay

a United Kingdom income tax on his dividend and

that the United Kingdom income tax on the com-

pany's profits was imposed upon or paid l)y the

company which is entitled to the tax deduction.

Therefore, it is respectfully submitted that there

are no rulings or decisions on this issue controlling

on this Court and that the only decision on this

question is that by the court below in favor of the

appellee.
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CONCLUSION.

In conclusion, it is respectfully asserted that

the United Kingdom income tax, to the extent

attributable to income from sources within the

United States, is an allowable deduction as a

tax imposed upon and paid by the appellee and

that no part of such tax was imposed upon and

paid by the appellee's shareholders.

Respectfully submitted,

WILLIAM H. HOTCHKISS,
JOHX S. BRECKIXRIDGE,

Amid CiiAiae.





APPENDIX.

United States Revenue Act of 1921:

Sec. 234. (a) That in computing the net income

of a corporation subject to the tax imposed by sec-

tion 230 there shall be allowed as deductions:

* * * * * * *

(3) Taxes paid or accrued within the taxable

year exce]3t (a) income, war-proHts, and excess-

jDroflts taxes imposed by the authority of the United

States, (b) so much of the income, war-profits and

excess-profits taxes imposed by the authority of any

foreign country or possession of the United States

as is allowed as a credit under section 238, ^ * *.

(b) In the case of a foreign corporation *• - *

the deductions allowed in subdivision (a) shall be

allowed only if and to the extent that they are

connected with income from sources within the

United States; and the proper apportionment and

allocation of the deductions with respect to sources

within and without the United States shall be de-

termined as provided in section 217 under rules

and regulations prescribed by the Commissioner

with the approval of the Secretary.

* * -M- «• -K- * *

Sec. 238. (a) That in the case of a domestic cor-

poration the tax imposed by this title, plus the war-

profits and excess-profits taxes, if any, shall be cred-

ited with the amount of any income, war-profits,

and excess-profits taxes paid during the same tax-



52

able year to any foreign country, or to any pos-

session of the United States: Provided, That the

amount of credit taken under this subdivision shall

in no case exceed the same proportion of the taxes,

against which such credit is taken, which the tax-

payer's net income (computed without deduction

for any income, war-profits, and excess-profits taxes

imposed by any foreigTi country or possession of

the United States) from sources without the United

States bears to its entire net income (computed

without such deduction) for the same taxable year.

British Income Tax Act of 1918:

33.— (1) Where an assurance company carrying

on life assurance business, or any company whose

business consists mainly in the making of invest-

ments, and the principal part of whose income is

derived therefrom, or any savings bank or other

bank for savings, claims and proves to the satis-

faction of the special commissioners that, for any

year of assessment, it has been charged to tax by

deduction or otherwise, and has not been charged

in resx)ect of its profits in accordance Avith the rules

applicable to Case I. of Schedule D, the company or

bank shall be entitled to repayment of so much of

the tax paid by it as is equal to the amount of the

tax on any sums disbursed as expenses of manage-

ment (including commissions) for that year: * * *

106.— (1) The chamberlain or other officer acting

as treasurer, auditor or receiver for the time being

of any body of persons chargeable to tax, shall be

answerable for doing all such acts as are required

to be done under this Act, for the purpose of the

assessment of such body and for payment of the
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tax, and for the purpose of the assessment of the

officers and persons in the employment of such

body

:

Provided that, in the case of a company, the per-

son so answerable shall be the secretary of the com-

pany or other officer (by whatever name called)

performing the duties of secretary.

(2) Every such officer as aforesaid may from

time to time retain out of any money coming into

his hands, on behalf of the body, so much thereof

as is sufficient to pay the tax charged upon the

body, and shall be indemnilied for all such pay-

ments made in pursuance of this Act.

1G9.— (1) Any tax charged under the provisions

of this Act may be sued for and recovered, with full

costs of suit, from the person charged therewith

in the High Court as a debt due to the Crown, or

by any other means whereby any debt of record or

otherwise due to the Cro^Ti can, or may at any

time, be sued for and recovered, as well as by the

summary means specially provided by this Act for

levying the tax.

(2) Any tax assessed and charged quarterly un-

der the provisions of this Act in respect of weekly

wage-earners shall, without prejudice to any other

method of recovery under this Act, be also recover-

able summarily as a civil debt.

237. In this Act, unless the context otherwise

requires

:
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" 'Body of persons' means any body politic,

corporate, or collegiate, and any company,

fraternity, fellowship and society of persons,

whether corporate or not corporate;"

General Rules^ British Income Tax Act, 1918:

1. Eveiy body of persons shall be chargeable to

tax in like manner as any person is chargeable

under the provisions of this Act.

19.— (i) Where any yearly interest of money,

annuity, or any other annual payment (Avhether

payable within or out of the United Kingdom, either

as a charge on any property of the person paying

the same by virtue of any deed or will or other-

wise, or as a reservation thereout, or as a personal

debt or obligation by virtue of any cont]*act, or

whether payable half-yearly or at any shorter or

more distant periods), is payable Avholly out of

profits or gains brought into charge to tax, no as-

sessment shall be made upon the person entitled to

such interest, annuity, or annual payment, but the

whole of those profits or gains shall be assessed

and charged with tax on the person liable to the

interest, annuity, or annual payment, without dis-

tinguishing the same, and the person liable to make
such payment, whether out of the profits or gains

charged with tax or out of any annual payment

liable to deduction, or from which a deduction has

been made, shall be entitled, on making such pay-

ment, to deduct and retain thereout a sum repre-

senting the amount of the tax thereon at the rate

or rates of tax in force during the period through

which the said payment was accruing due.
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The j)ei'Son to whom such payment is made shall

allow such deduction upon the receipt of the resi-

due of the same, and the i>erson making such de-

duction shall l)e acquitted and discharged of so

much money as is represented by the deduction, as

if that sum had been actually paid.

(2) Where any royalty, or other sum, is paid

in rei^pect of the user of a patent, wholly out of

protits or gains brought into charge to tax, the

pei-son paying the royalty or sum shall be entitled,

on making the payment, to deduct and retain there-

out a sum representing the amount of the tax there-

on at the rate or rates of tax in force during the

period through which the royalty or sum was accru-

ing due.*******
iIO. The profits or gains to be charged on any

lK)dy of persons shall be computed in accordance

with the pro^isions of this Act on the full amount
of the same before any dividend thereof is made in

respect of any share, right or title thereto, and the

body of persons paying such dividend shall be en-

titled to deduct the tax appropriate thereto.*»*•**
1^1.— ( 1 1 Upon payment of any interest of money,

annuity, or other annual pa^Tiient charged with

tax under Schedule D. or of any royalty or other

sum paid in respect of the user of a patent, not

payable, or not wholly payable, out of protits or

gains brought into charge, the person by or through

whom any such payment is made shall deduct there-

out a sum representing the amount of the tax there-

on at the rate of tax in force at the time of payment.
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(2) Any such person shall forthwith render an

account to the Commissioners of Inland Revenue

of the amount so deducted, or of the amount de-

ducted out of so much of the interest, annuity,

annual payment, royalty, or other sum respectively,

as is not paid out of profits or gains brought into

charge, as the case may be, and every such amount
shall be a debt from him to the Crown and shall be

recoverable as such ; and the provisions contained

in section tw^o of the Stamp Duties Management
Act, 1891, in relation to money in the hands of any

person for stamp duty, shall apply to money de-

ducted by any such person in respect of tax.

Finmice Act of 1920:

27.— (1) If any person who has paid, by deduc-

tion or otherwise, or is lial)le to pay. United King-

dom income tax for any year of assessment on any

])art of his income proves to the satisfaction of the

Special Commissioners that he has paid Dominion

income tax for that year in respect of the same

part of his income, he shall be entitled to relief

from United Kingdom income tax paid or payable

by him on that part of his income at a rate thereon

to be determined as follow^s:

—

Finance Act of 1930:

12.— (3) Where on payment of a dividend (not

being a preference dividend within the meaning of

this section), income tax has under Rule 20 of the

General Rules, been deducted therefrom by refer-

ence to a standard rate of tax greater or less than

the standard rate for the year in which the dividend
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became due, the net amount received shall, for all

the i^urposes of the Income Tax Acts, be deemed

to represent income of such an amount as would,

after deduction of tax by reference to the standard

rate last-mentioned, be equal to the net amount re-

ceived, and for the said purposes there shall in

respect of that income be deemed to have been paid

by deduction tax of such an amount as is equal to

the amount of tax on that income computed by

reference to the standard rate last-mentioned.
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STATEMENT OF CASE.

An oral argument was made in court on October 8,

1934, in support of appellant's motion for leave to file

amended assignment of errors. At that time the court

ordered the motion submitted on briefs, and instructed

the appellant to file his brief.

Appellant E. E. Wiley was indicted and convicted for

violation of 18 U. S. C. A. 73, and 88. He was sentenced

to serve twenty-two years in the Federal penitentiary.

Through his attorney, a petition for appeal and order

allowing an appeal, was duly filed, together with certain

assignments of error. Counsel for the appellant failed

to observe the rules of the District Court relating to time

allowed for filing a bill of exceptions. After the time
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expired application was made to the District Court for an

order extending- time to file a bill of exceptions. The ap-

plication was denied, and the appellant substituted his

present attorney for those who represented him during the

period when the time ran against him in not filing the bill

of exceptions. The subsequent attorney, his present

counsel, filed a second application for leave to file a bill of

exceptions, in the United States District Court. The ap-

plication was denied. Thereupon counsel filed a petition

for leave to file a petition for a writ of mandamus in the

Circuit Court of Appeals. The motion was argued by

counsel for the appellant and the United States. The peti-

tion was denied and an opinion filed.

Counsel for the United States moved to have the ap-

peal docketed and dismissed, there being no record before

the court. The denial of the application for leave to file

a bill of exceptions limited the record for appeal to such

an extent that assignments of error relating to errors

committed during the trial of the case were eliminated

from consideration on appeal. The appellant was granted

leave to file a motion for leave to file an amended assign-

ment of errors, assigning only such errors as appeared

upon the indictments. A brief was filed in support of

that motion.

The court filed an opinion on November 26, 1934,

granting leave to file an amended assignment of errors.

The case was set down on December 20, 1934, for hear-

ing upon the merits of the amended assignments of error.

The appellant was authorized to file a new or additional

brief in accordance with the rules of court. It is pursuant

to that authority that this brief is filed.
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ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS.

Assignment of errors was filed as to all indictments

except Indictment No. 1 192-C. This indictment charges

a conspiracy to violate 18 U. S. C. A. 7i. Tn this re-

spect counsel for the appellant is satisfied that the indict-

ment is good, for the reason that the object of the con-

spiracy need not be fulfilled. The overt acts alleged in

the indictments, together with the charging parts are

sufficient to charge an offense against the United States,

to-wit, violation of 18 U. S. C. A. 88. It is tlie further

opinion of counsel that this case comes within the de-

cision of ^Icadoivs V. U. S., 11 Fed. (2) 718, which case

was decided by the United States Circuit Court of Ap-

peals for the Ninth Circuit. The indictment in the

Mcadozvs case charged a conspiracy and is comparable to

the instant case.

The other counts of the indictments fall within three

classifications for the purpose of this brief as follows:

I. Counts of indictments charging violations of

18 U. S. C. A. 73 where the exhibits attached

thereto showing photostatic copies of the re-

verse sides of the registered liberty bonds have

inscribed thereon in handwriting only the names

of the registered ov^ners of said bonds.

II. Counts of the indictments charging violation of

18 U. S. C. A. 73 where the exhibits attached

thereto showing the photostatic copies of the

reverse sides of the registered liberty bonds have

inscribed thereon in handwriting the names of

the registered owners of the bonds and the name

of a subscribing witness in the official form pre-

scribed upon the reverse side of the bond.



III. Counts of the indictments charging violations of

18 U. S. C. A. 7Z wherein it is charged that the

defendants "did utter and publish as true ''^ * *

foro-ed and counterfeit orders and writing's in

words and figures as set out in," the other counts

of indictments, "with intent then and there to

defraud the United States."

The amended assignments of errors relating to the

counts of the indictments classified into three groups are

as follows:

I. Referring to the first classification of charges in

indictments, Indictment No. 11926-C has been selected as

a form of count falling within that group. The assign-

ments of errors to that form of counts are as follows:

A. Liberty Bond No. 618609, a photostatic copy of

which appears in the first count of the indict-

ment, for value received was issued to E. Wid-

man and registered in his name, as appears from

the exhibits to count one of the indictment. The

bond was his property and the signing of his

name on the back of the bond would not con-

stitute an offense against the United States.

R. It does not appear from the reverse side of the

bond that the United States could have been

defrauded, because it is apparent from the pro-

visions on the reverse side of the Liberty Bond

that it could not have been transferred or as-

signed.

II. Referring to the second classification of charges

in indictments, Indictment No. 11932-C has been selected

as a form of count falling within that group. Assignment

of errors to that form of counts are as follows:
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A. Liberty Bond No. 462452, a copy of which a])-

pears in the rtrst count of the indictment, for

value received was issued to H. W. Hawley and

registered in his name as appears from the ex-

hibits in count 1 of the indictment. The bond

was his property, and the signing of his name

upon the back of the bond would not constitute

an offense against the United States.

B. The indictment does not charge that the defend-

ant E. E. Wiley forged or counterfeited inser-

tions in transfer form on the reverse side of the

bond. Without such insertions the said bond

could not be transferred or assigned,

C. That by insertions in the transfer form on the

reverse side of the bond the United States could

not have been defrauded, for the reason that the

provisions on the reverse side of bond restrict

the transfer and assignment of the bond.

III. Referring to the third classification of charges

in indictrnents, count five of Indictment No. 11930-C has

been selected as a form of count falling within that group.

The assignment of errors to that count is as follows

:

A. The fifth count of the Indictment No. 11930-C

does not charge an offense against the United

States in that the forgery upon the back of the

Liberty Bond of the name of H. C. Hawley is

not a completion of the offense alleged in the

indictment, to-wit, 18 U. S. C. A. 71.

The foregoing assignments of errors cover the forms

of counts charged in each of the indictments except the

one charging conspiracy.



ARGUMENT.

The first assignment of errors will be considered. This

includes the counts of the indictment where the photostatic

copies of the Liberty Bonds attached have inscribed on

the reverse side the forged signature of the registered

owner.

The indictments with reference to counts of this form

charge that the defendant forged and counterfeited a

certain order and writing for the purpose of obtaining and

enabling other persons to obtain and receive from the

United States of America, its officers and agents, the

sum of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00), that is to say:

"The said defendants at the time and place afore-

said did knowingly, wilfully, unlawfully, feloniously,

and falsely and with the intent aforesaid, sign and

endorse and cause and procure to be signed, forged

and endorsed, and wilfully aided and assisted in the

signing, forging and endorsing on the back of said

order and writing the name H. C. Hawley, payee of

said order and writing."

An examination of the front side of one of the Liberty

Bonds in this group shows the following:

"The United States of America for value received

promises to pay to H. C. Hawley or registered assign

the sum of One Thousand Dollars on October LS,

1938, and to pay interest on said principal sum at

the rate of four and one-quarter per cent per annum

from April 15, 1930, and April 15 and October 15
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of each year, until the principal hereof shall be pay-

able at the Treasury Department, Washington, or at

the holders' option, at any agency or agencies in the

United States which the Secretary of the Treasury

may from time to time designate for the purpose.

The principal and interest hereof are payable in

United States gold coin of the present standard of

value. This bond is one of a series of four and one-

quarter per cent gold bonds of 1933-1938 authorized

by an act of Congress approved September 24. 1917,

as amended, and issued pursuant to Treasury De-

partment circular No. 121, dated September 28, 1918,

to which reference is hereby made for a statement

of the further rights of the holders of bonds of said

series as fully and with the same effect as if herein

set forth. All or any of the bonds of said series

may be redeemed, at the pleasure of the United

States, on or after October 15, 1933, at par and

accrued interest, as in said circular provided. This

bond does not bear the circulation privilege."

The reverse side of the Liberty Bonds provides for the

transfer of the bonds unregistered. The form as printed

upon the backs of the bonds restricts the negotiation of

registered Liberty Bonds. The restrictive language fol-

lows :

"In order to effect the transfer of the within

registered bond, the registered owner or someone

duly authorized to act for him, must go before one

of the officers authorized by the Secretary of the
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Treasury to witness assignments, must establish his

identity, and in the presence of such witnessing-

officer must execute an assignment using the above

form. The officers authorized to witness assignments

of registered bonds of the United States are the

following: Judges and clerks of United States

courts; United States District Attorneys; collectors

of customs; collectors of internal revenue; assist-

ant treasurers of the United States; executive of-

ficers of Federal Reserve banks (and their branches),

of National banks, and of other banks and trust

companies incorporated under the laws of any

state, authorized by such bank or trust com-

pany to perform acts attested by the seal of

such bank or trust company. Assignments may

also be made at the Treasury Department. Notaries

pubHc are not authorized to witness assignments.

If in a foreign country the assignment should be

made before a diplomatic or consular representative

of the United States. In all cases the officer before

whom the assignment is executed and acknowledged

must add his official designation, residence and seal,

if he has one, same being affixed to the bond. When

the assignment is made by a corporation, the cor-

poration must be named as the assignor; when by a

guardian, trustee, executor, administrator, an officer

of a corporation, or by anyone in a representative

capacity, proof of his authority to act must be pro-

duced to the officer before whom the assignment is

made and must accompany the bond. Assignors must

be identified to the satisfaction of the officer before
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whom the assignment is made as known and re-

sponsible persons."

A furtlier observation of the reverse side of the Liberty

Bond shows a handwritten signature purporting to be

the signature of H. C. Hawley. The indictment charges

that the signature was forged, and that said forgery con-

stitutes a false making of a certain order and writing for

the purpose of receiving from the United States and its

officers and agents the sum of one thousand dollars.

The portions of the foregoing printed matter appear-

ing upon the Liberty Bonds, pertinent for the argument

set forth herein, are, 'The United States of America for

value received promises to pay to H. C. Hawley or

registered assign etc. * * * This bond does not bear

the circulation privilege." (Printed upon front of bonds.)

The reverse sides provides a transfer form for registered

bonds. It provides for the assignment of the bonds only

in the manner and form prescribed. In addition to the

signature of the registered owner, a witness designated

by the instrument itself must subscribe to and witness the

signature of the registered owner who signs the assign-

ment form. To effect an assignment the registered owner

or authorized agent must, in the presence of a w^itnessing

officer, execute an assignment using the form inscribed

upon the reverse side of Liberty Bonds. Thus the instru-

ment by its own terms restricts the circulation and nego-

tiability of Liberty Bonds and makes them assignable

only.
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Liberty Bonds Are Not Negotiable.

There is a marked distinction between negotiability and

assignability. Liberty Bonds are not negotiable. The

Negotiable Instruments Law (being an Act to Establish

a Law Uniform with the Laws of Other States on that

subject) provides the following elements must be present

in the form of a negotiable instrument.

(1) It must be in writing.

(2) Must contain an unconditional promise or order

to pay a sum certain in money.

(3) Must be payable on demand or at a fixed or

determinable future time.

(4) Must be payable to order or to bearer; and

(5) Where an instrument is addressed to a drawer,

he must be named or otherwise indicated therein

with reasonable certainty. (N. I. L. Sec. 1.)

An analysis of a Liberty Bond shows that the fourth

element is missing. It is not payable "to order or to

bearer" and is therefore non-negotiable. A non-

negotiable instrument can only be assigned and not be

negotiated. The provisions appearing upon the reverse

side of a Liberty Bond restrict its assignment for the

protection of the registered owner and the obligor, the

United States of America. Redemption of Liberty bonds

exhibited in the indictments, can be made only to the

registered owners.

The indictments charge in substance that the names of

the registered owners were forged upon the reverse side of

the Liberty Bonds. However, the charge of the forgery

of that writing alone, could not create a situation where
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any person other than the registered owner, could receive

any sum of money from the United States. If payment

cannot under the circumstances be made to anyone, other

than the registered owner, the United States cannot be

defrauded.

The offense of forgery of the writing for the purpose

and with the intent of obtaining and receiving money

from the United States as prohibited by 18 U. S. C. A. IZ,

as charged in the first count of the indictment was not

complete without the execution of the second form. To

constitute a violation of that section the offending act

must be one reasonably calculated as being able to induce

the government to part with money. In this instance the

forged writing did not purport to conform to the condi-

tions precedent, before the payment of money by the

United States to an assignee or transferee.

Liberty Bonds Must Be Assigned in Form Prescribed

by Law.

The Secretary of Treasury was authorized by law to

issue Liberty Bonds in such forms and subject to such

terms and conditions as he may from time to time pre-

scribe. Act of September 24, 1917, Chap. 56, Sec. 1, 40

Stat. 288, as amended by the Act of April 4, 1918, Chap.

4, 40 Stat. 502.

Pursuant to said authority, the Secretary of Treasury

on July 31, 1923, issued Treasury circular No. 300 con-

taining regulations with respect to Liberty Bonds, pre-

scribing the mode and effect of making assignments.
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Section 27 of Treasury circular No. 300, dated July 31,

1923, provides:

"Redemption of registered bonds : Registered bonds

which have become due and payable should first be

assigned to the 'Secretary of Treasury for payment'

(Executed as per regulations). Any such registered

bonds should after assignment, be presented and

surrendered to the Treasury Department, Divisions

of Loans and Currency, Washington, D. C. or to any

Federal Reserve Bank or branch. ... If assign-

ment for redemption is made by the registered holder

of record, payment will be made to such rgistered

holder at his last address of record, unless written

instructions to the contrary are received from such

registered holder. If assignment for redemption is

made by an assignee holding under proper assign-

ment from the registered holder of record, payment

will be made to such assignee at the address specified

in the form of advise. Assignment in blank, or

other assignments having similar effect, will be

recognized, and in that event payment will be made

to the person surrendering the bonds for redemption,

since under such assignments the bonds become in

eft"ect, payable to bearer."

Section 28 of Treasury circular No. 300, dated July 31,

1923, provides as follows:

'*Assignments of U. S. registered bonds must be

executed by the registered owner or his duly author-

ized representative who should go before one of the

ofiicers authorized by the Secretary of the Treasury

to witness assignments, establish his identity, and

in the presence of such witnessing officer execute an

assignment on the form appearing on the back of the

bond. If the assignment is made by one other
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than the registered owner, appropriate evidence of

the authority of such, person must be produced and

must accompany the bond, unless already on file in

the Treasury Dept."

Section 36 of Treasury circular Xo. 300, dated July 31,

1923. provides in part as follows:

'** * * Witnessing officers must satisfy them-

selves as to the identity of the person executing the

assignment, and the person executing the assignment

must actually appear before the witnessing officers.

Witnessing officers will be held to strict accountabil-

ity in these respects, and will be expected to respond

in the event of any loss resulting from want of care

on their part. In all cases the witnessing officer

must affix to the assignment his official signature,

title, address, and seal, and the date of the assign-

ment: etc."

Section 40 of Treasury circular Xo. 300. dated July 31,

1923. provides in part as follows:

'"X'o title passes by forged assignment of a regist-

ered bond, even though the purchaser has purchased

in good faith and for value, and the Treasury Dept.

cannot recognize a forged assignment for any pur-

pose."

It will be seen from the above quoted sections

that the redemption of registered bonds, the wit-

nessing of the signatures of registered owners, and the

restriction of passing of title of a forged assignment of a

registered bond, have been provided for in the Treasury

regulations.

Registration of a Liberty bond protects the registered

owner. An invalid assignment would not convey title,
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for in contemplation of law the bond remains untrans-

ferred. Treasury regulations contained in Treasury

circular No. 300 dated July 31, 1923, restrict the pay-

ment of Liberty bonds to any person other than the

payee, or a lawful assignee.

The Attorney General for the United States held in

36 Opinion of Atty. Gnl. 64, with reference to the redemp-

tion of Liberty bonds, the following:

"These authorities clearly indicate that the United

States did not undertake to pay the amount of the

bond to any person other than the payee or to some

person to whom the bond might be lawfully assigned,

and that a purchaser of the bond upon the invalid

assignment would get no title, for in contemplation of

law the bond remains untransferred and retains its

character as a registered bond, and the protection of

registration."

Registered bonds can be redeemed only in a manner

prescribed by Treasury Department regulations. Before

payment can be made the bonds must be assigned to the

Secretary of Treasury for payment, and the assignment

must be executed as per the regulations.

Before redemption can be made, the assignee must hold

a proper assignment from the registered holder of record.

(Treasury Regulations De]jt. circular No. 300, Sec. 27.)

Assignments of registered bonds must be made on the

form appearing on the back of the bond, and unless this

is strictly complied with, the bonds cannot be redeemed.

(Treasury Regulations Dept. circular No. 300, Sec. 28.)
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The regulations carry into execution the provisions

restricting redemption of Liberty bonds. Without the

formal acknowledgment of a genuine or forged signature

of the registered owner, a Libert\' bond would not even

appear to have been assigned. Unless a Liberty bond

appears to have been assigned, and the Treasury officials

believe it to have been assigned, redemption cannot be

made. Therefore the writing of the name of the registered

owner of a Liberty bond upon the reverse side of a bond

does not constitute an assignment. This rule obtains

regardless of whether the signature is signed by the

registered owner or by a forger.

A forgerj- of a genuine document must be an altera-

tion or fabrication of an essential particular so as to give

it a different importance and meaning. U. S. z'. Osgood,

27 Fed. Cas. Xo. 15971-a. The defendant by doing the

acts charged in the indictment, to-wit, the forging of the

name of a registered owner of the bond, could not have

given it a different importance or meaning.

For a false writing to be a forger}- it must be of such

language that it "would if genuine be apparently of some

legal efficacy". (2 Bishop Crim. Law Sec. 415.) ^^'he^e a

^^Titing could not defraud anyone the transaction is not

a forger}-. ( 1 Bishop Crim. Law, Sec. 748. ) The writ-

ing of the name of the registered owner upon the reverse

side of a liberty bond vrould not assign or transfer the

bond and the act would not be a forgery within the mean-

ing of 18 U. S. C. A. 75.
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A "Writing" Within the Meaning of 18 U. S. C. A.

73.

It is essential to determine the meaning of the word

"writing" as used in the indictments.

Query. Does the false writing of the name of the

registered owner on the reverse side of a Liberty bond

constitute a violation of 18 U. S. C. A. I'h'^.

The word "writing" has been given many definitions,

and it is essential to judicially construe its legal meaning

as used in the indictments.

Every inscription is not a writing. A single letter of

the alphabet is not a writing. A single letter of the

alphabet can convey no other idea than that which be-

longs to it. A "writing" within the meaning of the act

must be a vehicle of ideas, sufficient to give the document

a different importance and meaning.

In Teal v. Felton, 53 U. S. 284, the Supreme court con-

strued the meaning of "memorandum or writing" as

used in Section 30 of the Act of 1825. That act was for

the protection of the mails and a violation of it imposed

a civil penalty upon the oft'ender. The appellant, a post-

master, refused to deliver a newspaper to the appellee to

whom it was addressed. The appellant sought to collect

letter postage for the newspaper because there was

inscribed a letter of the alphabet on the wrapper separate

and distinct from the address. The appellee refused to

pay and tendered the amount of lawful postage for a

newspaper. The postmaster would not accept and retained

the newspaper against the will of the appellee who sued

in turn. The nevv'spaper was retained under authority of

the provisions of section 300 of the Act of 1825. In part
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it provided, "If any person shall inclose or conceal a letter

or other thing, or a memorandum in writing in a news-

paper, etc., etc., or make any writing or memorandum

thereon which he shall deliver in any post office, or to

any person for that purjx)se, in order that the same shall

be carried by post, free of letter postage, he shall forfeit

the sum of five dollars for every offense." (Italics ours.)

The question arose whether a single letter of the alphabet

in addition to the address on the wrapper was a writing

within the meaning of the Act. The court held that the

intial was not a memorandum or writing within the mean-

ing of the act. The court said:

"It is not a memorandum, certainly, and a single

letter of the alphabet can convey no other idea than

that it belongs to it, unless it is used numerically.

This is not a case in which judgment could be used

to determine any fact except by some other evidence

than the letter itself."

The word "writing" as used in penal statutes of the

United States is not a generic term. Its meaning is

limited even though not well defined. Where the Act

of July 12, 1876, 19 Stat. 90 prohibited sending through

the mails, "Every obscene, lewd or lascivious book,

pamphlet, picture, paper, writing, print, etc."; (italics

ours), the Supreme Court held that the word writing did

not include a letter, U. S. v. Chase, 135 U. S. 255, 10 S.

Ct. 756. The court said:

"The contention on the part of the U. S. that the

term 'writing', as used in this statute, is com-

prehensive enough to include and does include, the

term 'letter,' as used in the indictment; and it is

insisted, therefore, that the offense charged is that of

unlaw^fully and knowingly depositing in the mails of
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the United States an obscene, lewd, and lascivious 'writ-

ing,' etc. We do not concur in this construction of the

statute. The word 'writing,' when not used in con-

nection with analogous words of more special mean-

ing, is an extensive term, and may be construed to

denote a letter from one person to another. But such

is not its ordinary and usual acceptation. Neither in

legislative enactments nor in common intercourse are

the two terms, 'letter' and 'writing' equivalent ex-

pressions. When, in ordinary intercourse, men speak

of mailing a 'letter' or receiving by mail a 'letter,'

they do not say mail a 'writing' or receive by mail a

'writing.' In law the term 'writing' is much more

frequently used to denote legal instruments, such as

deeds, agreements, memoranda, bonds, and notes, etc.

In the statute of frauds the word occurs in that sense

in nearly every section; and, in the many discussions

to which this statute has given rise, these instru-

ments are referred to as 'the writing' or 'some writ-

ing'. But in its most frequent and most familiar

sense the term 'writing' is applied to books, pamphlets,

and the literary and scientific productions of authors,

as, for instance, in that clause in the United States

constitution which provides that congress shall have

power 'to promote the progress of science and useful

arts by securing, for limited times, to authors and

inventors, the exclusive right to their respective writ-

ings and discoveries.' Article 1, Sec. 8. In the

statute under consideration, the word 'writing' is used

as one of a group or class of words,—book,

pamphlet, picture, paper, writing, print,—each of

which is ordinarily and prima facie understood to be

a publication ; and the enumeration concludes with the

general phrase, 'or other publication,' which applies

to all the articles enumerated, and marks each with

the common quality indicated. It must, therefore, ac-
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cording to a well-defined rule of construction, be a

published writing" which is contemplated by the

statute, and not a private letter, on the outside of

wliich there is nothing but the name and address of

the person to whom it is written. We do not think it

a reasonable construction of the statute to say that

the vast mass of postal matter known as 'letters' was

intended by congress to be expressed in a term so

general and vague as the word 'writing,' when it

w^ould have been just as easy, and also in strict ac-

cordance with all its other postal laws and regula-

tions, to say 'letters' when letters were meant; and

the very fact that the word 'letters' is not specifically

mentioned among the enumerated articles in this

clause is itself conclusive that congress intended to

exclude private letters from its operations."

It wall be noted that the above case refers to a bond.

However, we distinguish between bond as used in United

States z'. Chase, and the charge in the indictments of the

instant case. The indictments charge the appellant with

forging a signature of a registered owner of a liberty

bond. The term 'writing' as used in 18 U. S. C. A. 73

does not include the false writing of the name of a

registered owner on the reverse side of a liberty bond "for

the purpose of obtaining, or receiving, or enabling any

other person, either directly or indirectly, to obtain or

receive from the United States or any of their officers or

agents any sum of money."
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Penal Statutes Must Be Strictly Construed.

A criminal statute must be strictly construed and if

the statute is ambiguous or admits of two reasonable and

contradictory constructions the statute must be construed

in favor of the defendant. In Specter v. U. S., 42 Fed.

(2d) 937-940; C. C. A. 8, the court said:

"There being no common law crime against the

government, each case, of necessity, involves the con-

struction of a federal statute, and no one can be

punished for crime against the United States unless

facts shown, plainly and unmistakably constitute an

offense within the meaning of an Act of Congress.

Donnelly v. United States, 276 U. S. 505, 48 S.

Ct. 400, 72 L. Ed. 676; United States v. Lacher,

134 U. S. 624, 10 S. Ct. 625, 33 L. Ed. 1080; Fasulo

V. United States, 272 U. S. 620, 47 S. Ct. 200, 202,

71 L. Ed. 443. It has long been the rule of both the

national and state courts that penal statutes are sub-

ject to the rule of strict construction, and, // a penal

statute contains a patent ambigmty and admits of

two reasonable and contradictory constructions, that

which operates in favor of a party accused under its

provisions is to be preferred, and the statute will not

be extended in its scope to include other offenses

than those which are clearly described and provided

for."

The case of Specter v. U . S., was selected because it

reviews the decisions of the Supreme Court relating to

the construction of penal statutes. A criminal law must

clearly state the persons to be punished and acts pro-

hibited. The acts charged must clearly be within the class

of acts denounced by the statutes. The context of
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criminal statutes which defines oflFenses must be strictly

construed. In Speetcr v. U. S._, the court said:

"As said by this court in an opinion by Judge

Sandborn in First National Bank of Anamoose v.

United States, 206 F. 374, Z76, 46 L. R. A. (N. S.)

1139:

'A penal statute which creates a new crime and

prescribes its punishment must clearly state the per-

sons and acts denounced. A person who, or an act

which, is not by the expressed terms of the law

clearly within the class of persons, or within the class

of acts, it denounces will not sustain a conviction

thereunder. One ought not to be punished for a new
offense unless he and his act fall plainly within the

class of persons or the class of acts condemned by

the statute. An act which is not clearly an of-

fense by the expressed will of the legislative de-

partment before it was done may not be lawfully

or justly made so by construction after it is com-

mitted, either by the enterpolation of expressions or

by the expurging of some of its words by the

judiciary.'

In United States v. Chase, 135 U. S. 255, 10 S.

Ct. 756, 758, 34 L. Ed. 117, the defendant was in-

dicted under an act declaring that 'every ^ ^ ^

book, pamphlet, picture, paper, writing, print, or

other publication of an indecent character' was un-

available, and the question under consideration was

whether or not to send an obscene letter by mail

violated this Section. In holding that the letter was

not a writing within the meaning of the statute, the

court said: 'We recognize the value of the rule of

construing statutes with reference to the evil they

were designed to suppress as an important aid in
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ascertaining the meaning of language in them which

is ambiguous and equally susceptible of conflicting

constructions. But this court has repeatedly held

that this rule does not apply to instances which are

not embraced in the language employed in this statute,

or implied from a fair interpretation of its context,

even though they may involve the same mischief

which the statute was designed to suppress.'

In Fasulo v. United States, supra, in an opinion

by Mr. Justice Butler, it is said: 'There are no con-

structive offenses; and, before one can be punished,

it must be shown that his case is plainly within the

statute.'
"

In view of the foregoing authorities 18 U. S. C. A. 73

cannot be construed to apply to the charge in the indict-

ments of the instant case.

By sound process of reasoning the false writing of the

name of a registered owner of Liberty Bonds is not "a

writing" in violation of 18 U. S. C. A. 73. The false

writing of the name of an owner of a registered Liberty

Bond does not give the bond a different meaning or im-

portance; title is not conveyed from the registered owner;

the act is not a vehicle of ideas capable, if true, to change

the relationship between the registered owner and the

United States; the bond remains untransferred, retains

the protection of registration and the character of a

registered bond.
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Argument for Group Within Second Classification.

The second classified group of counts in the indict-

ment will be considered next. The discussion will em-

brace counts of indictments charging violation of 18

U. S. C. A. 7Z, where exhibits attached thereto, showing

the photostatic copies of the reverse sides of the registered

Liberty Bonds, have inscribed thereon in handwriting the

names of the registered owners of the bonds, and the name

of a subscribing witness in the official form prescribed

upon the reverse side of the bond.

Counts of this type a])pear principally in indictment

No. 11932.

The proposed amended assignments of errors to that

type of count, are as follows

:

(a) Liberty Bond No. 462452, a photostatic copy

of which appears in the first count of the indict-

ment, for value received was issued to W. H.

Hawley, and registered in his name as appears

from the exhibits in count one of the indict-

ment. The bond was his property, and the sign-

ing of his name on the back of the bond would

constitute an offense against the state of Cali-

fornia, and not an offense against the United

States.

(b) The indictment does not charge that the de-

fendant, E. E. Wiley, forged or counterfeited

insertions in transfer form on the reverse side

of the bond. Without such insertions the said

bond could not be transferred or assigned.
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(c) Without the insertions in the transfer form on

the reverse side of the bond the United States

could not have been defrauded, for the reasons

that the provisions on the reverse side of the

bond restrict the transfer and assignment of the

bond.

This form of count differs from counts within the

first classification in that, in addition to the name of the

registered owner appearing on the back of the bond, there

appears the name of the vice-president of the Farmers and

Merchants National Bank of Los Angeles, California,

below in the transfer form, together with the date of

transfer, and the corporate seal of the Farmers and

Merchants National Bank of Los Angeles, California.

The indictment charges that the defendant with intent

to obtain money from the United States did "forge and

endorse on the said order and writing the name 'W. N.

Hawley' the payee of said order and writing." The

indictment does not charge the defendant with the forging

or causing to be forged the signature of the vice-presi-

dent of the Farmers and Merchants National Bank of

Los Angeles, California, the date of transfer, and the

afiixing of the corporate seal. Neither does the indict-

ment charge that the defendant induced the vice-president

of the said Farmers & Merchants National Bank of Los

Angeles, to witness the alleged forged signature.

It is submitted that this form of count in the indict-

ment does not charge an oilense against the United States

for the reasons set forth in the argument to this form

of count, coupled with the argument interposed to the first

class of counts.
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Argument for Group of Counts Within Third

Classification.

An illustration of this type of count appears in the

Fifth Count in Indictment No. 11930.

The indictment charges that the defendants "did utter

and publish as true * * * forged and counterfeited

orders and writings in words and figures as set out in"

the other counts of the indictments "with intent then and

there to defraud the United States." The error assigned

for this form of count is as follows

:

(a) The Fifth Count of the indictment (11930)

does not charge an offense against the United

States, in that the forgery upon the back of the

Liberty Bond of the name H. C. Hawley is not

a completion of the offense alleged in the indict-

ment, to wit, 18 U. S. C. A. 73.

This charge alleges the uttering of forged Liberty

Bonds. It is contended as heretofore set forth in this

brief, that the act of forging had not been completed.

Therefore, no forged bonds could have been uttered.

Answer to Appellant's Brief.

In the brief of appellant filed in the United States Cir-

cuit Court of Appeals on the 8th day of October, 1934,

at the time of prior argument, reference is made to three

cases upon which the prosecution relies. They are as

follows: The case of.

Meadows v. U. S., 11 Fed. (2d) 718;

Mosheik V. U. S., 63 Fed. (2d) 533; and

Prussian v. U. S., 282 U. S. 675; 51 S. Ct. 223; 75

L. Ed. 610.
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Each of these cases may be readily distinguished from

the case at bar. The Meadows case involves a conspiracy,

and it is admitted that the object of the conspiracy need

not be fulfilled or charged in the indictment. Wherein

an indictment charging a substantive offense a ''straight

violation" of a statute, must charge the completion of the

offense. Appellant asserts that the decision of the

Meadows case is not applicable to the indictments of his

case, other than the indictment relating to the charge of

conspiracy.

Prussian v. U. S. (supra) may be distinguished from

the case at bar. The defendant, Prussian, was charged

with forging a draft issued by the United States. A
draft and Liberty Bond are two different forms of instru-

ment. The former is negotiable and the latter is assign-

able. To forge the endorsement of a payee upon a draft

would complete the offense. However, the writing of the

name of the registered owner upon the reverse side of the

Liberty Bond is not sufficiently complete in itself to con-

stitute a violation of 18 U. S. C. A. 73. Therefore, the

Prussian case is not a precedent for the case at bar.

Mosheik i'. U. S. (supra) is a decision of the United

States Circuit Court of Appeals from the Fifth Circuit.

This case is the most substantial precedent against the

contention of the appellant. However, this case also can

be distinguished from the case at bar. The court said

:

'Tt is contended that merely signing the names of

the payees to transfer the bond was not a forgery

of the endorsement; that, unless the assignment pur-

ported to be properly acknowledged, it would be inef-

fectual to transfer the bonds; that therefore the

United States could not be defrauded. We think the
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false insertion of the names in the form of endorse-

ment printed on the bonds was a complete forgery

of a writincr prohibited by the statute. The name of

the assignee could be inserted by any one to whom
the bond might be delivered. The acknowledgment

would be a different writing. We are not dealing

with the common-law crime of forgery, and defini-

tions of that offense are not necessarily applicable.

The indictment was sufficient. Meadows v. U. S.,

11 F. (2d) 718; Prussian v. United States, 282 U. S.

675; 51 S. Ct. 223. 75 L. Ed. 610."

It will be noted that the authority for the decision in

this case is the Meadozvs and Prussia ji cases. It has

heretofore been pointed out that the indictment in the

Meadows case charges a conspiracy, and the Prussian

case relates to the forgery of the endorsement of a payee

on a draft. It is therefore submitted that the case at bar

is distinguishable from the Mcadoz^'s and Prussian cases,

and therefore the Mosheik case ought not to apply.

Conclusion.

\Mth the false writing of the names of the registered

owners Liberty bonds remain untransferred and retain the

protection of registration and the character of registered

bonds. The United States could not have been defrauded

and therefore the indictments do not charge an offense

against the United States.

Respectfully submitted.

Murphy & Doherty,

By Emmett E. Doherty.

Attorneys for Appellant.-^
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